DOCTORAL THESIS

PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS (POPs) IN MARINE SPECIES

Alice Bartalini

UNIVERSIDAD DE LAS PALMAS DE GRAN CANARIA DOCTORADO EN SANIDAD ANIMAL Y SEGURIDAD ALIMENTARIA Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, marzo 2024



versidad de | Instituto Universitario de Gran Canaria y Seguridad Alimentaria









Tesis Doctoral

"Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in marine species"

Programa de Doctorado en Sanidad Animal y Seguridad Alimentaria Instituto Universitario de Sanidad Animal y Seguridad Alimentaria Universidad de Las Palmas de Gran Canaria Escuela de Doctorado

Autora: Alice Bartalini

Directores: Dra. Begoña Jiménez Luque y Dr. Juan Muñoz Arnanz Tutor: Dr. Antonio J. Fernández Rodríguez

Directora:

Codirector:

Doctoranda:

Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, marzo 2024

PERSISTENT ORGANIC POLLUTANTS (POPs) IN MARINE SPECIES

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Administrative frameworks

Agradecimientos	
1. Summary/Resumen	7
2. Introduction	18
2.1. Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)	19
2.1.1. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)	22
2.1.2. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs)	26
2.1.3. Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDD/Fs)	29
2.2. Toxicity of POPs	33
2.2.1. Humans	34
2.2.2. Marine organisms	36
2.2.2.1. Marine mammals	37
2.2.2.2. Fish	38
2.3. Marine species as indicators of marine pollution	41
2.3.1 Studied species	43
2.3.1.1. Sperm whale (<i>Physeter macrocephalus</i>)	44
2.3.1.2. Cuvier's beaked whale (Ziphius cavirostris)	45
2.3.1.3. European sardine (Sardina pilchardus), European anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus) and bogue	Boops
boops) Error! Bookmark not o	lefined.
2.3.1.4. Blue shark (Prionace glauca)	48
2.4. POPs in the marine environment	49
2.4.1 Studied areas	52
2.4.1.1 The Mediterranean Sea	52
2.4.1.2 The North East Atlantic Ocean	55
2.5. The Stockholm Convention	57
3. Objectives	60
4. Material and methods	61
4.1. Sampling	61
4.1.1. Sperm whales	62
4.1.2. Cuvier's beaked whales	63

4.1.3. Anchovies, sardines and bogues	64
4.1.4. Blue sharks	65
4.2. Analytical procedure	67
4.2.1. Reagent and standards	67
4.2.2. Sample extraction	67
4.2.3. Sample purification	69
4.2.3.1. DEXTech+ system (SW, CBW)	69
4.2.3.2. Low-pressure chromatography (EEN, SPC, BBO)	70
4.3. Lipid determination	71
4.3.1. Sperm whale, Cuvier's baked whale	71
4.3.2. Blue shark	72
4.4. Instrumental determination	72
4.5. QA/QC criteria	73
4.6. Data handling	80
4.7. Statistical analyses	80
4.7.1. Cuvier's baked whale	80
4.7.2. Blue shark	81
5. Results	82
5.1. Congener profiles	82
5.1.1. Sperm whales	82
5.1.2. Cuvier's baked whales	85
5.1.3. Fish	89
5.1.4. Blue sharks	91
5.2. Concentration values	94
5.2.1. Sperm whales	94
5.2.2. Cuvier's baked whales	95
5.2.3. Fish	96
5.2.4. Blue sharks	97
5.3. Toxicity assessment	100
5.3.1. Sperm whales	100
5.3.2. Cuvier's baked whales	101
5.3.3. Fish	102
5.3.4. Blue sharks	103
6. Discussion	106
6.1. Concentrations and trends	106
6.1.1. PCBs	106
6.1.1.1. Sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whales	107
6.1.1.2. Sardines, anchovies and bogues	111
6.1.1.3. Blue sharks	114
6.1.2. PBDEs	116
6.1.2.1. Sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whales	117

6.1.2.2. Blue sharks	120
6.1.3. PCDD/Fs	121
6.1.3.1. Sperm whales	121
6.1.3.2. Blue sharks	122
6.2. Toxicity thresholds	123
6.3. Implications for human health	129
7. Conclusions	134
8. Bibliography	136
8. Bibliography 9. Annexes	136 136
8. Bibliography9. Annexes9.1. Scientific publications	136 136 <i>188</i>
 8. Bibliography 9. Annexes 9.1. Scientific publications 9.2. List of acronyms and abbreviations (alphabetical order) 	136 136 <i>188</i> <i>189</i>
 8. Bibliography 9. Annexes 9.1. Scientific publications 9.2. List of acronyms and abbreviations (alphabetical order) 9.3. List of figures 	136 136 <i>188</i> <i>189</i> <i>191</i>

1. Summary/Resumen

Summary

In the last years, there has been an increasing acknowledgment of the vital need to preserve the health of our oceans and the myriad life forms that rely on them. In light of this, the United Nations has included the conservation and the sustainable use of oceans and marine resources into its 17 sustainable development goals (United Nations, 2015). At the same time, with the global recognition of the detrimental impacts caused by anthropogenic pollution on marine ecosystems, the United Nations has issued a call for action, urging the prevention and significant reduction of all kinds of marine pollution by 2025.

It is noteworthy the potential risk to wildlife, in particular for species that face multiple anthropogenic stressors and/or susceptible to accumulate high levels of toxic substances, such as persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Despite being banned for several years, stable and high levels of legacy POPs, such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), continue to be reported in top predator species, including some cetacean populations (Jepson et al., 2016; Law and Jepson, 2017; Sonne et al., 2018; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). In certain instances, these documented levels seem to pose substantial risks at both the individual and population levels (Desforges et al., 2018). Simultaneously, specific regions, such as the Mediterranean Sea and to lesser extent the North East Atlantic, have been considered highly polluted areas, where wildlife populations and the entire ecosystems seem to be particularly impacted by the occurrence of these substances (Andersen et al., 2022; Benn et al., 2010; Carpenter, 2019; Danovaro, 2003; El-Kholy et al., 2012; Halpern et al., 2008; Marsili et al., 2018; Merhaby et al., 2019; Nash et al., 2023; Ramos-Miras et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2021).

All these facts have raised concerns regarding the potential ineffectiveness of previously implemented reduction and elimination measures, while also emphasizing the importance of ongoing monitoring efforts and deeper comprehension of the mechanisms of toxicity, especially in species and regions particularly affected. Within this context, the use of sentinel species capable of providing information about the chemical contamination status of the ecosystems has evolved into a fundamental tool.

Species such as the sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*), beaked whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*), and blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) are recognized as valuable indicators of marine environmental pollution (Alves et al., 2022; Bossart, 2011; Fossi and Panti, 2017). Numerous studies from diverse geographical regions have documented concentrations of POPs in the tissues of these species, sometimes surpassing established toxicity thresholds (Alves et al., 2016; Bachman et al., 2014; de Azevedo e Silva et al., 2007; Evans et al., 2004; Godard-Codding et al., 2011; Knap and Jickells, 1983; Law et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2015b, 2015a; Madgett et al., 2022; Menezes-Sousa et al., 2021; Pinzone et al., 2015; Praca et al., 2011; Storelli et al., 2011b, 2005). It is crucial to emphasize that these species also face a myriad of anthropogenic stressors, including climate change, habitat degradation, acoustic pollution, food scarcity, fishing pressure, collisions, and accidental captures, among others (Cañadas and Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2018; Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2014; Sims et al., 2015). Therefore, in the pursuit of safeguarding and preserving marine biodiversity, continual monitoring of pollution levels is paramount, alongside a nuanced understanding of species-specific toxicity mechanisms.

Information regarding the extent of chemical contamination in Mediterranean populations of sperm whales and beaked whales is highly valuable and essential, given the current scarcity of data on this topic. Both populations are undergoing a demographic decline in the Mediterranean region (Cañadas et al., 2018; Podestà et al., 2016); however, the lack of studies prevents an effective evaluation of the potential relationship between this decline and contamination by POPs.

The assessment of exposure to anthropogenic pollutants in sentinel species can also have significant implications for public health, especially in the case of species considered important food sources for humans (Bocio et al., 2007; Gómara et al., 2005; Llobet et al., 2003; Massone et al., 2023; Mikolajczyk et al., 2021; Miniero et al., 2014). In this context, evaluating POP levels in edible species such as sardines (*Sardina pilchardus*), anchovies (*Engraulis encrasicolus*), and bogue (*Boops boops*) in the Mediterranean Sea, and to a lesser extent in the blue shark from the Northeast Atlantic, not only provides data on the pollution status of two important fishing areas, but also sheds light on potential risks to human health from consuming these species.

All the information presented above supports the fundamental objectives of this doctoral thesis, which are:

- To evaluate the levels of POPs in sentinel species inhabiting the Mediterranean Sea and the North East Atlantic Ocean while exploring the potential health risks associated to these species.
- To investigate POP concentrations in important edible fish species (sardines, bogues and anchovies) in order to assess possible risks to human health derived from their consumption.
- To study tissue distribution (muscle and liver) of targeted POPs in blue shark.
- To investigate spatial and temporal trends of POP pollution in both study areas, critically contrasting them with available bibliographic information.

To address the main objectives of this thesis, 61 POPs including 18 polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), 26 polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), and 17 polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDD/Fs) have been analyzed and quantified in 31 adipose tissue samples, 108 muscle samples, and 60 liver samples from six different marine species. Specifically, the studied species were sperm whale (n=9), beaked whale (n=22), sardine (n=16), bogue (n=16) and anchovy (n=16), sampled between 2008 and 2017 in different areas of the Mediterranean Sea (Adriatic Sea, Ligurian Sea, and Tyrrhenian Sea), and blue shark (n=60) accidentally captured in coastal waters of Portugal in 2019. For the two cetacean species, analysis was conducted on subcutaneous blubber from stranded individuals (sperm whale) and free-ranging individuals (beaked whale). Regarding the three fish species, the analyses were performed on muscle tissue, while for the blue shark both muscle and liver tissues were investigated.

Fresh (sperm whales, Cuvier's beaked whales, blue sharks) and freeze-dried samples (sardines, anchovies, bogues) were weighed, homogenized with anhydrous sodium sulfate (Na₂SO₄) and spiked with a suite of ¹³C-labeled standards of target contaminants.

After surrogate addition, samples were Soxhlet extracted for 24h with ~100mL of n-hexane: DCM (9:1) mixture. Extracts were concentrated and purified by using the automated sample preparation system DEXTech+ (LCTech GmbH, Dorfen, Germany) (sperm whales, Cuvier's beaked whales, blue sharks) or by low-pressure chromatography on open columns filled with multilayer-silica gel (sardinas, bogas, anchoas). Final extracts were reconstituted in a few microliters of ¹³C-

labeled injection standards prior to instrumental analysis. The detection and quantification of POPs were carried out using gas chromatography (GC) coupled with high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS). For the quantification of analytes was employed the isotopic dilution technique.

This doctoral thesis has shed light on several key aspects of the presence of POPs in a selection of marine species. The general conclusion of this work emphasizes the pivotal role played by sperm whales, Cuvier's beaked whales, blue sharks, and three fish species as bioindicators of POP pollution in the study areas. These findings specifically underscore the Mediterranean Sea as a contamination hotspot for marine mammals and draw attention to the elevated levels, occasionally indicating an upward trend, in the northeastern region of the Atlantic Ocean. The specific conclusions of the different studies carried out are detailed below:

- Levels of POPs found in Mediterranean sperm whales tended to be higher than those reported in the same species worldwide. All sperm whales analyzed surpassed the threshold for WHO-TEQs proposed as starting point of immunosuppression in marine mammals (harbour seals).
- POP levels described in Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales tended to exceed those observed in the same species globally. The increase in pollutant concentrations in the adipose tissue of males as they age, confirms the bioaccumulation capacity of POPs. At the same time, stable or increased POP levels with age in males and decline in sexually mature females Cuvier's beaked whales confirmed offspring transfer through gestation and lactation. Ultimately, 80% of Cuvier's beaked whales were above the threshold for PCBs responsible for physiological effects.
- PCB levels found in edible fish species (sardines, anchovies and bogues) were generally not different from values reported for the same species and in the same area in recent years. This underpinned the concept of a virtual halt or very slow decline in PCB concentrations in the Mediterranean Sea. Sardines, anchovies and bogues showed concentrations of PCBs in full compliance with European regulated concentrations in diet; consequently, the PCB content of these edible species seemed not to constitute a current hazard for human health.

Levels of PCBs and PCDD/Fs in blue shark showed relatively steady concentrations, whereas greater loads of PBDEs were detected when comparing with previous studies for the same area (North East Atlantic Ocean). This could be the consequence of the recent and incomplete regulations on PBDEs as well as contamination deriving from plastics and microplastics. PCB and PBDE concentrations in blue shark were below the lowest thresholds identified in marine mammals. PCB and PCDD/F levels detected in blue shark muscle (the most consumed part) were within the acceptable European legal limits; however, the majority of blue shark liver samples exceeded the limits for i-PCBs and WHO-TEQs, which becomes significant when considering the potential implications for the consumption of products derived from shark liver oil. Greater accumulation of PCBs, PBDEs, and PCDD/Fs observed in liver compared to muscle, suggested differences in the toxicokinetics of POPs between the two tissues investigated in blue shark.

Monitoring of legal and emerging POPs is crucial to understand the trends of POPs and to evaluate the efficacy of the reduction and elimination measures implemented so far.

By concurrently exploring toxicity thresholds, we were able to gain insights into the potential risks and adverse effects linked to the observed levels in the species under study. It is clear that gaining deeper insights into the impact of pollution on the health of wildlife, particularly those facing multiple anthropogenic stressors, such as the relatively understudied Cuvier's beak whale, is essential. Additionally, continuous and effective monitoring of POPs in edible fish species is essential for the assessment of risk associated with the consumption of POP-contaminated fish. Toxicity risk assessment represents a crucial tool for regulatory authorities when establishing guidelines and limits for POPs in food to ensure food safety and protect public health.

Additionally, our study highlights the significance of exploring species-specific behaviors in the context of pollutant exposure. The variability observed in data from different species underscore the necessity for further investigation.

As an overarching conclusion, these interconnected findings justify the ongoing concern about POPs and highlight the urgency of addressing chemical pollution as a significant threat to marine species. This, in turn, emphasizes the critical importance of continuous research and monitoring of

POPs, to support conservation initiatives aimed to safeguard our oceans as essential components of global health.

Resumen

En los últimos años ha crecido la conciencia sobre la necesidad de preservar la salud de nuestros océanos y la miríada de formas de vida que dependen de ellos. En este sentido, la conservación y el uso sostenible de los océanos y los recursos marinos se han incluido entre los 17 objetivos de desarrollo sostenible de las Naciones Unidas (United Nations, 2015). Al mismo tiempo, ante el reconocimiento global de los impactos negativos causados por la contaminación antropogénica en los ecosistemas marinos, las Naciones Unidas han emitido una llamada a la acción, exhortando a la prevención y reducción significativa de todo tipo de contaminación marina para el año 2025.

Es importante destacar el riesgo potencial para la fauna silvestre, en particular para las especies que se enfrentan a múltiples factores de estrés antropogénico y/o son susceptibles de acumular altos niveles de sustancias tóxicas, como los contaminantes orgánicos persistentes (COP). A pesar de estar prohibidos desde hace varios años, diferentes especies de depredadores terminales, incluyendo algunas poblaciones de cetáceos, siguen mostrando niveles estables y elevados de COP tradicionales, entre ellos los bifenilos policlorados (PCB) (Jepson et al., 2016; Law and Jepson, 2017; Sonne et al., 2018; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). En algunos casos, los niveles documentados parecen representar un importante riesgo para estas especies, tanto a nivel individual como poblacional (Desforges et al., 2018). Al mismo tiempo, algunas regiones, entre ellas el mar Mediterráneo y en menor medida el Atlántico Nordeste, se consideran áreas altamente contaminadas, donde las poblaciones de fauna silvestre y los ecosistemas parecen particularmente afectados por la presencia de estas sustancias (Andersen et al., 2022; Benn et al., 2010; Carpenter, 2019; Danovaro, 2003; El-Kholy et al., 2012; Halpern et al., 2008; Marsili et al., 2018; Merhaby et al., 2019; Nash et al., 2023; Ramos-Miras et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2021).

Todas estas circunstancias han suscitado preocupación con respecto a la posible ineficacia de las medidas de reducción y eliminación implementadas hasta hoy y, al mismo tiempo, han resaltado la importancia de los esfuerzos en la monitorización de estas sustancias, así como de una comprensión más profunda de sus mecanismos de toxicidad, especialmente en especies y

regiones particularmente afectadas. Es por esto que el uso de especies centinela capaces de proporcionar información sobre el estado de contaminación de los ecosistemas se ha convertido en una herramienta fundamental.

Especies como el cachalote (*Physeter macrocephalus*), el zifio (*Ziphius cavirostris*) y el tiburón azul (*Prionace glauca*) se consideran buenos indicadores del estado de contaminación del ambiente marino (Alves et al., 2022; Bossart, 2011; Fossi and Panti, 2017). Así, diversos estudios de diferentes áreas geográficas han reportado niveles de COP en tejidos de estas especies, en algunos casos por encima de los umbrales de toxicidad conocidos (Alves et al., 2016; Bachman et al., 2014; de Azevedo e Silva et al., 2007; Evans et al., 2004; Godard-Codding et al., 2011; Knap and Jickells, 1983; Law et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2015b, 2015a; Madgett et al., 2022; Menezes-Sousa et al., 2021; Pinzone et al., 2015; Praca et al., 2011; Storelli et al., 2011b, 2005). Es esencial destacar que estas especies se enfrentan, además, a múltiples factores de estrés antropogénico, que incluyen el cambio climático, la degradación de sus hábitats, la contaminación acústica, la disminución de alimentos, la presión pesquera, las colisiones y capturas accidentales, entre otros (Cañadas and Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2018; Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2014; Sims et al., 2015). Por lo tanto, en un contexto de salvaguarda y protección de la biodiversidad marina, resulta de fundamental importancia la monitorización continua de los niveles de contaminación química, así como una mejor comprensión de los mecanismos de toxicidad específicos para cada especie.

Los datos sobre el grado de contaminación química de las poblaciones mediterráneas de cachalote y de zifio son muy valiosos y necesarios, ya que la información disponible al respecto es muy escasa actualmente. Estas dos poblaciones están experimentando una reducción demográfica en la región del Mediterráneo (Cañadas et al., 2018; Podestà et al., 2016); sin embargo, la carencia de estudios al respeto no permite evaluar eficaciemente la posible relación entre esta disminución y la contaminación por COP.

La evaluación de la exposición a contaminantes antropogénicos en especies centinela puede tener implicaciones significativas también para la salud pública, especialmente en el caso de especies que son consideradas fuentes de alimento importantes para el ser humano (Bocio et al., 2007; Gómara et al., 2005; Llobet et al., 2003; Massone et al., 2023; Mikolajczyk et al., 2021; Miniero et al., 2014). En este contexto, evaluar los niveles de COP en especies de consumo humano como la sardina (*Sardina pilchardus*), la anchoa (*Engraulis encrasicolus*) y la boga (*Boops boops*) en el mar

Mediterráneo, y en menor medida en el tiburón azul del Atlántico Nordeste, no solo proporciona datos acerca del estado de contaminación de dos importantes áreas de pesca, sino que también arroja luz sobre los posibles riesgos para la salud humana derivados del consumo de estas especies.

Toda la información expuesta anteriormente respalda los objetivos fundamentales de esta tesis doctoral que son:

- Evaluar los niveles de contaminación por COP en especies centinela residentes en el mar Mediterráneo y en el Atlántico Nordeste, así como explorar los posibles riesgos para la salud de estas especies.
- Investigar las concentraciones de los COP en especies comestibles de relevancia (sardinas, anchoas y bogas), con el fin de evaluar los posibles riesgos para la salud humana derivados de su consumo.
- Estudiar la distribución tisular (músculo y hígado) específica de diferentes COP en el tiburón azul.
- Investigar las tendencias espaciales y temporales de la contaminación por COP en las dos áreas de estudio, contrastándolas críticamente con la información bibliográfica disponible.

Para abordar los objetivos principales de esta tesis, se han analizado y cuantificado 61 COP, entre ellos 18 policlorobifenilos (PCB), 26 polibromodifenil éteres (PBDE) y 17 policlorodibenzo-pdioxinas y policlorodibenzofuranos (PCDD/F) en 31 muestras de tejido adiposo, 108 muestras de músculo y 60 muestras de hígado de 6 especies marinas diferentes. Específicamente, las especies objeto de estudio han sido el cachalote (n=9), el zifio (n=22), la sardina (n=16), la boga (n=16) y la anchoa (n=16), muestreadas entre 2008 y 2017 en diferentes áreas del mar Mediterráneo (mar Adriático, mar de Liguria y mar Tirreno), y el tiburón azul (n=60) accidentalmente capturado en las aguas costeras de Portugal, en 2019. En las dos especies de cetáceos se ha analizado la grasa subcutánea procedentes de animales varados (cachalote) y en libertad (zifio). En el caso de las tres especies de pescado, el tejido objeto de estudio ha sido el musculo, mientras que en el tiburón azul se han analizado dos tejidos distintos, el musculo y el hígado. Las muestras frescas (cachalotes, zifios, tiburones azules) y las muestras liofilizadas (sardinas, bogas, anchoas) han sido pesadas, homogeneizadas con sulfato de sodio anhidro (Na₂SO₄) y fortificadas con una serie de patrones marcados isotópicamente con ¹³C.

Posteriormente, las muestras fueron sometidas a extracción Soxhlet durante 24 horas utilizando aproximadamente 100 mL de una mezcla de n-hexano: DCM (9:1). Los extractos resultantes fueron concentrados y purificados utilizando el sistema automatizado de preparación de muestras DEXTech+ (LCTech GmbH, Dorfen, Alemania) (cachalotes, zifios, tiburones azules) o mediante cromatografía líquida a baja presión en columnas con sílice multicapa (sardinas, bogas, anchoas). Antes del análisis instrumental, los extractos finales se reconstituyeron entre 10-20 µL de estándares de inyección marcados con ¹³C. La detección y cuantificación de los COP se llevaron a cabo mediante la técnica de cromatografía de gases (GC) acoplada a espectrometría de masas de alta resolución (HRMS). Para la cuantificación de los analitos, se utilizó la técnica de dilución isotópica.

Los análisis, resultados y discusiones presentados en esta tesis doctoral han proporcionado información valiosa sobre varios aspectos clave relacionados con la presencia de COP en diferentes especies marinas. La conclusión general de esta tesis subraya el papel crucial desempeñado por el cachalote, el zifio, el tiburón azul y las tres especies de peces como bioindicadores de la contaminación por COP en las áreas de estudio. Estos hallazgos resaltan específicamente el mar Mediterráneo como un punto crítico de contaminación para los mamíferos marinos y llaman la atención sobre los niveles elevados, y ocasionalmente en aumento, en la región noreste del Océano Atlántico.

A continuación se presentan las conclusiones específicas de los diferentes estudios realizados:

 Los niveles de COP encontrados en los cachalotes del mar Mediterráneo tienden a ser más altos que los niveles reportados en la misma especie a nivel mundial. Todos los cachalotes analizados superan el límite máximo de WHO-TEQ/g propuesto para la inmunosupresión en mamíferos marinos (foca común).

- Los niveles de COP detectados en los zifios del mar Mediterráneo son generalmente mas elevados que los registrados en dicha especie a escala global. El aumento de las concentraciones de contaminantes en el tejido adiposo de los zifios machos, a medida que aumenta su edad, confirma la capacidad de bioacumulación de los COP. Al mismo tiempo, la estabilidad o el aumento de los niveles de COP con la edad en los machos y la disminución en las hembras sexualmente maduras confirma la transferencia a la progenie a través de la gestación y la lactancia. Finalmente, el 80% de los zifios analizados están por encima del umbral de efectos fisiológicos para PCB.
- Los niveles de PCB encontrados en las sardinas, bogas y anchoas generalmente no difieren de los valores reportados para las mismas especies y en la misma área en años recientes. Esto respalda la idea de un estancamiento aparente o un declive muy lento en las concentraciones de PCB en el mar Mediterráneo. No obstante, las concentraciones en sardinas, bogas y anchoas han resultado en pleno cumplimiento con los valores establecidos a nivel europeo para el consumo humano; en consecuencia, el contenido de PCB en estas especies comestibles no parece representar un riesgo actual para la salud humana.
- Los PCB y PCDD/F en el tiburón azul han mostrado concentraciones relativamente estables, mientras que se han detectado niveles más elevados de PBDE en comparación con estudios previos en la misma área (Atlántico Nordeste). Esta situación podría ser el resultado de regulaciones recientes e incompletas sobre esta familia de COP, así como de la contaminación proveniente de plásticos y microplásticos. Las concentraciones de PCB y PBDE en el tiburón azul han resultado por debajo de los umbrales de toxicidad más bajos establecidos en mamíferos marinos. Las concentraciones de PCB y PCDD/F detectadas en el músculo (la parte más consumida) estan dentro de los límites legales europeos aceptables; sin embargo, la mayoría de las muestras de hígado superan los límites para i-PCBs y WHO-TEQs, lo que cobra importancia al considerar las posibles implicaciones para el consumo de productos derivados del aceite de hígado de tiburón. La mayor acumulación de algunos PCB, PBDE y PCDD/F, observada en el hígado en comparación con el músculo, sugiere la existencia de diferencias en la toxicocinética de los COP en los dos tejidos analizados.

Las actividades de monitorización son fundamentales para comprender las tendencias reales de los COP y evaluar la eficacia de las medidas de reducción y eliminación implementadas hasta la fecha.

Gracias al estudio de los umbrales de toxicidad, hemos adquirido información sobre los potenciales riesgos y efectos adversos vinculados a los niveles observados en las especies objeto de estudio. Resulta fundamental profundizar en la comprensión del impacto de la contaminación en la salud de determinadas especies, especialmente aquellas que enfrentan diversos factores de estrés antropogenicos, como es el caso del zifio, cuya investigación ha sido hasta ahora relativamente limitada. Al mismo tiempo, la monitorización continua y efectiva de estos contaminantes en especies de pescado de interés comercial es esencial para la evaluación de los riesgos asociados con el consumo de pescado. Esto posibilita la adopción de decisiones bien fundamentadas con respecto a las medidas de salud pública. Además, la evaluación de riesgo desempeña un papel fundamental como herramienta crucial para las autoridades regulatorias al establecer directrices y límites en relación a la presencia de COP en los alimentos, con el fin de proteger la salud pública garantizando la seguridad alimentaria.

Por otro lado, este estudio destaca la importancia de explorar los comportamientos específicos de las especies en el contexto de la exposición a la contaminación. La variabilidad observada en los datos de diferentes especies subraya la necesidad de una mayor investigación en este ámbito.

Los resultados derivados de esta tesis doctoral justifican la constante preocupación acerca de los COP y destacan la urgencia de abordar la contaminación química como una amenaza significativa para las especies marinas. Esto, a su vez, enfatiza la importancia vital de la investigación y la monitorización constantes sobre contaminate químicos, y particularmente COP, que ayuden a respaldar iniciativas de conservación destinadas a proteger nuestros océanos, componentes esenciales de la salud global del planeta.

2. Introduction

In the last years, there has been an increasing acknowledgment of the vital need to preserve the health of our oceans and the myriad life forms that rely on them. In light of this, the United Nations has included the conservation and the sustainable use of oceans and marine resources into its 17 sustainable development goals (United Nations, 2015). At the same time, with the global recognition of the detrimental impacts caused by anthropogenic pollution on marine ecosystems, the United Nations has issued a call for action, urging the prevention and significant reduction of all kinds of marine pollution by 2025.

It is noteworthy the potential risk to wildlife, in particular for species that face multiple anthropogenic stressors and/or susceptible to accumulate high levels of toxic substances, such as persistent organic pollutants (POPs). Despite being banned for several years, stable and high levels of legacy POPs, such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), continue to be reported in top predator species, including some cetacean populations (Jepson et al., 2016; Law and Jepson, 2017; Sonne et al., 2018; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). In certain instances, these documented levels seem to pose substantial risks at both the individual and population levels (Desforges et al., 2018). Simultaneously, specific regions, such as the Mediterranean Sea and to lesser extent the North East Atlantic, have been considered highly polluted areas, where wildlife populations and the entire ecosystems seem to be particularly impacted by the occurrence of these substances (Andersen et al., 2022; Benn et al., 2010; Carpenter, 2019; Danovaro, 2003; El-Kholy et al., 2012; Halpern et al., 2008; Marsili et al., 2018; Merhaby et al., 2019; Nash et al., 2023; Ramos-Miras et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2021).

All these facts have raised concerns regarding the potential ineffectiveness of previously implemented reduction and elimination measures, while also emphasizing the importance of ongoing monitoring efforts and deeper comprehension of the mechanisms of toxicity, especially in species and regions particularly affected. Within this context, the use of sentinel species capable of providing information about the contamination status of the ecosystems has evolved into a fundamental tool.

2.1. Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are a group of toxic chemicals that attract much attention because of their combination of physical-chemical properties and complex effects. In general, they became widely employed during the boom of industrial production after the Second World War (Jones, 2021). Although, in the 1960s, the society started to become aware of the detrimental consequences associated with their use. This growing awareness was catalyzed by the book *Silent Spring* authored by Rachel Carson, which exposed the harmful impact of pesticides on the environment and wildlife. It was during this period that crucial information regarding the presence and adverse effects of POPs came to light, prompting regulatory actions that led to their regulation and banning (Fernández and Grimalt, 2003; Jones, 2021).

Common classes of POPs are families of chlorinated and brominated aromatic compounds, such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans (PCDD/Fs), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and different organochlorine pesticides (e.g. DDT and its metabolites, toxaphene, chlordane, etc.). Some of these compounds are unintentional byproducts of combustion or industrial synthesis of other chemicals, such as PCDD/Fs. Others have been manufactured for industrial purposes, such as PCBs, chlorinated paraffins (CPs), and PBDEs, or for agricultural use as pesticides or herbicides, like DDT, lindane, and chlordane. We refer to these contaminants as legacy POPs because their presence in the environment is a "legacy" of previous releases (Rigét et al., 2010). On the other hand, to replace these substances other chemicals have been produced and released into the environment in subsequent years. These chemicals are called "emerging contaminants" because are considered of emerging concern and some are not yet regulated or included in monitoring programs (Lapworth et al., 2012). This is the case of various new brominated flame retardants (BFRs), including pentabromotoluene (PBT) and hexabromobenzene (HBB). Presence and increased levels in recent years of emerging contaminants have been reported for instance in some marine mammal species (Andvik et al., 2023).

POPs are characterized by their resistance to degradation, allowing them to persist in the environment for long periods (Jones and de Voogt, 1999). Nonetheless, they can undergo degradation through a range of processes such as aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation (Abramowicz, 1990; Xiang et al., 2020), atmospheric reactions (Mandalakis et al., 2003; Totten et al., 2002), and abiotic transformations (Xu et al., 2021). Sometimes degradation is responsible for the production of toxic metabolites, as in the case of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-

PCBs), which result from the oxidation of PCBs and are more toxic than the parent compounds (Tehrani and Van Aken, 2014).

POPs are able to persist in various phases and spread throughout different environmental compartments. They can be found in the atmosphere in gas or particle phases, or sometimes both simultaneously (Jones, 2021). Similarly, in water they can exist in dissolved or particulate states, or both (Fernández et al., 2005). This means that they are subjected to long-range transport (LRT) throughout oceans and the atmosphere; but, at the same time, they can remain close to their sources (Jurado and Dachs, 2008; Scheringer, 2009). Actually, the highest concentrations are usually reported at mid-latitudes, where the majority of chemical use and production have taken place (Gasic et al., 2010). On the other hand, many POPs are semi-volatile and have the ability to undergo exchanges between the atmosphere and various environmental surfaces, producing cycles of evaporation and condensation. This repeated process of volatilization and condensation is known as the grasshopper effect (Gouin et al., 2004; Wania and MacKay, 1996), and it is responsible for the presence of these contaminants in remote areas such as the poles, where they have never been produced or used (Kallenborn, 2006).

POPs are, for the most part, hydrophobic and lipophilic substances (Gaur et al., 2022). This means that in aquatic environments and soils they exhibit a strong affinity to solids, in particular to the organic matter, and tend to avoid aqueous phases; as such, in organisms they preferentially partition into lipids instead of entering the watery environment of cells (Langenbach, 2013). As a result, POPs become stored in fatty tissues with some degree of persistence due to the slowness of metabolism (Daley et al., 2014). At the same time they can biomagnify along the food webs reaching the highest concentrations in top predator species such as orcas (Orcinus orcas), which is in fact considered the most contaminated species on earth (Jepson et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2007). There is no doubt about the benefits brought by these chemicals, such as pest and disease control, improved standards of living and hygiene, as well as enhancements in certain products' characteristics. On the other hand, as stated by Jones (2021), the development of sensitive analytical methods and the creation of biological monitoring schemes/archives during the 1960/70s have shifted attention to the negative aspects arising from the extensive use of these substances. Since then, the scientific community started to report high levels of POPs and their associated toxicological impacts, especially in top predator species (Peakall and Kiff, 2008; Risebrough et al., 1968). In the 1960s, Rachel Carson revealed the damaging effects of the indiscriminate use of chemical pesticides on the environment and emphasized the need of

environmental regulation (Went and Carson, 1963). Specifically, Carson's book Silent Spring shed light on the unintended consequences of DDT and other pesticides on non-target organisms and the environment, leading to a greater understanding of the dangers posed by these substances. She stated the case of peregrine falcons exposed to DDT through consumption of contaminated prey and severely affected by the presence of this substance in their tissues. The consequences were so severe that the peregrine falcon populations in many regions, including Northern Europe and North America, faced the risk of extinction (Coristine and Kerr, 2011; Schwarz et al., 2016). Subsequently, DDT was banned or severely restricted in many countries, including the United States, which allowed for the recovery of peregrine falcon populations (Ambrose et al., 2016; Nygård et al., 2019). Another notable case is that of beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) living in the St. Lawrence Estuary, which are considered one of the most contaminated marine mammals species (Lebeuf et al., 2004; Raach et al., 2011). The apparent failure of its population recovery is attributable to the high levels of various POPs in their tissues (De Guise et al., 1995). As a matter of fact, their bodies were classified as "hazardous waste" when found on the shore, due to their high levels of chemical substances such as DDT and PCBs (Beland, 1996). In addition, some industrial accidents and mass poisonings such as the Yusho (Japan) and Seveso (Italia) episodes, as well as Agent Orange contamination, occurred during the 1960/70s resulting in severe health effects on humans. These effects included respiratory problems, skin disorders, neurological disorders, and even cancer (Guo et al., 2019; Stone, 2007).

As the scientific community has continually reported evidence regarding the worldwide presence and negative impacts of POPs on both humans and wildlife, countries and nations took individual actions and voluntarily started to phase out or restrict some POPs (Jones, 2021). Yet, it was in May 2001 when nations signed the Stockholm Convention, the first truly global cooperation on environmental issues with the objective "to protect human health and the environment from the effects of persistent organic pollutants (POPs)" (UNEP, 2001). In the following years, after voluntary bans and the enforcement of the Stockholm Convention, monitoring programs have shown declines in the concentrations of various POPs in the environment, humans and wildlife (Fång et al., 2015; Jepson et al., 2016; Jepson and Law, 2016; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

On the other hand, in the last years different studies still report high and potentially dangerous levels of some legacy POPs in different top predator species (Jepson et al., 2016; Jepson and Law, 2016; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). PCB concentrations continue to be a significant factor

contributing to the decline of cetacean populations in Europe and possibly other top predators in marine ecosystems worldwide (Desforges et al., 2018; Jepson et al., 2016). At the same time, high and potentially toxic levels of PBDEs are still reported in some cetacean species with a global scale impact (Alonso et al., 2014; Bartalini et al., 2022). In addition, studies continue to report the presence and negative effects of emerging POPs such as PFAS (Thilagam and Gopalakrishnan, 2022), CPs (Chen et al., 2023; Wang et al., 2019) and dechlorane plus (DP) (Berger et al., 2023; B. Li et al., 2020; Zafar et al., 2020) in wildlife and humans. In that context, some authors have recently estimated an increase of 66% of human deaths caused by pollution (ambient air pollution and toxic chemical pollution) since 2000, and called for urgent global action to reduce contamination (Fuller et al., 2022). All these facts draw attention to the possible inefficiency of the reduction and elimination measures adopted insofar, and represent a stark reminder of the pressing concern for the management of POPs and for global health protection (Law and Jepson, 2017; Wang et al., 2021).

2.1.1. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)

Physical and chemical properties

Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) (chemical formula = $C_{12}H_{(10-n)}Cl_n$, where n ranges from 1 to 10) are a family of 209 congeners consisting of two connected benzene rings and 1-10 chlorine atoms. Each congener has a unique arrangement of chlorine atoms, contributing to its specific properties and behavior and directly affecting their persistence, bioaccumulation and toxicity.



Figure 1. Chemical structure of PCBs (with $1 \le n \le 10$).

Based on the number of chlorine atoms, PCB congeners can be divided into:

- low-chlorinated PCBs: when contain four or fewer chlorine substituents. Semi-volatile compounds that undergo rapid metabolism and often characterized by relatively short half-lives.
- high-chlorinated PCBs: when contain more than four chlorine atoms. Relatively nonvolatile, and more persistent than low-chlorinated PCBs, thanks to their resistance to metabolic degradation.

Because of their molecular configuration, PCBs exhibit hydrophobic properties and are highly resistant to chemical reactions (Shiu and Mackay, 1986). As a consequence of their hydrophobic nature, PCBs have low solubility in water and possess elevated octanol-water partition coefficients (K_{ow}) (Shiu and Mackay, 1986). These range from 3.95 to 8.09, with an increasing value as the number of chlorine substituents increases from mono- to deca-chlorinated (Zhou et al., 2005).

Out of the 209 different congeners, only 20 can achieve coplanarity due to the absence of chlorine substitutions at the *ortho*-positions of the biphenyl rings (Tanabe et al., 1987). However, only PCBs that are substituted in the *para* and *meta* positions exhibit a maximum coplanar conformation, resembling the relatively flat structure of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) (Safe et al., 1985). We refer to fully coplanar PCBs as four congeners: non-*ortho* substituted PCB-77, -81, -126 and -169.

The coplanar arrangement, characterized by a more "flat" configuration with all 12-carbon atoms in a single plane, gives them the capability to bind the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (Ah receptor) and exhibit biological action and toxicity similar to 2,3,7,8-TCDD (Kafafi et al., 1993). For these reason, coplanar PCBs are also called dioxin-like PCBs and are considered among the most toxic congeners (Giesy and Kannan, 1998).

History and production

These synthetic chemicals were first produced in 1929 (De Voogt and Brinkman, 1989) and were widely used for almost 50 years, with a global production estimated to exceed 1 million metric tons (Breivik et al., 2002). PCBs have been normally produced under different trade names such as Arochlor[®], a mixture of up to one hundred different congeners, grouped together based on an

average percent weight chlorine basis. Arochlor nomenclature indicated the average % chlorine in the mixture. For instance, Arochlor 1254 contains approximately 54% of chlorine.

Due to their electrical insulation capabilities and flame resistance, PCBs quickly became extensively used as insulators and coolants in transformers and other electrical equipment where these properties were crucial (Breivik et al., 2007). In addition, for an extended period, PCBs were commonly incorporated into the production processes of a diverse range of everyday items. These included plastics, adhesives, paints, varnishes, carbonless copying paper, newsprint, fluorescent light ballasts, and caulking compounds (Ross, 2004). Their lipophilic nature, especially in the case of higher chlorinated congeners, permits their accumulation in the food chain, leading to exposure in both humans and wildlife (Beyer and Biziuk, 2009).

As early as the 1930s, reports began to describe acute health effects in humans caused by occupational exposure to PCBs, such as the development of a skin condition called chloracne (Fischbein et al., 1982; Hens and Hens, 2017). In response, workplace exposure limits were established in the 1940s, and for many years, workers continued to manufacture and use PCBs without significant issues (Ross, 2004). However, in the late 1960s and onwards, concerns regarding the presence of PCBs in the environment began to gain attention. Presence of PCBs was unveiled in the Swedish environment, specifically in eagles, herring, and abiotic matrices that were originally being screened for DDT (Jensen et al., 1969), and in the environment in the United States (Risebrough et al., 1968). In the 1970s and 1980s, thanks to the increasing scientific evidence about the hazards associated with PCBs, many countries took individual measures to restrict their marketing and use (Jones, 2021). In response to the presence of highly chlorinated PCBs in the environment, in 1971 the major US manufacturer of PCBs, Monsanto Chemical Company, took some actions and in 1977 ceased their production (Markowitz and Rosner, 2018). Two years later, the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) banned PCB manufacture in the United States (Ross, 2004). Europe banned the use and manufacture of PCBs in the mid-1980s (Jepson et al., 2016).

Thanks to scientific evidences about the presence in various environmental compartments as well as their significant adverse health effects in human and wildlife, in 2001, PCBs were classified as persistent organic pollutants (POPs) under the Stockholm Convention (UNEP, 2001). With this first global treaty over 90 countries agreed to ban PCB production, phase out their use in equipments by 2025, and ensure destruction of any remaining PCBs by 2028. Currently, the Convention has garnered the support of 186 Parties.

Even four decades after the cessation of significant PCB production, the impact of these substances may lead to the extinction of more than half of the global killer whale populations (Desforges et al., 2018).

The toxicological risk for human health deriving from consumption of PCB-contaminated fish could, in turn, represents a great concern (Domingo and Bocio, 2007; Marushka et al., 2021; Weintraub and Birnbaum, 2008). In that context, it is somewhat expected that at the current rate of PCB elimination or mitigation, several countries, including certain European nations, are projected to fall short of meeting the targets set by the Stockholm Convention for 2025 and 2028 (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). This raises the question about the effectiveness of actual global efforts aimed at reducing/eliminating PCBs and emphasizes the need of improving national and international regulations as well as compliance mechanisms.

Presence in the environment

In general, PCB levels in the environment started to increase in the 1930s and peaked in the 1960s (Breivik et al., 2007; Gałuszka et al., 2020). Since the early individual regulations, several authors reported decreasing levels of PCBs in the environment (Bonito et al., 2016; Davis et al., 2007; Fensterheim, 1993; Hammer et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2013; Schneider et al., 2001). For instance, significant declines have been reported in human breast milk in Sweden (Norén and Meironyté, 2000), in Spanish commercial fishes between 1995 and 2003 (Gómara et al., 2005), in salmonids of Lake Michigan between 1972 and 1994 (Conrad et al., 1998), and in Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) for the period 1960–1996 in Lake Vattern, Sweden (Lindell et al., 2001).

After the Stockholm Convention entered into force in 2004, PCB levels continued to fall in biota and environmental matrices (UNEP, 2017). As a result, numerous scientists and decision-makers might have been under the impression that the issue of PCBs had been adequately resolved, and that the levels of these contaminants would steadily decrease for an extended period. Nonetheless, decreases have slowed in recent years (Hung et al., 2016; Melymuk et al., 2022; Salamova et al., 2013). In this regard, recently different papers have drawn attention to the high and stable PCB concentrations that are still reported in European biota and their implications to the ongoing decline of some European cetacean populations (Jepson et al., 2016; Jepson and Law, 2016; Law and Jepson, 2017) and other top marine predators worldwide (Sonne et al., 2018).

2.1.3. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs)

Physical and chemical properties

Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) (chemical formula = $C_{12}H_{(10-n)}Br_nO$) are a group of brominated flame retardants (BFRs) with a basic structure consisting of two benzene rings connected with an oxygen atom. There exist 209 theoretically possible different congeners defined by the number of bromine atoms (from 1 to 10) and their position in the chemical structure. Congeners are divided into 10 groups based on their levels of halogenation and range from mono- to deca-BDE.



Figure 2. Chemical structure of PBDEs (with $1 \le n+m \le 10$).

PBDEs share similar physical-chemical characteristics with PCBs. They exhibit high hydrophobicity, as evidenced by their logarithms of K_{ow} ranging from 5.08 to 8.07, with the value increasing as the number of bromine substituents rises from monoBDE to decaBDE (Wania and Dugani, 2003). However, as the degree of bromination increases, the water solubility and vapor pressure decrease. As a result, PBDEs have a reduced likelihood of being found dissolved in water or in gas phase. Instead, they tend to be sorbed to particles in the air, sediment, or soil (Wu et al., 2019). PBDEs may exhibit a greater susceptibility to environmental degradation compared to PCBs due to the relatively weaker carbon-bromine bonds as opposed to carbon-chlorine bonds (Siddiqi et al., 2003). Nevertheless, they are considered POPs that endure in the environment for extended periods without significant degradation (Sharkey et al., 2020).

History and production

Production of PBDEs began in the 1970s and peaked in the late 1990s, with an estimated global production of around 40,000 tons per year (European Chemicals Bureau, 2001). From this moment, for more than 10 years the global production remained approximately stable, although there was a shift in use toward the higher brominated preparations (Darnerud et al., 2001).

Initially, the United States and Israel were the main manufacturers of PBDEs; later, China started production in the 1980s, focusing primarily on the production of deca-BDE and became one of the major producers of PBDEs (Abbasi et al., 2019). They have been primarily manufactured as three main technical mixtures: penta-BDE, octa-BDE and deca-BDE -named after the major congeners present in each formula-, and were commonly used as flame-retardants in various applications, including polyurethane (PUR) foams, computers, household appliances, and electrical and electronic products (Jinhui et al., 2017). PBDEs started to capture attention as environmental contaminants in the early 1980s, after being detected in the Sweden's River Viskan (Andersson and Blomkvist, 1981). Since then, various studies started to report PBDEs worldwide in different abiotic and biotic matrices (Darnerud et al., 2001).

By the early 2000s, environmental authorities (e.g., the European REACH regulation; the Stockholm Convention; the US EPA; the Environment and Climate Change Canada) thanks to the growing scientific evidence became aware about the harmful effects of PBDEs, and nations began taking measures to address this issue. In 2004, the United States and Europe voluntarily phased out the production of penta- and octa-BDE mixtures (Hites, 2006), and in 2009, global regulations were implemented through their inclusion in Annex A (elimination) of the Stockholm Convention (UNEP, 2009). The global production of PBDEs between 1970 and 2005 was estimated to be around 1.3 to 1.5 million tons (UNEP, 2010), which is similar in scale to the whole production of PCBs (Breivik et al., 2002).

Despite global efforts to prohibit the production and use of these substances, ongoing production and use still exist in certain regions. Some countries have not ratified all amendments of the Stockholm Convention and lack national regulations regarding PBDE production and use. Brazil and Indonesia are examples of countries without defined regulations or limits on PBDE-containing products or waste (Sharkey et al., 2020). China has set concentration limits for penta- and octa-BDE in newly manufactured goods, but not for deca-BDE (Sharkey et al., 2020). Furthermore, specific exemptions under the Stockholm Convention allow for the use of the three commercial BDE mixtures in certain specific applications. For instance, deca-BDE – only banned in 2019- has exemptions for production until 2036 in some countries, including the European Union (UNEP, 2022a, 2022b).

The most common sources of PBDE contamination are effluents from factories producing flameretarded polymers, wastewater treatment plants as well as leachates from landfills (Clarke et al., 2008). Currently, products containing PBDEs in use (textile, furniture, plastic and electronics) and

accumulated waste stocks are significant sources of contamination (Wu et al., 2019). Improper disposal practices, older landfills in conjunction with higher temperatures and increased rainfall resulting from global warming could enhance PBDE volatilization and transportation further contributing to atmospheric contamination (Gong and Wang, 2022; Ohajinwa et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021). These factors are likely to increase the presence of PBDEs in remote areas and their entry into the marine environment (Nadal et al., 2015). Taking into account all these facts, PBDE emissions are expected to continue for the next 30 years (Abbasi et al., 2019).

Presence in the environment

Since the first detection in the Swedish environment in 1981, over the past four decades, PBDEs have been consistently detected in various environmental compartments including air (Bennett et al., 2015; Shoeib et al., 2004; Strandberg et al., 2001; Toms et al., 2009), soil (Wang et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2015), sediment (Liu et al., 2015; Sellström et al., 1998; Voorspoels et al., 2004), water (Ikonomou et al., 2006; Luo et al., 2008; Möller et al., 2011), as well as in biological samples (Akutsu et al., 2003; Król et al., 2012; Law, 2003) and human tissues (Covaci et al., 2008; Mazdai et al., 2003; Schecter et al., 2006), and their ubiquity as contaminants has been acknowledged for the past decade (Abbasi et al., 2019).

Following all the reduction and elimination actions, the levels of most reported PBDEs in the environment started to decline or stabilize worldwide in the early 2000s, although exceptions were observed in certain regions and species (Rotander et al., 2012). This is the case of some top predators in Northern Europe (McKinney et al., 2006; Vorkamp et al., 2005), as well as beluga whales in the Gulf of St. Lawrence (Raach et al., 2011) and Alaska (Hoguet et al., 2013), which continued to show elevated PBDE levels. Notably, the ban on penta- and octa-BDE mixtures resulted in increased production of deca-BDE, which primarily consists of BDE-209 (96.8%). However, in 2019, deca-BDE was also included in Annex A of the Stockholm Convention (UNEP, 2022b). In that context, it should be noted that penta-BDE and octa-BDE congeners are still being detected in marine mammals on a global scale (Alonso et al., 2014; Aznar-Alemany et al., 2021; Kratofil et al., 2020; Simond et al., 2017). Several factors can account for this persistence, including the long-lasting nature of these substances in the environment, the presence of PBDE-containing products still in use, ongoing production of these flame retardants in certain regions, and the degradation of higher brominated congeners (primarily deca-BDE) into lighter, more bioavailable, and more toxic congeners (Abbasi et al., 2019; Bartalini et al., 2022; Sharkey et al., 2020). On the

other hand, the extensive use of deca-BDE as an alternative of penta- and octa-BDE led to a shift in the congener distribution pattern of PBDEs in various environmental matrices with increasing levels of higher brominated congeners (Olofsson et al., 2012; Su et al., 2015; Verreault et al., 2018). Studies conducted in Sweden between 2004 and 2011 showed decreasing concentrations of BDE-154 and BDE-183 in sewage sludge, while BDE-209 increased over the same period (Olofsson et al., 2012). In addition, elevated levels of deca-BDE were observed in herring gulls (*Larus argentatus*) from the Laurentian Great Lakes (Su et al., 2015) and top predator birds in the Arctic, sampled in 2012-2013 (Verreault et al., 2018). Although BDE-209 is highly hydrophobic and has low water solubility, suggesting low bioavailability, evidence described biomagnification of this congener in aquatic food webs (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Johnson-Restrepo et al., 2005). Additionally, its affinity for abiotic matrices such as sediments creates a significant contaminant reservoir that poses risks to lower trophic level species and their predators. This holds significance considering the extensive historical production of deca-BDE, which is estimated to be nearly ten times higher than that of penta- and octa-BDE mixtures (Abbasi et al., 2019).

2.1.3. Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans (PCDD/Fs)

Physical and chemical properties

Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs) (chemical formula = $C_{12}H_{(8-n)}Cl_nO_2$, where n ranges from 1 to 8) and dibenzofurans (PCDFs) (chemical formula = $C_{12}H_{(8-n)}Cl_nO$, where n ranges from 1 to 8) are well-known environmental contaminants. They consist of two benzene rings connected by one or two oxygen atoms and contain one to eight chlorines. Depending on the number and position of chlorine atoms there exist 210 different congeners: 75 possible PCDDs and 135 possible PCDFs. Together, the 210 congeners are commonly referred to as "dioxins," even though there exist more PCDF congeners than PCDDs.



Figure 3. Chemical structure of PCDDs (left) and PCDFs (with $1 \le x+y \le 8$).

PCDD/Fs have high lipophilicity and low water solubility and are, therefore, primarily associated with particulate and organic matter in soil, sediment, and the water column (Baran et al., 2020). Congeners with higher vapor pressures (i.e., the less chlorinated congeners) are found to a greater extent in the gas phase (X. Cao et al., 2018). When sorbed to soil, PCDD/Fs exhibit little potential for significant leaching or volatilization (Kulkarni et al., 2008).

History and production

As other POPs, PCDD/Fs are of significant concern due to their persistence in the environment, bioaccumulative nature, and potential adverse effects on human health and the ecosystems (Hites, 2011).

Opposite to PCBs or PBDEs, PCDD/Fs have never been intentionally produced and are considered unintentional by-products of industrial and combustion processes (Breivik et al., 2004). At the same time, these chemicals can be released into the atmosphere through some naturals processes such as forest fires and volcanic eruptions (Wagner et al., 1990), but their prevalence in the environment is predominantly attributed to various industrial processes (Fiedler, 1996). These comprise waste (hazardous, municipal and medical) incineration, thermal and combustion-related activities, chlorine bleaching of paper pulp, metal smelting, and cement plants, but also traffic, mainly from diesel vehicles (Domingo et al., 2020; Dopico and Gómez, 2015; Kulkarni et al., 2008). PCDD/Fs have garnered significant public and scientific interest due to the acute toxicity of 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (2378-TCDD) that is often emphasized as one of the most hazardous synthetic compounds, frequently referred to as "the most toxic human-made chemical" (Hites, 2011). Some incidents that occurred during the late 1950s and 1970s led the competent authorities to take certain measures in order to protect human health and the environment. Worthy of note are the case of Chick Edema Disease which killed millions of young chicken in the US (Firestone, 1973), and the use of Agent Orange as an herbicide in Vietnam during the Second World War, responsible for negative effects in human health (soft-tissue sarcoma, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, Hodgkin's disease, chronic lymphocytic leukemia, and chloracne) and the environment (Stone, 2007). The disaster of Time Beach (Missouri) (Carter et al., 1975; Powell, 1984) and the Seveso incident in Italy (Mocarelli, 2001) represent two other events of important dioxin contamination. In all these incidents, TCDD was the major responsible for causing harm to human

health and the environment. It is important to note that TCDD was in most cases present as impurity in commercial products, especially chlorinated products.

Around the mid-1980s, the potential public health concern posed by dioxins became evident. In response to this emerging issue, various countries and different environmental authorities began to take action and limit emissions (Hites, 2011). For instance, in Europe in 1990s, regulations were implemented to control emissions from waste incineration facilities (Quaß et al., 2004), and maximum levels in food were established to protect public health and ensure food safety (Van den Berg et al., 1998). In the US, the EPA developed emission standards for waste incinerators in the 1980s (Liem and van Zorge, 1995). The regulation of dioxins continued to be refined and expanded in the following decades, with the EPA setting stricter standards and guidelines for various industrial processes and waste management practices (McKay, 2002). All these individual efforts were unified internationally in 2004 with the entry into force of the Stockholm Convention (UNEP, 2001).

Presence in the environment

Levels of PCDD/Fs in the environment have been a major concern for several decades. Efforts to measure and monitor these compounds have revealed their presence in air, soil, water, and various biological organisms worldwide (Alcock and Jones, 1996; Demond et al., 2012; Kanan and Samara, 2018; Lohmann and Jones, 1998). As for many POPs, their detection in remote and pristine regions, far from major industrial centers, demonstrates their global distribution and capacity for long-range transport (Lohman and Seigneur, 2001).

During the 20th century, there was a significant fluctuation in the emissions of PCDD/Fs into the environment (Hites, 2011). Before the chemical industry's rise in the 1920s, the presence of PCDD/Fs in the environment was relatively insignificant since their formation is predominantly influenced by human activities. It was during the period from the 1920s to the peak in the 1970s that dioxin emissions and concentrations in the air, soil, and water saw significant escalation (Hites, 2011). The increase can be primarily attributed to the lack of awareness about emission sources until the late 1970, when a study by Olie et al. (1977) described the presence of PCDD/Fs in fly ash from municipal solid waste incinerators. Throughout that period, the resulting absence of adequate control measures and emergency protocols in industrial facilities led to several major accidents with devastating environmental consequences in various regions worldwide (Dopico and Gómez, 2015).

Significant progress in the study of these compounds occurred with advancements in analytical methods. Before the early 1970s, the most commonly used technique for analyzing chlorinated organic compounds was gas-liquid chromatography (GLC) with an electron capture detector (ECD) (Firestone et al., 1972; Ress et al., 1970; Williams and Blanchfield, 1972). However, this method had some limitations, such as an inadequate detection limit for TCDD and lacked specificity. In 1973, a more sensitive and specific method, the congener-specific high-resolution gas chromatography high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRGC-HRMS) was employed for the first time for the analysis of TCDD in human milk and fish exposed to dioxin contaminated Agent Orange in Vietnam (Baughman and Meselson, 1973). Subsequently, during the 1980s, HRGC-HRMS came into use for the identification of different PCDD/F congeners in adipose tissue, human milk and blood (Brouwer et al., 1998; Ryan et al., 1987; Schecter and Ryan, 1992; Schecter and Tiernan, 1985; WHO, 2000), and is now used by most dioxin laboratories worldwide (Kanan and Samara, 2018).

Since the 1970s, there has been a notable shift in trends concerning PCDD/F emission and contamination levels from industrial sources (Alcock and Jones, 1996; Hites, 2011). This transformation can be attributed to increased social awareness, the implementation of more efficient industrial procedures, and the enactment of stricter legislation (Dopico and Gómez, 2015). Nevertheless, despite progress in controlling industrial emissions, nonindustrial sources of PCDD/Fs, such as domestic solid fuel combustion, accidental fires, and illegal incineration of household wastes, have remained relatively stable in recent years and have now become a major focus of concern in terms of dioxin proliferation (Cao et al., 2013; Quaß et al., 2004). In this context, the inventory of dioxin emissions in the United States from 1987 to 2012 indicated a significant reduction of over 95% in emissions from controlled sources, such as waste-to-energy industry, waste incineration, electricity and heat generation, metallurgical processes, cement and asphalt production. However, emissions from open burning sources, such as agricultural burning, construction debris, yard waste and fires, have increased 43% (Dwyer and Themelis, 2015). The authors suggested that some of this increase could be attributed to improved reporting of landfill and forest fires in recent years, along with the actual increase of fires due to higher temperatures and other contributing elements.

Even though dioxins are emitted in relatively low concentrations, they are very persistent and bioaccumulative. It means that even with reduced emissions, PCDD/Fs remain present and

continue to circulate in the environment. Additionally, the legacy of past releases from industrial activities and waste incineration can still contribute to ongoing exposure (Kirkok et al., 2020).

Evidence described the presence and the trophic transfer of dioxins at different levels of the marine food web, from plankton to top predators species (Morales et al., 2016; Romero-Romero et al., 2017; Wan et al., 2005). A recent study by Castro-Jiménez et al. (2021) reported a minor contribution of about <0.5% of PCDD/Fs to the total POP burden in the Mediterranean Sea pelagic food web, with preferential accumulation in lowest trophic levels, such as phytoplankton and zooplankton. Despite this, in the Mediterranean Sea these substances have been reported in many marine species at different trophic levels, such as dolphins (Capanni et al., 2020; Fossi et al., 2004; Pinzone et al., 2015), sharks (Storelli et al., 2011b), tunas (Barone et al., 2018), gulls (Roscales et al., 2016), turtles (Di Renzo et al., 2022; Lambiase et al., 2021; Storelli and Zizzo, 2014), and deep see organisms (Rotllant et al., 2006). In fact, dioxins have been reported in marine organisms, from low trophic levels to top predators species inhabiting the seas and oceans of the whole world (Alves et al., 2023; Domingo and Bocio, 2007; Kim et al., 2019; Strid et al., 2007). As a final note, PCDD/Fs have been also described in fishery products (Baeyens et al., 2007; González and Domingo, 2021; Storelli et al., 2011a), sometimes with levels that exceed the legal limits established for human consumption (Mikolajczyk et al., 2021; Struciński et al., 2013).

2.2. Toxicity of POPs

Numerous toxicological investigations have provided compelling evidence of the detrimental impacts associated with POP exposure. Although toxicology mechanisms of POPs are very complex, it is widely accepted that the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) pathway mediates most, if not all, of the toxicological effects of these chemicals (Denison and Nagy, 2003; Safe, 2002; Zhou et al., 2010). The AhR is an intracellular ligand-activated transcription factor that plays a crucial role in regulating the expression of various genes involved in numerous cellular processes (Barouki et al., 2012). When POPs enter the body and bind to the AhR, they activate this receptor, initiating a series of signaling pathways that can have diverse effects on cells and tissues (Rothhammer and Quintana, 2019; Vogel et al., 2020). One significant outcome of AhR activation is the induction of cytochrome P450 enzymes, particularly the CYP1A family, which are responsible for metabolizing a wide range of foreign compounds, including environmental contaminants like POPs (Vogel et al., 2020). While the AhR's primary function is to help the body detoxify harmful substances, it can

also lead to the production of toxic intermediates during the metabolism of certain POPs (Esteves et al., 2021). Immune system suppression, reproductive and developmental abnormalities, and carcinogenicity are some adverse effects linked to AhR activation by POPs (Janošek et al., 2006). On the other hand, various POPs do have little or no affinity to bind to the Ah receptor (Kafafi et al., 1993) in mammalian and no mammalians species. Yet, they are still linked to various toxic effects. For instance, some non-coplanar PCBs, also referred to as non-dioxin-like PCBs, have received less attention, but are highly present in the environment and linked to some negative health effects that impact the endocrine and central nervous systems, such as altered thyroid signaling and developmental neurotoxicity (Pessah et al., 2010; Stamou et al., 2013).

In recent times, there has been a significant increase in public concern regarding the toxicity of POPs due to their classification as hormone disruptors (Buha Djordjevic et al., 2020; Kabir et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2020; Marlatt et al., 2022). In that context, different studies reported POPs' interference with the proper functioning of the endocrine and reproductive systems in both animals (Fair and Houde, 2023; Gaur et al., 2022; Letcher et al., 2015) and humans (Damstra et al., 2002; Damstra, 2002a, 2002b; DiVall, 2013). In addition, on the basis of sufficient evidence of carcinogenicity in humans and experimental animals, the IARC classified TCDD and certain PCB congeners as group 1 "carcinogenic to human" (IARC, 2019). On the other hand, PBDEs has been classified as a Group 3 carcinogen (not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans) based on inadequate evidence of carcinogenicity in humans, and inadequate or limited evidence in experimental animals (IARC, 2016)

2.2.1. Humans

Epidemiological evidence in humans suggests that POPs negatively affect neurodevelopment (Costa et al., 2014; Korrick and Sagiv, 2008; Pham et al., 2019), as well as the thyroid, estrogen (Baba et al., 2018; Cao et al., 2018; Czerska et al., 2013), and immune function (Leijs et al., 2009), and moreover, some POPs have carcinogenetic activity (He et al., 2018; Othman et al., 2022). All PBDE technical products have shown thyroid disrupting properties (Vonderheide et al., 2008) and some PBDEs have been associated to different breast, ovarian, and cervical cancer cells (Li et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2015). Various studies described potential association between PCB exposure and thyroid (Lerro et al., 2018), testicular (Cheng et al., 2021), prostate (Lim et al., 2017), and breast cancer (Parada et al., 2020). PCBs have been also associated with diabetes mellitus

(Rignell-Hydbom et al., 2007; Turyk et al., 2009). Positive associations between dioxin exposure and invasive breast cancer risk have been also described (VoPham et al., 2020). In addition, a study by Xu et al. (2016) suggest that a high blood level of TCDD was significantly associated with the mortality of different types of cancers.

Oral ingestion, air inhalation and dermal contact represent the most common route exposure for POPs to enter into the human body (Swackhamer et al., 2009). It is noteworthy that dietary intake (dairy products, meat, and fish) is probably the main route through which humans are exposed to these substances (Lee et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2012). For instance, studies by Jacobson et al. (1990, 2003) reported lower birth weights, smaller head circumferences, and a shorter attention span in babies born to mothers who consumed large amounts of fish contaminated with PCBs than those from mothers who did not eat such fish. Marushka et al. (2021) confirmed the relationship between dietary exposure to POPs from fish consumption and type 2 diabetes. High levels of POPs in Arctic indigenous populations have been related to frequent cardiovascular diseases and disruption of the immune system, as a consequence of their traditional marine diet mainly relying on contaminated marine organisms such as fish and marine mammals (Johansen et al., 2004; Schæbel et al., 2017). Although conventional wisdom dictates that ingestion is the major source of exposure to POPs, some studies clearly demonstrate that living in proximity of POP-contaminated sites might lead to widespread exposure of the population via air transport of contaminants. Thus, residence in close proximity to hazardous waste sites containing POPs was shown to be a risk factor for cancer (Ozonoff et al., 1994), low birth weights (Baibergenova et al., 2003), respiratory diseases (Kudyakov et al., 2004), and congenital malformations (Geschwind et al., 1992; Marshall et al., 1997).

Other important pathways identified as critical routes of exposure originate from indoor environment and include air inhalation, inhalation/ingestion of dust particle and dermal contact (Dirtu et al., 2012; Harrad et al., 2006; Marek et al., 2017). Vulnerability to these exposure patterns is notably higher for toddlers, infants and children due to their behaviors and the extended time spent at home (Stapleton et al., 2012). In this regard, the study conducted by a Aslam et al. in 2021 assessed health implications derived from the presence of PCBs in indoor dust air, reporting a greater cancer risk for toddlers compared to adults. Furthermore, PBDEs are commonly detected in indoor dust, which has been identified as a one of the most important route of exposure, particularly for children (Klinčić et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2023). Studies have indicated a correlation between PBDE levels in indoor dust and the presence of these pollutants in

breast milk, emphasizing the potential transfer of contaminants from the indoor environment to infants (Coakley et al., 2013; Wu et al., 2007). Moreover, investigations have unveiled a positive correlation between hormone (thyroid and sex hormones) levels and PBDE concentrations found in men, suggesting that exposure to these contaminants through indoor dust may lead to endocrine disruption in men (Johnson et al., 2013; Meeker et al., 2009).

2.2.2. Marine organisms

The presence of POPs in marine organisms is a significant concern due to their ability to accumulate and persist in the marine environment (Wenning and Martello, 2014). Marine organisms can be exposed to POPs through various routes, including direct contact with contaminated water, ingestion of contaminated food, and the uptake of pollutants from sediments (Miglioranza et al., 2023). In general, once entered inside the body, POPs are transported to tissues with high lipid content in which they are stored given that these pollutants are not readily metabolized in fish and marine mammals (Elskus et al., 2005; Tanabe et al., 1994). In times of food scarcity, stored fats (lipids) are mobilized and utilized as a source of energy (La Merrill et al., 2013). As a consequence, POPs can be retained and accumulated in the lipids or can be transported to specific target sites within the organisms where to exert their toxic effects (Bengtson Nash, 2018; Yordy et al., 2010b). Through the process of biomagnification, POP concentrations increases across trophic chain levels, resulting in higher concentrations in top predator species (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Kelly et al., 2007; Madgett et al., 2022). This means that species occupying upper trophic levels in the food chain, like marine mammals and sharks, face significant vulnerability to the adverse effects and toxicological consequences of these substances.

The toxicity of POPs in marine organisms arises from their ability to disrupt various physiological processes. These compounds are known to interfere with hormonal systems, leading to endocrine disruption, reproductive problems, and developmental abnormalities (Harmon, 2015). They can also cause damage to the immune system, making organisms more susceptible to infections and diseases, finally leading to potential effects at population levels (Desforges et al., 2016; Ross, 2002; Segner et al., 2012). Moreover, POPs are associated with oxidative stress and can damage cellular structures, including DNA, proteins, and lipids (Duffy et al., 2002; Kanerva et al., 2012; Li et al., 2005; Valavanidis et al., 2006).
2.2.2.1. Marine mammals

The primary route of POP exposure in marine mammals is diet (Aguilar et al., 1999). Secondly, maternal transfer represents an additional exposure pathway for fetus and calves, while an offloading mechanism for females (Brown et al., 2016; Yordy et al., 2010c). Since most marine mammals reside in higher trophic levels and have long life spans, they can be particularly vulnerable to the effects of bioaccumulation and biomagnification of organic contaminants (Murphy et al., 2018; Ross, 2000). This means that they face a significant risk of pollutants accumulation with detrimental effects at various levels, from cellular to population level (Desforges et al., 2018, 2016; Sonne et al., 2018).

The presence of POPs in marine mammals can lead to reproductive impairments and cause irreversible damage to the animals' immune systems, rendering them more susceptible to life-threatening diseases and potentially posing a threat to their entire populations (Desforges et al., 2016; Reijnders, 1986; Tanabe, 2002; Tsygankov et al., 2015). In that context, several unusual mortality and stranding events have been correlated with high organic contaminant concentrations (Law et al., 2012; Muir et al., 1988; Struntz et al., 2004; Tanabe, 2002; Tilbury et al., 1999). Research conducted on mortalities among marine mammals tried to establish connections between contaminants and disease outbreaks. For instance, the "Baltic Seal Disease Complex" was investigated in the 1970-80s, linking higher POP concentrations in the Baltic grey seal (*Haliocherus grypus*) and the ringed seal (*Pusa hispida*) to greater disease susceptibility (Sonne et al., 2020). Studies showed greater occurrence of lesions, osteoporosis, leiomyoma, stenosis, and occlusions of the uterus, which can affect reproductive success and survival of species (Helle, 1980; Helle et al., 1976a; Olsson et al., 1994; Roos et al., 2012).

In the same period, the endangered beluga whale population inhabiting the St. Lawrence Estuary was shown to have very high organohalogen tissue burdens and a high prevalence of degenerative, infectious, neoplastic, hyperplastic, and necrotic lesions (De Guise et al., 1995; Martineau et al., 1994). During 1990 to 1991, thousands of striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleolba*) died in the Mediterranean Sea due to a newly discovered morbillivirus known as dolphin morbillivirus (DMV) (Domingo et al., 1990; Van Bressem et al., 1991). Subsequent investigations revealed that the deceased dolphins had higher levels of PCBs compared to free-ranging specimens (Aguilar and Borrell, 1994; Kannan et al., 1993). In recent years there have been increasing reports of marine mammals infected by uncommon diseases (Bossart, 2011; Bossart and Duignan, 2018). A recent research by Desforges et al. (2016) observed a connection between

greater contaminant exposure and compromised lymphocyte proliferation and phagocytosis in these animals. This demonstrates that high concentrations of organic contaminants negatively impact both innate and adaptive immunity in marine mammals. In addition, an *in vitro* study with fibroblast cell cultures treated with PCBs and PBDEs showed immunotoxicity with state of stress and a modification of the immune system's response (Marsili et al., 2019). PBDEs have been also associated with cytotoxicity and genotoxicity in pantropical spotted dolphins (*Stenella attenuata*) (Rajput et al., 2021).

Several of these contaminants can act as endocrine disruptors, causing infertility, cancer and other types of diseases (Ross et al., 2000; Stockin et al., 2010; Tanabe, 2002; Ylitalo et al., 2001; Yordy et al., 2010a). PCB exposure has been associated with reduced reproductive outputs, such as increased embryonic loss and increased calf mortality in harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) and bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) (Murphy et al., 2015; Schwacke et al., 2002). A link between affected thyroid hormones circulation levels and exposure to PBDEs has been documented in grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) during their first year (Hall et al., 2003). In addition, the beluga whales residing in the St. Lawrence Estuary (Canada) -considered one of the most heavily polluted cetacean populations worldwide (Martineau et al., 2002)- exhibit the highest incidence of cancer among cetaceans, likely due to their high exposure to POPs.

2.2.2.2. Fish

2.2.2.2.1. Bony fish (Osteichthyes)

In fish, POPs have been found to disrupt the reproductive endocrine system, resulting in low hatching success, increased posthatch mortality, and reproductive disruption (Arukwe, 2001; Johnson et al., 2013; Kime, 1995). Particularly, PCB exposure has frequently been associated with depressed sex steroid levels and associated reproductive dysfunction (Arcand-Hoy and Benson, 1998; Simmons et al., 2014). PBDE effects on endocrine and reproductive systems, as well as the interaction between the two, have been reported in captive and wildlife fish (Yu et al., 2015). Although, the thyroid system is the major target of PBDEs in fish, different studies reported that these substances could interfere with activities or expressions of steroidogenic enzymes and consequently alter sex hormone levels, steroidogenesis, and reproduction (Hamers et al., 2006; He et al., 2008; Nakari and Pessala, 2005; Song et al., 2008).

Inhibition of estrogen synthesis, potentially causing fertility defects have been described in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) exposed to TCDD *in vivo* (Hutz et al., 2006, 1999). PCDD/Fs, PCBs, and PBDEs have been associated with changes in thyroid hormones' function resulting in growth and metabolism defects (Dong et al., 2017; Noyes and Stapleton, 2014; Nugegoda and Kibria, 2017; Rolland, 2000; Yu et al., 2015). Additionally, the ability to react normally to environmental stressors could be affected by the interaction between POPs and the hypothalamus-adrenal-pituitary axis (Carr and Patiño, 2011). For instance, Arctic char (*Salvelinus alpinus*) exposed to environmentally relevant concentrations of PCBs had impaired regulation of cortisol production by interrenal tissue, which could lead to a deficiency in adaptation to stress (Aluru et al., 2004; Vijayan et al., 2006).

Early life stages of fish are known to be particularly vulnerable to POPs. In oviparous fish species, adverse effects include decreased hatching success and increased embryo mortality, as well as abnormal development and malformation of larvae, ultimately leading to reduced survival rates (Foekema et al., 2012; Rigaud et al., 2013; Westerlund et al., 2000). For example, delayed hatching and alterations in behavior that included depressed swimming activity and feeding rates in larval mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) have been reported after exposure to commercial PBDE mixtures (Timme-Laragy et al., 2006). A laboratory study also described teratogenic activity of some PBDE congeners with significant decrease in hatching success, malformations (embryos), and significant increase in embryo mortality in turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) (Mhadhbi et al., 2012). Finally, studies reported developmental, reproductive and embryotoxicity in fish with excess mortality, edema, hemorrhages, and craniofacial malformations (Carney et al., 2006; King-Heiden et al., 2012; Tanguay et al., 2005).

Several researches have investigated the impact of pollution on the immune systems of wild fish residing in contaminated water sources (Galloway and Depledge, 2001; Jobling and Tyler, 2003). These findings revealed that fish exposed to these polluted environments exhibited certain adverse effects on their immune functions when compared to fish living in unpolluted reference sites (Arkoosh et al., 1991, 1998; Faisal et al., 1991; Weeks et al., 1986). These effects included a decrease in the secondary *in vitro* antibody response, heightened vulnerability to diseases, reduced cell division (mitogenesis), and impaired functioning of macrophages, which are vital cells involved in the immune response (Arkoosh et al., 1991, 1998; Faisal et al., 1991; Weeks et al., 1986).

2.2.2.2.2. Cartilaginous fish (Chondrichthyes)

Due to their inherent biological and ecological characteristics, such as slow growth, late maturation, and limited reproductive output, elasmobranchs (sharks, rays) - a subclass of chondrichthyes - are particularly vulnerable to POPs' accumulation (Dulvy et al., 2017, 2008; Pierce and Bennett, 2010). While overexploitation and habitat degradation are widely acknowledged as major threats to elasmobranch populations (Dulvy et al., 2014), the potential additional hazard posed by pollution remains poorly understood for this taxonomic group. Most likely because of the growing concern for human exposure to environmental contaminants through fish consumption, most of the studies have mainly focused on the contaminant levels in muscle tissue rather than on the toxicity exerted on these animals. In a review by Gelsleichter and Walker (2010) about pollutant exposure and effects in elasmobranchs it was found that several species, such as Greenland sharks (*Somniosus microcephalus*), bull sharks (*Carcharhinus leucas*), and tiger sharks (*Galeocerdo cuvier*) displayed levels of certain environmental pollutants that were close to or exceeded the limit recommended for human consumption.

As mentioned before, the exploration of detrimental effects of POPs on elasmobranch health is still lacking in comprehensive research. However, some studies have demonstrated that the levels of pollutants present in shark tissues not only exceed the recommended levels for human consumption (Alves et al., 2016), but that they are also greater than the threshold for physiological effects in some teleost species (Lema et al., 2008). In that context, changes in the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axis have been reported in adult fathead minnows (Pimephales promelas) exposed to BDE-47 (Lema et al., 2008). Concurrently, Johnson-Restrepo et al. (2005) examined BDE-47 levels in bull sharks and found that this congener was approximately four times higher than the total body burden of the high-dose treatment of fathead minnows in the study by Lema et al. (2008). In addition, POPs have been measured in some shark species such as bull sharks (Carcharhinus leucas), Atlantic sharpnose sharks (Rhizoprionodon terraenovae), bonnetheads (Sphyrna tiburo), sandbar sharks (C. plumbeus), and blacktip sharks (C. limbatus) in Florida, and were found to accumulate at levels that may elicit adverse biochemical responses in these species (Gelsleichter et al., 2008, 2005; Johnson-Restrepo et al., 2008, 2005). A recent study by Alves et al. (2016) discovered compelling connections between the accumulation levels of contaminants and biochemical responses in blue sharks (Prionacea glauca). The researchers observed significant associations with DNA damage, lipid peroxidation levels, inhibition of the antioxidant enzyme glutathione peroxidase, and presence of POPs and metal contamination.

2.3. Marine species as indicators of marine pollution

Understanding and protecting environmental and human health is a multifaceted challenge, given the wide range of anthropogenic and natural stressors that pose risks to the health of exposed organisms. To address these critical questions about the detrimental effects of human activities on biodiversity, scientists have increasingly relied on bioindicators of the ecosystems' health. In general, bioindicators are organisms that provide information on the quality of the environment, from deep marine ecosystems to terrestrial habitats of high altitude (Burger, 2006; Holt and Miller, 2010). The use of bioindicators is based on the idea that impacts of environmental changes are integrated over, and reflected by, the current status or trends in the diversity, abundance, or accumulation of pollutants by one or more species living in that environment (Bartell, 2006; Bonanno and Vymazal, 2017; Zukal et al., 2015).

In the realm of environmental chemical contamination and the potential adverse health impacts linked to exposure, researchers have progressively relied on wildlife as sentinel species, capable of providing insight into the presence, extent and potential consequences arising from the existence of toxic substances (Parmar et al., 2016). In this regard, sentinel organisms are valuable indicators of spatio-temporal trends, long-range transport, distribution, and biomagnification of toxic chemicals. Additionally, they can provide insights into the effects of contaminants through various methods, including *in vitro* exposures, controlled feeding studies, and blood sampling of free-ranging animals. In these scenarios, the development of biomarkers and endpoints of exposure holds significant importance.

To offer valuable information about the contamination status, good sentinels should possess certain fundamental qualities. These include sensitivity to environmental stressors, the ability to accumulate stressors/contaminants in their tissues, a widespread and common distribution, ease of monitoring, well-documented physiology and life history, and a key trophic or ecological role. (Burger and Gochfeld, 2001; Tabor and Aguirre, 2004). Furthermore, they should be preferably large, in order to provide sufficient tissues for the analysis, and have a long lifespan to facilitate long-term studies (Gerhardt, 2011). All these characteristics ensure that selected organisms could be studied and sampled without compromising their populations, allowing comparisons among different areas and providing information about their current and future health conditions.

Considering that they exhibit many of these characteristics, marine mammals and sharks have been identified as valuable sentinel species. (Alves et al., 2022; Bossart, 2011; Desforges et al., 2022). Their high trophic positions in marine food webs leads to the accumulation of high

quantities of environmental contaminants (Gray, 2002; Jepson et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2000; Weijs et al., 2015). Moreover, with their fat rich tissues – liver in the case of sharks – they are very susceptible to accumulate lipophilic substances such as POPs (Barrett, 2013; Reijnders et al., 2009). In some cases, especially for some cetacean species, their coastal habitat use brings them into close contact with densely populated and industrialized cities, thereby exposing them to a plethora of human-induced stressors, including chemical pollution (Kucklick et al., 2011; Marsili et al., 2018; Reif et al., 2017). While populations relatively stationary allow for local risk assessments, others with extensive geographic ranges facilitate assessments of exposure across various regions. Ultimately, marine mammals and sharks present a considerable societal relevance since both constitute a significant food resource for many people around the world (Dent and Clarke, 2015; Fielding, 2022; Robards and Reeves, 2011).

Information gained from the study of marine mammals has provided useful perspectives about the severe threat of pollution in different areas of the world (Desforges et al., 2022). Some important examples included the case of beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) in St. Lawrence Estuary in 1970s-90s (De Guise et al., 1995; Martineau et al., 1994), grey seals (*Phoca vitulina; Pusa hispida; Halichoerus*) in the Baltic Sea between 1960 and 1980 (Helle et al., 1976b; Olsson et al., 1994; Reijnders, 1986), or sea lions (*Zalophus californianus*) along the California coast in the 1960s-70s (DeLong et al., 1973). In each scenario, studies documented a significant deterioration of the health of individuals resulting in population declines. The primary factor responsible across all three cases has been identified as heightened levels of contaminants accumulated in their tissues, especially POPs.

The sperm whale is widely recognized as sentinel of ocean pollution and health (Fossi and Panti, 2017) and several studies employed this species to monitor contamination and effects of POPs and metals (Godard-Codding et al., 2011; Marsili et al., 2014; Poirier et al., 2021; Savery et al., 2013; Squadrone et al., 2015; Wise et al., 2011; Zaccaroni et al., 2018). Despite the scarcity of information regarding its contamination status and the associated negative effects, studies have identified Cuvier's beaked whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*) as a promising bioindicator of environmental pollution (Bachman et al., 2014; Knap and Jickells, 1983; Law et al., 2005; Peruffo et al., 2023). At the same time, various researches have also highlighted the utility of blue sharks as sentinel organisms for assessing marine pollution in the Atlantic Ocean, Pacific Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea (Alves et al., 2016; Barrera-García et al., 2013, 2012; Storelli et al., 2011b).

In spite of certain limitations, such as their relatively high mobility, fish are highly regarded as valuable organisms for monitoring pollution in aquatic ecosystems. Anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*) and sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*), due to their high sensitivity to environmental and anthropogenic stressors (Peters et al., 1994; Sala et al., 2022; Sofoulaki et al., 2022), as well as their crucial ecological role in linking planktonic life with predatory species (Lloret-Lloret et al., 2022; Palomera et al., 2007), have been identified as excellent bioindicator species. Fish are omnipresent in aquatic environments and fulfill a vital ecological role within aquatic food webs by transferring energy upwards from lower to higher trophic levels (Beyer, 1996). Furthermore, fish constitute a significant food source for humans in many parts of the world, and therefore, assessing their contamination status can provide insights into the potential risks for human health associated with fish consumption.

It is important to highlight that environmental health extends beyond ecosystems and encompasses various facets of human well-being. Bioindicators can provide insights into human health, the health of the organisms themselves, and the overall health of ecosystems. For instance, when we employ contaminant levels in top-predators as indicators, we obtain information regarding potential risks not only for the species directly involved, but also for humans (who are also top-predators in the food chain) and for species lower down the food chain. This wealth of information allows us to assess the effectiveness of mitigation measures and facilitates well-informed decision-making and targeted actions aimed at preserving both ecosystems' and human health.

2.3.1. Studied species

As stated before, sperm whales, Cuvier's beaked whales, blue sharks and fish encompass a range of characteristics that make them excellent bioindicators of marine ecosystem contamination. However, it is important to emphasize that these species are subject to other anthropogenic stressors that could affect their susceptibility to anthropogenic toxic substances and jeopardize their conservation. In that context, the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List assessments plays a crucial role in evaluating the conservation status of species worldwide. The assessment process involves the evaluation of various factors that serve for categorizing species based on their risk of extinction. This process helps to identify species requiring urgent

conservation measures, but also plays an important role in monitoring the effectiveness of conservation efforts over time.

The species investigated in this study have been assigned to categories indicating a certain level of extinction risk (Bizsel et al., 2011; Cañadas and Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2018; Di Natale et al., 2011a, 2011b; Pirotta et al., 2021; Sims et al., 2015).

2.3.1.1. Sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)



Figure 4. Depiction of the sperm whale.

The sperm whale is the largest toothed whale and has one of the widest global distribution of any marine mammal species (Whitehead, 2018). This odontocete, feeds mainly on meso- and bathypelagic cephalopods (Wong and Whitehead, 2014). Interestingly, male sperm whales have a preference for larger prey than females, such as demersal fishes, sharks and rays (Wong and Whitehead, 2014). Despite the cessation of commercial whaling, which was once the most prominent threat to sperm whales, other human activities still menace this species. Threats include chemical pollution, entanglement in fishing gear, and noise pollution (Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2014).

In the Mediterranean Sea, there exist a genetically distinct subpopulation widely distributed within the basin, but geographically isolated from the rest of the oceans (Dulau et al., 2004; Engelhaupt et al., 2009). This subpopulation comprising fewer than 2500 mature individuals is declining in the last years and for this reason it has been listed as endangered by the IUCN (Pirotta et al., 2021). Efforts have been made to safeguard and protect Mediterranean sperm whales, particularly against entanglement in fishing gear and ship collisions (Danovaro et al., 2020). However, other anthropogenic activities such as oil and gas prospecting (seismic airguns), military operations, illegal dynamite fishing, and very specially, chemical contamination, are today sources of concern (Bartalini et al., 2019; Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2014; Pinzone et al., 2015).

2.3.1.2. Cuvier's beaked whale (Ziphius cavirostris)



Figure 5. Depiction of the Cuvier's beaked whale.

The Cuvier's beaked whale is a deep-diving marine mammal with a cosmopolitan distribution (Baird, 2018; Tyack et al., 2006). Despite their wide distribution, they remain relatively understudied possibly due to their diving behavior, inconspicuous surfacing, and preference for offshore habitats (Hooker et al., 2019). A global assessment has shed light on the presence of a genetically distinct subpopulation of Cuvier's beaked whales in the Mediterranean Sea (Dalebout et al., 2005). With less than 10,000 mature individuals estimated in this subpopulation, there are concerns about a declining trend in their abundance (Cañadas et al., 2018; Podestà et al., 2016). Notably, specific regions within the Mediterranean, such as the Northern Ligurian Sea, Alboran Sea, and Hellenic trench, have been identified as important areas for this species (Cañadas et al., 2018; Tepsich et al., 2014).

The existing research on Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales has predominantly focused on assessing the risks associated with noise pollution. Within this framework, studies have identified a potential correlation between Cuvier's beaked whale mass strandings and their exposure to midand low-frequency underwater anthropogenic acoustic activities, particularly military activities involving the use of sonar (Cox et al., 2023; Fernández et al., 2005; Frantzis, 1998). Past studies have involved reviewing stranding data (Podesta et al., 2023), studying diving behavior (Tyack et al., 2006), identifying habitat preferences (Azzellino et al., 2011; Tepsich et al., 2014), and estimating density and abundance (Cañadas et al., 2018). All of these were aimed at understanding the impact of anthropogenic noise pollution on these whales. Due to the declining population trend and associated threats, the Mediterranean subpopulation of Cuvier's beaked whale has been classified as Vulnerable by the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (Cañadas and Notarbartolo Di Sciara, 2018). Consequently, it becomes of crucial importance to investigate other potential stressors, such as POPs, to develop a comprehensive risk assessment and effective conservation strategies for this species.

2.3.1.3. European sardine (Sardina pilchardus), European anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus) and bogue (Boops boops)

Sardines, anchovies, and bogues are small, pelagic fish species that play a crucial role in marine ecosystems while having significant economic importance in fisheries worldwide. All these three fish species have been assessed for the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species in 2007-2008 and listed as Least Concern in the Mediterranean Sea (Bizsel et al., 2011; Di Natale et al., 2011a, 2011b).

2.3.1.3.1 European sardine (Sardina pilchardus)



Figure 6. Depiction of the European sardine.

The European sardine belongs to the Clupeidae family and is found in temperate and subtropical waters across various regions (Brehmer et al., 2007). The European sardine is one of the well-known sardine species inhabiting the eastern Atlantic Ocean and the Mediterranean Sea (Voulgaridou and Stergiou, 2003). This species forms schools, usually at depths between 25 to 55 or even 100 m by day, rising to 10 to 35 m at night (Di Natale et al., 2011a).

Sardines are ecologically important as a vital prey species for marine mammals, seabirds, and predatory fish. Their high reproductive rates and abundance make them essential components of the marine food web (Cury, 2000). In terms of fisheries, sardines are commercially valuable and have been exploited for centuries. They are caught for human consumption, canning, and fishmeal production, providing employment and economic benefits to many coastal communities. Environmental factors, such as sea surface temperature and plankton availability, influence the dynamics of sardine populations (Véron et al., 2020).

This species has a broad distribution and is abundant in the Mediterranean Sea where it is commercially important (Palomera et al., 2007). In this region the sardine population displayed some fluctuations, but there have been no significant population declines in recent times (Di Natale et al., 2011a).

2.3.1.3.2. European anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus)



Figure 7. Depiction of the European anchovy.

The European anchovy is a widespread fish species belonging to the Engraulidae family. This pelagic and oceanodromous species is typically found in coastal waters, where it forms large schools (Ventero et al., 2021). It is a very common and abundant species in the Mediterranean Sea, typically inhabiting the entire water column, with the majority of the population concentrated at depths of less than 50 meters (Plounevez and Champalbert, 2000). A genetic study by Tudela et al. (1999) reported the presence of a unique population in the Mediterranean basin, with different spawning grounds. Anchovies are essential components of marine food webs, serving as prey for many marine predators, including larger fish, seabirds, and marine mammals (Free et al., 2021). In commercial fisheries, anchovies are caught mainly for human consumption, processed into canned products, salted, or used for fishmeal and fish oil production.

2.3.1.3.3. Bogue (Boops boops)



Figure 8. Depiction of the bogue.

The bogue is a small fish species belonging to the Boopsoidea genera, very common and ubiquitous in temperate and tropical waters (El-Maremie and El-Mor, 2015). This species is known for its sociable and schooling behavior and can be found in demersal and semi-pelagic habitats (Arechavala-Lopez et al., 2011). It is capable of ranging as deep as 350 meters, and its presence spans diverse substrates, such as sand, mud, rocks, and seaweeds (Riera et al., 2014; Valle et al., 2003). While it is more frequently encountered at depths shallower than 150 meters, it is also

occasionally found in coastal waters (Bizsel et al., 2011). Bogue is a common species in the North East Atlantic and the Mediterranean Sea were, although it is heavily exploited, the population appears to be stable (Bizsel et al., 2011; Cunha et al., 2022). Bogues are ecologically important as prey for various marine predators, contributing to the trophic structure of marine ecosystems. In fisheries, bogues are caught for human consumption, particularly in Mediterranean and Atlantic regions, and are an important component of artisanal fisheries (Azab et al., 2019).

2.3.1.4. Blue shark (Prionace glauca)



Figure 9. Depiction of the blue shark.

The blue shark is a widely distributed and highly abundant pelagic species inhabiting temperate, tropical, and subtropical regions (Sims et al., 2015). With a long lifespan of approximately 20 years, it holds the position of a top predator in the marine ecosystem, primarily preying on pelagic teleost fish and cephalopods, especially squid (da Silva et al., 2021). Researchers have investigated its suitability as a bioindicator species for marine contamination through various studies (Alves et al., 2022, 2016; Barrera-García et al., 2013, 2012; Storelli et al., 2011b).

Unfortunately, the blue shark faces increasing bycatch in high-seas longline and driftnet fisheries (da Silva et al., 2021). Although once considered less valuable, its meat and fins are now in high demand worldwide, leading to a staggering estimated global catch of nearly 93,000 tons in 2020 (FAO Species Fact Sheets, 2021). This intense exploitation has resulted in its classification as Near Threatened on the IUCN Red List (Sims et al., 2015), with some scientists estimating that its global catch accounts for about 90% of all elasmobranchs caught (Coelho et al., 2012). Consequently, it is crucial to prioritize the analysis of xenobiotics such as POPs in the tissues of this species. This analysis serves as a valuable proxy for assessing the extent and type of contamination present in its environment, and for understanding the potential health impacts associated with human consumption of its meat.

2.4. POPs in the marine environment

The marine environment is considered a global sink for many hydrophobic POPs (Dachs et al., 2002; Jönsson et al., 2003; Lohmann et al., 2006). These substances can enter the marine environment through various pathways comprising atmospheric deposition, runoff, and ocean currents (Wenning and Martello, 2014). Once into the atmosphere, POPs can be transported by air currents, both in gas phase and adsorbed to particles, and deposited into oceans and seas, particularly in regions far from their sources (Gouin et al., 2004; Wania and MacKay, 1996). Agricultural and urban runoffs can transport POPs from the land into water bodies, which eventually reach the marine environment (Fu et al., 2003; Najam and Alam, 2023). Finally, POPs can be transported across vast distances by ocean currents, leading to their global distribution (Iwata et al., 1993; Lohmann et al., 2021, 2007).

Once POPs enter the marine environment, they can undergo several processes. They can bioaccumulate in the tissues of marine organisms through direct uptake from water or ingestion of contaminated preys (Daley et al., 2014; Mackay and Fraser, 2000). Then, POPs can undergo biomagnification in the marine food web, leading to higher concentrations in predators at the top of food chains (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Chiuchiolo et al., 2004; Goerke et al., 2004; Romero-Romero et al., 2017). On the other hand, some POPs have a tendency to adsorb onto sediment particles, leading to their accumulation in marine sediments (Avellan et al., 2022; Gómez-Gutiérrez et al., 2007). PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs have been broadly described in marine environments, (Domingo and Bocio, 2007; Geyer et al., 1984; Lee and Kim, 2015; Wolska et al., 2012), with the highest levels reported in top predator species, such as orcas and other toothed whales, and in some cases with detrimental concentrations for population conservation (De Guise et al., 1995; Desforges et al., 2018; Marsili et al., 2018; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

PCBs are discharged into the aquatic environment mainly with effluents (principally from paper factories), or to lesser extent as a result of local emergencies (e.g., leakage from equipment utilizing transformer oil with added PCBs) (Wolska et al., 2012). In addition, PCB contamination of sediments proximal to harbors has been attributed to the release of various chemical constituents found in marine paints (Lao et al., 2021; Uhler et al., 2021). PBDEs enter coastal waters through discharge from municipal sewage treatment systems (either from households, traffic and/or diffuse releases to the environment), industrial wastewater, leachate from landfills, and deposition from the atmosphere (De Wit, 2002). Some are additives mixed into polymers and are not chemically bound to the plastic or textiles, and therefore may separate or leach from the

surface of their product applications into the environment (Turner, 2022). PBDEs may also enter the marine environment with plastic waste. For instance, some sources are microplastics and fibers generated by physical abrasion on disposal (Harrad et al., 2019), fibers discharged to wastewater or the atmosphere on laundering (Dalla Fontana et al., 2020; O'Brien et al., 2020), and larger plastics, including occasional electronic articles, resulting from littering, spillages and improper waste management (Shaw and Turner, 2019). Additionally, plastics and microplastics can serve as a dual source for the presence of PBDEs in the marine environment. On one hand, PBDEs may be released from the plastic matrix into the surrounding water through diffusive migration, becoming a potential source of contamination (Chua et al., 2014; Rochman et al., 2014; Tanaka et al., 2013). On the other hand, plastics can also act as a sink for PBDEs and other organic compounds, with these chemicals being adsorbed and accumulated on the plastic surfaces (Engler, 2012; Gouin et al., 2011; Ogata et al., 2009; Singla et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2019). These interactions provide possible routes of exposure to PBDEs for marine organisms, leading to their potential accumulation in marine life (Avio et al., 2015; Bakir et al., 2014; Teuten et al., 2007).

In the case of PCDD/Fs, the contamination of water primarily results from sources including sewage sludge, paper and pulp industries, fertilizer industries, and others that release these pollutants into the water environment (Jeno et al., 2021). PCDD/Fs have been reported in surface sediments of rivers in China (Ren et al., 2009), Russia (Metelkova et al., 2019), Uruguay, and Argentina (Matta, 2018). Contaminated marine sediments has been described in the Spanish Northern Atlantic Coast (Gómez-Lavín et al., 2011), along the Portugal coast (Nunes et al., 2014), and the Mediterranean Sea (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2013; Eljarrat et al., 2005, 2001; Jimenez et al., 1998).

As mentioned before, after entering the marine environment, POPs are susceptible to biomagnify within the marine food chain (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Chiuchiolo et al., 2004; Goerke et al., 2004; Romero-Romero et al., 2017). The marine food web exhibits a diverse array of both simple and complex food chains, with marine animals occupying various trophic levels. The consumer dynamics, such as the type and length of food webs, can differ among different taxa, which can impact how environmental contaminants are accumulated (Madgett et al., 2019). In addition, due to this variation in trophic dynamics, individuals of the same species may not consistently occupy the same trophic level, owing to differences in age, sex, habitat, seasonal and dietary preferences (Kousteni et al., 2017; Metcalfe et al., 2004; Pauly, 1998).

The marine food web starts with primary producers, such as phytoplankton, algae, and seagrasses, occupying the lowest trophic level. Moving up, the next stage includes first-order consumers like zooplankton and herbivorous feeders, including manatees and dugongs (O'Shea et al., 2018; Trites, 2019). The second order of consumers mainly consists of filter feeders like baleen whales (mysticetes), which consume first-order consumers such as zooplankton and larvae. Mid-trophic pelagic fish such as sardines, anchovies, mackerels, and squids are the most common pelagic species in upwelling systems worldwide (Ceia et al., 2023). In addition, these species hold a crucial position in marine ecosystems, serving as vital connections between zooplankton and apex predators, and they are significant targets for fisheries (Frederiksen et al., 2006). Continuing along the trophic chain, the next level is occupied by intermediate to apex predators, such as toothed whales (odontocetes) and pinnipeds (seals, sea lions, and walruses), which often feed on large fish and even other marine mammals (Bowen, 1997; Nelms et al., 2018). Some of the highest trophic positions are occupied by marine mammals that consume other marine mammals, some shark species, and indigenous communities with a diet relying on top predator species (Bowen, 1997; Heithaus, 2001; Higdon et al., 2012; Nelms et al., 2018).

Both theoretical and assigned trophic levels can be employed to model and estimate the biomagnification of POPs, and to identify species or populations especially prone to the accumulation of these harmful substances. Food web biomagnification of POPs has been widely demonstrated to occur for multiple species from both aquatic (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Nfon et al., 2008; Romero-Romero et al., 2017) and terrestrial environments (Cao et al., 2023; Fremlin et al., 2020). When POPs enter the marine environment, they are often introduced at the base of the food chain by being taken up by small organisms like plankton or algae, and they start to accumulate in their tissues (Chiuchiolo et al., 2004; Li et al., 2020). The next level of the food chain involves small fish or zooplankton that feed on the primary producers (Fisk et al., 2001; Larsson et al., 2000). Since these organisms consume a large number of POP-contaminated plankton, the concentration of POPs in their bodies becomes higher than that in the lowest level. As larger marine predators consume these smaller contaminated organisms, they incorporate all the accumulated POPs from their prey (Gui et al., 2014; Romero-Romero et al., 2017). POPs do not get metabolized or excreted efficiently in the predator's body, which leads to a further increase in the POP concentration in their tissues (Aguilar et al., 2002; Baini et al., 2020; Jeong et al., 2016; Tanabe, 2002; Williams et al., 2020). The biomagnification process continues and POPs move up the food web's trophic levels resulting in higher concentrations in species at the top of the food

chains, such as some odontocetes and sharks (Bachman et al., 2014; Jepson and Law, 2016). Additionally, many indigenous communities face the risk of contaminant exposure due to their subsistence consumption of various marine mammal species (Dudarev et al., 2019; Moses et al., 2009). Summing up, the phenomenon of biomagnification poses significant ecological risks and health concerns, above all, for those species occupying higher trophic levels (Leonards et al., 2008; Tsygankov et al., 2015).

2.4.1. Studied areas

Despite the global distribution of POP contamination in marine ecosystems, specific regions, such as the Mediterranean Sea and the North East Atlantic Ocean, exhibit elevated contamination levels that can be attributed to their distinctive geographical and ecological characteristics (Benn et al., 2010; Carpenter, 2019; Danovaro, 2003; El-Kholy et al., 2012; Halpern et al., 2008; Marsili et al., 2018; Merhaby et al., 2019; Nash et al., 2023; Ramos-Miras et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2021). These factors can amplify the impact of POPs on marine biodiversity and, consequently, on the overall health of ecosystems. Therefore, these areas are of particular concern for conservation and environmental management efforts.

2.4.1.1. The Mediterranean Sea



Figure 10. Depiction of the Mediterranean Sea (34.5531° N, 18.0480° E). (https://earth.google.com/web/)

The Mediterranean Sea is a captivating and culturally significant aquatic system located between Southern Europe, Northern Africa, and Western Asia. It is enclosed by the landmasses of these three continents and connected to the Atlantic Ocean through the Strait of Gibraltar. Known for its historical importance and picturesque landscapes, the Mediterranean Sea has played a crucial role

in the development of human civilizations since ancient times (Bintliff, 2017). Furthermore, its marine biodiversity is one of the most rich and diverse of the world (Coll et al., 2010; Tovar-Sánchez et al., 2020). The sea is home to a wide variety of marine species, ranging from microscopic plankton to large marine mammals, with a high percentage of endemic species (Bianchi and Morri, 2000; Coll et al., 2010; Tortonese, 1985). The Mediterranean Sea also harbors a unique collection of iconic species that require special conservation attention, including sea turtles (Casale et al., 2018), various cetaceans (Pace and Tizzi, 2013), and the critically endangered Mediterranean monk seal (Monachus monachus) (Bundone et al., 2019). Moreover, it serves as the primary breeding area for the eastern Atlantic bluefin tuna (*Thunnus thynnus*) (MacKenzie et al., 2009). In addition, coastal areas host diverse ecosystems, including seagrass meadows of the endemic Posidonia oceanica, coral reefs, and rocky shores, which serve as important habitats for numerous species (Pinedo et al., 2007; Sbrocca et al., 2021; Tursi et al., 2004; Vacchi et al., 2017). The rich biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea is also linked to its role as a migration route for various marine animals, including birds, fishes, and marine mammals (Coll et al., 2010; Jourdain et al., 2007). It serves as an important stopover and breeding ground for numerous migratory species, making it a critical area for conservation efforts (Barboutis et al., 2022; Maggini et al., 2020). However, the Mediterranean ecosystem is facing various challenges and threats (Coll et al., 2010; Danovaro et al., 2020). Pollution from urbanization, industrial activities, shipping, and agricultural runoff poses significant risks to marine life and coastal habitats (Danovaro, 2003; Merhaby et al., 2019; Ramos-Miras et al., 2019; Sharma et al., 2021). Overfishing and destructive fishing practices also put pressure on fish stocks and marine ecosystems (Bearzi et al., 2006; Shumka et al., 2023). Additionally, climate change impacts, such as rising sea temperatures and ocean acidification, further stress the delicate balance of the Mediterranean's biodiversity (Lejeusne et al., 2010; Raitsos et al., 2010). One of the Mediterranean's defining features is its unique hydrodynamics that combined with its semi-enclosed nature, contributes to its distinctive ecological characteristics and susceptibility to pollution (Durrieu de Madron et al., 2011).

This area has become one of the most polluted seas in the world due to a combination of factors and it is considered a sink for many pollutants (El-Kholy et al., 2012; Marsili et al., 2018). One major issue is the increasing population and tourism along the Mediterranean coast (Laubier, 2005; Yıldırım et al., 2023). This leads to higher urbanization and industrial activities, resulting in the discharge of untreated sewage, chemicals, and waste into the sea (El-Kholy et al., 2012; Hassen et al., 2022; Schell et al., 2021). Additionally, coastal development can cause habitat

destruction, affecting marine ecosystems and biodiversity (Claudet and Fraschetti, 2010; Fraschetti et al., 2011; Meinesz et al., 1991; Mejjad et al., 2022).

Shipping is another significant contributor to contamination in the Mediterranean area. This sea serves as a major transportation route, and shipping activities can lead to oil spills, fuel emissions, and the release of ballast water containing invasive species (Flagella and Abdulla, 2005; Kostianoy and Carpenter, 2018; Marmer and Langmann, 2005; Molnar et al., 2008). These incidents not only directly harm marine life, but also have long-term impacts on marine food chains (Deudero et al., 2011).

Agricultural practices, particularly the use of fertilizers and pesticides, contribute to marine pollution through runoff into rivers that eventually reach the sea (Owa, 2013; Zaqoot et al., 2012). This influx of nutrients leads to harmful algal blooms and oxygen-deprived "dead zones," further disrupting the delicate balance of marine ecosystems (Abbas et al., 2022; Barale et al., 2008). Moreover, microplastics have become a widespread issue in the Mediterranean (Sharma et al., 2021). These tiny particles, often from the breakdown of larger plastic debris, are ingested by marine organisms and can make their way up the food chains, posing risks to both marine life and potentially human health (Codina-García et al., 2013; Romeo et al., 2015; Tsangaris et al., 2020).

As mentioned before, the Mediterranean Sea is widely recognized as a vulnerable region particularly susceptible to pollution and it is considered a hot spot area for many POPs, specifically PCBs (Albaigés, 2005; Marsili et al., 2018). In that context, although in recent years several studies have observed a gradual decline in PCB levels in various fish species within the Mediterranean region, other researchers have highlighted elevated PCB concentrations in certain marine mammal populations, confirming the Mediterranean's status as a PCB hotspot for marine mammals (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). Concentrations of PCBs in different Mediterranean dolphin species have been recently reported surpassing previously toxicity thresholds for marine mammals (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). Also, PCBs are still detected in human milk and blood among Mediterranean populations (Çok et al., 2012; Ulutaş et al., 2015), in some cases, with no significant decrease over recent years (Consonni et al., 2012). These evidences point to the possibility of new inputs and/or remobilization of these legacy contaminants in the Mediterranean region (Josefsson et al., 2010). This, in turn, implies that the measures taken to mitigate PCB contamination may not be working as effectively as expected on both local and global levels. Various pathways contribute to the influx of POP concentrations into the Mediterranean Sea. These include long-range transportation (LRT) from regions like Asia and different parts of Europe,

as well as inputs from river discharges and sedimentation (Albaigés, 2005; Berrojalbiz et al., 2014; Gómez-Gutiérrez et al., 2006; Iacovidou et al., 2009; Lelieveld et al., 2002). As a result, significant levels of POPs are now being reported in various animal species within the Mediterranean Sea (Capanni et al., 2020; Guerranti et al., 2014; Marsili et al., 2018; Muñoz-Arnanz et al., 2011; Pinzone et al., 2015; Roscales et al., 2016; Tekin and Pazi, 2017).

In order to address environmental challenges in this region, the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) established The Mediterranean Action Plan (MAP). This comprehensive regional program was launched in 1975 with the aim of protecting and preserving the marine and coastal ecosystems of the Mediterranean Sea, which are under threat from pollution, overfishing, habitat degradation, and other human activities. The primary goal of the MAP is to promote sustainable development and environmental protection in the region through cooperation among the Mediterranean countries. The program focuses on several key areas, including marine pollution, biodiversity conservation, coastal zone management, and sustainable use of marine resources. As a result, there exist currently 1,126 Marine and Coastal Protected Areas (MCPAs) covering 209,303 km², including 39 Specially Protected Areas of Mediterranean Importance (SPAMIs). This coverage amounts to approximately 8.3 percent of the Mediterranean Sea area.

2.4.1.2. The North East Atlantic Ocean



Figure 11. Depiction of North East Atlantic Ocean, subdivided into the different OSPAR areas. (https://www.ospar.org/convention/the-north-east-atlantic)

The North East Atlantic Ocean is a vast and biologically diverse region that stretches from the western coasts of Europe to the eastern coasts of North America. It is one of the most productive marine areas in the world, supporting a rich and varied array of marine life (McQuatters-Gollop et al., 2022). It is home to a wide range of marine species, including fish, marine mammals, seabirds, and invertebrates (Gordó-Vilaseca et al., 2023; Licandro et al., 2010; Waggitt et al., 2020). Its high level of biodiversity is supported by a wide range of habitats, including coastal areas, deep-sea trenches, and underwater mountains (Bongiorni et al., 2010; Henry and Roberts, 2007; Xavier and van Soest, 2007). The North East Atlantic is a significant fishing ground, supporting various commercially valuable fish species such as cod, haddock, herring, and mackerel (Bjørndal, 2009; Hannesson, 2013; Veldhuizen et al., 2015; Zimmermann and Werner, 2019). This region is influenced by the North Atlantic Drift, a warm ocean current that brings mild temperatures to Western Europe, contributing to the temperate climate of countries like the United Kingdom, Ireland, and coastal areas of Scandinavia (Adams et al., 2013; Rasmussen and Thomsen, 2004). Various deep-sea ecosystems in this area are characterized by unique and specialized species that have adapted to the extreme conditions of darkness, cold, and high pressure (Grehan et al., 2017; Grinyó et al., 2022; Kazanidis et al., 2020).

Despite this region is a playground for marine life, providing vital feeding and breeding grounds for numerous species, it is not immune to human impacts, such as coastal development, tourism, overfishing, marine litter, offshore activities, climate change and pollution (McQuatters-Gollop et al., 2022). The coastal areas of the North East Atlantic are heavily populated and developed, leading to habitat destruction, coastal erosion, and loss of natural environments (Halpern et al., 2008; IPBES, 2019). In addition, pollution from coastal urban centers, shipping activities, and oil and gas installations can affect water quality and marine life (Benn et al., 2010; Carpenter, 2019; Nash et al., 2023). In the last years, effects of climate change such rising sea temperatures, ocean acidification, and changes in marine habitats that can have profound effects on marine ecosystems, have been described in this area (Bedford et al., 2020; Hawkins et al., 2009; Poloczanska et al., 2016; Skogen et al., 2018).

In that context, OSPAR (Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic) is an international agreement established to protect the marine environment of the North East Atlantic. It was formed in 1992 and includes 15 Contracting Parties, which are the countries bordering the North East Atlantic, along with the European Union. The fifteen Governments are Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Iceland, Ireland, Luxembourg, The

Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, and United Kingdom. The OSPAR Convention aims to prevent and eliminate pollution in the North East Atlantic, conserve biodiversity, and promote sustainable use of marine resources. It addresses various sources of pollution, including chemical substances such as POPs, radioactive substances, and marine litter. It also coordinates efforts to combat pollution from land-based sources, such as agricultural runoff and wastewater discharges. Additionally, this convention focuses on the protection of sensitive habitats and species. It designates and manages marine protected areas to safeguard critical ecosystems and support biodiversity conservation. OSPAR also addresses issues related to offshore oil and gas activities to minimize environmental impacts and ensure responsible resource exploration and extraction.

2.5. The Stockholm Convention

In 1995, the Governing Council of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) urged global action on a list of 12 Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs). As a result, the Intergovernmental Forum on Chemical Safety (IFCS) was tasked to develop recommendations for international action by 1997, and concluded that immediate global measures were necessary to safeguard human health and the environment from these POPs. These recommendations were approved by the UNEP Governing Council and the World Health Assembly and, in early 1998, negotiations for a legally binding treaty started. Over 120 countries participated in the negotiation meetings of the Stockholm Convention, leading to the adoption of the final document in May 2001 (UNEP, 2001). The convention came into force in 2004 and currently, 186 parties, including 181 states and the European Union, have adopted it. Some countries, such as Israel, Malaysia, and the United States of America (USA), are yet to ratify the Stockholm Convention.

The first objective of the Stockholm Convention is to protect human health and the environment from the harmful effects of POPs by eliminating or restricting their production, use, trade, and release worldwide. The convention requires parties to develop action plans, adopt best available techniques, and promote alternatives to POPs in various sectors such as agriculture, industry, and waste management. For the clear identification of POPs, the Convention outlines specific criteria for classifying substances as POPs, such as chemical identity, evidence of persistence and bioaccumulation, potential for long-range transport, and evidence of adverse effects on human health and the environment. The Stockholm Convention has demonstrated its adaptability,

evolving over time to address emerging environmental concerns. Since the Convention's entry into force, more POPs have been added to its scope, and there have been proposals for the consideration of others. Today, more than 30 POPs are listed under the Stockholm Convention.

The initial 12 POPs listed ceased production and new uses in 2009. However, some exemptions allow certain uses to continue for a specified period. For instance, PCBs can remain in existing applications, like transformers or capacitors until 2025 (for all Parties), and PBDEs as well as other newly added substances have time-limited exemptions. Regarding the two POPs listed in Annex B—DDT and PFOS—, safe and affordable alternatives are not yet available. Consequently, they can still be produced or used for specific purposes.

Chemicals listed in Annex C are unintentionally formed and released during the production of other compounds or through thermal processes. To mitigate the unintentional releases of these POPs, Parties are required to develop release inventories, implement best available techniques (BAT), and promote best environmental practices (BEP).

In order to assess changes in POP concentrations in the environment and humans, a Global Monitoring Plan (GMP) for POPs has been established (UNEP, 2007). The GMP establishes a system to consistently collect comparable data about the presence of POPs in different regions. The plan focuses on core matrices such as ambient air and human tissues (human milk or human blood) for all POPs, and surface water for hydrophilic chemicals like PFOS. One notable aspect is the joint monitoring efforts with the World Health Organization (WHO) in assessing human milk, which has provided consistent and high-quality data, proving invaluable in understanding the impact of POPs on human health (van den Berg et al., 2017).

With the intent of promoting an integrated approach to managing regulated substances throughout their life cycle and enhancing the effectiveness management, the Stockholm Convention closely collaborates with the Basel and Rotterdam Conventions. The Basel Convention, established in 1989 and entered into force in 1992, focuses on controlling the transboundary movement of hazardous waste and ensuring its environmentally sound management (UNEP, 1989). On the other hand, the Rotterdam Convention, adopted in 1998 and entered into force in 2004, aims to promote shared responsibility and cooperation among countries in the international trade of certain hazardous chemicals (UNEP, 1999). The Rotterdam Convention established a prior informed consent (PIC) procedure for the trade of specific chemicals, ensuring that these chemicals are not exported to countries that do not wish to receive them. While the three conventions have distinct goals, they often intersect and collaborate in various ways (Fiedler et al.,

2019; Weber et al., 2013). For instance, Committees of the different conventions collaborates on reviewing chemicals for listing in the annexes to the respective conventions. At the same time, the Basel Convention's Open-ended Working group develops various technical guidelines for the environmentally sound management of waste, including e-waste and POP wastes. In summary, the Stockholm, Basel and Rotterdam Conventions collaborate by addressing various aspects of hazardous chemicals and waste management, sharing information, building capacity, and promoting cooperation among countries. Together, the three conventions contribute to global efforts to protect human health and the environment form the detrimental impacts of POPs and other hazardous chemical substances.

3. Objectives

The comprehensive coverage of information and arguments within the introduction effectively establishes the foundation for the primary objectives of this doctoral thesis, which are:

- To evaluate the levels of POPs in sentinel species inhabiting the Mediterranean Sea and the North East Atlantic Ocean while exploring the potential health risks associated to these species.
- To investigate POP concentrations in important edible fish species from the Mediterranean Sea to assess possible risks to human health derived from their consumption.
- To study tissue distribution (muscle and liver) of targeted POPs in blue shark.
- To investigate spatial and temporal trends of POP pollution in both study areas, critically constrasting them with available bibliographic information .

4. Material and methods

4.1. Sampling

Seventy-nine blubber/muscle samples of five different marine species, namely sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*), Cuvier's baked whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*), sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*), anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*), and bogue (*Boops boops*) were collected from 2008 to 2017 in different areas of the Mediterranean Sea (Adriatic, Ligurian, Tyrrhenian Seas) (Table 1 and Figure 12). Additionally, seventy-one muscle and seventy-one liver samples were collected from blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) inhabiting the North East Atlantic Ocean (Portuguese coast) in 2019 (Table 1 and Figure 12).

	Species	Ν	Tissue	Location	Sampling Date	Sample origin
	Sperm whale (SW)	7	blubber	Adriatic coast	2009	stranded
	Physeter macrocephalus	2	blubber	Tyrrhenian coast	2008/2016	stranded
A Los	Cuvier's baked whale (CBW) Zifius cavirostris	22	blubber	Ligurian Sea	2014/2015	biopsied
	Anchovy (EEN) Engraulis encrasicolus	16	muscle	Tyrrhenian Sea	2017	local market
Contraction of the second seco	Sardine (SPC) Sardina pilchardus	16	muscle	Tyrrhenian Sea	2017	local market
	Bogue (BBO) Boops boops	16	muscle	Tyrrhenian Sea	2017	local market
	Blue shark (BS) Prionace glauca	60	muscle/ liver	Portugal coast	2019	by-caught

Table 1. Detailed information on the species sampled from 2008 to 2019 in the Mediterranean Sea andAtlantic Ocean.



Figure 12. Sampling areas for the six marine species under study. (Map from https://earth.google.com/web/)

4.1.1. Sperm whales

Blubber samples were collected from nine stranded sperm whales (SW), all males. Seven stranded in 2009 during a mass stranding along the Adriatic coast (South East Italy), and two stranded in 2008 and 2016 along the Tyrrhenian coast (North West Italy) (Table 2). As reported by genetic analysis and photo-identification, the seven sperm whales stranded in 2009 belong to the Mediterranean subpopulation and are most likely members of the same pod (Mazzariol et al., 2011).

All samples were taken from the dorsal area, front the cranial insertion of the dorsal fin with a scalpel rinsed with acetone and ethanol between each dissection. Samples were then wrapped in aluminum foil, stored in ice on site and then frozen at -20 °C until residue analysis. For the seven sperm whales involved in the mass stranding, age was determined by counting dentin growth layer groups (GLG), and weight (corrected weight) was calculated considering postmortem body fluid and tissue leakages (Mazzariol et al., 2011). Each of the two sperm whales involved in individual strandings were assigned to a class age according to each specimen's length. Weight was estimated using the animal total length (Lockyer, 1976).

Upon the results of post-mortem investigations (histopathology, virology, bacteriology, parasitology, toxicology, genetic, and screening of veins looking for gas emboli), a multi-factorial cause was proposed as a trigger of this mass stranding (Mazzariol et al., 2011). Detailed information can be found in Bartalini et al. (2019) (Scientific publications 8.1).

Sample Code	Stranding date	Area	Size (m)	Weight (t)	Age (years)	Sex	Sampling condition
SW1	12/2009	Adriatic Coast	11.8	14.8	22–25	М	Found dead
SW2	12/2009	Adriatic Coast	12.2	16.0	20	М	Found dead
SW3	12/2009	Adriatic Coast	11.3	14.8	20	М	Found dead
SW4	12/2009	Adriatic Coast	11.4	13.7	20	М	Found dead
SW5	12/2009	Adriatic Coast	10.5	16.0	15	М	Stranded alive
SW6	12/2009	Adriatic Coast	12.1	17.7	20	М	Stranded alive
SW7	12/2009	Adriatic Coast	11.2	15.7	20	М	Stranded alive
SW13	10/2008	Tyrrhenian Coast	4.5	1.3	Young	М	Found dead
SW63806	08/2016	Tyrrhenian Coast	12.8	23.6	Adult	М	Found dead

Table 2. Detailed information about sperm whales (SW) stranded in 2008, 2009, 2016 in the MediterraneanSea and discussed in this study.

4.1.2. Cuvier's beaked whales

Twenty-two free-ranging individuals of Cuvier's beaked whales (CBW) (19 males and 3 females) were biopsied in the Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean Sea) in 2014 and 2015 (Table 3). Skin biopsies were collected in a specific dorso-lateral area below the dorsal fin using a 68 kg draw weight recurve crossbow (Barnett Panzer V). About 1 g of tissue was obtained using stainless steel biopsy tips (30 mm × 8 mm) attached to 18" bolts. Tips were sterilized before use. The tissue samples were stored in liquid nitrogen after biopsy collection and stored at – 80 °C until laboratory analysis.

Biopsied individuals were photographed allowing photo-identification, age and sex classification. Individuals were categorized in three different age classes (juveniles, sub-adults, adults) by estimated size and coloration patterns (Coomber et al., 2016; Rosso et al., 2011).

The sex was first estimated based on size, coloration pattern, natural marking severity and finally individual history when the animals were already present in the photo-id catalogue. The sex was then confirmed by DNA analysis, following the protocol described in Baini et al. (2020) (Scientific publications 8.1).

Sample Code	Sampling date	Area	Age (class)	Sex
CBW1_1	22/06/2014	Ligurian Sea	Juvenil	М
CBW1_2	22/06/2014	Ligurian Sea	Juvenil	М
CBW1_3	16/07/2014	Ligurian Sea	Adult	М
CBW1_4	16/07/2014	Ligurian Sea	Adult	F
CBW1_5	25/07/2014	Ligurian Sea	Adult	М
CBW1_6	03/08/2014	Ligurian Sea	Adult	М
CBW1_7	08/08/2014	Ligurian Sea	Adult	М
CBW2_1	02/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_2	02/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Adult	М
CBW2_3	02/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_4	04/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_5	07/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Adult	М
CBW2_6	16/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_7	17/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Juvenil	М
CBW2_8	21/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_9	21/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_10	21/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М

Table 3. Detailed information about Cuvier's baked whales (CBW) biopsied in 2014 and 2015 in the Ligurian Sea and discussed in this study.

CBW2_11	22/07/2015	Ligurian Sea	Adult	М
CBW2_12	13/08/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_13	13/08/2015	Ligurian Sea	Adult	F
CBW2_14	27/08/2015	Ligurian Sea	Sub-adult	М
CBW2_15	28/08/2015	Ligurian Sea	Juvenil	F

4.1.3. Anchovies, sardines and bogues

In spring 2017, three important commercial edible fish species commonly consumed in the Mediterranean region were purchased from local fish markets in Livorno (Italy). The fish species, anchovy (EEN), sardine (SPC) and bogue (BBO), were collected in the Northern Thyrrenian Sea (Table 4). Individuals (sixteen specimens for each species) were stored in ice on site until the arrival at the Department of Physical, Earth and Environmental Sciences of the University of Siena, where they were dissected to generate fillets. Fillets were frozen at -20 °C and then freeze-dried before residue analysis.

Sample Code	Fishing date	Area	Species	GSAs	Weight (g)	Length (cm)
9 EEN 36	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	10.49	12.4
9 EEN 37	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	17.55	13.9
9 EEN 40	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	10.78	12.3
9 EEN 41	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	12.68	12.9
9 EEN 42	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	9.90	11.5
9 EEN 43	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	9.95	12.4
9 EEN 44	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	9.78	12.0
9 EEN 45	26/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	10.37	11.7
9 EEN 52	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	11.25	12.0
9 EEN 59	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	11.85	12.3
9 EEN 61	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	11.56	12.6
9 EEN 63	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	12.46	12.5
9 EEN 65	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	10.17	12.1
9 EEN 66	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	12.10	13.3
9 EEN 67	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	10.76	12.3
9 EEN69	27/09/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Engraulis encrasicolus	9	9.05	11.9
9 SPC 02	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	20.66	13.7
9 SPC 03	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	21.46	14
9 SPC 04	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	25.37	14.5
9 SPC 06	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	17.01	13
9 SPC 08	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	20.68	14.2
9 SPC 10	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	20.21	13.5

Table 4. Detailed information about anchovies (EEN), sardines (SPC) and bogues (BBO) collected in 2017 in the Northern Tyrrhenian Sea and discussed in this study. GSAs: Geographical Subareas of the Mediterranean Sea (FAO, 2009).

9 SPC 13	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	17.07	13.3
9 SPC 14	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	17.64	13.5
9 SPC 17	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	17.1	14.5
9 SPC 20	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	20.78	14.3
9 SPC 23	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	14.79	12.9
9 SPC 28	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	21.25	14
9 SPC 31	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	19.9	13.5
9 SPC 32	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	23.06	14.5
9 SPC 35	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	18.95	12.9
9 SPC 40	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Sardina pilchardus	9	15.85	12.9
9 BBO 01	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	69.82	20
9 BBO 02	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	46.43	16.7
9 BBO 03	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	65.7	19
9 BBO 05	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	76.66	25
9 BBO 09	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	77.08	20.5
9 BBO 10	10/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	66.11	19.6
9 BBO 14	18/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	66.72	19.3
9 BBO 23	18/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	62.64	19
9 BBO 24	18/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	46.54	16.1
9 BBO 27	18/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	60.43	19
9 BBO 28	18/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	54.18	17.3
9 BBO 30	18/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	65.65	19
9 BBO 31	18/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	66.38	18.5
9 BBO 36	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	76.37	20
9 BBO 38	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	70.76	20.5
9 BBO 39	19/10/17	Isola d'Elba (Portoferraio)	Boops boops	9	66.21	19.6

4.1.4. Blue sharks

Sixty blue shark (BS) specimens (38 males and 22 females) were incidentally caught during swordfish fishing off the coast of Portugal, between March and December 2019. Samples of liver and muscle were obtained from each animal by using inox cutlery, rinsed with acetone and ethanol between each dissection. Samples were wrapped in aluminium foil, placed in individual plastic tubes and preserved at –20 °C until further analysis. Sampling blanks were collected in form of aluminium foil handled and wrapped with the same tools and cleaning protocols. The sex, length (fork length (FL) in cm), and location capture data were registered for all specimens. Assuming sexual maturity for males and females at 180 and 185 cm, respectively (da Silva et al., 2021), 55% of males and 100% of females were juveniles while 45% of males were regarded as adults. Detailed information can be found in Table 5 and in Muñoz-Arnanz et al. (2022) (Scientific publications 8.1).

Sample Code	Area	Fork Lenght (cm)	Sex	Sample Code	Area	Fork Lenght (cm)	Sex	Sample Code	Area	Fork Lenght (cm)	Sex
BS_1	39°12'N 11°18'W	132	М	BS_22	38º50'N 10º15'W	126	М	BS_42	38º04'N 15º23'W	175	М
BS_2	39°12'N 11°18'W	109	М	BS_23	38º50'N 10º15'W	168	М	BS_46	38º04'N 15º23'W	155	F
BS_3	39°12'N 11°18'W	118	F	BS_24	38º50'N 10º15'W	122	М	BS_47	38º04'N 15º23'W	132	F
BS_4	39°12'N 11°18'W	146	F	BS_25	38º50'N 10º15'W	251	М	BS_48	38º04'N 15º23'W	155	м
BS_5	39°12'N 11°18'W	126	F	BS_26	38º50'N 10º15'W	213	М	BS_49	38º04'N 15º23'W	110	М
BS_6	39°12'N 11°18'W	101	F	BS_27	38º50'N 10º15'W	122	F	BS_50	37º58'N 16º22'W	115	F
BS_7	39°12'N 11°18'W	146	F	BS_28	38º50'N 10º15'W	172	М	BS_51	37º58'N 16º22'W	231	М
BS_8	39°12'N 11°18'W	141	F	BS_29	38º50'N 10º15'W		М	BS_52	37º58'N 16º22'W	135	М
BS_9	39°12'N 11°18'W	115	F	BS_30	38º50'N 10º15'W	147	М	BS_53	37º50'N 15º26'W	115	F
BS_10	39°12'N 11°18'W	130	М	BS_31	39º55'N 13º00'W	230	М	BS_54	37º50'N 15º26'W	135	М
BS_11	39°12'N 11°18'W	129	F	BS_32	39º55'N 13º00'W	147	F	BS_55	37º50'N 15º26'W	130	М
BS_12	39°12'N 11°18'W	121	F	BS_33	39º55'N 13º00'W	234	М	BS_56	37º50'N 15º26'W	135	М
BS_14	39º20'N 11º30'W	247	М	BS_34	39º55'N 13º00'W	143	М	BS_58	37º50'N 15º26'W	130	М
BS_15	39º20'N 11º30'W	221	М	BS_35	39º55'N 13º00'W	247	М	BS_59	37º50'N 15º26'W	160	F
BS_16	39º20'N 11º30'W	247	М	BS_36	39º55'N 13º00'W	242	М	BS_60	37º50'N 15º26'W	112	F
BS_17	39º20'N 11º30'₩	218	м	BS_37	39º55'N 13º00'W	201	М	BS_61	37º50'N 15º26'W	140	М
BS_18	39º20'N 11º30'W	234	М	BS_38	39º55'N 13º00'W	205	М	BS_62	37⁰50'N 15⁰26'W	155	F
BS_19	39º20'N 11º30'W	135	М	BS_39	39º55'N 13º00'W	226	М	BS_63	37º50'N 15º26'W	105	F
BS_20	39º20'N 11º30'W	164	М	BS_40	39º55'N 13º00'W	143	F	BS_64	37º50'N 15º26'W	125	F
BS_21	39º20'N 11º30'W	242	М	BS_41	39º55'N 13º00'W	193	М	BS_65	37º50'N 15º26'W	150	F

Table 5. Detailed information about blue sharks (BS) accidentally captured in 2019 off the coast of Portugaland discussed in this study.

4.2. Analytical procedure

4.2.1. Reagent and standards

High-purity solvents, meeting the standards for pesticide residue grade or equivalent, were employed. Hexane, dichloromethane, and toluene were purchased from J.T. Baker (Deventer, The Netherlands), whereas nonane was acquired from LGC Standards GmbH in Wesel, Germany. Silica gel (70-230 mesh) and sulfuric acid (analytical reagent grade, 95-97%) were supplied by Merck, and anhydrous sodium sulfate by J.T. Baker (Deventer, The Netherlands). The analytical standards used in this study can be found in Table 6.

Group	Congeners / Isomers	Supplier
native PCBs	PCB-28, -52, -77, -81, -101, -105, -114, -118, -123, -126, -138, -153, -156, - 157, -167, -169, -180, -189 (calibration solution WM48-CVS)	
labeled PCBs	$^{13}\text{C}_{12}\text{-}\text{PCB-28},$ -52, -77, -81, -101, -105, -114, -118, -123, -126, -138, -153, -156, -157, -167, -169, -180, -189 (calibration solution WM48-CVS and PCB mixes P48-W-ES and P48-M-ES)	
	¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-70, -111, -170 (PCB mix P48-RS)	
native PBDEs	BDE-3, -7,- 15, -17, -28, -47, -49, -66, -71, -77, -85, -99, -100, -119, -126, - 138,- 153, -154, -156, -183, -184, -191, -196,-197,-206, -207, -209 (calibration solution BDE-CVS-G)	
labeled PBDEs	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-79, -138, -206 (mix MBDE-ISS-G)	Wellington Laboratories
native PCDD/Fs	2,3,7,8-TCDD; 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD; 1,2,3,4,7,8-/ 1,2,3,6,7,8-/ 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD; 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD; OCDD; 2,3,7,8-TCDF; 1,2,3,7,8-/2,3,4,7,8-PCDF; 1,2,3,4,7,8-/ 1,2,3,6,7,8-/ 1,2,3,7,8,9-/ 2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF; 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-/ 1,2,3,4,7,8,9-HpCDF; OCDF (calibration solution EN-1948CVS)	
labeled PCDD/Fs	2,3,7,8-TC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD; 1,2,3,7,8-PeC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD; 1,2,3,4,7,8-/ 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD; 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD; OC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD; 2,3,7,8-TC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF; 2,3,4,7,8-PC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF; 1,2,3,4,7,8-/ 1,2,3,6,7,8-/ 2,3,4,6,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF; 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF; OC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF (calibration solution EN-1948CVS and mix EN-1948ES)	
	1,2,3,4-TC[13C12]DD; 1,2,3,7,8,9-HxC[13C12]DD (mix EN-1948IS)	

Table 6. Labeled and native chemical standards used in this study.

4.2.2. Sample extraction

Fresh (SW, CBW, BS) and freeze-dried samples (EEN, SPC, BBO) (Table 7) were weighed, homogenized with anhydrous sodium sulfate (Na_2SO_4), and spiked with a suite of ¹³C-labeled

standards of target contaminants (Table 8). Detailed information about type and quantity of tissue employed for contaminant analysis can be found in Table 7.

Species	Tissues	Sample (g)	Na2SO4 (g)
SW	fresh blubber	~1.7-2	15
CBW	fresh blubber ~ 0.05-0.40		15
Fish	freeze-dried muscle	~ 1	10
PC	fresh liver	~1.5	50
63	fresh muscle	~10g	70

Table 7. Type of tissues, amount (g) of sample and amount of Na_2SO_4 (g) used for POP analysis.

Table 8. Used	amounts (pa	a) of surrogate	standards	spiked prior	extraction.
	uniounts (p	s or surrogute	Standaras	Spined prior	childenon.

	¹³ C ₁₂ -PCBs	¹³ C ₁₂ -PBDEs	¹³ C ₁₂ -PCDD/Fs
Spacios	(mixes P48-W-ES, P48-M-ES)	(mix MBDE-MXG)	(mix EN-1948ES)
Species			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
		1000 - fammana ta manta	
		1000 pg for mono- to penta-	2000 pg for tetra- to nexa-
		brominated congeners	chlorinated congeners
		· · · ·	
SW/	200 pg for all congeners	2000 pg for hexa- to octa-	4000 pg for hepta- to octa-
		brominated congeners	chlorinated congeners
		5000 pg for nona- to deca-	
		brominated congeners	
		1000 pg for mono- to penta-	
		brominated congeners	
CBW	200 ng for all congeners	2000 pg for hexa- to octa-	_
CDIV		brominated congeners	_
		5000 pg for nona- to deca-	
		brominated congeners	
SPC. EEN. BBO	200 pg for all congeners	_	_
		-	
	250 pg of dioxin-like (DL)-PCBs	1500 pg for mono- to penta-	
	(mix P48-W-ES)	brominated congeners	2000 pg for tetra- to hexa-
DC.			chlorinated congeners
ВЗ	2500 pg of i-PCBs (mix P48-M-	3000 pg for hexa- to octa-	
liver	ES)	brominated congeners	4000 pg for hepta- to octa-
			chlorinated congeners
		7500 pg for nona- to deca-	
		brominated congeners	
	100 pg of dioxin-like (DL)-PCBs	1000 pg for mono- to penta-	
	(MIX P48-W-ES)	prominated congeners	2000 pg for tetra- to hexa-
PC		2000 a - fan hav	chlorinated congeners
DS ,	100 pg (muscle) of I-PCBs (mix	2000 pg for nexa- to octa-	
muscle	P48-IVI-ES)	brominated congeners	4000 pg for hepta- to octa-
		FOOD no formana ta dasa	chlorinated congeners
		SUUU pg for nona- to deca-	-
		prominated congeners	

Following a proper equilibrium time after surrogate addition, samples were Soxhlet extracted for 24h with ~100mL of n-hexane: DCM (9:1) mixture.

4.2.3. Sample purification

Extracts were concentrated by rota-evaporation (SW, CBW, EEN, SPC, BBO) or by using a TurboVap® (Zymarck Inc., Hopkinton, MA, USA) (BS), and purified by using the automated sample preparation system DEXTech+ (LCTech GmbH, Dorfen, Germany) (SW, CBW) or by low-pressure chromatography on open columns (EEN, SPC, BBO).

4.2.3.1. DEXTech+ system (SW, CBW)

Final extracts of 10 mL were loaded into the DEXTech+ system (Figure 13), followed by the addition of 500 μ L of acetone as a solvent modifier. The DEXTech+ system was utilized in its alumina configuration, which involved the use of three columns: 1) SMART silica gel columns (P/N 14307, LCTech), 2) aluminum oxide (P/N 15433, LCTech), and 3) a carbon cartridge (P/N 15242, LCTech).



Figure 13. Schematics of the DEXTech+ system used in its alumina configuration.

Three different solvents were employed: 1) n-hexane, 2) n-hexane:dichloromethane (DCM) (1:1), and 3) toluene. This setup in a three-column arrangement resulted in the separation of two fractions: F1, which contained all PCBs except the four non-ortho congeners and all PBDEs, and F2, which contained all 2,3,7,8-PCDD/F congeners and the non-ortho PCB congeners. Each run lasted for 45 minutes, utilizing a total solvent consumption of 205 mL (F1 with a volume of 24 mL of n-hexane:DCM and F2 with a volume of 10 mL of toluene). These fractions were subsequently concentrated using a TurboVap[®] system to approximately 1 mL, transferred to vials, and taken to

nearly dryness under a gentle stream of nitrogen. Vials were reconstituted in a few microliters of ¹³C-labeled injection standards of DL-PCBs (mix P48-RS), PBDEs (mix MBDE-ISS-G) and PCDD/Fs (mix EN-1948IS) prior to instrumental analysis.

4.2.3.2 Low-pressure chromatography (EEN, SPC, BBO)

Once the extracts were rota-evaporated to ~ 1-2 mL, they were cleaned up by low pressure chromatography on multilayer columns packed with neutral silica (thermically activated at 160°C for 48 h) and acidic silica gel (neutral silica gel modified with H₂SO₄), as it is shown in Figure 14. Each column was initially conditioned with 30 mL of n-hexane:DCM, loaded with an extract, and eluted with 60 mL of n-hexane:DCM. Eluates were evaporated down to ~ 1 mL using a TurboVap[®], transferred to vials, and dried under a gentle nitrogen stream. A few microliters of ¹³C-labeled injection standards of PCBs (mix P48-RS) were used for reconstitution of each sample prior to instrumental analysis.





4.3. Lipid determination

4.3.1. Sperm whale, Cuvier's baked whale

The lipid content of each sample was determined gravimetrically. Each extract was first rotaevaporated close to dryness. Afterwards, they were transferred to an oven for 30 min at 105°C. They were kept covered overnight and weighed the following day. Weight differences for each flask before and after extraction were assumed as lipid content. The lipid content for each sample is shown in Table 9.

	Sample ID	w.w.	l.w.	l.w.
		(g)	(g)	(%)
	SW13	1.8033	0.945	52
	SW63806	1.9012	0.142	7.5
	SW1	1.8788	0.187	10
	SW2	1.7274	0.264	15
Sperm whale	SW3	1.7880	0.599	34
	SW4	1.8771	0.522	28
	SW5	1.7217	0.253	15
	SW6	1.9652	0.385	20
	SW7	1.9294	0.326	17
	CBW1_1	0.1423	0.078	55
	CBW1_2	0.0647	0.007	11
	CBW1_3	0.1273	0.022	17
	CBW1_4	0.3037	0.078	26
	CBW1_5	0.1325	0.020	15
	CBW1_6	0.1459	0.026	18
	CBW1_7	0.0778	0.014	18
	CBW2_3	0.2430	0.083	34
	CBW2_4	0.3163	0.116	37
Cuvier's	CBW2_5	0.1914	0.049	26
baked whale	CBW2 ₆	0.3237	0.085	26
	CBW2 7	0.1541	0.032	21
	CBW2 8	0.1216	0.010	8.2
	CBW2 9	0.0517	0.001	1.9
	CBW2 10	0.0972	0.028	29
	CBW2 11	0.3736	0.122	35
	CBW2 12	0.0733	0.007	10
	CBW2 13	0.0507	0.016	32
	CBW2 14	0.1453	0.052	36
	CBW2 15	0 0724	0.017	24

 Table 9. Wet weight (w.w.) and lipid weight (l.w.) for the analyzed samples.

4.3.2. Blue shark

After Soxhlet extraction, a one-tenth aliquot of each sample was used for the gravimetric determination of the lipid content. Aliquots were first evaporated close to dryness and placed into vials. Afterwards, vials were transferred to an oven for 30 min at 105°C. They were kept covered overnight and weighed the following day. Weight differences for each vial before and after extraction were assumed as lipid content. A summary of the lipid content (%) for samples of both tissues investigated is shown in Table 10.

Table 10. Mean, standard deviation (SD), median and range of the lipid content (%) of the analyzed samples of liver and muscle of blue shark.

	Tissue	Mean ± SD	Median	Range (min-max)
Blues shark	liver	34.4 ± 9.0	36.2	9.22 – 58.8
	muscle	0.264 ± 0.113	0.259	0.061 - 0.491

4.4. Instrumental determination

SW and BS were analyzed for eighteen PCBs (the six indicators (i-PCBs) congeners # 28, 52, 101, 138, 153, 180 and the twelve dioxin-like (DL-PCBs) including 4 non-ortho congeners # 77, 81, 126, 169 and 8 mono-ortho congeners # 105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189), twenty-six PBDEs (congeners # 7, 15, 17, 28, 47, 49, 66, 71, 77, 85, 99, 100, 119, 126, 138, 153, 154, 156, 183, 184, 191, 196, 197, 206, 207, 209) and seventeen PCDD/Fs (all 2,3,7,8 – chlorine substituted congeners). CBW underwent analysis for the same eighteen PCBs and twenty-six PBDEs; instead, fish samples were subject to analysis only for the eighteen PCBs.

Analysis was performed by gas chromatography coupled to high-resolution mass spectrometry (GC-HRMS) by means of a Trace GC Ultra gas chromatograph (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Milan, Italy) coupled to a high-resolution mass spectrometer (DFS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). One μ L of each extract was injected in splitless mode at a temperature of 260°C using helium as carrier gas at a constant flow mode. GC separation of PBDEs was achieved using a 15 m × 0.25 mm × 0.10 μ m Rxi-5Sil MS column (Restek, USA). GC separation of PCBs and PCDD/Fs was achieved using a 60 m × 0.25 mm × 0.25 μ m DB-5MS column (Agilent J&W, USA). The different oven temperature programs and carrier flows used for both families of target compounds are shown in Table 11. Positive electron ionization (EI+) was used operating in selected ion monitoring (SIM) mode at a minimum of 10,000 resolving power at 10% valley. The isotopic dilution technique
was followed for quantitation purposes. A full description of the instrumental parameters can be found in Baini et al. (2020), Bartalini et al. (2020, 2019), and Muñoz-Arnanz et al. (2022) (Scientific publications 8.1).

	PCBs			PCDD/Fs			PBDEs	
ramp	Т	hold time	ramp	Т	hold time	ramp	T (°C)	hold time
(°C/min)	(°C)	(min)	(°C/min)	(°C)	(min)	(°C/min)		(min)
	140	1		140	1		130	4.2
20	200	3	20	200	3	20	200	3
3	275	-	3	310	8	3	310	8
30	310	10						
helium flow 1.3 mL/min		helium flow	0.8 mL/min	1	helium flo	w 1.5 m	L/min	

Table 11. Oven temperature programs and carrier flow values used in the analysis of the target contaminants.

4.5. QA/QC criteria

To guarantee the accuracy of obtained data for the analytes targeted in our study, several quality assurance and quality control measures were undertaken during sample preparation and instrumental analysis. Three solvents of decreasing polarity (acetone, dichloromethane and n-hexane) were used to clean (three times for each solvent) metal and glassware material. A procedural blank was analyzed within each batch of six samples. Care was taken to minimize exposure to UV light throughout the entire analytical procedure.

Quantification of all target analytes was based on the isotopic dilution technique with the following criteria: (a) ratio between the two monitored ions within ±15% of the theoretical value, and (b) limits of quantification (LOQs) corresponding to S/N of 10. Linear calibration curves for PCBs (6 points from 0.1 to 1000 pg/µL, calibration solutions WM48-CVS), PCDD/Fs (7 points from 0.04 to 1280 pg/µL, calibration solutions EN-1948CVS), and PBDEs (5 points from 1.0 to 2000 pg/µL, calibration solutions BDE-CVS-G) were daily checked. When quantifiable levels of a given analyte were found in a procedural blank, they were subtracted from the batch of samples associated to that blank. Concentrations found in field blanks did not indicate any contamination

ascribed to the sampling procedure. Average recoveries for the used surrogates and average LOD values (calculated as 3 times the relationship S/N) are described in Table 12, 13, 14 and 15.

Compound	Recovery (%) ± SD	Average LOD (pg/g l.w.)	Compound	Recovery (%) ± SD	Average LOD (pg/g l.w.)
PCBs					
РСВ-77		4.29	BDE-184		7.88
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-77	75.0± 15.8		BDE-191		7.30
PCB-81		3.93	BDE-196		5.47
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-81	76.8± 19.2		BDE-197		5.66
PCB-105		11.4	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-197	79.4 ± 9.1	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-105	103±13		BDE-206		3.22
PCB-114		12.1	BDE-207		3.27
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-114	97.6± 13.9		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-207	91.4± 10.3	
PCB-118		11.4	BDE-209		21.5
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-118	109±10		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-209	55.2±6.0	
PCB-123		11.7			
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-123	107±15		PCDDs		
PCB-126		9.92	2,3,7,8-TCDD		0.626
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-126	101±17		2,3,7,8-TC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	78.1±7.8	
PCB-156		4.18	1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD		0.962
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-156	103±12		1,2,3,7,8-PeC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	71.7±8.6	
PCB-157		4.28	1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD		0.733
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-157	97.1± 16.1		1,2,3,4,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	88.1± 7.8	
PCB-167		4.15	1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD		0.735
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-167	90.9 ± 12		1,2,3,6,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	82.6± 8.2	
PCB-169		4.40	1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-		0.648
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-169	110 ± 18		HpCDD		0.351
PCB-189		2.75	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	90.1± 11.2	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-189	106 ± 10		OCDD		0.442
<u>PBDEs</u>			OC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	74.8±9.4	
BDE-3		-	PCDFs		
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-3	55± 14		2,3,7,8-TCDF		1.09

Table 12. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in SW samples.

BDE-7		-	2,3,7,8-TC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	80.6± 9.7	
BDE-15		-	1,2,3,7,8-PCDF		1.12
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-15	68± 8		2,3,4,7,8-PCDF		1.11
BDE-17		22.7	2,3,4,7,8-PC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	82.2±9.7	
BDE-28		2.08	1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF		0.647
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-28	102±12		1,2,3,4,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	90.7± 9.8	
BDE-47		3.79	1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF		0.599
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-47	98.2±8.7		1,2,3,6,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	87.8± 9.3	
BDE-49		5.58	1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDF		0.664
BDE-66		13.0	2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF		0.646
BDE-71		6.01	2,3,4,6,7,8-HxC[13C12]DF	82.7± 8.7	
BDE-77		7.63	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF	07.01.42.5	0.236
BDE-85		3.31	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpC[13C12]DF	87.6±12.5	
BDE-99		2.99	1,2,3,4,7,8,9-HpCDF		0.242
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-99	97.1± 13.7		OCDF	74 4+ 10 6	0.247
BDE-100		2.97	OC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	74.4± 10.0	
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-100	94.8± 15.6				
BDE-119		-			
BDE-126		-			
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-126	88.0 ± 12.4				
BDE-138		29.9			
BDE-153		5.15			
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-153	91.4 ± 6.5				
BDE-154		4.50			
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-154	88.0 ± 12.4				
BDE-156		23.4			
BDE-183		8.64			
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-183	91.4 ± 6.5				

Table 13. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in CBW samples.

Compound	Recovery (%) ± SD	Average LOD (pg/g l.w.)	Compound	Recovery (%) ± SD	Average LOD (pg/g l.w.)
<u>PCBs</u>			<u>PBDEs</u>		
PCB-28		52.0	BDE-3		ND

¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-28	74.4± 11.3		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-3	58.0 ± 12.4	
PCB-52		121	BDE-7		ND
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-52	81.4± 11.0		BDE-15		ND
PCB-77		16.8	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-15	71.7 ± 10.7	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-77	78.3±9.0		BDE-17		103
PCB-81		15.7	BDE-28		98.4
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-81	79.9± 9.2		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-28	78.5 ± 13.9	
PCB-101		197	BDE-47		65.1
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-101	85.3± 8.8		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-47	94.5 ± 9.8	
PCB-105		165	BDE-49		96.0
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-105	88.1± 10.7		BDE-66		104
PCB-114		173	BDE-71		92.4
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-114	86.4± 8.1		BDE-77		61.2
PCB-118		185	BDE-85		141
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-118	83.2±9.1		BDE-99		111
PCB-123		170	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-99	89.9 ± 14.5	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-123	89.0± 10.1		BDE-100		123
PCB-126		34	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-100	84.8± 13.7	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-126	88.7±9.7		BDE-119		101
PCB-138		104	BDE-126		ND
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-138	104± 14		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-126	83.1±11.0	
PCB-153		82.6	BDE-138		126
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-153	91.6± 11.2		BDE-153		107
PCB-156		95.9	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-153	94.5±14.1	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-156	86.0±9.3		BDE-154		101
PCB-157		90.5	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-154	87.0±14.5	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-157	93.3±9.6		BDE-156		132
PCB-167		98.7	BDE-183		57.1
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-167	82.9 ± 9.9		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-183	91.9± 13.8	
PCB-169		15.9	BDE-184		52.0
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-169	94.2 ± 9.1		BDE-191		51.1
PCB-180		67.7	BDE-196		28.9
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-180	91.5 ± 9.4		BDE-197		29.7
PCB-189		56.0	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-197	87.1±22.4	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-189	86.3 ± 8.1		BDE-206		57.8
			BDE-207		48.8
1	1	1	1		1

¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-207	103.9±18.3	
BDE-209		210
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-209	66.4± 14.1	

Table 14. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in fish samples.

Compound	Recovery (%) ± SD	Average LOD (pg/g l.w.)
PCB-28		0.764
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-28	74.1± 19.7	
PCB-52		1.43
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-52	80.5±11.1	
PCB-77		0.169
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-77	93.1±12.1	
PCB-81		1.44
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-81	91.7± 12.2	
PCB-101		0.824
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-101	93.2± 9.5	
PCB-105		0.748
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-105	99.2± 11.4	
PCB-114		2.04
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-114	91.0± 9.9	
PCB-118		0.643
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-118	92.1± 10.4	
PCB-123		0.849
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-123	90.3± 9.3	
PCB-126		0.907
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-126	89.9±10.0	
PCB-138		0.166
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-138	90.5 ± 10.2	
PCB-153		0.410
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-153	89.8 ± 10.5	
PCB-156		0.405
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-156	97.0 ± 12.8	
PCB-157		1.56
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-157	97.4 ± 12.9	
PCB-167		1.69
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-167	98.5 ± 13.0	

PCB-169		0.433
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-169	99.0 ± 10.6	
PCB-180		1.62
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-180	98.9 ± 11.5	
PCB-189		0.454
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-189	93.1 ± 9.7	

Table 15. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in BS samples.

Compound	Recovery (%) ± SD (liver/muscle)	Average LOD (pg/g l.w.) (liver/muscle)	Compound	Recovery (%) ± SD (liver/muscle)	Average LOD (pg/g l.w.) (liver/muscle)
<u>PCBs</u>			BDE-126		23.1/1.50
PCB-28		0.615/0.028	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-126	66.1±10.7/61.3±14.1	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-28	61.2±4.7/61.9±16.7		BDE-138		4.28/0.150
PCB-52		1.48/0.050	BDE-153		3.55/0.127
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-52	65.0±5.5/69.8±18.1		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-153	84.0±5.9/72.2±12.3	
PCB-77		0.190/0.013	BDE-154		2.85/0.098
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-77	74.8±12.2/73.8±18.1		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-154	81.0±6.6/73.2±2.6	
PCB-81		0.171/0.012	BDE-156		4.84/0.165
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-81	76.4±13.2/73.7±19.0		BDE-183		1.01/0.093
PCB-101		0.171/0.057	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-183	85.5±9.9/67.3±11.3	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-101	77.7±5.7/80.2±18.9		BDE-184		0.829/0.082
PCB-105		2.08/0.161	BDE-191		0.948/0.083
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-105	90.6±9.6/78.2±22.1		BDE-196		1.93/0.346
PCB-114		2.07/0.073	BDE-197		1.83/0.353
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-114	93.4±8.7/88.1±26.0		¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-197	80.2±17.0/68.3±9.8	
PCB-118		1.85/0.214	BDE-206		1.58/1.29
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-118	87.6±9.3/73.5±19.5		BDE-207		1.31/1.18
PCB-123		1.84/0.236	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-207	84.3±8.5/70.1±11.1	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-123	86.0±9.0/76.0±21.0		BDE-209		14.4/25.9
PCB-126		1.78/0.024	¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-209	59.6±11.9/55.6±13.2	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-126	86.0±12.7/91.2±31.3				
PCB-138		0.416/0.011	<u>PCDDs</u>		
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-138	98.2±7.3/99.8±23.9		2,3,7,8-TCDD		0.205/0.027
PCB-153		0.389/0.008	2,3,7,8-TC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	65.7±8.6/73.6±9.8	

¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-153	78.6±6.5/82.6±22.2		1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD		0.309/0.041
PCB-156		0.266/0.098	1,2,3,7,8-PeC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	71.6±11.8/80.3±9.3	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-156	84.6±9.9/85.3±24.4		1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD		0.222/0.031
PCB-157		1.02/0.097	1,2,3,4,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	69.9±10.4/75.0±11.2	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-157	81.3±10.5/83.6±23.6		1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD		0.231/0.032
PCB-167		1.27/0.083	1,2,3,6,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	62.5±8.9/77.3±10.3	
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-167	85.2±11.2/85.9± 23.2		1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD		0.242/0.032
PCB-169		1.38/0.012	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD		0.209/0.030
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-169	88.1±13.5/89.9± 23.9		1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	66.7±11.7/82.6±11.2	
PCB-180		0.161/0.008	OCDD		0.300/0.059
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-180	85.6±7.0/90.7±19.0		OC[¹³ C ₁₂]DD	69.8±11.5/87.8±12.9	
PCB-189		0.271/0.066	PCDFs		
¹³ C ₁₂ -PCB-189	83.5±7.9/85.4±19.0		2,3,7,8-TCDF		0.476/0.028
			2,3,7,8-TC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	62.4±7.8/68.9±8.6	
PBDEs			1,2,3,7,8-PCDF		0.364/0.017
BDE-7		-/0.296	2,3,4,7,8-PCDF		0.360/0.017
BDE-15		-/0.153	2,3,4,7,8-PC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	70.8±11.4/82.3±9.2	
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-15	56.6±7.8/55.3±7.4		1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF		0.219/0.014
BDE-17		2.18/0.078	1,2,3,4,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	68.7±9.0/73.1±11.6	
BDE-28		2.05/0.073	1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF		0.217/0.013
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-28	76.8±9.9/67.4±14.7		1,2,3,6,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	70.4±8.8/75.8±10.3	
BDE-47		3.02/0.109	1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDF		0.236/0.015
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-47	86.2±6.4/68.2±10.2		2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF		0.278/0.017
BDE-49		4.96/0.208	2,3,4,6,7,8-HxC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	66.0±8.3/70.6±9.6	
BDE-66		5.01/0.184	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF		0.178/0.014
BDE-71		4.05/0.137	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	63.6±11.0/79.8±10.6	
BDE-77		3.36/0.121	1,2,3,4,7,8,9-HpCDF		0.220/0.017
BDE-85		5.51/0.292	OCDF		0.218/0.031
BDE-99		2.16/0.078	OC[¹³ C ₁₂]DF	65.8±12.3/79.6±12.8	
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-99	78.1±8.0/71.0±11.8				
BDE-100		2.46/0.080			
¹³ C ₁₂ -BDE-100	66.9±7.3/61.5±9.6				
BDE-119		2.08/0.066			

The precision for the quantification method was checked by reanalyzing:

- three different blubber samples in three different days obtaining RSDs lower than 8% for all target analytes, for sperm whale.
- three different blubber samples in three different days within two weeks obtaining RSDs lower than 14% for all target analytes, for Cuvier's baked whale.
- one sample of each species in three different days, obtaining RSDs lower than 8% for all PCB congeners, for fish.
- three different liver and three different muscle samples in three different days obtaining
 RSDs lower than 9% for all target analytes, for blue shark.

When determining pollutants in blubber, we evaluated the accuracy of the analytical method by analyzing a triplicate of the certified standard material SRM 1945 ('Organics in Whale Blubber', NIST). Satisfactory results were obtained for all target compounds and they can be found in Bartalini et al. (2019) (Scientific publications 8.1).

4.6. Data handling

All concentrations are given in ng/g (PCBs and PBDEs), pg/g (PCDD/Fs) or µg/g (PCBs, PBDEs in Cuvier's beaked whale) on lipid weight (l.w.) or wet weight (w.w.) basis. To assess the potential toxicity of DL-PCBs we followed the total toxic equivalency (TEQ) approach, in which each congener's toxicity is relativized to that of the most toxic one, the 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) by means of toxic equivalency factors (TEF) (Van den Berg et al., 2006). Toxic equivalent quantities (TEQ) for DL-PCBs and PCDD/Fs were obtained using the World Health Organization (WHO)-2005 toxic equivalency factors (TEF) for mammals.

4.7. Statistical analyses

4.7.1. Cuvier's baked whale

Statistical analyses were conducted using the software RStudio v.1.1.453. Shapiro-Wilks test revealed non-normal distribution for PCBs and PBDEs. Independent Mann–Whitney U tests were used to compare levels of major contaminants among different age groups. If a significant difference was obtained (p value < 0.05), post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison was performed for

individual comparisons of age groups. Spearman's rank correlation was adopted to measure the correlation between variables. All statistical analyses were considered significant at p < 0.05.

4.7.2. Blue shark

Statistical analyses were conducted using the software SigmaPlot for Windows version 14.5 (Systat Software Inc, CA, USA) and IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows version 28 (SPSS Inc, IL, USA). Log transformation was used to fulfill the criterion of normality when exploring possible relationships between variables. When log transformation did not achieve normality, nonparametric tests were applied. Pearson or Spearman's correlations were explored among study variables depending on the normality (Pearson) or non-normality of data (Spearman's). No statistically significant differences (p value > 0.05) were found for the lipid content between sexes either on liver (Mann-Whitney, U (22,38) = 360, p = 0.374) or in muscle (t-test (58) = -1.525, p = 0.133). No statically significant correlation was found either in males or females between tissues' lipid content and fork length.

5. Results

5.1. Congener profiles

5.1.1. Sperm whales

Most of the congeners of the three POP families targeted in this study (DL-PCBs, PBDEs, PCDD/Fs) (Bartalini et al., 2019 - Scientific publications 8.1) were detected in blubber of all sperm whales analyzed (Table 16), and showed a relative abundance with the following order: DL-PCBs > PBDEs >> PCDD/Fs. Five PBDE congeners, specifically one mono-BDE (BDE-3), two di-BDEs (BDE-7, BDE-15), and two penta-BDEs (BDE-119, BDE-126) were consistently not detected in any sample (Table 16).

	Sperm whale (<i>Physeter macrocephalus</i>) n=9 Detection frequency %						
PCBs	blubber	PBDEs	blubber	PCDD/Fs	blubber		
PCB-77	100	BDE-3	0	PCDDs			
PCB-81	100	BDE-7	0	2378-TCDD	100		
PCB-105	100	BDE-15	0	12378-PeCDD	100		
PCB-114	100	BDE-17	11	123478-HxCDD	100		
PCB-118	100	BDE-28	100	123678-HxCDD	100		
PCB-123	100	BDE-47	100	123789-HxCDD	44		
PCB-126	100	BDE-49	100	1234678-HpCDD	100		
PCB-156	100	BDE-66	100	OCDD	78		
PCB-157	100	BDE-71	78				
PCB-167	100	BDE-77	100	PCDFs			
PCB-169	100	BDE-85	22	2378-TCDF	100		
PCB-189	100	BDE-99	100	12378-PeCDF	78		
		BDE-100	100	23478-PeCDF	100		
		BDE-119	0	123478-HxCDF	100		
		BDE-126	0	123678-HxCDF	100		
		BDE-138	22	234678-HxCDF	100		
		BDE-153	100	123789-HxCDF	0		
		BDE-154	100	1234678-HpCDF	67		
		BDE-156	100	1234789-HpCDF	0		
		BDE-183	100	OCDF	11		
		BDE-184	100				
		BDE-191	33				
		BDE-196	67				
		BDE-197	100				
		BDE-206	44				

Table 16. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs, PBDEs, and PCDD/Fs in blubber of sperm whales stranded along the Italian coast in 2008, 2009 and 2016.

BDE-207	78	
BDE-209	78	

The DL-PCB congener profile, showed in Figure 15, was dominated by mono-*ortho* PCBs (105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189) that accounted for about 99.9% of the total DL-PCBs. Among the targeted DL-PCBs, PCB-118, PCB-156, and PCB-105 were the predominant congeners with average contributions of 58%, 14%, and 12%, respectively. On the other hand, the highly toxic non-*ortho* PCBs (81, 77, 126, 169) made up only a small fraction of total DL-PCBs (~ 0.1%). Among them, the most abundant congener was PCB-126 that accounted for more than half of the non-*ortho* PCB content, followed by PCB-169 (35.7%) and PCB-77 (5.3%), while PCB-81 contributed with <1% (Figure 15).



Figure 15. Average contribution of each DL-PCB (non-*ortho* PCB congeners zoomed in) to the total DL-PCB content in Mediterranean sperm whales stranded in 2008, 2009 and 2016. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

The PBDE congener profile, showed in Figure 16, was dominated by lower-medium brominated (tetra-and penta-BDEs) congeners 47 > 99 > 100, with an average contribution to the total PBDE content of 70%, 10%, and 10%, respectively. On the other hand, higher-brominated congeners, such as BDE-183 (hepta-BDE) or BDE-209 (deca-BDE) represented only a small fraction of the total PBDE content, with an average contribution consistently below 0.1%.



Figure 16. Average contribution of each PBDE congener to the total PBDE content in Mediterranean sperm whales stranded in 2008, 2009 and 2016. Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 1% are represented on the top.

Dioxins and furans scored average contributions to the total PCDD/F content of 51% and 49%, respectively. The most abundant PCDD/F congener was 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF followed by 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD, with a relative contribution of 21% and 17%, respectively (Figure 17). Octa-chlorinated congeners (OCDD and OCDF) accounted for the lowest average contributions both for dioxins and furans, with values of 3% and 0.7%, respectively.



Figure 17. Average contribution of each PCDD/F congener to the total PCDD/F content in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales stranded in 2008, 2009 and 2016. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

5.1.2. Cuvier's baked whales

All 18 targeted PCBs were detected in blubber of every Cuvier's beaked whale analyzed (Baini et al., 2020 - Scientific publications 8.1), except for PCB-77, which was not identified in one specimen (Table 17). One mono-BDE (BDE-3), two di-BDE (BDE-7 and BDE-15), and one penta-BDE (BDE-126) were consistently not detected in any sample, and two penta-BDE congeners, specifically BDE-85 and BDE-119, showed low detection frequencies of 10% and 25%, respectively.

Table 17. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs and PBDEs in blubber of free-ranging Cuvier's beaked
whales biopsied in the Mediterranean Sea waters in 2014.

·									
Cuvier's beaked whales (<i>Ziphius cavirostris</i>) n=20									
Detection frequency %									
PCBs	blubber	PBDEs	blubber						
PCB-28	100	BDE-3	0						
PCB-52	100	BDE-7	0						
PCB-77	90	BDE-15	0						
PCB-81	100	BDE-17	50						

PCB-101	100	BDE-28	100
PCB-105	100	BDE-47	100
PCB-114	100	BDE-49	100
PCB-118	100	BDE-66	85
PCB-123	100	BDE-71	55
PCB-126	100	BDE-77	75
PCB-138	100	BDE-85	10
PCB-153	100	BDE-99	100
PCB-156	100	BDE-100	100
PCB-157	100	BDE-119	25
PCB-167	100	BDE-126	0
PCB-169	100	BDE-138	45
PCB-180	100	BDE-153	100
PCB-189	100	BDE-154	100
		BDE-156	100
		BDE-183	100
		BDE-184	100
		BDE-191	55
		BDE-196	75
		BDE-197	100
		BDE-206	70
		BDE-207	80
		BDE-209	80

Cuvier's baked whales showed the following profile dominated by the seven indicator PCBs (ICES7): 153 > 180 > 138 > 118 > 101 > 52 > 28. These congeners together contributed to the majority (95%) of the total PCB content (Figure 18). PCBs 153, 180, and 138 accounted for about 38%, 24%, 22%, respectively (l.w.).

On the other hand, DL-PCB congeners accounted only for 10% to the total PCB content, with mono-*ortho* PCBs being the most abundant congeners among them. The predominant DL-PCB congeners were PCB-118, PCB-156, and PCB-105 with an average contribution of 6%, 2%, and 0.4%, respectively (I.w.). Instead, non-*ortho* DL-PCBs exhibited an average contribution to the total PCB content of 0.03% with the following congener profile PCB-77 > PCB-126 > PCB-169 > PCB-81.



Figure 18. Average contribution of each PCB congener to the total PCB content in blubber of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015. Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 0.5% are represented on the top.

The PBDE congener profile shown in Figure 19 was dominated by lower-medium brominated congeners. The most abundant congeners were BDE-47(Br4), BDE-99(Br5), BDE-154(Br6), BDE-100(Br5), and BDE-153(Br6), whose average contribution to the total PBDE content was 45%, 17%, 14%, 13%, and 5%, respectively.



Figure 19. Average contribution of each PBDE congener to the total PBDE content in blubber of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015. Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 0.5% are represented on the top.

In order to compare congener profiles among different age classes, PBDEs were grouped according to their respective commercial mixtures penta-, octa- and deca-BDE. Penta-BDE is composed of ten isomers (from tri- to hexa-BDEs) with BDE-99 and BDE-47 being the most abundant congeners contributing with 41.6% and 32.7%, respectively (Sjödin et al., 1998). The major component of octa-BDE are BDE-183 and BDE-197 constituting 42% and 22.2% of the product, respectively. Finally, deca-BDE is almost entirely composed of BDE-209 (96.8%) with a little percentage of BDE-206 (2.18%) (La Guardia et al., 2006). Our results showed that penta-BDE was the most dominant component among all age classes, followed by octa-BDE and deca-BDE (Figure 20). Interestingly, deca-BDE showed decreasing concentrations as the age of specimens increased.



Figure 20. Average contribution of the main BDE congeners from the three technical mixtures (Penta-BDE, Octa-BDE, Deca-BDE) to the total PBDE content in blubber of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Despite the correspondence between PBDE congeners found in blubber of Cuvier's beaked whales and main components in the technical mixtures, the relative abundance of these compounds differed from that found in the commercial formulations. As described in figure 19, BDE-47 showed the highest contribution to the total PBDE content, followed by BDE-99, BDE-154, BDE-100 and BDE-154; instead, in the penta-BDE mixture the pattern of abundance is quite difference with BDE-99 > BDE-47 > BDE-100 > BDE-153 > BDE-154.

5.1.3. Anchovies, sardines and bogues

All 18 PCB congeners, with the exception of PCB-81, were detected in the fish species analyzed (sardine, bogue and anchovy) (Bartalini et al., 2020 - Scientific publications 8.1). The detection frequency for the targeted contaminants was in most cases 100% (Table 18). On the other hand, PCB-81 showed a very low detection frequency in sardines (25%) and bogues (\sim 6%), and was not detected in anchovies.

Table 18. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs in muscle of sardine, bogue and anchovy from the Mediterranean Sea (2017).

	Sardine (<i>Sardinas pilchardus</i>) n=17	Bogue (<i>Boops boops</i>) n=17	Anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus) n=17
		Detection frequer	асу %
PCBs	muscle	muscle	muscle
PCB-28	100	100	100
PCB-52	100	100	94
PCB-77	100	94	44
PCB-81	25	6	0
PCB-101	100	100	94
PCB-105	100	100	88
PCB-114	100	88	63
PCB-118	100	100	100
PCB-123	100	94	88
PCB-126	100	100	100
PCB-138	100	100	100
PCB-153	100	100	100
PCB-156	100	100	100
PCB-157	100	100	100
PCB-167	100	100	100
PCB-169	88	31	56
PCB-180	100	100	100
PCB-189	100	100	100

Sardines, bogues and anchovies shared the same PCB profile (Figure 21) dominated by the ICES7 PCBs: tri-(#28), tetra-(#52), penta-(#101,118), hexa-(#138,153), and hepta-(#180) chlorinated

congeners. The most abundant PCB congeners were PCB-153, PCB-138, and PCB-180 with a similar average contribution in all three species analyzed. The average contribution to the total PCB content was 39%, 38%, 35% for PCB-153, 22%, 21%, 19% for PCB-138, and 17%, 19%, 19% for PCB-180, in sardines, bogues, and anchovies respectively. The most abundant DL-PCB congeners were mono-*ortho* PCBs, specifically PCB-118, PCB-105, and PCB-156, that showed average contributions between 5-8%, 1-2%, and 1-2%, respectively.

The sum of the ICES7 accounted for more than 90% of total PCBs in all species investigated (sardines: 94%; bogues: 96%; anchovies: 98%), while DL-PCBs represented only a small fraction (sardines: 6%; bogues: 4%; anchovies: 2%). As we observed in sperm whale samples, almost the entire DL-PCB content (almost 99%) was made up by mono-*ortho* PCBs (105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189) with only a minor fraction (1%) represented by non-*ortho* PCBs (77, 81, 126, 169). The same mono-*ortho* congener profile (118 > 105 > 156), similar to that found in sperm whales, was found for all three fish species analyzed in this study. On the other hand, a distinct abundance of non-*ortho* congeners was observed depending on the species. Sardines and bogues exhibited the same profile PCB-77 > 126 > 169 > 81; instead, the pattern of non-*ortho*-PCBs was quite different in anchovies (126 > 77 > 169), with a contribution of PCB-126 about 71% and no detection of PCB-81.



Figure 21. Average contribution of each PCB congener to the total PCB content in sardines, bogues and anchovies from the Mediterranean Sea (2017). Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 0.3% are zoomed in.

5.1.4. Blue sharks

As reported in Table 19, the three POP families analyzed in muscle and liver of blue sharks, captured in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean (Muñoz-Arnanz et al., 2022 - Scientific publications 8.1), showed important variability in their detection frequency depending on the tissue. PCB congeners were all detected (100%) in each liver sample; instead, muscle samples showed detection frequencies lower than 100% for some DL-PCB congeners, specifically for three non-*ortho* congeners (81, 126, 169), and the mono-*ortho* PCB-189.

Four PBDE congeners (7, 126, 138, 191) were no detected in any sample; BDE-15 and BDE-17 were detected only in muscle with very low detection frequencies of 2% and 7%, respectively.

PCDD/Fs showed highly variable detection frequencies for both tissues (muscle: 2-100%; liver: 2-58%), with 2,3,7,8-TCDF being the only congener detected in all liver samples analyzed.

Blue shark (<i>Prionace glauca</i>) n=60											
Detection frequency %											
PCBs	liver	muscle	PBDEs	liver	muscle	PCDD/Fs	liver	muscle			
PCB-28	100	100	BDE-7	0	0						
PCB-52	100	100	BDE-15	0	2	PCDDs					
PCB-77	100	100	BDE-17	0	7	2,3,7,8-TCDD	25	16			
PCB-81	100	80	BDE-28	98	100	1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD	47	7			
PCB-101	100	100	BDE-47	100	100	1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDD	35	4			
PCB-105	100	100	BDE-49	100	95	1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD	77	6			
PCB-114	100	100	BDE-66	98	62	1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDD	13	2			
PCB-118	100	100	BDE-71	35	90	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDD	68	58			
PCB-123	100	100	BDE-77	83	0	OCDD	12	44			
PCB-126	100	80	BDE-85	95	37						
PCB-138	100	100	BDE-99	100	100	PCDFs					
PCB-153	100	100	BDE-100	100	100	2,3,7,8-TCDF	100	54			
PCB-156	100	100	BDE-119	80	60	1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF	68	16			
PCB-157	100	100	BDE-126	0	0	2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF	98	22			
PCB-167	100	100	BDE-138	0	0	1,2,3,4,7,8-HxCDF	63	20			
PCB-169	100	55	BDE-153	100	92	1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDF	58	17			
PCB-180	100	100	BDE-154	100	98	2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF	70	24			
PCB-189	100	95	BDE-156	87	2	1,2,3,7,8,9-HxCDF	2	15			
			BDE-183	73	40	1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCDF	12	42			
			BDE-184	82	5	1,2,3,4,7,8,9-HpCDF	2	18			
			BDE-191	0	0	OCDF	2	30			
			BDE-196	2	8						
			BDE-197	27	18						

Table 19. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs in liver and muscle of blue sharks captured in 2019 in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean.

BDE-206	30	63
BDE-207	40	63
BDE-209	55	62

As described in Figure 22, the PCB congener profile was dominated by ICES7 PCBs exhibiting the following pattern PCB-153 (\sim 26%) > PCB-118 (20–21%) \approx PCB-138 (\sim 20%) > PCB-180 (\sim 12%), both in liver and muscle.



Figure 22. Average contribution of each PCB congener (A) and average contribution of non-*ortho* PCBs (B) to the total PCB content in muscle and liver of Atlantic Ocean blue sharks captured in 2019. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Interestingly, many of the less represented congeners showed distinct relative abundances depending on the tissue. The profile for the most toxic non-*ortho* congeners also varied between muscle (PCB-77 > PCB-126 > PCB-81 > PCB-169) and liver (PCB-77 > PCB-126 > PCB-169 > PCB-81).

PCB-77 showed a relative higher contribution in muscle than in liver; although, in both tissues PCB-77 showed the highest contribution, followed by PCB-126.

Liver and muscle of blue sharks showed noticeable differences in the relative abundances of most PBDEs, including the three major BDE congeners (Figure 23): BDE-47 (\sim 39–50%, muscle-liver) > BDE-100 (\sim 14–19%) > BDE-154 (\sim 11–15%).



Figure 23. Average contribution of each PBDE congener to the total PBDE content in muscle and liver of Atlantic Ocean blue sharks captured in 2019. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

On the other hand, higher brominated congeners (hepta- to deca-) showed important differences on tissue abundance, with greater accumulation in muscle. In particular, the decabrominated BDE-209 exhibited relative abundances of 14 and 0.3% in muscle and liver, respectively.

As was observed for PBDEs, although with a much reduced detection rate, especially in muscle, PCDD/F congeners displayed a markedly tissue dependent profile (Figure 24). PCDDs accounted for 23% and 63% of the total PCDD/F content in liver and muscle, respectively. Instead, PCDFs accounted for 77% and 37%, respectively. Predominant congeners in muscle were OCDD (~22%) and 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCD (~11%), while a noticeable predominance of 2,3,7,8-TCDF (~29%) > 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF (~23%) > 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF (~8%) was found in liver.



Figure 24. Average contribution of each PCDD/F congener to the total PCDD/F content in muscle and liver of Atlantic Ocean blue sharks captured in 2019. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

5.2. Concentration values

5.2.1. Sperm whales

Blubber samples of Mediterranean sperm whales showed a wide range of levels for ΣDL -PCBs, $\Sigma PBDEs$, $\Sigma PCDDs$ and $\Sigma PCDFs$ (Table 20) (Bartalini et al., 2019 - Scientific publication 8.1).

DL-PCBs showed the highest levels among all targeted POP groups, with a median value of 3500 ng/g l.w., followed by PBDEs (356 ng/g l.w.). Mono-*ortho* PCBs were the most abundant congeners among DL-PCBs with a median level of 3490 ng/g l.w. On the other hand, the most toxic non-*ortho* congeners reached a median value of 3.74 ng/g l.w. Considerably lower levels were found for PCDDs (25.5 pg/g l.w.) and PCDFs (27.1 pg/g l.w.). Detailed information on POP concentrations is given in Table 20.

Table 20. Mean, median and range of total DL-PCBs (mono-*ortho* PCBs, non-*ortho* PCBs), PBDEs and PCDD/Fs in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales sampled in 2009, 2008 and 2016 (concentrations are expressed in ng/g l.w. save for PCDD/Fs, pg/g l.w.).

Sperm whale (Physeter macrocephalus)										
Compounds	Mean	Median	Range							
Σmono- <i>ortho</i> PCBs	6410	3490	2090-20800							
Σnon <i>-ortho</i> PCBs	4.10	3.74	2.61-7.43							
ΣDL-PCBs	6420	3500	2100-20800							
ΣPCDDs (pg/g)	29.6	25.5	20.7-47.6							
ΣPCDFs (pg/g)	28.2	27.1	23.9-35.9							
ΣPCDD/Fs (pg/g)	57.8	56.2	45.4-83.5							
ΣPBDEs	612	356	312-1390							

5.2.2. Cuvier's baked whales

As reported in Table 21, blubber of Cuvier's baked whales showed a median PCB concentration of 16000 ng/g l.w., and a median PBDE concentration of 300 ng/g l.w., respectively (Baini et al., 2020 - Scientific publications 8.1).

 Table 21. Mean, median and range of PCB and PBDE concentrations (in ng/g l.w.) in blubber biopsies from

 Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015.

Cuvier's baked whale (Ziphius cavirostris)									
Compounds	Mean	Median	Range						
∑mono- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	2130	1520	259-6370						
∑non- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	3.59	1.51	0.570-24.3						
∑DL-PCBs	2130	1520	260-6380						
ΣICES7	20700	15500	2920-58100						
∑PCBs	21400	16000	3060-60600						
∑PBDEs	391	300	131-1010						

Concentration results for PCBs and PBDEs, divided by sex and age groups are provided in Table 22. In this regard, statistically significant differences were found for PCBs and PBDEs among distinct age classes. The highest PCB concentrations were reported in males, specifically adult males (median: 27100 ng/g l.w.) followed by sub adults (median: 16400 ng/g l.w.) and juveniles (median: 12600 ng/g l.w.), with a significant difference between the latter two (Shapiro-Wilk W=21, p value=0.033). However, no significant differences were found among the other groups. Although no statistical analysis was conducted between sexes in the adult group, the two adult females displayed lower PCB levels (3060 ng/g l.w. and 8220 ng/g l.w.) with a median value (5640 ng/g l.w.) much lower than that of adult males (27100 ng/g l.w.).

Regarding PBDEs, the highest median value was scored by adult males (503 ng/g l.w.) followed by subadult males (351 ng/g l.w.) and juvenile males (271 ng/g l.w.), with a statistically significant difference between adults and juveniles (Shapiro-Wilk W=22, p value =0.0190). No difference was found between the other groups. As highlighted for PCBs, the two adult females showed PBDE values lower than those reported for adult males (54.0 ng/g l.w.; 231 ng/g l.w.).

	Juvenile (n=4)			Subadult (n=8)			Adult male (n=6)			Adult female (n=2)		
	Mean	Median	Range	Mean	Median	Range	Mean	Median	Range	Mean	Median	Range
∑PCBs	11.8	12.6	5.44-16.7	25.1	16.4	5.10-60.6	28.2	27.1	10.7-53.9	5.64	5.64	3.06-8.22
NDL-PCBs	7.65	7.89	3.57-11.3	16.9	11.3	3.24-39.9	18.9	17.4	7.07-37.3	3.61	3.61	1.54-5.69
DL-PCBs	1.23	1.30	0.56-1.74	2.54	1.48	0.62-6.38	2.70	2.60	1.11-4.80	0.590	0.590	0.260-0.920
non- <i>ortho</i> PCBs	0.00	0.00	0.00-0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00-0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00-0.01	0.010	0.010	0.00-0.0200
mono- <i>ortho</i> PCBs	1.22	1.30	0.560-1.74	2.53	1.48	0.620-6.37	2.70	2.60	1.11-4.80	0.580	0.580	0.260-0.890
ΣICES7	8.82	9.43	4.10-12.3	18.3	12.3	3.80-43.7	20.7	19.4	8.05-40.2	4.08	4.08	2.40-5.76
∑PBDEs	0.260	0.271	0.130-0.380	0.620	0.351	0.170-1.93	0.490	0.503	0.250-0.710	0.140	0.140	0.0540-0.231

Table 22. Mean, median and range of PCB and PBDE concentrations (μ g/g l.w.) in blubber biopsies of Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in the Mediterranean Sea. Concentrations are divided by class ages (juvenile, subadult, adult). The adult class is further divided by sex.

5.2.3. Anchovies, sardines and bogues

Mediterranean sardines, bogues and anchovies exhibited an ample range of PCB concentrations (Bartalini et al., 2020 - Scientific publication 8.1). The minimum PCB concentration value of 1.01 ng/g w.w. was found for anchovies, meanwhile sardines accounted for the highest concentration of 17.9 ng/g w.w. A detailed description of PCB levels is presented in Table 23.

Table 23. Mean, median and range of PCB concentrations (in ng/g w.w. or pg/g w.w. wh	hen indicated) in	n
muscle from the three Mediterranean Sea fish species investigated (2017).		

	Sardine (Sardina pilchardus)				Bogue (Boops boops)			Anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus)					
Compounds	concentration (ng/g w.w.)												
	Mean	Media	n Ra	nge	Mean	Median	Ran	nge	Mean	Median	Ran	ge	
∑mono- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	1.35	1.36	0.577	2.62	0.384	0.296	0.174	1.06	0.322	0.272	0.0417	0.757	
∑non- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs (pg/g w.w.)	17.6	14.4	9.10	40.5	4.12	3.10	0.854	15.3	3.30	3.36	7.76	9.27	
∑DL-PCBs	1.37	1.38	0.587	2.66	0.388	0.299	0.176	1.07	0.325	0.276	0.0424	0.776	
ΣICES7	9.32	8.56	3.88	16.9	3.27	2.77	1.39	6.90	3.34	2.78	0.991	6.80	
i-PCBs *	8.50	7.81	3.57	15.5	3.03	2.62	1.28	6.25	3.15	2.66	0.972	6.44	
∑PCBs	9.88	9.12	4.15	17.9	3.42	2.88	1.46	7.22	3.48	2.92	1.01	7.08	

* six indicators PCB congeners: 28, 52, 101, 138, 153, and 180 (Commission Regulation (EU) No 277/2012)

Sardine reached the highest median concentration with a value of 9.12 ng/g w.w., followed by anchovy and bogue with median values of 2.92 ng/g w.w. and 2.88 ng/g w.w., respectively. Bogues and anchovies showed similar average levels that were about three times lower than those of sardines.

5.2.4. Blue sharks

In blue sharks captured along the coast of Portugal (Muñoz-Arnanz et al., 2022 - Scientific publications 8.1), the relative abundance of target contaminants followed the order PCBs > PBDEs \gg PCDD/Fs in liver and muscle. Median concentration values reported for PCBs, PBDEs, and PCDD/Fs in liver were 450 ng/g l.w., 29.7 ng/g l.w., and 27.0 pg/g l.w., respectively, and in muscle 248 ng/g l.w., 28.6 l.w., and 148 pg/g l.w., respectively. More detailed information on pollutant concentrations divided by sex is reported in Table 24.

Table 24. Mean, median and range of total concentrations for PCBs, i-PCBs, DL-PCBs, PBDEs, PCDDs, PCDFs and total PCDD/Fs divided by sex in liver and muscle samples of blue sharks captured in the North East Atlantic Ocean. Values are expressed in ng/g w.w. and (ng/g l.w.) for PCBs and PBDEs while pg/g w.w. and (pg/g l.w.) for PCDDs, PCDFs and PCDD/Fs.

Commound		m	ean	median		range			
Compound	sex	liver muscle		liver muscle		liver	muscle		
∑PCBs	both	223 (690)	0.858 (392)	157 (450)	0.530 (248)	12.7–1400 (37.1–4240)	0.0800–4.01 (49.6–2650)		
	Μ	217 (686)	0.831 (364)	163 (497)	0.677 (240)	12.7–785 (37.1–4240)	0.0910–4.01 (67.7–2650)		
	F	233 (696)	0.933 (439)	155 (417)	0.453 (354)	193–1400 (64.4–2830)	0.0800–3.54 (49.6–1840)		
∑i-PCBs	both	151 (461)	0.613 (282)	97.3 (313)	0.396 (159)	7.38–983 (21.6–2240)	0.0460–3.10 (25.4–1810)		
	Μ	137 (424)	0.558 (253)	102 (321)	0.399 (155)	7.38–684 (21.6–2240)	0.0460–2.44 (29.3–1810)		
	F	175 (526)	0.734 (345)	96.8 (261)	0.294 (286)	12.0–983 (40.1–1980)	0.0610-3.10 (25.4-1610)		
∑DL-PCBs	both	72.2 (229)	0.245 (110)	47.6 (137)	0.160 (76.7)	5.32–420 (15.5–2320)	0.0190–1.56 (15.3–839)		
	Μ	80.4 (262)	0.273 (117)	57.0 (178)	0.201 (81.9)	5.32–340 (15.5–2320)	0.0310–1.56 (17.8–839)		
	F	58.0 (171)	0.199 (98.2)	35.9 (119)	0.141 (64.9)	6.74–420 (21.7–846)	0.0190–0.895 (15.3–507)		
∑PBDEs	both	14.9 (46.8)	0.090 (44.0)	10.7 (29.7)	0.0750 (28.6)	1.15–69.7 (3.83–335)	0.004000–0.424 (1.55–316)		
	Μ	15.6 (49.0)	0.101 (49.8)	10.9 (33.0)	0.0890 (30.8)	1.59–57.3 (4.63–335)	0.004000–0.424 (4.08–316)		
	F	13.8 (43.0)	0.074 (35.1)	10.4 (29.0)	0.0530 (25.7)	1.15–69.7 (3.83–141)	0.006000–0.245 (1.55–143)		
∑PCDDs	both	2.49 (8.53)	0.320 (157)	2.28 (6.26)	0.227 (96.5)	1.07–8.48 (2.37–53.5)	0.0690–2.71 (28.1–1190)		
	Μ	2.37 (7.71)	0.225 (122)	2.10 (6.15)	0.189 (68.9)	1.28–6.86 (3.16–46.8)	0.0690–0.600 (28.1–985)		
	F	2.69 (9.94)	0.486 (220)	2.38 (7.00)	0.311 (174)	1.07–8.48 (2.37–53.5)	0.148–2.71 (68.3–1190)		
∑PCDFs	both	8.30 (27.2)	0.194 (95.8)	7.35 (19.8)	0.165 (65.8)	1.93–23.0 (5.51–157)	0.0130–0.532 (6.10–456)		
	Μ	7.46 (23.8)	0.166 (86.0)	6.84 (18.2)	0.156 (51.6)	1.93–23.0 (5.51–157)	0.0130–0.296 (6.10–456)		
	F	9.75 (33.2)	0.242 (113)	8.81 (24.7)	0.238 (110)	2.16–20.9 (6.55–106)	0.102–0.532 (26.7–181)		
∑PCDD/Fs	both	10.8 (35.8)	0.514 (253)	9.64 (27.0)	0.402 (148)	3.27–29.8 (8.67–204)	0.0820–2.96 (37.2–1440)		
	Μ	9.83 (31.5)	0.392 (208)	8.87 (25.2)	0.341 (125)	3.27–29.8 (8.67–204)	0.0820–0.878 (37.2–1440)		
	F	12.4 (43.1)	0.727 (333)	11.4 (31.9)	0.549 (315)	3.70–25.8 (8.92–160)	0.306–2.96 (128–1300)		

Thanks to the large number of study specimens (38 males and 22 females), a statistical analysis could be explored, in both liver and muscle, among PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs (in w.w. and l.w.) and factors such as the animal's fork length (FL) as well as the animals' sex and age.

The three families of pollutants showed a positive correlation in liver among them and with FL (Table 25, Spearman's $r_s = 0.419-0.948$ (w.w.) and 0.281-0.923 (l.w.), p < 0.05 marginally in the case of PCDD/Fs with FL, $r_s = 0.239$, p = 0.068 (w.w.) and 0.0945, p = 0.0547 (l.w.)). On the other hand, in muscle, only PCB and PBDE burdens were positively correlated between them and with FL (Pearson and Spearman's r = 0.286-0.826 (ww) and 0.238-0.835 (l.w.), p < 0.05, Table 25), while PCDD/Fs were not correlated with other pollutants (no correlation in w.w. and marginally correlated in l.w.) and negatively correlated with FL (Table 25, Spearman's r = -0.441 (w.w.) and -0.404 (l.w.), p < 0.05).

Table 25. Spearman's (r_s) and Pearson (r) correlations in liver (green) and muscle (grey) of blue shark with concentration values in w.w. (black) and l.w. (blue).

	Log [PBDEs, ng/g]	Log [PCDD/Fs, pg/g]	Log [fork length, cm]
	r s = 0.948 (r= 0.923)	rs= 0.638 (r= 0.645)	r _s = 0.422 (r= 0.281)
log [PCBs pg/g]	p= 1.698E-30 (9.272E-26)	p= 4.13E-8 (2.65E-8)	p= 0.000883 (0.00311)
208 [1 023, 18, 8]	r _s = 0.826 (r= 0.835)	r _s = 0.0859 (r= 0.327)	r _s = 0.286 (r= 0.238)
	p= 2.00E-7 (1.11E-16)	p= 0.520 (0.0528)	p= 0.0283 (0.0690)
		rs= 0.698 (r= 0.746)	r _s = 0.419 (r= 0.354)
log [PRDEs pg/g]		p= 5.81E-10 (7.63E-12)	p= 0.000969 (0.00591)
		r _s = 0.0238 (r= 0.351)	r _s = 0.339 (r= 0.278)
		p= 0.859 (0.0682)	p= 0.00893 (0.0334)
			r _s = 0.239 (r= 0.0945)
			p= 0.0684 (0.0547)
LOB [LCDD/L2, b8/8]			r _s = -0.441 (r= -0.404)
			p= 0.000653 (0.00192)

Differences between adult and subadult specimens could only be explored in males since all females were subadults. In both, liver and muscle, concentrations of pollutants were statistically significantly greater in male adults in comparison to subadult males (in w.w and l.w., Mann-Whitney, p < 0.05, see specific U values and significances in Table 26). The exception was the case of PCDD/Fs in muscle, for which higher values were found in subadults (Table 26), even though these differences were not statistically significant (Mann-Whitney U(17,20) = 258, p = 0.073 (w.w.) and U(17,20) = 271, p = 0.168 (l.w.)).

Table 26. Median concentrations (PCBs and PBDEs in ng/g and PCDD/Fs in pg/g) and Mann-Whitney U tests between POP burdens in liver and muscle of adult and subadult male blue sharks. Statistically significance at α =0.05 is shown by *.

		Median	Median	Concentration	Mann-Whitney U	Significance
Tissue	Pollutants	ADULTS	SUBADULTS	basis	(17, 21)	(p)
		(n=17)	(n=21)	(w.w. or l.w.)		
liver	PCBs	318	78.1	w.w.	52.00	<0.01*
		809	219	l.w.	51.00	<0.01*
	PBDEs	17.9	7.77	w.w.	53.00	<0.001*
		55.6	19.3	l.w.	53.00	<0.001*
	PCDD/Fs	12.3	5.71	w.w.	55.00	=0.01*
		35.3	19.1	l.w.	64.00	<0.001*
muscle	PCBs	0.987	0.440	w.w.	75.00	=0.004*
		285	148	l.w.	91.00	=0.016*
	PBDEs	0.126	0.056	w.w.	81.00	=0.007*
		46.1	22.2	l.w.	104.00	=0.044*
	PCDD/Fs	0.318	0.402	w.w.	105.00	=0.073
		112	139	l.w.	118.00	=0.168

Regarding accumulation dissimilarities between sexes, no statistically significant differences were found for PCBs and PBDEs between males and females, neither in liver nor in muscle concentrations (w.w. and l.w., Table 27). The only difference statistically significant (Mann-Whitney, p > 0.05, see specific U values and significances in Table 27) was found for the content of PCDD/Fs in muscle with a higher mean concentration in females (Mann-Whitney, U(22,38) = 164 and 163, in w.w. and l.w, both with p < 0.001).

Table 27. Median concentrations (PCBs and PBDEs in ng/g and PCDD/Fs in pg/g) and Mann-Whitney U tests between POP burdens in liver and muscle of male and female blue sharks. Statistically significance at α =0.05 is shown by *.

Tissue	Pollutants	Median concentration in males (n=38)	Median concentration in females (n=22)	Concentration basis (w.w. or l.w.)	Mann-Whitney U (17, 21)	Significance (p)
liver	PCBs	163	155	w.w.	328.00	=0.581
		497	417	l.w.	407.00	=0.866
	PBDEs	10.9	10.4	w.w.	389.00	=0.656
		33.0	29.0	l.w.	404.00	=0.830
	PCDD/Fs	8.87	11.4	w.w.	327.00	=0.163
		25.2	31.9	l.w.	335.00	=0.203
muscle	PCBs	0.677	0.453	W.W.	413.00	=0.939

	240	354	l.w.	379.00	=0.550
PBDEs	0.089	0.053	w.w.	336.00	=0.208
	30.8	25.7	l.w.	404.00	=0.803
PCDD/Fs	0.341	0.549	w.w.	164.00	<0.001*
	125	315	l.w.	163.00	<0.001*

Investigating tissue dependency for the targeted contaminants, we found concentration values in wet weight in liver three orders of magnitude greater than in muscle. However, when the concentrations were normalized according to the lipid content, results changed notably. Concentrations of PCBs and PBDEs still tended to be higher in liver, although only for the former the difference was statistically significant (Mann-Whitney, U(60,60) = 96.00, p = 0.009). Interestingly, the content of PCDD/Fs in I.w. became significantly greater in muscle than in liver (Mann-Whitney, U(60,60) = 85.00, p < 0.001).

5.3. Toxicity assessment

5.3.1 Sperm whales

Sperm whales analyzed shared the same TEQ pattern (Σ non-*ortho*-DL-PCBs > Σ *ortho*-DL-PCBs > PCDDs > PCDFs), with DL-PCBs contributing the most to TEQs (Bartalini et al., 2019 - Scientific publications 8.1). Total calculated TEQs ranged from 275 to 987 pg TEQs/g l.w. (Table 28), and surpassed the threshold of 210 pg WHO-TEQs/g l.w. in blubber, proposed as starting point of immunosuppression in harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*) (Ross et al., 1995).

While PBDEs are widely recognized for their toxic effects on cetaceans, it is important to note that the single currently extant upper limit threshold for these contaminants in marine mammals has been established for endocrine disruption in blubber of grey seals (1500 ng/g l.w.) (Hall et al., 2003). This value was employed as a proxy for sperm whales, and we found that total PBDE concentrations (312 to 1390 ng/g l.w.) (Table 5) were always below the above-mentioned reference value, although often in the same order of magnitude.

Table 28. Total TEQs and percentage contribution to total-TEQs in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales analyzed in this study. Data are expressed in pg TEQs/g l.w, and are showed as mean, median and range.

Compounds	Average		pg TEQs/g l.w.	
	%	Mean	Median	Range

Total TEQs		492	394	275-987
ΣPCDD/Fs (pg/g)	4.20	18.1	16.3	13.9-27.4
ΣPCDFs (pg/g)	1.20	5.03	4.54	4.26-6.37
ΣPCDDs (pg/g)	2.90	13.0	11.9	9.36-21.1
ΣDL-PCBs	95.8	474	374	261-968
Σnon- <i>ortho</i> PCBs	61.7	281	255	188-527
Σmono- <i>ortho</i> PCBs	34.1	192	105	62.9-625

5.3.2. Cuvier's baked whales

As reported in Table 29, DL-PCB concentrations in pg TEQ/g ranged from 36.1 to 983 among Cuvier's beaked whales analyzed in this study (Baini et al., 2020 - Scientific publications 8.1). In juveniles, subadults and female adults, non-*ortho* PCBs accounted for more than 60% to total TEQs (Table 30). In adult males, mono-*ortho* PCBs reached an average percentage contribution of about 51%.

Four individuals reported calculated TEQs above the upper limit of 210 pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w for immunosuppression in harbour seals (*Phoca vitulina*). In addition, we compared average Σ PCB concentrations with two distinct threshold values commonly used for marine mammals. In particular, we considered the lower value of 9 µg/g l.w. proposed as toxicity limit for the onset of physiological effects in marine mammals (Jepson et al., 2016; Kannan et al., 2000), and the higher value of 41 µg/g l.w. suggested as a threshold for reproductive impairment in Baltic ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) (Helle et al., 1976a). We found that 80% of the sampled individuals exceeded the lower limit, and three of them showed Σ PCB loads above the highest threshold limit, specifically two subadults and one adult.

Table 29. Mean, median and range of TEQ values (pg/g w.w.) of DL-PCBs in blubber biopsies of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales, sampled in 2015.

		TEQs (pg/g w.w.)											
	Juvenile (n=4)				Subadult (n=8)			Adult male (n=6)			Adult female (n=2)		
	Mean	Median	Range	Mean	Median	Range	Mean	Median	Range	Mean	Median	Range	
∑non- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	65.8	67.7	28.0-99.7	167	85.4	43.2-792	76.4	75.0	39.5-119	145	145	28.3-261	
∑mono- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	36.7	39.0	16.9-52.1	76.0	44.4	18.7-191	81.1	77.9	33.4-144	17.3	17.3	7.78-26.8	
Total TEQs	102	111	44.9-143	243	129	61.9-983	157	168	88.1-223	162	162	36.1-289	

TEOs	Averag			
	Juvenile	Subadult	Adult male	Adult female
Total TEQs	100	100	100	100
∑non- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	64.0	69.0	48.3	89.5
∑mono- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	36.0	31.0	51.7	10.5

Table 30. Average contribution to total TEQs calculated for Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2015.

To assess the toxicological impact of PBDEs in the Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales analyzed, we compared our results with the PBDE threshold value of 1500 ng/g l.w., associated with endocrine disruption in grey seals. Among all individuals analyzed, one specimen (subadult) showed a concentration of PBDEs above this threshold limit.

5.3.3 Anchovies, sardine and bogues

DL-PCB concentrations in pg TEQs/g for all species investigated in this study ranged from 0.0726 to 1.24 pg TEQs/g (Table 31), with non-*ortho*-PCBs accounting for more than 90% of the total TEQ concentration (Table 32).

As sardines, bogues and anchovies represent some of the most commonly consumed fish species in the Mediterranean Sea, we compared our results with regulated levels in diet to assess possible risks to human health derived from their consumption. In this regard, we found that the mean total TEQs and concentrations of the 6 indicators PCB congeners reported for sardines, bogues and anchovies did not exceed regulated levels in diet established by the European Union (Scientific Committee on Food, 2000). Estimated weakly intake (EWI) deriving from the estimated weekly fish consumption in Italy was 1.2, 0.35 and 0.29 for sardine, bogue and anchovy, respectively. These values are far below the tolerable weakly intake (TWI) of 14 pg WHO-TEQ/Kg/week, and are also below the new TWI for dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in food of 2 pg WHO-TEQ/Kg/week proposed by EFSA (EFSA, 2018).

Table 31. Mean, median and range of TEQs values (pg/g w.w.) of DL-PCBs in muscle from three Mediterranean Sea fish species analyzed in this study.

	Sardine (Sardina pilchardus)				Bogue (<i>Boo</i>	ps boops)		Anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolous)				
	pg WHO-TEQs/g w.w.											
	Mean	Median	Rar	nge	Mean Median Range		Mean	Median	Ran	ge		
∑non- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	0.731	0.704	0.389	1.18	0.124	0.120	0.0637	0.236	0.200	0.208	0.0766	0.387

∑mono- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	0.0405	0.0409	0.0173	0.0787	0.0115	0.00888	0.00522	0.0317	0.00967	0.00816	0.00125	0.0227
Total TEQs	0.771	0.746	0.410	1.24	0.135	0.131	0.0726	0.268	0.210	0.220	0.0778	0.396

TEOs	Average contribution (%)							
	Sardine	Bogue	Anchovy					
Total TEQs	100	100	100					
∑non- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	94.8	91.5	95.4					
∑mono- <i>ortho</i> -DL-PCBs	5.20	8.50	4.60					

Table 32. Average contribution to total TEQs calculated for sardine, bogue and anchovy.

5.3.4. Blue sharks

In order to assess the potential health risks deriving from the presence of PCBs and PBDEs in blue sharks, we compared our results with available toxicity limits. Due to the absence of specific thresholds for blue shark, we used as a proxy the toxicity upper limit in blubber commonly employed for marine mammals. Regarding PCBs, we compared our results with the value of 9 μ g/g l.w. for which onset of physiological impacts have been reported in marine mammals. For PBDEs we referred to the threshold value of 1500 ng/g l.w. set for endocrine disruption in grey seals. All shark specimens analyzed in this study reported average values of PCBs (46.6-2650 ng/g l.w.) and PBDEs (1.55-316 ng/g l.w.) in muscle from one to three orders of magnitude lower than the abovementioned thresholds.

In order to quantify the potential toxicity of DL-PCBs and PCDD/Fs for humans, we calculated TEQs (Table 33). Important differences in total concentration burdens between tissues (two orders of magnitude higher in liver on average than in muscle), as well as in the relative contributions to total TEQs, were observed. DL-PCBs in liver accounted for ~88% of total TEQs, while PCDD/Fs were responsible for ~77% of total TEQs in muscle, with PCDDs alone responsible for the greatest contribution (~63%).

Table 33. TEQs for DL-PCBs, PCDDs, PCDDs and PCDD/s, and average contribution to total TEQs calculated for liver and muscle samples of blue sharks. Data are given in pg TEQs/g w.w. and (pg TEQs/g l.w.), and are showed as mean, median and range.

TEQs	Average contribution (%)		m	mean		median		range	
	liver	muscle	liver	muscle	liver	Muscle	liver	muscle	_
TOTAL 100	100	100	17.1	0.115	14.4	0.108	2.52-108	0.0700-0.340	-
	100	(85.8)	(54.3)	(66.0)	(42.3)	(19.1-709)	(16.1-205)		

TEQ _{DL-PCBs}	00 1	23.0	15.1	0.0270	11.1	0.0220	1.88-101	0.0050-0.105
	88.2		(50.0)	(12.1)	(31.5)	(9.46)	(4.62-689)	(1.05-80.7)
TEQ _{PCDDs}	4 70	63.3	0.807	0.0730	0.630	0.0640	0.228-3.06	0.0420-0.244
	4.70		(2.81)	(34.5)	(1.81)	(24.1)	(0.584-20.9)	(9.89-97.1)
TEQ _{PCDFs}	7 10	13.7	1.21	0.0160	1.07	0.0140	0.178-3.70	0.0080-0.0440
	7.10		(3.99)	(7.61)	(2.67)	(5.01)	(0.544-25.3)	(1.99-30.1)
TEQ _{PCDD/Fs}	11 0	77.0	2.02	0.0880	1.61	0.0770	0.529-6.76	0.0530-0.288
	11.8		(6.79)	(42.2)	(5.28)	(29.0)	(1.57-46.1)	(12.1-125)

To asses the potential risk for human health deriving from the consumption of blue shark meat, we compared PCB, PBDE and PCDD/F concentrations found in analyzed individuals with maximum levels (ML) set for Europe. The European Regulation 1259/2011 and Directive 2013/39/EU established a ML in muscle meat of fish and fishery products of 6.5 pg WHO-TEQ/g (w.w.) for PCDD/Fs and DL-PCBs, and a ML of 75 ng/g (w.w.) for the 6 indicator PCBs. Additionally, Regulation 1259/2011 also establishes a maximum of 3.5 pg WHO-TEQs/g (w.w.) just for PCDD/Fs. All three targeted POP families were found in muscle (∑TEQs: 0.115 pg TEQs/g w.w.; ∑i-PCBs: 0.613 ng/g w.w.; ∑PCDD/Fs: 0.088 pg TEQs/g w.w.) at one to two orders of magnitude lower than the established limits.

If we consider an average value of 0.115 pg TEQs/g in muscle (this study), an average human body weight of 70 Kg, and a per person's consumption of over 1.2 Kg of blue shark muscle per week, our results did not exceed the conservative EFSA's tolerable weekly intake (TWI) of 2 pg WHO-TEQs/Kg body weight/week for dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in food (Knutsen et al., 2018). To put this figure in context, according to FAOSTAST, the weekly consumption of pelagic fish in 2019 in Portugal and Spain per person was ~0.22 Kg and ~0.15 Kg, respectively. On the other hand, although shark livers are not commonly part of the human diet, about 58% of liver samples exceeded the ML for i-PCBs, ~78% did the same for the 7.5 pg WHO-TEQs/g limit when considering PCDD/Fs + DL-PCBs, and about 38% exceeded the limit of WHO-3.5 pg TEQs/g when considering just PCDD/Fs.

Concerning PBDEs (congeners BDE-28, BDE-47, BDE-99, BDE-10, BDE-153, and BDE-154), all liver samples and 92% of muscle samples analyzed in this study overpassed the *Environmental Quality Standard* limit (EQS) for biota of 0.0085 ng/g w.w. established by the European Water Framework Directive (WFD).

As there is no TWI established for PBDEs, we took into consideration the chronic oral reference doses set out by the US Environmental Protection Agency, and the acute/subchronic minimal risk levels established by the US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. Values for these limits were congener-dependent and vary from 100 ng/kg/day (BDE47 and 99) to 7000 ng/Kg/day (BDE-209). We calculated the estimated daily intake (EDI) assuming an average body weight of 70 Kg and the highest daily pelagic fish consumption (Portuguese populations) of 0.03 Kg/day, considering the highest PBDE concentration found in this study for blue shark, which amounted to 69.7 ng/g in liver. The obtained EDI was 29.9 ng/kg/day, which scored below any of the aforementioned limits.

6. Discussion

6.1. Concentrations and trends

6.1.1. PCBs

As described in the Results section (*4.1. Congener profiles*), PCBs were the most abundant POPs family in all investigated species. This result, in line with the majority of published research conducted so far in marine mammals (Green and Larson, 2016; Marsili et al., 2018), sharks (Tiktak et al., 2020), and other fish, was somewhat expected and contributes to reinforce the awareness about the persistent and critical dilemma posed by these legacy contaminants (Jepson and Law, 2016). Several factors are responsible for the higher concentrations of PCBs compared to those of PBDEs and PCDD/Fs. Specifically, PCBs are more persistent in the environment and do not readily break down or degrade (Siddiqi et al., 2003). Although, PBDEs exhibit a great degree of environmental persistence as well, they tend to degrade more rapidly than PCBs (Söderström et al., 2004). PCBs were used in applications with long-life spans (electrical equipment, hydraulic fluids, and heat transfer systems) (Erickson and Kaley, 2011), which allowed these substances to persist in the environment for extended periods even after their production ceased. In comparison, PBDEs were primarily used as flame-retardants in products with shorter lifespans (electronics, textiles, and furniture), and subject to replacement or disposal (Jinhui et al., 2017). This could potentially result in a lower overall abundance of PBDEs compared to PCBs.

In the case of PCDD/Fs, they are not intentionally synthesized chemicals and while estimating their global production is a challenging task, their global production and environmental levels do not approach those seen with PCBs (Song et al., 2023).

Higher chlorinated congeners (hepta- and hexa-) dominated the PCB profiles of the studied species, in accordance with what is usually described in marine organisms (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Madgett et al., 2022; Romero-Romero et al., 2017). Specifically, the same congener profile was found in marine fish (Ben Ameur et al., 2013; Henríquez-Hernández et al., 2017; Herceg Romanić et al., 2021; Milićević et al., 2022; Naso et al., 2005; Vuković et al., 2018), in blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) worldwide (Alves et al., 2016; de Azevedo e Silva et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2015a; Mol et al., 2016; Storelli et al., 2011b), in Cuvier's baked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*) (López-Berenguer et al., 2023), and other beaked whales (Anezaki et al., 2016; Hooker et al., 2008). The same congener profile has been described in other cetacean species such as bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*), stripped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) (Dron et al., 2022; Jepson et al.,

2016; Santos-Neto et al., 2014; Xie et al., 2021), spotted dolphin (*Stenella frontalis*) (Lavandier et al., 2019; Santos-Neto et al., 2014), dugong (*Dugong dugong*) (Weijs et al., 2019), killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) (Jepson et al., 2016), pilot whale (*Globicephala melas*), sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*) (Pinzone et al., 2015), and porpoises (Jepson et al., 2016; Ramu et al., 2006; Xie et al., 2021).

In general, the higher levels of these highly chlorinated congeners could be attributable to two distinct factors: 1) their notably persistence which is closely linked to their heightened tendency to be bioaccumulated and reduced metabolization, owing to their high chlorination degree and lack of adjacent unsubstituted H-atoms in ortho-meta and/or meta-para positions in the aromatic rings (Borja et al., 2005; Bright et al., 1995; Walker, 2008), 2) their abundant contribution to the most common used PCB mixtures, such as Aroclor 1254 and 1260 (M. Frame et al., 1996). In the case of sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whales, this is supported by several studies that have described a low biotransformation capacity of high chlorinated PCBs by different cetaceans species (Boon et al., 1997; Williams et al., 2020; Yordy et al., 2010c).

As we observed in all the species investigated, almost the entire DL-PCB content (almost 90%) was made up by mono-*ortho* PCBs (105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189), with only a small fraction represented by non-*ortho* PCBs (77, 81, 126, 169). This fact is in agreement with the major abundance of the former in technical mixtures, and it is also in accordance with previous studies in sperm whales and other marine species where PCB-118 has been reported as the most abundant among DL-PCB congeners (Barraza et al., 2020; Capanni et al., 2020; Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Gaus et al., 2005; Pinzone et al., 2015).

6.1.1.1. Sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whales

In comparison to the most recent available data about PCBs in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales (Table 34), our results were one order of magnitude higher than those reported for two individuals stranded in 2011 and 2018 (López-Berenguer et al., 2023), and in the same order of magnitude that those described for free-ranging specimens sampled between 2011 and 2013 (Pinzone et al., 2015).

107

Table 34. PCBs and PBDEs (ng/g l.w.) in blubber samples of sperm whales sampled worldwide. Data are expressed as mean ± SD (when possible). Geographic area of sampling, year of collection and sex (F=female; M=male; U=unidentified) are reported (when possible). Total DL-PCBs are in parenthesis (when possible).

Reference (Year)	Geographic area	Sampling year	Species	Ν	Sex	ΣΡCBs (ΣDL-PCBs)	ΣPBDEs
Aguilar (1983) ^p	North Atlantic	-	SW	8	М	9930	-
				6	F	15550	-
Borrel (1993) ^p	Iceland	1982	SW	10	М	10510±2070	4160±1040
Boer et al. (1998) ^r	NE Atlantic (North sea)	-	SW	3	AM	-	49.6±46.0
Holsbeek et al. (1999) ^r	Southern North Sea	1994-1995	SW	7	М	3032±547	
Law et al. (2003) ^q	Orkney Islands (Scotland)	1994	SW	1		-	42.9
	Netherlands	1995	SW	2		-	80.6±90.7
Evans et al. (2004) ^q	Southern Australia	1998	SW	32	F	800±400	-
				5	М	1300±1200	-
Gaus et al. (2005) ^q	Tasmania (Southern Australia)	-	SW	7	F/M	(28.7±8.73)	-
Godard-Codding et al. (2011) ^r	SC= Sea of Cortez	1999	SW	10		MC: 1514±1693	-
	KR= Kiribati	2000	SW	10		KR: 734±869	-
	GP= Galapagos	2000	SW	10		GP: 1262±1,586	-
	PX1=Pacific Crossing	2000	SW	10		PX1: 777±853	-
	PNG=Papua New Guinea	2001	SW	10		PNG: 1101±1378	-
Bachman et al. (2014) ^q	Pacific Island	2011	SW	1	F	1.470	27.2
Fossi et al. (2014) ^r	Gulf of California (Mexico)	2008-2009	SW	14	М	2193±660	30.8±31.7
					F	2294±1180	283±819
Romero-Romero et al. (2017) ^q	Atlantic Ocean (Cantabrian sea)	-	SW	1		1790	149
Zhan et al. (2019) ^q							
Madgett et al. (2022) ^q	NE Atlantic Ocean	2012-2016	SW	5		821.1-13520	139.4-1888
Megson et al. (2022) ^q	Scottish coast	2010 -2013	SW	1		100000	
Praca et al. (2011) ^r	NWMS	2003-2009	SW	14	1M/13U	107810±108720	-
Marsili et al. (2014) ^q	Italy	2009	SW	7	М	193608±340089	-
Pinzone et al. (2015) ^r	NWMS	2006-2013	SW	32	М	24237±17421	382±176
				11	F	16877±7237	248±106
					F/M	(2120±1490)	
Zaccaroni et al. (2018) ^q	Mediterranean Sea	2014	SW	3	F	-	167±13.9
López-Berenguer et al. (2023) ^q	Mediterranean Sea	2011-2018	SW	2	М	1401±78.4	25.6±11.7
Bartalini et al. (2019)	Mediterranean Sea	2008,2009, 2016	SW	9	М	6421±6150	612±401

^p Caught animals. ^q Stranded animals.

^r Free ranging animals.

When comparing our results with those previously described in sperm whales from outside the Mediterranean Sea, we found PCB concentrations one or more orders of magnitude higher than those reported from 2000 to 2016 for individuals from the Cantabrian Sea, Gulf of California, Galapagos, Papa New Guinea, Hawaii, and other islands in the central and eastern Pacific Ocean
(Fossi et al., 2014; Godard-Codding et al., 2011; Romero-Romero et al., 2017). On the other hand, PCB analysis conducted on sperm whales stranded before 2000 in the North Atlantic described levels two or more times higher than those reported for this study (Aguilar, 1983; Borrell, 1993). This difference could be due to the elapsed sampling years among the studies, along with the fact that the North Atlantic Ocean betwen North America and Europe, two major PCB source regions () (Axelman and Gustafsson, 2002), holds a a position responsible for its role as a major global sink (O'Sullivan, 2013).

To the best of our knowledge, currently only two studies investigated PCB concentrations in blubber of Cuvier's baked whales, and both reported mean/median levels lower than those found in our study (Bachman et al., 2014; Knap and Jickells, 1983) (Table 35).

Table 35. Mean or median (in bold) (ng/g l.w. or ng/g w.w.) of ΣPCB and ΣPBDE concentrations in blubber of Cuvier's beaked whales analyzed in previous studies. Range in parenthesis (when possible).

Reference (Year)	Geographic area	Sampling year	Species	N	Sex	ΣΡCBs	ΣPBDEs
Bachman et al. (2014)	Pacific Island	2008, 2011	CBW	2	М	4250 (3130-5360) ng/g l.w.	59.4 (53.6-65.2) ng/g l.w.
Law et al. (2005)	UK coast	2002	CBW	1	М	-	320 ng/g w.w.
Knap & Jickells (1983)	Unknown	1981	CBW	4	3M-1F	9465 ng/g w.w.	-

Unlike this present study, previous works have been performed in stranded individuals outside the Mediterranean Sea. Specifically, Bachman et al. (2014) documented median levels of PCBs in stranded Pacific Island Cuvier's baked whales (4250 ng/g l.w.) almost four times lower than those in this study. Lower PCB levels (9465 ng/g w.w.) have been also reported for four specimens stranded in 1981 (site of stranding-unknown) (Knap and Jickells, 1983). Lower concentration levels of PCBs have been also indicated for other three species of beaked whales from Japanese (*Berardius bairdii, Mesoplodon stejnegeri* and *Mesoplodon carlhubbsi*) (Anezaki et al., 2016; Kajiwara et al., 2006; Kannan et al., 1989; Tanabe et al., 1989) and Canadian waters (*Hyperoodon ampullatus*) (Hooker et al., 2008).

These results are consistent with the fact the Mediterranean Sea, and in particular its western area, is considered for some authors a global PCB "hotspot" for marine mammals (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

Comparing the levels of PCBs with those present in the literature for other cetacean species living in the Mediterranean Sea basin, it can be highlighted that Cuvier's beaked whales showed lower concentrations than those in striped dolphins (Fossi et al., 2013; Fossi et al., 2014; Marsili and Focardi, 1996), common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) (Marsili et al., 2018), Risso's dolphins (*Grampus griseus*), and pilot whales (*Globicephala melas*) (Pinzone et al., 2015; Praca et al., 2011). The observed dissimilarities are likely the consequence of distinct trophic levels, prey preferences, feeding habits and feeding ground areas, among species. On the other hand, the comparable levels reported for sperm whales (Bartalini et al., 2019; Pinzone et al., 2015; Praca et al., 2011) are probably due to similar feeding habits (mainly based on mesopelagic squids) of these two species.

When investigating PCB concentrations among different age classes in Cuvier's beaked whales, we found that concentrations in males remained either stable or increased with age. However, in sexually mature females, contaminant burdens generally declined. The concurrent increase in contaminant concentrations in blubber with age has been previously documented in marine mammals (Hickie et al., 2007; Krahn et al., 2009; Murphy et al., 2015). This is typically attributed to the females' detoxification mechanisms, such as gestation and lactation, which enable them to reduce their contaminant body burden by transferring organic pollutants to their offspring (Borrell et al., 1995; Genov et al., 2019; Schwacke et al., 2002; Weijs et al., 2013; Wells et al., 2005). Thanks to the long-term studies conducted on this population, we knew that one of the females had given birth to at least 4 calves since 1999. This whale was, indeed, the one that had the lowest levels of PCBs in the dataset. In addition, detoxification mechanisms are absent in males, which normally accumulate contaminants throughout their entire lives.

As mentioned before, sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whales share similar DL-PCBs profiles dominated by mono-*ortho* PCBs and with a small contribution of non-*ortho* PCBs. On the other hand, a greater dissimilarity between these two species was observed for the highly toxic non-*ortho* congeners (77, 81, 126, 169). For sperm whales, we found a non-*ortho* PCB profile (126>169>77>81) similar to that described in sperm whales from Australia (Gaus et al., 2005), and the Cantabrian Sea (Romero-Romero et al., 2017), but different from the accumulation patterns found in sperm whales from the Scottish coast (Megson et al., 2022), as well as those generally found in fish and their main prey (e.g. cephalopods) for which PCB-77 represents the predominant congener, followed by PCB-126 and PCB-169 (Cappelletti et al., 2015; Romero-Romero et al., 2017; Storelli, 2008; Tanabe et al., 1987). The prevalence of PCB-126 and PCB-169 could be partially explained by the highest biomagnification potential of these two congeners as reported by Castro-Jiménez et al. (2021) in a pelagic food web from the North Western Mediterranean Sea. The lack of specific studies about the metabolism of non-*ortho* substituted PCBs in sperm whales makes it

difficult to find a solid explanation for this distinct profile. We can hypothesize that this species could have an enhanced metabolic capability towards PCB-77, and a reduced or absent metabolic activity towards PCB-126 and PCB-169. However, our hypothesis differs from Boon et al., (2000), who showed that PCB-77 was not metabolised by sperm whales microsomes in vitro. This points out the need of further investigations focused on accumulation and contaminant detoxification pathways in sperm whales and cetaceans in general. Moreover, without information on the specific feeding habits, as well as patterns and pollutant concentrations in their prey, caution is mandatory when trying to understand their contamination profiles. Nonetheless, in general, the average DL-PCB congener profile was alike to that described by Pinzone et al. (2015) for Mediterranean sperm whales sampled between 2008 and 2013.

The abundance profile of non-*ortho*-DL-PCBs in Cuvier's beaked whales ($77 \approx 126 > 169 > 81$) was similar to that revealed for others beaked whales (Kannan et al., 1989; Tanabe et al., 1989), but at the same time remarkably different from that reported in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales analyzed in this study (126 > 169 > 77 > 81). This is interesting, given that diet is the main route of POPs uptake for marine mammals, and both species are deep divers sharing common prey (i.e. mainly mesopelagic squids) (Podestà et al., 2016; Praca et al., 2011). However, it is known that many factors such as lipid content, protein-binding, blood transport, or chlorination level, among others, affect the distribution and partitioning of PCBs, and other POPs, across tissues in marine and terrestrial species (Vijayasarathy et al., 2019). Considering all the above, toxicokinetic differences between these two Mediterranean cetacean species are likely the consequence behind the dissimilar abundance of non-*ortho* congeners, instead of different feeding habits and grounds.

6.1.1.2. Sardines, anchovies and bogues

Among the three fish species investigated, sardines accounted for the highest levels of PCB contamination. This difference was probably due to their higher fat content (Milićević et al., 2022), and is in line with previous studies (Table 36) in which sardines from the Mediterranean and Marmara Seas, and purchased in Spanish markets, seem to be from two to six times more contaminated than anchovies (Coelhan et al., 2006; Herceg Romanić et al., 2021; Milićević et al., 2022; Miniero et al., 2014; Perelló et al., 2015).

		÷ .	-		
Reference (year)	Geographic Area	Sampling year	Species	ICES7 (ng/g w.w.)	
Mauffret et al. (2023)	Bay of Biscay (NE Atlantic)	2014	Sardine	5.41 (1.50-10.7)	
Miliányiá at al. (2022)	Creation Adviatio Sea	2014 2016	Anchovy	0.000412	
Willicevic et al. (2022)	Cruatian Auriatic Sea	2014-2010	Sardine	0.002754	
Romanić at al. (2021)	Factors Adriatic Caa	2014 2016	Anchovy	0.380 (0.200-2.35)	
Romanic et al. (2021)	Edstern Aundlic Sed	2014-2010	Sardine	2.96 (0.400-9.63)	
Castro-Jiménez et al. (2021)	Mediterranean Sea	2013-2016	Bogue	9.20	
		2014	Anchovy	0.260 (0.210-0.310)	
Vuković et al. (2018)	Eastern Adriatic Sea	2014	Sardine	1.57 (0.350-6.32)	
		2016	Sardine	3.72 (1.04-9.63)	
Derelle et al. (2015)	Catalonia markata	2012	Anchovy	13.5	
Pereno et al. (2015)		2012	Sardine	29.0	
Minimum at al (2014)	Southern Adriatic and	2008	Anchovy	4.51	
winiero et al. (2014)	Tyrrhenian Sea. Ionian Sea		Sardine	15.5	
$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{r}}$ and $\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{r}}$ at al. (2012)	Catalania markata	2009	Anchovy	15.8	
Pereno et al. (2012)	Catalonia markets	2008	Sardine	22.0	
Storelli et al. (2011a)	Adriatic Sea		Bogue	111 ng/g l.w.	
Calura čullari at al. (2010)	Diack See	2005	Anchound	17.3	
Çakırogunarı et al. (2010)	BIACK SEA	2006	Anchovy	7.1	
Martí-Cid et al. (2007)	Catalonia markets	2005	Sardine	24.3	
Callean at al (2006)	Marmara Caa	2002	Anchovy	12.5	
Coeman et al. (2006)	Warnard Sea	2003	Sardine	22.5	
Naso et al. (2005)	Gulf of Naples	2003	Anchovy	35.4 (14.3-85.4)	
Stefanelli et al. (2004)	Adriatic Sea	1997	Anchovy	15.6	
Dorugini et al. (2004)	Adriatic Soa	2002	Anchovy	17.5	
Perugini et al. (2004)	Auriatic Sea	2002	Sardine	15.6	
Bayarri et al. (2001)	Adriatic Sea	1998	Anchovy	40.0	

Table 36. Mean of ICES7 PCB concentrations (ng/g w.w.) in anchovies, sardines, and bogues from different Mediterranean Sea areas. Median is marked in bold. Range in parenthesis (when possible).

* sum of PCB congeners: 52, 101, 118, 138, 153, 180.

Besides the lipid content, an additional factor responsible for the variability of PCB contamination levels could be the species-specific feeding behaviour of these three species. Sardines and anchovies are both considered planktivorous species with a general niche overlapping during some seasons. Yet, several studies also reported differences in feeding strategies and target prey, and therefore, slightly distinct trophic levels (Costalago et al., 2012). Values found in this survey depicted a level of contamination significantly lower (1.6 to 10.6 times lower depending on the species) when comparing with PCB concentrations reported in the late 90s or early 2000s (Table 36). In particular, anchovies caught in the Adriatic Sea in 1998, and in the Gulf of Naples in 2003, reached levels of contamination about two orders of magnitude higher (Bayarri et al., 2001; Naso et al., 2005) than levels found in this study. However, and taking into consideration the wide range of values reported for sardines and anchovies, levels found in this study were not significantly lower – but higher in some occasions - than those measured in last years. Sardines obtained from Spanish markets in 2005, 2008 and 2012 (Martí-Cid et al., 2007; Perelló et al., 2015, 2012), and specimens caught in the Marmara Sea in 2008 (Coelhan et al., 2006), showed contamination levels

about two times higher than our values. Moreover, a study conducted on the Adriatic Sea by Vuković et al. (2018) reported PCB concentrations for sardines up to five times higher than those reported in this study. Instead, anchovies analyzed in the same work in 2014 reached values about just one order of magnitude higher. On the other hand, more recent studies on sardines and anchovies caught between 2013 and 2016 in the Adriatic Sea revealed levels between one and four orders of magnitude lower than those described in this study (Herceg Romanić et al., 2021; Milićević et al., 2022). Sardines caught out of the Mediterranean Sea, specifically in the Gulf of Biscay (NE Atlantic Ocean) in 2014, showed levels in the same order of magnitude that those found in this study for Mediterranean Sea sardines (Mauffret et al., 2023).

Bibliographic data on PCB concentrations in bogue are scant in the Mediterranean area. ICES7 values reported in 2011 for fish caught in the Adriatic Sea (Storelli et al., 2011a) were in the same order of magnitude than those reported in this study, six years later. Conversely, study specimens in 2017 from the Atlantic Ocean (Canary Islands) presented levels of PCBs about one order of magnitude higher (Henríquez-Hernández et al., 2017). Finally, a recent study by Castro-Jiménez et al. (2021) in bogues captured in the Mediterranean Sea, between 2013 and 2016, reported median concentrations of ICES7 PCBs about three times higher than those described in our study.

As previously mentioned, sardines, anchovies, and bogues exhibited a congener profile primarily characterized by DL-PCBs. Among these, mono-*ortho* PCBs accounted for the majority, while noortho PCBs constituted only a small fraction. Specifically, sardines and bogues exhibited the same profile as Cuvier's beaked whales, PCB-77 > -126 > -169 > -81, which is commonly found in other studies conducted on the same and different species in the Mediterranean Sea and other regions across the globe (Gómara et al., 2005; Matthews et al., 2008; Moon and Choi, 2009). Instead, the pattern of non-*ortho*-PCBs was quite different in anchovies (126 > 77 > 169), with a contribution of PCB-126 about 71% and no detection of PCB-81. This profile (126 > 77 > 169) is different from that in anchovies caught in the Adriatic Sea (Bayarri et al., 2001), but similar to that of anchovies caught in the Black Sea (Çakıroğulları et al., 2010), and in the NW Mediterranean Sea, near to the Catalan coast (Llobet et al., 2003).

Dissimilarities in the induction rates of cytochrome P450 enzymes have been explored in the three study fish species based on the ratio PCB-169/PCB-126. Higher values of this ratio have been suggested as a proxy for a higher metabolization of PCB-77 relative to that of other non-*ortho* congeners (Tanabe et al., 1987). However, in this study, very similar average values for this ratio were found for sardines (0.13), bogues (0.10), and anchovies (0.19). Instead, a similar total non-

ortho PCB content was found between bogues and anchovies, while a much higher content of about 4–5 fold was measured in sardines.

Fish can accumulate PCBs from the surrounding environment (Antunes and Gil, 2004) and through prey intake (Mackay and Fraser, 2000). Given that abundance profiles are similar among species for indicator and mono-*ortho* congeners, the differences in non-*ortho* PCBs could be attributed to different feeding habits and grounds. In addition, important dissimilarities in toxicokinetics between species, involving metabolism and selective distribution across tissues, have been described in fish and other species (Albaigés et al., 1987; Kania-Korwel and Lehmler, 2016; Monosson et al., 2003; Ondarza et al., 2014; Reich et al., 1999; Vijayasarathy et al., 2019).

6.1.1.3. Blue sharks

When we compare our results on PCB concentrations with those reported by Alves et al. (2016) in blue sharks sampled in the same area (Portuguese coast), four years before our study, we found quite slightly lower levels, in both tissues (liver: mean=328 ng/g w.w.; muscle: mean=1.12 ng/g w.w.). In addition, previous studies in blue sharks from different parts of the world, and within a time frame of 20 years (Table 37 and 38), described PCB concentrations lower or in the same order of magnitude than those described in our study.

Table 37. Mean \pm standard deviation (when possible) and range in parenthesis (when possible) of ΣPCB ,
ΣPBDE, ΣPCDD, and ΣPCDF concentrations in <i>muscle</i> of blue sharks sampled worldwide. Data are expressed
in ng/g (Σ PCBs, Σ PBDEs) and pg/g (Σ PCDDs and Σ PCDFs). Data expressed in lipid weight basis (* wet weight
basis). (M=male; F=female).

Reference (Year)	Geographic area	Sampling year	Ν	Sex	ΣPCBs	ΣPBDEs	ΣPCDDs	ΣPCDFs
Menezes-Sousa et al. (2021)	Atlantic Ocean	2017	15	Μ	-	7.40 ± 7.70 (<loq-34)< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td></loq-34)<>	-	-
Alves et al. (2016)	Portuguese coast	2015	20	8M-12F	1.12 ± 1.03 (0.197-4.38)*	0.0543 ± 0.0310 (0.0175-0.131)*	0.0712 ± 0.0788 (0.0251-0.313)*	0.0336 ± 0.0105 (0.0181-0.0563)*
Lee et al. (2015b)	Pacific Ocean	2010	15	-	-	5.70 (0.400-51.4)	-	-
Lee et al. (2015a)	Pacific Ocean	2010	15	-	45.7 ± 39.1 (<loq-125)< td=""><td>-</td><td>-</td><td>-</td></loq-125)<>	-	-	-
de Azevedo e Silva et al. (2007)	Brazilian coast	2001	12	4M-8F	430 (185.1–714.7)	-	-	-

Table 38. Mean \pm standard deviation (when possible), and range in parenthesis (when possible) of Σ PCB, Σ PBDE, Σ PCDD, and Σ PCDF concentrations in *liver* of blue sharks sampled worldwide. Data are expressed in ng/g (Σ PCBs, Σ PBDEs) and pg/g (Σ PCDDs and Σ PCDFs). Data expressed in wet weight basis (* lipid weight basis). (M=male; F=female).

Reference (Year)	Geographic area	Sampling year	Ν	Sex	ΣΡCBs	ΣPBDEs	ΣPCDDs	ΣPCDFs
Alves et al. (2016)	Portuguese coast	2015	20	8M-12F	328 ± 273 (43.2-1160)*	7.63 ± 6.16 (1.35-29.0)*	2.23 ± 1.93 (0.541-8.00)*	6.44 ± 6.04 (1.78-26.9)*
Storelli et al. (2011b)	Mediterranean Sea	2008	22	-	679 (68-1480)	-	189 (68-317)	368 (141-978)
Storelli et al. (2005)	Mediterranean Sea	1999-2001	44	-	2480	-	-	

Specifically, muscle of specimens from the Brazilian coast sampled in 2001 (de Azevedo e Silva et al., 2007), and from coastal waters of Korea sampled in 2010 (Lee et al., 2015a), showed PCB levels of 430 ng/g, l.w. and 45.7 ng/g, l.w, respectively. PCB levels in liver have been studied in blue sharks sampled in 1999-2001 (Storelli et al., 2005) and 2008 (Storelli et al., 2011b) in the Mediterranean Sea, reporting concentrations of 2480 ng/g l.w. and 679 ng/g l.w, respectively. Different pollution status among areas, sampling times, as well as different analytical methods should be factored in when considering the concentration variability among these studies.

As described for Cuvier's beaked whales, we found greater concentrations of PCBs in blue shark male adults in comparison to subadult males. This finding emphasizes an ongoing bioaccumulation of PCBs in blue sharks, along with the absence of offloading mechanisms such as gestation and lactation, present in females. It is known that the reproductive strategy such as oviparity, aplacental or placental viviparity may play an important role in the offloading of contaminant burdens in shark species (Chynel et al., 2021; Lyons and Lowe, 2013). In particular, offloading of organohalogen contaminants (0.03–2.3%) to the embryos has been quantified for hammerhead female sharks (*Sphyrna lewini*) (Lyons and Adams, 2015), which has a placental viviparity strategy as blue sharks (da Silva et al., 2021). At the same time, maternal discharge of POPs in shark species is known to be a route of exposure to offspring (Marler et al., 2018; Mull et al., 2013). While there is evidence suggesting concentration transfer during blue shark gestation, potentially posing a significant contamination risk to the embryos, it is noteworthy that this study did not find differences in PCB concentrations between males and females. This observation draws attention to the presence of limited offloading mechanisms in female blue sharks.

Higher concentrations in liver than in muscle (in wet weight) is in accordance with what has been reported by other authors in blue and other shark species (Alves et al., 2016; Boldrocchi et al.,

2019; Strid et al., 2007). This is likely the consequence of the lipid deficiency in shark muscle $(0.26 \pm 0.11\%)$ as well as the lipoaffinity of these contaminants, which tend to be preferentially stored in lipid-rich tissues such as liver $(34 \pm 9\%)$ (Lyons et al., 2021). Additionally, the high metabolic activity and irrigation of this tissue may contribute to these findings.

As stated before, non-*ortho* DL-PCBs represents only a small portion of PCBs profile in blue shark individuals. Particularly, the abundance profile of non-*ortho* PCBs described for liver in blue sharks (PCB-126 > PCB-169 \geq PCB-81) is similar to that reported in Cuvier's beaked whales, sardines and bogues of the Mediterranean Sea, in blue sharks from the northeast of the Atlantic Ocean (Alves et al., 2016), and is also commonly described in marine species. On the other hand, this abundance profile differs from that found in Mediterranean blue sharks (Storelli et al., 2011b) (PCB-126 > -77> -169), which is likely to reveal differences in regional PCB pollution. On the other hand, PCBs -77 and -81 showed a notably smaller contribution in liver. This, along with the lower ratio PCB126/169, underscores the major metabolic capabilities of this tissue towards these congeners in the study blue sharks (Storelli et al., 2004).

Taking into account that various factors could influence the comparability among different studies, such as the capture location, sampling timing in relation to spawning activity (in the case of fish species), laboratory procedures, and quantification methods, it is important to highlight that our findings generally align with the PCB values reported from other studies for the same species in recent years. Our results support the concept of a virtual halt, or a very slow decrease in PCB concentrations put forth by other researchers (Jepson and Law, 2016; Law and Jepson, 2017; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). This observation underscores the limited effectiveness of mitigation measures and global efforts to combat PCB contamination, despite their ban in many countries for over four decades, and the establishment of the Stockholm Convention's 2028 deadline for their global elimination.

6.1.2. PBDEs

Sperm whales, Cuvier's beaked whales, and blue sharks shared a similar PBDE congener profile, dominated by lower-medium brominated congeners (BDE-47, BDE-99, BDE-100, BDE-153, and BDE-154). This agrees with the fact that these congeners are generally the most abundant in aquatic food webs (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Fossi et al., 2012; Romero-Romero et al., 2017),

with BDE-47 commonly being the predominant congener in most biota samples, including marine mammals (Hites, 2004).

This profile seems to reflect the extensive use of one the most employed BDE formulations, penta-BDE (La Guardia et al., 2006), whose production was voluntarily ceased in 2004 in Europe and USA (Hites, 2006). However, it should still be considered that the presence of BDE-47 in marine organism tissues could be partially due to the debromination of higher brominated congeners (Roberts et al., 2011). BDE-154 levels were also significant in all species investigated. This congener has been suggested to be a debromination product of BDE-183, the predominant congener in the technical octa-BDE mixture (Roberts et al., 2011; Stapleton et al., 2004).

BDE-209, the main component of the commercial deca-BDE mixture (97-98% BDE-209), which was the most intensively used and the latest formulation to be phased out (La Guardia et al., 2006), showed a very low average contribution in all the investigated species. This result could be attributable to two distinct factors. First of all, the highest hydrophobicity of BDE-209 among BDE congeners explains its heightened sequestration into suspended particulate matter and sediments, resulting in low bioavailability (Lee and Kim, 2015). Secondly, highly brominated BDEs as BDE-209 debrominate very rapidly due to sunlight (De Wit, 2002) and they are also poorly bioaccumulated, and easily debrominated in biota into less brominated PBDEs (He et al., 2006; Kierkegaard et al., 2007; Stapleton et al., 2006). In support of this hypothesis, depletion of BDE-209 reported in juvenile carps (*Cyprinus carpio*) has been ascribed to its debromination into pentato octa-BDEs (Stapleton et al., 2004). Nevertheless, several studies detected BDE-209 in different marine organisms reporting a possible biomagnification of this congener in marine food webs (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Johnson-Restrepo et al., 2005). As in the case of PCBs, PBDE concentrations exhibited an ongoing accumulation in blue sharks and Cuvier's beaked whales. Moreover, PBDE levels seem to be affected by specimen's age, development status as well as presence/absence of detoxification mechanisms such as gestation and lactation in females.

6.1.2.1. Sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whales

When we compare PBDE concentrations with those described in previous works performed in the Mediterranean Sea, we found that levels in our study were up to three times higher than those reported for sperm whales (three females) stranded along the Adriatic coast in 2014 (Zaccaroni et al., 2018). They were also two orders of magnitude higher than those described by López-

Berenguer et al. (2023) in two individuals stranded along the coastline of South Eastern Spain between 2011 and 2018 (Table 34). On the other hand, the study by Pinzone et al. (2015) reported PBDE levels in the same order of magnitude than those described in our study, in free-ranging specimens sampled in the North Western Mediterranean Sea between 2006 and 2013 (Table 34). We hypothesize that the dissimilarity between concentration values among the aforementioned studies was highly influenced by sex and location. Individuals analyzed by Zaccaroni et al. (2018) were all females, and had already reached sexual maturity and probably given birth, decreasing their contamination loads during gestation and lactation (Reijnders et al., 2009). On the contrary, males analyzed in this study were mostly adults and without off-loading mechanisms as those present in females, they could have been accumulating pollutants - especially those with high hydrophobicity and resistance to metabolism - throughout their entire lives. Regarding PBDE concentrations reported in sperm whales from outside the Mediterranean basin (Table 34), our results were in the same order of magnitude than those described in sperm whales from Gulf of California (Fossi et al., 2014), but six times lower than those reported from North Atlantic specimens (Borrell, 1993). The latter are probably due to the greater historical use of these compounds in North America (Law et al., 2014). Conversely, a recent study performed in sperm whales stranded on the Scottish coast during 2012-2016 (Madgett et al., 2022) reported a range of PBDE levels similar to those of our study.

To the best of our knowledge, only two works investigated PBDE concentrations in blubber of Cuvier's baked whales and reported mean/median levels lower or similar than those found in our study (Bachman et al., 2014; Law et al., 2005) (Table 35). Bachman et al. (2014) documented in stranded Pacific Island Cuvier's baked whales median levels of PBDEs (59.4 ng/g l.w.) almost six times lower, while quite similar PBDE levels (320 ng/g w.w.) were reported for one specimen stranded in 2002 along the UK coast (Law et al., 2005). Considering the limited information available regarding PBDE contamination in Cuvier's beaked whales, our results draw attention to the potential role of the Mediterranean Sea as *hot spot* for PBDEs in marine mammals, and particularly for Cuvier's beaked whales. Comparable levels reported for sperm whales and Cuvier beaked whales are probably due to the similar feeding habits (mainly based on mesopelagic squids) of these two species.

The same increase in contaminant concentrations according to age growing, as in the case of PCBs, has been reported for PBDEs in Cuvier's beaked whales. This fact highlights the potential of bioaccumulation of PBDEs throughout the entire life in this species.

It is worth noting that differences in pollutant concentrations and profiles between our study and previous literature could be linked not only to different geographic areas, time periods and interindividual differences, but also to distinct analytical methods and type of samples such as freeranging or stranded specimens. Specifically, it is known that POP concentrations in cetaceans are influenced by blubber thickness (Evans et al., 2003), which could became a significant variable when comparing biopsies taken from free-ranging individuals (few centimetres of the outermost layer) to samples obtained from stranded individuals (usually all three layers of blubber) (Evans et al., 2003; Ryan et al., 2013).

As stated before, sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whale reported a decrease in bioaccumulation levels along with the bromination degree. This profile has been also observed in different marine mammals species (Alonso et al., 2014; Pinzone et al., 2015; Zaccaroni et al., 2018), including beaked whales (Kajiwara et al., 2006), and in aquatic food webs in general (Johnson-Restrepo et al., 2005). Overall, similar congener profiles of PBDEs have been described in sperm whales inhabiting the Mediterranean Sea (López-Berenguer et al., 2023; Pinzone et al., 2015; Zaccaroni et al., 2018) and the North East Atlantic Ocean (Madgett et al., 2022), as well as in other marine organisms (Capanni et al., 2020; López-Berenguer et al., 2023; Miniero et al., 2014). Although, metabolism plays an important role in the PBDE congener accumulation in aquatic organisms, lower brominated congeners have higher biomagnification potential and, thus, possible toxicological effects (Alonso et al., 2014; Koenig et al., 2013). On the other hand, differences in congener's contribution degree would indicate either exposure to distinct PBDE sources, or different metabolic and elimination capacities among individuals or species (BDE-47: 70% sperm whale vs. 45% Cuvier's baked whale). In this regard, a study by Capanni et al. (2020) reported a gradually decline of the BDE-47 relative contribution in older specimens of striped dolphins, probably as a consequence of an easier discharge of less lipophilic and low-molecular weight congeners. A similar hypothesis was proposed for melon-headed whales (Peponocephala electra) and arctic beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas), which showed significant inverse correlations between log K_{ow} and mother-fetus ratios of PBDE congeners (Desforges et al., 2012; Kajiwara et al., 2008).

An unexpected increase of higher brominated BDEs in younger Cuvier's beaked whales (juvenile>subadult>adult) was observed. This evidence needs to be further investigated, but a possible explanation could rely on the increasing use of deca-BDE commercial mixture as an alternative of penta- and octa-BDE formulations banned and phased out in 2004 in the European

Union (Directive 2003/11/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council). Juvenile individuals have, therefore, come into direct contact marginally with these commercial mixtures (penta- and octa-), mainly through lactation, having a higher percentage of BDE-209, which constitutes around 92-97% of the total BDE content in the deca-BDE formulations (La Guardia et al., 2007).

6.1.2.2. Blue sharks

Regarding blue sharks, our study reported higher levels of PBDEs than those described by Alves et al. (2016). Liver and muscle concentrations reported in blue sharks sampled in 2019 (our study) doubled those found in blue sharks sampled in 2015 (liver: mean=7.631 ng/g w.w.; muscle: mean=0.054 ng/g w.w.) in the same area (Alves et al., 2016). This result aligns with the positive correlation between size/age and PBDE accumulation levels reported in the animals sampled in our study. Additionally, the comparison between values reported for blue sharks sampled in 2015 (Alves et al., 2016) and those sampled in 2019 (this study) confirmed a possible increasing trend for PBDEs, as already described in various abiotic and biotic matrices in different areas (Abbasi et al., 2019; Addison et al., 2020; Roscales et al., 2018; Sharkey et al., 2020). PBDE concentrations have been also studied in muscle of blue sharks from coastal waters of Korea and the Equatorial Atlantic Ocean, with levels of 7.70 ng/g l.w. (sampled in 2010) (Lee et al., 2015b) and 7.4 ng/g I.w. (sampled in 2017) (Menezes-Sousa et al., 2021), respectively (Table 37). As mentioned above, when we compare different studies, many variables come into play. Taking this into account, specimens analyzed in our study showed greater levels - between 1 and 2 orders of magnitude higher - suggesting a possible increase of PBDE values in the environment, and specifically for this species in this area.

The abundance pattern of PBDE congeners described in blue shark, dominated by lower-medium brominated congeners, is in line with what has been found for liver and muscle of different shark species from various geographical regions such as waters from South Korea (Lee et al., 2015b), Japan (Nakajima et al., 2022) or Southeastern USA (Weijs et al., 2015). Remarkably, the study by Alves et al. (2016) conducted on blue sharks in the Atlantic Ocean (Portugal) reported a relative abundance profile for each congener similar to that described in our study for blue sharks captured in the same area.

Interestingly, the lower average contribution of BDE-209 in liver (0.3%) than in muscle (14%) emphasizes a possibly enhanced metabolization of BDE-209 in liver of blue shark. Information

about the toxicokinetics of BDE-209 in marine species, including sharks, is scant. There are studies on tissue-specific accumulation performed in teleost fish such as common sole (*Solea solea*) (Munschy et al., 2017), but also in marine mammals such as harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) (Shaw et al., 2012) that described preferential bioaccumulation of this congener in liver. Yet, a recent study by Nakajima et al. (2022) could not detect BDE-209 in liver from up to eight different species of deep-sea sharks from Japanese waters with an average content of PBDEs relatively comparable with what found in blue sharks' liver in this study. On the other hand, Lee et al. (2015b) detected BDE-209 in just 4.8% of the muscle samples from 13 different shark species investigated, including blue shark. This information suggests that the factor species could play an important role in the toxicokinetics of BDE-209 for each tissue, and emphasizes the need of species-specific investigation, above all in elasmobranchs, which apparently show greater biotransformation of BDE-209 in liver than in muscle.

6.1.3. PCDD/Fs

In our studies, we found always levels of PCDD/Fs lower than those of the other targeted POPs (PCBs and PBDEs). This was anticipated since dioxins and furans, despite their high toxicity degree, are normally present at lower levels than other POPs in the tissues of living organisms. Firstly, they are unintentional products without any commercial value (ATSDR, 1998). They have chemical properties and sources slightly different from those of PCBs, which are mostly associated with industrial processes and products (Ross, 2004). Instead, PCDD/Fs are primarily formed through incomplete combustion processes, as well as during the manufacture of pesticides and other chlorinated substances (Kirkok et al., 2020). Additionally, PCDD/Fs are known to have a higher affinity for particulate matter and tend to bind more strongly to environmental surfaces, resulting in their deposition and accumulation in different environmental compartments (Srogi, 2008).

6.1.3.1. Sperm whales

In comparison to other geographical areas, PCDD/F levels in the sperm whales analyzed in this study were in the same order of magnitude than those reported for sperm whales from Australia (Gaus et al., 2005). On the other hand, the study by Pinzone et al. (2015) reported PCDD/F levels in free-ranging Mediterranean sperm whales one order of magnitude higher (PCDDs: mean=0.36)

ng/g l.w.; PCDFs: mean=0.16 ng/g l.w.). The dissimilarities in concentration levels could be attributed to the variation in sampling times – from 3 to 10 years - with our study spanning from 2009 to 2016 and that of Pinzone et al. (2015) covering the period from 2006 to 2013.

In Mediterranean sperm whales we observed a PCDF congener profile (penta > hexa > tetra > hepta > octa) relatively similar to that described in sperm whales from Australia (Gaus et al., 2005) and striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) from the Mediterranean Sea (Fossi et al., 2004). In contrast, the PCDD congener profile (hexa > penta > tetra > hepta > octa) was remarkably different from these two, with a lower concentration of higher chlorinated congeners, and a higher concentration of lower chlorinated congeners.

Owing to the scarcity of information, it is difficult to make solid statements about the contamination status of PCDD/Fs in sperm whales inhabiting the Mediterranean Sea. More studies focused on sperm whale populations and other odontocete species inhabiting the Mediterranean Sea, as well as other regions, are needed in to better understand patterns and trends of these highly toxic contaminants.

6.1.3.2. Blue sharks

When comparing PCDD/F results with those reported in blue sharks sampled in the same area (Portuguese coast) four years before our study (Alves et al., 2016), we found that PCDD/F concentrations were similar in liver (0.541–7.97 pg/g w.w. for PCDDs and 1.78–26.9 pg/g w.w. for PCDFs), but lower in muscle (range: 0.0251–0.313 pg/g ww for PCDDs and 0.0181–0.0563 pg/g w.w. for PCDFs). On the other hand, the study by Storelli et al. (2011b) reported an average of 189 pg/g l.w. and 368 pg/g l.w. for total PCDDs and PCDFs, respectively, one order of magnitude greater than those described in Atlantic specimens of this study. Considering again all the variables involved in direct comparisons among studies, these results seem to reveal differences on the pollution status depending on the sampling area and time, and to confirm the role of the Mediterranean Sea as a sink for these contaminants.

For blue sharks, and to the best of our knowledge, we found an abundance profile of PCDD/Fs similar to that described by Alves et al. (2016) in Atlantic specimens, but different from the only two studies reporting PCDD/Fs in sharks (Storelli et al., 2011b; Strid et al., 2007). In the study by Storelli et al. (2011b), PCDDs and PCDFs accounted for 34% and 66%, respectively, in liver of Mediterranean blue sharks, with 2,3,7,8-TCDF > 2,3,7,8-TCDD > 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD > 2,3,4,6,7,8-

HxCDF as major contributors. Strid et al. (2007) described in Greenland sharks from Icelandic waters a relative abundance in muscle of 22% for PCDDs and 77% for PCDFs, while in liver 13% for PCDDs and 87% for PCDFs. In both tissues there was an overall predominance of 2,3,7,8-TCDF, no detection of octa-congeners, and variable but important contributions of 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF, 2,3,7,8-TCDD, 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF, 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD, and 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD. Apart from the common prevalence of 2,3,7,8-TCDF in liver, and taking into account inter-species differences in the toxicokinetics of these pollutants, the clear dissimilarities for the homolog groups' abundance among these studies are likely the consequence of different regional (and temporal) pollution fingerprints, since all these studies have been performed in different areas and times. PCDD/Fs showed a general lower uptake compared to the other targeted contaminants, with a major propensity of accumulation in liver and a decreasing trend with age in muscle. On the other hand, as described in the Results section (4.2. Concentration values), concentrations in lipid weight tended to be higher in muscle than in liver, unlike PCBs and PBDEs for which concentrations still tended to be higher in liver when converted in lipid weight. Although more specific studies are needed, toxicokinetic differences, including distinct metabolism rates, could be behind of most of this heterogeneity found in concentrations among tissues.

Regarding accumulation dissimilarities between sexes, the only difference statistically significant (Mann-Whitney, p < 0.05, see specific U values and significances in Table 27) was found for the content of PCDD/Fs in muscle that was higher in females. This result could be also the consequence of distinct toxicokinetics among liver and muscle of males and females. The detection frequency of PCDD/Fs in muscle was notably lower than that in liver, resulting in many values in the muscle corresponding to upperbound values. Even though there were no statistically significant differences in the LODs between both tissues, our primary hypothesis suggests that the overestimation of lipid weight concentrations in muscle samples may be attributed to a biased calculation stemming from the presence of minimal lipid content. This overestimation is expected to affect the concentrations of all contaminants, but it was particularly evident in the case of PCDD/Fs. This is because their total loads were significantly lower than those of PCBs and PBDEs in both tissues, especially in the muscle.

6.2. Toxicity thresholds

Maintaining healthy marine ecosystems requires an adequate risk assessment of the seas and oceans. One of the most important tools needed when studying the potential hazards deriving from the presence of toxic substances, such as POPs, is the establishment of threshold levels. Established toxicity limits inform us about the concentration or level exposure to a substance (or mixture of substances) at which adverse effects or toxicity begins to occur in organisms. In this context, the assessment of risks evaluates and quantifies the potential risks and adverse effects associated with a chemical substance that result of fundamental importance for the management and conservation of marine species, above all, for those populations highly exposed.

For all these reasons, and to gain a better understanding of the potential toxicological risks associated to the presence of PCBs, PBDEs, and PCDD/Fs in the tissues of the studied individuals, we attempted to quantify their toxic potency based on the TEF approach. Due to the absence of species-specific limits, as well as standardized thresholds, we compared our results with toxicity limits established for seals, which are commonly employed for marine mammals in general (Hall et al., 2003; Helle et al., 1976a; Kannan et al., 2000; Ross et al., 1995). In that regard, a certain degree of approximation should be factored in, since marine mammals exhibit some level of variability in their detoxification capabilities and susceptibility to adverse effects (Desforges et al., 2016).

In order to evaluate the potential risk associated with dioxin-like compounds we used the approach of *Toxic Equivalency Factors* (TEFs), in which the concentration of individual compounds present in a mixture are multiplied by their specific TEF value, and the sum is expressed as the TCDD toxic equivalent quotient (TEQ) (van den Berg et al., 2006). This approach, based on the different contribution of each pollutant to the total toxic equivalent (TEQ), makes it possible to carry out a risk assessment for the investigated species.

Taking into account the wide inter-species sensitivity towards different contaminants, it should be highlighted how all analyzed sperm whales surpassed the threshold of 210 pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w. in blubber, proposed as starting point of immunosuppression in harbour seals (Ross et al., 1995). On the other hand, only four Cuvier's beaked whales (20% of the dataset) exceeded the abovementioned limit with the lowest TEQ values amongst those described for other toothed whales in the Mediterranean Sea (Bartalini et al., 2019; Pinzone et al., 2015). The lack of the PCDD/F contribution in the toxicity assessment for Cuvier's beaked whales could be responsible for these lowest levels. However, over 80% of the Cuvier's beaked whales exceeded the lower toxicity threshold of 9 mg/kg l.w. for PCBs, level at which marine mammals suffer physiological

effects (Kannan et al., 2000). Furthermore, three animals (15%) exceeded the higher PCB threshold of 41 mg/kg l.w, proposed as a toxicity limit for reproductive impairment in Baltic ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) (Helle et al., 1976a). While the percentage of animals surpassing these thresholds is lower than what has been observed in striped (Jepson et al., 2016), and bottlenose dolphins (Genov et al., 2019), it is worth noting that some studies have suggested a potential overestimation of the actual risk associated with PCBs when using the lower toxicity threshold (Jepson et al., 2016; Murphy et al., 2018). However, it is crucial to emphasize that various contaminants elicit diverse responses across species. Additionally, the lack of specific investigations on these particular species, along with limited research on marine mammals in general, further complicates the issue.

Interestingly, all sperm whales in this study exhibited the same TEQ pattern (Σ non-*ortho*-DL-PCBs > Σ *ortho*-DL-PCBs > PCDDs > PCDFs), with DL-PCBs as the most abundant pollutants, in agreement with previous investigations on sperm whales, and other cetaceans, from the Mediterranean Sea (Fossi et al., 2004; Pinzone et al., 2015). This draws attention to the fact that, even if PCBs were banned around 40 years ago in most European countries, they continue to pose a significant threat to cetaceans in the Mediterranean Sea, where these contaminants have also been related to cetacean populations' declines (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

Numerous negative impacts on mammalian health have been attributed to the presence of PBDEs in their tissues. These include disturbances in the regulation of steroidal and thyroid hormones (Darnerud, 2003; Zhou et al., 2001), immunotoxic effects (Fowles et al., 1994), as well as reproductive disorders and neurological abnormalities (Siddiqi et al., 2003). PBDEs have also been associated to immunotoxicity in harbor porpoises, pantropical spotted dolphins, sperm whales, striped dolphins, killer whales, long-beaked common dolphins, and some mysticete species such as fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*), bryed's whale (*Balaenoptera edeni*) and minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) (Beineke et al., 2005; Hall et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2020; Marsili et al., 2019; Simond et al., 2019; Villanger, 2011). Furthermore, genotoxicity and cytotoxicity have been described in pantropic spotted dolphins (Rajput et al., 2021). Currently, despite the extensive evidences about the toxic potential of PBDEs in marine mammals, there is no established specific thresholds neither for sperm whales nor for Cuvier's beaked whales. The only available reference value for marine mammals has been established for grey seals, and refers to a threshold of 1500 ng/g l.w. for endocrine disruption (Hall et al., 2003). In the present study, total PBDE

concentrations ranged from 312 to 1390 ng/g l.w. for sperm whales and from 60.0 to 1930 ng/g l.w. for Cuvier's beaked whales. In all age classes of Cuvier's beaked whales, results were below the threshold limit except for one subadult individual. Considering the unknown interspecies sensitivity to these pollutants both in sperm whales and Cuvier's beaked whales, the distinct response to PBDEs among different species cannot be overlooked. Furthermore, apart from interspecies sensitivity, it is important to note that several factors such as age, sex and overall health status can influence the individual response to contaminant concentrations.

Additionally, various factors like habitat loss and degradation, noise pollution, climate related effects, overfishing, entanglement and ship strike, also contribute to the deterioration of these populations. Therefore, it is crucial to gather information about how these chemicals affect poorly studied species and isolated groups of animals. The study of population dynamics, structure and the way they respond to different contamination levels, becomes paramount, particularly in an ecologically significant area like the Mediterranean Sea.

As mentioned before, all Cuvier's beaked whales analyzed in this study (more than 20% of the estimated resident population in the Ligurian Sea) exhibited detectable levels of PCBs, indicating that at least 20% of the population is affected. Furthermore, since 80% of the sampled whales exceeded established toxicity thresholds, it can be inferred that a significant portion of the population may experience detrimental physiological effects, including potential disruptions to their endocrine systems. These findings draw attention to the previously underestimated anthropogenic threat of chemical pollution, which, along with underwater noise disturbance and fishery interaction, emerges as one of the primary threats to the conservation of Cuvier's beaked whales in the Mediterranean Sea (Cañadas et al., 2018; Cañadas and Vázquez, 2014; Podestà et al., 2016) and other areas (Fernández et al., 2005). Recognizing and understanding the exposure and impacts of multiple threats on wild cetaceans is crucial for implementing effective conservation measures for specific populations and, ultimately, safeguarding the survival of the species.

To the best of our knowledge, no toxicity threshold has been established for sardines, anchovies and bogues, until now. Despite POPs having been widely studied for their adverse effects on fish health (Brar et al., 2010; Henry, 2015; Hontela et al., 1992; Teh et al., 1997), determining toxicity thresholds in fish is a complex endeavour due to the wide range of sensitivity of these species. Fish have more aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) genes than other vertebrates, which confer species-

and strain-specific differences in the sensitivity to toxic AhR ligands such as PCDD/Fs and DL-PCBs (Hahn et al., 2005).

Thus, some species have developed adaptive mechanisms and detoxification pathways that allow them to withstand higher levels of contamination, while others may be more susceptible to even low levels of exposure (Hutchinson et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2010). Berninger and Tillitt (2019) performed a meta-analysis on mortality, growth, and reproduction (MGR) using comprehensive literature data from different fish species. They described a concentration-response threshold of $1 \mu g/g$ total PCBs that would result in 17% increase in mortality, 15% inhibition of growth, and 39% inhibition of reproduction. Although this threshold has been established for different species than those considered in our study and therefore with distinct sensitivity to PCB toxicity effects, sardines, anchovies, and bogues inhabiting the Mediterranean Sea appear not to be adversely affected at population level by the presence of these substances.

Species-specific responses to POPs have been previously reported in marine mammals suggesting that some species may be more vulnerable than others. For example, variations in the immune response have been observed for PCBs among different species of odontocetes. Thus, Hammond et al. (2005) demonstrated that exposure to mixed Arochlors at concentrations up to 0.03 μ g/ml resulted in a significant reduction (20-30%) in phagocytosis in harbour seals, while no similar effect was observed in grey seals. Additionally, a study by Levin et al. (2004) reported more pronounced impacts of PCB exposure on the immune system of bottlenose dolphins compared to that of belugas. On the other hand, studies on marine mammals show that the range of effects on the immune system, specifically on the lymphocyte function, varies depending on the type of PCB congener (Peñín et al., 2018).

Limited research on the impacts of POPs on elasmobranch health is responsible for the lack of comprehensive understanding and the absence of established toxicity thresholds. For this reason and considering a certain degree of approximation, we compared the concentrations of PCBs and PBDEs in blue sharks with the aforementioned toxicity thresholds established for marine mammals (Hall et al., 2003; Kannan et al., 2000; Ross et al., 1995). None of the animals included in this study exceeded the toxicity limits, as indicated by average PCB and PBDE values that were significantly lower, from one to three orders of magnitude. Our results, however, emphasized an urgent need of further research focused on assessing the potential consequences of POP concentrations on blue shark populations, and elasmobranchs in general.

It is well known that the study of toxicity thresholds in marine mammals -and marine organisms in general-, is a complex task due to various factors at play. First of all, there are various logistical and ethical limitations inherent in studying mammals that predominantly reside in the ocean, often in remote and inaccessible areas that are only available for study during specific periods of the year, and particular stages of the animals' life cycles (Weijs and Zaccaroni, 2016). Similarly, like other indicators of biological responses, the immune function in marine mammals exhibits variations influenced by numerous biological and ecological factors, including age, sex, health status, and exposure to pathogens, among other variables (Desforges et al., 2016). Moreover, synergistic and cumulative effects from multiple pollutants, as well as congener specific effects, further complicate the establishment of clear toxicity thresholds.

Yet, given the increase in diseases and mass mortality events in marine organisms (Gulland and Hall, 2007; Simeone et al., 2015; Tracy et al., 2019; Ward and Lafferty, 2004), it is imperative to understand how contaminants affect their health status and how this is reflected in the conservation of entire populations. Without species-specific and congener-specific studies linking observable effects with contaminant exposure, we would not be able to estimate the true negative impact exerted on marine organisms.

PBDEs do lack of a standardized methodology for risk assessment and, while a group of seven indicator congeners exists for PCBs, there is not a similar counterpart for PBDEs as of yet (Boalt et al., 2013). Although PBDEs have received less attention from a toxicological standpoint, studies have shown that these compounds can disrupt normal biological processes to a similar extent as PCBs (Chen and Bunce, 2003), and in certain cases, they may exhibit even stronger interferences on physiological functions (Hooper and McDonald, 2000). In the last years, due to the extensive use of the deca-BDE mixture, an increasing concentration of higher brominated congeners has been reported for abiotic and biotic matrices (Olofsson et al., 2012; Su et al., 2015; Verreault et al., 2018). In our study, juvenile Cuvier's beaked whales showed higher contributions of BDE-209, which is probably related to the heightened use of deca-BDE in the last years. The shift of distribution patterns towards higher concentrations of more brominated congeners has been reported in marine mammal populations already impacted by other anthropogenic threats (Jeong et al., 2020; Lebeuf et al., 2014; Rotander et al., 2012; Simond et al., 2017). In addition, levels above the existing threshold value established for marine mammals have been described during the last 30 years in different cetacean species (Alonso et al., 2014). Consequently, it is crucial to conduct toxicological investigations specifically addressed to the determination of species-specific

thresholds, along with the assessment of various endpoints, which have already been established for other POPs such as PCBs and dioxins (Desforges et al., 2016; Kannan et al., 2000; Ross et al., 1995; Schwacke et al., 2012).

As previously mentioned, threshold values derived from toxicity tests are powerful tools to detect and quantify adverse properties of contaminants; yet, the lack of species-specific and congenerspecific limits prevent today from making adequate risk assessments. However, the integration of various advanced omics-based techniques enhances our understanding of the effects of these contaminants. For instance, toxicogenomics is emerging as a crucial tool for understanding how POPs influence genetic responses in marine organisms. Multidisciplinary teams can employ toxicogenomic techniques to explore alterations in gene expression and pathways induced by POP exposure, providing valuable insights into the mechanisms of toxicity (Caballero-Gallardo et al., 2016; Gosse et al., 2008; Liang and Zha, 2016). Metabolomics and proteomics offer complementary perspectives by studying the metabolic and protein changes that can occur in response to POP exposure. These approaches can reveal subtle but critical effects on an organism's physiology that may not be evident through traditional toxicity assessments (Acosta-Tlapalamatl et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2022; Misra et al., 2019; Simond et al., 2022; Zhou et al., 2020). Furthermore, the study of biomarkers, as indicators of biological responses, can reveal the presence of specific POPs, assess oxidative stress levels and identify the activation of detoxification pathways triggered by contamination (Alves et al., 2022; Fossi et al., 2008; Fossi et al., 2014; Panti et al., 2022; Sarkar et al., 2006). Crucially, the integration of these complementary techniques through multidisciplinary studies empowers researchers to develop a holistic understanding of how POPs impact organisms at the molecular, cellular and population levels. This integrated approach could aid in the identification of vulnerable species, the prioritization of mitigation measures, and the formulation of strategies to minimize the detrimental consequences on both ecosystems and human health. Moreover, all this information can contribute to the establishment of regulatory guidelines and monitoring programs to ensure the long-term health and sustainability of marine ecosystems.

6.3. Implications for Human health

Exposure to POPs poses significant concerns for human health due to their potential adverse effects. These toxic compounds accumulated in the environment can enter the human body

through various routes, including ingestion of contaminated food, inhalation of contaminated air, and absorption through the skin (Thakur and Pathania, 2020). POPs have been associated with a range of health risks in humans, including endocrine disruption (Ahmed et al., 2019; Damstra, 2002; Gregoraszczuk and Ptak, 2013), developmental abnormalities (Davidsen et al., 2021; Vuong et al., 2018), immune system impairment (Gascon et al., 2013; Kharrazian, 2021), and increased risk of certain cancers (Han et al., 2019; Hardell et al., 2006). For instance, exposure to PCBs has been linked to adverse neurodevelopmental effects such as autism in children (Berghuis and Roze, 2019; Panesar et al., 2020), while exposure to dioxins has been associated with reproductive disorders (Sofo et al., 2015). Additionally, PBDEs have been associated to developmental neurotoxicity (Costa et al., 2014).

It is well known that the main route of exposure to POPs in humans is dietary intake (more than 90%) (Nadal and Domingo, 2013; Negrete-Bolagay et al., 2021; Swackhamer et al., 2009), with fish consumption representing one of the major contributors (70-80%) for some populations (Kiviranta et al., 2004). To mitigate these risks, protect public health and ensure the safety of food consumption, public authorities have established legal limits for POPs in food. These limits, often referred to tolerable daily or weekly intake (TDI/TWI), vary among countries, and are established based on available scientific evidences and risk assessments conducted by international bodies and regulatory authorities. They represent the maximum amount of these substances that can be consumed daily or weekly over a lifetime without posing significant health risks to the general population.

Seafood and fish represent an important source of protein in several countries and play a crucial role in the local diet and culinary tradition in coastal regions such as those from the Mediterranean basin. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), in 2020 fisheries and aquaculture production reached an all-time record of 214 million tones. Concurrently, a global fish consumption per capita of 20.2 kg was reported, which is more than double the consumption rate from 50 years ago (FAO, 2022). This figure has been steadily increasing over the years, demonstrating the importance of fish as a protein source in many regions. For example, in coastal nations such as Iceland, Japan, and Portugal, fish and seafood can make up a substantial portion of total protein consumption, accounting for over 20% of the animal protein intake (FAO, 2022). Portugal is the second highest consumer of fish in the European Union with 60.92 kg live-weight per capita consumed annually (Golden et al., 2022). On the other hand, the Mediterranean Sea had a lower annual mean consumption of 33.4 kg of fish per capita. Still, it

reported a total fishery production in 2020 of 743,100 tons, with anchovy and sardine as the two most economically valuable commercial species (FAO, 2021).

For all these reasons, and given the increase of fish production and consumption in recent years, we decided to investigate the potential health risk for humans arising from the consumption of the targeted edible species (i.e. sardine, anchovy, bogue, and blue shark). Although blue shark liver is not commonly part of the human diet, shark meat is consumed in many parts of the world. In fact,, blue shark meat and fins contributed to most of the shark consumption worldwide with an estimated global catch of approximately 93,000 tons in 2020 (FAO Species Fact Sheets, 2021).

In this regard, as reported in the Results section (4.3. Toxicity assessment), we found that mean total TEQs and concentrations of the 6 indicator PCBs reported for sardines, bogues and anchovies did not exceed regulated levels in diet established by the European Union.

Taking into account the absence in our calculations of PCDD/F contributions to TEQs (that normally includes both PCDD/Fs and DL-PCBs), our results show that the consumption of these important commercial species might not pose a significant risk for human health derived from their DL-PCB content. Interestingly, the comparison of TEQ concentrations described in our study with those previously published for the same species in the Mediterranean Sea highlights a slow decline of TEQs in this area, since very little differences have been reported in the last 20 years (Table 39).

Although we described levels below the legal limit for the three species analyzed, we should emphasize that sardines reported the highest concentration of TEQs, from 5 to 3 times above those of anchovies and bogues. This means that a fish diet based on sardines could lead to a higher intake of POPs than a diet based on the other two species. This finding agrees with a study of Milićević et al. (2022) in which PCBs and organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) were more abundant in those species with the highest fat content such as sardines and garfish (*Belone belone*). According to the mentioned study, the assessment of daily intake values (DI) for organic compounds (OCPs and PCBs) revealed that anchovies and round sardinellas (*Sardinella aurita*) exhibited lower DI for both OCPs and PCBs. Interestingly, these two species also had the highest content of essential fatty acids (EFAs), further highlighting their nutritional value. In summary, anchovies and round sardinella emerged as favourable options for consumption due to their lower intake of harmful organic compounds and their rich EFA composition.

Reference (year)	Source	Sampling year	Species	pg TEQs/g w.w.
Llobet et al. (2003)	Spanish markets	2000	sardine	2.5
Gómara et al. (2005)	Spanish markets	1995-2003	sardine	1.91
Bocio et al. (2007)	Spanish markets	2005	sardine-anchovy	1.19-1.24
Miniero et al. (2014)	Southern Adriatic Sea Southern Tyrrhenian Sea Ionian Sea	2007-2008	sardine-anchovy	1.76-0.51

Table 39. Mean TEQ concentrations (pg/g w.w.) of DL-PCBs in sardines and anchovies from the Mediterranean Sea.

The three-targeted POP families reported values in muscle of blue sharks from one to two orders of magnitude lower than the established limits; therefore, the consumption of shark meat does not seem to pose significant risks for human health. On the other hand, when we analyzed reported values for liver the scenario was quite different. More than half of the analyzed individuals exceeded the threshold limits established at European level both for the six i-PCBs and for the sum of PCDD/Fs and DL-PCBs. Although shark liver is not typically included in human diet, the consumption of products derived from shark liver is not uncommon.

Concerning PBDEs (congeners BDE-28, -47, -99, -10, -153 and -154), all liver samples and 92% of muscle samples overpassed the EQS established by the European Water Framework Directive (WFD). To the best of our knowledge, a TWI for PBDEs has not yet been established. The only limits set to date are for congeners BDE-47, -99, -153, and -209, and refer to chronic oral reference doses (US Environmental protection Agency) and acute/subchronic minimal risk levels (US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry). As blue sharks analyzed in this study reported concentrations levels below the two limits mentioned above, consumption of this species does not seem to represent a risk for human health.

It is corroborated that the main PBDE congeners in humans are BDE-47, -99 and -153 (Wu et al., 2020); therefore, toxicity limits based on these congeners are a convenient way to obtain a quick and representative picture of the toxicological risk arising from the presence of these contaminants in humans. On the other hand, the shift of PBDE congener profiles to major contributions of higher brominated congeners, reported in different biotic and abiotic matrices in the last years (Olofsson et al., 2012; Su et al., 2015; Verreault et al., 2018), could lead to a change of congener patterns in humans. For instance, in China, a study conducted by Shi et al. (2018) on pooled human milk reported a reduction of BDE-47, -99, -100, and -153, while BDE-183 significantly increased from 2007 to 2011. This is likely due to the increasing consumption of products containing the technical mixture octa-BDE (13-42% BDE183) during that period. Even though specific studies on the toxic effects of BDE-183 in humans are required, it has been

demonstrated in oligochaete that the toxicity of BDE-183 was greater than that of BDE-47 (Chiu et al., 2012). Additionally, a study by Louis et al. (2013) on couple fecundity in humans reported that male partners of couples who did not achieve pregnancy had higher concentrations of BDE-183 compared to those who were successful in achieving pregnancy.

More comprehensive and specific PBDE threshold limits should be established in order to better assessing the risk associated with the presence of these substances in human tissues. The use of different mixtures (Al-Omran and Harrad, 2016), as well as distinct capacity of long-range transport, affect the concentrations and profiles of these contaminants both in humans and the environment (Ueno et al., 2004). At the same time, factors such as proximity to pollution sources (urban center, industrial activities, areas with manufacturing or electronic facilities), geographic differences in diet or cultural practices, as well as climate and weather patterns could influence the accumulation of these substances. In that context, depending solely on existing PBDE limits for humans such as the chronic oral reference doses set by US Environmental Protection Agency or the acute/subchronic minimal risk levels defined by the US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, may not adequately safeguard certain population groups.

7. Conclusions

This doctoral thesis has shed light on several key aspects of the presence of POPs in a selection of marine species. The general conclusion of the thesis emphasizes the pivotal role played by sperm whale, Cuvier's beaked whales, blue sharks, and three fish species as bioindicators of POP pollution in the the study areas. These findings specifically underscore the Mediterranean Sea as a contamination hotspot for marine mammals and draw attention to the elevated levels, occasionally indicating an upward trend, in the northeastern region of the Atlantic Ocean.

The specific conclusions of the different studies carried out are detailed below:

- Levels of POPs found in Mediterranean sperm whales tended to be higher than those reported in the same species worldwide. All sperm whales analyzed surpassed the threshold for WHO-TEQs proposed as starting point of immunosuppression in marine mammals (harbour seals).
- POP levels described in Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales tended to exceed those observed in the same species globally. At the same time, stable or increased POP levels with age in males and decline in sexually mature females Cuvier's beaked whale confirmed offspring transfer through gestation and lactation. Ultimately, 80% of Cuvier's beaked whales were above the threshold for PCBs responsible for physiological effects.
- Levels of PCBs and PCDD/Fs in blue shark showed relatively steady concentrations, whereas greater loads of PBDEs were detected when comparing with previous studies for the same area (North East Atlantic Ocean). This could be the consequence of the recent and incomplete regulations on PBDEs as well as contamination deriving from plastics and microplastics. PCB and PBDE concentrations in blue shark were below the lowest thresholds identified in marine mammals. PCB and PCDD/F levels detected in blue shark muscle (the most consumed part) were within the acceptable European legal limits; however, the majority of blue shark liver samples exceeded the limits for i-PCBs and WHO-TEQs, which becomes significant when considering the potential implications for the consumption of products derived from shark liver oil. Greater accumulation of PCBs,

PBDEs, and PCDD/Fs observed in liver compared to muscle, suggested differences in the toxicokinetics of POPs between the two tissues investigated in blue shark.

 PCB levels found in edible fish species (sardines, anchovies and bogues) were generally not different from values reported for the same species and in the same area in recent years. This underpinned the concept of a virtual halt or very slow decline in PCB concentrations in the Mediterranean Sea. Sardines, anchovies and bogues showed concentrations of PCBs in full compliance with European regulated concentrations in diet; consequently, the PCB content of these edible species seemed not to constitute a current hazard for human health.

Monitoring of legacy and emerging POPs is crucial to understand the trends of POPs and to evaluate the efficacy of the reduction and elimination measures implemented so far. By concurrently exploring toxicity thresholds, we were able to gain insights into the potential risks and adverse effects linked to the observed levels in the species under study. It is clear that gaining deeper insights into the impact of pollution on the health of wildlife, particularly those facing multiple anthropogenic stressors, such as the relatively understudied Cuvier's beak whale, is essential.

Additionally, continuous and effective monitoring of POPs in edible fish species is essential for the assessment of risk associated with the consumption of POP-contaminated fish. Toxicity risk assessment represents a crucial tool for regulatory authorities when establishing guidelines and limits for POPs in food to ensure food safety and protect public health.

Additionally, our study highlights the significance of exploring species-specific behaviors in the context of pollutant exposure. The variability observed in data from different species underscore the necessity for further investigation.

As an overarching conclusion, these interconnected findings justify the ongoing concern about POPs and stress the urgency of addressing chemical pollution as a significant threat to marine species. This, in turn, emphasizes the critical importance of continuous research and monitoring of POPs, to support conservation initiatives aimed to safeguard our oceans as essential components of global health.

8. Bibliography

- Abbas, M., Dia, S., Deutsch, E.S., Alameddine, I., 2022. Analyzing eutrophication and harmful algal bloom dynamics in a deep Mediterranean hypereutrophic reservoir. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 30(13), 37607–37621. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-24804-w
- Abbasi, G., Li, L., Breivik, K., 2019. Global historical stocks and emissions of PBDEs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53(11), 6330–6340. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b07032
- Abramowicz, D.A., 1990. Aerobic and anaerobic biodegradation of PCBs: a review. Crit. Rev. Biotechnol. 10(3), 241–251. https://doi.org/10.3109/07388559009038210
- Abulafia, D. ed., 2003. The Mediterranean in history. Getty publications. https://doi.org/10.32028/jga.v2i.632
- Acosta-Tlapalamatl, M., Romo-Gómez, C., Anaya-Hernández, A., Juárez-Santacruz, L., Gaytán-Oyarzún, J.C., Acevedo-Sandoval, O.A., García-Nieto, E., 2022. Metabolomics: A new approach in the evaluation of effects in human beings and wildlife associated with environmental exposition to POPs. Toxics 10(7), 380. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics10070380
- Adams, C.E., Godfrey, J.D., Dodd, J.A., Maitland, P.S., 2013. Is proximity to the North Atlantic Drift and the Continental Shelf Current sustaining freshwater European eel populations in western Scotland? Freshw. Biol. 58(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12021
- Addison, R.F., Muir, D.C.G., Ikonomou, M.G., Dubetz, C., Smith, T.G., Alikamik, J., 2020. Temporal trends in polybrominated diphenylethers (PBDEs) in blubber of ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) from Ulukhaktok, NT, Canada between 1981 and 2015. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 79, 167–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-020-00749-4
- Aguilar, A., 1983. Organochlorine pollution in sperm whales, *Physeter macrocephalus*, from the temperate waters of the eastern North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 14(9), 349–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-326X(83)90397-1
- Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., 1994. Abnormally high polychlorinated biphenyl levels in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) affected by the 1990–1992 Mediterranean epizootic. Sci. Total Environ. 154(2-3), 237–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(94)90091-4
- Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Pastor, T., 1999. Biological factors affecting variability of persistent pollutant levels in cetaceans. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 1, 83–116. https://doi.org/10.47536/jcrm.v1i1.264
- Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Reijnders, P.J., 2002. Geographical and temporal variation in levels of organochlorine contaminants in marine mammals. Mar. Environ. Res. 538(5), 425–452.
- Ahmed, K.E.M., Frøysa, H.G., Karlsen, O.A., Blaser, N., Zimmer, K.E., Berntsen, H.F., Verhaegen, S., Ropstad, E., Kellmann, R., Goksøyr, A., 2019. Effects of defined mixtures of POPs and endocrine disruptors on the steroid metabolome of the human H295R adrenocortical cell line. Chemosphere 218, 328–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.11.057
- Akutsu, K., Kitagawa, M., Nakazawa, H., Makino, T., Iwazaki, K., Oda, H., Hori, S., 2003. Time-trend (1973– 2000) of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in Japanese mother's milk. Chemosphere 53(6), 645–654. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00764-1
- Al-Omran, L.S., Harrad, S., 2016. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and "novel" brominated flame retardants in floor and elevated surface house dust from Iraq: Implications for human exposure assessment. Emerg. Contam. 2(1), 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emcon.2015.10.001
- Albaigés, J., 2005. Persistent organic pollutants in the Mediterranean Sea. In: Saliot, A. (eds) The Mediterranean Sea. Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 5K. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/b107145
- Albaigés, J., Farrán, A., Soler, M., Gallifa, A., Martin, P., 1987. Accumulation and distribution of biogenic and

pollutant hydrocarbons, pcbs and ddt in tissues of western mediterranean fishes. Mar. Environ. Res. 22(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/0141-1136(87)90078-X

- Alcock, R.E., Jones, K.C., 1996. Dioxins in the environment: a review of trend data. Environ. Sci. Technol. 30(11), 3133–3143. https://doi.org/10.1021/es960306z
- Alonso, M.B., Azevedo, A., Torres, J.P.M., Dorneles, P.R., Eljarrat, E., Barceló, D., Lailson-Brito, J., Malm, O., 2014. Anthropogenic PBDE and naturally-produced MeO-PBDE brominated compounds in cetaceans A review. Sci. Total Environ. 481, 619–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.02.022
- Aluru, N., Jorgensen, E.H., Maule, A.G., Vijayan, M.M., 2004. PCB disruption of the hypothalamus-pituitaryinterrenal axis involves brain glucocorticoid receptor downregulation in anadromous Arctic charr. Am. J. Physiol. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 287(4), R787–R793. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00091.2004
- Alves, L.M.F., Lemos, M.F.L., Cabral, H., Novais, S.C., 2022. Elasmobranchs as bioindicators of pollution in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 176, 113418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.113418
- Alves, L.M.F., Lemos, M.F.L., Moutinho, A.B., Ceia, F.R., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Jiménez, B., Cabral, H., Novais, S.C., 2023. Assessment of contaminants in blue sharks from the Northeast Atlantic: profiles, accumulation dynamics, and risks for human consumers. Environ. Pollut. 316, 120467. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120467
- Alves, L.M.F., Nunes, M., Marchand, P., Le Bizec, B., Mendes, S., Correia, J.P.S., Lemos, M.F.L., Novais, S.C., 2016. Blue sharks (*Prionace glauca*) as bioindicators of pollution and health in the Atlantic Ocean: contamination levels and biochemical stress responses. Sci. Total Environ. 563, 282–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.085
- Ambrose, S., Florian, C., Ritchie, R.J., Payer, D., O'brien, R.M., 2016. Recovery of American peregrine falcons along the upper Yukon River, Alaska. J. Wildl. Manage. 80(40), 609–620. https://doi.org/10.1002/jwmg.1058

Andersen, J.H., Caetano, M., Grouhel-Pellouin, A., Harvey, E.T., Reker, J., Murray, C.J., 2022. Mapping of contamination problem areas in Europe's seas using a multi-metric indicator-based assessment tool. Front. Mar. Sci. 9, 1037914. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.1037914

- Andersson, Ö., Blomkvist, G., 1981. Polybrominated aromatic pollutants found in fish in Sweden. Chemosphere 10(9), 1051–1060. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(81)90216-2
- Andvik, C., Haug, T., Lyche, J.L., Borgå, K., 2023. Emerging and legacy contaminants in common minke whale from the Barents sea. Environ. Pollut. 319, 121001. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2023.121001
- Anezaki, K., Matsuda, A., Matsuishi, T., 2016. Concentration and congener pattern of polychlorinated biphenyls in blubber and liver of Hubbs' beaked whale (*Mesoplodon carlhubbsi*), using a sulfoxide and an Ag-ION solid phase extraction cartridge as a simplified cleanup technique for biological samples. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 113(1-2), 282–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.09.051
- Antunes, P., Gil, O., 2004. PCB and DDT contamination in cultivated and wild sea bass from Ria de Aveiro, Portugal. Chemosphere 54(10), 1503–1507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2003.08.029
- Arcand-Hoy, L.D., Benson, W.H., 1998. Fish reproduction: An ecologically relevant indicator of endocrine disruption. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 17(1), 49–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620170108
- Arechavala-Lopez, P., Sanchez-Jerez, P., Bayle-Sempere, J., Fernandez-Jover, D., Martinez-Rubio, L., Lopez-Jimenez, J.A., Martinez-Lopez, F.J., 2011. Direct interaction between wild fish aggregations at fish farms and fisheries activity at fishing grounds: a case study with *Boops boops*. Aquac. Res. 42(7), 996– 1010. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2010.02683.x
- Arkoosh, M., Casillas, E., Clemons, E., Mccain, B., Varanasi, U., 1991. Suppression of immunological memory in juvenile chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) from an urban estuary. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 1(4), 261–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1050-4648(05)80065-8
- Arkoosh, M.R., Casillas, E., Clemons, E., Kagley, A.N., Olson, R., Reno, P., Stein, J.E., 1998. Effect of pollution

on fish diseases: potential impacts on salmonid populations. J. Aquat. Anim. Health 10(2), 182–190. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8667(1998)010<0182:EOPOFD>2.0.CO;2

- Arukwe, A., 2001. Cellular and molecular responses to endocrine-modulators and the impact on fish reproduction. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 42(8), 643–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(01)00062-5
- Aslam, I., Baqar, M., Qadir, A., Mumtaz, M., Li, J., Zhang, G., 2021. Polychlorinated biphenyls in indoor dust from urban dwellings of Lahore, Pakistan: Congener profile, toxicity equivalency, and human health implications. Indoor Air 31(5), 1417–1426. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12788
- ATSDR, 1998. Toxicological profile for chlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (CDDs). Agency for Toxic Substances and Diseases Registry, Atlanta, GA.
- Avellan, A., Duarte, A., Rocha-Santos, T., 2022. Organic contaminants in marine sediments and seawater: A review for drawing environmental diagnostics and searching for informative predictors. Sci. Total Environ. 808, 152012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.152012
- Avio, C.G., Gorbi, S., Milan, M., Benedetti, M., Fattorini, D., d'Errico, G., Pauletto, M., Bargelloni, L., Regoli,
 F., 2015. Pollutants bioavailability and toxicological risk from microplastics to marine mussels. Environ.
 Pollut. 198, 211–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2014.12.021
- Axelman, J., Gustafsson, Ö., 2002. Global sinks of PCBs: a critical assessment of the vapor-phase hydroxy radical sink emphasizing field diagnostics and model assumptions. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 16(4), 58-1. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002gb001904
- Aznar-Alemany, Ò., Sala, B., Jobst, K.J., Reiner, E.J., Borrell, A., Aguilar, À., Eljarrat, E., 2021. Temporal trends of halogenated and organophosphate contaminants in striped dolphins from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 753, 142205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142205
- Azzellino, A., Lanfredi, C., D'Amico, A., Pavan, G., Podestà, M., Haun, J., 2011. Risk mapping for sensitive species to underwater anthropogenic sound emissions: model development and validation in two Mediterranean areas. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 63(1-4), 56–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.01.003
- Baba, T., Ito, S., Yuasa, M., Yoshioka, E., Miyashita, C., Araki, A., Sasaki, S., Kobayashi, S., Kajiwara, J., Hori, T., Kato, S., Kishi, R., 2018. Association of prenatal exposure to PCDD/Fs and PCBs with maternal and infant thyroid hormones: The Hokkaido Study on Environment and Children's Health. Sci. Total Environ. 615, 1239–1246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.09.038
- Bachman, M.J., Keller, J.M., West, K.L., Jensen, B.A., 2014. Persistent organic pollutant concentrations in blubber of 16 species of cetaceans stranded in the Pacific Islands from 1997 through 2011. Sci. Total Environ. 488, 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.04.073
- Baeyens, W., Leermakers, M., Elskens, M., Van Larebeke, N., De Bont, R., Vanderperren, H., Fontaine, A., Degroodt, J.-M., Goeyens, L., Hanot, V., Windal, I., 2007. PCBs and PCDD/Fs in fish and fish products and their impact on the human body burden in Belgium. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 52, 563–571. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-005-0266-6
- Baibergenova, A., Kudyakov, R., Zdeb, M., Carpenter, D.O., 2003. Low birth weight and residential proximity to PCB-contaminated waste sites. Environ. Health Perspect. 111(10), 1352–1357. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.6053
- Baini, M., Panti, C., Fossi, M.C., Tepsich, P., Jiménez, B., Coomber, F., Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J.,
 Moulins, A., Rosso, M., 2020. First assessment of POPs and cytochrome P450 expression in Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*) skin biopsies from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Rep. 10(1), 21891. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-78962-3
- Baird, R.W., 2018. Cuvier's Beaked Whale. In: Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Elsevier, 234–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804327-1.00100-X
- Bakir, A., Rowland, S.J., Thompson, R.C., 2014. Enhanced desorption of persistent organic pollutants from microplastics under simulated physiological conditions. Environ. Pollut. 185, 16–23.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.10.007

- Barale, V., Jaquet, J.-M., Ndiaye, M., 2008. Algal blooming patterns and anomalies in the Mediterranean Sea as derived from the SeaWiFS data set (1998–2003). Remote Sens. Environ. 112(8), 3300–3313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.10.014
- Baran, A., Mierzwa-Hersztek, M., Urbaniak, M., Gondek, K., Tarnawski, M., Szara, M., Zieliński, M., 2020. An assessment of the concentrations of PCDDs/Fs in contaminated bottom sediments and their sources and ecological risk. J. Soils Sediments 20, 2588–2597. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-019-02492-3
- Barboutis, C., Navarrete, E., Karris, G., Xirouchakis, S., Fransson, T., Bounas, A., 2022. Arriving depleted after crossing of the Mediterranean: obligatory stopover patterns underline the importance of Mediterranean islands for migrating birds. Anim. Migr. 9(1), 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1515/ami-2022-0117
- Barone, G., Storelli, A., Garofalo, R., Mallamaci, R., Quaglia, N.C., Storelli, M.M., 2018. PCBs and PCDD/Fs in bluefin tuna: occurrence and dietary intake. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 15(5), 911. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15050911
- Barouki, R., Aggerbeck, M., Aggerbeck, L., Coumoul, X., 2012. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor system. Drug Metabol. Drug Interact. 27(1), 3-8. https://doi.org/10.1515/dmdi-2011-0035
- Barraza, A.D., Komoroske, L.M., Allen, C.D., Eguchi, T., Gossett, R., Holland, E., Lawson, D.D., LeRoux, R.A., Lorenzi, V., Seminoff, J.A., Lowe, C.G., 2020. Persistent organic pollutants in green sea turtles (*Chelonia mydas*) inhabiting two urbanized Southern California habitats. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 153, 110979. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.110979
- Barrera-García, A., O'Hara, T., Galván-Magaña, F., Méndez-Rodríguez, L.C., Castellini, J.M., Zenteno-Savín, T., 2013. Trace elements and oxidative stress indicators in the liver and kidney of the blue shark (*Prionace glauca*). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 165(4), 483–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2013.01.024
- Barrera-García, A., O'Hara, T., Galván-Magaña, F., Méndez-Rodríguez, L.C., Castellini, J.M., Zenteno-Savín, T., 2012. Oxidative stress indicators and trace elements in the blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) off the east coast of the Mexican Pacific Ocean. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part C Toxicol. Pharmacol. 156(2), 59–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2012.04.003
- Barrett, J.R., 2013. POPs vs. fat: persistent organic pollutant toxicity targets and is modulated by adipose tissue. Environ. Health Perspect. 121(2), a61-a61. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.121-a61
- Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Baini, M., Panti, C., Galli, M., Giani, D., Fossi, M.C., Jiménez, B., 2020.
 Relevance of current PCB concentrations in edible fish species from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 737, 139520. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139520
- Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., García-Álvarez, N., Fernández, A., Jiménez, B., 2022. Global PBDE contamination in cetaceans. A critical review. Environ. Pollut. 308, 119670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119670
- Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Marsili, L., Mazzariol, S., Fossi, M.C., Jiménez, B., 2019. Evaluation of PCDD/Fs, dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs in sperm whales from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 653, 1417–1425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.436
- Bartell, S.M., 2006. Biomarkers, bioindicators, and ecological risk assessment—a brief review and evaluation. Environ. Bioindic. 1(1), 60–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/15555270591004920
- Baughman, R., Meselson, M., 1973. An analytical method for detecting TCDD (dioxin): levels of TCDD in samples from Vietnam. Environ. Health Perspect. 5, 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.730527
- Bayarri, S., Baldassarri, L.T., Iacovella, N., Ferrara, F., Di Domenico, A. di, 2001. PCDDs, PCDFs, PCBs and DDE in edible marine species from the Adriatic Sea. Chemosphere, 43(4-7), 601–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00412-4
- Bearzi, G., Politi, E., Agazzi, S., Azzellino, A., 2006. Prey depletion caused by overfishing and the decline of

marine megafauna in eastern Ionian Sea coastal waters (central Mediterranean). Biol. Conserv. 127(4), 373–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.08.017

- Bedford, J., Ostle, C., Johns, D.G., Atkinson, A., Best, M., Bresnan, E., Machairopoulou, M., Graves, C.A., Devlin, M., Milligan, A., Pitois, S., Mellor, A., Tett, P., McQuatters-Gollop, A., 2020. Lifeform indicators reveal large-scale shifts in plankton across the North-West European shelf. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26(6), 3482–3497. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15066
- Beineke, A., Siebert, U., McLachlan, M., Bruhn, R., Thron, K., Failing, K., Müller, G., Baumgärtner, W., 2005. Investigations of the potential influence of environmental contaminants on the thymus and spleen of harbor porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*). Environ. Sci. Technol. 39(11), 3933–3938. https://doi.org/10.1021/es048709j
- Beland, P., 1996. Beluga: A Farewell To Whales. 1st Editio. ed. Burford & Lyons.
- Ben Ameur, W., El Megdiche, Y., Eljarrat, E., Ben Hassine, S., Badreddine, B., Souad, T., Bèchir, H., Barceló, D., Ridha Driss, M., 2013. Organochlorine and organobromine compounds in a benthic fish (*Sole solea*) from Bizerte Lagoon (northern Tunisia): implications for human exposure. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 88, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.10.021
- Bengtson Nash, S.M., 2018. Toxicological risks and considerations associated with lipophilic contaminant burdens of Southern Ocean mysticetes, in: Marine mammal ecotoxicology: impacts of multiple stressors on population health. Academic Press, 381–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00014-0
- Benn, A.R., Weaver, P.P., Billet, D.S.M., van den Hove, S., Murdock, A.P., Doneghan, G.B., Le Bas, T., 2010.
 Human activities on the deep seafloor in the North East Atlantic: an assessment of spatial extent. PLoS One 5(9), 12730. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0012730
- Bennett, D.H., Moran, R.E., Wu, X.M., Tulve, N.S., Clifton, M.S., Colón, M., Weathers, W., Sjödin, A., Jones, R., Hertz-Picciotto, I., 2015. Polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) concentrations and resulting exposure in homes in California: relationships among passive air, surface wipe and dust concentrations, and temporal variability. Indoor Air 25(2), 220–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/ina.12130
- Berger, M.L., Shaw, S.D., Rolsky, C.B., Chen, D., Sun, J., Rosing-Asvid, A., Granquist, S.M., Simon, M., Bäcklin,
 B.-M., Roos, A.M., 2023. Alternative and legacy flame retardants in marine mammals from three northern ocean regions. Environ. Pollut. 335, 122255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2023.122255
- Berghuis, S.A., Roze, E., 2019. Prenatal exposure to PCBs and neurological and sexual/pubertal development from birth to adolescence. Curr. Probl. Pediatr. Adolesc. Health Care 49(6), 133–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cppeds.2019.04.006
- Berninger, J.P., Tillitt, D.E., 2019. Polychlorinated biphenyl tissue-concentration thresholds for survival, growth, and reproduction in fish. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 38(4), 712–736. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4335
- Berrojalbiz, N., Castro-Jiménez, J., Mariani, G., Wollgast, J., Hanke, G., Dachs, J., 2014. Atmospheric occurrence, transport and deposition of polychlorinated biphenyls and hexachlorobenzene in the Mediterranean and Black seas. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 14(17), 8947–8959. https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-14-8947-2014
- Beyer, A., Biziuk, M., 2009. Environmental fate and global distribution of polychlorinated biphenyls. Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 201, 137-158. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-0032-6_5
- Bianchi, C.N., Morri, C., 2000. Marine biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: situation, problems and prospects for future research. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 40(5), 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(00)00027-8
- Bizsel, C., Kara, M.H., Pollard, D., Yokes, B., Goren, M., Francour, P., 2011. *Boops boops* (Mediterranean assessment). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2011: e.T170251A6731807. Accessed on 24

October 2023. URL: https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/170251/6731807

- Bjørndal, T., 2009. Overview, roles, and performance of the North East Atlantic fisheries commission (NEAFC). Mar. Policy 33(4), 685–697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2009.01.007
- Boalt, E., Nyberg, E., Bignert, A., Hedman, J., Danielson, S., 2013. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) and dioxins and furans. HELCOM Core Indicator Report. HELCOM online.
- Bocio, A., Domingo, J.L., Falcó, G., Llobet, J.M., 2007. Concentrations of PCDD/PCDFs and PCBs in fish and seafood from the Catalan (Spain) market: estimated human intake. Environ. Int. 33(2), 170–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2006.09.005
- Boer, J. de, Wester, P.G., Pastor i Rodriguez, D., 1998. Polybrominated biphenyls and dipheylethers in sperm whales and other marine mammals - a new threat to ocean life?. Dioxin'98: 18th symposium on halogenated environmental organic pollutants, Stockholm, Sweden, August 17-21, 35, 383-386. https://doi.org/10.3/JQUERY-UI.JS
- Boldrocchi, G., Monticelli, D., Omar, Y.M., Bettinetti, R., 2019. Trace elements and POPs in two commercial shark species from Djibouti: implications for human exposure. Sci. Total Environ. 669, 637–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.122
- Bonanno, G., Vymazal, J., 2017. Compartmentalization of potentially hazardous elements in macrophytes: Insights into capacity and efficiency of accumulation. J. Geochemical Explor. 181, 22–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gexplo.2017.06.018
- Bongiorni, L., Mea, M., Gambi, C., Pusceddu, A., Taviani, M., Danovaro, R., 2010. Deep-water scleractinian corals promote higher biodiversity in deep-sea meiofaunal assemblages along continental margins.
 Biol. Conserv. 143(7), 1687–1700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.04.009
- Bonito, L.T., Hamdoun, A., Sandin, S.A., 2016. Evaluation of the global impacts of mitigation on persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic pollutants in marine fish. PeerJ. 4, e1573. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1573
- Boon, J.P., Lewis, W.E., Goksøyr, A., 2000. In vitro biotransformation of organohalogens by sperm whale microsomes in relation to the CYP-isozymes present. Mar. Environ. Res. 50(1-5), 64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-1136(00)00140-9
- Boon, J.P., Meer, J. van der, Allchin, C.R., Law, R.J., Klungsøyr, J., Leonards, P.E.G., Spliid, H., Storr-Hansen, E., Mckenzie, C., Wells, D.E., 1997. Concentration-dependent changes of PCB patterns in fish-eating mammals: structural evidence for induction of cytochrome P450. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 33, 298–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002449900257
- Borja, J., Taleon, D.M., Auresenia, J., Gallardo, S., 2005. Polychlorinated biphenyls and their biodegradation. Process Biochem. 40(60), 1999–2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2004.08.006
- Borrell, A., 1993. PCB and DDT in blubber of cetaceans from the northeastern north Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 26(3), 146–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-326X(93)90125-4
- Borrell, A., Bloch, D., Desportes, G., 1995. Age trends and reproductive transfer of organochlorine compounds in long-finned pilot whales from the Faroe Islands. Environ. Pollut. 88(3), 283–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(95)93441-2
- Bossart, G.D., 2011. Marine mammals as sentinel species for oceans and human health. Vet. Pathol. 48(3), 676–690. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985810388525
- Bossart, G.D., Duignan, P.J., 2018. Emerging viruses in marine mammals. CAB Rev. 13(52), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1079/PAVSNNR201813052
- Bowen, W., 1997. Role of marine mammals in aquatic ecosystems. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 158, 267–274. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps158267
- Brar, N.K., Waggoner, C., Reyes, J.A., Fairey, R., Kelley, K.M., 2010. Evidence for thyroid endocrine disruption in wild fish in San Francisco Bay, California, USA. Relationships to contaminant exposures.

Aquat. Toxicol. 96(3), 203-215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.10.023

- Brehmer, P., Gerlotto, F., Laurent, C., Cotel, P., Achury, A., Samb, B., 2007. Schooling behaviour of small pelagic fish: phenotypic expression of independent stimuli. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 334, 263–272. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps334263
- Breivik, K., Alcock, R., Li, Y.-F., Bailey, R.E., Fiedler, H., Pacyna, J.M., 2004. Primary sources of selected POPs: regional and global scale emission inventories. Environ. Pollut. 128(1-2), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2003.08.031

Breivik, K., Sweetman, A., Pacyna, J.M., Jones, K.C., 2007. Towards a global historical emission inventory for selected PCB congeners — a mass balance approach. 2. Emissions. Sci. Total Environ. 290(1-3), 199–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.02.026

- Bright, D.A., Grundy, S.L., Reimer, K.J., 1995. Differential bioaccumulation of non-ortho-substituted and other PCB congeners in coastal Arctic invertebrates and fish. Environ. Sci. Technol. 29(10), 2504–2512. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00010a008
- Brouwer, A., Ahlborg, U.G., Rolaf van Leeuwen, F.X., Mark Feeley, M., G. Ahlborg, U., Beck, H., Brouwer, B., Carlsen, A., Feeley, M., Helge, H., Larsen, J.-J., Larsen, J.C., Larsen, E., Neubert, D., Rolaf van Leeuwen, F.X., Younes, M., 1998. Report of the who working group on the assessment of health risks for human infants from exposure to PCDDs, PCDFs and PCBs. Chemosphere 37(9-12), 1627–1643. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(98)00230-6
- Brown, T.M., Ross, P.S., Reimer, K.J., 2016. Transplacental transfer of polychlorinated biphenyls, polybrominated diphenylethers, and organochlorine pesticides in ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*). Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 70, 20–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-015-0191-2
- Bruner-Tran, K.L., Osteen, K.G., 2010. Dioxin-like PCBs and endometriosis. Syst. Biol. Reprod. Med. 56(2), 132–146. https://doi.org/10.3109/19396360903381023
- Buha Djordjevic, A., Antonijevic, E., Curcic, M., Milovanovic, V., Antonijevic, B., 2020. Endocrine-disrupting mechanisms of polychlorinated biphenyls. Curr. Opin. Toxicol. 19, 42–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cotox.2019.10.006
- Bundone, L., Panou, A., Molinaroli, E., 2019. On sightings of vagrant monk seals (*Monachus monachus*), in the Mediterranean Basin and their importance for the conservation of the species. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 29(4), 554–563. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.3005
- Burger, J., 2006. Bioindicators: a review of their use in the environmental literature 1970–2005. Environ. Bioindic. 1(2), 136–144. https://doi.org/10.1080/15555270600701540
- Burger, J., Gochfeld, M., 2001. On developing bioindicators for human and ecological health. Environ. Monit. Assess. 66(1), 23-46. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026476030728
- Caballero-Gallardo, K., Olivero-Verbel, J., L. Freeman, J., 2016. Toxicogenomics to evaluate endocrine disrupting effects of environmental chemicals using the zebrafish model. Curr. Genomics 17(6), 515–527. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389202917666160513105959
- Carson, R., 1962. Silent spring. Penguin books.
- Çakıroğulları, G.Ç., Uçar, Y., Oymael, B., Bozkurt, E.N., Kılıç, D., 2010. PCDD/F, dl-PCB and indicator PCBs in whiting, horse mackerel and anchovy in Black Sea in Turkey. Turkish J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 10(3), 357–362. 10.4194/trjfas.2010.0308
- Cañadas, A., Aguilar de Soto, N., Aissi, M., Arcangeli, A., Azzolin, M., B-Nagy, A., Bearzi, G., Campana, I., Chicote, C., Cotte, C., Crosti, R., David, L., Di Natale, A., Fortuna, C., Frantzis, A., Garcia, P., Gazo, M., Gutierrez-Xarxa, R., Holcer, D., Laran, S., Lauriano, G., Lewis, T., Moulins, A., Mussi, B., Notarbartolo di Sciara, G., Panigada, S., Pastor, X., Politi, E., Pulcini, M., Raga, J.A., Rendell, L., Rosso, M., Tepsich, P., Tomás, J., Tringali, M., Roger, T., 2018. The challenge of habitat modelling for threatened low density species using heterogeneous data: the case of Cuvier's beaked whales in the Mediterranean. Ecol. Indic. 85, 128–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.10.021

- Cañadas, A., Notarbartolo Di Sciara, G., 2018. IUCN: *Ziphius cavirostris* (Mediterranean subpopulation) [WWW Document]. IUCN Red List Threat. Species 2018. Accessed on 20 August 2023. https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-2.RLTS.T16381144A199549199.en.
- Cañadas, A., Vázquez, J.A., 2014. Conserving Cuvier's beaked whales in the Alboran Sea (SW Mediterranean): identification of high density areas to be avoided by intense man-made sound. Biol. Conserv. 178, 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.07.018
- Cao, L.-Y., Zheng, Z., Ren, X.-M., Andersson, P.L., Guo, L.-H., 2018. Structure-dependent activity of polybrominated diphenyl ethers and their hydroxylated metabolites on estrogen related receptor γ: in vitro and in silico study. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52(15), 8894–8902. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b02509
- Cao, X., Ji, L., Lin, X., Stevens, W.R., Tang, M., Shang, F., Tang, S., Lu, S., 2018. Comprehensive diagnosis of PCDD/F emission from three hazardous waste incinerators. R. Soc. Open Sci. 5(7), 172056. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.172056
- Cao, X., Lu, R., Xu, Q., Zheng, X., Zeng, Y., Mai, B., 2023. Distinct biomagnification of chlorinated persistent organic pollutants in adjacent aquatic and terrestrial food webs. Environ. Pollut. 317, 120841. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.120841
- Cao, Z., Fiedler, H., Wang, B., Zhang, T., Yu, G., Huang, J., Deng, S., 2013. Economic status as a determinant of national PCDD/PCDF releases and implications for PCDD/PCDF reduction. Chemosphere 91(3), 328– 335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.11.054
- Capanni, F., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Marsili, L., Fossi, M.C., Jiménez, B., 2020. Assessment of PCDD/Fs, dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs in Mediterranean striped dolphins. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 156, 111207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111207
- Cappelletti, N., Speranza, E., Tatone, L., Astoviza, M., Migoya, M.C., Colombo, J.C., 2015. Bioaccumulation of dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs by detritus-feeding fish in the Rio de la Plata estuary, Argentina. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 7093–7100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3935-z
- Carney, S.A., Prasch, A.L., Heideman, W., Peterson, R.E., 2006. Understanding dioxin developmental toxicity using the zebrafish model. Birth Defects Res. Part A Clin. Mol. Teratol. 76(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1002/bdra.20216
- Carpenter, A., 2019. Oil pollution in the North Sea: the impact of governance measures on oil pollution over several decades. Hydrobiologia 845(1), 109–127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-018-3559-2
- Carr, J.A., Patiño, R., 2011. The hypothalamus–pituitary–thyroid axis in teleosts and amphibians: endocrine disruption and its consequences to natural populations. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 170(2), 299–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.06.001
- Carter, C.D., Kimbrough, R.D., Liddle, J.A., Cline, R.E., Zack, M.M., Barthel, W.F., Koehler, R.E., Phillips, P.E., 1975. Tetrachlorodibenzodioxin: an accidental poisoning episode in horse arenas. Science. 188(41-89), 738–740. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1168366
- Casale, P., Broderick, A., Camiñas, J., Cardona, L., Carreras, C., Demetropoulos, A., Fuller, W., Godley, B., Hochscheid, S., Kaska, Y., Lazar, B., Margaritoulis, D., Panagopoulou, A., Rees, A., Tomás, J., Türkozan, O., 2018. Mediterranean sea turtles: current knowledge and priorities for conservation and research. Endanger. Species Res. 36, 229–267. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00901
- Castro-Jiménez, J., Bănaru, D., Chen, C.T., Jiménez, B., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Deviller, G., Sempéré, R., 2021. Persistent organic pollutants burden, trophic magnification and risk in a pelagic food web from coastal NW Mediterranean Sea. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55(14), 9557–9568. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c00904
- Castro-Jiménez, J., Rotllant, G., Ábalos, M., Parera, J., Dachs, J., Company, J.B., Calafat, A., Abad, E., 2013. Accumulation of dioxins in deep-sea crustaceans, fish and sediments from a submarine canyon (NW Mediterranean). Prog. Oceanogr. 118, 260–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2013.07.017

- Ceia, F.R., Cherel, Y., Silva, A. V., Garrido, S., Angélico, M.M., da Silva, J.M., Laranjeiro, M.I., Ramos, J.A., 2023. Drivers of niche partitioning in a community of mid-trophic level epipelagic species in the North Atlantic. Hydrobiologia 850(7), 1583–1599. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-023-05160-3
- Chen, G., Bunce, N.J., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers as Ah receptor agonists and antagonists. Toxicol. Sci. 76(2), 310–320. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfg236
- Chen, W., Liu, J., Hou, X., Jiang, G., 2023. A review on biological occurrence, bioaccumulation, transmission and metabolism of chlorinated paraffins. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2023.2246615
- Cheng, Z., Zhang, X., Bassig, B., Hauser, R., Holford, T.R., Zheng, E., Shi, D., Zhu, Y., Schwartz, S.M., Chen, C., Shi, K., Yang, B., Qian, Z., Boyle, P., Zheng, T., 2021. Serum polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) levels and risk of testicular germ cell tumors: a population-based case-control study in Connecticut and Massachusetts. Environ. Pollut. 273, 116458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.116458
- Chiu, K.H., Lin, C.-R., Huang, H.-W., Shiea, J., Liu, L.L., 2012. Toxic effects of two brominated flame retardants BDE-47 and BDE-183 on the survival and protein expression of the tubificid *Monopylephorus limosus*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 84, 46–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.06.022
- Chiuchiolo, A.L., Dickhut, R.M., Cochran, M.A., Ducklow, H.W., 2004. Persistent organic pollutants at the base of the Antarctic marine food web. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38(13), 3551–3557. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0351793
- Chua, E.M., Shimeta, J., Nugegoda, D., Morrison, P.D., Clarke, B.O., 2014. Assimilation of polybrominated diphenyl ethers from microplastics by the marine amphipod, *Allorchestes compressa*. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48(14), 8127–8134. https://doi.org/10.1021/es405717z
- Chynel, M., Munschy, C., Bely, N., Héas-Moisan, K., Pollono, C., Jaquemet, S., 2021. Legacy and emerging organic contaminants in two sympatric shark species from Reunion Island (Southwest Indian Ocean): levels, profiles and maternal transfer. Sci. Total Environ. 751, 141807. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141807
- Clarke, B., Porter, N., Symons, R., Marriott, P., Ades, P., Stevenson, G., Blackbeard, J., 2008. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and polybrominated biphenyls in Australian sewage sludge. Chemosphere 73(6), 980–989. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.06.034
- Claudet, J., Fraschetti, S., 2010. Human-driven impacts on marine habitats: a regional meta-analysis in the Mediterranean Sea. Biol. Conserv. 143(9), 2195–2206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.06.004
- Coakley, J.D., Harrad, S.J., Goosey, E., Ali, N., Dirtu, A.-C., Van den Eede, N., Covaci, A., Douwes, J., Mannetje, A. 't, 2013. Concentrations of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in matched samples of indoor dust and breast milk in New Zealand. Environ. Int. 59, 255–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.06.020
- Codina-García, M., Militão, T., Moreno, J., González-Solís, J., 2013. Plastic debris in Mediterranean seabirds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 77(1-2), 220–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.10.002
- Coelhan, M., Strohmeier, J., Barlas, H., 2006. Organochlorine levels in edible fish from the Marmara Sea, Turkey. Environ. Int. 32(6), 775–780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2006.03.015
- Coelho, R., Fernandez-Carvalho, J., Lino, P.G., Santos, M.N., 2012. An overview of the hooking mortality of elasmobranchs caught in a swordfish pelagic longline fishery in the Atlantic Ocean. Aquat. Living Resour. 25(4), 311–319. https://doi.org/10.1051/alr/2012030
- Çok, I., Mazmanci, B., Mazmanci, M.A., Turgut, C., Henkelmann, B., Schramm, K.-W., 2012. Analysis of human milk to assess exposure to PAHs, PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in the vicinity Mediterranean city Mersin, Turkey. Environ. Int. 40, 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.11.012
- Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Steenbeek, J., Kaschner, K., Ben Rais Lasram, F., Aguzzi, J., Ballesteros, E., Bianchi, C.N.,
Corbera, J., Dailianis, T., Danovaro, R., Estrada, M., Froglia, C., Galil, B.S., Gasol, J.M., Gertwagen, R., Gil, J., Guilhaumon, F., Kesner-Reyes, K., Kitsos, M.-S., Koukouras, A., Lampadariou, N., Laxamana, E., López-Fé de la Cuadra, C.M., Lotze, H.K., Martin, D., Mouillot, D., Oro, D., Raicevich, S., Rius-Barile, J., Saiz-Salinas, J.I., San Vicente, C., Somot, S., Templado, J., Turon, X., Vafidis, D., Villanueva, R., Voultsiadou, E., 2010. The biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: estimates, patterns, and threats. PLoS One, 5(8), e11842. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0011842

- Conrad, E., Iii, L., Carpenter, S.R., Stow, C.A., 1998. Forecasting PCB concentrations in Lake Michigan salmonids: a dynamic linear model approach. Ecol. Appl. 8(3), 659–668. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761
- Consonni, D., Sindaco, R., Bertazzi, P.A., 2012. Blood levels of dioxins, furans, dioxin-like PCBs, and TEQs in general populations: a review, 1989–2010. Environ. Int. 44, 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.01.004
- Coomber, F., Moulins, A., Tepsich, P., Rosso, M., 2016. Sexing free-ranging adult Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*) using natural marking thresholds and pigmentation patterns. J. Mammal. 97(3), 879–890. https://doi.org/10.1093/JMAMMAL/GYW033
- Coristine, L.E., Kerr, J.T., 2011. Habitat loss, climate change, and emerging conservation challenges in Canada 1 This review is part of the virtual symposium "Flagship Species – Flagship Problems" that deals with ecology, biodiversity and management issues, and climate impacts on species. Can. J. Zool. 89(5), 435–451. https://doi.org/10.1139/z11-023
- Costa, L.G., de Laat, R., Tagliaferri, S., Pellacani, C., 2014. A mechanistic view of polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) developmental neurotoxicity. Toxicol. Lett. 230(2), 282–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2013.11.011
- Costalago, D., Navarro, J., Álvarez-Calleja, I., Palomera, I., 2012. Ontogenetic and seasonal changes in the feeding habits and trophic levels of two small pelagic fish species. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 460, 169–181. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps09751
- Covaci, A., Voorspoels, S., Roosens, L., Jacobs, W., Blust, R., Neels, H., 2008. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in human liver and adipose tissue samples from Belgium. Chemosphere 73(2), 170–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.02.059
- Cox, T.M., Ragen, T.J., Read, A.J., Vos, E., Baird, R.W., Balcomb, K., Barlow, J., Caldwell, J., Cranford, T., Crum, L., D'Amico, A., D'Spain, G., Fernandez, A., Finneran, J., Gentry, R., Gerth, W., Gulland, F., Hildebrand, J., Houser, D., Hullar, T., Jepson, P.D., Ketten, D., MacLeod, C.D., Miller, P., Moore, S., Mountain, D.C., Palka, D., Ponganis, P., Rommel, S., Rowles, T., Taylor, B., Tyack, P., Wartzok, D., Gisiner, R., Mead, J., Benner, L., 2023. Understanding the impacts of anthropogenic sound on beaked whales. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 7(3), 177–187. https://doi.org/10.47536/jcrm.v7i3.729
- Cunha, R.L., Faleh, A. Ben, Francisco, S., Šanda, R., Vukić, J., Corona, L., Dia, M., Glavičić, I., Kassar, A., Castilho, R., Robalo, J.I., 2022. Three mitochondrial lineages and no Atlantic-Mediterranean barrier for the bogue *Boops boops* across its widespread distribution. Sci. Rep. 12(1), 22124. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-26651-8
- Cury, P., 2000. Small pelagics in upwelling systems: patterns of interaction and structural changes in "waspwaist" ecosystems. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 57(3), 603–618. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.2000.0712
- Czerska, M., Zieliński, M., Kamińska, J., Ligocka, D., 2013. Effects of polybrominated diphenyl ethers on thyroid hormone, neurodevelopment and fertility in rodents and humans. Int. J. Occup. Med. Environ. Health 26. https://doi.org/10.2478/s13382-013-0138-7
- da Silva, T.E.F., Lessa, R., Santana, F.M., 2021. Current knowledge on biology, fishing and conservation of the blue shark (Prionace glauca). Neotrop. Biol. Conserv. 16(1), 71–88. https://doi.org/10.3897/neotropical.16.e58691
- Dachs, J., Lohmann, R., Ockenden, W.A., Méjanelle, L., Eisenreich, S.J., Jones, K.C., 2002. Oceanic biogeochemical controls on global dynamics of persistent organic pollutants. Environ. Sci. Technol.

36(20), 4229-4237. https://doi.org/10.1021/es025724k

- Dalebout, M.L., Robertson, K.M., Frantzis, A., Engelhaupt, D., Mignucci-Giannoni, A.A., Rosario-Delestre, R.J., Baker, C.S., 2005. Worldwide structure of mtDNA diversity among Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*): implications for threatened populations. Mol. Ecol. 14(11), 3353–3371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02676.x
- Daley, J.M., Paterson, G., Drouillard, K.G., 2014. Bioamplification as a bioaccumulation mechanism for persistent organic Ppollutants (POPs) in wildlife. Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 227, 107–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-01327-5_4
- Dalla Fontana, G., Mossotti, R., Montarsolo, A., 2020. Assessment of microplastics release from polyester fabrics: the impact of different washing conditions. Environ. Pollut. 264, 113960. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.113960
- Damstra, T., 2002a. Potential effects of certain persistent organic pollutants and endocrine disrupting chemicals on the health of children. J. Toxicol. Clin. Toxicol. 40(4), 457–465. https://doi.org/10.1081/CLT-120006748
- Damstra, T., 2002b. Persistent organic pollutants: potential health effects? J. Epidemiol. Community Heal. 56(11), 824–825. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.56.11.824
- Damstra, T., Barlow, S., Bergman, A., Kavlock, R., 2002. Global assessment on the state of the science of endocrine disruptors. WHO, International program on chemical safety.
- Danovaro, R., 2003. Pollution threats in the Mediterranean Sea: an overview. Chem. Ecol. 19(1), 15–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/0275754031000081467
- Danovaro, R., Fanelli, E., Canals, M., Ciuffardi, T., Fabri, M.-C., Taviani, M., Argyrou, M., Azzurro, E.,
 Bianchelli, S., Cantafaro, A., Carugati, L., Corinaldesi, C., de Haan, W.P., Dell'Anno, A., Evans, J., Foglini,
 F., Galil, B., Gianni, M., Goren, M., Greco, S., Grimalt, J., Güell-Bujons, Q., Jadaud, A., Knittweis, L.,
 Lopez, J.L., Sanchez-Vidal, A., Schembri, P.J., Snelgrove, P., Vaz, S., Angeletti, L., Barsanti, M., Borg,
 J.A., Bosso, M., Brind'Amour, A., Castellan, G., Conte, F., Delbono, I., Galgani, F., Morgana, G., Prato,
 S., Schirone, A., Soldevila, E., 2020. Towards a marine strategy for the deep Mediterranean Sea:
 Analysis of current ecological status. Mar. Policy 112, 103781.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.103781
- Darnerud, P., 2003. Toxic effects of brominated flame retardants in man and in wildlife. Environ. Int. 29(6), 841–853. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-4120(03)00107-7
- Darnerud, P.O., Eriksen, G.S., Jóhannesson, T., Larsen, P.B., Viluksela, M., 2001. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers: occurrence, dietary exposure, and toxicology. Environ. Health Perspect. 109(1), 49–68. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.01109s149
- Davidsen, N., Lauvås, A.J., Myhre, O., Ropstad, E., Carpi, D., Gyves, E.M., Berntsen, H.F., Dirven, H., Paulsen, R.E., Bal-Price, A., Pistollato, F., 2021. Exposure to human relevant mixtures of halogenated persistent organic pollutants (POPs) alters neurodevelopmental processes in human neural stem cells undergoing differentiation. Reprod. Toxicol. 100, 17–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2020.12.013
- Davis, J.A., Hetzel, F., Oram, J.J., McKee, L.J., 2007. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in San Francisco Bay. Environ. Res. 105(1), 67–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2007.01.013
- de Azevedo e Silva, C.E., Azeredo, A., Lailson-Brito, J., Torres, J.P.M., Malm, O., 2007. Polychlorinated biphenyls and DDT in swordfish (*Xiphias gladius*) and blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) from Brazilian coast. Chemosphere 67(9), S48–S53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.05.089
- De Guise, S., Martineau, D., Béland, P., Fournier, M., 1995. Possible mechanisms of action of environmental contaminants on St. Lawrence beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*). Environ. Health Perspect. 103(4), 73–77. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.95103s473
- De Voogt, P., Brinkman, U.A.T., 1989. Production, properties and usage of polychlorinated biphenyls, in:

Halogenated biphenyls, terphenyls, naphthalenes, dibenzodioxins and related products. Elsevier, 3–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-81029-8.50005-9

- De Wit, C.A., 2002. An overview of brominated flame retardants in the environment. Chemosphere 46(5), 583–624. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(01)00225-9
- DeLong, R.L., Gilmartin, W.G., Simpson, J.G., 1973. Premature births in California sea lions: association with high organochlorine pollutant residue levels. Science. 181(4105), 1168–1170. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.181.4105.1168
- Demond, A., Franzblau, A., Garabrant, D., Jiang, X., Adriaens, P., Chen, Q., Gillespie, B., Hao, W., Hong, B., Jolliet, O., Lepkowski, J., 2012. Human exposure from dioxins in soil. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46(3), 1296–1302. https://doi.org/10.1021/es2022363
- den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L.S., Denison, M., De Vito, M., Farland, W., Feeley, M., Fiedler, H., Hakansson, H., Hanberg, A., Haws, L., Rose, M., Safe, S., Schrenk, D., Tohyama, C., Tritscher, A., Tuomisto, J., Tysklind, M., Walker, N., Peterson, R.E., 2006. The 2005 World Health Organization reevaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds. Toxicol. Sci. 93(2), 223– 241. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl055
- Denison, M.S. and Nagy, S.R., 2003. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor by structurally diverse exogenous and endogenous chemicals. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 43(1), 309-334.
- Dent, F., Clarke, S., 2015. State of the global market for shark products., FAO Fisheries and Aquaculture Technical Paper. 590, I,III,IV,VII,VIII,1-159,161-167,169-179,181-185,187. Retrieved from https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/state-global-market-sharkproducts/docview/1708482071/se-2
- Desforges, J.-P., Hall, A., McConnell, B., Rosing-Asvid, A., Barber, J.L., Brownlow, A., De Guise, S., Eulaers, I., Jepson, P.D., Letcher, R.J., Levin, M., Ross, P.S., Samarra, F., Víkingson, G., Sonne, C., Dietz, R., 2018.
 Predicting global killer whale population collapse from PCB pollution. Science. 361(6409), 1373–1376. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aat1953
- Desforges, J.-P.W., Ross, P.S., Loseto, L.L., 2012. Transplacental transfer of polychlorinated biphenyls and polybrominated diphenyl ethers in arctic beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 31(2), 296–300. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.750
- Desforges, J.-P.W., Siebert, U., Routti, H., Levin, M., Dietz, R., Basu, N., Letcher, R.J., Jenssen, B.M., Sonne, C., 2022. Marine mammals as indicators of environmental pollution and potential health effects. In: Marsupial and placental mammal species in environmental risk assessment strategies. The Royal Society of Chemistry, 44, 133. https://doi.org/10.1039/9781839163470-00133

Desforges, J.P.W., Sonne, C., Levin, M., Siebert, U., De Guise, S., Dietz, R., 2016. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. Environ. Int. 86, 126-139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.10.007

- Deudero, S., Box, A., Alós, J., Arroyo, N.L., Marbà, N., 2011. Functional changes due to invasive species: Food web shifts at shallow *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass beds colonized by the alien macroalga *Caulerpa racemosa*. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 93(2), 106–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2011.03.017
- Di Natale, A., Molinari, A., Oral, M., Kada, O., Golani, D., 2011a. *Sardina pilchardus* (Mediterranean assessment). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2011: e.T198580A9039349. Accessed on 24 October 2023. URL: https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/198580/9039349
- Di Natale, A., Molinari, A., Oral, M., Kada, O., Golani, D., 2011b. *Engraulis encrasicolus* (Mediterranean assessment). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2011: e.T198568A9034036. Accessed on 24 October 2023. URL: https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/198568/9034036
- Di Renzo, L., Ceci, R., D'Antonio, S., Di Francesco, G., Di Giacinto, F., Ferri, N., Giansante, C., Leva, M., Mariani, G., Olivieri, V., Pulsoni, S., Salini, R., Scortichini, G., Tammaro, G., Diletti, G., 2022. Chlorinated

persistent organic pollutants (PCDD/Fs and PCBs) in loggerhead sea turtles stranded along the Central Adriatic Coast. Animals 12(22), 3177. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani12223177

- Dirtu, A.C., Ali, N., Van den Eede, N., Neels, H., Covaci, A., 2012. Country specific comparison for profile of chlorinated, brominated and phosphate organic contaminants in indoor dust. Case study for Eastern Romania, 2010. Environ. Int. 49, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.08.002
- DiVall, S.A., 2013. The influence of endocrine disruptors on growth and development of children. Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes Obes. 20(1), 50–55. https://doi.org/10.1097/MED.0b013e32835b7ee6
- Domingo, J.L., Bocio, A., 2007. Levels of PCDD/PCDFs and PCBs in edible marine species and human intake: a literature review. Environ. Int. 33(3), 397–405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2006.12.004
- Domingo, J.L., Marquès, M., Mari, M., Schuhmacher, M., 2020. Adverse health effects for populations living near waste incinerators with special attention to hazardous waste incinerators. A review of the scientific literature. Environ. Res. 187, 109631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109631
- Domingo, M., Ferrer, L., Pumarola, M., Marco, A., Plana, J., Kennedy, S., Mcalisey, M., Rima, B.K., 1990. Morbillivirus in dolphins. Nature 348(6296), 21–21. https://doi.org/10.1038/348021a0
- Dong, Y., Zhang, X., Tian, H., Li, X., Wang, W., Ru, S., 2017. Effects of polychlorinated biphenyls on metamorphosis of a marine fish Japanese flounder (*Paralichthys olivaceus*) in relation to thyroid disruption. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 119(1), 325–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.04.033
- Dopico, M., Gómez, A., 2015. Review of the current state and main sources of dioxins around the world. J. Air Waste Manage. Assoc. 65(9), 1033–1049. https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2015.1058869
- Dron, J., Wafo, E., Boissery, P., Dhermain, F., Bouchoucha, M., Chamaret, P., Lafitte, D., 2022. Trends of banned pesticides and PCBs in different tissues of striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) stranded in the Northwestern Mediterranean reflect changing contamination patterns. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 174, 113198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.113198
- Dudarev, A., Chupakhin, V., Vlasov, S., Yamin-Pasternak, S., 2019. Traditional diet and environmental contaminants in coastal Chukotka II: legacy POPs. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16(5), 695. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16050695
- Duffy, J., Carlson, E., Li, Y., Prophete, C., Zelikoff, J., 2002. Impact of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) on the immune function of fish: age as a variable in determining adverse outcome. Mar. Environ. Res. 54(3-5), 559–563. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-1136(02)00176-9
- Drout, V., Berube, M., Gannier, A., Goold, J.C., Reid, R.J., Palsbøll, P.J., 2004. A note on genetic isolation of Mediterranean sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) suggested by mitochondrial DNA. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 6(1), 29-32. https://doi.org/10.47536/jcrm.v6i1.787
- Dulvy, N.K., Baum, J.K., Clarke, S., Compagno, L.J. V., Cortés, E., Domingo, A., Fordham, S., Fowler, S., Francis, M.P., Gibson, C., Martínez, J., Musick, J.A., Soldo, A., Stevens, J.D., Valenti, S., 2008. You can swim but you can't hide: the global status and conservation of oceanic pelagic sharks and rays. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 18(5), 459–482. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.975
- Dulvy, N.K., Fowler, S.L., Musick, J.A., Cavanagh, R.D., Kyne, P.M., Harrison, L.R., Carlson, J.K., Davidson,
 L.N., Fordham, S. V, Francis, M.P., Pollock, C.M., Simpfendorfer, C.A., Burgess, G.H., Carpenter, K.E.,
 Compagno, L.J., Ebert, D.A., Gibson, C., Heupel, M.R., Livingstone, S.R., Sanciangco, J.C., Stevens, J.D.,
 Valenti, S., White, W.T., 2014. Extinction risk and conservation of the world's sharks and rays. Elife 3.
 e00590. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.00590
- Dulvy, N.K., Simpfendorfer, C.A., Davidson, L.N.K., Fordham, S. V., Bräutigam, A., Sant, G., Welch, D.J., 2017. Challenges and priorities in shark and ray conservation. Curr. Biol. 27(11), R565–R572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2017.04.038
- Durrieu de Madron, X., Guieu, C., Sempéré, R., Conan, P., Cossa, D., D'Ortenzio, F., Estournel, C., Gazeau, F., Rabouille, C., Stemmann, L., Bonnet, S., Diaz, F., Koubbi, P., Radakovitch, O., Babin, M., Baklouti, M., Bancon-Montigny, C., Belviso, S., Bensoussan, N., Bonsang, B., Bouloubassi, I., Brunet, C., Cadiou, J.-F.,

Carlotti, F., Chami, M., Charmasson, S., Charrière, B., Dachs, J., Doxaran, D., Dutay, J.-C., Elbaz-Poulichet, F., Eléaume, M., Eyrolles, F., Fernandez, C., Fowler, S., Francour, P., Gaertner, J.C., Galzin, R., Gasparini, S., Ghiglione, J.-F., Gonzalez, J.-L., Goyet, C., Guidi, L., Guizien, K., Heimbürger, L.-E., Jacquet, S.H.M., Jeffrey, W.H., Joux, F., Le Hir, P., Leblanc, K., Lefèvre, D., Lejeusne, C., Lemé, R., Loÿe-Pilot, M.-D., Mallet, M., Méjanelle, L., Mélin, F., Mellon, C., Mérigot, B., Merle, P.-L., Migon, C., Miller, W.L., Mortier, L., Mostajir, B., Mousseau, L., Moutin, T., Para, J., Pérez, T., Petrenko, A., Poggiale, J.-C., Prieur, L., Pujo-Pay, M., Pulido-Villena, Raimbault, P., Rees, A.P., Ridame, C., Rontani, J.-F., Ruiz Pino, D., Sicre, M.A., Taillandier, V., Tamburini, C., Tanaka, T., Taupier-Letage, I., Tedetti, M., Testor, P., Thébault, H., Thouvenin, B., Touratier, F., Tronczynski, J., Ulses, C., Van Wambeke, F., Vantrepotte, V., Vaz, S., Verney, R., 2011. Marine ecosystems' responses to climatic and anthropogenic forcings in the Mediterranean. Prog. Oceanogr. 91(2), 97–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2011.02.003

- Dwyer, H., Themelis, N.J., 2015. Inventory of U.S. 2012 dioxin emissions to atmosphere. Waste Manag. 46, 242–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.08.009
- EFSA, P. on C. in the F.C. (CONTAM), Knutsen, H.K., Alexander, J., Barregård, L., Bignami, M., Brüschweiler, B., Ceccatelli, S., Cottrill, B., Dinovi, M., Edler, L., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Nebbia, C.S., Oswald, I.P., Petersen, A., Rose, M., Roudot, A.-C., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Vollmer, G., Wallace, H., Fürst, P., Håkansson, H., Halldorsson, T., Lundebye, A.-K., Pohjanvirta, R., Rylander, L., Smith, A., Loveren, H. van, Waalkens-Berendsen, I., Zeilmaker, M., Binaglia, M., Ruiz, J.Á.G., Horváth, Z., Christoph, E., Ciccolallo, L., Bordajandi, L.R., Steinkellner, H., Hoogenboom, L. (Ron), 2018. Risk for animal and human health related to the presence of dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in feed and food. EFSA J. 16(11). e05333 https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5333
- El-Kholy, R., El-Saadi, A., Abdin, A.E.-D., 2012. Pollution and measures towards de-pollution of the Mediterranean Sea. In: Choukr-Allah, R., Ragab, R., Rodriguez-Clemente, R. (eds) Integrated water resources management in the Mediterranean Region. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht, 175–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4756-2_10
- El-Maremie, H., El-Mor, M., 2015. Feeding habits of the bogue, *Boops boops* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Teleostei: *Sparidae*) in Benghazi coast, eastern Libya. J. Life Sci. 9(5), 189-196. https://doi.org/10.17265/1934-7391/2015.05.001
- Eljarrat, E., Caixach, J., Rivera, J., 2001. Evaluation of dioxin contamination in sewage sludge discharges on coastal sediments from catalonia, Spain. Water Res. 35(11), 2799–2803. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(00)00566-2
- Eljarrat, E., De La Cal, A., Larrazabal, D., Fabrellas, B., Fernandez-Alba, A.R., Borrull, F., Marce, R.M., Barcelo, D., 2005. Occurrence of polybrominated diphenylethers, polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins, dibenzofurans and biphenyls in coastal sediments from Spain. Environ. Pollut. 136(3), 493–501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2004.12.005

Elskus, A.A., Collier, T.K., Monosson, E., 2005. Interactions between lipids and persistent organic pollutants in fish. In: Biochemistry and molecular biology of fishes (Vol. 6, pp. 119-152). Elsevier https://doi.org/10.1016/S1873-0140(05)80007-4

- Engelhaupt, D., Hoelzel, A.R., Nicholson, C., Frantzis, A., Mesnick, S., Gero, S., Whitehead, H., Rendell, L., Miller, P., De Stefanis, R., Cañadas, A., Airoldi, S., Mignucci-Giannoni, A.A., 2009. Female philopatry in coastal basins and male dispersion across the North Atlantic in a highly mobile marine species, the sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*). Mol. Ecol. 18(20), 4193–4205. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04355.x
- Engler, R.E., 2012. The complex interaction between marine debris and toxic chemicals in the ocean. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46(22), 12302–12315. https://doi.org/10.1021/es3027105
- Erickson, M.D., Kaley, R.G., 2011. Applications of polychlorinated biphenyls. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 18, 135–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-010-0392-1
- Esteves, F., Rueff, J., Kranendonk, M., 2021. The central role of cytochrome P450 in xenobiotic metabolism—a brief review on a fascinating enzyme family. J. Xenobiotics 11(3), 94–114.

https://doi.org/10.3390/jox11030007

- European Chemicals Bureau, 2001. Diphenyl ether, pentabromo derivative (pentabromodiphenyl ether), CAS-No: 32534-81-9, EINECS-No: 251-084-2. Summary Risk Assessment Report. European Commission, Joint Research Centre [online]. Accessed on 3 August 2023. http://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/05a9c558-9472-4163-9496- 1a8ab1ee6918.
- Evans, K., Hindell, M., Hince, G., 2004. Concentrations of organochlorines in sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) from Southern Australian waters. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48, 486–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2003.08.026
- Evans, K., Hindell, M.A., Thiele, D., 2003. Body fat and condition in sperm whales, *Physeter macrocephalus*, from southern Australian waters. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 134(4), 847–862. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1095-6433(03)00045-X
- Fair, P.A., Houde, M., 2023. Environmental endocrine-disrupting chemicals and their effects in marine mammals. In: Environmental contaminants and endocrine health. Elsevier, 283–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-824464-7.00017-9
- Faisal, M., Weeks, B.A., Vogelbein, W.K., Huggett, R.J., 1991. Evidence of aberration of the natural cytotoxic cell activity in Fundulus heteroclitus (Pisces: *Cyprinodontida*e) from the Elizabeth River, Virginia. Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 29(3-4), 339–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-2427(91)90024-7
- Fång, J., Nyberg, E., Winnberg, U., Bignert, A., Bergman, Å., 2015. Spatial and temporal trends of the Stockholm Convention POPs in mothers' milk — a global review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 8989– 9041. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4080-z
- FAO, 2022. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022, The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. https://doi.org/10.4060/cc0461en
- FAO, 2021. GFCM 2030 Strategy for sustainable fisheries and aquaculture in the Mediterranean and the Black Sea. FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb7562en
- FAO, 2009. Rsolution GFCM/33/2009/2 on the establishment of geographical subareas in the GFCM area of application, amending Resolution GFCM/31/2007/2.
- FAO Species Fact Sheets, 2021. Prionace glauca (Linnaeus, 1758).
- Fensterheim, R.J., 1993. Documenting temporal trends of polychlorinated biphenyls in the environment. Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 18(2), 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1006/rtph.1993.1052
- Fernández, A., Edwards, J.F., Rodríguez, F., de los Monteros, A.E., Herráez, P., Castro, P., Jaber, J.R., Martín, V., Arbelo, M., 2005. "Gas and fat embolic syndrome" involving a mass stranding of beaked whales (Family *Ziphiidae*) exposed to anthropogenic sonar signals. Vet. Pathol. 42(4), 446–457. https://doi.org/10.1354/vp.42-4-446
- Fernández, P., Carrera, G., Grimalt, J.O., 2005. Persistent organic pollutants in remote freshwater ecosystems. Aquat. Sci. 67, 263–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-005-0747-8
- Fernández, P., Grimalt, J.O., 2003. On the global distribution of persistent organic pollutants. Chimia (Aarau). 57(9), 514. https://doi.org/10.2533/000942903777679000
- Fiedler, H., 1996. Sources of PCDD/PCDF and impact on the environment. Chemosphere 32(1), 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(95)00228-6
- Fiedler, H., Kallenborn, R., Boer, J. de, Sydnes, L.K., 2019. The Stockholm Convention: a tool for the global regulation of persistent organic pollutants. Chem. Int. 41(2), 4–11. https://doi.org/10.1515/ci-2019-0202
- Fielding, R., 2022. Whalers in "a post-whaling world": sustainable conservation of marine mammals and sustainable development of whaling communities—with a case study from the Eastern Caribbean. Sustainability 14(14), 8782. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14148782
- Firestone, D., 1973. Etiology of chick edema disease. Environ. Health Perspect. 5, 59–66.

https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.730559

- Firestone, D., Ress, J., Brown, N.L., Barron, R.P., Damico, J.N., 1972. Determination of polychlorodibenzo-pdioxins and related compounds in commercial chlorophenols. J. AOAC Int. 55(1), 85–92. https://doi.org/10.1093/jaoac/55.1.85
- Fischbein, A., Wolff, M.S., Bernstein, J., Selikoff, I.J., Thornton, J., 1982. Dermatological findings in capacitor manufacturing workers exposed to dielectric fluids containing polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). Arch. Environ. Heal. An Int. J. 37(2), 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/00039896.1982.10667538
- Fisk, A.T., Stern, G.A., Hobson, K.A., Strachan, W.J., Loewen, M.D., Norstrom, R.J., 2001. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in a small, herbivorous, Arctic marine zooplankton (*Calanus hyperboreus*): trends from April to July and the influence of lipids and trophic transfer. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 43(1-6), 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(01)00038-8
- Flagella, M.M., Abdulla, A.A., 2005. Ship ballast water as a main vector of marine introductions in the Mediterranean Sea. WMU J. Marit. Aff. 4, 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03195066
- Foekema, E.M., Fischer, A., Parron, M.L., Kwadijk, C., de Vries, P., Murk, A.J., 2012. Toxic concentrations in fish early life stages peak at a critical moment. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 31(6), 1381–1390. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.1836
- Fossi, M.C., Casini, S., Bucalossi, D., Marsili, L., 2008. First detection of CYP1A1 and CYP2B induction in Mediterranean cetacean skin biopsies and cultured fibroblasts by western blot analysis. Mar. Environ. Res. 66(1), 3–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2008.02.006
- Fossi, Maria Cristina, Casini, S., Maltese, S., Panti, C., Spinsanti, G., Marsili, L., 2014. An "ex vivo" model to evaluate toxicological responses to mixtures of contaminants in cetaceans: integumentum biopsy slices. Environ. Toxicol. 29(10), 1107–1121. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.21841
- Fossi, M.C., Marsili, L., Lauriano, G., Fortuna, C., Canese, S., Ancora, S., Leonzio, C., Romeo, T., Merino, R., Abad, E., Jiménez, B., 2004. Assessment of toxicological status of a SW Mediterranean segment population of striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) using skin biopsy. Mar. Environ. Res. 58(2-5), 269-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2004.03.070
- Fossi, M.C., Panti, C., 2017. Sentinel Species of Marine Ecosystems. In: Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Environmental Science. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780199389414.013.110
- Fossi, M.C., Panti, C., Guerranti, C., Coppola, D., Giannetti, M., Marsili, L., Minutoli, R., 2012. Are baleen whales exposed to the threat of microplastics? A case study of the Mediterranean fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64(11), 2374–2379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.08.013
- Fossi, M. C., Panti, C., Marsili, L., Maltese, S., Coppola, D., Jimenez, B., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Finoia, M.G., Rojas-Bracho, L., Urban, R.J., 2014. Could feeding habit and migratory behaviour be the causes of different toxicological hazard to cetaceans of Gulf of California (Mexico)? Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 13353–13366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2574-8
- Fossi, M.C., Panti, C., Marsili, L., Maltese, S., Spinsanti, G., Casini, S., Caliani, I., Gaspari, S., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Jimenez, B., Finoia, M.G., 2013. The Pelagos Sanctuary for Mediterranean marine mammals: Marine Protected Area (MPA) or marine polluted area? The case study of the striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 70(1-2), 64–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.02.013
- Fowles, J.R., Fairbrother, A., Baecher-Steppan, L., Kerkvliet, N.I., 1994. Immunologic and endocrine effects of the flame-retardant pentabromodiphenyl ether (DE-71) in C57BL/6J mice. Toxicology 86(1-2), 49–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-483X(94)90052-3
- Frantzis, A., 1998. Does acoustic testing strand whales? Nature 392(6671), 29–29. https://doi.org/10.1038/32068
- Fraschetti, S., Terlizzi, A., Guarnieri, G., Pizzolante, F., D'Ambrosio, P., Maiorano, P., Beqiraj, S., Boero, F.,

2011. Effects of unplanned development on marine biodiversity: a lesson from Albania (central Mediterranean Sea). J. Coast. Res. 270(58), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.2112/SI_58_10

- Frederiksen, M., Edwards, M., Richardson, A.J., Halliday, N.C., Wanless, S., 2006. From plankton to top predators: bottom-up control of a marine food web across four trophic levels. J. Anim. Ecol. 75(6), 1259–1268. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2006.01148.x
- Free, C.M., Jensen, O.P., Hilborn, R., 2021. Evaluating impacts of forage fish abundance on marine predators. Conserv. Biol. 35(3), 1540–1551. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13709
- Fremlin, K.M., Elliott, J.E., Green, D.J., Drouillard, K.G., Harner, T., Eng, A., Gobas, F.A.P.C., 2020. Trophic magnification of legacy persistent organic pollutants in an urban terrestrial food web. Sci. Total Environ. 714, 136746. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.136746
- Fu, J., Mai, B., Sheng, G., Zhang, G., Wang, X., Peng, P., Xiao, X., Ran, R., Cheng, F., Peng, X., Wang, Z., Wa Tang, U., 2003. Persistent organic pollutants in environment of the Pearl River Delta, China: an overview. Chemosphere 52(9), 1411–1422. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00477-6
- Fuller, R., Landrigan, P.J., Balakrishnan, K., Bathan, G., Bose-O'Reilly, S., Brauer, M., Caravanos, J., Chiles, T., Cohen, A., Corra, L., Cropper, M., Ferraro, G., Hanna, J., Hanrahan, D., Hu, H., Hunter, D., Janata, G., Kupka, R., Lanphear, B., Lichtveld, M., Martin, K., Mustapha, A., Sanchez-Triana, E., Sandilya, K., Schaefli, L., Shaw, J., Seddon, J., Suk, W., Téllez-Rojo, M.M., Yan, C., 2022. Pollution and health: a progress update. Lancet Planet. Heal. 6(6), e535–e547. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(22)00090-0
- Galloway, T.S., Depledge, M.H., 2001. Immunotoxicity in invertebrates: measurement and ecotoxicological relevance. Ecotoxicology 10, 5–23. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1008939520263
- Gałuszka, A., Migaszewski, Z.M., Rose, N.L., 2020. A consideration of polychlorinated biphenyls as a chemostratigraphic marker of the Anthropocene. Anthr. Rev. 7(2), 138–158. https://doi.org/10.1177/2053019620916488
- Gascon, M., Morales, E., Sunyer, J., Vrijheid, M., 2013. Effects of persistent organic pollutants on the developing respiratory and immune systems: a systematic review. Environ. Int. 52, 51–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.11.005
- Gasic, B., MacLeod, M., Scheringer, M., Hungerbuhler, K., 2010. Assessing the impact of weather events at mid-latitudes on the atmospheric transport of chemical pollutants using a 2-dimensional multimedia meteorological model. Atmos. Environ. 44(35), 4489–4496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2010.07.016
- Gaur, N., Dutta, D., Jaiswal, A., Dubey, R., Vrat Kamboj, D., 2022. Role and effect of persistent organic pollutants to our environment and wildlife. In: Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)-Monitoring, Impact and Treatment. IntechOpen, 127. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.101617
- Gaus, C., Correll, R., Mueller, J., Holt, E., Ellis, D., Prange, J., Shaw, M., 2005. Dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in marine mammals from Australia. Organohalogen Compd. 67, 1271-1275.
- Gelsleichter, J., Manire, C.A., Szabo, N.J., Cortés, E., Carlson, J., Lombardi-Carlson, L., 2005. Organochlorine concentrations in bonnethead sharks (*Sphyrna tiburo*) from four Florida estuaries. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 48(4), 474–483. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-003-0275-2
- Gelsleichter, J., Szabo, N.J., Belcher, C.N., Ulrich, G.F., 2008. Organochlorine contaminants in bonnethead sharks (*Sphyrna tiburo*) from Atlantic and Gulf estuaries on the US east coast. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 56(2), 359–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2007.10.028
- Gelsleichter, J., Walker, C., 2010. Pollutant exposure and effects in sharks and their relatives. In: Sharks and their relatives II. CRC press, 507–554. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420080483-c12
- Genov, T., Jepson, P.D., Barber, J.L., Hace, A., Gaspari, S., Centrih, T., Lesjak, J., Kotnjek, P., 2019. Linking organochlorine contaminants with demographic parameters in free-ranging common bottlenose dolphins from the northern Adriatic Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 657, 200–212.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.12.025

Gerhardt, A., 2011. Bioindicator species and their use in biomonitoring. Environ. Monitor. 1, 77-123.

- Geschwind, S.A., Stolwijk, J.A.J., Bracken, M., Fitzgerald, E., Stark, A., Olsen, C., Melius, J., 1992. Risk of congenital malformations associated with proximity to hazardous waste sites. Am. J. Epidemiol. 135(11), 1197–1207. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116226
- Geyer, H., Freitag, D., Korte, F., 1984. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in the marine environment, particularly in the mediterranean. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 8(2), 129–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/0147-6513(84)90056-3
- Giesy, J.P., Kannan, K., 1998. Dioxin-Like and Non-Dioxin-Like Toxic Effects of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): implications for risk assessment. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 28(6), 511–569. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408449891344263
- Godard-Codding, C.A.J., Clark, R., Fossi, M.C., Marsili, L., Maltese, S., West, A.G., Valenzuela, L., Rowntree, V., Polyak, I., Cannon, J.C., Pinkerton, K., 2011. Pacific Ocean wide profile of CYP1A1 expression, stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios, and organic contaminant burden in sperm whale skin biopsies. Environ. Health Perspect. 119(3), 337–343. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0901809
- Goerke, H., Weber, K., Bornemann, H., Ramdohr, S., Plötz, J., 2004. Increasing levels and biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in Antarctic biota. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48(3-4), 295–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2003.08.004
- Golden, O., Caldeira, A.J.R., Santos, M.J., 2022. Raw fish consumption in Portugal: a survey on trends in consumption and consumer characteristics. Food Control 135, 108810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2022.108810
- Gómara, B., Bordajandi, L.R., Fernández, M.A., Herrero, L., Abad, E., Abalos, M., Rivera, J., González, M.J., 2005. Levels and trends of polychlorinated dibenzo- p -dioxins/furans (PCDD/Fs) and dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in spanish commercial fish and shellfish products, 1995–2003. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53(21), 8406–8413. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf050835z
- Gómez-Gutiérrez, A., Garnacho, E., Bayona, J.M., Albaigés, J., 2007. Screening ecological risk assessment of persistent organic pollutants in Mediterranean sea sediments. Environ. Int. 33(7), 867–876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2007.04.002
- Gómez-Gutiérrez, A.I., Jover, E., Bodineau, L., Albaigés, J., Bayona, J.M., 2006. Organic contaminant loads into the Western Mediterranean Sea: estimate of Ebro River inputs. Chemosphere 65(2), 224–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.02.058
- Gómez-Lavín, S., Gorri, D., Irabien, Á., 2011. Assessment of PCDD/Fs and PCBs in sediments from the Spanish northern Atlantic coast. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. 221, 287–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-011-0790-0
- Gong, P., Wang, X., 2022. Critical roles of secondary sources in global cycling of persistent organic pollutants under climate change. J. Hazard. Mater. Adv. 6, 100064. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HAZADV.2022.100064
- González, N., Domingo, J.L., 2021. Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans (PCDD/Fs) in food and human dietary intake: An update of the scientific literature. Food Chem. Toxicol. 157, 112585. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2021.112585
- Gordó-Vilaseca, C., Stephenson, F., Coll, M., Lavin, C., Costello, M.J., 2023. Three decades of increasing fish biodiversity across the northeast Atlantic and the Arctic Ocean. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 120(4), e2120869120.. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2120869120
- Gosse, J.A., Hampton, T.H., Davey, J.C., Hamilton, J.W., 2008. A new approach to analysis and interpretation of toxicogenomic gene expression data and its importance in examining biological responses to low, environmentally relevant doses of toxicants. In: Toxicogenomics a powerful tool for toxicity assessment. Wiley, 27–57. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470699638.ch2

- Gouin, T., Mackay, D., Jones, K.C., Harner, T., Meijer, S.N., 2004. Evidence for the "grasshopper" effect and fractionation during long-range atmospheric transport of organic contaminants. Environ. Pollut. 128(1-2), 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2003.08.025
- Gouin, T., Roche, N., Lohmann, R., Hodges, G., 2011. A thermodynamic approach for assessing the environmental exposure of chemicals absorbed to microplastic. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45(4), 1466–1472. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1032025
- Gray, J.S., 2002. Biomagnification in marine systems: the perspective of an ecologist. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 45(1-12), 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(01)00323-X
- Green, A., Larson, S., 2016. A review of organochlorine contaminants in nearshore marine mammal predators. J. Environ. Anal. Toxicol. 6(1000370), 2161-0525. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0525.1000370
- Gregoraszczuk, E.L., Ptak, A., 2013. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: some actions of POPs on female reproduction. Int. J. Endocrinol. 2013(special issue), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/828532
- Grehan, A.J., Arnaud-Haond, S., D'Onghia, G., Savini, A., Yesson, C., 2017. Towards ecosystem based management and monitoring of the deep Mediterranean, North-East Atlantic and beyond. Deep Sea Res. Part II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 145, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2017.09.014
- Grinyó, J., Francescangeli, M., Santín, A., Ercilla, G., Estrada, F., Mecho, A., Fanelli, E., Costa, C., Danovaro, R., Company, J.B., Sobrino, I., Valencia, J., Aguzzi, J., 2022. Megafaunal assemblages in deep-sea ecosystems of the Gulf of Cadiz, northeast Atlantic ocean. Deep Sea Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 183, 103738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2022.103738
- Guerranti, C., Baini, M., Casini, S., Focardi, S.E., Giannetti, M., Mancusi, C., Marsili, L., Perra, G., Fossi, M.C., 2014. Pilot study on levels of chemical contaminants and porphyrins in *Caretta caretta* from the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Environ. Res. 100, 33–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2014.01.004
- Gui, D., Yu, R., He, X., Tu, Q., Chen, L., Wu, Y., 2014. Bioaccumulation and biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in Indo-Pacific humpback dolphins (*Sousa chinensis*) from the Pearl River Estuary, China. Chemosphere 114, 106–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.04.028
- Gulland, F.M.D., Hall, A.J., 2007. Is marine mammal health deteriorating? Trends in the global reporting of marine mammal disease. Ecohealth 4, 135–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-007-0097-1
- Guo, W., Pan, B., Sakkiah, S., Yavas, G., Ge, W., Zou, W., Tong, W., Hong, H., 2019. Persistent organic pollutants in food: contamination sources, health effects and detection methods. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 16(22), 4361. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16224361
- Hahn, M.E., Merson, R.R., Karchner, S.I., 2005. Xenobiotic receptors in fish: structural and functional diversity and evolutionary insights. In: Biochemistry and molecular biology of fishes (Vol. 6, pp. 191-228). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1873-0140(05)80010-4
- Hall, A.J., Kalantzi, O.I., Thomas, G.O., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in grey seals during their first year of life–are they thyroid hormone endocrine disrupters? Environ. Pollut. 126(1), 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03)00149-0
- Halpern, B.S., Walbridge, S., Selkoe, K.A., Kappel, C. V., Micheli, F., D'Agrosa, C., Bruno, J.F., Casey, K.S.,
 Ebert, C., Fox, H.E., Fujita, R., Heinemann, D., Lenihan, H.S., Madin, E.M.P., Perry, M.T., Selig, E.R.,
 Spalding, M., Steneck, R., Watson, R., 2008. A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems.
 Science 319(5865), 948–952. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1149345
- Hamers, T., Kamstra, J.H., Sonneveld, E., Murk, A.J., Kester, M.H.A., Andersson, P.L., Legler, J., Brouwer, A., 2006. In vitro profiling of the endocrine-disrupting potency of brominated flame retardants. Toxicol. Sci. 92(1), 157–173. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfj187
- Hammer, S., Nager, R.G., Alonso, S., McGill, R.A.R., Furness, R.W., Dam, M., 2016. Legacy pollutants are declining in great skuas (*Stercorarius skua*) but remain higher in Faroe Islands than in Scotland. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 97, 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-016-1856-x

- Hammond, J.A., Hall, A.J., Dyrynda, E.A., 2005. Comparison of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) induced effects on innate immune functions in harbour and grey seals. Aquat. Toxicol. 74(2), 126–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2005.05.006
- Han, M.A., Kim, J.H., Song, H.S., 2019. Persistent organic pollutants, pesticides, and the risk of thyroid cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur. J. Cancer Prev. 28(4), 344–349. https://doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.000000000000481
- Hannesson, R., 2013. Sharing the Northeast Atlantic mackerel. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 70(2), 259–269. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fss134
- Hardell, L., Bavel, B., Lindstrom, G., Eriksson, M., Carlberg, M., 2006. In utero exposure to persistent organic pollutants in relation to testicular cancer risk. Int. J. Androl. 29(1), 228–234. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2605.2005.00622.x
- Harmon, S.M., 2015. The toxicity of persistent organic pollutants to aquatic organisms. In: Comprehensive Analytical Chemistry (Vol. 67, pp. 587-613). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-63299-9.00018-1
- Harrad, S., Drage, D.S., Sharkey, M., Berresheim, H., 2019. Brominated flame retardants and perfluoroalkyl substances in landfill leachate from Ireland. Sci. Total Environ. 695, 133810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133810
- Harrad, S., Hazrati, S., Ibarra, C., 2006. Concentrations of polychlorinated biphenyls in indoor air and polybrominated diphenyl ethers in indoor air and dust in Birmingham, United Kingdom: implications for human exposure. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40(15), 4633–4638. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0609147
- Hassen, W., Mehri, I., Beltifa, A., Giorgia Potortì, A.G., Khellaf, N., Amer, R., Van Loco, J. Van, Hassen, A., Di Bella, G. Di, Khdary, N.H., Ben Mansour, H. Ben, 2022. Chemical and microbiological assessment of wastewater discharged along the Mediterranean Sea. Sustainability 14(5), 2746. https://doi.org/10.3390/su14052746
- Hawkins, S., Sugden, H., Mieszkowska, N., Moore, P., Poloczanska, E., Leaper, R., Herbert, R., Genner, M., Moschella, P., Thompson, R., Jenkins, S., Southward, A., Burrows, M., 2009. Consequences of climatedriven biodiversity changes for ecosystem functioning of North European rocky shores. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 396, 245–259. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08378
- He, J., Robrock, K.R., Alvarez-Cohen, L., 2006. Microbial reductive debromination of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs). Environ. Sci. Technol. 40(14), 4429–4434. https://doi.org/10.1021/es052508d
- He, Y., Murphy, M., Yu, R., Lam, M., Hecker, M., Giesy, J., Wu, R., Lam, P., 2008. Effects of 20 PBDE metabolites on steroidogenesis in the H295R cell line. Toxicol. Lett. 176(3), 230–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2007.12.001
- He, Y., Peng, L., Zhang, W., Liu, C., Yang, Q., Zheng, S., Bao, M., Huang, Y., Wu, K., 2018. Adipose tissue levels of polybrominated diphenyl ethers and breast cancer risk in Chinese women: A case–control study. Environ. Res. 167, 160–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.07.009
- Heithaus, M.R., 2001. Predator–prey and competitive interactions between sharks (order *Selachii*) and dolphins (suborder *Odontoceti*): a review. J. Zool. 253(1), 53–68. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952836901000061
- Helle, E., 1980. Lowered reproductive capacity in female ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) in the Bothnian Bay, northern Baltic Sea, with special reference to uterine occlusions. In: Annales Zoologici Fennici (pp. 147-158). Finnish Academy of Sciences, Societas Scientiarum Fennica, Societas pro Fauna et Flora Fennica and Societas Biologica Fennica Vanamo.
- Helle, E., Olsson, M., Jensen, S., 1976a. PCB Levels Correlated with Pathological Changes in Seal Uteri. Ambio 5, 261–62.
- Helle, E., Olsson, M., Jensen, S., 1976b. DDT and PCB levels and reproduction in ringel seal from the

Bothnian Bay. Heal. Environ. Res. Online 4(4), 188–189.

- Henríquez-Hernández, L.A., Montero, D., Camacho, M., Ginés, R., Boada, L.D., Ramírez Bordón, B., Valerón, P.F., Almeida-González, M., Zumbado, M., Haroun, R., Luzardo, O.P., 2017. Comparative analysis of selected semi-persistent and emerging pollutants in wild-caught fish and aquaculture associated fish using bogue (*Boops boops*) as sentinel species. Sci. Total Environ. 581, 199–208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.107
- Henry, L.-A., Roberts, J.M., 2007. Biodiversity and ecological composition of macrobenthos on cold-water coral mounds and adjacent off-mound habitat in the bathyal porcupine seabight, NE Atlantic. Deep Sea Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 54(4), 654–672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2007.01.005
- Henry, T.B., 2015. Ecotoxicology of polychlorinated biphenyls in fish—a critical review. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 45(8), 643–661. https://doi.org/10.3109/10408444.2015.1038498
- Hens, B., Hens, L., 2017. Persistent threats by persistent pollutants: chemical nature, concerns and future policy regarding PCBs—what are we heading for?. Toxics 6(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics6010001
- Herceg Romanić, S., Jovanović, G., Mustać, B., Stojanović-Đinović, J., Stojić, A., Čadež, T., Popović, A., 2021.
 Fatty acids, persistent organic pollutants, and trace elements in small pelagic fish from the eastern
 Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 170, 112654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112654
- Hickie, B.E., Ross, P.S., Macdonald, R.W., Ford, J.K.B., 2007. Killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) face protracted health risks associated with lifetime exposure to PCBs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41(18), 6613–6619. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0702519
- Higdon, J.W., Hauser, D.D.W., Ferguson, S.H., 2012. Killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in the Canadian Arctic: distribution, prey items, group sizes, and seasonality. Mar. Mammal Sci. 28(2), E93–E109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2011.00489.x
- Hites, R.A., 2011. Dioxins: an overview and history. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45(1), 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1013664
- Hites, R.A., 2006. Brominated flame retardants in the Great Lakes. Handb. Environ. Chem. Vol. 5 Water Pollut. 5 N, 355–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_5_045
- Hites, R.A., 2004. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the environment and in people: a meta-analysis of concentrations. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38(40), 945–956. https://doi.org/10.1021/es035082g
- Hoguet, J., Keller, J.M., Reiner, J.L., Kucklick, J.R., Bryan, C.E., Moors, A.J., Pugh, R.S., Becker, P.R., 2013.
 Spatial and temporal trends of persistent organic pollutants and mercury in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from Alaska. Sci. Total Environ. 449, 285–294.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.01.072
- Holsbeek, L., Joiris, C.R., Debacker, V., Ali, I.B., Roose, P., Nellissen, J.P., Gobert, S., Bouquegneau, J.M., Bossicart, M., 1999. Heavy metals, organochlorines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sperm whales stranded in the southern North Sea during the 1994/1995 winter. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 38, 304– 313. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(98)00150-7
- Holt, E.A., Miller, S.W., 2010. Bioindicators: using organisms to measure environmental impacts. Nat. Educ. Knowl. 3(10), 8.
- Hontela, A., Rasmussen, J., Audet, C., Chevalier, G., 1992. Impaired cortisol stress response in fish from environments polluted by PAHs, PCBs, and mercury. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22, 278-283. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00212086
- Hooker, S.K., De Soto, N.A., Baird, R.W., Carroll, E.L., Claridge, D., Feyrer, L., Miller, P.J.O., Onoufriou, A., Schorr, G., Siegal, E., Whitehead, H., 2019. Future directions in research on beaked whales. Front. Mar. Sci. 5, 514. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2018.00514
- Hooker, S.K., Metcalfe, T.L., Metcalfe, C.D., Angell, C.M., Wilson, J.Y., Moore, M.J., Whitehead, H., 2008. Changes in persistent contaminant concentration and CYP1A1 protein expression in biopsy samples from northern bottlenose whales, Hyperoodon ampullatus, following the onset of nearby oil and gas

development. Environ. Pollut. 152(1), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.05.027

- Hooper, K., McDonald, T.A., 2000. The PBDEs: An emerging environmental challenge and another reason for breast-milk monitoring programs. Environ. Health Perspect. 108(5), 387–392. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.00108387
- Huang, Y., Rajput, I.R., Sanganyado, E., Yajing, S., Yu, F., Liang, B., Liu, W., 2020. Immune stimulation effect of PBDEs via prostaglandin pathway in pantropical spotted dolphin: an in vitro study. Chemosphere 254, 126717. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2020.126717
- Hung, H., Katsoyiannis, A.A., Brorström-Lundén, E., Olafsdottir, K., Aas, W., Breivik, K., Bohlin-Nizzetto, P., Sigurdsson, A., Hakola, H., Bossi, R., Skov, H., Sverko, E., Barresi, E., Fellin, P., Wilson, S., 2016.
 Temporal trends of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in arctic air: 20 years of monitoring under the Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP). Environ. Pollut. 217, 52–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.01.079
- Hutchinson, T.H., Ankley, G.T., Segner, H., Tyler, C.R., 2006. Screening and testing for endocrine disruption in fish—biomarkers as "signposts," not "traffic lights," in risk assessment. Environ. Health Perspect. 114(Suppl 1), 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8062
- Hutz, R.J., Carvan, M.J., Baldridge, M.G., Conley, L.K., Heiden, T.K., 2006. Environmental toxicants and effects on female reproductive function. Tren. Reprod. Bio. 2, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.2006.2-1
- Hutz, R.J., Wimpee, B.A.B., Dasmahapatra, A., Weber, D.N., Heimler, I., Chaffin, C.L., 1999. Differential modulation by aromatic hydrocarbon receptor agonist of circulating estradiol-17β and estrogen-receptor DNA-binding capability in female rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Zoolog. Sci. 16(1), 161–166. https://doi.org/10.2108/zsj.16.161
- Iacovidou, E., Mandalakis, M., Stephanou, E.G., 2009. Occurrence and diurnal variation of polychlorinated biphenyls and polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the background atmosphere of Eastern
 Mediterranean. Chemosphere 77(9), 1161–1167.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.09.043
- IARC. International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2019. Preamble to the IARC Monographs (Amended January 2019). Lyon, France.
- IARC Working Group on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans, Meeting, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2016. Polychlorinated biphenyls and polybrominated biphenyls.
- Ikonomou, M.G., Fernandez, M.P., Hickman, Z.L., 2006. Spatio-temporal and species-specific variation in PBDE levels/patterns in British Columbia's coastal waters. Environ. Pollut. 140(2), 355–363. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2005.06.031
- IPBES, 2019. Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz, and H. T. Ngo (editors). Bonn, Germany.
- Iwata, H., Tanabe, S., Sakai, N., Tatsukawa, R., 1993. Distribution of persistent organochlorines in the oceanic air and surface seawater and the role of ocean on their global transport and fate. Environ. Sci. Technol. 27(6), 1080–1098. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00043a007
- Jacobson, J.L., Jacobson, S.W., 2003. Prenatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and attention at school age. J. Pediatr. 143(6), 780–788. https://doi.org/10.1067/S0022-3476(03)00577-8
- Jacobson, J.L., Jacobson, S.W., Humphrey, H.E.B., 1990. Effects of in utero exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and related contaminants on cognitive functioning in young children. J. Pediatr. 116(1), 38– 45. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(05)81642-7
- Janošek, J., Hilscherová, K., Bláha, L., Holoubek, I., 2006. Environmental xenobiotics and nuclear receptors—Interactions, effects and in vitro assessment. Toxicol. Vitr. 20(1), 18–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2005.06.001

- Jeno, J.G.A., Rathna, R., Nakkeeran, E., 2021. Biological implications of dioxins/furans bioaccumulation in ecosystems. In: Prasad, R. (eds) Environmental Pollution and Remediation. Environmental and Microbial Biotechnology. 395-420. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-5499-5_14
- Jensen, S., Johnels, A.G., Olsso, M., Otterlind, G., 1969. DDT and PCB in marine animals from Swedish waters. Nature 224(5216), 247–250. https://doi.org/10.1038/224247a0
- Jeong, Y., Kim, S.J., Shin, K.H., Hwang, S.Y., An, Y.R., Moon, H.B., 2016. Accumulation and temporal changes of PCDD/Fs and dioxin-like PCBs in finless porpoises (*Neophocaena asiaeorientalis*) from Korean coastal waters: Tracking the effectiveness of regulation. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 105(1), 30–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.03.007
- Jeong, Y., Lee, Y., Park, K.J., An, Y.R., Moon, H.B., 2020. Accumulation and time trends (2003–2015) of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in blubber of finless porpoises (*Neophocaena asiaeorientalis*) from Korean coastal waters. J. Hazard. Mater. 385, 121598. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121598
- Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., Doeschate, M. ten, Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., Stephanis, R. de, Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A., Law, R.J., 2016. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters. Sci. Rep. 6(1), 18573. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18573
- Jepson, P.D., Law, R.J., 2016. Persistent pollutants, persistent threats. Science. 352(6292), 1388–1389. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf9075
- Jimenez, B., Hernandez, L.M., Gonzalez, M.J., Eljarrat, E., Rivera, J., Fossi, M.C., 1998. Congener specific analysis of polychlorinated dibenzo- p -dioxins and dibenzofurans in crabs and sediments from the Venice and Orbetello Lagoons, Italy. Environ. Sci. Technol. 32(24), 3853–3861. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9801994
- Jinhui, L., Yuan, C., Wenjing, X., 2017. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in articles: a review of its applications and legislation. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 4312–4321. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4515-6
- Jobling, S., Tyler, C.R., 2003. Endocrine disruption, parasites and pollutants in wild freshwater fish. Parasitology 126(7), S103–S107. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182003003652
- Johansen, P., Muir, D., Asmund, G., Riget, F., 2004. Human exposure to contaminants in the traditional Greenland diet. Sci. Total Environ. 331(1-3), 189–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.03.029
- Johnson-Restrepo, B., Adams, D.H., Kannan, K., 2008. Tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA) and hexabromocyclododecanes (HBCDs) in tissues of humans, dolphins, and sharks from the United States. Chemosphere 70(11), 1935–1944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.10.002
- Johnson-Restrepo, B., Kannan, K., Addink, R., Adams, D.H., 2005. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and polychlorinated biphenyls in a marine foodweb of coastal Florida. Environ. Sci. Technol. 39(21), 8243– 8250. https://doi.org/10.1021/es051551y
- Johnson, L.L., Anulacion, B.F., Arkoosh, M.R., Burrows, D.G., da Silva, D.A.M., Dietrich, J.P., Myers, M.S., Spromberg, J., Ylitalo, G.M., 2013. Effects of legacy persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in fish current and future challenges. Fish Physiol. 33, 53–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-398254-4.00002-9
- Johnson, P.I., Stapleton, H.M., Mukherjee, B., Hauser, R., Meeker, J.D., 2013. Associations between brominated flame retardants in house dust and hormone levels in men. Sci. Total Environ. 445–446, 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.12.017
- Jones, K.C., 2021. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and related chemicals in the global environment:

some personal reflections. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55(14), 9400–9412. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.0C08093

- Jones, K.C., de Voogt, P., 1999. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs): state of the science. Environ. Pollut. 100(1-3), 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00098-6
- Jönsson, A., Gustafsson, Ö., Axelman, J., Sundberg, H., 2003. Global accounting of PCBs in the continental shelf sediments. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37(2), 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0201404
- Josefsson, S., Leonardsson, K., Gunnarsson, J.S., Wiberg, K., 2010. Bioturbation-driven release of buried PCBs and PBDEs from different depths in contaminated sediments. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44(19), 7456–7464. https://doi.org/10.1021/es100615g
- Jourdain, E., Gauthier-Clerc, M., Bicout, D., Sabatier, P., 2007. Bird migration routes and risk for pathogen dispersion into western Mediterranean wetlands. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 13(3), 365–372. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1303.060301
- Jurado, E., Dachs, J., 2008. Seasonality in the "grasshopping" and atmospheric residence times of persistent organic pollutants over the oceans. Geophys. Res. Lett. 35(17), L17805. https://doi.org/10.1029/2008GL034698
- Kabir, E.R., Rahman, M.S., Rahman, I., 2015. A review on endocrine disruptors and their possible impacts on human health. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 40(1), 241–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2015.06.009
- Kafafi, S.A., Afeefy, H.Y., Ali, A.H., Said, H.K., Kafafi, A.G., 1993. Binding of polychlorinated biphenyls to the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. Environ. Health Perspect. 101(5), 422–428. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.93101422
- Kajiwara, N., Kamikawa, S., Amano, M., Hayano, A., Yamada, T.K., Miyazaki, N., Tanabe, S., 2008.
 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and organochlorines in melon-headed whales,
 Peponocephala electra, mass stranded along the Japanese coasts: maternal transfer and temporal trend. Environ. Pollut. 156(1), 106–114. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.12.034
- Kajiwara, N., Kamikawa, S., Ramu, K., Ueno, D., Yamada, T.K., Subramanian, A., Lam, P.K.S., Jefferson, T.A., Prudente, M., Chung, K.H., Tanabe, S., 2006. Geographical distribution of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and organochlorines in small cetaceans from Asian waters. Chemosphere 64(2), 287– 295. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.12.013
- Kallenborn, R., 2006. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) as environmental risk factors in remote highaltitude ecosystems. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 63(1), 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2005.02.016
- Kanan, S., Samara, F., 2018. Dioxins and furans: a review from chemical and environmental perspectives. Trends Environ. Anal. Chem. 17, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.teac.2017.12.001
- Kanerva, M., Routti, H., Tamuz, Y., Nyman, M., Nikinmaa, M., 2012. Antioxidative defense and oxidative stress in ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) from differently polluted areas. Aquat. Toxicol. 114–115, 67–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.02.013
- Kania-Korwel, I., Lehmler, H.-J., 2016. Toxicokinetics of chiral polychlorinated biphenyls across different species—a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23, 2058–2080. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-015-4383-0
- Kannan, K., Blankenship, A.L., Jones, P.D., Giesy, J.P., 2000. Toxicity reference values for the toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls to aquatic mammals. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. An Int. J. 6(1), 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807030091124491
- Kannan, K., Tanabe, S., Borrell, A., Aguilar, A., Focardi, S., Tatsukawa, R., 1993. Isomer-specific analysis and toxic evaluation of polychlorinated biphenyls in striped dolphins affected by an epizootic in the western Mediterranean sea. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 25, 227-233. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00212134

- Kannan, N., Tanabe, S., Ono, M., Tatsukawa, R., 1989. Critical evaluation of polychlorinated biphenyl toxicity in terrestrial and marine mammals: Increasing impact of non-ortho and mono-ortho coplanar polychlorinated biphenyls from land to ocean. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 18, 850–857. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01160300
- Kazanidis, G., Orejas, C., Borja, A., Kenchington, E., Henry, L.-A., Callery, O., Carreiro-Silva, M., Egilsdottir, H., Giacomello, E., Grehan, A., Menot, L., Morato, T., Ragnarsson, S.Á., Rueda, J.L., Stirling, D., Stratmann, T., van Oevelen, D., Palialexis, A., Johnson, D., Roberts, J.M., 2020. Assessing the environmental status of selected North Atlantic deep-sea ecosystems. Ecol. Indic. 119, 106624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2020.106624
- Kelly, B.C., Ikonomou, M.G., Blair, J.D., Morin, A.E., Gobas, F.A.P.C., 2007. Food web–specific biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants. Science. 317(5835), 236–239. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1138275
- Kharrazian, D., 2021. Exposure to environmental toxins and autoimmune conditions. Integr. Med. (Encinitas). 20(2), 20–24.
- Kierkegaard, A., Asplund, L., de Wit, C.A., McLachlan, M.S., Thomas, G.O., Sweetman, A.J., Jones, K.C., 2007. Fate of higher brominated PBDEs in lactating cows. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41(2), 417–423. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0619197
- Kim, E.-K., Barghi, M., Choi, M., Moon, H.-B., 2019. Spatial and temporal trends of PCDD/Fs in sediment and bivalves along the Korean coasts during 2001–2012. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 146, 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.06.002
- Kime, D.E., 1995. The effects of pollution on reproduction in fish. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 5, 52–95. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01103366
- King-Heiden, T.C., Mehta, V., Xiong, K.M., Lanham, K.A., Antkiewicz, D.S., Ganser, A., Heideman, W., Peterson, R.E., 2012. Reproductive and developmental toxicity of dioxin in fish. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 354(1-2), 121–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mce.2011.09.027
- Kirkok, S.K., Kibet, J.K., Kinyanjui, T.K., Okanga, F.I., 2020. A review of persistent organic pollutants: dioxins, furans, and their associated nitrogenated analogues. SN Appl. Sci. 2, 1729. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-03551-y
- Kiviranta, H., Ovaskainen, M.-L., Vartiainen, T., 2004. Market basket study on dietary intake of PCDD/Fs, PCBs, and PBDEs in Finland. Environ. Int. 30(7), 923–932. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2004.03.002
- Klinčić, D., Dvoršćak, M., Jagić, K., Mendaš, G., Herceg Romanić, S., 2020. Levels and distribution of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in humans and environmental compartments: a comprehensive review of the last five years of research. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27, 5744–5758. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-07598-7
- Knap, A.H., Jickells, T.D., 1983. Trace metals and organochlorines in the goosebeaked whale. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 14(7), 271–274. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-326X(83)90172-8
- Koenig, S., Huertas, D., Fernández, P., 2013. Legacy and emergent persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in NW Mediterranean deep-sea organisms. Sci. Total Environ. 443, 358–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.10.111
- Korrick, S.A., Sagiv, S.K., 2008. Polychlorinated biphenyls, organochlorine pesticides and neurodevelopment. Curr. Opin. Pediatr. 20(2), 198–204. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0b013e3282f6a4e9
- Kostianoy, A.G., Carpenter, A., 2018. History, sources and volumes of oil pollution in the Mediterranean Sea. Oil Pollution in the Mediterranean Sea: Part I: The International Context. pp. 9–31. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2018_369
- Kousteni, V., Karachle, P.K., Megalofonou, P., 2017. Diet of the small-spotted catshark Scyliorhinus canicula

in the Aegean Sea (eastern Mediterranean). Mar. Biol. Res. 13(2), 161–173. https://doi.org/10.1080/17451000.2016.1239019

- Krahn, M.M., Bradley Hanson, M., Schorr, G.S., Emmons, C.K., Burrows, D.G., Bolton, J.L., Baird, R.W., Ylitalo, G.M., 2009. Effects of age, sex and reproductive status on persistent organic pollutant concentrations in "Southern Resident" killer whales. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58(10), 1522–1529. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.05.014
- Kratofil, M.A., Ylitalo, G.M., Mahaffy, S.D., West, K.L., Baird, R.W., 2020. Life history and social structure as drivers of persistent organic pollutant levels and stable isotopes in Hawaiian false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*). Sci. Total Environ. 733, 138880. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.138880
- Król, S., Zabiegała, B., Namieśnik, J., 2012. PBDEs in environmental samples: sampling and analysis. Talanta 93, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.talanta.2012.01.048
- Kucklick, J., Schwacke, L., Wells, R., Hohn, A., Guichard, A., Yordy, J., Hansen, L., Zolman, E., Wilson, R., Litz, J., Nowacek, D., Rowles, T., Pugh, R., Balmer, B., Sinclair, C., Rosel, P., 2011. Bottlenose dolphins as indicators of persistent organic pollutants in the western North Atlantic Ocean and northern Gulf of Mexico. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45(10), 4270–4277. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1042244
- Kudyakov, R., Baibergenova, A., Zdeb, M., Carpenter, D.O., 2004. Respiratory disease in relation to patient residence near to hazardous waste sites. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 18(3), 249–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2004.06.005
- Kulkarni, P.S., Crespo, J.G., Afonso, C.A.M., 2008. Dioxins sources and current remediation technologies a review. Environ. Int. 34(1), 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2007.07.009
- Kumar, M., Sarma, D.K., Shubham, S., Kumawat, M., Verma, V., Prakash, A., Tiwari, R., 2020. Environmental endocrine-disrupting chemical exposure: role in non-communicable diseases. Front. Public Heal. 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.553850
- La Guardia, M.J., Hale, R.C., Harvey, E., 2007. Evidence of debromination of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE-209) in biota from a wastewater receiving stream. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41(19), 6663–6670. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES070728G/SUPPL_FILE/ES070728GSI20070326_023751.PDF
- La Guardia, M.J., Hale, R.C., Harvey, E., 2006. Detailed polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) congener composition of the widely used penta-, octa-, and deca-PBDE technical flame-retardant mixtures. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40(20), 6247–6254. https://doi.org/10.1021/es060630m
- La Merrill, M., Emond, C., Kim, M.J., Antignac, J.-P., Le Bizec, B., Clément, K., Birnbaum, L.S., Barouki, R., 2013. Toxicological function of adipose tissue: focus on persistent organic pollutants. Environ. Health Perspect. 121(2), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205485
- Lambiase, S., Serpe, F.P., Pilia, M., Fiorito, F., Iaccarino, D., Gallo, P., Esposito, M., 2021. Polychlorinated organic pollutants (PCDD/Fs and DL-PCBs) in loggerhead (*Caretta caretta*) and green (*Chelonia mydas*) turtles from Central-Southern Tyrrhenian Sea. Chemosphere 263, 128226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.128226
- Langenbach, T., 2013. Persistence and bioaccumulation of persistent organic pollutants (POPs). In: Applied Bioremediation Active and Passive Approaches. InTech. https://doi.org/10.5772/56418
- Lao, Q., Liu, G., Zhou, X., Chen, F., Zhang, S., 2021. Sources of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethanes (DDTs) found in surface sediment from coastal areas of Beibu Gulf: a reflection on shipping activities and coastal industries. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 167, 112318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112318
- Lapworth, D.J., Baran, N., Stuart, M.E., Ward, R.S., 2012. Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater: A review of sources, fate and occurrence. Environ. Pollut. 163, 287–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.12.034
- Larsson, P., Andersson, A., Broman, D., Nordbäck, J., Lundberg, E., 2000. Persistent organic pollutants

(POPs) in pelagic systems. AMBIO A J. Hum. Environ. 29(4), 202–209. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-29.4.202

- Laubier, L., 2005. Mediterranean Sea and humans: improving a conflictual partnership. In: Saliot, A. (eds) The Mediterranean Sea. Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 5K. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/b107142
- Lavandier, R., Arêas, J., Quinete, N., de Moura, J.F., Taniguchi, S., Montone, R., Siciliano, S., Hauser-Davis, R.A., Moreira, I., 2019. PCB and PBDE contamination in *Tursiops truncatus* and *Stenella frontalis*, two data-deficient threatened dolphin species from the Brazilian coast. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 167, 485– 493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.10.045
- Law, R., 2003. Levels and trends of polybrominated diphenylethers and other brominated flame retardants in wildlife. Environ. Int. 29(6), 757–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-4120(03)00110-7
- Law, R.J., Alaee, M., Allchin, C.R., Boon, J.P., Lebeuf, M., Lepom, P., Stern, G.A., 2003. Levels and trends of polybrominated diphenylethers and other brominated flame retardants in wildlife. Environ. Int. 29(6), 757–770. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0160-4120(03)00110-7
- Law, R.J., Allchin, C.R., Mead, L.K., 2005. Brominated diphenyl ethers in the blubber of twelve species of marine mammals stranded in the UK. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50(3), 356–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2005.01.014
- Law, R.J., Barry, J., Barber, J.L., Bersuder, P., Deaville, R., Reid, R.J., Brownlow, A., Penrose, R., Barnett, J., Loveridge, J., Smith, B., Jepson, P.D., 2012. Contaminants in cetaceans from UK waters: status as assessed within the Cetacean Strandings Investigation Programme from 1990 to 2008. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64(7), 1485–1494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.05.024
- Law, R.J., Covaci, A., Harrad, S., Herzke, D., Abdallah, M.A.E., Fernie, K., Toms, L.M.L., Takigami, H., 2014. Levels and trends of PBDEs and HBCDs in the global environment: status at the end of 2012. Environ. Int. 65, 147–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2014.01.006
- Law, R.J., Jepson, P.D., 2017. Europe's insufficient pollutant remediation. Science 356(6334), 148-148 https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam6274
- Lebeuf, M., Gouteux, B., Measures, L., Trottier, S., 2004. Levels and temporal trends (1988-1999) of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) from the St. Lawrence Estuary, Canada. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38(11), 2971–2977. https://doi.org/10.1021/es035187j
- Lebeuf, M., Measures, L., Noël, M., Raach, M., Trottier, S., 2014. A twenty-one year temporal trend of persistent organic pollutants in St. Lawrence Estuary beluga, Canada. Sci. Total Environ. 485–486, 377–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2014.03.097
- Lee, H.-K., Jeong, Y., Lee, S., Jeong, W., Choy, E.-J., Kang, C.-K., Lee, W.-C., Kim, S.-J., Moon, H.-B., 2015a. Persistent organochlorines in 13 shark species from offshore and coastal waters of Korea: Speciesspecific accumulation and contributing factors. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 115, 195–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.02.021
- Lee, H.-K., Kim, S.-J., Jeong, Y., Lee, S., Jeong, W., Lee, W.-C., Choy, E.-J., Kang, C.-K., Moon, H.-B., 2015b. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in thirteen shark species from offshore and coastal waters of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 95(1), 374–379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.04.018
- Lee, H.J., Kim, G.B., 2015. An overview of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in the marine environment. Ocean Sci. J. 50, 119-142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12601-015-0010-8
- Lee, S.-H., Ra, J.-S., Choi, J.-W., Yim, B.-J., Jung, M.-S., Kim, S.-D., 2014. Human health risks associated with dietary exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in river water in Korea. Sci. Total Environ. 470–471, 1362–1369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.08.030
- Leijs, M.M., Koppe, J.G., Olie, K., Aalderen, W.M.C. van, Voogt, P. de, Tusscher, G.W. ten, 2009. Effects of dioxins, PCBs, and PBDEs on immunology and hematology in adolescents. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43(20), 7946–7951. https://doi.org/10.1021/es901480f

- Lejeusne, C., Chevaldonné, P., Pergent-Martini, C., Boudouresque, C.F., Pérez, T., 2010. Climate change effects on a miniature ocean: the highly diverse, highly impacted Mediterranean Sea. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25(4), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.10.009
- Lelieveld, J., Berresheim, H., Borrmann, S., Crutzen, P.J., Dentener, F.J., Fischer, H., Feichter, J., Flatau, P.J., Heland, J., Holzinger, R., Korrmann, R., Lawrence, M.G., Levin, Z., Markowicz, K.M., Mihalopoulos, N., Minikin, A., Ramanathan, V., Reus, M. de, Roelofs, G.J., Scheeren, H.A., Sciare, J., Schlager, H., Schultz, M., Siegmund, P., Steil, B., Stephanou, E.G., Stier, P., Traub, M., Warneke, C., Williams, J., Ziereis, H., 2002. Global air pollution crossroads over the Mediterranean. Science 298(5594), 794–799. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1075457
- Lema, S.C., Dickey, J.T., Schultz, I.R., Swanson, P., 2008. Dietary exposure to 2,2′,4,4′tetrabromodiphenyl ether (PBDE-47) alters thyroid status and thyroid hormone–regulated gene transcription in the pituitary and brain. Environ. Health Perspect. 116(12), 1694–1699. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.11570
- Leonards, P.E., van Hattum, B., Leslie, H., 2008. Assessing the risks of persistent organic pollutants to top predators: a review of approaches. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 4(4), 386-398. https://doi.org/10.1897/IEAM_2008-008.1
- Lerro, C.C., Jones, R.R., Langseth, H., Grimsrud, T.K., Engel, L.S., Sjödin, A., Choo-Wosoba, H., Albert, P., Ward, M.H., 2018. A nested case-control study of polychlorinated biphenyls, organochlorine pesticides, and thyroid cancer in the Janus Serum Bank cohort. Environ. Res. 165, 125–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.04.012
- Letcher, R.J., Lu, Z., de Solla, S.R., Sandau, C.D., Fernie, K.J., 2015. Snapping turtles (*Chelydra serpentina*) from Canadian Areas of Concern across the southern Laurentian Great Lakes: chlorinated and brominated hydrocarbon contaminants and metabolites in relation to circulating concentrations of thyroxine and vitamin A. Environ. Res. 143, 266–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.10.015
- Levin, M., Morsey, B., Mori, C., Guise, S. De, 2004. Specific non-coplanar pcb-mediated modulation of bottlenose dolphin and beluga whale phagocytosis upon in vitro exposure. J. Toxicol. Environ. Heal. Part A 67(19), 1517–1535. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390490486761
- Li, B., Chen, J., Du, Q., Wang, B., Qu, Y., Chang, Z., 2020. Toxic effects of dechlorane plus on the common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) embryonic development. Chemosphere 249, 126481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2020.126481
- Li, C.-S., Wu, K.-Y., Chang-Chien, G.-P., Chou, C.-C., 2005. Analysis of oxidative DNA damage 8-Hydroxy-2'deoxyguanosine as a biomarker of exposures to persistent pollutants for marine mammals. Environ. Sci. Technol. 39(8), 2455–2460. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0487123
- Li, H., Duan, D., Beckingham, B., Yang, Y., Ran, Y., Grathwohl, P., 2020. Impact of trophic levels on partitioning and bioaccumulation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in particulate organic matter and plankton. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 160, 111527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111527
- Li, Z.-H., Liu, X.-Y., Wang, N., Chen, J.-S., Chen, Y.-H., Huang, J.-T., Su, C.-H., Xie, F., Yu, B., Chen, D.-J., 2012. Effects of decabrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE-209) in regulation of growth and apoptosis of breast, ovarian, and cervical cancer cells. Environ. Health Perspect. 120(4), 541–546. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1104051
- Liang, X., Zha, J., 2016. Toxicogenomic applications of Chinese rare minnow (*Gobiocypris rarus*) in aquatic toxicology. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part D Genomics Proteomics 19, 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbd.2016.06.007
- Licandro, P., Conway, D.V.P., Daly Yahia, M.N., Fernandez de Puelles, M.L., Gasparini, S., Hecq, J.H., Tranter, P., Kirby, R.R., 2010. A blooming jellyfish in the northeast Atlantic and Mediterranean. Biol. Lett. 6(5), 688–691. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2010.0150
- Liem, A.K.D., van Zorge, J.A., 1995. Dioxins and related compounds: status and regulatory aspects. Environ.

Sci. Pollut. Res. 2, 46–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02987513

- Lim, J., Nam, C., Yang, J., Rha, K.H., Lim, K.-M., Jee, S.H., 2017. Serum persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and prostate cancer risk: A case-cohort study. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 220(5), 849–856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.03.014
- Lindell, M.J., Bremle, G., Broberg, O., Larsson, P., 2001. Monitoring of persistent organic pollutants (POPs): examples from Lake Vättern, Sweden. AMBIO A J. Hum. Environ. 30(8), 545–551. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-30.8.545
- Liu, L., Wu, Q., Miao, X., Fan, T., Meng, Z., Chen, X., Zhu, W., 2022. Study on toxicity effects of environmental pollutants based on metabolomics: A review. Chemosphere 286, 131815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131815
- Liu, Y., Fu, X., Tao, S., Liu, L., Li, W., Meng, B., 2015. Comparison and analysis of organochlorine pesticides and hexabromobiphenyls in environmental samples by gas chromatography-electron capture detector and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. J. Chromatogr. Sci. 53(2), 197–203. https://doi.org/10.1093/chromsci/bmu048
- Llobet, J.M., Bocio, A., Domingo, J.L., Teixidó, A., Casas, C., Müller, L., 2003. Levels of polychlorinated biphenyls in foods from Catalonia, Spain: estimated dietary intake. J. Food Prot. 66(3), 479–484. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-66.3.479
- Lloret-Lloret, E., Albo-Puigserver, M., Giménez, J., Navarro, J., Pennino, M.G., Steenbeek, J., Bellido, J.M., Coll, M., 2022. Small pelagic fish fitness relates to local environmental conditions and trophic variables. Prog. Oceanogr. 202, 102745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2022.102745
- Lockyer, C., 1976. Body weights of some species of large whales. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 36(3), 259–273. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/36.3.259
- Lohman, K., Seigneur, C., 2001. Atmospheric fate and transport of dioxins: local impacts. Chemosphere 45(2), 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00559-2
- Lohmann, R., Breivik, K., Dachs, J., Muir, D., 2007. Global fate of POPs: current and future research directions. Environ. Pollut. 150(1), 150–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.06.051
- Lohmann, R., Jones, K.C., 1998. Dioxins and furans in air and deposition: A review of levels, behaviour and processes. Sci. Total Environ. 219(1), 53–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(98)00237-X
- Lohmann, R., Jurado, E., Pilson, M.E.Q., Dachs, J., 2006. Oceanic deep water formation as a sink of persistent organic pollutants. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33(12), L12607. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL025953
- Lohmann, R., Markham, E., Klanova, J., Kukucka, P., Pribylova, P., Gong, X., Pockalny, R., Yanishevsky, T., Wagner, C.C., Sunderland, E.M., 2021. Trends of diverse POPs in air and water across the western Atlantic Ocean: strong gradients in the Ocean but not in the air. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55(14), 9498– 9507. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c04611
- López-Berenguer, G., Acosta-Dacal, A., Luzardo, O.P., Peñalver, J., Martínez-López, E., 2023. POPs concentrations in cetaceans stranded along the agricultural coastline of SE Spain show lower burdens of industrial pollutants in comparison to other Mediterranean cetaceans. Sci. Total Environ. 858, 159743. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.159743
- Louis, G.M.B., Sundaram, R., Schisterman, E.F., Sweeney, A.M., Lynch, C.D., Gore-Langton, R.E., Maisog, J., Kim, S., Chen, Z., Barr, D.B., 2013. Persistent environmental pollutants and couple fecundity: The LIFE Study. Environ. Health Perspect. 121(2), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205301
- Luo, X., Yu, M., Mai, B., Chen, S., 2008. Distribution and partition of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in water of the Zhujiang River Estuary. Chinese Sci. Bull. 53(4), 493–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11434-008-0126-7
- Lyons, K., Adams, D.H., 2015. Maternal offloading of organochlorine contaminants in the yolk-sac placental scalloped hammerhead shark (*Sphyrna lewini*). Ecotoxicology 24, 553–562.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-014-1403-7

- Lyons, K., Adams, D.H., Bizzarro, J.J., 2021. Evaluation of muscle tissue as a non-lethal proxy for liver and brain organic contaminant loads in an elasmobranch, the Bonnethead Shark (*Sphyrna tiburo*). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 167, 112327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112327
- Lyons, K., Lowe, C.G., 2013. Quantification of maternal offloading of organic contaminants in elasmobranchs using the histotrophic round stingray (*Urobatis halleri*) as a model. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47(21), 12450–12458. https://doi.org/10.1021/es402347d
- M. Azab, A., M. El-Far, A., M. El-Sayed, A., 2019. Age, growth and population structure of bogue, *Boops boops*, in the mediterranean waters front Alexandria, Egypt. J. Aquat. Biol. Fish. 23(3), 69–81. https://doi.org/10.21608/ejabf.2019.35327
- M. Frame, G., Cochran, J., Bøwadt, S., 1996. Complete PCB congener distributions for 17 Aroclor mixtures determined by 3 HRGC systems optimized for comprehensive, quantitative, congener-specific analysis. J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 19(12), 657–668. https://doi.org/10.1002/jhrc.1240191202
- Mackay, D., Fraser, A., 2000. Bioaccumulation of persistent organic chemicals: mechanisms and models. Environ. Pollut. 110(3), 375–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(00)00162-7
- MacKenzie, B.R., Mosegaard, H., Rosenberg, A.A., 2009. Impending collapse of bluefin tuna in the northeast Atlantic and Mediterranean. Conserv. Lett. 2(1), 26–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-263X.2008.00039.x
- Madgett, A.S., Yates, K., Webster, L., McKenzie, C., Brownlow, A., Moffat, C.F., 2022. The concentration and biomagnification of PCBs and PBDEs across four trophic levels in a marine food web. Environ. Pollut. 309, 119752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119752
- Madgett, A.S., Yates, K., Webster, L., McKenzie, C., Moffat, C.F., 2019. Understanding marine food web dynamics using fatty acid signatures and stable isotope ratios: Improving contaminant impacts assessments across trophic levels. Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci. 227, 106327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2019.106327
- Maggini, I., Cardinale, M., Sundberg, J.H., Spina, F., Fusani, L., 2020. Recent phenological shifts of migratory birds at a Mediterranean spring stopover site: Species wintering in the Sahel advance passage more than tropical winterers. PLoS One 15(9), e0239489. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239489
- Mandalakis, M., Berresheim, H., Stephanou, E.G., 2003. Direct evidence for destruction of polychlorobiphenyls by OH radicals in the subtropical troposphere. Environ. Sci. Technol. 37(3), 542–547. https://doi.org/10.1021/es020163i
- Marek, R.F., Thorne, P.S., Herkert, N.J., Awad, A.M., Hornbuckle, K.C., 2017. Airborne PCBs and OH-PCBs inside and outside urban and rural U.S. schools. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51(14), 7853–7860. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01910
- Markowitz, G., Rosner, D., 2018. Monsanto, PCBs, and the creation of a "world-wide ecological problem." J. Public Health Policy 39, 463–540. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41271-018-0146-8
- Marlatt, V.L., Bayen, S., Castaneda-Cortès, D., Delbès, G., Grigorova, P., Langlois, V.S., Martyniuk, C.J., Metcalfe, C.D., Parent, L., Rwigemera, A., Thomson, P., Van Der Kraak, G., 2022. Impacts of endocrine disrupting chemicals on reproduction in wildlife and humans. Environ. Res. 208, 112584. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112584
- Marler, H., Adams, D.H., Wu, Y., Nielsen, C.K., Shen, L., Reiner, E.J., Chen, D., 2018. Maternal transfer of flame retardants in sharks from the western north Atlantic Ocean. Environ. Sci. Technol. 52(22), 12978–12986. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01613
- Marmer, E., Langmann, B., 2005. Impact of ship emissions on the Mediterranean summertime pollution and climate: A regional model study. Atmos. Environ. 39(26), 4659–4669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.04.014
- Marshall, E.G., Gensburg, L.J., Deres, D.A., Geary, N.S., Cayo, M.R., 1997. Maternal residential exposure to

hazardous wastes and risk of central nervous system and musculoskeletal birth defects. Arch. Environ. Heal. An Int. J. 52(6), 416–425. https://doi.org/10.1080/00039899709602220

- Marsili, L., Di Guardo, G., Mazzariol, S., Casini, S., 2019. Insights into cetacean immunology: Do ecological and biological factors make the difference? Front. Immunol. 10, 1219. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2019.01219/BIBTEX
- Marsili, L., Focardi, S., 1996. Organochlorine levels in subcutaneous blubber biopsies of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) and striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) from the Mediterranean Sea. Environ. Pollut. 91(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(95)00037-R
- Marsili, L., Jiménez, B., Borrell, A., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants in cetaceans living in a hotspot area. In: Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology. Elsevier, pp. 185–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00007-3
- Marsili, L., Maltese, S., Coppola, D., Carletti, L., Mazzariol, S., Fossi, M.C., 2014. Ecotoxicological status of seven sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) stranded along the Adriatic coast of Southern Italy. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 24(S1), 103–118. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2447
- Martí-Cid, R., Bocio, A., Llobet, J.M., Domingo, J.L., 2007. Intake of chemical contaminants through fish and seafood consumption by children of Catalonia, Spain: health risks. Food Chem. Toxicol. 45(10), 1968–1974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2007.04.014
- Martineau, D., De Guise, S., Fournier, M., Shugart, L., Girard, C., Lagacé, A., Béland, P., 1994. Pathology and toxicology of beluga whales from the St. Lawrence Estuary, Quebec, Canada. Past, present and future. Sci. Total Environ. 154(2-3), 201–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(94)90088-4
- Martineau, D., Lemberger, K., Dallaire, A., Labelle, P., Lipscomb, T.P., Michel, P., Mikaelian, I., 2002. Cancer in wildlife, a case study: beluga from the St. Lawrence estuary, Québec, Canada. Environ. Health Perspect. 110(3), 285–292. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.02110285
- Marushka, L., Hu, X., Batal, M., Tikhonov, C., Sadik, T., Schwartz, H., Ing, A., Fediuk, K., Chan, H.M., 2021. The relationship between dietary exposure to persistent organic pollutants from fish consumption and type 2 diabetes among First Nations in Canada. Can. J. Public Heal. 112(Suppl 1), 168–182. https://doi.org/10.17269/s41997-021-00484-w
- Massone, C.G., dos Santos, A.A., Ferreira, P.G., Carreira, R. da S., 2023. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in sardine (*Sardinella brasiliensis*): Biomonitoring and potential human health effects. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 20(3), 2036. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph20032036
- Matta, E.J., 2018. Pollution in the Uruguay Argentina border: critical data analysis from two rivers and the pulp mill effluent. Int. J. Environ. Heal. 9(1), 84-109. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJENVH.2018.090876
- Matthews, V., Päpke, O., Gaus, C., 2008. PCDD/Fs and PCBs in seafood species from Moreton Bay, Queensland, Australia. Mar. Pollut. Bull., 5th International Conference on Marine Pollution and Ecotoxicology 57(6-12), 392–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2008.01.034
- Mauffret, A., Chouvelon, T., Wessel, N., Cresson, P., Bănaru, D., Baudrier, J., Bustamante, P., Chekri, R., Jitaru, P., Le Loc'h, F., Mialet, B., Vaccher, V., Harmelin-Vivien, M., 2023. Trace elements, dioxins and PCBs in different fish species and marine regions: Importance of the taxon and regional features. Environ. Res. 216, 114624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.114624
- Mazdai, A., Dodder, N.G., Abernathy, M.P., Hites, R.A., Bigsby, R.M., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in maternal and fetal blood samples. Environ. Health Perspect. 111(9), 1249–1252. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.6146
- Mazzariol, S., Di Guardo, G., Petrella, A., Marsili, L., Fossi, C.M., Leonzio, C., Zizzo, N., Vizzini, S., Gaspari, S., Pavan, G., Podestà, M., Garibaldi, F., Ferrante, M., Copat, C., Traversa, D., Marcer, F., Airoldi, S., Frantzis, A., De Bernaldo Quirós, Y., Cozzi, B., Fernández, A., 2011. Sometimes sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) cannot find their way back to the high seas: A multidisciplinary study on a mass stranding. PLoS One 6(5), e19417. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019417

- McKay, G., 2002. Dioxin characterisation, formation and minimisation during municipal solid waste (MSW) incineration: review. Chem. Eng. J. 86(3), 343–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1385-8947(01)00228-5
- McKinney, M.A., De Guise, S., Martineau, D., Béland, P., Lebeuf, M., Letcher, R.J., 2006. Organohalogen contaminants and metabolites in beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*) liver from two canadian populations. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 25(5), 1246. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-284R.1
- McQuatters-Gollop, A., Guérin, L., Arroyo, N.L., Aubert, A., Artigas, L.F., Bedford, J., Corcoran, E., Dierschke, V., Elliott, S.A.M., Geelhoed, S.C.V., Gilles, A., González-Irusta, J.M., Haelters, J., Johansen, M., Le Loc'h, F., Lynam, C.P., Niquil, N., Meakins, B., Mitchell, I., Padegimas, B., Pesch, R., Preciado, I., Rombouts, I., Safi, G., Schmitt, P., Schückel, U., Serrano, A., Stebbing, P., De la Torriente, A., Vina-Herbon, C., 2022. Assessing the state of marine biodiversity in the Northeast Atlantic. Ecol. Indic. 141, 109148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2022.109148
- Meeker, J.D., Johnson, P.I., Camann, D., Hauser, R., 2009. Polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) concentrations in house dust are related to hormone levels in men. Sci. Total Environ. 407(10), 3425–3429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.01.030
- Megson, D., Brown, T., Jones, G.R., Robson, M., Johnson, G.W., Tiktak, G.P., Sandau, C.D., Reiner, E.J., 2022. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) concentrations and profiles in marine mammals from the North Atlantic Ocean. Chemosphere 288(3), 132639. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132639
- Meinesz, A., Lefevre, J.R., Astier, J.M., 1991. Impact of coastal development on the infralittoral zone along the southeastern Mediterranean shore of continental France. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 23, 343–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-326X(91)90698-R
- Mejjad, N., Rossi, A., Pavel, A.B., 2022. The coastal tourism industry in the Mediterranean: A critical review of the socio-economic and environmental pressures & impacts. Tour. Manag. Perspect. 44, 101007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2022.101007
- Melymuk, L., Blumenthal, J., Sáňka, O., Shu-Yin, A., Singla, V., Šebková, K., Pullen Fedinick, K., Diamond,
 M.L., 2022. Persistent problem: global dhallenges to managing PCBs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 56(12),
 9029–9040. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c01204
- Menezes-Sousa, D., Alonso, M.B., Pizzochero, A.C., Viana, D., Roque, P., Hazin, F.H.V., Torres, J.P.M., 2021. Equatorial Atlantic pelagic predators reveal low content of PBDEs in contrast to MeO-BDEs: An analysis of brominated diphenyl ethers in blue shark and yellowfin tuna. Sci. Total Environ. 788, 147820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147820
- Merhaby, D., Rabodonirina, S., Net, S., Ouddane, B., Halwani, J., 2019. Overview of sediments pollution by PAHs and PCBs in mediterranean basin: Transport, fate, occurrence, and distribution. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 149, 110646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.110646
- Metcalfe, C., Koenig, B., Metcalfe, T., Paterson, G., Sears, R., 2004. Intra- and inter-species differences in persistent organic contaminants in the blubber of blue whales and humpback whales from the Gulf of St. Lawrence, Canada. Mar. Environ. Res. 57(4), 245–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2003.08.003
- Metelkova, L., Zhakovskaya, Z., Kukhareva, G., Rybalko, A., Nikiforov, V., 2019. Occurrence of PCDD/PCDFs, dioxin-like PCBs, and PBDEs in surface sediments from the Neva River and the Eastern Gulf of Finland (Russia). Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26(8), 7375–7389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1945-y
- Mhadhbi, L., Fumega, J., Boumaiza, M., Beiras, R., 2012. Acute toxicity of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) for turbot (*Psetta maxima*) early life stages (ELS). Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 19, 708–717. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-011-0602-5
- Miglioranza, K.S.B., Ondarza, P.M., Grondona, S.I., Scenna, L.B., 2023. Persistent organic contaminants. In: Marine Analytical Chemistry. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 275–306. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-14486-8_5

Mikolajczyk, S., Warenik-Bany, M., Pajurek, M., 2021. PCDD/Fs and PCBs in Baltic fish – Recent data, risk for

consumers. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 171, 112763. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112763

- Milićević, T., Romanić, S.H., Popović, A., Mustać, B., Đinović-Stojanović, J., Jovanović, G., Relić, D., 2022. Human health risks and benefits assessment based on OCPs, PCBs, toxic elements and fatty acids in the pelagic fish species from the Adriatic Sea. Chemosphere 287, 132068. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132068
- Miniero, R., Abate, V., Brambilla, G., Davoli, E., De Felip, E., De Filippis, S.P., Dellatte, E., De Luca, S., Fanelli, R., Fattore, E., Ferri, F., Fochi, I., Rita Fulgenzi, A., Iacovella, N., Iamiceli, A.L., Lucchetti, D., Melotti, P., Moret, I., Piazza, R., Roncarati, A., Ubaldi, A., Zambon, S., di Domenico, A., 2014. Persistent toxic substances in Mediterranean aquatic species. Sci. Total Environ. 494–495, 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.131
- Misra, B.B., Ruiz-Hernández, I.M., Hernández-Bolio, G.I., Hernández-Núñez, E., Díaz-Gamboa, R., Colli-Dula, R.C., 2019. 1H NMR metabolomic analysis of skin and blubber of bottlenose dolphins reveals a functional metabolic dichotomy. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part D Genomics Proteomics 30, 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbd.2019.02.004
- Mocarelli, P., 2001. Seveso: a teaching story. Chemosphere 43(4-7), 391–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00386-6
- Mol, H.G.J., Tienstra, M., Zomer, P., 2016. Evaluation of gas chromatography electron ionization full scan high resolution Orbitrap mass spectrometry for pesticide residue analysis. Anal. Chim. Acta 935, 161–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2016.06.017
- Möller, A., Xie, Z., Sturm, R., Ebinghaus, R., 2011. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and alternative brominated flame retardants in air and seawater of the European Arctic. Environ. Pollut. 159(6), 1577–1583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.02.054
- Molnar, J.L., Gamboa, R.L., Revenga, C., Spalding, M.D., 2008. Assessing the global threat of invasive species to marine biodiversity. Front. Ecol. Environ. 6(9), 485–492. https://doi.org/10.1890/070064
- Monosson, E., Ashley, J.T.F., McElroy, A.E., Woltering, D., Elskus, A.A., 2003. PCB congener distributions in muscle, liver and gonad of *Fundulus heteroclitus* from the lower Hudson River Estuary and Newark Bay. Chemosphere 52(4), 777–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00228-5
- Moon, H.-B., Choi, H.G., 2009. Human exposure to PCDDs, PCDFs and dioxin-like PCBs associated with seafood consumption in Korea from 2005 to 2007. Environ. Int. 35(2), 279–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2008.07.003
- Morales, L., Abad, E., Roscales, J.L., Vicente, A., Mu, J., Aguirre, J.I., 2016. Influence of trophic ecology on the accumulation of dioxins and furans (PCDD/Fs), non- ortho polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in Mediterranean gulls (*Arus michahellis* and *L. audouinii*): A three-isotope approach. Environ. Pollut. 212, 307-315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.01.078
- Moses, S.K., Whiting, A. V., Bratton, G.R., Taylor, R.J., O'Hara, T.M., 2009. Inorganic nutrients and contaminants in subsistence species of Alaska: linking wildlife and human health. Int. J. Circumpolar Health 68(1), 53–74. https://doi.org/10.3402/ijch.v68i1.18294
- Muir, D.C.G., Norstrom, R.J., Simon, M., 1988. Organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food chains: accumulation of specific polychlorinated biphenyls and chlordane-related compounds. Environ. Sci. Technol. 22(9), 1071–1079. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00174a012
- Mull, C.G., Lyons, K., Blasius, M.E., Winkler, C., O'Sullivan, J.B., Lowe, C.G., 2013. Evidence of maternal offloading of organic contaminants in white sharks (*Carcharodon carcharias*). PLoS One 8(4), e62886. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062886
- Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Bartalini, A., Alves, L., Lemos, M.F., Novais, S.C., Jiménez, B., 2022. Occurrence and distribution of persistent organic pollutants in the liver and muscle of Atlantic blue sharks: Relevance and health risks. Environ. Pollut. 309, 119750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119750
- Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Sáez, M., Aguirre, J.I., Hiraldo, F., Baos, R., Pacepavicius, G., Alaee, M., Jiménez, B., 2011.

Predominance of BDE-209 and other higher brominated diphenyl ethers in eggs of white stork (*Ciconia ciconia*) colonies from Spain. Environ. Int. 37(3), 572–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.11.013

- Munschy, C., Bely, N., Héas-Moisan, K., Olivier, N., Loizeau, V., 2017. Tissue-specific distribution and maternal transfer of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and their metabolites in adult common sole (*Solea solea L.*) over an entire reproduction cycle. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 145, 457–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.07.062
- Murphy, S., Barber, J.L., Learmonth, J.A., Read, F.L., Deaville, R., Perkins, M.W., Brownlow, A., Davison, N., Penrose, R., Pierce, G.J., Law, R.J., Jepson, P.D., 2015. Reproductive failure in UK harbour porpoises *Phocoena phocoena*: Legacy of pollutant exposure? PLoS One 10(7), e0131085. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0131085
- Murphy, S., Law, R.J., Deaville, R., Barnett, J., Perkins, M.W., Brownlow, A., Penrose, R., Davison, N.J., Barber, J.L., Jepson, P.D., 2018. Organochlorine contaminants and reproductive implication in cetaceans. In: Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology: Impacts of Multiple Stressors on Population Health. pp. 3–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00001-2
- Nadal, M., Domingo, J.L., 2013. Sources of Human Exposure, in: Effects of Persistent and Bioactive Organic Pollutants on Human Health. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp. 8–25. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118679654.ch2
- Nadal, M., Marquès, M., Mari, M., Domingo, J.L., 2015. Climate change and environmental concentrations of POPs: A review. Environ. Res. 143(PartA), 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2015.10.012
- Najam, L., Alam, T., 2023. Occurrence, distribution, and fate of emerging persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in the environment. In: Emerging contaminants and plants: interactions, adaptations and remediation technologies. Cham: Springer International Publishing. pp. 135–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-22269-6_6
- Nakajima, R., Kawato, M., Fujiwara, Y., Tsuchida, S., Ritchie, H., Fujikura, K., 2022. Occurrence and levels of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in deep-sea sharks from Suruga Bay, Japan. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 176, 113427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.113427
- Nakari, T., Pessala, P., 2005. In vitro estrogenicity of polybrominated flame retardants. Aquat. Toxicol. 74(3), 272–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2005.06.004
- Nash, R., Joyce, H., Pagter, E., Frias, J., Guinan, J., Healy, L., Kavanagh, F., Deegan, M., O'Sullivan, D., 2023. Deep sea microplastic pollution extends out to sediments in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean margins. Environ. Sci. Technol. 57(1), 201–213. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.2c05926
- Naso, B., Perrone, D., Ferrante, M.C., Bilancione, M., Lucisano, A., 2005. Persistent organic pollutants in edible marine species from the Gul of Naples, Southern Italy. Sci. Total Environ. 343(1-3), 83–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.10.007
- Nations, U., 2015. The 17 goals [WWW Document]. Accessed on 14 August 2023. https://sdgs.un.org/goals
- Negrete-Bolagay, D., Zamora-Ledezma, C., Chuya-Sumba, C., De Sousa, F.B., Whitehead, D., Alexis, F., Guerrero, V.H., 2021. Persistent organic pollutants: The trade-off between potential risks and sustainable remediation methods. J. Environ. Manage. 300, 113737. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113737
- Nelms, S.E., Galloway, T.S., Godley, B.J., Jarvis, D.S., Lindeque, P.K., 2018. Investigating microplastic trophic transfer in marine top predators. Environ. Pollut. 238, 999–1007. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.02.016
- Nfon, E., Cousins, I.T., Broman, D., 2008. Biomagnification of organic pollutants in benthic and pelagic marine food chains from the Baltic Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 397(1-3), 190–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.02.029
- Norén, K., Meironyté, D., 2000. Certain organochlorine and organobromine contaminants in Swedish

human milk in perspective of past 20–30 years. Chemosphere 40(9-11), 1111–1123. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(99)00360-4

- Notarbartolo Di Sciara, G., 2014. Sperm whales, *Physeter macrocephalus*, in the Mediterranean Sea: a summary of status, threats, and conservation recommendations. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 24(S1), 4–10. https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.2409
- Noyes, P.D., Stapleton, H.M., 2014. PBDE flame retardants: toxicokinetics and thyroid hormone endocrine disruption in fish. Endocr. Disruptors 2(1), e29430. https://doi.org/10.4161/endo.29430
- Nugegoda, D., Kibria, G., 2017. Effects of environmental chemicals on fish thyroid function: Implications for fisheries and aquaculture in Australia. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 244, 40–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2016.02.021
- Nunes, M., Vernisseau, A., Marchand, P., Le Bizec, B., Ramos, F., Pardal, M.A., 2014. Occurrence of PCDD/Fs and dioxin-like PCBs in superficial sediment of Portuguese estuaries. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 9396–9407. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2891-y
- Nygård, T., Sandercock, B.K., Reinsborg, T., Einvik, K., 2019. Population recovery of peregrine falcons in central Norway in the 4 decades since the DDT-ban. Ecotoxicology 28, 1160–1168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-019-02111-4
- O'Brien, S., Okoffo, E.D., O'Brien, J.W., Ribeiro, F., Wang, X., Wright, S.L., Samanipour, S., Rauert, C., Toapanta, T.Y.A., Albarracin, R., Thomas, K. V., 2020. Airborne emissions of microplastic fibres from domestic laundry dryers. Sci. Total Environ. 747, 141175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141175
- O'Shea, T.J., Takeuchi, N.Y., Weijs, L., Marsh, H., 2018. Ecotoxicology of the sirenia in the twenty-first century. In: Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology. Elsevier, pp. 429–456. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00016-4
- O'Sullivan, G., 2013. Environmental forensics for persistent organic pollutants. Newnes.
- Ogata, Y., Takada, H., Mizukawa, K., Hirai, H., Iwasa, S., Endo, S., Mato, Y., Saha, M., Okuda, K., Nakashima, A., Murakami, M., Zurcher, N., Booyatumanondo, R., Zakaria, M.P., Dung, L.Q., Gordon, M., Miguez, C., Suzuki, S., Moore, C., Karapanagioti, H.K., Weerts, S., McClurg, T., Burres, E., Smith, W., Velkenburg, M. Van, Lang, J.S., Lang, R.C., Laursen, D., Danner, B., Stewardson, N., Thompson, R.C., 2009. International Pellet Watch: Global monitoring of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in coastal waters. 1. Initial phase data on PCBs, DDTs, and HCHs. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58(10), 1437–1446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.06.014
- Ohajinwa, C.M., van Bodegom, P.M., Osibanjo, O., Xie, Q., Chen, J., Vijver, M.G., Peijnenburg, W.J.G.M.,
 2019. Health risks of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and metals at informal electronic waste recycling sites. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Heal 16(6), 906. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH16060906
- Olie, K., Vermeulen, P.L., Hutzinger, O., 1977. Chlorodibenzo-p-dioxins and chlorodibenzofurans are trace components of fly ash and flue gas of some municipal incinerators in The Netherlands. Chemosphere 6(8), 455–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(77)90035-2
- Olofsson, U., Bignert, A., Haglund, P., 2012. Time-trends of metals and organic contaminants in sewage sludge. Water Res. 46(15), 4841–4851. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2012.05.048
- Olsson, M., Karlsson, B., Ahnland, E., 1994. Diseases and environmental contaminants in seals from the Baltic and the Swedish west coast. Sci. Total Environ. 154(2-3), 217–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(94)90089-2
- Ondarza, P.M., Gonzalez, M., Fillmann, G., Miglioranza, K.S.B., 2014. PBDEs, PCBs and organochlorine pesticides distribution in edible fish from Negro River basin, Argentinean Patagonia. Chemosphere 94, 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.09.064
- Othman, N., Ismail, Z., Selamat, M.I., Sheikh Abdul Kadir, S.H., Shibraumalisi, N.A., 2022. A review of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) pollution in the air: where and how much are we exposed to? Int. J.

Environ. Res. Public Health 19(21), 13923. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192113923

- Owa, F.D., 2013. Water pollution: sources, effects, control and management. Mediterr. J. Soc. Sci. 3, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2013.v4n8p65
- Ozonoff, D., Aschengrau, A., Coogan, P., 1994. Cancer in the vicinity of a department of defense superfund site in Massachusetts. Toxicol. Ind. Health 10(3), 119–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/074823379401000302
- Pace, D.S., Tizzi, R., 2013. Cetaceans value and conservation in the Mediterranean Sea. J. Biodivers. Endanger. Species S1, S1.004. https://doi.org/10.4172/2332-2543.S1-004
- Palomera, I., Olivar, M.P., Salat, J., Sabatés, A., Coll, M., García, A., Morales-Nin, B., 2007. Small pelagic fish in the NW Mediterranean Sea: An ecological review. Prog. Oceanogr. 74(2-3), 377–396. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2007.04.012
- Panesar, H.K., Kennedy, C.L., Keil Stietz, K.P., Lein, P.J., 2020. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs): Risk factors for autism spectrum disorder? Toxics 8(3), 70. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics8030070
- Panti, C., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Marsili, L., Panigada, S., Baini, M., Jiménez, B., Fossi, M.C., Lauriano, G., 2022.
 Ecotoxicological characterization of type C killer whales from Terra Nova Bay (Ross Sea, Antarctica):
 Molecular biomarkers, legacy, and emerging persistent organic contaminants. Front. Mar. Sci. 9, 818370. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2022.818370
- Parada, H., Sun, X., Tse, C.-K., Engel, L.S., Hoh, E., Olshan, A.F., Troester, M.A., 2020. Plasma levels of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and breast cancer mortality: The Carolina Breast Cancer Study. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 227, 113522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2020.113522
- Parmar, T.K., Rawtani, D., Agrawal, Y.K., 2016. Bioindicators: the natural indicator of environmental pollution. Front. Life Sci. 9(2), 110–118. https://doi.org/10.1080/21553769.2016.1162753
- Pauly, D., 1998. Diet composition and trophic levels of marine mammals. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 55(3), 467–481. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.1997.0280
- Peakall, D.B., Kiff, L.F., 2008. Eggshell thinning and DDE residue levels among peregrine falcons (*Falco peregrinus*): a global perspective. Ibis 121(2), 200–204. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1979.tb04962.x
- Peñín, I., Levin, M., Acevedo-Whitehouse, K., Jasperse, L., Gebhard, E., Gulland, F.M.D., De Guise, S., 2018. Effects of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) on California sea lion (*Zalophus californianus*) lymphocyte functions upon in vitro exposure. Environ. Res. 167, 708–717. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.08.028
- Perelló, G., Díaz-Ferrero, J., Llobet, J.M., Castell, V., Vicente, E., Nadal, M., Domingo, J.L., 2015. Human exposure to PCDD/Fs and PCBs through consumption of fish and seafood in Catalonia (Spain):
 Temporal trend. Food Chem. Toxicol. 81, 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2015.04.010
- Perelló, G., Gómez-Catalán, J., Castell, V., Llobet, J.M., Domingo, J.L., 2012. Assessment of the temporal trend of the dietary exposure to PCDD/Fs and PCBs in Catalonia, over Spain: Health risks. Food Chem. Toxicol. 50(2), 399–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2011.06.077
- Peruffo, A., Bassan, I., Otero-Sabio, C., Giacomello, M., 2023. Establishment and characterization of the rst Cuvier's Beaked whale (*Ziphius cavirostris*) in vitro model based on the muscle-derived cell line. PREPRINT (Version 1) available at Research Square. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2506043/v1
- Perugini, M., Cavaliere, M., Giammarino, A., Mazzone, P., Olivieri, V., Amorena, M., 2004. Levels of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides in some edible marine organisms from the Central Adriatic Sea. Chemosphere 57(5), 391–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.04.034
- Pessah, I.N., Cherednichenko, G., Lein, P.J., 2010. Minding the calcium store: Ryanodine receptor activation as a convergent mechanism of PCB toxicity. Pharmacol. Ther. 125(2), 260–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2009.10.009

- Peters, L., Porte, C., Albaigés, J., Livingstone, D., 1994. 7-ethoxyresorufin O-deethylase (EROD) and antioxidant enzyme activities in larvae of sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*) from the north coast of Spain. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 28(5), 299–304. https://doi.org/10.1016/0025-326X(94)90154-6
- Pham, N.T., Nishijo, M., Pham, T.T., Tran, N.N., Le, V.Q., Tran, H.A., Phan, H.A.V., Nishino, Y., Nishijo, H., 2019. Perinatal dioxin exposure and neurodevelopment of 2-year-old Vietnamese children in the most contaminated area from Agent Orange in Vietnam. Sci. Total Environ. 678, 217–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.04.425
- Pierce, S.J., Bennett, M.B., 2010. Destined to decline? Intrinsic susceptibility of the threatened estuary stingray to anthropogenic impacts. Mar. Freshw. Res. 61(12), 1468. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF10073
- Pinedo, S., García, M., Satta, M.P., Torres, M. de, Ballesteros, E., 2007. Rocky-shore communities as indicators of water quality: A case study in the Northwestern Mediterranean. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 55(1-6), 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.08.044
- Pinzone, M., Budzinski, H., Tasciotti, A., Ody, D., Lepoint, G., Schnitzler, J., Scholl, G., Thomé, J.P., Tapie, N., Eppe, G., Das, K., 2015. POPs in free-ranging pilot whales, sperm whales and fin whales from the Mediterranean Sea: Influence of biological and ecological factors. Environ. Res. 142, 185–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.06.021
- Pirotta, E., Carpinelli, E., Frantzis, A., Gauffier, P., Lanfredi, C., Pace, D.S., Rendell, L., 2021. *Physeter macrocephalus* (Mediterranean subpopulation). [WWW Document]. IUCN Red List Threat. Species 2021. Accessed on 3 August 2023. URL https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2021-3.RLTS.T16370739A50285671.en
- Plounevez, S., Champalbert, G., 2000. Diet, feeding behaviour and trophic activity of the anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus L*.) in the Gulf of Lions (Mediterranean Sea). Oceanol. Acta 23(2), 175–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0399-1784(00)00120-1
- Podestà, M., Azzellino, A., Cañadas, A., Frantzis, A., Moulins, A., Rosso, M., Tepsich, P., Lanfredi, C., 2016.
 Cuvier's Beaked Whale, *Ziphius cavirostris*, Distribution and Occurrence in the Mediterranean Sea. In: Advances in marine biology. (Vol. 75, pp. 103–140). https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.amb.2016.07.007
- Podesta, M., D'Amico, A., Pavan, G., Drougas, A., Komnenou, A., Portunato, N., 2023. A review of Cuvier's beaked whale strandings in the Mediterranean Sea. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 7(3), 251–261. https://doi.org/10.47536/jcrm.v7i3.735
- Poirier, M.C., Marsili, L., Fossi, M.C., Godard-Codding, C.A.J., Hernandez-Ramon, E.E., Si, N., Divi, K. V, Divi, R.L., Kerr, I., Wise, J.P., Wise, C.F., Wise, S.S., Aboueissa, A.E.-M., Wise, J.T.F., Wise, J.P., 2021.
 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-DNA adducts in Gulf of Mexico sperm whale skin biopsies collected in 2012. Toxicol. Sci. 181(1), 115–124. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfab016
- Poloczanska, E.S., Burrows, M.T., Brown, C.J., García Molinos, J., Halpern, B.S., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Kappel, C. V., Moore, P.J., Richardson, A.J., Schoeman, D.S., Sydeman, W.J., 2016. Responses of marine organisms to climate change across oceans. Front. Mar. Sci. 3, 62. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2016.00062
- Powell, R.L., 1984. Dioxin in Missouri: 1971–1983. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 33, 648–654. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01625596
- Praca, E., Laran, S., Lepoint, G., Thomé, J.P., Quetglas, A., Belcari, P., Sartor, P., Dhermain, F., Ody, D., Tapie, N., Budzinski, H., Das, K., 2011. Toothed whales in the northwestern Mediterranean: Insight into their feeding ecology using chemical tracers. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62(5), 1058–1065. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2011.02.024
- Quaß, U., Fermann, M., Bröker, G., 2004. The European dioxin air emission inventory project—final results. Chemosphere 54(4), 1319–1327. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00251-0
- Raach, M., Lebeuf, M., Pelletier, É., 2011. PBDEs and PCBs in the liver of the St Lawrence Estuary beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*): a comparison of levels and temporal trends with the blubber. J. Environ.

Monit. 13(3), 649-656. https://doi.org/10.1039/C0EM00310G

- Raitsos, D.E., Beaugrand, G., Georgopoulos, D., Zenetos, A., Pancucci-Papadopoulou, A.M., Theocharis, A., Papathanassiou, E., 2010. Global climate change amplifies the entry of tropical species into the eastern Mediterranean Sea. Limnol. Oceanogr. 55(4), 1478–1484. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2010.55.4.1478
- Rajput, I.R., Yaqoob, S., Yajing, S., Sanganyado, E., Wenhua, L., 2021. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers exert genotoxic effects in pantropic spotted dolphin fibroblast cell lines. Environ. Pollut. 271, 116131. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2020.116131
- Ramos-Miras, J.J., Sanchez-Muros, M.J., Morote, E., Torrijos, M., Gil, C., Zamani-Ahmadmahmoodi, R., Rodríguez Martin, J.A., 2019. Potentially toxic elements in commonly consumed fish species from the western Mediterranean Sea (Almería Bay): Bioaccumulation in liver and muscle tissues in relation to biometric parameters. Sci. Total Environ. 671, 280–287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.359
- Ramu, K., Kajiwara, N., Lam, P.K.S., Jefferson, T.A., Zhou, K., Tanabe, S., 2006. Temporal variation and biomagnification of organohalogen compounds in finless porpoises (*Neophocaena phocaenoides*) from the South China Sea. Environ. Pollut. 144(2), 516–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2006.01.027
- Rasmussen, T.L., Thomsen, E., 2004. The role of the North Atlantic Drift in the millennial timescale glacial climate fluctuations. Palaeogeogr. Palaeoclimatol. Palaeoecol. 210(1), 101–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.palaeo.2004.04.005
- Reich, S., Jimenez, B., Marsili, L., Hernández, L.M., Schurig, V., González, M.J., 1999. Congener specific determination and enantiomeric ratios of chiral polychlorinated biphenyls in striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) from the Mediterranean Sea. Environ. Sci. Technol. 33(11), 1787–1793. https://doi.org/10.1021/es9807385
- Reif, J., Schaefer, A., Bossart, G., Fair, P., 2017. Health and environmental risk assessment project for bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops truncatus* from the southeastern USA. II. Environmental aspects. Dis. Aquat. Organ. 125(2), 155–166. https://doi.org/10.3354/dao03143
- Reijnders, P., Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., 2009. Pollution and marine mammals. In: Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Elsevier, pp. 890–898. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-373553-9.00205-4
- Reijnders, P.J.H., 1986. Reproductive failure in common seals feeding on fish from polluted coastal waters. Nature 324(6096), 456–457. https://doi.org/10.1038/324456a0
- Ren, M., Peng, P., Chen, D., Chen, P., Li, X., 2009. Patterns and sources of PCDD/Fs and dioxin-like PCBs in surface sediments from the East River, China. J. Hazard. Mater. 170(1), 473–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.04.072
- Ress, J., Higginbotham, G.R., Firestone, D., 1970. Methodology for chlorinated aromatics in fats, oils, and fatty acids. J. AOAC Int. 53(3), 628–634. https://doi.org/10.1093/jaoac/53.3.628
- Riera, R., Sanchez-Jerez, P., Rodriguez, M., Monterroso, O., 2014. Artificial marine habitats favour a single fish species on a long-term scale: the dominance of Boops boops around off-shore fish cages. Sci. Mar. 78(4), 505–510. https://doi.org/10.3989/scimar.04083.08A
- Rigaud, C., Couillard, C.M., Pellerin, J., Légaré, B., Gonzalez, P., Hodson, P. V., 2013. Relative potency of PCB126 to TCDD for sublethal embryotoxicity in the mummichog (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). Aquat. Toxicol. 128–129, 203–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.12.013
- Rigét, F., Bignert, A., Braune, B., Stow, J., Wilson, S., 2010. Temporal trends of legacy POPs in Arctic biota, an update. Sci. Total Environ. 408(15), 2874–2884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.07.036
- Rignell-Hydbom, A., Rylander, L., Hagmar, L., 2007. Exposure to persistent organochlorine pollutants and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 26(5), 447–452. https://doi.org/10.1177/0960327107076886

- Risebrough, R.W., Rieche, P., Peakall, D.B., Herman, S.G., Kirven, M.N., 1968. Polychlorinated biphenyls in the global ecosystem. Nature 220(5172), 1098–1102. https://doi.org/10.1038/2201098a0
- Robards, M.D., Reeves, R.R., 2011. The global extent and character of marine mammal consumption by humans: 1970–2009. Biol. Conserv. 144(12), 2770–2786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.07.034
- Roberts, S.C., Noyes, P.D., Gallagher, E.P., Stapleton, H.M., 2011. Species-specific differences and structure–activity relationships in the debromination of PBDE congeners in three fish species. Environ. Sci. Technol. 45(5), 1999–2005. https://doi.org/10.1021/es103934x
- Rochman, C.M., Lewison, R.L., Eriksen, M., Allen, H., Cook, A.-M., Teh, S.J., 2014. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in fish tissue may be an indicator of plastic contamination in marine habitats. Sci. Total Environ. 476–477, 622–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.01.058
- Rolland, R.M., 2000. A review of chemically-induced alterations in thyroid and vitamin a status from field studies of wildlife and fish. J. Wildl. Dis. 36(4), 615–635. https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-36.4.615
- Romeo, T., Pietro, B., Pedà, C., Consoli, P., Andaloro, F., Fossi, M.C., 2015. First evidence of presence of plastic debris in stomach of large pelagic fish in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 95(1), 358– 361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.04.048
- Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.148
- Roos, A.M., Bäcklin, B.-M.V.M., Helander, B.O., Rigét, F.F., Eriksson, U.C., 2012. Improved reproductive success in otters (*Lutra lutra*), grey seals (*Halichoerus grypus*) and sea eagles (*Haliaeetus albicilla*) from Sweden in relation to concentrations of organochlorine contaminants. Environ. Pollut. 170, 268–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2012.07.017
- Roscales, J.L., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Ros, M., Vicente, A., Barrios, L., Jiménez, B., 2018. Assessment of POPs in air from Spain using passive sampling from 2008 to 2015. Part I: Spatial and temporal observations of PBDEs. Sci. Total Environ. 634, 1657–1668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.043
- Roscales, J.L., Vicente, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Morales, L., Abad, E., Aguirre, J.I., Jiménez, B., 2016. Influence of trophic ecology on the accumulation of dioxins and furans (PCDD/Fs), non- ortho polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in Mediterranean gulls (*Larus michahellis* and *L. audouinii*): A three-isotope approach. Environ. Pollut. 212, 307–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.01.078
- Ross, G., 2004. The public health implications of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in the environment. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 59(3), 275–291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2004.06.003
- Ross, P.S., Ellis, G.M., Ikonomou, M.G., Barrett-Lennard, L.G., Addison, R.F., 2000. High PCB concentrations in free-ranging Pacific killer whales, *Orcinus orca*: effects of age, sex and dietary preference. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 40(60), 504–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(99)00233-7
- Ross, P.S., 2002. The role of immunotoxic environmental contaminants in facilitating the emergence of infectious diseases in marine mammals. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. An Int. J. 8(2), 277–292. https://doi.org/10.1080/20028091056917
- Ross, P.S., 2000. Marine mammals as sentinels in ecological risk assessment. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. An Int. J. 6(1), 29–46. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807030091124437
- Ross, P.S., De Swart, R.L., Reijnders, P.J.H., Van Loveren, H., Vos, J.G., Osterhaus, A.D.M.E., 1995. Contaminant-related suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity and antibody responses in harbor seals fed herring from the Baltic Sea. Environ. Health Perspect. 103(2), 162–167. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.95103162
- Ross, P.S., Noël, M., Lambourn, D., Dangerfield, N., Calambokidis, J., Jeffries, S., 2013. Declining concentrations of persistent PCBs, PBDEs, PCDEs, and PCNs in harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) from the

Salish Sea. Prog. Oceanogr. 115, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2013.05.027

- Rosso, M., Ballardini, M., Moulins, A., Würtz, M., 2011. Natural markings of Cuvier's beaked whale *Ziphius cavirostris* in the Mediterranean Sea. African J. Mar. Sci. 33(1), 45–57. https://doi.org/10.2989/1814232X.2011.572336
- Rotander, A., van Bavel, B., Polder, A., Rigét, F., Audunsson, G.A., Gabrielsen, G.W., Víkingsson, G., Bloch, D., Dam, M., 2012. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in marine mammals from Arctic and North Atlantic regions, 1986-2009. Environ. Int. 40, 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.07.001
- Rothhammer, V., Quintana, F.J., 2019. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: an environmental sensor integrating immune responses in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 19(3), 184–197. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0125-8
- Rotllant, G., Abad, E., Sardà, F., Ábalos, M., Company, J.B., Rivera, J., 2006. Dioxin compounds in the deepsea rose shrimp *Aristeus antennatus* (Risso, 1816) throughout the Mediterranean Sea. Deep Sea Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 53(12), 1895–1906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2006.09.004
- Ryan, C., McHugh, B., O'Connor, I., Berrow, S., 2013. Lipid content of blubber biopsies is not representative of blubber in situ for fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*). Mar. Mammal Sci. 29(3), 542–547. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-7692.2012.00578.x
- Ryan, J.J., Lizotte, R., Lewis, D., 1987. Human tissue levels of PCDDs and PCDFs from a fatal pentachlorophenol poisoning. Chemosphere 16(8-9), 1989–1996. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(87)90199-8
- Safe, S., 2002. Toxicology and risk assessment of POPs. In: Persistent Organic Pollutants. Springer-Verlag, Berlin/Heidelberg, pp. 223–235. https://doi.org/10.1007/10751132_8
- Safe, S., Bandiera, S., Sawyer, T., Robertson, L., Safe, L., Parkinson, A., Thomas, P.E., Ryan, D.E., Reik, L.M., Levin, W., Denomme, M.A., Fujita, T., 1985. PCBs: structure–function relationships and mechanism of action. Environ. Health Perspect. 60, 47–56. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.856047
- Sala, B., Giménez, J., Fernández-Arribas, J., Bravo, C., Lloret-Lloret, E., Esteban, A., Bellido, J.M., Coll, M., Eljarrat, E., 2022. Organophosphate ester plasticizers in edible fish from the Mediterranean Sea: Marine pollution and human exposure. Environ. Pollut. 292(Part B), 118377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.118377
- Salamova, A., Pagano, J.J., Holsen, T.M., Hites, R.A., 2013. Post-1990 Post-1990 temporal trends of PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in the atmosphere and in fish from Lakes Erie, Michigan, and Superior. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47(16), 9109–9114. https://doi.org/10.1021/es401895g
- Santos-Neto, E.B., Azevedo-Silva, C.E., Bisi, T.L., Santos, J., Meirelles, A.C.O., Carvalho, V.L., Azevedo, A.F., Guimarães, J.E., Lailson-Brito, J., 2014. Organochlorine concentrations (PCBs, DDTs, HCHs, HCB and MIREX) in delphinids stranded at the northeastern Brazil. Sci. Total Environ. 472, 194–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.10.117
- Sarkar, A., Ray, D., Shrivastava, A.N., Sarker, S., 2006. Molecular biomarkers: Their significance and application in marine pollution monitoring. Ecotoxicology 15, 333–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-006-0069-1
- Savery, L.C., Evers, D.C., Wise, S.S., Falank, C., Wise, J., Gianios, C., Kerr, I., Payne, R., Thompson, W.D., Perkins, C., Zheng, T., Zhu, C., Benedict, L., Wise, J.P., 2013. Global mercury and selenium concentrations in skin from free-ranging sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*). Sci. Total Environ. 450–451, 59–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.01.070
- Sbrocca, C., De Troch, M., Losi, V., Grassi, E., Balsamo, M., Semprucci, F., 2021. Habitat-diversity relations between sessile macrobenthos and benthic copepods in the rocky shores of a Marine Protected Area. Water 13(8), 1020. https://doi.org/10.3390/w13081020
- Schæbel, L.K., Bonefeld-Jørgensen, E.C., Vestergaard, H., Andersen, S., 2017. The influence of persistent

organic pollutants in the traditional Inuit diet on markers of inflammation. PLoS One 12(5), e0177781. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177781

- Schecter, A., Johnson-Welch, S., Tung, K.C., Harris, T.R., Päpke, O., Rosen, R., 2006. Polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) levels in livers of U.S. human fetuses and newborns. J. Toxicol. Environ. Heal. Part A 70(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287390600748369
- Schecter, A., Ryan, J.J., 1992. Persistent brominated and chlorinated dioxin blood levels in a chemist. 35 years after dioxin exposure. J. Occup. Med. 34(7), 702–707.
- Schecter, A., Tiernan, T., 1985. Occupational exposure to polychlorinated dioxins, polychlorinated furans, polychlorinated biphenyls, and biphenylenes after an electrical panel and transformer accident in an office building in Binghamton, NY. Environ. Health Perspect. 60, 305–313. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8560305
- Schell, T., Hurley, R., Nizzetto, L., Rico, A., Vighi, M., 2021. Spatio-temporal distribution of microplastics in a Mediterranean river catchment: The importance of wastewater as an environmental pathway. J. Hazard. Mater. 420, 126481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2021.126481
- Scheringer, M., 2009. Long-range transport of organic chemicals in the environment. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 28(4), 677. https://doi.org/10.1897/08-324R.1
- Schneider, A.R., Stapleton, H.M., Cornwell, J., Baker, J.E., 2001. Recent declines in PAH, PCB, and toxaphene levels in the Northern Great Lakes as determined from high resolution sediment cores. Environ. Sci. Technol. 35(19), 3809–3815. https://doi.org/10.1021/es002044d
- Schwacke, L.H., Voit, E.O., Hansen, L.J., Wells, R.S., Mitchum, G.B., Hohn, A.A., Fair, P.A., 2002. Probabilistic risk assessment of reproductive effects of polychlorinated biphenyls on bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the Southeast United States coast. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 21(12), 2752–2764. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620211232
- Schwacke, L.H., Zolman, E.S., Balmer, B.C., de Guise, S., Clay George, R., Hoguet, J., Hohn, A.A., Kucklick, J.R., Lamb, S., Levin, M., Litz, J.A., Mcfee, W.E., Place, N.J., Townsend, F.I., Wells, R.S., Rowles, T.K., 2012. Anaemia, hypothyroidism and immune suppression associated with polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 279(1726), 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2011.0665
- Schwarz, S., Rackstraw, A., Behnisch, P.A., Brouwer, A., Köhler, H.-R., Kotz, A., Kuballa, T., Malisch, R., Neugebauer, F., Schilling, F., Schmidt, D., Theo von der Trenck, K., 2016. Peregrine falcon egg pollutants. Toxicol. Environ. Chem. 98(8), 886–923. https://doi.org/10.1080/02772248.2015.1126717
- Scientific Committee on Food, E.C.H.& C.P.D.-G., 2000. CS/CNTM/DIOXIN/20 final. Opinion of the Scientific Committee on Food on the risk assessment of dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in food. Update based in new scientific information available since the adoption of the SCF opinion of 22nd November 2000 (adopted).
- Segner, H., Wenger, M., Möller, A.M., Köllner, B., Casanova-Nakayama, A., 2012. Immunotoxic effects of environmental toxicants in fish — how to assess them? Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 19, 2465–2476. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-0978-x
- Sellström, U., Kierkegaard, A., de Wit, C., Jansson, B., 1998. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and hexabromocyclododecane in sediment and fish from a Swedish River. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 17(6), 1065–1072. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620170612
- Sharkey, M., Harrad, S., Abou-Elwafa Abdallah, M., Drage, D.S., Berresheim, H., 2020. Phasing-out of legacy brominated flame retardants: The UNEP Stockholm Convention and other legislative action worldwide. Environ. Int. 144, 106041. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2020.106041
- Sharma, S., Sharma, V., Chatterjee, S., 2021. Microplastics in the Mediterranean Sea: sources, pollution intensity, sea health, and regulatory policies. Front. Mar. Sci. 8, 634934. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2021.634934

- Shaw, E.J., Turner, A., 2019. Recycled electronic plastic and marine litter. Sci. Total Environ. 694, 133644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133644
- Shaw, S.D., Berger, M.L., Weijs, L., Covaci, A., 2012. Tissue-specific accumulation of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) including Deca-BDE and hexabromocyclododecanes (HBCDs) in harbor seals from the northwest Atlantic. Environ. Int. 44, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.01.001
- Shi, Z., Zhang, L., Li, J., Wu, Y., 2018. Legacy and emerging brominated flame retardants in China: A review on food and human milk contamination, human dietary exposure and risk assessment. Chemosphere 198, 522–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.01.161
- Shiu, W.Y., Mackay, D., 1986. A critical review of aqueous solubilities, vapor pressures, Henry's law constants, and octanol–water partition coefficients of the polychlorinated biphenyls. J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 15(2), 911–929. https://doi.org/10.1063/1.555755
- Shoeib, M., Harner, T., Ikonomou, M., Kannan, K., 2004. Indoor and outdoor air concentrations and phase partitioning of perfluoroalkyl sulfonamides and polybrominated diphenyl ethers. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38(5), 1313–1320. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0305555
- Shumka, S., Nagahama, Y., Hoxha, S., Asano, K., 2023. Overfishing and recent risk for collapse of fishery in coastal Mediterranean lagoon ecosystem (Karavasta lagoon, southeastern Adriatic sea). Fish. Aquat. Sci. 26(4), 294–303. https://doi.org/10.47853/FAS.2023.e25
- Siddiqi, M.A., Laessig, R.H., Reed, K.D., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs): new pollutants-old diseases. Clin. Med. Res. 1(4), 281–290. https://doi.org/10.3121/cmr.1.4.281
- Simeone, C.A., Gulland, F.M.D., Norris, T., Rowles, T.K., 2015. A systematic review of changes in marine mammal health in North America, 1972-2012: the need for a novel integrated approach. PLoS One 10(11), e0142105. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142105
- Simmons, D.B.D., McMaster, M.E., Reiner, E.J., Hewitt, L.M., Parrott, J.L., Park, B.J., Brown, S.B., Sherry, J.P., 2014. Wild fish from the Bay of Quinte Area of Concern contain elevated tissue concentrations of PCBs and exhibit evidence of endocrine-related health effects. Environ. Int. 66, 124–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.01.009
- Simond, A.E., Houde, M., Lesage, V., Michaud, R., Zbinden, D., Verreault, J., 2019. Associations between organohalogen exposure and thyroid- and steroid-related gene responses in St. Lawrence Estuary belugas and minke whales. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 145, 174–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2019.05.029
- Simond, A.E., Houde, M., Lesage, V., Verreault, J., 2017. Temporal trends of PBDEs and emerging flame retardants in belugas from the St. Lawrence Estuary (Canada) and comparisons with minke whales and Canadian Arctic belugas. Environ. Res. 156, 494–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.03.058
- Simond, A.É., Noël, M., Loseto, L., Houde, M., Kirk, J., Elliott, A., Brown, T.M., 2022. A multi-matrix metabolomic approach in ringed seals and beluga whales to evaluate contaminant and climate-related stressors. Metabolites 12(9), 813. https://doi.org/10.3390/metabo12090813
- Sims, D., Fowler, S.L., Ferretti, F., Stevens, J.D., 2015. *Prionace glauca* (Europe assessment). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2015: T39381A48924261.
- Singla, M., Díaz, J., Broto-Puig, F., Borrós, S., 2020. Sorption and release process of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) from different composition microplastics in aqueous medium: Solubility parameter approach. Environ. Pollut. 262, 114377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114377
- Sjödin, A., Jakobsson, E., Kierkegaard, A., Marsh, G., Sellström, U., 1998. Gas chromatographic identification and quantification of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in a commercial product, Bromkal 70-5DE. J. Chromatogr. A 822(1), 83–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9673(98)00614-1
- Skogen, M.D., Hjøllo, S.S., Sandø, A.B., Tjiputra, J., 2018. Future ecosystem changes in the Northeast Atlantic: a comparison between a global and a regional model system. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 75(7), 2355–

2369. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsy088

- Söderström, G., Sellström, U., de Wit, C.A., Tysklind, M., 2004. Photolytic debromination of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE 209). Environ. Sci. Technol. 38(1), 127–132. https://doi.org/10.1021/es034682c
- Sofo, V., Götte, M., Laganà, A.S., Salmeri, F.M., Triolo, O., Sturlese, E., Retto, G., Alfa, M., Granese, R., Abrão, M.S., 2015. Correlation between dioxin and endometriosis: an epigenetic route to unravel the pathogenesis of the disease. Arch. Gynecol. Obstet. 292, 973–986. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-015-3739-5
- Sofoulaki, K., Kalantzi, I., Zeri, C., Machias, A., Pergantis, S.A., Tsapakis, M., 2022. Sardine and anchovy as bioindicators of metal content in Greek coastal waters. Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 23(3), 546–560. https://doi.org/10.12681/mms.29426
- Song, R., He, Y., Murphy, M.B., Yeung, L.W.Y., Yu, R.M.K., Lam, M.H.W., Lam, P.K.S., Hecker, M., Giesy, J.P., Wu, R.S.S., Zhang, W., Sheng, G., Fu, J., 2008. Effects of fifteen PBDE metabolites, DE71, DE79 and TBBPA on steroidogenesis in the H295R cell line. Chemosphere 71(10), 1888–1894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.01.032
- Song, S., Chen, K., Huang, T., Ma, J., Wang, J., Mao, X., Gao, H., Zhao, Y., Zhou, Z., 2023. New emission inventory reveals termination of global dioxin declining trend. J. Hazard. Mater. 443(PartB), 130357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.130357
- Sonne, C., Jepson, P.D., Desforges, J.-P., Alstrup, A.K.O., Olsen, M.T., Eulaers, I., Hansen, M., Letcher, R.J., McKinney, M.A., Dietz, R., 2018. Pollution threatens toothed whales. Science 361(6408), 1208. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav2403
- Sonne, C., Siebert, U., Gonnsen, K., Desforges, J.P., Eulaers, I., Persson, S., Roos, A., Bäcklin, B.M., Kauhala, K., Tange Olsen, M., Harding, K.C., Treu, G., Galatius, A., Andersen-Ranberg, E., Gross, S., Lakemeyer, J., Lehnert, K., Lam, S.S., Peng, W., Dietz, R., 2020. Health effects from contaminant exposure in Baltic Sea birds and marine mammals: A review. Environ. Int. 139, 105725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105725
- Squadrone, S., Brizio, P., Chiaravalle, E., Abete, M.C., 2015. Sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*), found stranded along the Adriatic coast (Southern Italy, Mediterranean Sea), as bioindicators of essential and non-essential trace elements in the environment. Ecol. Indic. 58, 418–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.06.016
- Srogi, K., 2008. Levels and congener distributions of PCDDs, PCDFs and dioxin-like PCBs in environmental and human samples: a review. Environ. Chem. Lett. 6, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-007-0105-2
- Stamou, M., Streifel, K.M., Goines, P.E., Lein, P.J., 2013. Neuronal connectivity as a convergent target of gene × environment interactions that confer risk for Autism Spectrum Disorders. Neurotoxicol. Teratol. 36, 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2012.12.001
- Stapleton, H.M., Alaee, M., Letcher, R.J., Baker, J.E., 2004. Debromination of the flame retardant decabromodiphenyl ether by juvenile carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) following dietary exposure. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38(1), 112–119. https://doi.org/10.1021/es034746j
- Stapleton, H.M., Brazil, B., Holbrook, R.D., Mitchelmore, C.L., Benedict, R., Konstantinov, A., Potter, D., 2006. In vivo and in vitro debromination of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE 209) by juvenile rainbow trout and common carp. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 4653–4658. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES060573X/SUPPL_FILE/ES060573XSI20060620_103933.PDF
- Stapleton, H.M., Eagle, S., Sjödin, A., Webster, T.F., 2012. Serum PBDEs in a North Carolina toddler cohort: associations with handwipes, house dust, and socioeconomic variables. Environ. Health Perspect. 120(7), 1049–1054. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1104802

Stefanelli, P., Di Muccio, A., Ferrara, F., Attard Barbini, D., Generali, T., Pelosi, P., Amendola, G., Vanni, F., Di

Muccio, S., Ausili, A., 2004. Estimation of intake of organochlorine pesticides and chlorobiphenyls through edible fishes from the Italian Adriatic Sea during 1997. Food Control 15(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0956-7135(03)00004-5

- Stockin, K.A., Law, R.J., Roe, W.D., Meynier, L., Martinez, E., Duignan, P.J., Bridgen, P., Jones, B., 2010. PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in Hector's (*Cephalorhynchus hectori hectori*) and Maui's (*Cephalorhynchus hectori maui*) dolphins. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 60(6), 834–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2010.01.009
- Stone, R., 2007. Agent Orange's Bitter Harvest. Science 315(5809), 176–179. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.315.5809.176
- Storelli, M.M., 2008. Potential human health risks from metals (Hg, Cd, and Pb) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) via seafood consumption: Estimation of target hazard quotients (THQs) and toxic equivalents (TEQs). Food Chem. Toxicol. 46(8), 2782–2788. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2008.05.011
- Storelli, M.M., Barone, G., Perrone, V.G., Giacominelli-Stuffler, R., 2011a. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dioxins and furans (PCDD/Fs): Occurrence in fishery products and dietary intake. Food Chem. 127(4), 1648–1652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.02.032
- Storelli, M.M., Barone, G., Storelli, A., Marcotrigiano, G.O., 2011b. Levels and congener profiles of PCBs and PCDD/Fs in blue shark (*Prionace glauca*) liver from the South-Eastern Mediterranean Sea (Italy). Chemosphere 82(1), 37–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.10.014
- Storelli, M.M., Storelli, A., Barone, G., Marcotrigiano, G.O., 2004. Polychlorinated biphenyl and organochlorine pesticide residues in *Lophius budegassa* from the Mediterranean Sea (Italy). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48(7-8), 743–748. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2003.10.026
- Storelli, M.M., Storelli, A., Marcotrigiano, G.O., 2005. Concentrations and hazard assessment of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides in shark liver from the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50(8), 850–855. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2005.02.023
- Storelli, M.M., Zizzo, N., 2014. Occurrence of organochlorine contaminants (PCBs, PCDDs and PCDFs) and pathologic findings in loggerhead sea turtles, *Caretta caretta*, from the Adriatic Sea (Mediterranean Sea). Sci. Total Environ. 472, 855–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.11.137
- Strandberg, B., Dodder, N.G., Basu, I., Hites, R.A., 2001. Concentrations and spatial variations of polybrominated diphenyl ethers and other organohalogen compounds in Great Lakes air. Environ. Sci. Technol. 35(6), 1078–1083. https://doi.org/10.1021/es001819f
- Strid, A., Jörundsdóttir, H., Päpke, O., Svavarsson, J., Bergman, Å., 2007. Dioxins and PCBs in Greenland shark (*Somniosus microcephalus*) from the North-East Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 54(9), 1514–1522. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2007.04.018
- Struciński, P., Piskorska-Pliszczyńska, J., Maszewski, S., Góralczyk, K., Warenik-Bany, M., Mikołajczyk, S., Czaja, K., Hernik, A., Ludwicki, J.K., 2013. PCDD/Fs and DL-PCBs intake from fish caught in Polish fishing grounds in the Baltic Sea — characterizing the risk for consumers. Environ. Int. 56, 32–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.03.002
- Struntz, W.D., Kucklick, J.R., Schantz, M.M., Becker, P.R., McFee, W.E., Stolen, M.K., 2004. Persistent organic pollutants in rough-toothed dolphins (*Steno bredanensis*) sampled during an unusual mass stranding event. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48(1), 164–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2003.09.002
- Stuart-Smith, S.J., Jepson, P.D., 2017. Persistent threats need persistent counteraction: Responding to PCB pollution in marine mammals. Mar. Policy 84, 69–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.06.033
- Su, G., Letcher, R.J., Moore, J.N., Williams, L.L., Martin, P.A., de Solla, S.R., Bowerman, W.W., 2015. Spatial and temporal comparisons of legacy and emerging flame retardants in herring gull eggs from colonies spanning the Laurentian Great Lakes of Canada and United States. Environ. Res. 142, 720–730. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2015.08.018

Swackhamer, D.L., Needham, L.L., Powell, D.E., Muir, D.C.G., 2009. Use of measurement data in evaluating

exposure of humans and wildlife to POPs/PBTs. Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag. 5(4), 638. https://doi.org/10.1897/IEAM_2008-094.1

- Tabor, G., Aguirre, A.A., 2004. Ecosystem health and sentinel species: adding an ecological element to the proverbial "canary in the mineshaft". Ecohealth 1(3), 226-228. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-004-0092-8
- Tanabe, S., 2002. Contamination and toxic effects of persistent endocrine disrupters in marine mammals and birds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 45(1-12), 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-326X(02)00175-3
- Tanabe, S., Iwata, H., Tatsukawa, R., 1994. Global contamination by persistent organochlorines and their ecotoxicological impact on marine mammals. Sci. Total Environ. 154(2-3), 163–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(94)90086-8
- Tanabe, S., Kannan, N., Ono, M., Tatsukawa, R., 1989. Toxic threat to marine mammals: Increasing toxic potential of non-ortho and mono-ortho coplanar PCBs from land to ocean. Chemosphere 18(1-6), 485–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(89)90158-6
- Tanabe, S., Kannan, N., Subramanian, A., Watanabe, S., Tatsukawa, R., 1987. Highly toxic coplanar PCBs: occurrence, source, persistency and toxic implications to wildlife and humans. Environ. Pollut. 47(2), 147–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(87)90044-3
- Tanaka, K., Takada, H., Yamashita, R., Mizukawa, K., Fukuwaka, M., Watanuki, Y., 2013. Accumulation of plastic-derived chemicals in tissues of seabirds ingesting marine plastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 69(1-2), 219–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.12.010
- Tanguay, R.L., Andreasen, E.A., Walker, M.K., Peterson, R.E., 2005. Dioxin toxicity and aryl hydrocarbon receptor signaling in fish. In: Dioxins and Health. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, NJ, USA, pp. 603– 628. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471722014.ch15
- Teh, S.J., Adams, S.M., Hinton, D.E., 1997. Histopathologic biomarkers in feral freshwater fish populations exposed to different types of contaminant stress. Aquat. Toxicol. 37(1), 51–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(96)00808-9
- Tehrani, R., Van Aken, B., 2014. Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls in the environment: sources, fate, and toxicities. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 6334–6345. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-013-1742-6
- Tekin, S., Pazi, I., 2017. POP levels in blue crab (*Callinectes sapidus*) and edible fish from the eastern Mediterranean coast. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 509–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7661-6
- Tepsich, P., Rosso, M., Halpin, P., Moulins, A., 2014. Habitat preferences of two deep-diving cetacean species in the northern Ligurian Sea. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 508, 247–260. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps10851
- Teuten, E.L., Rowland, S.J., Galloway, T.S., Thompson, R.C., 2007. Potential for plastics to transport hydrophobic contaminants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41(22), 7759–7764. https://doi.org/10.1021/es071737s
- Thakur, M., Pathania, D., 2020. Environmental fate of organic pollutants and effect on human health. In: Abatement of Environmental Pollutants. Elsevier, pp. 245–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818095-2.00012-6
- Thilagam, H., Gopalakrishnan, S., 2022. Environmental deterioration due to existing and emerging persistent organic pollutants: An overview. In: Vasanthy, M., Sivasankar, V., Sunitha, T.G. (eds) Organic Pollutants. Emerging Contaminants and Associated Treatment Technologies. Springer, Cham. pp. 59–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72441-2_3
- Tiktak, G.P., Butcher, D., Lawrence, P.J., Norrey, J., Bradley, L., Shaw, K., Preziosi, R., Megson, D., 2020. Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays and skates (*Elasmobranchii*) a cause for concern? A systematic review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 160, 111701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111701
- Tilbury, K.L., Adams, N.G., Krone, C.A., Meador, J.P., Early, G., Varanasi, U., 1999. Organochlorines in
stranded pilot whales (*Globicephala melaena*) from the Coast of Massachusetts. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 37, 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002449900497

- Timme-Laragy, A.R., Levin, E.D., Di Giulio, R.T., 2006. Developmental and behavioral effects of embryonic exposure to the polybrominated diphenylether mixture DE-71 in the killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*). Chemosphere 62(7), 1097–1104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.05.037
- Toms, L.-M.L., Hearn, L., Kennedy, K., Harden, F., Bartkow, M., Temme, C., Mueller, J.F., 2009. Concentrations of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in matched samples of human milk, dust and indoor air. Environ. Int. 35(6), 864–869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2009.03.001
- Tortonese, E., 1985. Distribution and ecology of endemic elements in the Mediterranean fauna (fishes and echinoderms). In: Mediterranean Marine Ecosystems. Springer US, Boston, MA, pp. 57–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-2248-9_4
- Totten, L.A., Eisenreich, S.J., Brunciak, P.A., 2002. Evidence for destruction of PCBs by the OH radical in urban atmospheres. Chemosphere 47(7), 735–746. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(01)00326-5
- Tovar-Sánchez, A., Sánchez-Quiles, D., Rodríguez-Romero, A., 2020. The Mediterranean Sea. In: Tovar-Sánchez, A., Sánchez-Quiles, D., Blasco, J. (eds) Sunscreens in Coastal Ecosystems. The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 94. Springer, Cham. pp. 131–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_2019_443
- Tracy, A.M., Pielmeier, M.L., Yoshioka, R.M., Heron, S.F., Harvell, C.D., 2019. Increases and decreases in marine disease reports in an era of global change. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 286(1912), 20191718. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.1718
- Trites, A.W., 2019. Marine mammal trophic levels and trophic interactions. In: Encyclopedia of Ocean Sciences. Elsevier, pp. 589–594. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.11618-5
- Tsangaris, C., Digka, N., Valente, T., Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., de Lucia, G.A., Gambaiani, D., Garcia-Garin, O., Kaberi, H., Martin, J., Mauriño, E., Miaud, C., Palazzo, L., del Olmo, A.P., Raga, J.A., Sbrana, A., Silvestri, C., Skylaki, E., Vighi, M., Wongdontree, P., Matiddi, M., 2020. Using *Boops boops (osteichthyes)* to assess microplastic ingestion in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 158, 111397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111397
- Tsygankov, V.Y., Boyarova, M.D., Lukyanova, O.N., 2015. Bioaccumulation of persistent organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) by gray whale and Pacific walrus from the western part of the Bering Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 99(1-2), 235–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.07.020
- Turner, A., 2022. PBDEs in the marine environment: Sources, pathways and the role of microplastics. Environ. Pollut. 301, 118943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.118943
- Tursi, A., Mastrototaro, F., Matarrese, A., Maiorano, P., D'onghia, G., 2004. Biodiversity of the white coral reefs in the Ionian Sea (Central Mediterranean). Chem. Ecol. 20(sup1), 107–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757540310001629170
- Turyk, M., Anderson, H., Knobeloch, L., Imm, P., Persky, V., 2009. Organochlorine exposure and incidence of diabetes in a cohort of Great Lakes sport fish consumers. Environ. Health Perspect. 117(7), 1076– 1082. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.0800281
- Tyack, P.L., Johnson, M., Soto, N.A., Sturlese, A., Madsen, P.T., 2006. Extreme diving of beaked whales. J. Exp. Biol. 209(21), 4238–4253. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02505
- Ueno, D., Kajiwara, N., Tanaka, H., Subramanian, A., Fillmann, G., Lam, P.K.S., Zheng, G.J., Muchitar, M., Razak, H., Prudente, M., Chung, K.-H., Tanabe, S., 2004. Global pollution monitoring of polybrominated diphenyl ethers using skipjack tuna as a bioindicator. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38(8), 2312–2316. https://doi.org/10.1021/es035323k
- Uhler, A.D., Hardenstine, J.H., Edwards, D.A., Lotufo, G.R., 2021. Leaching rate of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) from marine paint chips. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 81(2), 324–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-021-00868-6

- Ulutaş, O.K., Çok, I., Darendeliler, F., Aydin, B., Çoban, A., Henkelmann, B., Schramm, K.W., 2015. Blood levels of polychlorinated biphenlys and organochlorinated pesticides in women from Istanbul, Turkey. Environ. Monit. Assess. 187, 132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-015-4358-0
- UNEP, 2022a. Register of Specific Exemptions: Tetrabromodiphenyl ether and pentabromodiphenyl ether [Online]. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, Chatelaine, Switzerland. Accessed on 20 October 2023.

2023https://doi.org/http://chm.pops.int/Implementation/Exemptions/SpecificExemptions/TetraBDEa ndPentaBDERoSE/tabid/5039/Default.aspx.

- UNEP, 2022b. Register for Specific Exemptions: Decabromodiphenyl Ether [Online]. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, Chatelaine, Switzerland. Accessed on 18 October 2023. https://doi.org/http://chm.pops.int/Implementation/Exemptions/SpecificExemptions/Decabromodip henyletherRoSE/tabid/7593/Default.aspx
- UNEP, 2017. Second Global Monitoring Plan: Global Monitoring Plan for POPs under the Stockholm Convention Article 16 in effectiveness evaluation. UNEP-POPS-COP.8-INF-38. [WWW Document]. Accessed on 3 July 2023. https://chm.pops.int/Portals/0/Repository/GMP/UNEP-POPS-GMP-RMR-AFR.English.PDF
- UNEP, 2010. Stockholm Convention Document for 6th POP Reviewing Committee Meeting. Supporting document for technical review of the implications of recycling commercial penta and octa-BDE [WWW Document]. Accessed on 10 October 2023. https://doi.org/http://chm.pops.int/Convention/ (UNEP/POPS/POPRC.6/INF/6)
- UNEP, 2009. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (as amended 2009). Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention, Stockholm, Sweden. [WWW Document]. Accessed on 10 September. 2023https://chm.pops.int/Portals/0/sc10/files/a/stockholm_convention_text_e.pdf
- UNEP, 2007. UNEP/POPs/COP.3/30.DecisionSC-3/19. [WWW Document]. Accessed on 20 August 2023. https://chm.pops.int/Portals/0/Repository/COP3/UNEP-POPS-COP.3-30.English.PDF
- UNEP, 2001. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. United Nations Environment Programme Chemicals (UNEP). Accessed on 29 July 2023. https://www.pops.int/TheConvention/Overview/TextoftheConvention/tabid/2232/Default.aspx
- UNEP, 1999. Rotterdam Convention on the Prior Informed Consent Procedure for Certain Hazardous Chemicals and Pesticides in International Trade: Text and Annexes. [WWW Document]. Accessed on 10 September 2023. https://www.pic.int/Portals/5/ConventionText/UNEP-FAO-RC-CONVTEXT-2017.English.pdf
- UNEP, 1989. Basel convention on the control of transboundary movements of hazardous wastes and their disposal, United Nations Environment Programme/Secretariat of the Basel Convention [WWW Document]. Accessed on 5 August 2023.

https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/8385/-Basel%20Convention%20on%20the%20Control%20of%20Transboundary%20Movements%20of%20Ha zardous%20Wastes%20-20113644.pdf?sequence=2&%3BisAllowed=

- Vacchi, M., De Falco, G., Simeone, S., Montefalcone, M., Morri, C., Ferrari, M., Bianchi, C.N., 2017. Biogeomorphology of the Mediterranean *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows. Earth Surf. Process. Landforms 42(1), 42–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/esp.3932
- Valavanidis, A., Vlahogianni, T., Dassenakis, M., Scoullos, M., 2006. Molecular biomarkers of oxidative stress in aquatic organisms in relation to toxic environmental pollutants. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 64(2), 178– 189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2005.03.013
- Valle, C., Bayle, J.T., Ramos, A.A., 2003. Weight-length relationships for selected fish species of the western Mediterranean Sea. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 19(4), 261–262. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0426.2003.00492.x

Van Bressem, M., Visser, I., Van de Bildt, M., Teppema, J., Raga, J., Osterhaus, A., 1991. Morbillivirus

infection in Mediterranean striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*). Vet. Rec. 129(21), 471–472. https://doi.org/10.1136/vr.129.21.471

- Van den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L., Bosveld, A.T., Brunström, B., Cook, P., Feeley, M., Giesy, J.P., Hanberg, A., Hasegawa, R., Kennedy, S.W., Kubiak, T., Larsen, J.C., van Leeuwen, F.X., Liem, A.K., Nolt, C., Peterson, R.E., Poellinger, L., Safe, S., Schrenk, D., Tillitt, D., Tysklind, M., Younes, M., Waern, F., Zacharewski, T., 1998. Toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) for PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs for humans and wildlife. Environ. Health Perspect. 106(12), 775–792. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.98106775
- Van den Berg, M., Kypke, K., Kotz, A., Tritscher, A., Lee, S.Y., Magulova, K., Fiedler, H., Malisch, R., 2017. WHO/UNEP global surveys of PCDDs, PCDFs, PCBs and DDTs in human milk and benefit–risk evaluation of breastfeeding. Arch. Toxicol. 91, 83–96. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00204-016-1802-z
- Veldhuizen, L.J.L., Berentsen, P.B.M., Bokkers, E.A.M., de Boer, I.J.M., 2015. Social sustainability of cod and haddock fisheries in the northeast Atlantic: what issues are important? J. Clean. Prod. 94, 76–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.01.078
- Ventero, A., Marcos, I., Iglesias, M., 2021. Acoustic evidences of the beginning of anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*) schooling in the Northern Alboran Sea (Mediterranean Sea). Fish. Res. 239, 105950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2021.105950
- Véron, M., Duhamel, E., Bertignac, M., Pawlowski, L., Huret, M., 2020. Major changes in sardine growth and body condition in the Bay of Biscay between 2003 and 2016: Temporal trends and drivers. Prog. Oceanogr. 182, 102274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pocean.2020.102274
- Verreault, J., Letcher, R.J., Gentes, M.L., Braune, B.M., 2018. Unusually high Deca-BDE concentrations and new flame retardants in a Canadian Arctic top predator, the glaucous gull. Sci. Total Environ. 639, 977–987. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2018.05.222
- Vijayan, M.M., Aluru, N., Maule, A.G., Jørgensen, E.H., 2006. Fasting augments PCB impact on liver metabolism in anadromous arctic char. Toxicol. Sci. 91(2), 431–439. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfj154
- Vijayasarathy, S., Weijs, L., Grant, S., Gallen, M., Gaus, C., 2019. PCDD/F and PCB levels in different tissues from dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) inhabiting the Queensland coastline. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 139, 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.12.020
- Villanger, G.D., 2011. Effects of complex organohalogen contaminant mixtures on thyroid hormone homeostasis in selected arctic marine mammals. PhD. Thesis, Nor. Univ. Sci Technol., Trondheim, Norw. 69 pp.
- Vogel, C.F.A., Van Winkle, L.S., Esser, C., Haarmann-Stemmann, T., 2020. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor as a target of environmental stressors Implications for pollution mediated stress and inflammatory responses. Redox Biol. 34, 101530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2020.101530
- Vonderheide, A.P., Mueller, K.E., Meija, J., Welsh, G.L., 2008. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers: causes for concern and knowledge gaps regarding environmental distribution, fate and toxicity. Sci. Total Environ. 400(1-3), 425–436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2008.05.003
- Voorspoels, S., Covaci, A., Maervoet, J., Schepens, P., 2004. PBDEs in marine and freshwater sediments from Belgium: levels, profiles and relations with biota. J. Environ. Monit. 6(11), 914. https://doi.org/10.1039/b410243f
- VoPham, T., Bertrand, K.A., Jones, R.R., Deziel, N.C., DuPré, N.C., James, P., Liu, Y., Vieira, V.M., Tamimi, R.M., Hart, J.E., Ward, M.H., Laden, F., 2020. Dioxin exposure and breast cancer risk in a prospective cohort study. Environ. Res. 186, 109516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109516
- Vorkamp, K., Thomsen, M., Falk, K., Leslie, H., Møller, S., Sørensen, P.B., 2005. Temporal development of brominated flame retardants in peregrine falcon (*Falco peregrinus*) eggs from South Greenland (1986-2003). Environ. Sci. Technol. 39(21), 8199–8206. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0508830
- Voulgaridou, P., Stergiou, K.I., 2003. Trends in various biological parameters of the European sardine,

Sardina pilchardus (Walbaum, 1792), in the Eastern Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Mar. 67(S1), 269–280. https://doi.org/10.3989/scimar.2003.67s1269

- Vuković, G., Herceg Romanić, S., Babić, Ž., Mustać, B., Štrbac, M., Deljanin, I., Antanasijević, D., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in edible fish species from different fishing zones of Croatian Adriatic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 137, 71–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.10.014
- Vuong, A.M., Yolton, K., Poston, K.L., Xie, C., Webster, G.M., Sjödin, A., Braun, J.M., Dietrich, K.N., Lanphear, B.P., Chen, A., 2018. Childhood polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) exposure and executive function in children in the HOME Study. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 221(1), 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijheh.2017.10.006
- Waggitt, J.J., Evans, P.G.H., Andrade, J., Banks, A.N., Boisseau, O., Bolton, M., Bradbury, G., Brereton, T., Camphuysen, C.J., Durinck, J., Felce, T., Fijn, R.C., Garcia - Baron, I., Garthe, S., Geelhoed, S.C. V.,

Gilles, A., Goodall, M., Haelters, J., Hamilton, S., Hartny - Mills, L., Hodgins, N., James, K., Jessopp, M., Kavanagh, A.S., Leopold, M., Lohrengel, K., Louzao, M., Markones, N., Martínez-Cedeira, J., Ó Cadhla, O., Perry, S.L., Pierce, G.J., Ridoux, V., Robinson, K.P., Santos, M.B., Saavedra, C., Skov, H., Stienen, E.W.M., Sveegaard, S., Thompson, P., Vanermen, N., Wall, D., Webb, A., Wilson, J., Wanless, S., Hiddink, J.G., 2020. Distribution maps of cetacean and seabird populations in the North - East Atlantic. J. Appl. Ecol. 57(2), 253–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13525

- Wagner, H.-C., Schramm, K.-W., Hutzinger, O., 1990. Biogenes polychloriertes dioxin aus trichlorphenol. umweltwissenschaften und schadstoff-forsch. 2, 63–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02936895
- Walker, C.H., 2008. Organic pollutants: an ecotoxicological perspective, Second Edition. CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420062595
- Wan, Y., Hu, J., Yang, M., An, L., An, W., Jin, X., Hattori, T., Itoh, M., 2005. Characterization of trophic transfer for polychlorinated dibenzo- p -dioxins, dibenzofurans, non- and ,no-ortho polychlorinated biphenyls in the marine food web of Bohai Bay, North China. Environ. Sci. Technol. 39(8), 2417–2425. https://doi.org/10.1021/es048657y
- Wang, F., Ruan, X.-J., Zhang, H.-Y., 2015. BDE-99 (2,2′,4,4′,5-pentabromodiphenyl ether) triggers epithelial-mesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer cells via PI3K/Akt/Snail signaling pathway. Tumori J. 101(2), 238–245. https://doi.org/10.5301/tj.5000229
- Wang, H.-S., Chen, Z.-J., Wei, W., Man, Y.-B., Giesy, J.P., Du, J., Zhang, G., Wong, C.K.-C., Wong, M.-H., 2013. Concentrations of organochlorine pesticides (OCPs) in human blood plasma from Hong Kong: markers of exposure and sources from fish. Environ. Int. 54, 18–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2013.01.003
- Wang, X., Zhu, J., Xue, Z., Jin, X., Jin, Y., Fu, Z., 2019. The environmental distribution and toxicity of shortchain chlorinated paraffins and underlying mechanisms: implications for further toxicological investigation. Sci. Total Environ. 695, 133834. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.133834
- Wang, Y., Luo, C., Li, J., Yin, H., Li, X., Zhang, G., 2011. Characterization of PBDEs in soils and vegetations near an e-waste recycling site in South China. Environ. Pollut. 159(10), 2443–2448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.06.030
- Wang, Z., Altenburger, R., Backhaus, T., Covaci, A., Diamond, M.L., Grimalt, J.O., Lohmann, R., Schäffer, A., Scheringer, M., Selin, H., Soehl, A., Suzuki, N., 2021. We need a global science-policy body on chemicals and waste. Science. 371(6531), 774–776. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABE9090
- Wania, F., Dugani, C.B., 2003. Assessing the long-range transport potential of polybrominated diphenyl ethers: a comparison of four multimedia models. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 22(6), 1252–1261. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620220610
- Wania, F., MacKay, D., 1996. Tracking the distribution of persistent organic pollutants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 30(1-11), 390A-396A. https://doi.org/10.1021/es962399q

- Ward, J.R., Lafferty, K.D., 2004. The elusive baseline of marine disease: are diseases in ocean ecosystems increasing? PLoS Biol. 2(4), e120. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0020120
- Weber, R., Aliyeva, G., Vijgen, J., 2013. The need for an integrated approach to the global challenge of POPs management. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20(4), 1901–1906. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-012-1247-8
- Weeks, B.A., Warinner, J.E., Mason, P.L., McGinnis, D.S., 1986. Influence of toxic chemicals on the chemotactic response of fish macrophages. J. Fish Biol. 28(6), 653–658. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1986.tb05200.x
- Weijs, L., Briels, N., Adams, D.H., Lepoint, G., Das, K., Blust, R., Covaci, A., 2015. Bioaccumulation of organohalogenated compounds in sharks and rays from the southeastern USA. Environ. Res. 137, 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.12.022
- Weijs, L., Leusch, F., Covaci, A., 2019. Concentrations of legacy persistent organic pollutants and naturally produced MeO-PBDEs in dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) from Moreton Bay, Australia. Chemosphere 229, 500–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.05.033
- Weijs, L., Tibax, D., Roach, A.C., Manning, T.M., Chapman, J.C., Edge, K., Blust, R., Covaci, A., 2013. Assessing levels of halogenated organic compounds in mass-stranded long-finned pilot whales (*Globicephala melas*) from Australia. Sci. Total Environ. 461–462, 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.04.090
- Weijs, L., Zaccaroni, A., 2016. Toxicology of marine mammals: new developments and opportunities. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 70, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-015-0233-9
- Weintraub, M., Birnbaum, L.S., 2008. Catfish consumption as a contributor to elevated PCB levels in a non-Hispanic black subpopulation. Environ. Res. 107(3), 412–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2008.03.001
- Wells, R.S., Tornero, V., Borrell, A., Aguilar, A., Rowles, T.K., Rhinehart, H.L., Hofmann, S., Jarman, W.M., Hohn, A.A., Sweeney, J.C., 2005. Integrating life-history and reproductive success data to examine potential relationships with organochlorine compounds for bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in Sarasota Bay, Florida. Sci. Total Environ. 349(1-3), 106–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.01.010
- Wenning, R.J., Martello, L., 2014. POPs in marine and freshwater environments. In: Environmental forensics for persistent organic pollutants. Elsevier, pp. 357–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59424-2.00008-6
- Westerlund, L., Billsson, K., Andersson, P.L., Tysklind, M., Olsson, P.-E., 2000. Early life-stage mortality in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*) following maternal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and estrogen. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 19(6), 1582–1588. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620190615
- Whitehead, H., 2018. Sperm Whale. In: Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Elsevier, pp. 919–925. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804327-1.00242-9
- WHO, 2000. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe & WHO European Centre for Environment and Health (Bilthoven). Interlaboratory quality assessment of levels of PCBs, PCDDs and PCDFs in human milk and blood plasma : fourth round of WHO-coordinated st.
- Williams, D.T., Blanchfield, B.J., 1972. An improved screening method for chlorodibenzo-p-dioxins. J. AOAC Int. 55(6), 1358–1359. https://doi.org/10.1093/jaoac/55.6.1358
- Williams, R.S., Curnick, D.J., Barber, J.L., Brownlow, A., Davison, N.J., Deaville, R., Perkins, M., Jobling, S., Jepson, P.D., 2020. Juvenile harbor porpoises in the UK are exposed to a more neurotoxic mixture of polychlorinated biphenyls than adults. Sci. Total Environ. 708, 134835. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134835
- Wise, J.P., Thompson, W.D., S. Wise, S., LaCerte, C., Wise, J., 2011. A Global assessment of gold, titanium, strontium and barium pollution using sperm whales (*Physeter Macrocephalus*) as an indicator species.
 J. Ecosyst. Ecography 01. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7625.1000101

- Wolska, L., Mechlińska, A., Rogowska, J., Namieśnik, J., 2012. Sources and fate of PAHs and PCBs in the marine environment. Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol. 42(11), 1172–1189. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2011.556546
- Wong, S.N.P., Whitehead, H., 2014. Seasonal occurrence of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) around Kelvin Seamount in the Sargasso Sea in relation to oceanographic processes. Deep Sea Res. Part I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 91, 10–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr.2014.05.001
- Wu, M.-H., Pei, J.-C., Zheng, M., Tang, L., Bao, Y.-Y., Xu, B.-T., Sun, R., Sun, Y.-F., Xu, G., Lei, J.-Q., 2015.
 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in soil and outdoor dust from a multi-functional area of Shanghai: Levels, compositional profiles and interrelationships. Chemosphere 118, 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.06.022
- Wu, N., Herrmann, T., Paepke, O., Tickner, J., Hale, R., Harvey, E., La Guardia, M., McClean, M.D., Webster, T.F., 2007. Human exposure to PBDEs: Associations of PBDE body burdens with food consumption and house dust concentrations. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41(5), 1584–1589. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0620282
- Wu, Z., Han, W., Yang, X., Li, Y., Wang, Y., 2019. The occurrence of polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) contamination in soil, water/sediment, and air. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 26, 23219–23241. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-05768-w
- Wu, Z., He, C., Han, W., Song, J., Li, H., Zhang, Y., Jing, X., Wu, W., 2020. Exposure pathways, levels and toxicity of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in humans: A review. Environ. Res. 187, 109531. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109531
- Xavier, J., van Soest, R., 2007. Demosponge fauna of Ormonde and Gettysburg Seamounts (Gorringe Bank, north-east Atlantic): diversity and zoogeographical affinities. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. United Kingdom 87(6), 1643–1653. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315407058584
- Xiang, Y., Xing, Z., Liu, J., Qin, W., Huang, X., 2020. Recent advances in the biodegradation of polychlorinated biphenyls. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 36, 145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-020-02922-2
- Xie, Q., Yu, R.Q., Yu, R., Wang, Z., Zhang, X., Wu, Y., 2021. Historic changes of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in juvenile and adult cetaceans from the Pearl River estuary from 2003 to 2020. Sci. Total Environ. 800, 149512. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.149512
- Xu, G., Zhao, X., Zhao, S., Chen, C., Rogers, M.J., Ramaswamy, R., He, J., 2021. Insights into the occurrence, fate, and impacts of halogenated flame retardants in municipal wastewater treatment plants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55(8), 4205–4226. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c05681
- Xu, J., Ye, Y., Huang, F., Chen, H., Wu, H., Huang, J., Hu, J., Xia, D., Wu, Y., 2016. Association between dioxin and cancer incidence and mortality: a meta-analysis. Sci. Rep. 6(1), 38012. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep38012
- Xu, P., Ge, W., Chai, C., Zhang, Y., Jiang, T., Xia, B., 2019. Sorption of polybrominated diphenyl ethers by microplastics. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 145, 260–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.05.050
- Yıldırım, D.Ç., Ektiren, B., Erdoğan, F., 2023. The threshold effect of tourism, growth, and population interactions on environmental pollution in Mediterranean countries. Tour. Manag. Perspect. 47, 101118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2023.101118
- Ylitalo, G.M., Matkin, C.O., Buzitis, J., Krahn, M.M., Jones, L.L., Rowles, T., Stein, J.E., 2001. Influence of lifehistory parameters on organochlorine concentrations in free-ranging killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) from Prince William Sound, AK. Sci. Total Environ. 281(1-3), 183–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(01)00846-4
- Yordy, J.E., Mollenhauer, M.A.M., Wilson, R.M., Wells, R.S., Hohn, A., Sweeney, J., Schwacke, L.H., Rowles, T.K., Kucklick, J.R., Peden-Adams, M.M., 2010a. Complex contaminant exposure in cetaceans: A comparative E-Screen analysis of bottlenose dolphin blubber and mixtures of four persistent organic

pollutants. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29(10), 2143-2153. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.279

- Yordy, J.E., Pabst, D.A., Mclellan, W.A., Wells, R.S., Rowles, T.K., Kucklickz, J.R., 2010b. Tissue-specific distribution and whole-body burden estimates of persistent organic pollutants in the bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29(10), 1263–1273. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.152
- Yordy, J.E., Wells, R.S., Balmer, B.C., Schwacke, L.H., Rowles, T.K., Kucklick, J.R., 2010c. Life history as a source of variation for persistent organic pollutant (POP) patterns in a community of common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) resident to Sarasota Bay, FL. Sci. Total Environ. 408(9), 2163– 2172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.01.032
- Yu, L., Han, Z., Liu, C., 2015. A review on the effects of PBDEs on thyroid and reproduction systems in fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 219, 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygcen.2014.12.010
- Zaccaroni, A., Andreini, R., Franzellitti, S., Barceló, D., Eljarrat, E., 2018. Halogenated flame retardants in stranded sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 635, 892–900. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.147
- Zafar, M.I., Kali, S., Ali, M., Riaz, M.A., Naz, T., Iqbal, M.M., Masood, N., Munawar, K., Jan, B., Ahmed, S., Waseem, A., Niazi, M.B.K., 2020. Dechlorane Plus as an emerging environmental pollutant in Asia: a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 27, 42369–42389. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-10609-2
- Zaqoot, H.A., Hujair, T.S., Ansari, A.K., Khan, S.H., 2012. Assessment of land-based pollution sources in the Mediterranean Sea along Gaza coast – Palestine. In: Energy, environment and sustainable development. Springer Vienna, Vienna, pp. 175–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7091-0109-4_18
- Zhan, F., Yu, X., Zhang, X., Chen, L., Sun, X., Yu, R. qing, Wu, Y., 2019. Tissue distribution of organic contaminants in stranded pregnant sperm whale (*Physeter microcephalus*) from the Huizhou coast of the South China Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 144, 181–188. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2019.05.005
- Zhang, J., Liu, F., Chen, R., Feng, T., Dong, S., Shen, H., 2012. Levels of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides in edible shellfish from Xiamen (China) and estimation of human dietary intake. Food Chem. Toxicol. 50(12), 4285–4291. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2012.08.052
- Zhang, Y., Xi, B., Tan, W., 2021. Release, transformation, and risk factors of polybrominated diphenyl ethers from landfills to the surrounding environments: A review. Environ. Int. 157, 106780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106780
- Zheng, K., Zeng, Z., Lin, Y., Wang, Q., Tian, Q., Huo, X., 2023. Current status of indoor dust PBDE pollution and its physical burden and health effects on children. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 30(8), 19642–19661. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-24723-w
- Zhou, H., Chen, C.-M., Diao, X., 2020. The metabolic responses of aquatic animal exposed to POPs. In: Environmental metabolomics. Elsevier, pp. 121–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-818196-6.00005-4
- Zhou, H., Wu, H., Liao, C., Diao, X., Zhen, J., Chen, L., Xue, Q., 2010. Toxicology mechanism of the persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in fish through AhR pathway. Toxicol. Mech. Methods 20(6), 279–286. https://doi.org/10.3109/15376516.2010.485227
- Zhou, T., Ross, D.G., Devito, M.J., Crofton, K.M., 2001. Effects of short-term in vivo exposure to polybrominated diphenyl ethers on thyroid hormones and hepatic enzyme activities in weanling rats. Toxicol. Sci. 61(1), 76–82.
- Zhou, W., Zhai, Z., Wang, Z., Wang, L., 2005. Estimation of n-octanol/water partition coefficients (Kow) of all PCB congeners by density functional theory. J. Mol. Struct. THEOCHEM 755(1-3), 137–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theochem.2005.08.020
- Zimmermann, F., Werner, K.M., 2019. Improved management is the main driver behind recovery of Northeast Atlantic fish stocks. Front. Ecol. Environ. 17(2), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2002

Zukal, J., Pikula, J., Bandouchova, H., 2015. Bats as bioindicators of heavy metal pollution: history and prospect. Mamm. Biol. 80, 220–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mambio.2015.01.001

9. Annexes

9.1. Scientific publications

ELSEVIER



Environmental Pollution

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/envpol



Global PBDE contamination in cetaceans. A critical review \star

Alice Bartalini^{a,b}, Juan Muñoz-Arnanz^{a,*}, Natalia García-Álvarez^b, Antonio Fernández^b, Begoña Jiménez^a

^a Department of Instrumental Analysis and Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Organic Chemistry (IQOG-CSIC), Juan de la Cierva 3, 28006, Madrid, Spain
^b Unit of Histology and Pathology, Institute of Animal Health (IUSA), Veterinary School, University of Las Palmas, 35413 Arucas, Las Palmas de Gran Canaria, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: PBDEs POPs Cetaceans Time trends Endocrine disruptors Climate change

ABSTRACT

This review summarizes the most relevant information on PBDEs' occurrence and their impacts in cetaceans at global scale, with special attention on the species with the highest reported levels and therefore the most potentially impacted by the current and continuous release of these substances. This review also emphasizes the anthropogenic and environmental factors that could increase concentrations and associated risks for these species in the next future. High PBDE concentrations above the toxicity threshold and stationary trends have been related to continuous import of PBDE-containing products in cetaceans of Brazil and Australia, where PBDEs have never been produced. Non-decreasing levels documented in cetaceans from the Northwest Pacific Ocean might be linked to the increased e-waste import and ongoing production and use of deca-BDE that is still allowed in China. Moreover, high levels of PBDEs in some endangered species such as beluga whales (*Delphinapterus leucas*) in St. Lawrence Estuary and Southern Resident killer whales (*Orcinus Orca*) are influenced by the discharge of contaminated waters deriving from wastewater treatment plants.

Climate change related processes such as enhanced long-range transport, re-emissions from secondary sources and shifts in migration habits could lead to greater exposure and accumulation of PBDEs in cetaceans, above all in those species living in the Arctic. In addition, increased rainfall could carry greater amount of contaminants to the marine environment, thereby, enhancing the exposure and accumulation especially for coastal species.

Synergic effects of all these factors and ongoing emissions of PBDEs, expected to continue at least until 2050, could increase the degree of exposure and menace for cetacean populations. In this regard, it is necessary to improve current regulations on PBDEs and broader the knowledge about their toxicological effects, in order to assess health risks and support regulatory protection for cetacean species.

1. Introduction

In recent years there has been growing concern pertaining the stable and high levels of some legacy persistent organic pollutants (POPs) continuously reported in the environment (Jepson et al., 2016; Jones, 2021; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). At the same time, recent studies have drawn attention to the impact that climate change could have on POPs' cycling and distribution and consequently on exposure and accumulation in living organisms (Borgå et al., 2022; Hung et al., 2022; Nadal et al., 2015). Evidence suggested that climate change-driven processes could enhance long-range transport of POPs (Dalla Valle et al., 2007; Li et al., 2021) and their remobilization from secondary sources, especially in the Arctic zone (Borgå et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2011; Potapowicz et al., 2019). Undoubtedly, this could translate into enhanced POP exposure and accumulation in cetaceans living in this area. Additionally, some cetacean species inhabiting industrialized regions such as killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) are already facing important anthropogenic pressures and ultimately population depletion, which has been linked to their high body burdens of POPs (Desforges et al., 2018; McGuire et al., 2020). In this regard, two individual-based models have described the

In this regard, two individual-based models have described the possible negative influence of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and structurally similar compounds on the potential annual growth rate in the bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) population of Sarasota Bay (Hall et al., 2006), and on the long-term viability of the world's killer whale population (Desforges et al., 2018). Despite the evidence of the detrimental impact of POPs on marine mammals' health, a comprehensive understanding of toxicological consequences has not yet been

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119670

Received 11 April 2022; Received in revised form 16 June 2022; Accepted 19 June 2022 Available online 22 June 2022 0269-7491/© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/bync/4.0/).

 $^{^{\}star}\,$ This paper has been recommended for acceptance by Da Chen.

^{*} Corresponding author.

E-mail address: juan.ma@iqog.csic.es (J. Muñoz-Arnanz).

achieved. In consequence, species-specific threshold values are not well established.

High and stable concentrations, enhanced exposure due to climate change processes and population collapse related to high body burdens for some cetacean species, have led to questioning about the effectiveness of current global efforts aimed at the mitigation and elimination of POPs (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017; Wang et al., 2021; García-Alvarez et al., 2014). Thus, revision of existing multilateral environmental agreements (MEAs), implementation of national legislations and more holistic approaches have become necessary. Special attention should be given to polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) for which emissions from in use and waste stocks are expected to continue until 2050 (Abbasi et al., 2019). It is plausible that prohibitions of production and use are not steadily lowering the long-term environmental impact of PBDEs, but shifting instead the issue from more to less industrialized regions where the demand of PBDE-containing products and e-waste import have increased since the late 1990s (Li et al., 2016).

PBDEs are a family of brominated-flame retardants (BFRs) comprising 209 congeners that are divided into 10 groups, from mono-to deca-BDE, according to their different degree of halogenation. The estimated global production from 1970 to 2005 was around 1.3 and 1.5 million of tons (UNEP, 2010), comparable to that of PCBs (Breivik et al., 2002). United States and Israel were the two main manufacturers prior to 1995, while China started its production in the 1980s, principally focused on deca-BDE, and became one of the main producers 20 years later (Abbasi et al., 2019). PBDEs have been commercialized as three technical mixtures, i.e., penta-, octa-, and deca-brominated diphenyl ether, named so after the major congeners present in each mixture. They were primarily used as flame retardants in polyurethane (PUR) foams, computers, housing appliances, electrical and electronic products.

By the beginning of the 21st century, environmental authorities (e.g., the European REACH regulation; the Stockholm Convention; the United States Environmental Protection Agency; Environment and Climate Change Canada) became aware of the harmful effects of PBDEs based on the available scientific evidence, and nations started to take measures. In 2004 the United States and Europe voluntarily phased out the production of penta- and octa-BDE mixtures (Hites, 2006), while in 2009 they were globally regulated with their introduction in the annex A (elimination) of the Stockholm Convention (UNEP, 2009). Accordingly, most reported PBDEs started to decline or level off in the early 2000s in environmental media around the world (Law et al., 2014), with notorious exceptions such as some top predators in Northern Europe (McKinney et al., 2006; Vorkamp et al., 2005) and beluga whales from the Gulf of St. Lawrence (Canada) (Raach et al., 2011) and Alaska (Hoguet et al., 2013). Importantly, the ban on these two mixtures lead to an increased production of deca-BDE formulation, made up of 96.8% BDE-209, until its more recent inclusion in the annex A of the Stockholm Convention in 2019 (UNEP, 2022a). The extensive use of deca-BDE shifted the environmental congener pattern distribution of PBDEs with increasing levels of higher brominated congeners in different abiotic and biotic matrices (Olofsson et al., 2012; Su et al., 2015; Verreault et al., 2018). Thus, Olofsson et al. (2012) reported decreasing concentrations (ca. 20% each year) of BDE-154 and BDE-183 (representative of penta-mix and octa-mix, respectively) in sewage sludge from Sweden during 2004-2011, while BDE-209 increased (ca. 16%) over the same period. Heightened levels of deca-BDE were observed in herring gulls (Larus argentatus) from the Laurentian Great Lakes (Su et al., 2015) and top predator birds from the Arctic (Verreault et al., 2018), sampled during 2012-2013. Even if BDE-209 is highly hydrophobic and has low water solubility, making it hardly bioavailable, evidence suggests that its biomagnification may take place in aquatic food webs (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; Johnson-Restrepo et al., 2005). In addition, its affinity to abiotic matrices such as sediments generates a large contaminant reservoir that put at risk low-trophic level species and their feeders. Toxicological relevance of higher brominated BDEs has not yet been fully investigated, but their debromination to lighter, more toxic

and bioaccumulative congeners have been demonstrated (Eriksson et al., 2004; La Guardia et al., 2007; Rayne et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 2019). This fact is worthy of attention due to the large historical production of deca-BDE estimated to be almost 10 times higher than those of pentaand octa-BDE mixtures (Abbasi et al., 2019).

Even though PBDEs are mostly prohibited today on a global scale, their production and use is still ongoing in some world areas (Sharkey et al., 2020). Several countries have not vet ratified some amendments of the Stockholm Convention and in many cases also lack national regulations for both production and use. For example, in the United States only 13 states have applied limitations on the use/presence of PBDEs in certain goods entering the market, but no federal restrictions are in place. Other examples are those of Brazil and Indonesia where there are no regulations or limits defined for marketable goods or wastes (Sharkey et al., 2020). China has set concentration limits in newly manufactured goods for penta- and octa-BDE, but not for deca-BDE (Sharkey et al., 2020). Moreover, specific exemptions under the Stockholm Convention permit the use of the three commercial BDE mixtures for certain specific applications (UNEP, 2022b; 2022a). For instance, deca-BDE counts on specific exemptions allowing its production up to 2036 in the European Union, Republic of Korea and Switzerland (Sharkey et al., 2020).

Today, in use PBDE-containing products and waste stocks, accentuated by improper disposal in both developed and developing countries, represent important sources of PBDE contamination (Zhang et al., 2021). Due to the lack of chemical bonds and susceptibility to physical, chemical and biological factors, PBDEs can be easily released during waste disposal and therefore contaminate the surrounding environment or reach water masses through leaching and runoff (Danon-Schaffer et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2021). Additionally, the high temperatures (80°C–90 °C) that can be reached in landfills enhance volatilization of lower brominated congeners (Stubbings and Harrad, 2014). Once in the atmosphere and thanks to their ability for long-range transport, these substances can reach remote areas where they have never been produced (Stubbings and Harrad, 2014; Wang et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2021). Although recycling infrastructures have been implemented in many countries, older landfills without proper engineered facilities continue to be in use in Europe and United States (Propp et al., 2021), being likely responsible for inadvertent release of PBDEs into the environment (Ohajinwa et al., 2019).

As reported by Abbasi et al. (2019), emissions of PBDEs will continue for the next 30 years. This means that without appropriate control an additional enormous amount of BDE-209 (40 kilotons) may be subject to improper disposal. On top of that, higher temperatures and increased rainfall-runoff expected over the next few years as consequences of global warming could enhance PBDE volatilization and transportation from landfills and dumpsites. These all are likely to increase the amount of these semi-volatile contaminants reaching remote areas and entering the marine environment (Nadal et al., 2015).

Indeed, PBDEs have been detected in various environmental matrices for the last 40 years and since 10 years ago they have been recognized as ubiquitous contaminants (Abbasi et al., 2019). These substances enter the coastal waters through municipal and industrial wastewater outfalls, landfill leachates and atmospheric deposition (De Wit, 2002). Once in the marine environment, thanks to their hydrophobicity and persistency, PBDEs accumulate in biological tissues and biomagnify along the food web (Aznar-Alemany et al., 2019; De Wit, 2002; Noël et al., 2009). Species with large lipid reservoirs, high trophic levels and long-life spans, such as those in the cetacean suborder of odontocetes, tend to accumulate great concentrations of these substances and thus are regarded as bioindicators of POP contamination (Tanabe and Ramu, 2012). In addition, their reduced metabolic ability to eliminate POPs in comparison with carnivorous predators (polar bears, seals and walruses) make toothed whales especially vulnerable to this pollution (McKinney et al., 2011; Sonne et al., 2018). Even if POPs accumulate to a lesser extent in mysticetes, mobilization and redistribution of sequestered contaminants resulting from fasting and associated lipid fluctuations seem to cause a "reexposure" of target tissues (Bengtson Nash, 2018) increasing the likelihood and/or intensity of toxic effects (Aguilar et al., 1999; Bossart, 2011) in this suborder as well.

It has been demonstrated that upon continue exposure, marine mammals could reach potential toxic levels of PBDEs in their tissues. In the last 30 years many studies have reported PBDE levels in species around the world surpassing the threshold value for alteration in thyroid hormone levels in blubber of grey seals (Alonso et al., 2014). Moreover, stable or increasing concentrations of higher brominated congeners have been reported for different species and areas, in some cases in populations already impacted by other anthropogenic threats (Lebeuf et al., 2014; Simond et al., 2017; Jeong et al., 2020; Rotander et al., 2012).

Unlike others contaminants such as PCBs, PBDE effects in marine mammals have not been deeply investigated so far. In spite of the limited information available in literature in this regard, however, PBDEs in marine mammals seem to be associated with different harmful health effects. Particularly, they are responsible for toxicity responses involving the endocrine and immune systems (Simond et al., 2019; Beineke et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2020) as well as for cytotoxicity and genotoxicity to some extent (Rajput et al., 2021).

This review aims to compile the most relevant information on PBDE occurrence and associated health effects in cetaceans. A major objective would be drawing attention on the anthropogenic and environmental factors that could increase PBDE concentrations and associated risks in the next future. The discussion of PBDE levels and trends will be focused on the species with the highest reported levels and therefore the most potentially impacted by the current and continuous release of these substances.

The studies analyzed in this article are performed in blubber or liver of worldwide cetaceans covering a temporal range of about 30 years, since 1992 to 2021. Data are discussed when possible as mean concentration and range, and expressed as ng/g on lipid weight (l.w.) basis. All species investigated and discussed in this work are listed in Fig. 1.

1.1. Three decades of PBDEs in cetaceans: highest levels reported to date and trends

Despite their prohibition dating back more than 10 years ago, penta-BDE and octa-BDE congeners are still globally reported in marine mammals (Alonso et al., 2014; Aznar-Alemany et al., 2021; Kratofil et al., 2020; Simond et al., 2017). This can easily be linked to different factors, e.g. the persistence of these substances in the environment, the in use PBDE-containing products, the still ongoing production of these flame retardants in some geographical areas as well as the degradation of higher brominated (mainly deca-BDE) to lighter, bioavailable and more toxic congeners.

Kuehl et al. (1991) published the first study on PBDEs in cetaceans in 1991 reporting a mean value of 200 ng/g l.w. of total tetra-to hexa-BDEs in blubber of bottlenose dolphins collected during 1987–1988 along the Atlantic coast of the U.S. Since then, several studies have been conducted on different tissues and species, most of them focused on blubber of odontocetes inhabiting the Northern Hemisphere (Alonso et al., 2014) and reporting levels one order of magnitude higher than those initially documented in 1991 (Boer et al., 1998; Fair et al., 2007; Lindström et al., 1999; Moon et al., 2010). Values between 1060 and 7900 ng/g l.w., have been reported in more recent years (Kratofil et al., 2020; Noël et al., 2018; Simond et al., 2017) when, a priori, it would be expected a greater decrease as a consequence of the ban on production and use of pentaand octa-BDE. The only known threshold value for PBDEs is that of 1500 ng/g l.w., associated to the concentration in blubber of grey seals (Halichoerus grypus) eliciting alterations in thyroid hormone levels (Hall et al., 2003). Several studies have documented levels of PBDEs above this threshold (Boer et al., 1998; Fair et al., 2007; Kratofil et al., 2020; Lam et al., 2009; Lindström et al., 1999; Moon et al., 2010; Tuerk et al., 2004), pointing out the hazard these substances pose to cetacean health. Interestingly, some cetacean populations showing the highest concentrations of PBDEs are facing population depletion and lack of recovery. Most of them are classified as endangered species (Kratofil et al., 2020; Noël et al., 2018; Simond et al., 2017), which is likely consequence of



Fig. 1. Cetacean species investigated in this review.

the synergic effects of multiple anthropogenic threats including chemical pollution. Cetacean species living in urbanized coastal regions also deserve special attention due to the constant release of PBDEs in these areas and the subsequent high degree of contamination in their habitats.

To date, the highest concentrations of PBDEs in cetaceans' blubber have been reported for Southern Resident killer whales from Canada (mean: 7900 ng/g l.w.) (Noël et al., 2018), Main Hawaiian Island false killer whales (Pseudorca crassidens) (mean: 2900 ng/g l.w.) (Kratofil et al., 2020), Atlantic white-side dolphins (Leucopleurus acutus) in the North Sea (mean 7777 ng/g l.w.) (Boer et al., 1998), Indo-pacific humpback dolphin (Sousa chinensis) from Hong Kong waters (mean: 3590 ng/g l.w; range: 280-51,100 ng/g l.w.) (Lam et al., 2009) and bottlenose dolphins in the Northwestern Atlantic Ocean (mean: 7850 ng/g l.w.; range: 2680–22,800 ng/g l.w.) (Fair et al., 2007) (Fig. 2). High concentrations of PBDEs, often surpassing the threshold mentioned previously, have also been reported for long-finned pilot whales (Globicephala melas) from Faroe Islands (NW Atlantic) (mean: 1939 ng/g l. w.) (Lindström et al., 1999), Atlantic white-sided dolphins of Massachusetts coast (NW Atlantic) (mean: 1607 ng/gl.w.) (Tuerk et al., 2004), long-beaked common dolphins (Delphinus capensis) from Korea (NW Pacific) (mean: 1650 ng/g l.w.; range: 140-3100 ng/g l.w.) (Moon et al., 2010) and beluga whales from St. Lawrence Estuary (mean: 1068 ng/g l. w.; range: 666-1287 ng/g l.w) (Simond et al., 2017) (Fig. 2). These high values are to be linked to feeding habits and longer stays in urbanized and industrialized areas such as the California coastline - a feeding area for killer whales (Hanson et al., 2021) - and St. Lawrence Estuary where belugas live.

Different studies revealed the presence of PBDEs in Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp) (O'Neill and West, 2009; Shaw et al., 2008; Veldhoen et al., 2010) with higher levels in coastal species, such as Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) the main prey of southern resident killer whale, than in those species with more oceanic distributions (O'Neill et al., 2006). As reported by the authors, this fact could contribute to the higher PBDE levels found in Southern Resident killer whales in comparison to those reported for other killer whale populations.

PBDE burdens in California's coastline have been found in sediments (Dodder et al., 2012) and wildlife, such as seabirds (Clatterbuck et al., 2018), fish (Maruya et al., 2016) and marine mammals (Shaul et al.,

2015; Cossaboon et al., 2019), principally deriving from wastewater and stormwater discharges (Kimbrough, 2009). At the same time, different studies reported the presence of PBDEs in seal species from the Estuary and Gulf of St. Lawrence (Frouin et al., 2011; Soulen et al., 2018) and in fish and invertebrates from the St. Lawrence River, heavily impacted by discharge of treated wastewater, with the Montreal effluent being the most important PBDE source (Marcogliese et al., 2015).

Additionally, important concentrations of PBDEs in Main Hawaiian Island false killer whales have been related to the discharge of contaminated wastewater effluents in the coastal waters of Hawaii (Ylitalo et al., 2009). It is noteworthy that Canadian Southern Resident killer whale and Main Hawaiian Island false killer whale populations are experiencing a population depletion and lack of recovery due to multiple anthropogenic threats, among which chemical contamination may be playing an important role (Bradford et al., 2020; Desforges et al., 2018; Foltz et al., 2014; Hall et al., 2018). Hence, Southern resident killer whales and St. Lawrence beluga whales have been classified as endangered in the United States (Department of commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric, 2005) and Canada (SARA, 2017). The Main Hawaiian Island false killer whale stock was listed as endangered under the U.S. Endangered Species Act (ESA) in 2012 as a consequence of a rapid population decline during 1990s (GovInfo Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants, 2012). Thus, the last census counted only 167 individuals, three time less than a previous estimation from 1998 (Bradford et al., 2018). Among the various causes, such as bycatch, decreased prey biomass and size and reduced genetic diversity, exposure to POPs and its related adverse health effects may contribute to the reduction of this population (Foltz et al., 2014; Kratofil et al., 2020; Ylitalo et al., 2009).

Among mysticetes, humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*) from the Gulf of Maine seem to be the most PBDE contaminated species, with a mean level around 900 ng/g l.w. in specimens sampled during 2005–2006 (Elfes et al., 2010). As suggested by the authors, this is likely a consequence of the great industrialization and human population density of the east coast of the United States.

Liver is the second most investigated tissue for PBDE contamination in cetaceans. PBDE levels in liver at which biological responses or toxicity effects occur have not yet been elucidated. Bearing that in mind, in this work we have also adopted as proxy for a toxicity reference the



Fig. 2. PBDE highest mean concentrations (ng/g l.w.) in cetaceans' blubber around the world. Dotted line represents the threshold value for alteration of thyroid hormone levels in grey seals (Hall et al., 2003).

A. Bartalini et al.

threshold established for alteration of thyroid hormone levels in grey seals (Hall et al., 2003).

Notable concentrations surpassing this threshold value of 1500 ng/g l.w., have been reported in liver of striped dolphin (Stenella coeruleoalba) (mean: 3624 ng/g l.w.; range: 129-8133 ng/g l.w.) and risso's dolphin (Grampus griseus) (mean: 2564 ng/g l.w.; range: 1778-2998 ng/g l.w.) from the Mediterranean Sea (Pettersson et al., 2004), and beluga whale in St. Lawrence Estuary (mean: 2210 ng/g l.w.; range: 246-3030 ng/g l. w.) (McKinney et al., 2006) (Fig. 3). Significant values of PBDEs have been also found in cetaceans inhabiting the highly industrialized and urbanized south-eastern coast of Brazil that represents a feeding and breeding ground for several coastal species such as the Guiana dolphin (Sotalia guianensis) (Ribeiro-Campos et al., 2021) and the highly threatened franciscana dolphin (Pontoporia blainvillei) (Secchi et al., 2021). Dorneles et al. (2010) found mean PBDE levels in liver of Atlantic spotted dolphins (Stenella frontalis), pantropical spotted dolphins (Stenella attenuata) and false killer whales of 1150 ng/g l.w., 1215 ng/g l.w. and 3600 ng/g l.w., respectively, which are in the same order of magnitude as those in Mediterranean dolphins (Pettersson et al., 2004) and Canadian Belugas (McKinney et al., 2006) (Fig. 3), dwellers of two well-known contaminated areas. This is in line with the results from a recent study performed in four distinct groups of Atlantic spotted dolphins, stranded between 2005 and 2015 in the Canary Islands, Azores, Caribbean Sea and São Paulo (Méndez-Fernandez et al., 2018). In this study among the four different populations, the highest concentrations of PBDEs in blubber were reported in specimens stranded along the coast of Brazil.

As shown in Fig. 4 the highest PBDE levels have been described for species living in the North Hemisphere and in many cases inhabiting or frequenting recognized contaminated areas such as the Mediterranean Sea, the North American East Coast or the North West Pacific zone. Cetacean species living in Southern Hemisphere waters, on the other hand, appear to be less investigated. The highest PBDE loads in that case have been reported for species inhabiting the Eastern coast of Brazil and Australia, but basically no information exists for the African Coast or the Indian Ocean.

In general, PBDE temporal trends in cetaceans showed remarkable increased concentrations from the late 1980s and earlier 2000s (Hoguet et al., 2013; Kajiwara et al., 2008, 2006; Lebeuf et al., 2004; Leonel

et al., 2014; Ramu et al., 2006; Rotander et al., 2012) followed by a slight decrease or level off in subsequent years (Isobe et al., 2011, 2009; Jeong et al., 2020; Kunisue et al., 2021; Rotander et al., 2012; Simond et al., 2017). At the same time, an increased proportion of higher brominated compounds, such as BDE-154 and BDE-153, have been documented in more recent years (Jeong et al., 2020; Kunisue et al., 2021). This tendency probably reflects the regulatory measures implemented in 2009 for penta- and octa-BDE that lead to increased use and production of deca-BDE, only banned in 2019 (UNEP, 2022a, 2009). All of this translated into ongoing inputs of deca-BDE in the environment and a greater bioavailability of higher brominated congeners deriving from debromination processes of BDE-209 (La Guardia et al., 2007; Zhu et al., 2019).

As shown in Table 1, upward trends prior to 1990s and earlier 2000s have been reported in the Northwest Pacific Ocean in finless porpoises (Neophocaena phocaenoides) (South China) and melon headed-whales (Peponocephala electra) (Japan) (Kajiwara et al., 2008, 2006; Ramu et al., 2006); in the Northeast Pacific and Northwest Atlantic Ocean in beluga whales (Canada, Alaska) (Hoguet et al., 2013; Lebeuf et al., 2004); in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean in long-finned pilot whales (Faroe Islands), white-sided dolphins (Faroe Islands) and fin whales (Balenoptera physalus) (Iceland) (Rotander et al., 2012); in the Southwest Atlantic Ocean in franciscana dolphins (Pontoporia blainvillei) (Brazil) (Leonel et al., 2014); in Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphin from South Australia (Weijs et al., 2020). On the other hand, only one study showed clearly downward trends during the 1990s and 2018s in Mediterranean striped dolphins (Aznar-Alemany et al., 2021), whereas Law et al. (2010) reported a decreased trend in harbor porpoises (Phocoena phocoena) from United Kingdom between 1998 and 2008. It is worth noting that the majority of these studies did not include BDE-209. This is, however, the dominant component of the deca-BDE mixture and in some cases one of the main BDE congeners of total PBDE contents (Koenig et al., 2013; Muñoz-Arnanz et al., 2011). As mentioned before, while lower brominated congeners such as those predominantly present in the commercial penta-BDE mixture or deriving from debromination processes are decreasing in some cetacean species (Aznar-Alemany et al., 2021; Rotander et al., 2012), increasing concentrations of higher brominated congeners have been reported for different species and areas (Jeong et al., 2020; Kunisue et al., 2021).



Fig. 3. PBDE highest mean concentrations (ng/g l.w.) in cetaceans' liver around the world. Dotted line represents the threshold value for alteration of thyroid hormone levels in grey seals (Hall et al., 2003).



ASD Atlantic spotted dolphin; AWSD Atlantic white-sided dolphin; BD Bottlenose dolphin; BW Beluga whale; FD Franciscana dolphin; FKW False killer whale; FP Finless porpoise; FW Fin whale; HP Harbor porpoise; HW Humpback whale; IPBD Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphin; IPHD Indo-Pacific humpback dolphin; LBCD Long-beaked common dolphin; LFPW Long-finned pilot whale; MHW Melon-headed whale; PSD Pantropical spotted dolphin; RD Risso's dolphin; SD Striped dolphin; SRKW Southern Resident killer whale.

Fig. 4. Map showing locations of cetacean species analyzed in the studies discussed in this review.

Table 1

.

wost relevant r DDE trends in celaceans worldwide, according to the revers found in Diubber of inversatiples	Most	relevant	PBDE	trends in	cetaceans	worldwide,	according	to the	levels	found	in	blubber	or	*liver	samples	s.
--	------	----------	------	-----------	-----------	------------	-----------	--------	--------	-------	----	---------	----	--------	---------	----

Species	Locations	Sampling years	Trends	References	
Finless porpoise	South China	1989–2006		Kajiwara et al., 2006 ^a ; Ramu et al., 2006 ^b	NW Pacific
Finless porpoise	Korea	2003–2010	∖ decreased 2003–2010	Jeong et al., 2020 ^c	NW Pacific
			\leftrightarrow stable 2010–2015		
Melon headed-whale	Japan	1982–2015		Kunisue et al. (2021) ^d	NW Pacific
			\leftrightarrow stable 2001–2015		
Melon headed-whale	Japan	1982, 2001, 2002, 2006		Kajiwara et al. (2008) ^e	NW Pacific
Beluga whale	Alaska	1989–2006		Hoguet et al. (2013) ^f	NE Pacific
Beluga whale	St. Lawrence	1987–2013	∕ increased 1987–1997	Lebeuf et al. (2014) ^g ; Simond et al.	NW Atlantic
	Bay		\leftrightarrow stable 1997–2013	(2017) ^h	
Fin whale	Iceland	1986–1989, 2006, 2009		Rotander et al. (2012) ⁱ	NE Atlantic
Long-finned pilot whale	Faroe Islands	1986, 1997, 2006, 2007		Rotander et al. (2012) ⁱ	NE Atlantic
White-sided dolphin	Faroe Islands	1997, 2001, 2006	∕ increased 1997–2001/	Rotander et al. (2012) ⁱ	NE Atlantic
			2002		
			∖ decreased 2001/2002-		
			2006		
Harbor porpoise	United	1992–2008	↗ peakead around 1998	Law et al. (2010) ^j	NE Atlantic
	Kingdom		∖ decreased until 2008		
Franciscana dolphin	Brazil	1994, 1996, 1998, 2000, 2002,		Leonel et al. (2014) ^k	SW Atlantic
		2004			
Bottlenose dolphin*	Brazil	1994–2012	\leftrightarrow stable	Dorneles et al. (2010) ¹ ; Lavandier et al. (2019) ^m	SW Atlantic
Indo-Pacific bottlenose	South Australia	1989–2014	∕ increased 1989–2005	Weijs et al. (2020) ⁿ	SE Indian
dolphin			∕ increased 2009–2014		
Stripped dolphin	Catalan coast	1990, 2004–2009, 2014–2018	\searrow decreased trend	Aznar-Alemany et al. (2021) ^o	Mediterranean
					Sea

PBDE congeners investigated in each study.

^{a,b,e} n. 3, 15, 28, 47, 99, 100, 153, 154, 183, 209.

^c n. 17, 28, 47, 66, 71, 85, 99, 100, 119, 126, 138, 153, 154, 183, 184, 191, 196, 197, 206, 207, 209.

^d n. 17, 28, 30, 47, 49, 66, 71, 77, 85, 99, 100, 119, 126, 138, 139, 140, 153, 154, 156/169, 171, 180, 183, 184, 191.

 $^{\rm f}$ n. 28, 47, 99, 100, 138, 153, 154, 155, 156, 181, 183, 190, 191, 203, 205, 206, 209.

^gn. 28, 47, 49, 66, 99, 100, 153, 154, 155, 183.

^h n. 7, 10, 15, 17, 28, 47, 49, 66, 71, 77, 85, 99, 100, 119, 126, 138, 139, 140, 153, 154, 171, 180, 183, 184, 191, 196, 197, 201, 203, 204, 205, 206, 207, 208, 209. ⁱ n. 28, 47, 66, 85, 99, 100, 138, 154, 153, 183.

^j n. 28, 47, 66, 85, 99, 100, 138, 153, 154.

^k n. 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 11, 10, 12, 13, 15, 17, 25, 28, 30, 32, 33, 35, 37, 47, 49, 66, 71, 75, 77, 85, 99, 100, 116, 118, 119, 126, 138, 153, 154, 155, 166, 181, 183, 190. ¹ n. 28, 47, 66, 85, 99, 100, 153, 154, 183.

^m n. 47, 100, 99, 154, 153.

ⁿ n. 47, 99, 100.

^o n. 28, 47, 99, 100,154, 153, 183, 209.

As reported in Table 1, stable trends of PBDEs have been documented in cetaceans from Northwest Pacific, Northwest Atlantic, and Southwest Atlantic. In addition, increasing proportions of higher brominated congeners have been recently reported in cetaceans from Northwest Pacific. Jeong et al. (2020) investigated blubber of finless porpoises from Korean coastal waters during 2010-2015 and reported a significant decrease of lower brominated congeners (BDE-28 and BDE-47). At the same time, this study documented an increase of more brominated congeners (BDE-153 and BDE-154) during the study period, which is likely related to the greater consumption of deca-BDE in recent years. No significant variation on PBDE concentrations and relatively higher proportions of BDE-154 (equivalent to those of BDE-47) have been reported during 2011-2015 in melon-headed whales of the Japanese coast (Kunisue et al., 2021). Considering that technical penta- and octa- BDE products were banned by the early 2000s, the high proportion of BDE-154 - a minor component of these two mixtures - could be related as well to the increased discharge into the environment of BDE-209 and its debromination processes (La Guardia et al., 2007; Stapleton et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2019). It is worth noting that China, one of the biggest countries in the Northwest Pacific area and one of the main producers and suppliers of deca-BDE mixture in the last years (Zhang et al., 2017), started the production of this higher brominated product later than Europe and the United States. This could have resulted in increased emissions of this mixture in recent years, and likely in a delay in the effectiveness of global restrictions (An et al., 2022). Even if China has established concentration limits for penta- and octa-BDE in electronics, it has not yet ratified the Stockholm Convention for deca-BDE (Sharkey et al., 2020) and its production, use, import and export will not be banned until 2025 (MEE, 2021). Additionally, China's great degree of industrialization and economic growth as well as e-waste import and inappropriate waste management might have contributed to elevated concentrations of these contaminants in its area, as reported by different studies (Li and Achal, 2020; Luo et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2011; Peng et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019). All these facts draw attention to the continuous inputs of PBDEs in the Northwest Pacific zone and the potential impacts on endangered cetaceans inhabiting this area for which information about PBDE contamination is scarce. To date, no studies have investigated PBDEs in North Pacific right whale (Eubalaena japonica), Western grey whale (Eschrichtius robustus), Northern sei whale (Balaenoptera borealis) and Northern blue whale (Balaenoptera musculus), all living or frequenting the Northwest Pacific Ocean and classified as endangered by the International Union of Conservation of Nature (IUCN) Red List of Threatened Species (Cooke, 2018a, 2018b; Cooke et al., 2018; Cooke and Clapham, 2018). In Yangtze finless porpoises (Neophocaena asiaeorientalis asiaeorientalis), an endemic species of the Yangtze River (China) listed as critically endangered by the IUCN (Wang et al., 2013), a declining population trend has been associated to a high risk of pollution particularly by pesticides. Yet, no information is present about the potential detrimental impact of PBDEs in this species (Zhao et al., 2008).

Continuous exposure to PBDEs has been also reported for St. Lawrence estuary belugas. This population seems to be exposed to continuous inputs of PBDEs as indicated by the high and stable levels of penta-, octa- and deca-BDE from 1997 to 2013, preceded by an increasing trend from 1987 to 1997 (Lebeuf et al., 2014; Simond et al., 2017) (Table 1). Elevated concentrations of PBDEs reported in different abiotic and biotic matrices in this area are to be related to the proximity of North America and the discharge of Montreal municipal effluents - the major source of PBDEs in the St. Lawrence River - along with the Great Lakes water mass (Marcogliese et al., 2015). In consequence, high values of PBDEs continue to be detected in different aquatic species and in a similar fashion as those of Canadian belugas (Travis et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2019). Zhou et al. (2019) described an increase in PBDE concentrations in predator fishes of the Laurentian Great Lakes from 1990 to 2000, rapidly decreasing concentrations from 2000 to 2007, and unchanged or slightly decreasing levels up to 2015. This tendency probably reflects the voluntary phase out of penta- and octa-BDE commercial mixtures in

2004 and the extensive use of deca-BDE in the following years resulting in increasing concentrations of brominated congeners such as BDE-100 and BDE-154, which possibly stem from debromination processes of BDE-209. This thesis is supported by the increased proportion of BDE-209 - from 72% to 95% - of the total PBDE burdens after 2013 (Zhou et al., 2019).

An increase of PBDE levels was observed from 1989 to 1995 (range: 80–91 ng/g l.w. blubber) and from 2009 to 2014 (range: 23-1851 ng/g l. w. blubber) in Indo-Pacific bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops aduncus) from Spencer Gulf and Gulf St Vincent (South Australia), with a difference of at least one order of magnitude between the two study periods (Weijs et al., 2020). Concentrations were in general higher than those reported for other odontocetes from Australia, normally ranging between 4.3 and 440 ng/g l.w. in blubber (Symons et al., 2004; Weijs et al., 2016). These data are not consistent with the results reported for human serum blood in the Australian population, which showed a constant lowering of PBDE levels during 10 years (Drage et al., 2019; Toms et al., 2018). Yet sediments from the Sidney estuary confirmed increased concentrations of these substances in the marine environment from 1990 to 2014, with BDE-209 reaching 97% of the total PBDE concentrations in more recent vears (Drage et al., 2015). Prohibition of penta- and octa-BDE and the consequent increment in the use of deca-BDE could be responsible for the rapid increase in the average contribution of BDE-209 to the total PBDE content in sediment. Australia has never manufactured penta- and octa-BDE mixtures and its importation was banned in 2005 (Toms et al., 2009). Despite this, import of PBDE-containing products manufactured elsewhere continues to take place in the country (Drage et al., 2019).

Two different studies on male bottlenose dolphins stranded in Southeast Brazilian coast during 1994-2006 and 2007-2012 reported mean PBDE levels in liver of 982 ng/g l.w. and 960 ng/g l.w., respectively (Dorneles et al., 2010; Lavandier et al., 2019). Even if comparison and interpretation of data generated from different studies is not straightforward, owing to the different variables involved (sampling procedures, analytical methods employed, biological factors, etc.), it suggests that levels of PBDEs in bottlenose dolphins of Southeast Brazil have remained unchanged for nearly 20 years (1994-2012). PBDEs have never been manufactured in Brazil; nevertheless, this country is one of the major global electronic and textile waste producers (Baldé et al., 2017), commercial sectors where large amounts of these substances are employed. In this region, almost 215 thousand tons of municipal solid waste is generated daily and in a great proportion (40%) inadequately disposed (ABRELPE, 2017). This, together with the absence of specific legislation limiting the concentrations of PBDEs in commercial waste goods and a lack of regulation on the import/export of these BFRs (Rodrigues et al., 2015) could favor constant releases of these substances. Moreover, the existing exemptions for the use of penta-/octa-BDEs and deca-BDE in certain applications in Brazil, which will expire in 2030 and 2036, respectively, are likely to delay future decreases in the environmental concentrations of these contaminants (Sharkey et al., 2020).

1.2. Does climate change have an impact on PBDE accumulation in cetaceans?

In recent years, different studies have focused on the influence that climate change-driven processes could have on POPs' fate and distribution and the consequent impact on the global environmental pollution and living organisms (Alava et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2019; de Wit et al., 2022; Gong and Wang, 2022; Hung et al., 2022; Li et al., 2021; Nadal et al., 2015; Potapowicz et al., 2019). It is documented that changes in environmental variables and meteorological conditions brought about by global warming may affect POPs' behavior in the environment and may alter the "grasshopper effect" that is strictly dependent on temperature (Chen et al., 2019; Dalla Valle et al., 2007; Li et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2011; Wania and MacKay, 1996). Enhanced volatilization of POPs between primary and secondary sources, faster degradation in the

aquatic ecosystem and distorted partitioning between geochemical spheres, are some processes caused by climate change and potentially determining POPs' fate and distribution (Cai et al., 2014; Macdonald et al., 2005; Nadal et al., 2015; Noyes et al., 2009). A recent study by Gong and Wang (2022) has drawn attention to the increased contribution of "secondary sources" to global contamination and the accelerated cycling of POPs under climate change conditions. It is plausible that increased temperatures are forcing the re-volatilization of POPs stored in pools (glaciers, vegetation and soils), thus converted in secondary sources responsible for the re-emissions of these contaminants into the global cycle (Dalla Valle et al., 2007). Secondary sources represent a threat above all for cold-climate ecosystems, more sensitive to climate change and where increased long-range transport might contribute to accumulation of POPs (IPCC, 2021; Li et al., 2021; Wania and MacKay, 1996). In addition, cryosphere degradation observed both in the Northern and Southern Hemispheres during the last decades could represent another important secondary source of POPs, previously trapped into it (Chadburn et al., 2017; Grannas et al., 2013; Siegert et al., 2019; Stroeve et al., 2012; the IMBIE team, 2018).

As sentinels of marine ecosystem pollution, cetaceans could be affected by changes in POPs' distribution, revealing alterations in the concentration and accumulation pattern of these substances over time. On the other hand, some studies demonstrated alterations in cetaceans' distributions, habitat and migration due to climate change that in some cases could result in increased residence times in more polluted areas (Ramp et al., 2015; Storrie et al., 2018; van Weelden et al., 2021).

Global warming may have an important impact on POPs' occurrence especially to those related to sediments and soils such as BDE-209, which accounts approximately for 75% of the worldwide use of PBDEs (Shi et al., 2015). Increased rainfalls may enhance POPs' deposition into soil, while more intense precipitations and land runoffs could raise the quantity of eroded soil particles reaching the ocean (Dalla Valle et al., 2007). Thus, increased amounts of these toxic and persistent substances could reach the marine environment entering aquatic food webs throughout benthonic organisms feeding on surface sediments or within them. At the same time, increased precipitation and atmospheric aerosols could enhance POPs' deposition to aquatic ecosystems (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2017; Macdonald et al., 2003; Noyes et al., 2009). A high contribution of BDE-209 (70–75% of the detected Σ PBDEs) has been documented in zoo- and phytoplankton as a possible consequence of the constant atmospheric input through dry deposition (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021; 2017).

Even if BDE-209 is highly hydrophobic with low water solubility that makes it hardly bioavailable, studies have documented accumulation and biomagnification of this congener in cetaceans' tissues (Aznar--Alemany et al., 2019; Noël et al., 2009). It has been also demonstrated that an increase in environmental temperatures and atmospheric concentrations of ozone driven by global warming could enhance PBDE degradation and generation of more toxic and persistent lower brominated congeners (Niu et al., 2015). Keeping in mind the huge historical production and its recent prohibition, deca-BDE is worthy of attention in the next future, above all in those countries where production and use continue, and in urbanized and industrialized coastal areas where great amounts of higher brominated congeners and associated metabolites could be continuously released. It could be argued that the quantity of BDE-209 and other brominated congeners entering the marine food web could increase in the next years due to meteorological changes. This fact could lead to an increase of concentrations in marine top predators such as odontocetes living in coastal areas. On the other hand, as mentioned above, global warming and changes in meteorological conditions have been related to shifts in migration habits of some cetaceans. Thus, some of them began to spend more time in more contaminated lower latitude regions and to act as vectors of contamination to less polluted areas (Borgå et al., 2022; Ramp et al., 2015; Storrie et al., 2018). Species that spend longer periods than usual feeding at southern latitudes are probably increasing their exposure to these substances, as it has been

already reported for some seabird species (Bustnes et al., 2010; Elliott et al., 2021; Mora et al., 2016).

A study by Ramp et al. (2015) assigns the earlier ice break-up, caused by global warming, as the plausible cause for fin whales anticipating their date of arrival and increasing their residence time (in about 16 days) in the summer feeding area at St. Lawrence Estuary. This is a well-known contaminated area situated in the North Atlantic Ocean and where the St. Lawrence River pours its waters after receiving PBDE contaminated urban effluents from the Metropolitan Community of Montreal (3.8 million inhabitants) (Marcogliese et al., 2015). Cumulative effects of changes in migrations habits, more intense precipitations and continuous emissions of PBDEs above all in industrialized coastal areas, can result in greater PBDE exposures for fin whales (Ramp et al., 2015). Moreover, higher brominated BDE congeners accumulate preferentially in lower trophic levels such as zooplankton, compartment that includes the main prey of this species and other baleen whales (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021).

The Cook Inlet Alaskan beluga whale population has increased its residence time in the more industrialized and urbanized upper Cook Inlet during warmer years, suggesting a risk of toxicological implications for this endangered population that is already facing a growth rate reduction and difficult recovery (Ezer et al., 2013). Furthermore, if long-term climatic changes occur in the future, Cook Inlet belugas whale could stay longer in the northernmost part of the inlet facing higher levels of contamination. Hoguet et al. (2013) documented a different degree of PBDE exposure between two distinct populations of Alaskan belugas with the Cook Inlet beluga population being more contaminated than the Bering Sea population. As explained by the authors, the different degree of contamination is probably the consequence of distinct geographic localizations. Cook Inlet is an urbanized and industrialized area where localized inputs of contamination occur, for instance stemming from wastewaters from Anchorage's treatment plant serving more than 200,000 people.

Some species of baleen whales such as humpback whale, fin whale, common minke whale (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata*) and blue whale have increased their annual maximum latitudes between 1° and 4° , apparently due to the reduction of sea ice extent as a consequence of climate warming (Storrie et al., 2018). As cetaceans could act as biovectors of POPs, enhanced ice melt and the subsequent habitat expansion of these species might rise the transportation of persistent and toxic pollutants into polar zones. Furthermore, increasing temperature and sea ice melting could result in remobilization of organic contaminants, such as PBDEs, and increased concentrations in the marine environment (Ma et al., 2011).

1.3. Effects of PBDEs in cetaceans' health: what is already there and what is lacking

A limiting factor in risk assessment of PBDEs in cetaceans is the lack of species-specific toxicity thresholds that can be used to assess potential health risks of these substances. To the best of our knowledge the single upper limit threshold for PBDEs in marine mammals (1500 ng/g l.w.) has been established for endocrine disruption in blubber of grey seals (Hall et al., 2003). To date this threshold is employed for a wide range of species with some degree of approximation (Lam et al., 2009; Lindström et al., 1999; Moon et al., 2010; Tuerk et al., 2004). Toxicokinetic differences as well as distinct physiological characteristics lead to a high level of uncertainty when extrapolating a threshold value for different species, even if among marine mammals. Hence, there is a need for toxicological studies focused on calculating species-specific and tissue-specific threshold values, as well as to assess different endpoints, already settled for other POPs such as PCBs and dioxins (Desforges et al., 2016; Kannan et al., 2000; Ross et al., 1995; Schwacke et al., 2012). PBDEs lack of a unifying methodology like that of the Toxic Equivalent (TEQ) approach used in risk assessment for dioxins, and others dioxin-like compounds. Moreover, while a group of seven indicator congeners exists for PCBs, there is not a similar counterpart yet for PBDEs (Boalt et al., 2013). Despite the lesser attention given to PBDEs, it has been demonstrated that these substances could alter the normal activity of biological systems in the same way as PCBs and in some cases with a higher degree of interference. Studies in rats suggested agonist potency of PBDEs on the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) comparable to those of some mono-*ortho* PCBs (Meerts et al., 1998). Hooper and McDonald (2000) reported greater ethoxyresorufin-o-deethylase (EROD) induction capacity of commercial penta-BDEs compared to that of Aroclor1254. Potential additive reduction on circulating thyroxin hormone level (T4) induced by coexposure of PCBs and PBDEs have been described by Miller et al. (2012).

Besides being endocrine disruptors (ECD) (Hall et al., 2003; Zhou et al., 2001), PBDEs have been associated to immunotoxicity in harbor porpoises, pantropical spotted dolphins, sperm whales (Physeter macrocephalus), striped dolphins, fin whales, Bryde's whales (Balaenoptera edeni), killer whales, long-beaked common dolphins, and furthermore, genotoxicity and cytotoxicity in pantropic spotted dolphins (Beineke et al., 2005; Villanger, 2011; Hall et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2020; Marsili et al., 2019; Rajput et al., 2021; Simond et al., 2019). Thymic atrophy and splenic depletion have been significantly correlated with high PBDE concentrations in harbor porpoises (Beineke et al., 2005). Stimulation of innate immune response has been reported in fibroblast cells of pantropical spotted dolphins exposed to BDE-47, BDE-100 and BDE-209 (Huang et al., 2020). A recent study on fibroblast cells of pantropic spotted dolphin described alterations on reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, mitochondrial membrane potential, cellular calcium levels, mitochondrial structure, cell membrane structure and apoptosis, after exposure to BDE-47, BDE-100 and BDE-209 (Rajput et al., 2021). Also, alterations on a polymorphic protein that is induced upon stress, damage or transformation of cells, has been described in fibroblast cells of killer whale, long-beaked common dolphin, Bryde's whale, sperm whale, striped dolphin and fin whale, after treatment with PBDEs (Marsili et al., 2019). Besides, disruptive capacity to thyroid hormones (Villanger, 2011) and alteration of gene transcription involved on the regulation of thyroid and/or steroid hormones (Simond et al., 2019) have been documented in beluga and minke whales.

All these in vitro studies, performed mainly in fibroblast cells, have demonstrated the capacity of these contaminants to interfere with hormone production and the immune system response, to negatively affect the structure of the cells and their functions as well as to alter production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) resulting in oxidative stress. Furthermore, it has been shown that the hormone, cellular and immune systems respond to PBDE exposure in a specific way according to different types of congeners, species or tissue analyzed. For example, BDE-47, BDE-99 and BDE-100 have been reported to differently influence oxidative stress, mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP) response, cellular calcium levels and protein expression of apoptosis-associated genes, being BDE-47 the most cytotoxic one (Rajput et al., 2021). At the same time, Marsili et al. (2019) showed differences in the expression of polymorphic proteins in fibroblast cells exposed to a mixture containing 27 PBDEs in different marine mammal species; downregulation has been documented for killer whale and Bryde's whale, while upregulation has been reported for striped dolphin.

Toxicological sensitivity, mechanisms and pathways may vary between species and each congener could interfere with vital systems in multiple ways and at different levels. Therefore, species-specific investigations as well as a broader knowledge about toxicity effects triggered by different substances and congeners result crucial. However, if on one hand it is essential to study negative effects caused by mixtures, as cetaceans are normally exposed to different class of pollutants and various congeners simultaneously, on the other hand, studies on specific substances such as PBDEs could play a key role in management and conservation policies.

2. Conclusions

Despite all regulatory measures taken, PBDEs continue to impact cetaceans at global scale. Climate change and the constant economic growth together with the increase of e-waste trading could lead to higher exposure of cetaceans to PBDEs in the next years, especially in certain areas of the world such as the Arctic and the Northeast Pacific Ocean. Information about negative effects on the health status is still unknown for many species for which toxicological studies have not yet been performed. All of that represents a limiting factor for understanding the real impact exerted by PBDEs on these species both, at individual and population levels.

Canadian Southern Resident killer whales, Atlantic white-sided dolphins in the North Sea, bottlenose dolphins in the Northwest Atlantic Ocean, Indo-Pacific humpback dolphins inhabiting Hong Kong waters, Mediterranean striped dolphins and false killer whales from Hawaii and Brazil showed the highest tissue concentrations of PBDEs. Significant levels and stable trends of PBDEs recently reported in cetaceans of the Southern Hemisphere, where PBDEs have never been produced, highlight the environmental impact of the existing trade of PBDEcontaining products. It is noticeable the urgent need for more carefully investigations and monitoring, especially in those countries that have not yet established concentration limits for imported products. The highest levels recently found in species living in urbanized coastal regions have been related to discharge of contaminated waters deriving from wastewater treatment plants, which should improve treatment processes and removal efficiencies of PBDEs. The synergic effects of climate change and ongoing emissions of PBDEs, expected to continue at least until 2050, may result in increased contamination exposure for some species, in particular cetaceans inhabiting the Arctic for which global warming seems to have a greater impact.

In light of this, a greater knowledge about effects both at species and population levels as well as more specific threshold values are strongly needed for cetaceans, in order to assess health risks and support regulatory protection for these species. The lack of generalized decreasing trends in total PBDE concentrations along with the reported changes in congener profiles underpin the need to reevaluate the efficacy of current regulations on PBDEs and to improve waste management, both in developed and developing countries.

Credit author statement

Alice Bartalini: Investigation, Writing - original draft, Juan Muñoz-Arnanz: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing - review & editing, Natalia García-Álvarez: Writing - review & editing, Antonio Jesús Fernández: Writing - review & editing, Funding, Begoña Jiménez: Supervision, Writing - review & editing, Funding.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

All data are public and properly cited

References

Abbasi, G., Li, L., Breivik, K., 2019. Global historical stocks and emissions of PBDEs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 6330–6340. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b07032.

ABRELPE, 2017. Panorama Dos Resíduos Sólidos No Brasil 2016 https://doi.org/ISSN: 2179-657 8303.

Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Pastor, T., 1999. Biological factors affecting variability of persistent pollutant levels in cetaceans. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 1, 83–116. https:// doi.org/10.47536/JCRM.V111.264.

A. Bartalini et al.

Alava, J.J., Cheung, W.W.L., Ross, P.S., Sumaila, U.R., 2017. Climate change–contaminant interactions in marine food webs: toward a conceptual framework. Global Change Biol. 23, 3984–4001. https://doi.org/10.1111/ GCB.13667.

- Alonso, M.B., Azevedo, A., Torres, J.P.M., Dorneles, P.R., Eljarrat, E., Barceló, D., Lailson-Brito, J., Malm, O., 2014. Anthropogenic (PBDE) and naturally-produced (MeO-PBDE) brominated compounds in cetaceans - a review. Sci. Total Environ. 481, 619–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.02.022.
- An, Q., Aamir, M., Mao, S., Liu, Y., Wang, Y., Zheng, P., Liu, W., 2022. Current pollution status, spatial features, and health risks of legacy and emerging halogenated flame retardants in agricultural soils across China. Sci. Total Environ. 803, 150043 https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.150043.
- Aznar-Alemany, O., Sala, B., Jobst, K.J., Reiner, E.J., Borrell, A., Aguilar, À., Eljarrat, E., 2021. Temporal trends of halogenated and organophosphate contaminants in striped dolphins from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 753, 142205 https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142205.
- Aznar-Alemany, O., Sala, B., Plön, S., Bouwman, H., Barceló, D., Eljarrat, E., 2019. Halogenated and organophosphorus flame retardants in cetaceans from the southwestern Indian Ocean. Chemosphere 226, 791–799. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2019.03.165.
- Baldé, C.P., V, F., Gray, V., Kuehr, R., Stegmann, P., 2017. The Global E-Waste Monitor –2017. United Nations University (UNU), InternationalTelecommunication Union (ITU) & International Solid Waste Association (ISWA), Bonn/Geneva/Vianna.
- Beineke, A., Siebert, U., McLachlan, M., Bruhn, R., Thron, K., Failing, K., Müller, G., Baumgärtner, W., 2005. Investigations of the potential influence of environmental contaminants on the thymus and spleen of harbor porpoises (Phocoena phocoena). Environ. Sci. Technol. 39, 3933–3938. https://doi.org/10.1021/es048709j.
- Bengtson Nash, S.M., 2018. Toxicological risks and considerations associated with lipophilic contaminant burdens of Southern Ocean Mysticetes. In: Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology: Impacts of Multiple Stressors on Population Health. Academic Press, pp. 381–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00014-0.
- Boalt, E., Nyberg, E., Bignert, A., Hedman, J., Danielson, S., 2013. HELCOM Core Indicator Report: Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCB) and Dioxins and Furans. Boer, J. de, Wester, P.G., Pastor i Rodriguez, D., 1998. Polybrominated Biphenyls and
- Boer, J. de, Wester, P.G., Pastor I Kodriguez, D., 1998. Polyprominated Bipnenyis and Dipheylethers in Sperm Whales and Other Marine Mammals - a New Threat to Ocean Life? https://doi.org/10.3/JQUERY-UI.JS.
- Borgå, K., McKinney, M.A., Routti, H., Fernie, K.J., Giebichenstein, J., Hallanger, I., Muir, D.C.G., 2022. The influence of global climate change on accumulation and toxicity of persistent organic pollutants and chemicals of emerging concern in Arctic food webs. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1em00469g.
- Bossart, G.D., 2011. Marine mammals as sentinel species for oceans and human health. Vet. Pathol. 48, 676–690. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300985810388525.Bradford, A.L., Baird, R.W., Mahaffy, S.D., Gorgone, A.M., McSweeney, D.J., Cullins, T.,
- Brathord, A.L., Baird, K.W., Malarly, S.D., Gorgone, A.M., McSweeney, D.J., Chillis, L., Webster, D.L., Zerbini, A.N., 2018. Abundance estimates for management of endangered false killer whales in the main Hawaiian Islands. Endanger. Species Res. 36, 297–313. https://doi.org/10.3354/esr00903.
- Bradford, A.L., Becker, E.A., Oleson, E.M., Forney, K.A., Moore, J.E., Barlow, J., Bradford, A.L., Becker, E.A., Oleson, E.M., 2020. Abundance Estimates of False Killer Whales in Hawaiian Waters and the Broader Central Pacific Abundance Estimates of False Killer Whales in Hawaiian Waters and the Broader Central Pacific. https://doi. org/10.25923/2JJG-P807.
- Breivik, K., Sweetman, A., Pacyna, J.M., Jones, K.C., 2002. Towards a global historical emission inventory for selected PCB congeners — a mass balance approach: 1. Global production and consumption. Sci. Total Environ. 290, 181–198. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0048-9697(01)01075-0.
- Bustnes, J.O., Gabrielsen, G.W., Verreault, J., 2010. Climate variability and temporal trends of persistent organic pollutants in the arctic: a study of glaucous gulls. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 3155–3161. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES9032919.
- Cai, J.J., Song, J.H., Lee, Y., Lee, D.S., 2014. Assessment of climate change impact on the fates of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the multimedia environment based on model prediction. Sci. Total Environ. 470–471, 1526–1536. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2013.08.033.
- Castro-Jiménez, J., Bănaru, D., Chen, C.T., Jiménez, B., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Deviller, G., Sempéré, R., 2021. Persistent organic pollutants burden, trophic magnification and risk in a pelagic food web from coastal NW Mediterranean Sea. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 9557–9568. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c00904.
- Castro-Jiménez, J., Barhoumi, B., Paluselli, A., Tedetti, M., Jiménez, B., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Wortham, H., Driss, M.R., Sempéré, R., 2017. Occurrence, loading, and exposure of atmospheric particle-bound POPs at the african and European edges of the western Mediterranean Sea. Environ. Sci. Technol. 51, 13180–13189. https:// doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b04614.
- Chadburn, S.E., Burke, E.J., Cox, P.M., Friedlingstein, P., Hugelius, G., Westermann, S., 2017. An observation-based constraint on permafrost loss as a function of global warming. Nat. Clim. Change 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE3262.
- Chen, M., Wang, C., Wang, X., Fu, J., Gong, P., Yan, J., Yu, Z., Yan, F., Nawab, J., 2019. Release of perfluoroalkyl substances from melting glacier of the Tibetan plateau: insights into the impact of global warming on the cycling of emerging pollutants. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 124, 7442–7456. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019JD030566.
- China's Ministry of Ecology and Environment (MEE), 2021. https://english.mee.gov.cn/. (Accessed 15 March 2022).
- Cooke, J.G., Clapham, P.J., 2018. Eubalaena japonica. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2018: e.T41711A50380694. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-1. RLTS.T41711A50380694.en. (Accessed 28 March 2022).
- Cooke, J.G., Taylor, B.L., Reeves, R., Brownell Jr., R.L., 2018. Eschrichtius robustus (western subpopulation). In: The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2018: e.

Environmental Pollution 308 (2022) 119670

T8099A50345475. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018 2.RLTS. T8099A50345475.en. (Accessed 28 March 2022).

- Cooke, J.G., 2018a. Balaenoptera musculus (errata version published in 2019). The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2018: e.T2477A156923585. https://doi.org/ 10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-2.RLTS.T2477A156923585.en. (Accessed 28 March 2022).
- Cooke, J.G., 2018b. Balaenoptera borealis. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2018: e.T2475A130482064. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018 2.RLTS. T2475A130482064.en. (Accessed 28 March 2022).
- Clatterbuck, C.A., Lewison, R.L., Dodder, N.G., Zeeman, C., Schiff, K., 2018. Seabirds as regional biomonitors of legacy toxicants on an urbanized coastline. Sci. Total Environ. 619, 460–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.057.
- Cossaboon, J.M., Hoh, E., Chivers, S.J., Weller, D.W., Danil, K., Maruya, K.A., Dodder, N. G., 2019. Apex marine predators and ocean health: proactive screening of halogenated organic contaminants reveals ecosystem indicator species.
- Chemosphere 221, 656–664. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.01.050. Dalla Valle, M., Codato, E., Marcomini, A., 2007. Climate change influence on POPs distribution and fate: a case study. Chemosphere 67, 1287–1295. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2006.12.028.
- Danon-Schaffer, M.N., Mahecha-Botero, A., Grace, J.R., Ikonomou, M., 2013. Mass balance evaluation of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in landfill leachate and potential for transfer from e-waste. Sci. Total Environ. 461–462, 290–301. https:// doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2013.03.080.
- De Wit, C.A., 2002. An overview of brominated flame retardants in the environment. Chemosphere 46, 583–624. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(01)00225-9.
- de Wit, C.A., Vorkamp, K., Muir, D., 2022. Influence of climate change on persistent organic pollutants and chemicals of emerging concern in the Arctic: state of knowledge and recommendations for future research. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1em00531f.
- Department of commerce. National Oceanic and Atmospheric, 2005. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants: endangered status for southern resident killer whales. Fed. Regist. 70 (222), 69903. https://www.federalregister. gov/documents/2005/11/18/05-22859/endangered-and th reatened-wildlife-and-plants-endangered-status-for-southern-resident-killer whales.
- Desforges, J.-P., Hall, A., McConnell, B., Rosing-Asvid, A., Barber, J.L., Brownlow, A., De Guise, S., Eulaers, I., Jepson, P.D., Letcher, R.J., Levin, M., Ross, P.S., Samarra, F., Vikingson, G., Sonne, C., Dietz, R., 2018. Predicting global killer whale population collapse from {PCB} pollution. Science 80 (361), 1373–1376. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.aat1953.
- Desforges, J.P.W., Sonne, C., Levin, M., Siebert, U., De Guise, S., Dietz, R., 2016. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. Environ. Int. 86, 126–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2015.10.007.
- Dodder, N.G., Maruya, K.A., Lauenstein, G.G., Ramirez, J., Ritter, K.J., Schiff, K.C., 2012. Distribution and sources of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the Southern California Bight. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 31 (10), 2239–2245. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/etc.1957.
- Dorneles, P.R., Lailson-Brito, J., Dirtu, A.C., Weijs, L., Azevedo, A.F., Torres, J.P.M., Malm, O., Neels, H., Blust, R., Das, K., Covaci, A., 2010. Anthropogenic and naturally-produced organobrominated compounds in marine mammals from Brazil. Environ. Int. 36, 60–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2009.10.001.
 Drage, D., Mueller, J.F., Birch, G., Eaglesham, G., Hearn, L.K., Harrad, S., 2015.
- Drage, D., Mueller, J.F., Birch, G., Eaglesham, G., Hearn, L.K., Harrad, S., 2015. Historical trends of PBDEs and HBCDs in sediment cores from Sydney estuary, Australia. Sci. Total Environ. 512–513, 177–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2015.01.034.
- Drage, D.S., Harden, F.A., Jeffery, T., Mueller, J.F., Hobson, P., Toms, L.M.L., 2019. Human biomonitoring in Australian children: brominated flame retardants decrease from 2006 to 2015. Environ. Int. 122, 363–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVINT.2018.11.044.
- Elfes, C.T., VanBlaricom, G.R., Boyd, D., Calambokidis, J., Clapham, P.J., Pearce, R.W., Robbins, J., Salinas, J.C., Straley, J.M., Wade, P.R., Krahn, M.M., 2010. Geographic variation of persistent organic pollutant levels in humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) feeding areas of the North Pacific and North Atlantic. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29, 824-834. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.110.
- Elliott, J.E., Drever, M.C., Studholme, K.R., Silverthorn, V., Miller, A.A., Elliott, K.H., Lee, S.L., Drouillard, K.G., Porter, E., Idrissi, A.M., Crossin, G.T., Hipfner, J.M., 2021. Exposure to persistent organic pollutants is linked to over-wintering latitude in a Pacific seabird, the rhinoceros auklet, Cerorhinca monocerata. Environ. Pollut. 279, 116928 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2021.116928.
- Eriksson, J., Green, N., Marsh, G., Bergman, Å., 2004. Photochemical decomposition of 15 polybrominated diphenyl ether congeners in methanol/water. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 3119–3125. https://doi.org/10.1021/es049830t.
- Ezer, T., Ashford, J.R., Jones, C.M., Mahoney, B.A., Hobbs, R.C., 2013. Physical-biological interactions in a subarctic estuary: how do environmental and physical factors impact the movement and survival of beluga whales in Cook Inlet, Alaska? J. Mar. Syst. 111–112, 120–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. JMARSYS.2012.10.007.
- Fair, P.A., Mitchum, G., Hulsey, T.C., Adams, J., Zolman, E., McFee, W., Wirth, E., Bossart, G.D., 2007. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in blubber of freeranging bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) from two southeast Atlantic estuarine areas. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 53, 483–494. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/S00244-006-0244-7/FIGURES/4.
- Foltz, K.M., Baird, R.W., Ylitalo, G.M., Jensen, B.A., 2014. Cytochrome P4501A1 expression in blubber biopsies of endangered false killer whales (Pseudorca crassidens) and nine other odontocete species from Hawai'i. Ecotoxicology 23, 1607–1618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-014-1300-0.

Frouin, H., Lebeuf, M., Hammill, M., Sjare, B., Fournier, M., 2011. PBDEs in serum and blubber of harbor, grey and harp seal pups from Eastern Canada. Chemosphere 82 (5), 663–669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.11.007.

García-Alvarez, N., Martín, V., Fernández, A., Almunia, J., Xuriach, A., Arbelo, M., Tejedor, M., Boada, L.D., Zumbado, M., Luzardo, O.P., 2014. Levels and profiles of POPs (organochlorine pesticides, PCBs, and PAHs) in free-ranging common bottlenose dolphins of the Canary Islands, Spain. Sci. Total Environ. 493, 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.125.

Gong, P., Wang, X., 2022. Critical roles of secondary sources in global cycling of persistent organic pollutants under climate change. J. Hazard. Mater. Adv. 6, 100064 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HAZADV.2022.100064.

GovInfo endangered and threatened wildlife and plants; endangered status for the main Hawaiian Islands insular false killer whale distinct population segment. Fed. Regist. 77 (229), 2012, 70915–70939. https://www.govinfo.gov/app/details/FR-2012-11-2 8/2012-28766.

Grannas, A.M., Bogdal, C., Hageman, K.J., Halsall, C., Harner, T., Hung, H., Kallenborn, R., Klán, P., Klánová, J., MacDonald, R.W., Meyer, T., Wania, F., 2013. The role of the global cryosphere in the fate of organic contaminants. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 13, 3271–3305. https://doi.org/10.5194/ACP-13-3271-2013.

Hall, A.J., Kalantzi, O.I., Thomas, G.O., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in grey seals during their first year of life-are they thyroid hormone endocrine disrupters? Environ. Pollut. 126, 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03) 00149-0.

Hall, A.J., McConnell, B.J., Rowles, T.K., Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Schwacke, L., Reijnders, P.J.H., Wells, R.S., 2006. Individual-based model framework to assess population consequences of polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins. Environ. Health Perspect. 114, 60–64. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8053.

Hall, A.J., McConnell, B.J., Schwacke, L.H., Ylitalo, G.M., Williams, R., Rowles, T.K., 2018. Predicting the effects of polychlorinated biphenyls on cetacean populations through impacts on immunity and calf survival. Environ. Pollut. 233, 407–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2017.10.074.

Hanson, M.B., Emmons, C.K., Ford, M.J., Everett, M., Parsons, K., Park, L.K., Hempelmann, J., Van Doornik, D.M., Schorr, G.S., Jacobsen, J.K., Sears, M.F., Sears, M.S., Sneva, J.G., Baird, R.W., Barre, L. 2021. Endangered predators and endangered prey: seasonal diet of Southern Resident killer whales. PLoS One 16, e0247031. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0247031.

Hites, R.A., 2006. Brominated flame retardants in the great Lakes. Handb. Environ. Chem. 5, 355–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/698_5_045. Water Pollut. 5 N.

Hoguet, J., Keller, J.M., Reiner, J.L., Kucklick, J.R., Bryan, C.E., Moors, A.J., Pugh, R.S., Becker, P.R., 2013. Spatial and temporal trends of persistent organic pollutants and mercury in beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas) from Alaska. Sci. Total Environ. 449, 285–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.01.072.

Hooper, K., McDonald, T.A., 2000. The PBDEs: an emerging environmental challenge and another reason for breast-milk monitoring programs. Environ. Health Perspect. 108, 387–392. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.00108387.

Huang, Y., Rajput, I.R., Sanganyado, E., Yajing, S., Yu, F., Liang, B., Liu, W., 2020. Immune stimulation effect of PBDEs via prostaglandin pathway in pantropical spotted dolphin: an in vitro study. Chemosphere 254, 126717. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2020.126717.

Hung, H., Halsall, C., Ball, H., Bidleman, T., Dachs, J., De Silva, A., Hermanson, M., Kallenborn, R., Muir, D., Sühring, R., Wang, X., Wilson, S., 2022. Climate change influence on the levels and trends of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and chemicals of emerging Arctic concern (CEACs) in the Arctic physical environment – a review. Environ. Sci. Process. Impacts. https://doi.org/10.1039/d1em00485a.

IPCC, 2021. Climate Change 2021: the Physical Science Basis. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change https://doi.org/https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar6/wg1/ downloads/report/IPCC_AR6_WGI_Full_Report.pdf.

Isobe, T., Ochi, Y., Ramu, K., Yamamoto, T., Tajima, Y., Yamada, T.K., Amano, M., Miyazaki, N., Takahashi, S., Tanabe, S., 2009. Organohalogen contaminants in striped dolphins (Stenella coeruleoalba) from Japan: present contamination status, body distribution and temporal trends (1978–2003). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 396–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2008.10.008.

Isobe, T., Oshihoi, T., Hamada, H., Nakayama, K., Yamada, T.K., Tajima, Y., Amano, M., Tanabe, S., 2011. Contamination status of POPs and BFRs and relationship with parasitic infection in finless porpoises (Neophocaena phocaenoides) from Seto Inland Sea and Omura Bay. Japan. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 63, 564–571. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2011.01.014.

Jeong, Y., Lee, Y., Park, K.J., An, Y.R., Moon, H.B., 2020. Accumulation and time trends (2003–2015) of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in blubber of finless porpoises (Neophocaena asiaeorientalis) from Korean coastal waters. J. Hazard Mater. 385, 121598 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121598.

Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., Doeschate, M. ten, Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., Stephanis, R. de, Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A., Law, R.J., 2016. {PCB} pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in {European} waters. Sci. Rep. 6, 18573 https://doi.org/10.1038/ srep18573.

Johnson-Restrepo, B., Kannan, K., Addink, R., Adams, D.H., 2005. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and polychlorinated biphenyls in a marine foodweb of coastal Florida. Environ. Sci. Technol. 39, 8243–8250. https://doi.org/10.1021/es051551y.

Jones, K.C., 2021. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and related chemicals in the global environment: some personal reflections. Environ. Sci. Technol. 55, 9400–9412. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.0C08093. Kajiwara, N., Kamikawa, S., Amano, M., Hayano, A., Yamada, T.K., Miyazaki, N., Tanabe, S., 2008. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and organochlorines in melon-headed whales, Peponocephala electra, mass stranded along the Japanese coasts: maternal transfer and temporal trend. Environ. Pollut. 156, 106–114. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2007.12.034.

Kajiwara, N., Kamikawa, S., Ramu, K., Ueno, D., Yamada, T.K., Subramanian, A., Lam, P. K.S., Jefferson, T.A., Prudente, M., Chung, K.H., Tanabe, S., 2006. Geographical distribution of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and organochlorines in small cetaceans from Asian waters. Chemosphere 64, 287–295. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.12.013.

Kannan, K., Blankenship, A.L., Jones, P.D., Giesy, J.P., 2000. Toxicity reference values for the toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls to aquatic mammals. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 6, 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807030091124491.

Kimbrough, K.L., 2009. An Assessment of Polybrominated Diphenyl Ethers (PBDEs) in Sediments and Bivalves of the US Coastal Zone. US Department Of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Ocean Service, Center for Coastal Monitoring and Assessment.

Koenig, S., Huertas, D., Fernández, P., 2013. Legacy and emergent persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in NW Mediterranean deep-sea organisms. Sci. Total Environ. 443, 358–366. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.10.111.

Kratofil, M.A., Ylitalo, G.M., Mahaffy, S.D., West, K.L., Baird, R.W., 2020. Life history and social structure as drivers of persistent organic pollutant levels and stable isotopes in Hawaiian false killer whales (Pseudorca crassidens). Sci. Total Environ. 733, 138880 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.138880.

Kuehl, D.W., Haebler, R., Potter, C., 1991. Chemical residues in dolphins from the U.S. Atlantic coast including Atlantic bottlenose obtained during the 1987/88 mass mortality. Chemosphere 22, 1071–1084. https://doi.org/10.1016/0045-6535(91) 90308-Z.

Kunisue, T., Goto, A., Sunouchi, T., Egashira, K., Ochiai, M., Isobe, T., Tajima, Y., Yamada, T.K., Tanabe, S., 2021. Anthropogenic and natural organohalogen compounds in melon-headed whales (Peponocephala electra) stranded along the Japanese coastal waters: temporal trend analysis using archived samples in the environmental specimen bank (es-BANK). Chemosphere 269, 129401. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2020.129401.

La Guardia, M.J., Hale, R.C., Harvey, E., 2007. Evidence of debromination of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE-209) in biota from a wastewater receiving stream. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 6663–6670. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES070728G/ SUPPL FILE/ES070728GSI20070326 023751.PDF.

Lam, J.C.W., Lau, R.K.F., Murphy, M.B., Lam, P.K.S., 2009. Temporal trends of hexabromocyclododecanes (HBCDs) and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and detection of two novel flame retardants in marine mammals from Hong Kong, South China. Environ. Sci. Technol. 43, 6944–6949. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ES901408T/SUPPL FILE/ES901408T SI 001.PDF.

Lavandier, R., Arêas, J., Quinete, N., de Moura, J.F., Taniguchi, S., Montone, R., Siciliano, S., Hauser-Davis, R.A., Moreira, I., 2019. PCB and PBDE contamination in Tursiops truncatus and Stenella frontalis, two data-deficient threatened dolphin species from the Brazilian coast. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 167, 485–493. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.10.045.

Law, R.J., Barry, J., Bersuder, P., Barber, J.L., Deaville, R., Reid, R.J., Jepson, P.D., 2010. Levels and trends of brominated diphenyl ethers in blubber of harbor porpoises (Phocoena phocoena) from the U.K., 1992-2008. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 4447–4451. https://doi.org/10.1021/es100140q.

Law, R.J., Covaci, A., Harrad, S., Herzke, D., Abdallah, M.A.E., Fernie, K., Toms, L.M.L., Takigami, H., 2014. Levels and trends of PBDEs and HBCDs in the global environment: status at the end of 2012. Environ. Int. 65, 147–158. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2014.01.006.

Lebeuf, M., Gouteux, B., Measures, L., Trottier, S., 2004. Levels and temporal trends (1988-1999) of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas) from the St. Lawrence Estuary, Canada. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 2971–2977. https://doi.org/10.1021/es035187j.

Lebeuf, M., Measures, L., Noël, M., Raach, M., Trottier, S., 2014. A twenty-one year temporal trend of persistent organic pollutants in St. Lawrence Estuary beluga. Canada. Sci. Total Environ. 485–486, 377–386. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2014.03.097.

Leonel, J., Sericano, J.L., Secchi, E.R., Bertozzi, C., Fillmann, G., Montone, R.C., 2014. PBDE levels in franciscana dolphin (Pontoporia blainvillei): temporal trend and geographical comparison. Sci. Total Environ. 493, 405–410. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.06.003.

Li, M., Gazang, C., Ge, H., Li, J., Huang, T., Gao, H., Zhao, Y., Mao, X., Du, J., Wu, M., Ma, J., 2021. The atmospheric travel distance of persistent organic pollutants-revisit and application in climate change impact on long-rang transport potential. Atmos. Res. 255, 105558 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2021.105558.

Li, W., Achal, V., 2020. Environmental and health impacts due to e-waste disposal in China – a review. Sci. Total Environ. 737, 139745 https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2020.139745.

Li, Y., Lin, T., Hu, L., Feng, J., Guo, Z., 2016. Time trends of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in East China Seas: response to the booming of PBDE pollution industry in China. Environ. Int. 92–93, 507–514. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2016.04.033.

Lindström, G., Wingfors, H., Dam, M., Bavel, B.V., 1999. Identification of 19 polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in long- finned pilot whale (Globicephala melas) from the Atlantic. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 36, 355–363. https://doi. org/10.1007/s002449900482.

Luo, Y., Shi, W., You, M., Zhang, R., Li, S., Xu, N., Sun, W., 2021. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in the Danjiangkou Reservoir, China: identification of

A. Bartalini et al.

priority PBDE congeners. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 28, 12587–12596. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11356-020-11254-5.

- Ma, Jing, Cheng, J., Wang, W., Kunisue, T., Wu, M., Kannan, K., 2011. Elevated concentrations of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans and polybrominated diphenyl ethers in hair from workers at an electronic waste recycling facility in Eastern China. J. Hazard Mater. 186, 1966–1971. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JHAZMAT.2010.12.091.
- Ma, Jianmin, Hung, H., Tian, C., Kallenborn, R., 2011. Revolatilization of persistent organic pollutants in the Arctic induced by climate change. Nat. Clim. Change 1, 255–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE1167.
- Macdonald, R.W., Harner, T., Fyfe, J., 2005. Recent climate change in the Arctic and its impact on contaminant pathways and interpretation of temporal trend data. Sci. Total Environ. 342, 5–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2004.12.059.
- Macdonald, R.W., Mackay, D., Li, Y.F., Hickie, B., 2003. How will global climate change affect risks from long-range transport of persistent organic pollutants? Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 9 (3), 643–660. https://doi.org/10.1080/713609959.
- Marcogliese, D.J., Blaise, C., Cyr, D., de Lafontaine, Y., Fournier, M., Gagné, F., Gagnon, C., Hudon, C., 2015. Effects of a major municipal effluent on the St. Lawrence River: a case study. Ambio 44, 257–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-014-0577-9.
- Marsili, L., Di Guardo, G., Mazzariol, S., Casini, S., 2019. Insights into cetacean immunology: do ecological and biological factors make the difference? Front. Immunol. 10, 1219. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2019.01219/BIBTEX.

Maruya, K.A., Dodder, N.G., Sengupta, A., Smith, D.J., Lyons, J.M., Heil, A.T., Drewes, J. E., 2016. Multimedia screening of contaminants of emerging concern (CECS) in coastal urban watersheds in southern California (USA). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35 (8), 1986–1994. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.3348.

- McGuire, T.L., Stephens, A.D., McClung, J.R., Garner, C.D., Shelden, K.E.W., Boor, G.K. H., Wright, B., 2020. Reproductive natural history of endangered Cook Inlet Beluga whales: insights from a long-term photo-identification study. Polar Biol. 43, 1851–1871. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00300-020-02750-y.
- McKinney, M.A., De Guise, S., Martineau, D., Béland, P., Lebeuf, M., Letcher, R.J., 2006. Organohalogen contaminants and metabolites in beluga whale (Delphinapterus leucas) liver from two Canadian populations. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 25, 1246–1257. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-284R.1.
- McKinney, M.A., Dietz, R., Sonne, C., De Guise, S., Skirnisson, K., Karlsson, K., Steingrímsson, E., Letcher, R.J., 2011. Comparative hepatic microsomal biotransformation of selected PBDEs, including decabromodiphenyl ether, and decabromodiphenyl ethane flame retardants in Arctic marine-feeding mammals. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 30, 1506–1514. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.535.
- Meerts, I.A., Luijks, E.A., Marsh, G., Jakobsson, E., Bergman, A., Brouwer, A., 1998. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) as Ah-receptor agonists and antagonists. Organohalogen Compd. 37, 147–150.
- Méndez-Fernandez, P., Taniguchi, S., Santos, M.C.O., Cascão, I., Quérouil, S., Martín, V., Tejedor, M., Carrillo, M., Rinaldi, C., Rinaldi, R., Montone, R.C., 2018. Contamination status by persistent organic pollutants of the Atlantic spotted dolphin (Stenella frontalis) at the metapopulation level. Environ. Pollut. 236, 785–794. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.02.009.
- Miller, V.M., Sanchez-Morrissey, S., Brosch, K.O., Seegal, R.F., 2012. Developmental coexposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and polybrominated diphenyl ethers has additive effects on circulating thyroxine levels in rats. Toxicol. Sci. 127, 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1093/TOXSCI/KFS089.
- Moon, H.B., Kannan, K., Choi, M., Yu, J., Choi, H.G., An, Y.R., Choi, S.G., Park, J.Y., Kim, Z.G., 2010. Chlorinated and brominated contaminants including PCBs and PBDEs in minke whales and common dolphins from Korean coastal waters. J. Hazard Mater. 179, 735–741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.03.063.
- Mora, M.A., Durgin, B., Hudson, L.B., Jones, E., 2016. Temporal and latitudinal trends of p,p'-DDE in eggs and carcasses of North American birds from 1980 to 2005. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 35, 1340–1348. https://doi.org/10.1002/ETC.3360.
- Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Sáez, M., Aguirre, J.I., Hiraldo, F., Baos, R., Pacepavicius, G., Alaee, M., Jiménez, B., 2011. Predominance of BDE-209 and other higher brominated diphenyl ethers in eggs of white stork (Ciconia ciconia) colonies from Spain. Environ. Int. 37, 572–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.11.013.
- Nadal, M., Marquès, M., Mari, M., Domingo, J.L., 2015. Climate change and environmental concentrations of POPs: a review. Environ. Res. 143, 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2015.10.012.
- Niu, X., Liu, C., Song, X., 2015. Simulation research on the natural degradation process of PBDEs in soil polluted by e-waste under increased concentrations of atmospheric O3. Chemosphere 118, 373–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. CHEMOSPHERE.2014.10.068.
- Noël, M., Ylitalo, G.M., Hanson, B., Towers, J.R., Ross, P.S., 2018. PCB and PBDE levels in southern and northern resident killer whales: update on contaminant levels and related health effects. In: Salish Sea Ecosystem Conference.
- Noël, M., Barrett-Lennard, L., Guinet, C., Dangerfield, N., Ross, P.S., 2009. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in killer whales (Orcinus orca) from the Crozet Archipelago, southern Indian Ocean. Mar. Environ. Res. 68, 196–202. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2009.06.009.
- Noyes, P.D., McElwee, M.K., Miller, H.D., Clark, B.W., Van Tiem, L.A., Walcott, K.C., Erwin, K.N., Levin, E.D., 2009. The toxicology of climate change: environmental contaminants in a warming world. Environ. Int. 35, 971–986. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envint.2009.02.006.
- Ohajinwa, C.M., van Bodegom, P.M., Osibanjo, O., Xie, Q., Chen, J., Vijver, M.G., Peijnenburg, W.J.G.M., 2019. Health risks of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and metals at informal electronic waste recycling sites. Int. J. Environ. Res. Publ. Health 16, 906–916. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH16060906, 2019 906.

- Olofsson, U., Bignert, A., Haglund, P., 2012. Time-trends of metals and organic contaminants in sewage sludge. Water Res. 46, 4841–4851. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.WATRES.2012.05.048.
- O'Neill, S.M., West, J.E., 2009. Marine distribution, life history traits, and the accumulation of polychlorinated biphenyls in Chinook salmon from Puget Sound. Washington. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 138, 616–632. https://doi.org/10.1577/T08-003.1.
- O'Neill, S.M., Ylitalo, G.M., West, J.E., Bolton, J.L., Sloan, C.A., Krahn, M.M., 2006. Regional patterns of persistent organic pollutants in five pacific salmon species (*Oncorhynchus* spp.) and their contributions to contaminant levels in northern and southern resident killer whales (*Orcinus orca*). In: Southern Resident Killer Whale Symposium. Seattle, Washington.
- Peng, Y., Wu, J., Luo, X., Zhang, X., Giesy, J.P., Mai, B., 2019. Spatial distribution and hazard of halogenated flame retardants and polychlorinated biphenyls to common kingfisher (Alcedo atthis) from a region of South China affected by electronic waste recycling. Environ. Int. 130 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2019.104952.
- Pettersson, A., Van Bavel, B., Engwall, M., Jiménez, B., 2004. Polybrominated diphenylethers and methoxylated tetrabromodiphenylethers in cetaceans from the Mediterranean Sea. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 47, 542–550. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00244-004-3200-4.
- Potapowicz, J., Szumińska, D., Szopińska, M., Połkowska, Ż., 2019. The influence of global climate change on the environmental fate of anthropogenic pollution released from the permafrost: Part I. Case study of Antarctica. Sci. Total Environ. 651, 1534–1548. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2018.09.168.
- Propp, V.R., De Silva, A.O., Spencer, C., Brown, S.J., Catingan, S.D., Smith, J.E., Roy, J. W., 2021. Organic contaminants of emerging concern in leachate of historic municipal landfills. Environ. Pollut. 276, 116474 https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVPOL.2021.116474.
- Raach, M., Lebeuf, M., Pelletier, É., 2011. PBDEs and PCBs in the liver of the St Lawrence Estuary beluga (Delphinapterus leucas): a comparison of levels and temporal trends with the blubber. J. Environ. Monit. 13, 649–656. https://doi.org/10.1039/ COEM00310G.
- Rajput, I.R., Yaqoob, S., Yajing, S., Sanganyado, E., Wenhua, L., 2021. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers exert genotoxic effects in pantropic spotted dolphin fibroblast cell lines. Environ. Pollut. 271, 116131 https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVPOL.2020.116131.
- Ramp, C., Delarue, J., Palsbøll, P.J., Sears, R., Hammond, P.S., 2015. Adapting to a warmer ocean—seasonal shift of baleen whale movements over three decades. PLoS One 10, e0121374. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0121374.
- Ramu, K., Kajiwara, N., Lam, P.K.S., Jefferson, T.A., Zhou, K., Tanabe, S., 2006. Temporal variation and biomagnification of organohalogen compounds in finless porpoises (Neophocaena phocaenoides) from the South China Sea. Environ. Pollut. 144, 516–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2006.01.027.
- Rayne, S., Ikonomou, M.G., Whale, M.D., 2003. Anaerobic microbial and photochemical degradation of 4,4'-dibromodiphenyl ether. Water Res. 37, 551–560. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0043-1354(02)00311-1.
- Ribeiro-Campos, A., Pereira, K.S., Quintana, C.E.P., Barbosa, M., Dias, C.P., Brião, J.A., dos Santos, C.V.C., Castro, C., Pedreira, H.S., Carvalho, R.R., Santos-Neto, E., 2021. Habitat use by the Guiana dolphin (sotalia guianensis) (cetartiodactyla: delphinidae) in southeastern Brazil. Reg. Stud. Mar. Sci. 44, 101778 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rsma.2021.101778.
- Rodrigues, E.M., Ramos, A.B.A., Cabrini, T.M.B., Dos Santos Fernandez, M.A., 2015. The occurrence of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in Brazil: a review. Int. J. Environ. Health 7, 247–266. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJENVH.2015.073202.
 Ross, P.S., De Swart, R.L., Reijnders, P.J., Van Loveren, H., Vos, J.G., Osterhaus, A.D.,
- Ross, P.S., De Swart, R.L., Reijnders, P.J., Van Loveren, H., Vos, J.G., Osterhaus, A.D., 1995. Contaminant-related suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity and antibody responses in harbor seals fed herring from the {Baltic} {Sea}. Environ. Health Perspect. 103, 162–167.
- Rotander, A., van Bavel, B., Polder, A., Rigét, F., Audunsson, G.A., Gabrielsen, G.W., Víkingsson, G., Bloch, D., Dam, M., 2012. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in marine mammals from Arctic and North Atlantic regions, 1986-2009. Environ. Int. 40, 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2011.07.001.
- Schwacke, L.H., Zolman, E.S., Balmer, B.C., de Guise, S., Clay George, R., Hoguet, J., Hohn, A.A., Kucklick, J.R., Lamb, S., Levin, M., Litz, J.A., Mcfee, W.E., Place, N.J., Townsend, F.I., Wells, R.S., Rowles, T.K., 2012. Anaemia, hypothyroidism and immune suppression associated with polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus). Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 279, 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1098/RSPB.2011.0665.
- Secchi, E.R., Cremer, M.J., Danilewicz, D., Lailson-Brito, J., 2021. A synthesis of the ecology, human-related threats and conservation perspectives for the endangered franciscana dolphin. Front. Mar. Sci. 8, 617956 https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmars.2021.617956.
- Sharkey, M., Harrad, S., Abou-Elwafa Abdallah, M., Drage, D.S., Berresheim, H., 2020. Phasing-out of legacy brominated flame retardants: the UNEP Stockholm Convention and other legislative action worldwide. Environ. Int. 144, 106041 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2020.106041.
- Shaul, N.J., Dodder, N.G., Aluwihare, L.I., Mackintosh, S.A., Maruya, K.A., Chivers, S.J., Danil, K., Weller, D.W., Hoh, E., 2015. Nontargeted biomonitoring of halogenated organic compounds in two ecotypes of bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) from the Southern California Bight. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49 (3), 1328–1338. https://doi. org/10.1021/es5051566.
- Shaw, S.D., Berger, M.L., Brenner, D., Carpenter, D.O., Tao, L., Hong, C.S., Kannan, K., 2008. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in farmed and wild salmon marketed in the Northeastern United States. Chemosphere 71 (8), 1422–1431. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.01.030.

- Shi, J., Qu, R., Feng, M., Wang, X., Wang, L., Yang, S., Wang, Z., 2015. Oxidative degradation of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE 209) by potassium permanganate: reaction pathways, kinetics, and mechanisms assisted by density functional theory calculations. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 4209–4217. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ESS05111R/SUPPL_FILE/ESS05111R_S1_001.PDF.
- Siegert, M., Atkinson, A., Banwell, A., Brandon, M., Convey, P., Davies, B., Downie, R., Edwards, T., Hubbard, B., Marshall, G., Rogelj, J., Rumble, J., Stroeve, J., Vaughan, D., 2019. The Antarctic Peninsula under a 1.5°C global warming scenario. Front. Environ. Sci. 7, 102. https://doi.org/10.3389/FENVS.2019.00102/BIBTEX.
- Simond, A.E., Houde, M., Lesage, V., Michaud, R., Zbinden, D., Verreault, J., 2019. Associations between organohalogen exposure and thyroid- and steroid-related gene responses in St. Lawrence Estuary belugas and minke whales. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 145, 174–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2019.05.029.
- Simond, A.E., Houde, M., Lesage, V., Verreault, J., 2017. Temporal trends of PBDEs and emerging flame retardants in belugas from the St. Lawrence Estuary (Canada) and comparisons with minke whales and Canadian Arctic belugas. Environ. Res. 156, 494–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2017.03.058.
- Sonne, C., Jepson, P.D., Desforges, J.-P., Alstrup, A.K.O., Olsen, M.T., Eulaers, I., Hansen, M., Letcher, R.J., McKinney, M.A., Dietz, R., 2018. Pollution threatens toothed whales. Science 361, 1208. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aav2403.
- Soulen, B.K., Venables, B.J., Johnston, D.W., Roberts, A.P., 2018. Accumulation of PBDEs in stranded harp (Pagophilus groenlandicus) and hooded seals (Cystophora cristata) from the Northeastern United States. Mar. Environ. Res. 138, 96–101. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2018.04.008.
- SARA (Species at Risk Act), 2017. Species at Risk Act, SC 2002 c 29. https://laws.justice. gc.ca/eng/acts/S-15.3/. (Accessed 12 June 2022).
- Stapleton, H.M., Brazil, B., Holbrook, R.D., Mitchelmore, C.L., Benedict, R., Konstantinov, A., Potter, D., 2006. In vivo and in vitro debromination of decabromodiphenyl ether (BDE 209) by juvenile rainbow trout and common carp. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 4653–4658. https://doi.org/10.1021/ES060573XSI20060620_103933.PDF.
- Storrie, L., Lydersen, C., Andersen, M., Wynn, R.B., Kovacs, K.M., 2018. Determining the species assemblage and habitat use of cetaceans in the svalbard archipelago, based on observations from 2002 to 2014. Polar Res. 37 https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17518369.2018.1463065/SUPPL_FILE/ZPOR_A_1463065_SM3703.DOCX.
- Stroeve, J.C., Serreze, M.C., Holland, M.M., Kay, J.E., Malanik, J., Barrett, A.P., 2012. The Arctic's rapidly shrinking sea ice cover: a research synthesis. Clim. Change 110, 1005–1027. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-011-0101-1.
- Stuart-Smith, Sarah J., Jepson, P.D., 2017. Persistent threats need persistent counteraction: responding to PCB pollution in marine mammals. Mar. Pol. 84, 69–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.06.033.
- Stubbings, W.A., Harrad, S., 2014. Extent and mechanisms of brominated flame retardant emissions from waste soft furnishings and fabrics: a critical review. Environ. Int. 71, 164–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2014.06.007.
- Su, G., Letcher, R.J., Moore, J.N., Williams, L.L., Martin, P.A., de Solla, S.R., Bowerman, W.W., 2015. Spatial and temporal comparisons of legacy and emerging flame retardants in herring gull eggs from colonies spanning the Laurentian Great Lakes of Canada and United States. Environ. Res. 142, 720–730. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ENVRES.2015.08.018.
- Symons, R., Burniston, D., Piro, N., Stevenson, G., Yates, A., 2004. A Study of the Presence of Brominated Flame Retardants in Australian Fauna.
- Tanabe, S., Ramu, K., 2012. Monitoring temporal and spatial trends of legacy and emerging contaminants in marine environment: results from the environmental specimen bank (es-BANK) of Ehime University, Japan. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64, 1459–1474. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2012.05.013.
- the IMBIE team, 2018. AnAlysis insight. Nature 558, 219–222. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41586.
- Toms, L.M.L., Sjödin, A., Harden, F., Hobson, P., Jones, R., Edenfield, E., Mueller, J.F., 2009. Serum polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) levels are higher in children (2–5 Years of age) than in infants and adults. Environ. Health Perspect. 117, 1461–1465. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.0900596.
- Toms, L.M.L., Sjödin, A., Hobson, P., Harden, F.A., Aylward, L.L., Mueller, J.F., 2018. Temporal trends in serum polybrominated diphenyl ether concentrations in the Australian population, 2002–2013. Environ. Int. 121, 357–364. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2018.09.014.
- Travis, S.C., Pérez-Fuentetaja, A., Aga, D.S., 2020. Evidence of continued exposure to legacy persistent organic pollutants in threatened migratory common terns nesting in the Great Lakes. Environ. Int. 144, 106065 https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVINT.2020.106065.
- Tuerk, K.J.S., Kucklick, J.R., Becker, P.R., Stapleton, H.M., Baker, J.E., 2004. Persistent organic pollutants in two dolphin species with focus on toxaphene and polybrominated diphenyl ethers. Environ. Sci. Technol. 39, 692–698 https://doi. org/10.1021/ES0487675.
- UNEP, 2022a. Register for Specific Exemptions: Decabromodiphenyl Ether [Online]. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. Chatelaine, Switzerland https://doi.org/http://chm.pops.int/Implementation/Exemptions/
- SpecificExemptions/DecabromodiphenyletherRoSE/tabid/7593/Default.aspx. UNEP, 2022b. Register of Specific Exemptions: Tetrabromodiphenyl Ether and Pentabromodiphenyl Ether [Online]. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. Chatelaine, Switzerland https://doi.org/http://chm.pops.int/ Implementation/Exemptions/SpecificExemptions/TetraBDEandPentaBDERoSE/ tabid/5039/Default.aspx.

- UNEP, 2010. Stockholm Convention Document for 6th POP Reviewing Committee Meeting. Supporting Document for Technical Review of the Implications of Recycling Commercial Penta and Octa-BDE [WWW Document]. https://doi.org/ http://chm.pops.int/Convention/(UNEP/POPS/POPRC.6/INF/6).
- UNEP, 2009. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (As Amended 2009). Secretariat of the Stockholm Convention, Stockholm, Sweden.
- van Weelden, C., Towers, J.R., Bosker, T., 2021. Impacts of climate change on cetacean distribution, habitat and migration. Clim. Chang. Ecol. 1, 100009 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ECOCHG.2021.100009.
- Veldhoen, N., Ikonomou, M.G., Dubetz, C., MacPherson, N., Sampson, T., Kelly, B.C., Helbing, C.C., 2010. Gene expression profiling and environmental contaminant assessment of migrating Pacific salmon in the Fraser River watershed of British Columbia. Aquat. Toxicol. 97 (3), 212–225. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. aquatox.2009.09.009.
- Verreault, J., Letcher, R.J., Gentes, M.L., Braune, B.M., 2018. Unusually high Deca-BDE concentrations and new flame retardants in a Canadian Arctic top predator, the glaucous gull. Sci. Total Environ. 639, 977–987. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2018.05.222.
- Villanger, G.D., 2011. Effects of complex organohalogen contaminant mixtures on thyroid hormone homeostasis in selected arctic marine mammals. PhD. Thesis, Nor. Univ. Sci Technol., Trondheim, Norw. 69 (pp. + app).
- Vorkamp, K., Thomsen, M., Falk, K., Leslie, H., Møller, S., Sørensen, P.B., 2005. Temporal development of brominated flame retardants in peregrine falcon (Falco peregrinus) eggs from South Greenland (1986-2003). Environ. Sci. Technol. 39, 8199–8206. https://doi.org/10.1021/es0508830.
- Wang, D., Turvey, S.T., Zhao, X., Mei, Z., 2013. Neophocaena asiaeorientalis ssp. asiaeorientalis. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2013: e. T43205774A45893487. https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2013-1.RLTS. T43205774A45893487.en. (Accessed 13 June 2022).
- Wang, P., Li, Y., Zhang, Q., Yang, Q., Zhang, L., Liu, F., Fu, J., Meng, W., Wang, D., Sun, H., Zheng, S., Hao, Y., Liang, Y., Jiang, G., 2017. Three-year monitoring of atmospheric PCBs and PBDEs at the Chinese Great Wall Station, West Antarctica: levels, chiral signature, environmental behaviors and source implication. Atmos. Environ. 150, 407–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.11.036.
- Wang, Z., Altenburger, R., Backhaus, T., Covaci, A., Diamond, M.L., Grimalt, J.O., Lohmann, R., Schäffer, A., Scheringer, M., Selin, H., Soehl, A., Suzuki, N., 2021. We need a global science-policy body on chemicals and waste. Science (80-) 371, 774–776. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABE9090.
- Wania, F., MacKay, D., 1996. Peer reviewed: tracking the distribution of persistent organic pollutants. Environ. Sci. Technol. 30, 390A–396A. https://doi.org/10.1021/ ES962399Q.
- Weijs, L., Covaci, A., Stevenson, G., Kemper, C., Tomo, I., Leusch, F., 2020. Concentrations of some legacy pollutants have increased in South Australian bottlenose dolphins from 1989 to 2014. Environ. Res. 189, 109834 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envres.2020.109834.
- Weijs, L., Vijayasarathy, S., Villa, C.A., Neugebauer, F., Meager, J.J., Gaus, C., 2016. Screening of organic and metal contaminants in Australian humpback dolphins (Sousa sahulensis) inhabiting an urbanised embayment. Chemosphere 151, 253–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2016.02.082.
- Ylitalo, G.M., Baird, R.W., Yanagida, G.K., Webster, D.L., Chivers, S.J., Bolton, J.L., Schorr, G.S., McSweeney, D.J., 2009. High levels of persistent organic pollutants measured in blubber of island-associated false killer whales (Pseudorca crassidens) around the main Hawaiian Islands. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 1932–1937. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.08.029.
- Zhang, B., Zhao, B., Yu, M., Zhang, J., 2017. Emission inventory and environmental distribution of decabromodiphenyl ether in China. Sci. Total Environ. 599–600, 1073–1081. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2017.05.060.
- Zhang, W., Xie, H.Q., Zou, X., Li, J., Xu, L., Li, Y., Zhou, Z., Jin, T., Ma, D., Zhao, B., 2019. The toxic effects of in situ exposure of a native fish species (Anabas testudineus) to electronic waste pollution. Sci. Total Environ. 690, 1170–1177. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.06.479.
- Zhang, Y., Xi, B., Tan, W., 2021. Release, transformation, and risk factors of polybrominated diphenyl ethers from landfills to the surrounding environments: a review. Environ. Int. 157, 106780 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2021.106780.
- Zhao, X., Barlow, J., Taylor, B.L., Pitman, R.L., Wang, K., Wei, Z., Stewart, B.S., Turvey, S.T., Akamatsu, T., Reeves, R.R., Wang, D., 2008. Abundance and conservation status of the Yangtze finless porpoise in the Yangtze River, China. Biol. Conserv. 141, 3006–3018. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOCON.2008.09.005.
- Zhou, C., Pagano, J., McGoldrick, D.J., Chen, D., Crimmins, B.S., Hopke, P.K., Milligan, M.S., Murphy, E.W., Holsen, T.M., 2019. Legacy polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) trends in top predator fish of the laurentian great Lakes (GL) from 1979 to 2016: will concentrations continue to decrease? Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 6650–6659. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.9b00933.
- Zhou, T., Ross, D.G., DeVito, M.J., Crofton, K.M., 2001. Effects of short-term in vivo exposure to polybrominated diphenyl ethers on thyroid hormones and hepatic enzyme activities in weanling rats. Toxicol. Sci. 61, 76–82. https://doi.org/10.1093/ toxsci/61.1.76.
- Zhu, X., Zhong, Y., Wang, H., Li, D., Deng, Y., Peng, P., 2019. New insights into the anaerobic microbial degradation of decabrominated diphenyl ether (BDE-209) in coastal marine sediments. Environ. Pollut. 255, 113151 https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVPOL.2019.113151.

ELSEVIER



Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Evaluation of PCDD/Fs, dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs in sperm whales from the Mediterranean Sea



A. Bartalini ^a, J. Muñoz-Arnanz ^{b,*}, L. Marsili ^a, S. Mazzariol ^c, M.C. Fossi ^a, B. Jiménez ^b

^a Department of Environmental, Earth and Physical Sciences, University of Siena, Via Mattioli 4, Siena, Italy

^b Department of Instrumental Analysis and Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Organic Chemistry, CSIC. Juan de la Cierva, 3, 28006 Madrid, Spain

^c Department of Public Health, Comparative Pathology and Veterinary Hygiene, University of Padova, Viale dell'Università 16, 35020 Legnaro, PD, Italy

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- dl-PCBs ranking at the top of the reported values for this species worldwide
 Mediterranean Sea still today a global
- PCB "hotspot" for marine mammals • Non-ortho-dl-PCB pattern (126 > 169
- > 77) • TEQ contribution: Σnon-ortho-dl-PCBs>
- Σortho-dl-PCBs > PCDDs > PCDFs



ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 26 July 2018 Received in revised form 31 October 2018 Accepted 31 October 2018 Available online 3 November 2018

Editor: Damia Barcelo

Keywords: POPs Pollution TEQ Cetaceans Physeter macrocephalus Dioxin-like

ABSTRACT

Numerous studies to date have reported concentrations of Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) in different marine mammal species worldwide. Yet data on sperm whales are scarce from rich and unique biodiverse areas such as the Mediterranean Sea. This work aimed to assess levels of dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls (dl-PCBs), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), and polychlorodibenzop-dioxins and furans (PCDD/Fs) in blubber of sperm whales stranded along the Italian coast between 2008 and 2016. POP mean concentrations (dl-PCBs: 6410 ng/g l.w.; PBDEs: 612 ng/g l.w.; PCDD/Fs: 57.8 pg/g l.w.) were mostly in line with what has been previously reported on the same species in the Mediterranean environment and tended to be higher than those reported from other geographical regions. The relative abundance followed the order dl-PCBs > PBDEs >> PCDD/Fs. Interestingly, the non-ortho dl-PCB pattern (126 > 169 > 77) was similar to that described in other studies worldwide and different from what is described in its main prey. This could be linked to particular metabolic activities in sperm whales against these highly toxic contaminants. Total TEQs ranged from 275 to 987 pg/g l.w. and showed the pattern Σ non-ortho-dl-PCBs > Σ ortho-dl-PCBs > PCDDs > PCDFs, with PCBs' contribution about 96%. These findings highlight the high abundance of PCBs still found in the Mediterranean environment despite having been banned for decades. All sperm whales analyzed in this study surpassed the threshold of 210 pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w. proposed as starting point of

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: juan.ma@iqog.csic.es (J. Muñoz-Arnanz).

immunosuppression in harbour seals; a level of contamination that may have contributed to an impairment of their immune system.

© 2018 Published by Elsevier B.V.

1. Introduction

The Mediterranean Sea is a complex and rich ecosystem that accounts for a heightened degree of marine biodiversity (Coll et al., 2012). Concurrently, it is an area under intense anthropogenic pressures (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2013), and as such, it is considered a sink for many environmental contaminants, partially due to its geo-morphological characteristics (e.g. semi-enclosed marine basin), and the high urbanization rate of its coasts along with related activities derived from it (wastewater releases, shipping, fishing and chemical pollution) (Marsili et al., 2018). Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) rank among the most relevant environmental contaminants. Aside from their toxicity, their unique physicalchemical properties are responsible for their global distribution and persistence in the environment. Due to their lipophilic nature they can biomagnify in marine food webs reaching high levels among top predators (Aguilar et al., 2002). Even though the Stockholm Convention banned or restricted the production and use of different POPs since 2004 (UNEP, 2001), they continue to be present in the environment and biota. POP concentrations measured in the Mediterranean Sea reach this area by different pathways; among the most important of these are long-range transportation (LRT) from Asia (Lelieveld et al., 2002) and western, central and eastern Europe (Berrojalbiz et al., 2014; Iacovidou et al., 2009), and from river discharges and sedimentation (Albaigés, 2005; Gómez-Gutiérrez et al., 2006). In consequence, important POP levels are today reported for different animal species (Guerranti et al., 2014; Maisano et al., 2016; Muñoz-Arnanz et al., 2011; Pinzone et al., 2015; Roscales et al., 2016; Tekin and Pazi, 2017), which justifies unceasing research on these pollutants. Concern raises not only for emerging contaminants such as polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), for which regulations on their use are more recent, but also for legacy chemicals such as polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). Concentrations of the latter in different Mediterranean dolphin species have been recently reported surpassing previously known PCB toxicity thresholds for marine mammals (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). In consequence, it appears the declining concentrations recorded after the wide ban on PCBs in the European environment in the mid-1980s, followed by the enforcement of the Stockholm Convention in 2004, had somehow halted, leaving in general still high concentration values in most European biota (Jepson et al., 2016; Jepson and Law, 2016; Law and Jepson, 2017; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

Cetaceans at high trophic levels, long life spans and large fat deposits tend to accumulate high levels of POPs. Tissue concentrations of environmental contaminants depend on the contamination levels of the source and on many biological factors (diet, body size, body composition, nutritive condition, incidence of disease, age and sex) (Aguilar et al., 1999), and once ingested, the ability of each species to metabolize and excrete contaminants through biotransformation systems (Hakk, 2003; Tanabe et al., 1988). These systems are divided in two phases: phase I, characterized by the introduction or modification of xenobiotics' functional groups, and phase II, involving conjugation or synthetic reactions that increase compounds' solubility. Both phases aim to transform hydrophobic lipid-soluble organic xenobiotics into water-soluble excretable metabolites. In this sense, cetaceans are known to have low phase I biotransformation activity, which translates into low capability to metabolize contaminants (Boon et al., 1997; Hoydal et al., 2018; Tanabe et al., 1988).

Deleterious effects on marine mammals' health from elevated POP concentrations have been strongly suggested in numerous investigations to date, e.g. potential adverse influences on the endocrine and immune systems, and on the reproduction and offspring survivorship rates (Bossart, 2011; Desforges et al., 2016; Hall et al., 2006; Yordy et al., 2010). Thus, high POP levels have been proposed as potential factors involved in mass mortality and stranding events (Evans et al., 2004). However, even when tissue pollutant concentrations and negative health effects have been suggested in pinnipeds and cetaceans (Béland et al., 1993; Reijnders, 1994; Ross et al., 1996; Skaare et al., 2000), establishing a direct association between levels and toxic effects is quite complex owing to the large number of confounding factors involved (e.g. specimen's sex, age, diet, health status, metabolic and excretion capabilities, etc.). This points out the need of a multidisciplinary approach to reach an understanding on the cause of stranding and death (Mazzariol et al., 2016), for which ecotoxicological investigations are essential to understand the real role played by contaminants on these events.

The sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*) is a marine mammal with a cosmopolitan distribution (Whitehead, 2018). This large toothed whale, feeds mainly on meso- and bathypelagic cephalopods (Wong and Whitehead, 2014). Males tend to eat larger prey than females and more likely demersal fishes, such as sharks and rays (Wong and Whitehead, 2014). Although the biggest threat to sperm whales - commercial whaling - has stopped, there are other anthropogenic activities, such as contamination, entanglement in fishing gears and noise pollution that continue to threaten this species. Sperm whales exist as a genetically distinct subpopulation in the Mediterranean Sea, where it is widely distributed and potentially geographically isolated (Dulau et al., 2004; Engelhaupt et al., 2009). This subpopulation accounts for fewer than 2500 mature individuals; a number that is still declining and grouped in one undivided subpopulation, and for all these reasons it is listed by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) as endangered (IUCN, 2006). Safeguard and protective measures have been adopted to protect Mediterranean sperm whales, mainly from entanglement in fishing gears and ship collisions. However, other anthropogenic activities such as oil and gas prospecting (seismic airguns), military operations, illegal dynamite fishing and very specially, contamination, are today sources of concern.

Numerous studies have reported to date POP levels in different marine mammal species all over the world (Aguilar et al., 2002; Alonso et al., 2014; Tanabe, 2002). Yet, data on sperm whales are scarce, including the Mediterranean Sea where very few studies have investigated POP contamination on this species. To the best of our knowledge, there exist fifteen studies worldwide from 1993 to 2018 about POPs in sperm whales and only four of them focused on the Mediterranean Sea (Marsili et al., 2014; Pinzone et al., 2015; Praca et al., 2011; Zaccaroni et al., 2018). This work aims to assess levels of dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls (dl-PCBs), PBDEs, polychlorodibenzo-p-dioxins and furans (PCDD/Fs) and their congener profiles in blubber of sperm whales stranded along the Italian coast. These data will help 1) to expand our knowledge about the current contamination status of the sperm whale Mediterranean sub-population in order to better understand the threat posed by these POPs, 2) to investigate the toxic load represented by dioxinlike PCBs, PCDDs and PCDFs, for which toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) are available. This approach based on the different contribution of each pollutant to total toxic equivalent (TEQ), makes it possible to carry out a risk assessment for this species.



Fig. 1. Map of the three stranding sites (2008, 2009 and 2016) on the coast of Italy.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Sampling

Blubber was collected from nine stranded sperm whales, all males. Seven stranded in 2009 during a mass stranding along the Apulian coast (southern Adriatic Sea) and two stranded in 2008 and 2016 along the coast of Tuscany (Fig. 1). Detailed information about the nine specimens is listed in Table 1. The seven sperm whales stranded in 2009 were part of the same pod and members of the Mediterranean subpopulation (Mazzariol et al., 2011). A multidisciplinary study (histopathology, virology, bacteriology, parasitology, toxicology, genetic and screening of veins looking for gas emboli) was conducted on these individuals and a multi-factorial cause was proposed for this mass stranding (Mazzariol et al., 2011). Determination of organochlorine compounds (PCBs, HCB and DDTs), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and biomarker responses (CYP1A1 and CYP2B) can be found in (Marsili et al., 2014).

All samples were taken from the dorsal area, front the cranial insertion of the dorsal fin, wrapped in aluminum foil, stored in ice on site and then frozen at -20 °C until residue analysis. For the seven sperm whales involved in the mass stranding, age was determined by counting dentin growth layer groups (GLG), and weight (corrected weight) was calculated considering also postmortem body fluid and tissue leakages (Mazzariol et al., 2011). Each of the two sperm whales involved in

individual strandings were assigned to a class age according to each specimen's length; weight was estimated using the animal total length (Lockyer, 1976).

2.2. Analytical procedure

Fresh samples were weighed, homogenized with anhydrous sodium sulfate (Na_2SO_4) and spiked with a suite of ¹³C-labeled standards of dl-PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs, prior to Soxhlet extraction (24 h) with a *n*-hexane: DCM (9:1) mixture. Extracts were rota-evaporated and cleaned-up by using the automated sample preparation system DEXTech+ (LCTech GmbH, Dorfen, Germany). Final extracts were evaporated using a TurboVap® system until ~1 mL, transferred to vials, and dried under a gentle nitrogen stream. Fractions were reconstituted in a few microliters of ¹³C-labeled injection standards of dl-PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs prior to instrumental analysis. Samples' lipid content was determined gravimetrically. Comprehensive details on the analytical procedure are provided in the Supplementary Information.

2.3. Instrumental determination

Samples were analyzed for 12 dl-PCBs (#77, 81, 105, 114, 118, 123, 126, 156, 157, 167, 169, 189), twenty-seven PBDEs (# 3, 7, 15, 17, 28, 47, 49, 66, 71, 77, 85, 99, 100, 119, 126, 138, 153, 154, 156, 183, 184,

Table 1

Detailed information about	sperm whales stranded	along the coast of Ital	v in 2008, 2009 and 2016.
			J,

	=						
Code	Date of stranding	Site of stranding	Size (m)	Weight (t)	Age (years)	Sex	Remark
PM1	December 2009	Adriatic Coast	11.8	14.8	22-25	М	Found dead
PM2	December 2009	Adriatic Coast	12.2	16.0	20	М	Found dead
PM3	December 2009	Adriatic Coast	11.3	14.8	20	М	Found dead
PM4	December 2009	Adriatic Coast	11.4	13.7	20	М	Found dead
PM5	December 2009	Adriatic Coast	10.5	16.0	15	М	Stranded alive
PM6	December 2009	Adriatic Coast	12.1	17.7	20	Μ	Stranded alive
PM7	December 2009	Adriatic Coast	11.2	15.7	20	Μ	Stranded alive
RT13	October 2008	Tyrrhenian Coast	4.5	1.3	Young	Μ	Found dead
63806	August 2016	Tyrrhenian Coast	12.8	23.6	Adult	М	Found dead

191, 196, 197, 206, 207, 209) and 17 PCDD/Fs (2,3,7,8-susbtituted congeners). Quantification was carried out by the isotopic dilution technique by GC-HRMS on a Trace GC Ultra gas chromatograph (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Milan, Italy) coupled to a high-resolution mass spectrometer (DFS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). A full description of the instrumental parameters can be found in the Supplementary Information.

2.4. QA/QC criteria

Metal and glassware material was cleaned (3×) with three solvents of decreasing polarity: acetone, dichloromethane and *n*-hexane. A procedural blank was analyzed within each batch of six samples. Care was taken to minimize exposure to UV light throughout the entire analytical procedure. Quantification was carried out by the isotopic dilution technique with the following criteria: (a) ratio between the two monitored ions within $\pm 15\%$ of the theoretical value, and (b) limits of quantification (LOQs) corresponding to S/N of 10. Final concentrations were blank corrected. Satisfactory analyses (n = 3) of the certified standard reference material SRM 1945 ("Organics in Whale Blubber", NIST) were achieved. Further information related to QA/QC including surrogate recoveries, reference material values and limits of detection of the target compounds is provided in the Supplementary information.

2.5. Data handling

All concentrations are given in ng/g (dl-PCBs and PBDEs) or pg/g (PCDD/Fs) on lipid weight (l.w.) basis. Toxic equivalent quantities (TEQ) for dl-PCBs and PCDD/Fs were determined using the World Health Organization (WHO)-2005 toxic equivalency factors (TEF) for mammals (Van den Berg et al., 2006). Data for PCDD/Fs, dl-PCBs and TEQs are reported in upper bound (i.e. substitution of non-detected compounds for detection limit values).

3. Results and discussions

3.1. Detection frequency

The three POP families (dl-PCBs, PBDEs, PCDD/Fs) were detected in all sperm whale samples analyzed. The relative abundance of the study contaminants followed the order dl-PCBs > PBDEs \gg PCDD/Fs. Five PBDE congeners (3, 7, 15, 119, 126) were consistently not detected in any sample. The most abundant dl-PCBs congeners were PCB118 (5 Cl), PCB156 (6 Cl) and PCB105 (5 Cl) reaching average contributions of 58%, 14% and 12%, respectively, to the total dl-PCB content. The most abundant PBDE congeners were BDE47 (4 Br), BDE100 (5 Br), BDE99 (5 Br), whose average contribution to the total PBDE content was 70%, 10% and 10%, respectively. The most abundant PCDD/F congeners were 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF (21%) and 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD (17%).

3.2. Concentration values

The wide range of values found for Σdl-PCBs, ΣPBDEs, ΣPCDDs and Σ PCDFs (Table 2) is likely to reflect on unknown differences in age, sampling year and health status of the sampled specimens. In comparison to the most recent available data of POPs in blubber for this Mediterranean species (Table 3), they were in the same order of magnitude as those reported by Pinzone et al. (2015), save for PCDD/Fs, which were found one order of magnitude lower. Instead, PBDE levels (sum of BDE congeners 28, 47, 100, 99, 154, 153, $209 = 600 \pm 399 \text{ ng/g l.w.}$ in our study (all males) were up to three times higher than those reported by Zaccaroni et al. (2018) (167 \pm 14 ng/g l.w.) for three Mediterranean sperm whales (all females) stranded along the Adriatic coast in 2014. We can presume this dissimilarity between concentration values was highly influenced by sex since each group was made up by males or females, exclusively. Two of the three females had already reached sexual maturity and probably given birth and decreased their contamination load during gestation and lactation (Reijnders et al., 2009). On the contrary, males analyzed in this study were mostly adults and without offloading mechanisms as gestation and lactation serve to females, they could have been accumulating pollutants - especially those with high hydrophobicity and resistance to metabolism - throughout their entire lives

In comparison to other geographical areas, dl-PCB and PCDD/F levels in the sperm whales analyzed in this study were two orders higher and in the same order of magnitude, respectively, than those reported for sperm whales from Australia (Gaus et al., 2005). This result is congruent with the fact that the Mediterranean Sea, and in particular its western area, is considered for some authors a global PCB "hotspot" for marine mammals (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

Regarding PBDE levels, our results were in the same order of magnitude than those reported for sperm whales from Gulf of California (Fossi et al., 2014), but six times lower than those reported from North-Atlantic specimens (Borrell, 1993), which is probably related to the greater historical use of these compounds in North America (Law et al., 2014).

It is worth noting how differences in pollutant concentrations and profiles between our study and previous literature could be linked not only to different geographic areas and time periods, but also to distinct analytical methods and type of samples. Specifically, it is known that POP concentration in cetaceans is influenced by blubber thickness (Evans et al., 2003), which could became a significant variable when comparing biopsies taken from free-ranging individuals (few centimetres of the outermost layer) to samples obtained from stranded individuals (usually all three layers of blubber) (Evans et al., 2003; Ryan et al., 2013).

3.3. Congener profiles

The dl-PCB congener profile, showed in Fig. 2, was dominated by mono-*ortho* PCBs, that accounted for about 99.9% of the dl-PCBs.

Table 2

Mean, median, range, detection frequencies (%>LOQ) of total dl-PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs in blubber from Mediterranean sperm whales (concentrations are expressed in ng/g l.w. save for PCDD/Fs, pg/g l.w.); PCDDs, PCDFs, dioxin-like PCBs, total TEQ and percentage contribution to T-TEQ. Data are expressed in pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w and are showed as mean, median and range.

					pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w.		% total TEQ	
Compounds	Mean	Median	Range	>LOQ (%)	Mean	Median	Range	
Σmono-ortho-dl-PCBs	6410	3490	2090-20,800	100	192	105	62.9-625	34.1
Σnon-ortho-dl-PCBs	4.10	3.74	2.61-7.43	100	281	255	188-527	61.7
Σdl-PCBs	6420	3500	2100-20,800	100	474	374	261-968	95.8
Σ PCDDs (pg/g)	29.6	25.5	20.7-47.6	100	13.0	11.9	9.36-21.1	2.9
Σ PCDFs (pg/g)	28.2	27.1	23.9-35.9	100	5.03	4.54	4.26-6.37	1.2
ΣPCDD/Fs (pg/g)	57.8	56.2	45.4-83.5	100	18.1	16.3	13.9-27.4	4.2
ΣPBDEs	612	356	312-1390	100	-	-	-	-
Total TEQ					492	394	275–987	-

Bold values indicate the total of dl-PCBs, PCDD/Fs and TEQ,

Table 3

PCBs and PBDEs (ng/g l.w.) in blubber samples of sperm whales from different worldwide studies. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (when possible). Geographic area of sampling, year of collection and sex are reported (when possible).

Reference (year)	Geographic area	Sampling year	Ν	Sex	ΣPCBs (Σdl-PCBs)	ΣPBDEs
Aguilar (1983) ^p	North Atlantic	-	8	М	9930	-
			6	F	15,550	-
Borrell (1993) ^p	Iceland	1982	10	Μ	$10,510 \pm 2070$	4160 ± 1040
Holsbeek et al. (1999) ^{r,a}	Southern North Sea	1994-1995	7	Μ	3032 ± 547	
Evans et al. (2004) ^{q,b}	Southern Australia	1998	32	F	800 ± 400	-
			5	Μ	1300 ± 1200	-
Praca et al. (2011) ^{r,c}	NWMS	2003-2009	14	1 M/13 U	$107,\!810\pm108,\!720$	-
Marsili et al. (2014) ^{q,d}	Italy	2009	7	Μ	193,608 ± 340,089	-
Pinzone et al. (2015) ^{r,e}	NWMS	2006-2013	32	Μ	$24,237 \pm 17,421$	382 ± 176
			11	F	$16,877 \pm 7237$	248 ± 106
				F/M	(2120 ± 1490)	
Gaus et al. (2005) ^{q,f}	Tasmania (Southern Australia)	-	7	F/M	(28.7 ± 8.73)	-
de Boer et al. (1998) ^{r,g}	NE Atlantic (North sea)	-	3	Μ	-	49.6 ± 46.0
Bachman et al. (2014) ^{q,h}	Pacific Island	2011	1	F	1.470	27.2
Fossi et al. (2014) ^{r,i}	Gulf of California (Mexico)	2008-2009	14	Μ	2193 ± 660	30.8 ± 31.7
				F	2294 ± 1180	283 ± 819
Godard-Codding et al. (2010) ^{r,l}	SC = Sea of Cortez	1999	10		MC: 1514 ± 1693	-
	KR = Kiribati	2000	10		KR: 734 \pm 869	-
	GP = Galapagos	2000	10		GP: 1262 ± 1586	-
	PX1 = Pacific Crossing	2000	10		PX1: 777 ± 853	-
	PNG = Papua New Guinea	2001	10		PNG: 1101 ± 1378	-
Law et al. (2003) ^{q,m}	Orkney Islands (Scotland)	1994	1		-	42.9
	Netherlands	1995	2		-	80.6 ± 90.7
Romero-Romero et al. (2017) ^{q,n}	Atlantic Ocean (Cantabrian sea)	-	1		1790	149
Zaccaroni et al. (2018) ^{q,o}	Mediterranean Sea	2014	3	F	-	167 ± 13.9
This study ^r	Mediterranean Sea	2008, 2009, 2016	9	М	6420 ± 6150	612 ± 401

^a Sum of PCB congeners n. 28, 52, 101, 118, 153, 138, 156, 180, 170, 194.

^b Sum of PCB congeners n. 28, 52, 101, 118, 153, 180.

^c Sum of PCB congeners n. 28, 44, 52, 101, 118, 128, 138, 153, 170, 180, 187, 195, 206.

^d Sum of PCB congeners n. 95, 101, 99, 151, 144, 135, 149, 118, 146, 153, 141, 138, 178, 187, 183, 128, 174, 177, 156, 171, 202, 172, 180, 199, 170, 196, 201, 195, 194, 206.

^e Sum of ndl-PCBs congeners n. 8, 18, 28, 52, 44, 66, 101, 87, 153, 138, 187, 128, 180, 170, 195, 206, 209 and dl-PCBs congeners n. 118, 105, 77, 81, 126, 169, 144, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189. ^f Sum of PCB congeners n. 77, 81, 126, 169, 105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189.

^g Sum of PBDE congeners n. 47, XY[‡], 99, 209.

^h Sum of PCBs congeners n. 8, 18, 28, 29, 31, 44, 45, 49, 50, 52, 56, 63, 66, 70, 74, 79, 82, 87, 92, 95, 99, 101, 104, 105, 106, 107, 110, 112, 114, 118, 119, 121, 127, 128, 130, 132, 137, 138, 146, 149, 151, 153, 154, 156, 157, 158, 159, 163, 165, 166, 167, 170, 172, 174, 175, 176, 177, 178, 180, 183, 185, 187, 188, 189, 191, 193, 194, 195, 196, 197, 199, 200, 201, 202, 203, 205, 206, 207, 208, 209.

ⁱ Sum of PCB congeners n. 95, 101, 99, 151, 144, 135, 149, 118, 146, 153, 141, 138, 178, 187, 183, 128, 174, 177, 156, 171, 202, 172, 180, 199, 170, 196, 201, 195, 194, 206. Sum of PBDE congeners n. 194, 195, 196, 197, 204, 198, 199, 200, 203, 201, 202, 205, 206, 207, 208, and 209.

¹ Sum of PCB congeners n. 95, 101, 99, 151, 144, 135, 149, 118, 146, 153, 141, 138, 178, 187, 183, 128, 174, 177, 156, 171, 202, 172, 180, 199, 170, 196, 201, 195, 194, 206.

^m Sum of PBDE congeners n. 28, 47, 66, 71, 75, 77, 85, 99, 100, 119, 138, 153, 154, 190.

ⁿ Sum of PCB congeners n. (*ortho*) 28, 52, 101, 105, 114, 118, 123, 138, 153, 156, 157, 167, 170, 180, 189, 194; (non-*ortho*) 81, 77, 126, 169. Sum of PBDEs congeners n. 17, 28, 47, 66, 85, 99, 100, 153, 154, 183, 191, 196, 197, 209.

^o Sum of PBDEs congeners n. 28, 47, 100, 99, 154, 153, 209.

^p Caught animals.

^q Stranded animals.

^r Free-ranging animals.



Fig. 2. Average contribution of each dl-PCB congener to the total dl-PCB content. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Among them, PCB118 was the most abundant, which is in line with previous studies on sperm whales and other species reporting this congener as frequently the most abundant among dl-PCBs (Bhavsar et al., 2007; Evans et al., 2004; Gaus et al., 2005; Lake et al., 1994; Romero-Romero et al., 2017; Storelli et al., 2011). This was somewhat anticipated since this congener is one of the seven PCBs recommended by The International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES) working groups as indicator congeners (ICES7) for monitoring, based on their relatively clear identification and quantification in gas chromatography and their usual high contribution to the total PCB content in the environmental samples (Boalt et al., 2013).

The non-*ortho* PCBs (81, 77, 126, 169) made up only a small fraction of total dl-PCBs (0.09%). Among these highly toxic congeners, PCB 126 accounted for (58.0%) more than half of the non-*ortho* PCB content, followed by PCB169 (35.7%) and PCB77 (5.3%). On the contrary, PCB81 contributed with <1%. Interestingly, this profile is similar to those found in sperm whales from Australia (Gaus et al., 2005) and the Atlantic Ocean (Romero-Romero et al., 2017), but differs from the accumulation patterns generally found in fish and their main prey, i.e. cephalopods. In these cases, as well as many other instances of abundance patterns in biota, PCB77 is the predominant congener, followed by PCB126 and PCB169 (Cappelletti et al., 2015; Romero-Romero et al., 2017; Storelli, 2008; Tanabe et al., 1987).

Due to the lack of specific studies about the metabolism of non-*ortho* substituted PCBs in sperm whales, we hypothesize with an enhanced metabolic capability of this species towards PCB77. This hypothesis is not supported by Boon et al. (2000), who showed that PCB77 was not metabolised by sperm whales microsomes in vitro. On the contrary, the higher values of PCB126 and 169 suggested reduced or absent metabolic activities towards these congeners. This points out how more focused investigations are needed on accumulation and contaminant detoxification pathways in sperm whales and cetaceans in general. Moreover, without knowing the exact diet of the analyzed individuals as well as patterns and pollutant concentrations in their prey, caution is mandatory when trying to explain their contamination profiles. Nonetheless, in general the average dl-PCB congener profile (Fig. 2) was alike to that described by Pinzone et al. (2015) for Mediterranean sperm whales sampled between 2008 and 2013.

The PBDE congener profile, showed in Fig. 3, was dominated by lower-medium brominated congeners 47 > 99 > 100, which agrees with the fact of these congeners being generally abundant in aquatic food webs (Fossi et al., 2012; Romero-Romero et al., 2017). In fact, BDE47 is commonly the most abundant congener in most biota samples, including marine mammals (Hites, 2004). The low abundance of BDE-209, which is the main component of the commercial mixture deca-BDE (La Guardia et al., 2006), was somewhat anticipated. Its highest hydrophobicity among BDE congeners explains its heightened sequestration into suspended particulate matter and sediments, which results in low bioavailability (Lee and Kim, 2015). Moreover it shows a higher degree of chemical, microbiological degradation, and a higher degree of metabolization than lighter BDE congeners, which is thought to justify its usual absence - or lower concentrations in comparison to other BDE congeners - in marine mammals (Zhang et al., 2016). Overall, the PBDE congener profile was also similar to those described by Pinzone et al. (2015) and Zaccaroni et al. (2018) for Mediterranean sperm whales sampled between 2008 and 2014.

The PCDF congener profile (penta > hexa > tetra > hepta > octa) (Fig. 4) was relatively similar to those reported for sperm whales from Australia (Gaus et al., 2005) and to those reported in blubber of striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) from the Mediterranean Sea (Fossi et al., 2004). In contrast, the PCDD congener profile (hexa > penta > tetra > hepta > octa) was remarkably different from these two, with a lower concentration of higher chlorinated congeners and higher concentration of lower chlorinated congeners.

3.4. Toxicity assessment

It is well established how the toxicity of PCDD/Fs and dl-PCBs is mediated by the cytosolic receptor AhR, based on their planar spatial configuration (Mandal, 2005). Their potential toxicity is commonly assessed by the toxic equivalent quantity (TEQ) approach, in which each's congener toxicity is relativized to that of the most toxic one, the 2,3,7,8-TCDD (Schecter et al., 2006). In this study, TEQs in sperm whale blubber samples were evaluated using the toxic equivalency factors (TEFs) for mammals provided by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 2005 (Van den Berg et al., 2006). Total calculated TEQs ranged from 275 to 987 pg/g l.w.

Regardless of the wide inter-species sensitivity towards different contaminants, it should be highlighted how all analyzed sperm whales surpassed the threshold of 210 pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w. in blubber, proposed as starting point of immunosuppression in harbour seals (Ross et al., 1995).

All sperm whales in this study exhibited the same TEQ pattern (Σ non-*ortho*-dl-PCBs > Σ *ortho*-dl-PCBs > PCDDs > PCDFs), with dl-PCBs as the most abundant pollutants, in agreement with previous investigations about sperm whales and other cetaceans from the



Fig. 3. Average contribution of each BDE congener to the total PBDE content. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).



Fig. 4. Average contribution of each PCDD/F congener to the total PCDD/F content. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Mediterranean Sea (Fossi et al., 2004; Pinzone et al., 2015). This draws attention to the fact that, even if PCBs were banned around 40 years ago in most European countries, they continue to pose a significant threat to cetaceans in the Mediterranean Sea, where these contaminants have also been related to cetacean populations' declines (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

Several adverse health effects have been ascribed to PBDE burdens in mammals; for example, influence on the homeostasis of steroidal and thyroidal hormones (Darnerud, 2003; Zhou et al., 2001), immunotoxicity (Fowles et al., 1994), and reproductive and other neurological disorders (Siddiqi et al., 2003). However, no specific threshold for toxicological effects in sperm whales has been proposed at the moment. Currently, the only available value reported for a marine mammal species is the threshold of 1500 ng/g l.w. established for endocrine disruption in grey seals (Hall et al., 2003). Total PBDE concentrations found in this study ranged from 312 to 1390 ng/g l.w., and therefore were always below the abovementioned reference value, although often in the same order of magnitude. However, the distinct interspecies sensitivity towards these pollutants - currently unknown in the case of sperm whales - cannot be disregarded. Aside from interspecies sensitivity, it is important to underline that, when comparing results with toxicity thresholds, each individual might respond in different ways to contaminant concentrations depending on multiple factors such as sex, age and health status.

4. Conclusions

Concentration levels found in this study were mostly in line with what has been previously reported on the same species in the Mediterranean Sea. Conversely, POPs measured in this study tended to be in higher levels than those reported on sperm whales from other geographical regions. It is important to emphasise that dioxin-like PCBs were, not only found in the highest concentrations among the target POPs, but also ranking at the top of the reported values for the same species worldwide. Our results along with data from recent works, highlight still high levels of PCBs in the Mediterranean Sea biota, which far from showing a decreasing trend during recent years appear to steady linger in this area. This also confirms the role of the Mediterranean Sea as a PCB global "hotspot" for marine mammals, and the need for further mitigation of PCB pollution to protect these sea-dwelling species. As a direct consequence of these concerning high dl-PCB concentrations, all animals in this study surpassed the threshold proposed as starting point of immunosuppression in marine mammals (harbour seals). The lack of a specific threshold for toxicological effects in sperm whales related to the presence of the target POPs does not allow to draw a solid conclusion on the role played by these contaminants in their health status. In turn, this stresses the importance of broadening our knowledge about toxicity, accumulation and detoxification processes, in order to 1) better understand the impact of pollution in the sperm whale's health status and 2) develop more focused conservation strategies, with special attention to the Mediterranean Sea due to its role as a sink for many contaminants of concern.

Acknowledgments

J. M-A. acknowledges his contract under project 15CAES004. The authors would like to thank Prof. Bruno Cozzi, the Mediterranean Marine Mammal Tissue Bank, Dr. Cecilia Mancusi and the entire "Consulta della Biodiversità" of the Tuscany Region. The whole Biomarkers and Residue Analysis Laboratory from the University of Siena is also kindly thanked for their contributions and support.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.436.

References

- Aguilar, A., 1983. Organochlorine pollution in sperm whales, *Physeter macrocephalus*, from the temperate waters of the eastern North Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 14, 349–352.
- Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Pastor, T., 1999. Biological factors affecting variability of persistent pollutants levels in cetaceans. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 1, 83–116.
- Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Reijnders, P.J., 2002. Geographical and temporal variation in levels of organochlorine contaminants in marine mammals. Mar. Environ. Res. 53, 425–452.
- Albaigés, J., 2005. Persistent organic pollutants in the Mediterranean Sea. In: Saliot, A. (Ed.), The Mediterranean Sea. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 89–149.
- Alonso, M.B., Azevedo, A., Torres, J.P.M., Dorneles, P.R., Eljarrat, E., Barceló, D., Lailson-Brito, J., Malm, O., 2014. Anthropogenic (PBDE) and naturally-produced (MeO-PBDE) brominated compounds in cetaceans — a review. Sci. Total Environ. 481, 619–634.
- Bachman, M.J., Keller, J.M., West, K.L., Jensen, B.A., 2014. Persistent organic pollutant concentrations in blubber of 16 species of cetaceans stranded in the Pacific Islands from 1997 through 2011. Sci. Total Environ. 488, 115–123.
- Béland, P., DeGuise, S., Girard, C., Lagacé, A., Martineau, D., Michaud, R., Muir, D.C.G., Norstrom, R.J., Pelletier, É., Ray, S., Shugart, L.R., 1993. Toxic compounds and health and reproductive effects in St. Lawrence Beluga whales. J. Great Lakes Res. 19, 766–775.
- Berrojalbiz, N., Castro-Jiménez, J., Mariani, G., Wollgast, J., Hanke, G., Dachs, J., 2014. Atmospheric occurrence, transport and deposition of polychlorinated biphenyls and

hexachlorobenzene in the Mediterranean and Black seas. Atmos. Chem. Phys. 14, 8947–8959.

- Bhavsar, S.P., Fletcher, R., Hayton, A., Reiner, E.J., Jackson, D.A., 2007. Composition of dioxin-like PCBs in fish: an application for risk assessment. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 3096–3102.
- Boalt, E., Nyberg, E., Bignert, A., Hedman, J., Danielson, S., 2013. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) and dioxins and furans. HELCOM Core Indicator Report. HELCOM Online. 22.
- de Boer, J., Wester, P.G., Klamer, H.J., Lewis, W.E., Boon, J.P., 1998. Do flame retardants threaten ocean life? Nature 394. 28.
- Boon, J.P., van der Meer, J., Allchin, C.R., Law, R.J., Klungsøyr, J., Leonards, P.E.G., Spliid, H., Storr-Hansen, E., Mckenzie, C., Wells, D.E., 1997. Concentration-dependent changes of PCB patterns in fish-eating mammals: structural evidence for induction of cytochrome P450. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 33, 298–311.
- Boon, J.P., Lewis, W.E., Goksøyr, A., 2000. In vitro biotransformation of organohalogens by sperm whale microsomes in relation to the CYP-isozymes present. Mar. Environ. Res. 50, 64.
- Borrell, A., 1993. PCB and DDT in blubber of cetaceans from the northeastern north Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 26, 146–151.
- Bossart, G.D., 2011. Marine mammals as sentinel species for oceans and human health. Vet. Pathol. Online 48, 676–690.
- Cappelletti, N., Speranza, E., Tatone, L., Astoviza, M., Migoya, M.C., Colombo, J.C., 2015. Bioaccumulation of dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs by detritus-feeding fish in the Rio de la Plata estuary, Argentina. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22, 7093–7100.
- Castro-Jiménez, J., Berrojalbiz, N., Mejanelle, L., Dachs, J., 2013. Sources, transport and deposition of atmospheric organic pollutants in the Mediterranean Sea. In: McConnell, L.L., Dachs, J., Hapeman, C.J. (Eds.), Occurrence, Fate and Impact of Atmospheric Pollutants on Environmental and Human Health. American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, pp. 231–260.
- Coll, M., Piroddi, C., Albouy, C., Lasram, F.B.R., Cheung, W.W.L., Christensen, V., Karpouzi, V.S., Guilhaumon, F., Mouillot, D., Paleczny, M., Palomares, M.L., Steenbeek, J., Trujillo, P., Watson, R., Pauly, D., 2012. The Mediterranean Sea under siege: spatial overlap between marine biodiversity, cumulative threats and marine reserves. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 21, 465–480.
- Darnerud, P., 2003. Toxic effects of brominated flame retardants in man and in wildlife. Environ. Int. 29, 841–853.
- Desforges, J.-P.W., Sonne, C., Levin, M., Siebert, U., De Guise, S., Dietz, R., 2016. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. Environ. Int. 86, 126–139.
- Dulau, V., Berube, M., Gannier, A., Goold, C., Reid, R.J., Palsbøll, P., 2004. A note on genetic isolation of Mediterranean sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) suggested by mitochondrial DNA. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 6.
- Engelhaupt, D., Hoelzel, A.R., Nicholson, C., Frantzis, A., Mesnick, S., Gero, S., Whitehead, H., Rendell, L., Miller, P., De Stefanis, R., Cañadas, A., Airoldi, S., Mignucci-Giannoni, A.A., 2009. Female philopatry in coastal basins and male dispersion across the North Atlantic in a highly mobile marine species, the sperm whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*). Mol. Ecol. 18, 4193–4205.
- Evans, K., Hindell, M.A., Thiele, D., 2003. Body fat and condition in sperm whales, *Physeter macrocephalus*, from southern Australian waters. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 134, 847–862.
- Evans, K., Hindell, M., Hince, G., 2004. Concentrations of organochlorines in sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) from Southern Australian waters. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48, 486–503.
- Fossi, M.C., Marsili, L., Lauriano, G., Fortuna, C., Canese, S., Ancora, S., Leonzio, C., Romeo, T., Merino, R., Abad, E., Jiménez, B., 2004. Assessment of toxicological status of a SW Mediterranean segment population of striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) using skin biopsy. Mar. Environ. Res. 58, 269–274.
- Fossi, M.C., Panti, C., Guerranti, C., Coppola, D., Giannetti, M., Marsili, L., Minutoli, R., 2012. Are baleen whales exposed to the threat of microplastics? A case study of the Mediterranean fin whale (*Balaenoptera physalus*). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64, 2374–2379.
- Fossi, M.C., Panti, C., Marsili, L., Maltese, S., Coppola, D., Jiménez, B., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Finoia, M.G., Rojas-Bracho, L., Urban, R.J., 2014. Could feeding habit and migratory behaviour be the causes of different toxicological hazard to cetaceans of Gulf of California (Mexico)? Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 13353–13366.
- Fowles, J.R., Fairbrother, A., Baecher-Steppan, L., Kerkvliet, N.I., 1994. Immunologic and endocrine effects of the flame-retardant pentabromodiphenyl ether (DE-71) in C57BL/6J mice. Toxicology 86, 49–61.
- Gaus, C., Correll, R., Mueller, J., Holt, E., Ellis, D., Prange, J., Shaw, M., 2005. Dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in marine mammals from Australia. Organohalogen Compd. 67, 6.
- Godard-Codding, C.A., Clark, R., Fossi, M.C., Marsili, L., Maltese, S., West, A.G., ... Pinkerton, K., 2010. Pacific Ocean–wide profile of CYP1A1 expression, stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios, and organic contaminant burden in sperm whale skin biopsies. Environ. Health Perspect. 119, 337–343.
- Gómez-Gutiérrez, A.I., Jover, E., Bodineau, L., Albaigés, J., Bayona, J.M., 2006. Organic contaminant loads into the Western Mediterranean Sea: estimate of Ebro River inputs. Chemosphere 65, 224–236.
- Guerranti, C., Baini, M., Casini, S., Focardi, S.E., Giannetti, M., Mancusi, C., Marsili, L., Perra, G., Fossi, M.C., 2014. Pilot study on levels of chemical contaminants and porphyrins in *Caretta caretta* from the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Environ. Res. 100, 33–37.
- Hakk, H., 2003. Metabolism in the toxicokinetics and fate of brominated flame retardants --a review. Environ. Int. 29, 801–828.
- Hall, A.J., Kalantzi, O.I., Thomas, G.O., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in grey seals during their first year of life—are they thyroid hormone endocrine disrupters? Environ. Pollut. 126, 29–37.
- Hall, A.J., McConnell, B.J., Rowles, T.K., Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., Schwacke, L., et al., 2006. Individual-based model framework to assess population consequences of

polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins. Environ. Health Perspect. 114, 60.

- Hites, R.A., 2004. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the environment and in people: a meta-analysis of concentrations. Environ. Sci. Technol. 38, 945–956.
- Holsbeek, L., Joiris, C.R., Debacker, V., Ali, I.B., Roose, P., Nellissen, J.P., ... Bossicart, M., 1999. Heavy metals, organochlorines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in sperm whales stranded in the southern North Sea during the 1994/1995 winter. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 38, 304–313.
- Hoydal, K.S., Jenssen, B.M., Letcher, R.J., Dam, M., Arukwe, A., 2018. Hepatic phase I and II biotransformation responses and contaminant exposure in long-finned pilot whales from the Northeastern Atlantic. Mar. Environ. Res. 134, 44–54.
- Iacovidou, E., Mandalakis, M., Stephanou, E.G., 2009. Occurrence and diurnal variation of polychlorinated biphenyls and polybrominated diphenyl ethers in the background atmosphere of Eastern Mediterranean. Chemosphere 77, 1161–1167.
- IUCN, 2006. Physeter macrocephalus (Mediterranean subpopulation). In: Notarbartolo di Sciara, G., Frantzis, A., Bearzi, G., Reeves, R. (Eds.), The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2012 (e.T16370739A16370477).
- Jepson, P.D., Law, R.J., 2016. Persistent pollutants, persistent threats. Science 352, 1388–1389.
- Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., ten Doeschate, M., Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., de Stephanis, R., Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A., Law, R.J., 2016. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters. Sci. Rep. 6.
- La Guardia, M.J., Hale, R.C., Harvey, E., 2006. Detailed polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) congener composition of the widely used penta-, octa-, and deca-PBDE technical flame-retardant mixtures. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40, 6247–6254.
- Lake, J.L., Haebler, R., McKinney, R., Lake, C.A., Sadove, S.S., 1994. PCBs and other chlorinated organic contaminants in tissues of juvenile Kemp's Ridley turtles (*Lepidochelys kempi*). Mar. Environ. Res. 38, 313–327.
- Law, R.J., Jepson, P.D., 2017. Europe's insufficient pollutant remediation. Science 356, 148. Law, R.J., Alaee, M., Allchin, C.R., Boon, J.P., Lebeuf, M., Lepom, P., Stern, G.A., 2003. Levels
- and trends of polybrominated diphenylethers and other brominated flame retardants in wildlife. Environ. Int. 29, 757–770.
- Law, R.J., Covaci, A., Harrad, S., Herzke, D., Abdallah, M.A.-E., Fernie, K., Toms, L.-M.L., Takigami, H., 2014. Levels and trends of PBDEs and HBCDs in the global environment: status at the end of 2012. Environ. Int. 65, 147–158.
- Lee, H.J., Kim, G.B., 2015. An overview of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in the marine environment. Ocean Sci. 50, 119–142.
- Lelieveld, J., Berresheim, H., Borrmann, S., Crutzen, P.J., Dentener, F.J., Fischer, H., Feichter, J., Flatau, P.J., Heland, J., Holzinger, R., Korrmann, R., Lawrence, M.G., Levin, Z., Markowicz, K.M., Mihalopoulos, N., Minikin, A., Ramanathan, V., de Reus, M., Roelofs, G.J., Scheeren, H.A., Sciare, J., Schlager, H., Schultz, M., Siegmund, P., Steil, B., Stephanou, E.G., Stier, P., Traub, M., Warneke, C., Williams, J., Ziereis, H., 2002. Global air pollution crossroads over the Mediterranean. Science 298, 794–799.
- Lockyer, C., 1976. Body weights of some species of large whales. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 36, 259–273.
- Maisano, M., Cappello, T., Oliva, S., Natalotto, A., Giannetto, A., Parrino, V., Battaglia, P., Romeo, T., Salvo, A., Spanò, N., Mauceri, A., 2016. PCB and OCP accumulation and evidence of hepatic alteration in the Atlantic bluefin tuna, *T. thynnus*, from the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Environ. Res. 121, 40–48.
- Mandal, P.K., 2005. Dioxin: a review of its environmental effects and its aryl hydrocarbon receptor biology. J. Comp. Physiol. B. 175, 221–230.
- Marsili, L., Maltese, S., Coppola, D., Carletti, L., Mazzariol, S., Fossi, M.C., 2014. Ecotoxicological status of seven sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) stranded along the Adriatic coast of southern Italy: Ecotoxicological status of stranded sperm whales. Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst. 24, 103–118.
- Marsili, L., Jiménez, B., Borrel, A., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants in Cetaceans living in a hotspot area: the Mediterranean Sea. In: Fossi, M.C., Panti, C. (Eds.), Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology: Impacts of Multiple Stressors on Population Health. Academic Press.
- Mazzariol, S., Di Guardo, G., Petrella, A., Marsili, L., Fossi, C.M., Leonzio, C., Zizzo, N., Vizzini, S., Gaspari, S., Pavan, G., Podestà, M., Garibaldi, F., Ferrante, M., Copat, C., Traversa, D., Marcer, F., Airoldi, S., Frantzis, A., De Bernaldo Quirós, Y., Cozzi, B., Fernández, A., 2011. Sometimes sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) cannot find their way back to the high seas: a multidisciplinary study on a mass stranding. PLoS One 6, e19417.
- Mazzariol, S., Marsili, L., Di Guardo, G., 2016. Cetacean mass strandings and multidisciplinary work. Chemosphere 148, 32–33.
- Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Sáez, M., Aguirre, J.I., Hiraldo, F., Baos, R., Pacepavicius, G., Alaee, M., Jiménez, B., 2011. Predominance of BDE-209 and other higher brominated diphenyl ethers in eggs of white stork (*Ciconia ciconia*) colonies from Spain. Environ. Int. 37, 572–576.
- Pinzone, M., Budzinski, H., Tasciotti, A., Ody, D., Lepoint, G., Schnitzler, J., Scholl, G., Thomé, J.-P., Tapie, N., Eppe, G., Das, K., 2015. POPs in free-ranging pilot whales, sperm whales and fin whales from the Mediterranean Sea: influence of biological and ecological factors. Environ. Res. 142, 185–196.
- Praca, E., Laran, S., Lepoint, G., Thomé, J.-P., Quetglas, A., Belcari, P., Sartor, P., Dhermain, F., Ody, D., Tapie, N., Budzinski, H., Das, K., 2011. Toothed whales in the northwestern Mediterranean: insight into their feeding ecology using chemical tracers. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 1058–1065.
- Reijnders, P.J.H., 1994. Toxicokinetics of chlorobiphenyls and associated physiological responses in marine mammals, with particular reference to their potential for ecotoxicological risk assessment. Sci. Total Environ. 154, 229–236.

- Reijnders, P.J.H., Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., 2009. Pollution and marine mammals. In: Perrin, W.F., Würsig, B., Thewissen, J.G.M. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals, Second edition Academic Press, London, pp. 890–898.
- Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B., Acuña, J.L., 2017. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web, Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597.
- Roscales, J.L., Vicente, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Morales, L., Abad, E., Aguirre, J.I., Jiménez, B., 2016. Influence of trophic ecology on the accumulation of dioxins and furans (PCDD/Fs), non-ortho polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in Mediterranean gulls (*Larus michahellis* and *L. audouinii*): a three-isotope approach. Environ. Pollut. 212, 307–315.
- Ross, P.S., De Swart, R.L., Reijnders, P.J., Van Loveren, H., Vos, J.G., Osterhaus, A.D., 1995. Contaminant-related suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity and antibody responses in harbor seals fed herring from the Baltic Sea. Environ. Health Perspect. 103, 162–167.
- Ross, P., De Swart, R., Addison, R., Van Loveren, H., Vos, J., Osterhaus, A., 1996. Contaminant-induced immunotoxicity in harbour seals: wildlife at risk? Toxicology 112, 157–169.
- Ryan, C., McHugh, B., O'Connor, I., Berrow, S., 2013. Lipid content of blubber biopsies is not representative of blubber in situ for fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*). Mar. Mamm. Sci. 29, 542–547.
- Schecter, A., Birnbaum, L., Ryan, J.J., Constable, J.D., 2006. Dioxins: an overview. Environ. Res. 101, 419–428.
- Siddiqi, M.A., Laessig, R.H., Reed, K.D., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs): new pollutants-old diseases. Clin. Med. Res. 1, 281–290.
- Skaare, J.U., Bernhoft, A., Derocher, A., Gabrielsen, G.W., Goksøyr, A., Henriksen, E., Larsen, H.J., Lie, E., Wiig, null, 2000. Organochlorines in top predators at Svalbard—occurrence, levels and effects. Toxicol. Lett. 112–113, 103–109.
- Storelli, M.M., 2008. Potential human health risks from metals (Hg, Cd, and Pb) and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) via seafood consumption: estimation of target hazard quotients (THQs) and toxic equivalents (TEQs). Food Chem. Toxicol. 46, 2782–2788.
- Storelli, M.M., Barone, G., Giuliana Perrone, V., Giacominelli-Stuffler, R., 2011. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dioxins and furans (PCDD/Fs): occurrence in fishery products and dietary intake. Food Chem. 127, 1648–1652.
- Stuart-Smith, S.J., Jepson, P.D., 2017. Persistent threats need persistent counteraction: responding to PCB pollution in marine mammals. Mar. Policy 84, 69–75.

- Tanabe, S., 2002. Contamination and toxic effects of persistent endocrine disrupters in marine mammals and birds. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 45, 69–77.
- Tanabe, S., Kannan, N., Subramanian, A., Watanabe, S., Tatsukawa, R., 1987. Highly toxic coplanar PCBs: occurrence, source, persistency and toxic implications to wildlife and humans. Environ. Pollut. 47, 147–163.
- Tanabe, S., Watanabe, S., Kan, H., Tatsukawa, R., 1988. Capacity and mode of PCB metabolism in small cetaceans. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 4, 103–124.
- Tekin, S., Pazi, I., 2017. POP levels in blue crab (*Callinectes sapidus*) and edible fish from the eastern Mediterranean coast. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 24, 509–518.
- UNEP, 2001. Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants. United Nations Environment Programme Chemicals (UNEP).
- Van den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L.S., Denison, M., De Vito, M., Farland, W., Feeley, M., Fiedler, H., Hakansson, H., Hanberg, A., Haws, L., Rose, M., Safe, S., Schrenk, D., Tohyama, C., Tritscher, A., Tuomisto, J., Tysklind, M., Walker, N., Peterson, R.E., 2006. The 2005 World Health Organization reevaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds. Toxicol. Sci. 93, 223–241.
- Whitehead, H., 2018. Sperm whale. Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals. Elsevier, pp. 919–925.
- Wong, S.N.P., Whitehead, H., 2014. Seasonal occurrence of sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) around Kelvin Seamount in the Sargasso Sea in relation to oceanographic processes. Deep Sea Res. Part I: Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 91, 10–16.
- Yordy, J.E., Mollenhauer, M.A., Wilson, R.M., Wells, R.S., Hohn, A., Sweeney, J., et al., 2010. Complex contaminant exposure in cetaceans: a comparative E-screen analysis of bottlenose dolphin blubber and mixtures of four persistent organic pollutants. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29, 2143–2153.
- Zaccaroni, A., Andreini, R., Franzellitti, S., Barceló, D., Eljarrat, E., 2018. Halogenated flame retardants in stranded sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 635, 892–900.
- Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Song, J., Ren, Z., Yuan, H., Yan, H., et al., 2016. Environmental characteristics of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in marine system, with emphasis on marine organisms and sediments. Biomed. Res. Int. 2016.
- Zhou, T., Ross, D.G., Devito, M.J., Crofton, K.M., 2001. Effects of short-term in vivo exposure to polybrominated diphenyl ethers on thyroid hormones and hepatic enzyme activities in weanling rats. Toxicol. Sci. 61, 76–82.

ELSEVIER



Environmental Pollution



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/envpol

Occurrence and distribution of persistent organic pollutants in the liver and muscle of Atlantic blue sharks: Relevance and health risks^{\star}



Juan Muñoz-Arnanz^{a,*}, Alice Bartalini^a, Luis Alves^b, Marco FL. Lemos^b, Sara C. Novais^b, Begoña Jiménez^a

^a Department of Instrumental Analysis and Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Organic Chemistry, IQOG-CSIC, Madrid, Spain

^b MARE- Marine and Environmental Sciences Centre & ARNET – Aquatic Research Infrastructure Network Associated Laboratory, ESTM, Polytechnic of Leiria, Peniche,

Portugal

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: POPs Risk assessment Prionace glauca PCBs PBDEs PCDD/Fs TEQ

ABSTRACT

Blue shark score among the most abundant, widely distributed and worldwide consumed elasmobranchs. In this work contents of PCBs, PCDD/Fs and PBDEs were studied by means of GC-HRMS in muscle and liver of sixty blue sharks from the North East Atlantic sampled in 2019. Concentrations relatively similar were found for PCBs and PCDD/Fs in comparison with those in Atlantic specimens from the same area sampled in 2015. In contrast, PBDE loads doubled, likely mirroring the increased environmental presence of these pollutants. This, together with the different congener profiles reported for the same species in other geographical areas, highlighted the blue shark's potential as bioindicator of the degree and fingerprints of regional pollution by POPs. Interesting dissimilarities between muscle and liver concentrations were detected, most likely ascribed to distinct toxicokinetics involved for the different pollutants. Whereas most POPs preferentially accumulated in liver, some did the opposite in muscle. BDE-209 was the most prominent example, being almost negligible its presence in liver (0.3%) while accounting for ca. 14% of the total PBDE content in muscle. Different findings in this regard described for other shark species call for focused research to ascertain the role of the species in this apparent favored metabolization of BDE-209 in the liver. From a consumption perspective, the concentrations found in muscle -the most relevant part in the human diet-for PCBs and dioxin-like POPs were below the EU maximum allowed levels in foodstuff. Conversely, in liver about 58% and 78% of samples overpassed the European levels for tolerable intake of i-PCBs and dioxin POPs, respectively. Concentrations of PBDEs exceeded EQS (0.0085 ng/g w.w.) established by the European Water Framework Directive in 100% and 92% of liver and muscle samples, respectively, which adds to the open debate of such as a reduce value for this current EQS.

1. Introduction

An increasing awareness about pollution and its relevance to planetary health has progressively strengthened worldwide. As proof, today, pollution can be related to most of the 17 Sustainable Development Goals established by the UN for 2030 (Brusseau, 2019; UNEP, 2017). Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are one prominent example of chemical pollution posing important risks and pressures to the whole planet (Jones, 2021; Jones and De Voogt, 1999). Their toxic effects along with their chemical-physical characteristics granting them the ability to 1) have long-range transportation and global distribution, 2) undergo bioaccumulation and biomagnification through food webs and 3) be persistent in all environmental compartments, make POPs a class of chemicals for which constant environmental monitoring and research is necessary and encouraged by the Stockholm Convention (SC) (UNEP, 2004; Wang et al., 2022). The existence and interaction among different processes such as wet and dry deposition, air-water exchange, continuous reception of water bodies from land, association with phytoplankton biomass, with settling fluxes of organic matter in the water column (biological pump) and also with plastics and microplastics extant in the marine environment, explain why oceans are both sinks and reservoirs for chemicals such as POPs (Froescheis et al., 2000; Jurado et al., 2004; Morales et al., 2015; Turner, 2022). Among POPs, polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins and dibenzofurans (PCDD/Fs) as

* Corresponding author.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119750

Received 3 April 2022; Received in revised form 28 June 2022; Accepted 8 July 2022 Available online 12 July 2022

0269-7491/© 2022 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

 $^{\,\,^{\}star}\,$ This paper has been recommended for acceptance by Professor Christian Sonne.

E-mail address: juan.ma@iqog.csic.es (J. Muñoz-Arnanz).

unintentional substances and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and polybromodipheyl ethers (PBDEs) as manmade chemicals, are prominent examples (Muñoz-Arnanz et al., 2018; Roscales et al., 2018). The toxicity of the former, make them still today a priority family to monitor in the environment. The great quantities produced and emitted of PCBs (used in transformers, electrical equipment, hydraulic fluids, paints, sealing agents, etc.) and PBDEs (as flame retardants in a wide array of consumer products) justify an ongoing interest for gauging their environmental fate. These pollutants may be bioaccumulated by marine species whose consumption, in turn, might carry risks for other species and ultimately for human beings (Hellberg et al., 2012). These risks unavoidably increase as the POP burdens grow in the consumed species. In that sense, because elasmobranch species, encompassing sharks, rays, and skates, tend to occupy high trophic levels in food webs, they are prone to biomagnification of heightened POP loads, and therefore are among the most prominent sources of risk for human seafood consumers. Yet, currently the occurrence, tissue distribution, and toxicological effects of POPs in sharks are much less known that those in other high trophic aquatic species such as marine mammals (Lyons et al., 2021; Tiktak et al., 2020). While elasmobranchs are not generally preferred as human food source in comparison to other fish species (mainly teleosts), sharks in particular have been and continue to be consumed principally for their meat and fins in numerous areas around the globe (Dent F. and Clarke S., 2015; Tiktak et al., 2020). Additionally, shark meat is often mislabeled not only as different shark species, but also as other seafood products (Bornatowski et al., 2013; Pazartzi et al., 2019; Wainwright et al., 2018). Sharks are also valuable for other industries: their squalene-rich liver oil is coveted, for example, in the textile and tanning fields as a lubricant, in the cosmetics business, and for medicinal purposes (Kibria et al., 2015; Tiktak et al., 2020).

Despite worldwide data inconsistencies, it is certain that global shark populations have been subject to increasing pressures associated with overfishing involved in the supply of all types of shark products (Cardeñosa, 2019; Dent F. and Clarke S., 2015).

The blue shark (Prionace glauca) is a pelagic widespread species found in temperate, tropical and subtropical regions with a great overall abundance (IUCN, 2018). It is a long-lived species, with a lifespan of ca. 20 years, behaving as top predator with a diet composed of mainly pelagic teleost fish and cephalopods (mostly squid) (da Silva et al., 2021). Its potential as bioindicator species of marine contamination has been explored by different studies (Alves et al., 2022, 2016; Barrera-García et al., 2013; 2012; Storelli et al., 2011). Additionally, it has been commonly caught as bycatch in high-seas longline and driftnet fisheries in an increasing trend (da Silva et al., 2021). Until not very long ago it was regarded as a not very valuable catch, but its meat and fins are today making up most of the shark consumption worldwide, with an estimated global catch of almost 93,000 tons in 2020 (FAO Species Fact Sheets, 2021). As a highly-exploited species it is regarded as Near Threatened in the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN, 2018) Red List, with some authors estimating that its global catch represents about 90% of the total elasmobranch caught (Coelho et al., 2012). In consequence, the determination of priority xenobiotics such as POPs in tissues of this species becomes of high importance as a proxy for the type and degree of contamination extant in their environment, and to address the potential impacts in public health due to their consumption.

Within the framework of a wider ecotoxicological investigation on blue sharks and their potential as sentinel species for marine pollution monitoring surveys, the main objective of this work was to investigate the levels of selected POPs (PCBs, PCDD/Fs and PBDEs) in two different tissues (i.e. liver and muscle) of specimens from the Northeast Atlantic Ocean, which may pose a risk to the animals, and also evaluate the risks associated to their consumption.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Sampling

Sixty blue shark specimens (38 males and 22 females) were captured as bycatch aboard swordfish fishing vessels operating off the coast of Portugal (Fig. 1) between March and December 2019. Samples of liver and muscle were obtained from each animal by means of inox cutlery, carefully rinsed with acetone and ethanol between dissections. Samples were wrapped in aluminum foil, placed in individual plastic tubes and preserved at -20 °C until further analysis. Sampling blanks were collected in form of aluminum foil handled and wrapped with the same tools and cleaning protocols. The sex and length (fork length (FL) in cm) was registered for all specimens, and data on the locations of captures were also collected (Table S1.1 in the supplementary material (SM)). Out of the 60 specimens, 38 were males with a mean FL of 180,4 cm (range 109-251 cm) and 22 females with a mean FL of 130,9 cm (range 101-160 cm). Assuming sexual maturity for males and females at 180 and 185 cm, respectively (da Silva et al., 2021), 55% of males and 100% of females were juveniles while 45% of males were regarded as adults.

2.2. Analytical procedure

Fresh samples (~1.5 g for liver and ~10 g for muscle) were homogenized and mixed with anhydrous Na₂SO₄, and subsequently spiked with a suite of ¹³C-labeled standards of PCBs, PCDD/Fs and PBDEs. Soxhlet apparatus were used with a 100 mL of n-hexane:dicloromethane (9:1, v:v) in cycles of 24 h for the extraction of the selected pollutants. The lipid content was gravimetrically determined for each sample using a 10% aliquot of the extracted content. Extracts were purified by means of the automated system DEXTech+ (LCTech GmbH, Dorfen, Germany) that rendered two fractions for each sample. Each one was subsequently evaporated using a TurboVap® system until ~1 mL, transferred to vials, carefully and almost fully dried under N₂, and finally reconstituted in a few microliters of PCB, PCDD/F and PBDE ¹³C-labeled injection standards in nonane. Details about sample processing are comprehensively described elsewhere (Bartalini et al., 2019) and in the SM.

2.3. Instrumental determination

Targeted analysis was focused on eighteen PCBs (the six indicators (i-PCBs) congeners # 28, 52, 101, 138, 153, 180 and the twelve dioxin-like (DL-PCBs) including 4 non-*ortho* congeners # 77, 81, 126, 169 and 8 mono-*ortho* congeners # 105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189), twenty-six PBDEs (congeners # 7, 15, 17, 28, 47, 49, 66, 71, 77, 85, 99, 100, 119, 126, 138, 153, 154, 156, 183, 184, 191, 196, 197, 206, 207, 209) and seventeen PCDD/Fs (all seventeen 2,3,7,8 – chlorine substituted congeners). Analysis was performed by gas chromatography coupled to high resolution mass spectrometry (GC-HRMS) by means of a Trace GC Ultra gas chromatograph (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Milan, Italy) coupled to a high-resolution mass spectrometer (DFS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) working at resolution of 10,000 (10% valley). The isotopic dilution technique was followed for quantitation purposes. A full description of the instrumental parameters is provided in the SM.

2.4. Quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) criteria

All material, metal or otherwise, was cleaned three consecutive times with three solvents of decreasing polarity: acetone, dichloromethane, and n-hexane. Each batch of six samples included one procedural blank. Exposure to UV light was minimized throughout the entire analytical procedure. The isotopic dilution technique was applied for quantitation of the target analytes with the following criteria: (a) ratio between the two monitored ions within $\pm 15\%$ of the theoretical value, and (b) limits of quantification (LOQs) corresponding to S/N of 10. Final



Fig. 1. Map of the locations where blue shark specimens were collected.

concentrations were blank corrected. Additional details in relation to QA/QC are provided in the SM.

2.5. Data handling

Concentrations are given in ng/g (PCBs and PBDEs) or pg/g (PCDD/ Fs) on wet weight (w.w.) and lipid weight (l.w.) basis in order to maximize comparability with other studies. Toxic equivalent quantities (TEQ) for DL-PCBs and PCDD/Fs were obtained using the World Health Organization (WHO)-2005 toxic equivalency factors (TEF) for mammals (Van Den Berg et al., 2006). Data for PCDD/Fs, DL-PCBs and TEQs are reported in upper bound (i.e. substitution of non-detected compounds for detection limit values). Statistical analyses were conducted with SigmaPlot for Windows version 14.5 (Systat Software Inc, CA, USA) and IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows version 28 (SPSS Inc, IL, USA).Log transformation was applied when needed to meet the criterion of normality when exploring possible relationships between variables. When log transformation did not achieve normality (Shapiro Wilk's test, section S2.3), nonparametric tests were applied. Pearson or Spearman's correlations were explored among study variables depending on the normality (Pearson) or non-normality of data (Spearman's). A minimum significance level of $\alpha = 0.05$ was set in this study. No statistically

Table 1

Mean, median, and range of total concentrations for PCBs, i-PCBs, DL-PCBs, PBDEs, PCDDs, PCDFs and total PCDD/Fs broken down by specimens' sex in samples of liver and muscle of blue sharks. Values are given in ng/g w.w. and (ng/g l.w.) for PCBs and PBDEs while pg/g w.w. and (pg/g l.w.) for PCDDs, PCDFs and PCDD/Fs.

sex	mean		median		range		
	liver	muscle	liver	muscle	liver	muscle	
both	223 (690)	0.858 (392)	157 (450)	0.530 (248)	12.7-1400 (37.1-4240)	0.080-4.01 (49.6-2650)	
M	217 (686)	0.831 (364)	163 (497)	0.677 (240)	12.7-785 (37.1-4240)	0.091-4.01 (67.7-2650)	
F	233 (696)	0.933 (439)	155 (417)	0.453 (354)	193-1400 (64.4-2830)	0.080-3.54 (49.6-1840)	
both	151 (461)	0.613 (282)	97.3 (313)	0.396 (159)	7.38–983 (21.6–2240)	0.046-3.10 (25.4-1810)	
M	137 (424)	0.558 (253)	102 (321)	0.399 (155)	7.38-684 (21.6-2240)	0.046-2.44 (29.3-1810)	
F	175 (526)	0.734 (345)	96.8 (261)	0.294 (286)	12.0-983 (40.1-1980)	0.061-3.10 (25.4-1610)	
both	72.2 (229)	0.245 (110)	47.6 (137)	0.160 (76.7)	5.32-420 (15.5-2320)	0.019–1.56 (15.3–839)	
M	80.4 (262)	0.273 (117)	57.0 (178)	0.201 (81.9)	5.32-340 (15.5-2320)	0.031-1.56 (17.8-839)	
F	58.0 (171)	0.199 (98.2)	35.9 (119)	0.141 (64.9)	6.74-420 (21.7-846)	0.019-0.895 (15.3-507)	
both	14.9 (46.8)	0.090 (44.0)	10.7 (29.7)	0.075 (28.6)	1.15-69.7 (3.83-335)	0.004-0.424 (1.55-316)	
M	15.6 (49.0)	0.101 (49.8)	10.9 (33.0)	0.089 (30.8)	1.59–57.3 (4.63–335)	0.004-0.424 (4.08-316)	
F	13.8 (43.0)	0.074 (35.1)	10.4 (29.0)	0.053 (25.7)	1.15–69.7 (3.83–141)	0.006-0.245 (1.55-143)	
both	2.49 (8.53)	0.320 (157)	2.28 (6.26)	0.227 (96.5)	1.07-8.48 (2.37-53.5)	0.069-2.71 (28.1-1190)	
M	2.37 (7.71)	0.225 (122)	2.10 (6.15)	0.189 (68.9)	1.28-6.86 (3.16-46.8)	0.069-0.600 (28.1-985)	
F	2.69 (9.94)	0.486 (220)	2.38 (7.00)	0.311 (174)	1.07-8.48 (2.37-53.5)	0.148-2.71 (68.3-1190)	
both	8.30 (27.2)	0.194 (95.8)	7.35 (19.8)	0.165 (65.8)	1.93–23.0 (5.51–157)	0.013-0.532 (6.10-456)	
M	7.46 (23.8)	0.166 (86.0)	6.84 (18.2)	0.156 (51.6)	1.93–23.0 (5.51–157)	0.013-0.296 (6.10-456)	
F	9.75 (33.2)	0.242 (113)	8.81 (24.7)	0.238 (110)	2.16-20.9 (6.55-106)	0.102-0.532 (26.7-181)	
both	10.8 (35.8)	0.514 (253)	9.64 (27.0)	0.402 (148)	3.27-29.8 (8.67-204)	0.082–2.96 (37.2–1440)	
м	9.83 (31.5)	0.392 (208)	8.87 (25.2)	0.341 (125)	3.27-29.8 (8.67-204)	0.082–0.878 (37.2–1440)	
F	12.4 (43.1)	0.727 (333)	11.4 (31.9)	0.549 (315)	3.70-25.8 (8.92-160)	0.306–2.96 (128–1300)	
	sex both M F both M F both M F both M F both M F both M F both M F	sex mean liver both 223 (690) M 217 (686) F 233 (696) both 151 (461) M 137 (424) F 175 (526) both 72.2 (229) M 80.4 (262) F 58.0 (171) both 14.9 (46.8) M 15.6 (49.0) F 13.8 (43.0) both 2.49 (8.53) M 2.69 (9.94) both 8.30 (27.2) M 7.46 (23.8) F 9.75 (33.2) both 10.8 (35.8) M 9.83 (31.5) F 12.4 (43.1)	mean liver muscle both 223 (690) 0.858 (392) M 217 (686) 0.831 (364) F 233 (696) 0.933 (439) both 151 (461) 0.613 (282) M 137 (424) 0.558 (253) F 175 (526) 0.734 (345) both 72.2 (229) 0.245 (110) M 80.4 (262) 0.273 (117) F 58.0 (171) 0.199 (98.2) both 14.9 (46.8) 0.090 (44.0) M 15.6 (49.0) 0.101 (49.8) F 13.8 (43.0) 0.074 (35.1) both 2.49 (853) 0.320 (157) M 2.37 (7.71) 0.225 (122) F 2.69 (9.94) 0.486 (220) both 8.30 (27.2) 0.194 (95.8) M 7.46 (23.8) 0.166 (86.0) F 9.75 (33.2) 0.242 (113) both 10.8 (35.8) 0.514 (253) M 9.83 (31.5) 0.514 (253) <t< td=""><td>sex mean median liver muscle liver both 223 (690) 0.858 (392) 157 (450) M 217 (686) 0.831 (364) 163 (497) F 233 (696) 0.933 (439) 155 (417) both 151 (461) 0.613 (282) 97.3 (313) M 137 (424) 0.558 (253) 102 (321) F 175 (526) 0.734 (345) 96.8 (261) both 72.2 (229) 0.245 (110) 47.6 (137) M 80.4 (262) 0.273 (117) 57.0 (178) F 58.0 (171) 0.199 (98.2) 35.9 (119) both 14.9 (46.8) 0.090 (44.0) 10.7 (29.7) M 15.6 (49.0) 0.101 (49.8) 10.9 (33.0) F 13.8 (43.0) 0.074 (35.1) 10.4 (29.0) both 2.49 (8.53) 0.320 (157) 2.28 (6.26) M 2.37 (7.71) 0.225 (122) 2.10 (6.15) F 2.69 (9.94) 0.486 (220) 2.38 (7.00)</td><td>sex mean median liver muscle liver muscle both 223 (690) 0.858 (392) 157 (450) 0.530 (248) M 217 (686) 0.831 (364) 163 (497) 0.677 (240) F 233 (696) 0.933 (439) 155 (417) 0.453 (354) both 151 (461) 0.613 (282) 97.3 (313) 0.396 (159) M 137 (424) 0.558 (253) 102 (321) 0.399 (155) F 175 (526) 0.734 (345) 96.8 (261) 0.294 (286) both 72.2 (229) 0.245 (110) 47.6 (137) 0.160 (76.7) M 80.4 (262) 0.273 (117) 57.0 (178) 0.201 (81.9) F 58.0 (171) 0.199 (98.2) 35.9 (119) 0.141 (64.9) both 14.9 (46.8) 0.090 (44.0) 10.7 (29.7) 0.075 (28.6) M 15.6 (49.0) 0.101 (49.8) 10.9 (33.0) 0.89 (30.8) F 13.8 (43.0) 0.074 (35.1) 10.4 (29.0) 0.053 (25.7)</td><td>$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \mbox{muscle} & \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline muscle & 12.7-1400 (37.1-4240) & M & 217 (686) & 0.858 (392) & 157 (450) & 0.530 (248) & 12.7-785 (37.1-4240) & F & 233 (696) & 0.933 (439) & 155 (417) & 0.453 (354) & 193-1400 (64.4-2830) & both & 151 (461) & 0.613 (282) & 97.3 (313) & 0.396 (159) & 7.38-983 (21.6-2240) & M & 137 (424) & 0.558 (253) & 102 (321) & 0.399 (155) & 7.38-684 (21.6-2240) & F & 175 (526) & 0.734 (345) & 96.8 (261) & 0.294 (286) & 12.0-983 (40.1-1980) & both & 72.2 (229) & 0.245 (110) & 47.6 (137) & 0.160 (76.7) & 5.32-420 (15.5-2320) & M & 80.4 (262) & 0.273 (117) & 57.0 (178) & 0.201 (81.9) & 5.32-340 (15.5-2320) & M & 80.4 (262) & 0.273 (117) & 57.0 (178) & 0.201 (81.9) & 5.32-340 (15.5-2320) & F & 58.0 (171) & 0.199 (98.2) & 35.9 (119) & 0.141 (64.9) & 6.74-420 (21.7-846) & both & 14.9 (46.8) & 0.090 (44.0) & 10.7 (29.7) & 0.075 (28.6) & 1.15-69.7 (3.83-335) & M & 15.6 (49.0) & 0.101 (49.8) & 10.9 (33.0) & 0.089 (30.8) & 1.59-57.3 (4.63-335) & F & 13.8 (43.0) & 0.074 (35.1) & 10.4 (29.0) & 0.053 (25.7) & 1.15-69.7 (3.83-335) & M & 15.6 (49.0) & 0.101 (49.8) & 10.9 (33.0) & 0.089 (30.8) & 1.59-57.3 (4.63-335) & F & 13.8 (43.0) & 0.074 (35.1) & 10.4 (29.0) & 0.553 (25.7) & 1.15-69.7 (3.83-135) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 1.07-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 1.07-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 & 0.55 & 0.51-157 & 0.57 &$</td></t<>	sex mean median liver muscle liver both 223 (690) 0.858 (392) 157 (450) M 217 (686) 0.831 (364) 163 (497) F 233 (696) 0.933 (439) 155 (417) both 151 (461) 0.613 (282) 97.3 (313) M 137 (424) 0.558 (253) 102 (321) F 175 (526) 0.734 (345) 96.8 (261) both 72.2 (229) 0.245 (110) 47.6 (137) M 80.4 (262) 0.273 (117) 57.0 (178) F 58.0 (171) 0.199 (98.2) 35.9 (119) both 14.9 (46.8) 0.090 (44.0) 10.7 (29.7) M 15.6 (49.0) 0.101 (49.8) 10.9 (33.0) F 13.8 (43.0) 0.074 (35.1) 10.4 (29.0) both 2.49 (8.53) 0.320 (157) 2.28 (6.26) M 2.37 (7.71) 0.225 (122) 2.10 (6.15) F 2.69 (9.94) 0.486 (220) 2.38 (7.00)	sex mean median liver muscle liver muscle both 223 (690) 0.858 (392) 157 (450) 0.530 (248) M 217 (686) 0.831 (364) 163 (497) 0.677 (240) F 233 (696) 0.933 (439) 155 (417) 0.453 (354) both 151 (461) 0.613 (282) 97.3 (313) 0.396 (159) M 137 (424) 0.558 (253) 102 (321) 0.399 (155) F 175 (526) 0.734 (345) 96.8 (261) 0.294 (286) both 72.2 (229) 0.245 (110) 47.6 (137) 0.160 (76.7) M 80.4 (262) 0.273 (117) 57.0 (178) 0.201 (81.9) F 58.0 (171) 0.199 (98.2) 35.9 (119) 0.141 (64.9) both 14.9 (46.8) 0.090 (44.0) 10.7 (29.7) 0.075 (28.6) M 15.6 (49.0) 0.101 (49.8) 10.9 (33.0) 0.89 (30.8) F 13.8 (43.0) 0.074 (35.1) 10.4 (29.0) 0.053 (25.7)	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c } \hline \mbox{muscle} & \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c } \hline muscle & 12.7-1400 (37.1-4240) & M & 217 (686) & 0.858 (392) & 157 (450) & 0.530 (248) & 12.7-785 (37.1-4240) & F & 233 (696) & 0.933 (439) & 155 (417) & 0.453 (354) & 193-1400 (64.4-2830) & both & 151 (461) & 0.613 (282) & 97.3 (313) & 0.396 (159) & 7.38-983 (21.6-2240) & M & 137 (424) & 0.558 (253) & 102 (321) & 0.399 (155) & 7.38-684 (21.6-2240) & F & 175 (526) & 0.734 (345) & 96.8 (261) & 0.294 (286) & 12.0-983 (40.1-1980) & both & 72.2 (229) & 0.245 (110) & 47.6 (137) & 0.160 (76.7) & 5.32-420 (15.5-2320) & M & 80.4 (262) & 0.273 (117) & 57.0 (178) & 0.201 (81.9) & 5.32-340 (15.5-2320) & M & 80.4 (262) & 0.273 (117) & 57.0 (178) & 0.201 (81.9) & 5.32-340 (15.5-2320) & F & 58.0 (171) & 0.199 (98.2) & 35.9 (119) & 0.141 (64.9) & 6.74-420 (21.7-846) & both & 14.9 (46.8) & 0.090 (44.0) & 10.7 (29.7) & 0.075 (28.6) & 1.15-69.7 (3.83-335) & M & 15.6 (49.0) & 0.101 (49.8) & 10.9 (33.0) & 0.089 (30.8) & 1.59-57.3 (4.63-335) & F & 13.8 (43.0) & 0.074 (35.1) & 10.4 (29.0) & 0.053 (25.7) & 1.15-69.7 (3.83-335) & M & 15.6 (49.0) & 0.101 (49.8) & 10.9 (33.0) & 0.089 (30.8) & 1.59-57.3 (4.63-335) & F & 13.8 (43.0) & 0.074 (35.1) & 10.4 (29.0) & 0.553 (25.7) & 1.15-69.7 (3.83-135) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 1.07-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 1.07-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 (96.5) & 0.17-8.48 (2.37-53.5) & 0.65 & 0.227 & 0.55 & 0.51-157 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 & 0.57 &$	

significant differences were found for the lipid content between sexes either on liver (Mann-Whitney, U(22,38) = 360, p = 0.374) or in muscle (*t*-test(58) = -1.525, p = 0.133). No statiscally significant correlation was found either in males nor females between tissues' lipid content and FL (Table S.2.3).

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Concentration values

In both liver and muscle samples the relative abundance of target contaminants followed the order PCBs > PBDEs ≫ PCDD/Fs. A summary of the pollutant concentrations broken down by specimen' sex is compiled in Table 1 and Figs. S2a-e. The ample range of values for most of these pollutants is posited to partially reflect differences in age, sex, feeding ecology, reproductive status, and the unknown overall health status of the sampled animals, as it has been described for cetaceans (Krahn et al., 2003) and other marine mammals and fish (Borgå et al., 2004). In the liver, loads of the three pollutant families were positively correlated among them (in w.w. and l.w.) and with the animals' fork length (FL) (Table S2.4., Spearman's $r_s = 0.419-0.948$ (w.w.) and 0.281–0.923 (l.w.), p < 0.05, marginally in the case of PCDD/Fs with FL, $r_s = 0.239$, p = 0.068 (w.w.) and 0.0945, p = 0.0547 (l.w.)). In muscle, only PCB and PBDE burdens were positively correlated between them and with FL (Pearson and Spearman's $r/r_s = 0.286-0.826$ (ww) and 0.238-0.835 (l.w.), p < 0.05, Table S2.4. Instead, PCDD/Fs were not correlated with other pollutants (no correlation in w.w. and marginally correlated in l.w.) and negatively correlated with FL (Table S2.4., Spearman's $r_s = -0.441$ (w.w.) and -0.404 (l.w.), p < 0.05).

Differences between adult and subadult specimens could only be explored in males since all females were subadults. In both liver and muscle samples, concentrations of pollutants were statiscally significantly greater in male adult specimens in comparison to subadult male animals (in w.w and l.w., Mann-Whitney, p < 0.05, see specific U values and significances in Table S2.5), except for the case of PCDD/Fs in muscle, for which higher values were found in subadults (Table S2.5) even though there were not statistically significant differences between the two groups (Mann-Whitney U(17,20) = 258, p = 0.073 (w.w.) and U (17,20) = 271, p = 0.168 (l.w.)). Overall, these results were consistent with ongoing bioaccumulation of PCBs and PBDEs that share common sources in contrast with those of PCDD/Fs that, with a general lower uptake, preferentially tend to accumulate in the liver while seemingly decreasing with age in the muscle.

3.2. Sex dependency

No statiscally significant differences (Mann-Whitney, p > 0.05, see specific U values and significances in Table S.2.6) were found for POPs depending on sexes, neither in liver or muscle concentrations (w.w. and l.w., Table 1 and S2.6), except for the content of PCDD/Fs in muscle that scored higher in females (Mann-Whitney, U(22,38) = 164 and 163, in w. w. and l.w, both with p < 0.001), revealing either tissue-dependent differences in toxicokinetics between males and females for these pollutants specifically, or a strong influence of the specimens' age and developmental status since all study females were subadults while about half of males were adults. Maternal offloading of POPs is known to be a route of exposure to sharks' offspring (Marler et al., 2018; Mull et al., 2013); however, it is also known that sharks' reproductive strategy (e.g. oviparity, aplacental or placental viviparity) may play an important role in the extent and congener profile of the offloading (Chynel et al., 2021; Lyons and Lowe, 2013). For instance (Lyons and Adams, 2015), estimated a 0.03-2.3% offloading of organohalogen contaminants to their embryo in the case of hammerhead female sharks (Sphyrna lewini). Alike the hammerhead, the blue shark is a species following a placental viviparity strategy (da Silva et al., 2021). Assuming a similar scale of POPs' mobilization during blue shark's gestation, the transferred

concentrations could represent an important load for the embryos, while, at the same time, not being high enough to make a measurable difference between male and females POP burdens. However, as previously stated, it should be stressed that based on their average size (130 \pm 17 cm) most study females could not be considered sexually mature (185 to >300 cm) (da Silva et al., 2021). Therefore, they could have not experienced any gestation and thus no maternal offloading is expected yet for these individuals.

3.3. Tissue dependency

Concentration values in wet weight were up to three orders of magnitude greater in liver than in muscle. This was expected upon the lipophilic nature of these contaminants and the high metabolic activity of the liver that count with a high degree of irrigation facilitating the access and accumulation of contaminants. It is also in line with what has been reported by other authors in blue and other shark species (Alves et al., 2016; Boldrocchi et al., 2019; Kibria et al., 2015; Strid et al., 2007). This great difference in concentration values between tissues is accentuated also due to the fact that shark muscle is known to be lipid deficient (Lyons et al., 2021). Thus, while the average lipid content in liver scored 34 \pm 9%, the same in muscle reached a reduced value of $0.26 \pm 0.11\%$. However, when the concentrations were normalized according to the lipid content, results changed notably. Concentrations of PCBs and PBDEs still tended to be higher in liver, although only for the former the difference was statistically significant (Mann-Whitney, U (60,60) = 96.00 p = 0.009). Interestingly, the content of PCDD/Fs in l.w. Became significantly greater in muscle than in liver (Mann-Whitney, U (60,60) = 85.00, p < 0.001). Differences in toxicokinetics and particularly in metabolism rates for each tissue could be argued as an explanation even though further research is needed to clarify this outcome. The detection frequency of PCDD/Fs in muscle was significantly lower than that in liver (Table S2.1); hence, many values in the former tissue corresponded to upperbound values. Since there were no statistically significant differences between LODs obtained in both tissues, the main explanatory hypothesis leans towards an overestimation of lipid weight concentrations owing to a biased calculation of such small lipid contents in muscle samples. Though this is expected to influence all contaminant concentrations, the effect was more conspicuous in PCDD/Fs for which total loads were well below those of PCBs and PBDEs in both tissues, and, particularly, in the muscle.

3.4. Concentration values in perspective with prior studies in the same area

The blue shark is a highly mobile species undergoing long-distance and complex oceanic migrations influenced by prey availability, age and even sex (da Silva et al., 2010; Queiroz et al., 2005). Rather than reflecting the pollution status linked to specific restricted locations, it appears more convenient to interpret their body burdens as integrators of the extant pollution over wider geographic areas such as, in this case, the Northeast Atlantic Ocean. Interestingly, when comparing concentrations found in this study with those reported in a study conducted on the same species sampled at the Portuguese coast in 2015 (Alves et al., 2016), mean values and ranges [mean; range] of PCBs were overall similar although somewhat smaller in both types of tissues: liver [328; 43.2-1160 ng/g ww] and muscle [1.12; 0.197-4.38 ng/g ww]. In the case of PCDD/Fs, the range of concentrations in this study were similar to that of Alves et al. (2016) in liver [0.541-7.97 pg/g ww for PCDDs and 1.78-26.9 pg/g ww for PCDFs], but higher in muscle [0.0251-0.313 pg/g ww for PCDDs and 0.0181–0.0563 pg/g ww for PCDFs]. Given that the average animals' size in this study (162 \pm 46 cm, range 101–251 cm) is greater than that in Alves et al., (2016) (juveniles ranging between 112 and 167 cm), it is unclear the reasons behind this finding, since muscle PCDD/Fs were negatively correlated with total length suggesting biodilution with age. Nevertheless, as PCDD/Fs followed a non-normal

distribution with the lowest detection frequency and the lowest abundancy among the study POPs, they are prone to show greater variability in the range of values found as a result of increasing the number of sampled specimens (60 in this study vs. 20 in Alves et al., 2016). This, along with a steady state of biotransformation in liver according to a general low uptake of PCDD/Fs, may partially justify the mismatch found between liver and muscle levels found between both studies.

On the other hand, levels of PBDEs (mean and range in ng/g w.w.) basically doubled those found in muscle [0.054; 0.018-0.131] and liver [7.631; 1.346–28.994] reported by Alves et al. (2016). Aside from the increase in bioaccumulation related to a greater size/age of the sampled animals, this picture is in line with some increasing trends observed for PBDEs in different areas, abiotic matrices and species (Abbasi et al., 2019; Addison et al., 2020; Roscales et al., 2018; Sharkey et al., 2020). This, in turn, is likely to reflect the shorter time elapsed since full regulations on PBDEs have taken place compared to those on PCBs and PCDD/Fs. This is especially the case of deca-BDE that is still unregulated in some parts of the globe (BSFE, 2022), accounts for many specific exemptions of use until 2036 from various members of the SC (Sharkey et al., 2020), and for which an increase in its use was anticipated partially driven by the earlier prohibitions on the penta- and octa-formulations. Furthermore, PBDE oceanic levels have been and continue to be heavily influenced by the role of plastics and microplastics as long-term sources of these flame retardants (among other chemicals) owing to their migration towards the marine environment, especially when diffusion from plastic matrices is enhanced by the digestive fluids from marine biota (Turner, 2022).

3.5. Concentration values in perspective with previous studies from other areas

PCBs in blue shark have been reported in muscle of specimens from the Brazilian coast (430 ng/g, l.w., sampled in 2001 (de Azevedo e Silva et al., 2007),) and from coastal waters of Korea (45.7 ng/g, l.w., sampled in 2010 (Lee et al., 2015a),). They have also been reported in liver from Mediterranean specimens (2480 and 679 ng/g l.w.) sampled in 1999-2001 (Storelli et al., 2005) and 2008 (Storelli et al., 2011). This ample variability in concentrations are likely to respond to clear differences in the pollution status among areas and sampling times. Although straightforward comparisons among different studies involving different analytical approaches should be avoided, it is worth noting that PCB values in this study are in the same order of magnitude or even higher than those from the mentioned areas within a temporal arch of around 20 years. As for PBDEs, concentration of these flame retardants have been described in muscle of specimens from coastal waters of Korea (7.70 ng/g lw, sampled in 2010 (Lee et al., 2015b),) and the Equatorial Atlantic Ocean (0.05 ng/g ww, sampled in 2014/2015 (Menezes-Sousa et al., 2021),). As with PCBs, comparisons among different studies must be exerted with caution, but it is worthwhile highlighting the greater values found in the specimens of this study -between 1 and 2 orders of magnitude higher-, in line with the discussed increase of PBDE values in general and for this species in the same area. To the best of our knowledge, besides (Alves et al., 2016) there is only one study reporting data on PCDD/Fs in blue sharks, specifically in liver of animals collected in 2008 in the South-Eastern Mediterranean Sea (Storelli et al., 2011), with an average of 189 pg/g lw and 368 pg/g lw for total PCDDs and PCDFs, respectively These values are one order of magnitude greater than what was found for the Atlantic specimens in this study (Table 1). Bearing again the duly caution in direct comparisons, these results seem to reveal differences on the pollution status depending on the sampling area and time.

3.6. Variability in congener profiles

The frequency of detection for each investigated congener is shown

in Table S2.1. Most PBDEs and all PCBs presented high detection rates in liver and muscle. For PCBs a shared pattern was found in both tissues for the most abundant congeners (Fig. 1) with PCB153 ($\sim 26\%$) > PCB118 $(20-21\%) \approx PCB138 (\sim 20\%) > PCB180 (\sim 12\%)$. With some variability, this picture mirrors what has been found for the same species in other studies conducted in different oceans (Alves et al., 2016; de Azevedo e Silva et al., 2007; Gilbert et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015a; Storelli et al., 2011), highlighting the recalcitrant characteristics of these congeners in general (Borja et al., 2005) and their resistance to metabolization by blue shark (BS) in particular. Interestingly, many of the rest of congeners showed distinct relative abundances depending on the tissue, indicating differences in their toxicokinetics (Fig. 2). The profile for the most toxic non-ortho congeners also varied between muscle and liver. In both tissues PCB 77 accounted for the highest contribution, followed by PCB 126 > PCB 169 > PCB 81. This pattern of abundance mostly reflects on that of technical formulations and has been widely described in multiple marine species (e.g fish, shellfish, crustaceans, cephalopods (Bartalini et al., 2020)). It is similar to that reported in BS by Alves et al. (2016) although different to that found in Mediterranean BS by Storelli et al. (2011) (PCB 126 > 77 > 169), which is likely to reveal differences in regional PCB pollution. It is worth noting, however, that the relative abundances of PCBs 77 and 81 are notably smaller in liver. This along with the lower ratio PCB126/169 underscores the major metabolic capabilities of this tissue towards these congeners (Storelli et al., 2004).

Most PBDEs showed conspicuous differences in their relative abundances in each tissue, including the three mayor BDE congeners (Fig. 3): PBDE 47(\sim 39–50%, muscle-liver) > PBDE 100(\sim 14–19%) > PBDE 154 (\sim 11–15%). The predominance of these three congeners is loosely in consonance with what has been found in liver and muscle for many shark species from different geographical areas such as waters from South Korea (Lee et al., 2015b), Japan (Nakajima et al., 2022) or southeastern USA (Weijs et al., 2015), suggesting a common behavior from a toxicokinetic perspective. Interestingly, the relative abundance profile for each congener in this study was analogous to that reported by Alves et al. (2016) on BS specimens collected in the same area. At the same time, it showed more dissimilarities with those reported for BS from the Southwest Atlantic and Indian-Pacific Oceans (Lee et al., 2015b; Menezes-Sousa et al., 2021), which appears to reflect different PBDE environmental loads.

Differences on tissue abundance heightened in the case of higher brominated congeners (hepta-to deca-). These were markedly bioaccumulated in muscle owing to different toxicokinetic behaviors, most likely pertaining to metabolic capabilities of each tissue. The example of BDE 209 is paradigmatic as it is assumed to have a low potential to bioaccumulate and biomagnify in aquatic food webs derived from its low bioavailability based on its large molecular weight (959 Da) and high hydrophobicity (Lee and Kim, 2015). Due to the enormous production and use of the commercial deca-BDE mix, this congener is today predominantly found in marine abiotic media such as sediments (Zhang et al., 2016). In this study, relative abundances of 14 and 0.3% in muscle and liver, respectively, seem to indicate a readily metabolization of this congener in the liver, despite its high Log K_{ow} (9.8 (Bao et al., 2011),) which, in principle, should favor its accumulation in this organ instead of the lean blue shark' muscle. There is paucity of data pertaining BDE 209 in marine species including sharks; nevertheless, a tissue-specific accumulation of BDE 209 has been reported in teleost fish such as Solea (Munschy et al., 2017) and harbor seals (Shaw et al., 2012), in both cases with preferential bioaccumulation in liver. Regarding sharks, a recent study by Nakajima et al. (2022) could not detect BDE 209 in liver from up to eight different species of deep-sea sharks from Japanese waters, though the average content of PBDEs was indeed relatively comparable with what found in blue sharks' liver in this study. Interestingly, Lee et al. (2015b) detected BDE 209 in just 4.8% of the muscle samples from 13 different shark species investigated that included BS; an outcome perhaps explained by the relatively high detection limit reached by these authors (0.63 ng/g w.w. vs. 0.006 ng/g w.w. in this





Fig. 2. Average PCB congener profile in muscle and liver of study blue sharks for all PCBs (A) and for non-ortho PCBs (B). Error bars represent standard errors (SE).



Fig. 3. Average PBDE congener profile in muscle and liver of study blue sharks. Error bars represent standard errors (SE).
study). All in all, data suggest that the factor species may play a vital role in the toxicokinetics involved for this pollutant, paving the need of further investigation in other elasmobranchs for this apparently favored biotransformation of BDE 209 in liver.

As was observed for PBDEs, although with a much reduced detection rate especially in muscle (Table S2.1), the abundance profile for PCDD/F congeners was also markedly tissue dependent (Fig. 4). PCDDs accounted for 23% and 63% of the total PCDD/F content in liver and muscle, respectively, with complementary percentages of 77% and 37% for PCDFs. Congeners OCDD (~22%) and 1,2,3,4,6,7,8-HpCD (~11%) were dominant in muscle, while a noticeable predominance of 2,3,7,8-TCDF (~29%) > 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF (~23%) > 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF (~8%) was found in liver. This profile of relative abundance is remarkably close to that found by Alves et al. (2016) in Atlantic specimens before, and yet very different from the only two studies - to the best of our knowledge reporting PCDD/Fs in sharks: Storelli et al. (2011) in Mediterranean BS (34% and 66% of PCDDs and PCDFs in liver with 2,3,7,8-TCDF > 2,3,7,8-TCDD > 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD > 2,3,4,6,7,8-HxCDF as major contributors) and Strid et al. (2007) in Greenland sharks from Icelandic waters (22% and 77% for PCDDs and PCDFs in muscle while 13% and 87%, respectively, in liver, with overall predominance of 2,3,7,8-TCDF, no detection of octa-congeners, and variable but important contributions of 2,3,4,7,8-PeCDF; 2,3,7,8-TCDD; 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDF; 1,2,3,7,8-PeCDD and 1,2,3,6,7,8-HxCDD). Apart from the common prevalence of 2,3,7, 8-TCDF in liver, and without ruling out inter-species differences in the toxicokinetics of these pollutants, the clear dissimilarities for the homolog groups' abundance among these studies are likely to respond to different regional (and temporal) pollution fingerprints.

3.7. Toxicity and compliance with legal limits

Potential adverse effects of POPs on elasmobranch's health remain poorly studied and in consequence toxic thresholds are yet to be established. For marine mammals, in blubber, commonly used toxic thresholds are 1500 ng/g l.w. for PBDEs (set for endocrine disruption in grey seals (Hall et al., 2003)) or 9 μ g/g l.w. for PCBs (onset of physiological impacts (Jepson et al., 2016)). No animal in this study reached those limits, with average values of PCBs and PBDEs scoring from one to three orders of magnitude lower instead (Table 1). However, as previously stated, more investigations are needed to evaluate possible impacts of these POP concentrations in BS populations.

Values in upper bound WHO-TEQ₂₀₀₅ were calculated based on DL-PCB and PCDD/F concentrations in order to quantify their toxicity potential against humans (Table 2). Due to the conspicuous toxicokinetics' variability discussed for these pollutants on each tissue, notable

differences between liver and muscle were observed not only in total values (two orders of magnitude higher in liver on average), but also in the relative contributions to total TEQs. Thus, while DL-PCBs in liver accounted for \sim 88% of total TEQs, PCDD/Fs were responsible of \sim 77% of total TEQs in muscle (with PCDDs alone responsible for \sim 63%). Regarding sharks as food products, at European level Regulation 1259/ 2011 and Directive 2013/39/EU set a maximum level (ML) in muscle meat of fish and fishery products of 6.5 pg WHO-TEQ/g (w.w.) for PCDD/Fs and DL-PCBs and a ML of 75 ng/g (w.w.) for the six i-PCBs. Additionally, Regulation 1259/2011 also establishes a maximum of 3.5 pg WHO-TEQ/g (w.w.) just for PCDD/Fs. As previously stated, shark livers are not commonly part of the human diet, although the consumption of liver-derived products is not rare. In this study, about 58% of liver samples exceeded the ML for the i-PCBs, ~78% did the same for the 7.5 pg TEQ/g limit when considering PCDD/Fs + DL-PCBs, and about 38% exceeded the limit of 3.5 pg TEQ/g when considering just PCDD/Fs. On the other hand, shark meat in different forms (fins or fillets) is consumed in many parts of the world. Yet values found in muscle for all these parameters fall well below - from one to two orders of magnitude - the established limits, and so do not seem to pose significant risks for human health. For instance, assuming the average value of 0.115 pg WHO-TEQ/g for total TEQs in muscle obtained in this study along with an average human body weight of 70 Kg, a consumption per person of over 1.2 Kg of BS muscle alone per week would be needed to meet the conservative's EFSA's tolerable weekly intake (TWI) of 2 pg WHO-TEQ/Kg body weight/week for dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in food (Knutsen et al., 2018). To put this figure in context, according to FAOSTAST (https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FBS), the weekly consumption of pelagic fish in 2019 in Portugal and Spain (top two fish consumers in the European Union) per person was ~ 0.22 Kg and ~ 0.15 Kg, respectively.

Pertaining PBDEs (considering congeners BDE-28, -47, -99, -10, -153 and -154), the European Water Framework Directive (WFD) establishes the value of 0.0085 ng/g w.w. Environmental quality standard (EQS) for biota based on human toxicity. As a result of such a reduced value, 100% and 92% of liver and muscle samples, respectively, overpassed this EQS. This picture is common to most studies, raising up criticising about the usefulness of a such small environmental limit that systematically is exceeded (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2021). To the best of our knowledge there is no TWI established for PBDEs. Yet, for congeners BDE-47, -99, -153 and -209 the US Environmental protection Agency set out chronic oral reference doses whereas the US Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry set out acute/subchronic minimal risk levels. Values for these limits were congener-dependent varying from 100 ng/kg/day (BDE-47 and -99) to 7000 ng/Kg/day (BDE-209). The



Fig. 4. Average PCDD/F congener profile in muscle and liver of study blue sharks. Error bars represent standard errors (SE).

Table 2

TEQs for DL-PCBs, PCDDs, PCDDs and PCDD/s, and average contribution to total TEQs calculated for samples of liver and muscle of blue sharks. Data are given in pg WHO-TEQ/g w.w and (pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w) and are showed as mean, median and range.

WHO-TEQ ₂₀₀₅	Average	e contribution (%)	mean		median		range			
	liver	muscle	liver	muscle	liver	muscle	liver	muscle		
TOTAL	100	100	17.1 (85.8)	0.115 (54.3)	14.4 (66.0)	0.108 (42.3)	2.52-108 (19.1-709)	0.070-0.340 (16.1-205)		
TEQ _{DL-PCBs}	88.2	23.0	15.1 (50.0)	0.027 (12.1)	11.1 (31.5)	0.022 (9.46)	1.88-101 (4.62-689)	0.005-0.105 (1.05-80.7)		
TEQ _{PCDDs}	4.7	63.3	0.807 (2.81)	0.073 (34.5)	0.630 (1.81)	0.064 (24.1)	0.228-3.06 (0.584-20.9)	0.042-0.244 (9.89-97.1)		
TEQ _{PCDFs}	7.1	13.7	1.21 (3.99)	0.016 (7.61)	1.07 (2.67)	0.014 (5.01)	0.178-3.70 (0.544-25.3)	0.008-0.044 (1.99-30.1)		
TEQ _{PCDD/Fs}	11.8	77.0	2.02 (6.79)	0.088 (42.2)	1.61 (5.28)	0.077 (29.0)	0.592-6.76 (1.57-46.1)	0.053-0.288 (12.1-125)		

highest value found in this study for total PBDEs in BS was 69.7 ng/g in liver, which would translate into a figure of 29.9 ng/kg/day assuming an average body weight of 70 Kg and the highest Portuguese daily pelagic fish consumption of 0.03 Kg/day; therefore, an absence of risk in regard to PBDEs associated with the consumption of the study BS could be inferred from these values.

4. Conclusions

Today elasmobranchs are facing important pressures such as overfishing and chemical pollution. Overall, this study contributes to enhance our knowledge on the occurrence, distribution, and fate of POPs in Atlantic blue sharks, which are among the most abundant species of elasmobranchs and the most commonly by-catched. Our results suggested differences in POPs' toxicokinetics for the two tissues investigated, i.e. liver and muscle. As expected, a greater accumulation was found for many PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs in liver. Concurrently, this tissue's higher biotransformation rate seemed to hinder this same pattern for all POPs. Among the most conspicuous cases were those of higher brominated PBDEs, particularly BDE 209 that appeared to be readily metabolized in liver while bioaccumulating in muscle. Inconsistent data from other shark species in this regard calls for further investigation to gauge the species factor for such behavior.

Under the comparative framework drew by previous studies with BS, results from this research showed relatively steady concentrations of PCBs and PCDD/Fs, whereas greater loads of PBDEs. This builds up on the existing data from other media, and particularly in the marine environment. Interestingly, this may also reflect the contribution of multiple factors such as the more recent and globally incomplete regulations on PBDEs, as well as heightened PBDE burdens derived today from plastics and microplastics. All in all, similarities as well as marked differences with pollutants' abundance profiles reported in other studies highlighted the role of BS as bioindicators of the degree and fingerprints of regional pollution by POPs.

The relevance of the POP loads found for the health of the animals is unknown because of the lack of toxic thresholds in BS or any other elasmobranch. Concentrations were, however, below the lowest thresholds identified in marine mammals for PCBs and PBDEs. From a human consumption perspective, the concentrations found in muscle –the most consumed part of sharks – were compliant with European PCB and PCDD/F legal limits. Conversely, most liver samples overpassed limits for i-PCBs and WHO-TEQs, which may be of importance when considering the consumption of oil-related products. Regarding PBDEs, the extremely low values set by the European WFD meant a generalized non-compliance of the samples analysed in this study, which adds to the open debate about the existence of such unreachable legal values.

Credit author statement

Juan Muñoz-Arnanz: Analytical Methodology, Data curation, Investigation, Writing – original draft. Alice Bartalini: Analytical Methodology, Writing – Reviewing and Editing. Luís Alves: Investigation; Writing – Reviewing and Editing. Marco Lemos: Conceptualization, Writing – Reviewing and Editing. Sara Novais: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition. Begoña Jiménez: Supervision, Writing – Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank María Ros, Belén Ruiz, Estela Nogales, Santiago Virseda, Pablo Poza and Enrique Ávila for their lab contributions. Funding for this work was obtained by Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FCT) through the project BLUESHARKER (PTDC/CTA-AMB/29136/2017), co-financed by COMPETE2020 (POCI-01-0145-FEDER-029136), the Strategic Project granted to MARE – Marine and Environmental Sciences Centre (UIDB/04292/2020 and UIDP/04292/2020), and the project granted to the Associate Laboratory ARNET (LA/P/0069/2020). Luis M.F. Alves also wish to acknowledge the financial support given by FCT (SFRH/BD/122082/2016). Sara Novais is funded by national funds through FCT, in the scope of the framework contract foreseen in the numbers 4, 5, and 6 of the article 23, of the Decree-Law 57/2016, of August 29, changed by Law 57/2017, of July 19.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2022.119750.

References

- Abbasi, G., Li, L., Breivik, K., 2019. Global historical stocks and emissions of PBDEs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53, 6330–6340. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.8B07032/ SUPPL_FILE/ES8B07032_SI_001.PDF.
- Addison, R.F., Muir, D.C.G., Ikonomou, M.G., Dubetz, C., Smith, T.G., Alikamik, J., 2020. Temporal trends in polybrominated diphenylethers (PBDEs) in blubber of ringed seals (pusa hispida) from Ulukhaktok, NT, Canada between 1981 and 2015. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 79, 167–176. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00244-020-00749-4.
- Alves, L.M.F., Lemos, M.F.L., Cabral, H., Novais, S.C., 2022. Elasmobranchs as bioindicators of pollution in the marine environment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 176, 113418 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2022.113418.
- Alves, L.M.F., Nunes, M., Marchand, P., Le Bizec, B., Mendes, S., Correia, J.P.S., Lemos, M.F.L., Novais, S.C., 2016. Blue sharks (Prionace glauca) as bioindicators of pollution and health in the Atlantic Ocean: contamination levels and biochemical stress responses. Sci. Total Environ. 563 (564), 282–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2016.04.085.
- Bao, L.J., You, J., Zeng, E.Y., 2011. Sorption of PBDE in low-density polyethylene film: implications for bioavailability of BDE-209. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 30, 1731–1738. https://doi.org/10.1002/ETC.564.
- Barrera-García, A., O'Hara, T., Galván-Magaña, F., Méndez-Rodríguez, L.C., Castellini, J. M., Zenteno-Savín, T., 2013. Trace elements and oxidative stress indicators in the liver and kidney of the blue shark (Prionace glauca). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 165, 483–490. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CBPA.2013.01.024.

- Barrera-García, A., O'Hara, T., Galván-Magaña, F., Méndez-Rodríguez, L.C., Castellini, J. M., Zenteno-Savín, T., 2012. Oxidative stress indicators and trace elements in the blue shark (Prionace glauca) off the east coast of the Mexican Pacific Ocean. Comp. Biochem. Physiol., Part C: Toxicol. Pharmacol. 156, 59–66. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CBPC.2012.04.003.
- Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Baini, M., Panti, C., Galli, M., Giani, D., Fossi, M.C., Jiménez, B., 2020. Relevance of current PCB concentrations in edible fish species from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 737, 139520 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.139520.
- Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Marsili, L., Mazzariol, S., Fossi, M.C., Jiménez, B., 2019. Evaluation of PCDD/Fs, dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs in sperm whales from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 653 https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2018.10.436.
- Boldrocchi, G., Monticelli, D., Omar, Y.M., Bettinetti, R., 2019. Trace elements and POPs in two commercial shark species from Djibouti: implications for human exposure. Sci. Total Environ. 669, 637–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2019.03.122.
- Borgå, K., Fisk, A.T., Hoekstra, P.F., Muir, D.C.G., 2004. Biological and chemical factors of importance in the bioaccumulation and trophic transfer of persistent organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food webs. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 23, 2367–2385. https://doi.org/10.1897/03-518.
- Borja, J., Taleon, D.M., Auresenia, J., Gallardo, S., 2005. Polychlorinated biphenyls and their biodegradation. Process Biochem. 40, 1999–2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. PROCBIO.2004.08.006.
- Bornatowski, H., Braga, R.R., Simões Vitule, J.R., 2013. Shark mislabeling threatens biodiversity. Science 340, 923. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.340.6135.923-A/ ASSET/20BBABB9-477F-44E0-BC51-594963B55A0A/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/340_ 923A FLJPEG, 80.
- Brusseau, M.L., 2019. Sustainable development and other solutions to pollution and global change. Environ. Pollut. Sci. 585–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814719-1.00032-X.
- Cardeñosa, D., 2019. Genetic identification of threatened shark species in pet food and beauty care products. Conserv. Genet. 20, 1383–1387. https://doi.org/10.1007/ S10592-019-01221-0/FIGURES/1.
- Castro-Jiménez, J., Ba, D., Chen, C.-T., Jiménez, J., Muñ Oz-Arnanz, J., Ve Deviller, G., Sempéré, R., 2021. Persistent Organic Pollutants Burden, Trophic Magnification and Risk in a Pelagic Food Web from Coastal NW Mediterranean Sea. Cite This Environ. Sci. Technol 55, 9568. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.1c00904.
- Chynel, M., Munschy, C., Bely, N., Héas-Moisan, K., Pollono, C., Jaquemet, S., 2021. Legacy and emerging organic contaminants in two sympatric shark species from Reunion Island (Southwest Indian Ocean): levels, profiles and maternal transfer. Sci. Total Environ. 751, 141807 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.141807.
- Coelho, R., Fernandez-Carvalho, J., Lino, P.G., Santos, M.N., 2012. An overview of the hooking mortality of elasmobranchs caught in a swordfish pelagic longline fishery in the Atlantic Ocean. Aquat. Living Resour. 25, 311–319. https://doi.org/10.1051/ ALR/2012030.
- da Silva, C., Kerwath, S., Wilke, C., Meÿer, M., Lamberth, S., 2010. First documented southern transatlantic migration of a blue shark Prionace glauca tagged off South Africa. Taylor Fr 32, 639–642. https://doi.org/10.2989/1814232X.2010.540777.
- da Silva, T.E.F., Lessa, R., Santana, F.M., 2021. Current knowledge on biology, fishing and conservation of the blue shark (Prionace glauca). Neotrop. Biol. Conserv. 16 (1), 71–88. https://doi.org/10.3897/NEOTROPICAL.16.E58691, 16, 71–88.
- de Azevedo e Silva, C.E., Azeredo, A., Lailson-Brito, J., Torres, J.P.M., Malm, O., 2007. Polychlorinated biphenyls and DDT in swordfish (Xiphias gladius) and blue shark (Prionace glauca) from Brazilian coast. Chemosphere 67, S48–S53. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2006.05.089.

 Dent, F., Clarke, S., 2015. State of the global market for shark products. FAO Fish. Aquac. Tech. Pap. (590), I,III,IV,VII,VIII 1–159, 161-167,169-179,181-185,18.
 FAO Species Fact Sheets, 2021. Prionace glauca (Linnaeus, 1758).

- Froescheis, O., Looser, R., Cailliet, G.M., Jarman, W.M., Ballschmiter, K., 2000. The deepsea as a final global sink of semivolatile persistent organic pollutants? Part I: PCBs in surface and deep-sea dwelling fish of the North and South Atlantic and the Monterey Bay Canyon (California). Chemosphere 40, 651–660. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0045-6535(99)00461-0.
- Gilbert, J.M., Baduel, C., Li, Y., Reichelt-Brushett, A.J., Butcher, P.A., McGrath, S.P., Peddemors, V.M., Hearn, L., Mueller, J., Christidis, L., 2015. Bioaccumulation of PCBs in liver tissue of dusky Carcharhinus obscurus, sandbar C. plumbeus and white Carcharodon carcharias sharks from south-eastern Australian waters. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 101, 908–913. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2015.10.071.
- Hall, A.J., Kalantzi, O.I., Thomas, G.O., 2003. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in grey seals during their first year of life - are they thyroid hormone endocrine disrupters? Environ. Pollut. 126, 29–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(03) 00149-0.
- Hellberg, R.S., Dewitt, C.A.M., Morrissey, M.T., 2012. Risk-benefit analysis of seafood consumption: a review. Compr. Rev. Food Sci. Food Saf. 11, 490–517. https://doi. org/10.1111/J.1541-4337.2012.00200.X.
- IUCN, 2018. Prionace glauca (Blue Shark) [WWW Document]. Prionace glauca. IUCN Red List Threat. Species. URL. https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/39381/29158 50. accessed 2.21.22.
- Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., Ten Doeschate, M., Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., De Stephanis, R., Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A., Law, R.J., 2016. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of

orcas and other dolphins in European waters. Sci. Rep. 61 6, 1–17. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/srep18573, 2016.

- Jones, K.C., 2021. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) and related chemicals in the global environment: some personal reflections. Cite This Environ. Sci. Technol 55, 9400–9412. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c08093.
- Jones, K.C., De Voogt, P., 1999. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs): state of the science. Environ. Pollut. 100, 209–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00098-6.
- Jurado, E., Lohmann, R., Meijer, S., Jones, K.C., Dachs, J., 2004. Latitudinal and seasonal capacity of the surface oceans as a reservoir of polychlorinated biphenyls. Environ. Pollut. 128, 149–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2003.08.039.
- Kibria, G., Haroon, Y., Haroon, A.K.Y., 2015. Pollutants Bioaccumulation in Sharks and Shark Seafood Security FAO under the BOBLME Project (Pollution Monitoring in Bangladesh (AM Technology) (FAOBGLOA2014-031) View Project Education and Research on Climate Change, Pollution and Waste in South East & South Asia View Project Pollutant's Bioaccumulation in Sharks and Shark Seafood Security. https:// doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.1529.3926/1.
- Knutsen, H.K., Alexander, J., Barregård, L., Bignami, M., Brüschweiler, B., Ceccatelli, S., Cottrill, B., Dinovi, M., Edler, L., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Nebbia, C.S., Oswald, I.P., Petersen, A., Rose, M., Roudot, A.C., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Vollmer, G., Wallace, H., Fürst, P., Håkansson, H., Halldorsson, T., Lundebye, A.K., Pohjanvirta, R., Rylander, L., Smith, A., van Loveren, H., Waalkens-Berendsen, I., Zeilmaker, M., Binaglia, M., Gómez Ruiz, J.Á., Horváth, Z., Christoph, E., Ciccolallo, L., Ramos Bordajandi, L., Steinkellner, H., Hoogenboom, L., Ron,), 2018. Risk for animal and human health related to the presence of dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in feed and food. EFSA J. 16, e05333 https://doi.org/10.2903/J. EFSA.2018.5333.
- Krahn, M.M., Ylitalo, G.M., Stein, J.E., Aguilar, A., Borrell, A., 2003. Organochlorine contaminants in cetaceans: how to facilitate interpretation and avoid errors when comparing datasets. J. Cetacean Res. Manag. 5 (2), 103–113.
- Lee, H.J., Kim, G.B., 2015. An overview of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in the marine environment. Ocean Sci. J. 502 50, 119–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/ S12601-015-0010-8, 2015.
- Lee, H.K., Jeong, Y., Lee, S., Jeong, W., Choy, E.J., Kang, C.K., Lee, W.C., Kim, S.J., Moon, H.B., 2015a. Persistent organochlorines in 13 shark species from offshore and coastal waters of Korea: species-specific accumulation and contributing factors. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 115, 195–202. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ECOENV.2015.02.021.
- Lee, H.K., Kim, S.J., Jeong, Y., Lee, S., Jeong, W., Lee, W.C., Choy, E.J., Kang, C.K., Moon, H.B., 2015b. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in thirteen shark species from offshore and coastal waters of Korea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 95, 374–379. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2015.04.018.
- Lyons, K., Adams, D.H., 2015. Maternal offloading of organochlorine contaminants in the yolk-sac placental scalloped hammerhead shark (Sphyrna lewini). Ecotoxicology 24, 553–562. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10646-014-1403-7/FIGURES/4.
- Lyons, K., Adams, D.H., Bizzarro, J.J., 2021. Evaluation of muscle tissue as a non-lethal proxy for liver and brain organic contaminant loads in an elasmobranch, the Bonnethead Shark (Sphyrna tiburo). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 167, 112327 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2021.112327.
- Lyons, K., Lowe, C.G., 2013. Quantification of maternal offloading of organic contaminants in elasmobranchs using the histotrophic round stingray (urobatis halleri) as a model. Environ. Sci. Technol. 47, 12450–12458. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/ES402347D/SUPPL_FILE/ES402347D_SI_001.PDF.
- Marler, H., Adams, D.H., Wu, Y., Nielsen, C.K., Shen, L., Reiner, E.J., Chen, D., 2018. Maternal transfer of flame retardants in sharks from the western North Atlantic Ocean. ACS Publ 52, 12978–12986. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b01613.
- Menezes-Sousa, D., Alonso, M.B., Pizzochero, A.C., Viana, D., Roque, P., Hazin, F.H.V., Torres, J.P.M., 2021. Equatorial Atlantic pelagic predators reveal low content of PBDEs in contrast to MeO-BDEs: an analysis of brominated diphenyl ethers in blue shark and yellowfin tuna. Sci. Total Environ. 788, 147820 https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.SCITOTENV.2021.147820.
- Morales, L., Dachs, J., Fernández-Pinos, M.C., Berrojalbiz, N., Mompean, C., González-Gaya, B., Jiménez, B., Bode, A., Ábalos, M., Abad, E., 2015. Oceanic sink and biogeochemical controls on the accumulation of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins, dibenzofurans, and biphenyls in plankton. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49, 13853–13861. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS.EST.5B01360/SUPPL_FILE/ES5B01360_SI_001.PDF.
- Mull, C.G., Lyons, K., Blasius, M.E., Winkler, C., O'Sullivan, J.B., Lowe, C.G., 2013. Evidence of maternal offloading of organic contaminants in white sharks (Carcharodon carcharias). PLoS One 8, e62886. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL. PONE.0062886.
- Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Roscales, J.L., Vicente, A., Ros, M., Barrios, L., Morales, L., Abad, E., Jiménez, B., 2018. Assessment of POPs in air from Spain using passive sampling from 2008 to 2015. Part II: spatial and temporal observations of PCDD/Fs and dl-PCBs. Sci. Total Environ. 634, 1669–1679. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. SCITOTENV.2018.04.164.
- Munschy, C., Bely, N., Héas-Moisan, K., Olivier, N., Loizeau, V., 2017. Tissue-specific distribution and maternal transfer of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and their metabolites in adult common sole (Solea solea L.) over an entire reproduction cycle. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 145, 457–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ECOENV.2017.07.062.
- Nakajima, R., Kawato, M., Fujiwara, Y., Tsuchida, S., Ritchie, H., Fujikura, K., 2022. Occurrence and levels of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in deep-sea sharks from Suruga Bay, Japan. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 176, 113427 https://doi.org/10.1016/J. MARPOLBUL.2022.113427.
- Pazartzi, T., Siaperopoulou, S., Gubili, C., Maradidou, S., Loukovitis, D., Chatzispyrou, A., Griffiths, A.M., Minos, G., Imsiridou, A., 2019. High levels of mislabeling in shark meat – investigating patterns of species utilization with DNA

J. Muñoz-Arnanz et al.

barcoding in Greek retailers. Food Control 98, 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. FOODCONT.2018.11.019.

- Queiroz, N., Lima, F.P., Maia, A., Ribeiro P, P.A, Correia, J.P, Santos, A.M., 2005. Movement of blue shark, Prionace glauca, in the north-east Atlantic based on markrecapture data. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 85, 1107. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315405012154.
- Roscales, J.L., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Ros, M., Vicente, A., Barrios, L., Jiménez, B., 2018. Assessment of POPs in air from Spain using passive sampling from 2008 to 2015. Part I: spatial and temporal observations of PBDEs. Sci. Total Environ. 634, 1657–1668. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.043.
- Sharkey, M., Harrad, S., Abou-Elwafa Abdallah, M., Drage, D.S., Berresheim, H., 2020. Phasing-out of legacy brominated flame retardants: the UNEP Stockholm Convention and other legislative action worldwide. Environ. Int. 144, 106041 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.ENVINT.2020.106041.
- Shaw, S.D., Berger, M.L., Weijs, L., Covaci, A., 2012. Tissue-specific accumulation of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) including Deca-BDE and hexabromocyclododecanes (HBCDs) in harbor seals from the northwest Atlantic. Environ. Int. 44, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVINT.2012.01.001.
- Storelli, M.M., Barone, G., Storelli, A., Marcotrigiano, G.O., 2011. Levels and congener profiles of PCBs and PCDD/Fs in blue shark (Prionace glauca) liver from the South-Eastern Mediterranean Sea (Italy). Chemosphere 82, 37–42. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2010.10.014.
- Storelli, M.M., Storelli, A., Barone, G., Marcotrigiano, G.O., 2004. Polychlorinated biphenyl and organochlorine pesticide residues in Lophius budegassa from the Mediterranean Sea (Italy). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48, 743–748. https://doi.org/10.1016/ J.MARPOLBUL.2003.10.026.
- Storelli, M.M., Storelli, A., Marcotrigiano, G.O., 2005. Concentrations and hazard assessment of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides in shark liver from the Mediterranean Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 50, 850–855. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2005.02.023.
- Strid, A., Jörundsdóttir, H., Päpke, O., Svavarsson, J., Bergman, Å., 2007. Dioxins and PCBs in Greenland shark (Somniosus microcephalus) from the North-east Atlantic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 54, 1514–1522. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. MARPOLBUL.2007.04.018.
- Tiktak, G.P., Butcher, D., Lawrence, P.J., Norrey, J., Bradley, L., Shaw, K., Preziosi, R., Megson, D., 2020. Are concentrations of pollutants in sharks, rays and skates

(Elasmobranchii) a cause for concern? A systematic review. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 160, 111701 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MARPOLBUL.2020.111701.

- Turner, A., 2022. PBDEs in the marine environment: sources, pathways and the role of microplastics. Environ. Pollut. 301, 118943. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVPOL.2022.118943.
- UNEP, 2017. Towards a Pollution-free Planet: Background Report. UNEP UN Environment Programme [WWW Document]. URL https://www.unep.org/resource s/report/towards-pollution-free-planet-background-report. accessed 2.23.22.
- UNEP, 2004. Stockholm Convention Home page [WWW Document]. URL. http://www. pops.int/. accessed 3.30.22.
- Van Den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L.S., Denison, M., De Vito, M., Farland, W., Feeley, M., Fiedler, H., Hakansson, H., Hanberg, A., Haws, L., Rose, M., Safe, S., Schrenk, D., Tohyama, C., Tritscher, A., Tuomisto, J., Tysklind, M., Walker, N., Peterson, R.E., 2006. The 2005 World health organization reevaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds. Toxicol. Sci. 93, 223–241. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl055.
- Wainwright, B.J., Ip, Y.C.A., Neo, M.L., Chang, J.J.M., Gan, C.Z., Clark-Shen, N., Huang, D., Rao, M., 2018. DNA barcoding of traded shark fins, meat and mobulid gill plates in Singapore uncovers numerous threatened species. Conserv. Genet. 19, 1393–1399. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10592-018-1108-1/TABLES/1.
- Wang, Z., Adu-Kumi, S., Diamond, M.L., Guardans, R., Harner, T., Harte, A., Kajiwara, N., Klánová, J., Liu, J., Moreira, E.G., Muir, D.C.G., Suzuki, N., Pinas, V., Seppälä, T., Weber, R., Yuan, B., 2022. Enhancing scientific support for the Stockholm convention's implementation: an analysis of policy needs for scientific evidence. Environ. Sci. Technol. 56, 2936–2949. https://doi.org/10.1021/ACS. EST.1C06120/SUPPL FILE/ESIC06120 SI 001.PDF.
- Weijs, L., Briels, N., Adams, D.H., Lepoint, G., Das, K., Blust, R., Covaci, A., 2015. Bioaccumulation of organohalogenated compounds in sharks and rays from the southeastern USA. Environ. Res. 137, 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/J. ENVRES.2014.12.022.
- Zhang, Y., Wang, W., Song, J., Ren, Z., Yuan, H., Yan, H., Zhang, J., Pei, Z., He, Z., 2016. Environmental characteristics of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in marine system, with emphasis on marine organisms and sediments. BioMed Res. Int. 2016, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1317232.

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Relevance of current PCB concentrations in edible fish species from the Mediterranean Sea



A. Bartalini^{a,b}, J. Muñoz-Arnanz^{b,*}, M. Baini^a, C. Panti^a, M. Galli^a, D. Giani^a, M.C. Fossi^a, B. Jiménez^b

^a Department of Environmental, Earth and Physical Sciences, University of Siena, via Mattioli 4, Siena, Italy

^b Department of Instrumental Analysis and Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Organic Chemistry, CSIC, Juan de la Cierva 3, Madrid, Spain

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- PCBs quantified in three common edible fish species in the Mediterranean Sea
- PCB concentrations in compliance with EU and WHO regulated concentrations in diet
- PCB concentrations were often not different from those reported in last years.
- Inefficient mitigation measurements towards PCB contamination are suggested.

ARTICLE INFO

Received in revised form 15 May 2020

Received 29 January 2020

Available online 21 May 2020

Accepted 16 May 2020

Editor: Adrian Covaci

Article history:

Keywords:

PCBs TEQ

Sardine

Bogue

EWI

Anchovy



ABSTRACT

Legal restrictions and bans have led to a steady decrease in PCB environmental concentrations. Yet, in recent years PCBs have been found at very high levels in the Mediterranean Sea, for instance, in some apex predators. This work aimed to investigate current PCB (eighteen congeners: #28,52,77,81,101,105,114,118,123,126,138, 153,156,157,167,169,180,189) concentrations in the Mediterranean Sea and their relevance today, focusing on their occurrence in edible fish species typically consumed in the Mediterranean diet. In spring 2017, a total of 48 fish samples from the Northern Thyrrenian Sea were collected: 16 specimens of sardine (Sardina pilchardus), 16 of anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus) and 16 of bogue (Boops boops). PCBs were quantified in the muscle of the animals by means of GC-OqO-MS. They were found in all samples at the greatest concentrations (ng/g w.w.) in sardine (4.15–17.9, range), and very similar values between anchovy (1.01–7.08) and bogue (1.46–7.22). WHO-TEQ PCB values followed the same order, i.e. sardine (0.410-1.24, range in pg/g w.w.) > anchovy (0.0778–0.396) ~ bogue (0.0726–0.268). These concentrations lied below the European limits of 75 ng/g (w. w.) for the six indicator PCBs and 6.5 pg/g WHO-TEQ for dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in muscle meat of fish. Additionally, estimated weekly intakes (EWI, in pg WHO-TEQ/Kg/week) for sardine (1.2), anchovy (0.29) and bogue (0.35) scored below the safe value proposed by EFSA of 2 pg WHO-TEQ/Kg/week. When comparing with data reported for the same species in previous Mediterranean studies, values found here were lower than those surveyed in the late 90s and early 2000s; however, they were often not notably different from concentrations reported in last years. This builds up on the concept of a current slow decrease of PCBs in the Mediterranean Sea, likely linked to new inputs and/or remobilization of burdens, and reinforces the need of continous monitoring of these legacy contaminants still ubiquitous today.

© 2020 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: juan.ma@iqog.csic.es (J. Muñoz-Arnanz).

1. Introduction

Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are man-made chemicals first produced as complex mixtures in 1929 (De Voogt and Brinkman, 1989) and for nearly 50 years they were largely used with a worldwide production estimated at over 1 million metric tons (Breivik et al., 2002; WHO, 1993). The commercial utility of these synthetic halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons (e.g. transformers, capacitors, electrical equipment, hydraulic fluids, etc.) was chiefly based on their high physical and chemical stability, which is also responsible for their toxicity and persistency in the environment. In consequence, in the 1970s and 1980s, many countries restricted their marketing and use, and further in 2001, PCBs were classified as persistent organic pollutants (POPs) under the Stockholm Convention (SC) on POPs. The SC entered into force in 2004 with 90 countries agreeing to ban all production of PCBs (UNEP, 2001), to phase out all uses of these chemicals in equipment by 2025, and to ensure the destruction of remaining PCBs by 2028 (Stockholm Convention, Annex A, Part II (a), (e)). Today there are 182 parties in the SC with some relevant exceptions, including Italy and the United States, that have not ratified the Convention (Stockholm Convention, 2019).

In response to the wide ban on these chemicals, most investigations have depicted an overall slow but steady decrease in PCB environmental concentrations (Bonito et al., 2016; Hammer et al., 2016; Ross et al., 2013). Yet, in recent years some authors have focused their attention on high PCB levels still found in different marine mammal species, raising the question about the effectiveness of the current European and global mitigation efforts within a perspective of complete elimination of these harmful substances (Hens and Hens, 2017; Jepson and Law, 2016; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017).

These carcinogenic and mutagenic substances tend to accumulate in fatty tissues and biomagnify along food webs, with deleterious impacts and a potential role in populations' decline especially in species at high trophic levels (Hammond et al., 2009; Jepson et al., 2016). Impair reproduction and disruption of the endocrine and immune systems are among some of the toxic effects observed in vertebrates (Jepson et al., 2005; Kannan et al., 2000; Law et al., 2012; Letcher et al., 2010; Safe et al., 1985). PCBs seem to exert a negative impact also on species at lower levels of trophic webs such as fish. Several studies have shown the presence of these contaminants and their toxic effects on different fish species from all over the world (Brar et al., 2010; Henry, 2015; Hontela et al., 1992; Teh et al., 1997). Among those studies, some have also drawn attention on possible negative impacts on human health resulting from the consumption of contaminated fish (Jiang et al., 2005; Mozaffarian and Rimm, 2006; Sidhu, 2003). Human exposure to these harmful substances start in the early stages of life and continues throughout the entire lifespan, potentially leading to adverse health effects such as cancer (Pavuk et al., 2004), birth defects (Wigle et al., 2008) and dysfunctional immune (Kramer et al., 2012) and reproductive systems (Nicolopoulou-Stamati, 2001). This issue acquires a remarkable relevance in regions where fisheries play an important economic role and fish consumption is an integral part of people's diet, such as the Mediterranean Sea (FAO, 2019).

It is well known that the semi-enclosed Mediterranean Sea is an area particularly susceptible to pollution and it is considered a sink for PCBs and other POPs, probably due to its geographical configuration and location, and the intense anthropogenic pressure to which it is subject (Castro-Jiménez et al., 2013; Marsili et al., 2018). In last years, most researches depicted a slow decrease of PCB levels in different fish species of this area at the same time as other authors reported high levels of these pollutants in some marine mammal populations confirming its role as a marine mammal PCB hotspot (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017). PCBs are still detected in human milk (Çok et al., 2012) and blood (Ulutaş et al., 2015) of Mediterranean human populations, in some cases without a significant decrease in the last few years (Consonni et al., 2012). This picture seems to indicate potential new inputs and/or remobilization of PCBs in the Mediterranean area (Josefsson et al., 2010), which most likely also denotes inefficient mitigation measures and the ineffectiveness of global efforts towards PCB contamination. This is in concert with what is suggested by others authors (Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017) who point out the inability of some countries to achieve the 2025 and 2028 targets of the SC at the current rate of mitigation and reduction of PCB environmental levels.

Italian fisheries are among the most important in the whole Mediterranean region with an estimated capture production in 2014–2016 about 185,300 tons (16% of Mediterranean total landings), second only to Turkey (321,800 tons and 32% of Mediterranean total landings) (FAO, 2019). The whole catch composition of the marine Italian fisheries is very heterogeneous, but it is essentially based on two different pelagic species, namely anchovy and sardine (FAO, 2015). These two small pelagic fish species, with high ecological relevance -they transfer energy from lower to upper trophic levels (Costalago et al., 2012) - accounted for 42% (sardine) and 19% (anchovy) of the total landing volume in the central Mediterranean Sea in 2014–2016 (FAO, 2019).

Marine fish and other seafood constitute an important food source for human consumption accounting for about 17% of animal protein consumed by the global population in 2015 (FAO, 2018). Despite the beneficial effects provided by a fish-rich diet (high quality protein, minerals, essential trace elements, fat-soluble vitamins and essential fatty acids), fish consumption is considered one of the most important sources of POP exposure in humans (Pan et al., 2016), far-famed to elicit adverse health effects since early stages of life (Jacobson et al., 1990). In last years, the World Health Organization (WHO) established different toxicological reference values, in order to ensure that people are not exceeding certain body burdens that could adversely affect human health. One of the most often used is the tolerable weekly intake (TWI), recently revised by The Expert Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (CONTAM) of the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA). Pointing out how these pollutants remain a serious concern to human health, this panel of experts set a new TWI for dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in food of 2 pg WHO-TEQ/Kg body weight, seven times lower than the previous TWI (14 WHO-TEQ/Kg body weight) set by the European Commission's former Scientific Committee on food in 2001 (Knutsen et al., 2018). At European level, where attention has been placed in recent years to the ineffectiveness of the efforts towards the elimination of these pollutants, Commission Regulation (EU) No 1259/2011 established a Maximum Level (ML) of 6.5 pg/g WHO-TEQ (w.w.) for dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in muscle meat of fish and fishery products and a ML of 75 ng/g (w.w.) for the sum of the six indicator PCB congeners (PCB 28, 52, 101, 138, 153 and 180).

This study aimed to investigate current concentrations of PCBs in three fish species of the Mediterranean Sea (anchovy, sardine and bogue) of great commercial interest in order to: 1) further provide data on PCBs in Mediterranean fish species to help understand whether or not a conspicuous decrease trend for these contaminats still holds, and 2) evaluate the potential health risk derived from PCB human intake through diet.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Sampling

In spring 2017, three important commercial edible fish species commonly consumed in the Mediterranean region were purchased from local fish markets in Livorno. The fish species, sardine (*Sardina pilchardus*), anchovy (*Engraulis encrasicolus*) and bogue (*Boops boops*), were collected in the Northern Thyrrenian Sea. Sixteen specimens for each species were dissected and the flesh weighted and lyophilized. Detailed information about sampling and specimens analyzed, are reported in table S2 in the Supplementary Material (SM).

2.2. Sample processing

Samples were analyzed following the procedure described in Muñoz-Arnanz et al. (2016) with some modifications. Briefly, fresh muscle samples, taken from the dorsal area of all specimens, were freeze-dried during 24-48 h with an Edwards lyophilisation apparatus and their water content was determinated gravimetrically. Fresh weight and water content (%) for each sample can be found in table S3. Around 1 g of lyophilized muscle of each sample was homogenized with anhydrous sodium sulfate (Na₂SO₄) and spiked with a suite of ¹³C-labeled standards of PCBs, prior to Soxhlet extraction (24 h) with a mixture of n-hexane: DCM (9:1). Resulting extracts were rota-evaporated and purified by low-pressure chromatography on open columns packed with different layers of silica gel, i.e. neutral and modified with sulfuric acid (H₂SO₄). Final extracts were evaporated using a TurboVap® (Zymarck Inc., Hopkinton, MA, USA) system until ~1 mL, transferred to vials, and dried by means of a gentle nitrogen stream. Prior to instrumental analvsis, each sample was reconstituted with a few microliters of ¹³Clabeled PCBs. Full details about sample processing can be found in the Supplementary Material (SM).

2.3. Instrumental determination

Eighteen PCBs (#28,52,77,81,101,105,114,118,123,126,138,153,156, 157,167,169,180,189) were analyzed in all samples and quantified by gas chromatography coupled to high resolution mass spectrometry (GC-HRMS) using a Trace GC Ultra gas chromatograph (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Milan, Italy) coupled to a high-resolution mass spectrometer (DFS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). Quantitation was based on the isotopic dilution technique. A comprehensive description of the instrumental parameters can be found in Bartalini et al. (2019) and in the SM.

2.4. QA/QC criteria

To guarantee the accuracy of obtained data for the analytes targeted in our study, several quality assurance and quality control measures were undertaken during sample preparation and analysis. Three solvents of decreasing polarity (acetone, dichloromethane and n-hexane) were used to clean (three times for each solvent) metal and glassware material. A procedural blank was analyzed within each batch of six samples. Care was taken to minimize exposure to UV light throughout the entire analytical procedure. Quantification of all target analytes was carried out by the isotopic dilution technique according to the following criteria: (a) ratio between the two monitored ions within $\pm 15\%$ of the theoretical value, and (b) limits of quantification (LOQs) corresponding to S/N of 10. Final concentrations were blank corrected. Additional details pertaining QA/QC in the quantification procedure including LOD values and surrogate recoveries are provided in the SM.

2.5. Data handling

All concentration values are provided in wet weight (w.w.) basis. Concentrations of mono-*ortho*-dl-PCBs (105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189) and International Council for the Exploration of the Seas-7 (ICES-7) PCBs (28, 52, 101, 118, 138, 153, 180) are given in ng/g, while concentrations of non-*ortho*-dl-PCBs (77, 81, 126, 169) and TEQ values are given in pg/g.

To assess the potential toxicity of dl-PCBs we followed the total toxic equivalency (TEQ) approach, in which each congener's toxicity is relativized to that of the most toxic one, the 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-*p*-dioxin (TCDD) by means of toxic equivalency factors (TEF) (Van den Berg et al., 2006). Data on dl-PCBs and TEQs are reported in upper bound (i.e. substitution of non-detected compounds for detection limit values). An estimated weekly intake (EWI) of dl-PCBs was calculated by multiplying the weekly pelagic and demersal fish consumption data for Italy, (85 g/week for sardine and anchovy and 135 g/week for bogue (FAOSTAT, 2013)) by the mean WHO-TEQ concentration of dl-PCBs in muscle of analyzed fish (sardine, bogue, anchovy), and dividing by 70 Kg as the average human body weight, as described in the formula below.

$$EWI = \frac{WFC X WHO - TEQ dl - PCBs}{HBW}$$

EWI = estimated weekly intake (pg/week)/KgWFC = weekly fish consumption (g/week)dl-PCBs = dioxin-like-PCB concentration (pg WHO-TEQ/g w.w.) HBW = human body weight (70 Kg)

3. Results and discussion

3.1. Concentration values

All 18 PCBs were detected in all samples analyzed with the exception of PCB81, which was not detected in anchovy. Target PCBs were found at concentrations ranging between 1.01 and 17.9 ng/g w.w. A detailed description of PCB levels is presented in Table 1. Sardine, the species with the highest fat content, showed greater concentrations of contaminants with a mean value of 9.88 ng/g w.w. (median = 9.12 ng/g w.w.; range =4.15–17.9 ng/g w.w.). Bogue and anchovy showed similar average levels among them, about three times lower than those of sardine, 3.42 ng/g w.w. (median = 2.88 ng/g w.w.; range = 1.46-7.22 ng/g w.w.) and 3.48 ng/g w.w. (median = 2.92 ng/g w.w.; range = 1.01-7.08 ng/g w.w.), respectively. This is in line with previous studies in which sardines from the Mediterranean and Marmara Seas, and purchased in Spanish markets, seem to be from two to three times more contaminated than anchovies (Coelhan et al., 2006; Miniero et al., 2014; Perelló et al., 2015). Differences in PCB contamination between species could be explained by multiple factors; for instance, different lipid content and feeding behavior between species. Even if sardine and anchovy are both considered planktivorous species with a general niche overlapping during some seasons, several studies also reported differences in

Table 1

Mean, median and range of PCB concentrations (in ng/g w.w. or pg/g w.w. when indicated) in muscle from the three Mediterranean Sea fish species investigated.

	Sardine	(Sardina pilch	ardus)		Bogue (Boops boops)				Anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolus)			
	concent	concentration (ng/g w.w.)										
	Mean	Median	Range		Mean	Median	Range		Mean	Median	Range	
\sum ICES7	9.32	8.56	3.88	16.9	3.27	2.77	1.39	6.90	3.34	2.78	0.991	6.80
six indicator PCBs*	8.50	7.81	3.57	15.52	3.03	2.62	1.28	6.25	3.15	2.66	0.972	6.44
\sum non-ortho-dl-PCBs (pg/g w.w.)	17.6	14.4	9.10	40.5	4.12	3.10	0.854	15.3	3.30	3.36	7.76	9.27
\sum mono- <i>ortho</i> -dl-PCBs	1.35	1.36	0.577	2.62	0.384	0.296	0.174	1.058	0.322	0.272	0.0417	0.757
\sum dl-PCBs	1.37	1.38	0.587	2.66	0.388	0.299	0.176	1.07	0.325	0.276	0.0424	0.776
$\sum PCBs$	9.88	9.12	4.15	17.9	3.42	2.88	1.46	7.22	3.48	2.92	1.01	7.08

* Six indicators PCB congeners: 28, 52, 101, 138, 153, and 180 (Commission Regulation (EU) No 277/2012).

feeding strategies and target prey, and therefore, slight distinct trophic levels (Costalago et al., 2012). Values found in this survey depict a level of contamination significantly lower (1.6 to 10.6 times lower depending on the species) when comparing with PCB concentrations reported in the late 90s or early 2000s (Fig. 1 and table S5). In particular, anchovy caught in the Adriatic Sea in 1998 and in the Gulf of Naples in 2003, reached levels of contamination about two orders of magnitude higher (Bayarri et al., 2001; Naso et al., 2005) than current levels found in this study. However, and taking into consideration the wide range of values reported for sardine and anchovy, values found in this study are not significantly lower - but higher in some occasions - than those measured in last years (Fig. 1 and table S5). Sardine obtained from Spanish markets in 2005, 2008 and 2012 (Martí-Cid et al., 2007; Perelló et al., 2012, 2015) and specimens caught in the Marmara Sea in 2008 (Coelhan et al., 2006) showed contamination levels about two times higher than values reported here (Fig. 1 and table S5). Moreover, a study performed in the Adriatic Sea by Vuković et al. (2018) reported PCB values for sardine up to five times higher than those reported here. Instead, anchovies analyzed in this same study in 2014 reached values about just one order of magnitude higher.

Bibliographic data on PCB concentrations in bogue are scant in the Mediterranean Sea. ICES7 values reported in 2011 for caught fish in the Adriatic Sea (Storelli et al., 2011) are in the same order of magnitude than those reported in this study, six years later. Conversely, study specimens in 2017 from the Atlantic Ocean (Canary Island) showed levels of PCBs about one order of magnitude higher (Henríquez-Hernández et al., 2017).

3.2. Congener profiles

The profile of PCB congeners showed in Fig. 2 was dominated by penta-(#101,118), hexa-(#138,153) and hepta-(#180) chlorinated congeners. The same relative abundance PCB-153 > 138 > 180 was observed in the three species, in line with what is commonly found in marine fish (Ben Ameur et al., 2013; Henríquez-Hernández et al., 2017; Naso et al., 2005; Vuković et al., 2018). The presence of these highly





Fig. 1. Reported data on average PCB concentrations (ng/g w.w.) in Mediterranean anchovy and sardine. Values in parenthesis correspond to available range of reported values in a study. Error bars represent the range of values measured in this study. Dash line is intended as visual aid for data comparison.



Fig. 2. Average PCB congener contribution of (A) all congeners and (B) non-ortho and the least abundant mono-ortho congeners. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

chlorinated congeners at higher levels than others was probably due to their major abundance in commercial PCB mixtures, such as Aroclor 1254 and 1260 (M. Frame et al., 1996) -the most common used in Europe- and also to their high degree of chlorination and lack of adjacent unsubstituted H-atoms in *ortho-meta* and/or *meta-para* positions in the aromatic ring, which make them refractory to metabolic attack (Walker, 2008) and consequently more slowly eliminated and with a heightened tendency to be biaccumulated (Bright et al., 1995).

The sum of the seven indicator congeners (ICES7) accounted for >90% of total PCBs in all species investigated (anchovy: 98%; sardine: 94%; bogue: 96%), while dl-PCBs represented only a small fraction of the total PCB content (anchovy: 2%; sardine: 6%; bogue: 4%). Almost the entire dl-PCB content (almost 99%) was made up by mono-ortho PCBs (105, 114, 118, 123, 156, 157, 167, 189) with only a small fraction (1%) represented by non-ortho PCBs (77, 81, 126, 169), which is in agreement with the major abundance of the former in the technical mixtures. The three species showed the same mono-ortho congener profile (118 > 105 > 156); however, a distinct abundance of non-ortho congeners was observed depending on the species. Sardine and bogue exhibited the same profile PCB-77 > 126 > 169 > 81, which is commonly found in other studies in the same and different species in the Mediterranean Sea and other parts of the world (Gómara et al., 2005; Matthews et al., 2008; Moon et al., 2009). Instead, the pattern of non-ortho-PCBs was guite different in anchovy (126 > 77 > 169) with a contribution of PCB-126 about 71% and no detection of PCB-81. This profile is different from that in anchovies caught in the Adriatic Sea (Bayarri et al., 2001), but similar to that of anchovies caught in the Black Sea (Cakıroğulları et al., 2010) and in samples collected in Catalonia (Llobet et al., 2003). The ratio of congeners PCB169/PCB126 was explored in order to detect dissimilar induction rates of cytochrome P450 enzymes among the study species. Higher values of this ratio have been suggested as a proxy for a higher metabolization of PCB77 relative to that of the other non-*ortho* congeners (Tanabe et al., 1987). However, in this study, very similar average values for these ratio were found for sardine (0.13), bogue (0.10) and anchovy (0.19). Instead, a similar total non-*ortho* PCB content was found between bogue and anchovy while a much higher content of about 4–5 fold was measured in sardine (Table 1).

Fish accumulate PCBs chiefly through prey intake. Given that abundance profiles are similar among species for the indicator and the mono-*ortho* congeners, the differences in non-*ortho* PCB accumulation patterns could be attributed to different feeding habits and grounds, but also to important dissimilarities in toxicokinetics between species, involving metabolism and selective distribution across tissues as it has been described in fish and other species (Albaiges et al., 1987; Kania-Korwel and Lehmler, 2016; Monosson et al., 2003; Ondarza et al., 2014; Reich et al., 1999; Vijayasarathy et al., 2019).

3.3. Toxicity and risk assessment

DI-PCB concentrations in pg WHO-TEQ/g are given in Table 2 for all species investigated in this study and ranged from 0.0726 to 1.24 pg WHO-TEQ/g. Non-*ortho*-PCBs accounted for 75% (average of the three species) of total TEQ concentration. As with total PCB concentrations,

Table 2

Mean, median and range of WHO-TEQ values (pg/g w.w.) of dl-PCB in muscle from three Mediterranean Sea fish species.

	Sardine (Sardina pilchardus)				Bogue (B	Bogue (Boops boops)				Anchovy (Engraulis encrasicolous)			
	TEQ (pg/g w.w.)												
	Mean	Median	Range		Mean	Median	Range		Mean	Median	Range		
∑non- <i>ortho</i> -dl-PCBs ∑mono- <i>ortho</i> -dl-PCBs Total TEQs	0.731 0.0405 0.771	0.704 0.0409 0.746	0.389 0.0173 0.410	1.18 0.0787 1.24	0.124 0.0115 0.135	0.120 0.00888 0.131	0.0637 0.00522 0.0726	0.236 0.0317 0.268	0.200 0.00124 0.210	0.208 0.00816 0.220	0.0766 0.00125 0.0778	0.387 0.0227 0.396	

Table 3

Mean WHO-TEQ concentrations (pg/g w.w.) of dl-PCBs in sardine and anchovy from the Mediterranean Sea.

Reference (year)	Source	Sampling year	Species	pg WHO-TEQ/g w.w.
Llobet et al. (2003) Gómara et al. (2005) Bocio et al. (2007) Miniero et al. (2014)	Spanish markets Spanish markets Spanish markets Southern Adriatic Sea Southern Tyrrhenian Sea Ionian Sea	2000 1995–2003 2005 2007–2008	sardine sardine sardine-anchovy sardine-anchovy	2.5 1.91 1.19–1.24 1.76–0.51

WHO-TEQ values in our study were lower but not notably different from most values previously reported in the Mediterranean Sea (Table 3), suggesting, thereby, a steady slow decline of TEQs in this area. Mean total TEQs and concentrations of the 6 PCB indicator congeners (PCB 28, 52, 101, 138, 153 and 180) found in our study for sardine, bogue and anchovy did not exceed regulated levels in diet established by the European Union. EWIs deriving from the estimated weekly fish consumption in Italy were 1.2, 0.29 and 0.35 for sardine, anchovy and bogue, respectively. These values are far below the TWI of 14 pg TEQ/ Kg/week and are also below the new TWI for dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in food of 2 pg WHO-TEQ/Kg/week proposed by EFSA (Knutsen et al., 2018).

Therefore, our results show that the consumption of these important commercial species might not pose a significant risk for human health derived from their dl-PCB content. However, even if PCDD/F contributions to TEQs tend to be generally lower than those of dl-PCBs, they have not been included in the TEQs calculated here, and therefore total (PCDD/F + dl-PCBs) TEQs are expected to be higher than our TEQ values. This is something important to bear in mind when comparing this study results on EWIs and mean levels of total TEQs with the regulated TWI and the European MLs.

4. Conclusions

The three Mediterranean fish species analyzed in this study showed concentrations of PCBs in full compliance with EU (ML of 6.5 pg/g WHO-TEQ w.w.) and WHO (TWI of 2 pg WHO-TEQ/Kg body weight) regulated concentrations in diet; consequently, the PCB content of these edible species seems not to constitute a current hazard for human health. On the other hand, and taking into account that comparability among other studies' values may be highly influenced by variables such as different capture site, year and season of sampling related to the spawning activity, as well as different lab procedures and quantification methods, it is worth noting that our results are generally not different from values reported for the same species in recent years. This underpins the concept of a virtual halt or very slow decline in PCB concentrations, suggested by other authors (Jepson et al., 2016; Jepson and Law, 2016; Law and Jepson, 2017; Stuart-Smith and Jepson, 2017) as a likely consequence of inefficient mitigation measures and ineffectiveness of the global efforts towards PCB contamination, even if PCBs have been banned in many Mediterranean countries for over 40 years and the Stockholm Convention established 2028 as the final date for their global destruction. As ongoing concern about these pollutants is still today justified, it should be underlined the importance of continuous and effective PCB monitoring activities in the Mediterranean Sea, such as the assessment of PCB contamination in edible fish. These research activities play an essential role not only in the context of monitoring programs for PCBs, helping to deepen our knowledge about their occurrence, but also in the field of health risk assessments, aiming to quantify potential risks for fish consumers and, in turn, to take appropriate preventive measures.

Declaration of competing interests

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

A. Bartalini: Investigation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **J. Muñoz-Arnanz:** Conceptualization, Investigation, Visualization, Writing - original draft, Writing - review & editing. **M. Baini:** Writing - review & editing, Resources. **C. Panti:** Writing - review & editing, Resources. **M. Galli:** Resources. **D. Giani:** Resources. **M.C. Fossi:** Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing, Resources, Funding acquisition. **B. Jiménez:** Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing, Resources, Funding acquisition, Supervision.

Acknowledgments

This work was partially supported by the INTERREG-MEd project "Plastic Busters MPAs: preserving biodiversity from plastics in Mediterranean Marine Protected Areas", co-financed by the European Regional Development Fund (grant agreement No 4MED17_3.2_M123_027). J. M-A acknowledges his contract under projects 15CAES004 and 17CAES004. Ms. Alba Vicente and Ms. María Ros are particularly thanked for their help at the analytical steps.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139520.

References

- Albaiges, J., Farran, A., Soler, M., Gallifa, A., Martin, P., 1987. Accumulation and distribution of biogenic and pollutant hydrocarbons, PCBs and DDT in tissues of western Mediterranean fishes. Mar. Environ. Res. 22 (1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/0141-1136(87)90078-X.
- Bartalini, A., Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Marsili, L., Mazzariol, S., Fossi, M.C., Jiménez, B., 2019. Evaluation of PCDD/Fs, dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs in sperm whales from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 653, 1417–1425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.10.436.
- Bayarri, S., Baldassarri, L.T., Iacovella, N., Ferrara, F., Domenico, A. di, 2001. PCDDs, PCDFs, PCBs and DDE in edible marine species from the Adriatic Sea. Chemosphere, Dioxin'99. vol. 43, pp. 601–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00412-4.
- Ben Ameur, W., El Megdiche, Y., Eljarrat, E., Ben Hassine, S., Badreddine, B., Souad, T., Bèchir, H., Barceló, D., Ridha Driss, M., 2013. Organochlorine and organobromine compounds in a benthic fish (Solea solea) from Bizerte Lagoon (northern Tunisia): implications for human exposure. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 88, 55–64. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2012.10.021.
- Bocio, A., Domingo, J.L., Falcó, G., Llobet, J.M., 2007. Concentrations of PCDD/PCDFs and PCBs in fish and seafood from the Catalan (Spain) market: estimated human intake. Environ. Int. 33 (2), 170–175.
- Bonito, L.T., Hamdoun, A., Sandin, S.A., 2016. Evaluation of the global impacts of mitigation on persistent, bioaccumulative and toxic pollutants in marine fish. PeerJ 4, e1573. https://doi.org/10.7717/ peerj.1573.
- Brar, N.K., Waggoner, C., Reyes, J.A., Fairey, R., Kelley, K.M., 2010. Evidence for thyroid endocrine disruption in wild fish in San Francisco Bay, California, USA. Relationships to contaminant exposures. Aquat. Toxicol. 96, 203–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.10.023.
- Breivik, K., Sweetman, A., Pacyna, J., Jones, K., 2002. Towards a global historical emission inventory for selected PCB congeners – a mass balance approach 2. Emissions. Sci. Total Environ. 290, 199–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(01)01076-2.
- Bright, D.A., Grundy, S.L., Reimer, K.J., 1995. Differential bioaccumulation of non-ortho-substituted and other PCB congeners in coastal Arctic invertebrates and fish. Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (10), 2504–2512. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00010a008.
- Çakıroğulları, G.Ç., Uçar, Y., Oymael, B., Bozkurt, E.N., Kılıç, D., 2010. PCDD/F, dl-PCB and Indicator PCBs in whiting, horse mackerel and anchovy in Black Sea in Turkey. Turk. J. Fish Aquat. Sc. 10, 357–362.
- Castro-Jiménez, J., Berrojalbiz, N., Mejanelle, L., Dachs, J., 2013. Sources, transport and deposition of atmospheric organic pollutants in the Mediterranean Sea. In: McConnell, L.L., Dachs, J., Hapeman, C.J. (Eds.), Occurrence, Fate and Impact of Atmospheric Pollutants on Environmental and Human Health. American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, pp. 231–260. https://doi.org/10.1021/bk-2013-1149.ch011.

- Coelhan, M., Strohmeier, J., Barlas, H., 2006. Organochlorine levels in edible fish from the Marmara Sea, Turkey. Environ. Int. 32, 775–780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2006.03.015.
- Çok, I., Mazmanci, B., Mazmanci, M.A., Turgut, C., Henkelmann, B., Schramm, K.-W., 2012. Analysis of human milk to assess exposure to PAHs, PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in the vicinity Mediterranean city Mersin, Turkey. Environ. Int. 40, 63–69. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envint.2011.11.012.
- Consonni, D., Sindaco, R., Bertazzi, P.A., 2012. Blood levels of dioxins, furans, dioxin-like PCBs, and TEQs in general populations: a review, 1989–2010. Environ. Int. 44, 151–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2012.01.004.
- Costalago, D., Navarro, J., Álvarez-Calleja, I., Palomera, I., 2012. Ontogenetic and seasonal changes in the feeding habits and trophic levels of two small pelagic fish species. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 460, 169–181. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps09751.
- De Voogt, P., Brinkman, U.A.Th, 1989. Production, properties and usage of polychlorinated biphenyls. Halogenated Biphenyls, Terphenyls, Naph-thalenes, Dibenzodioxins and Related Products. Elsevier, pp. 3–45.
- FAO 2015 Fisheries & aquaculture fishery and aquaculture country profiles the republic of Italy [WWW Document], n.d. URL http://www.fao.org/fishery/facp/ITA/en#CountrySector-Overview (accessed 3.1.19).
- FAO, 2018. Meeting the Sustainable Development Goals, the State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture. Rome.
- FAO, 2019. STATE OF MEDITERRANEAN AND BLACK SEA FISHERIES 2018. FOOD & AGRICULTURE ORG, S.I.
- FAOSTAT [WWW Document], 2013. URL http://www.fao.org/faostat/ en/#data/CL (accessed 6.24.19).
- Gómara, B., Bordajandi, L.R., Fernández, M.A., Herrero, L., Abad, E., Abalos, M., Rivera, J., González, M.J., 2005. Levels and trends of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins/furans (PCDD/Fs) and dioxinlike polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in Spanish commercial fish and shellfish products, 1995–2003. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 8406–8413. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf050835z.
- Hammer, S., Nager, R.G., Alonso, S., McGill, R.A.R., Furness, R.W., Dam, M., 2016. Legacy pollutants are declining in Great Skuas (Stercorarius skua) but remain higher in Faroe Islands than in Scotland. B. Environ. Contam. Tox. 97, 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00128-016-1856-x.
- Hammond, P., Macleod, K., Gillespie, D., Swift, R., Winship, A., Burt, M., Cañadas, A., Vázquez, J., Ridoux, V., Certain, G., Canneyt, O.V., Lens, S., Santos, B., Rogan, E., Uriarte, A., Hernandez, C., Castro, R., 2009. Cetacean Offshore Distribution and Abundance (CODA). p. 43.
- Henríquez-Hernández, L.A., Montero, D., Camacho, M., Ginés, R., Boada, L.D., Ramírez Bordón, B., Valerón, P.F., Almeida-González, M., Zumbado, M., Haroun, R., Luzardo, O.P., 2017. Comparative analysis of selected semi-persistent and emerging pollutants in wild-caught fish and aquaculture associated fish using Bogue (Boops boops) as sentinel species. Sci. Total Environ. 581–582, 199–208. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.107.
- Henry, T.B., 2015. Ecotoxicology of polychlorinated biphenyls in fish—a critical review. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 45, 643–661. https://doi.org/ 10.3109/10408444.2015.1038498.
- Hens, B., Hens, L., 2017. Persistent threats by persistent pollutants: chemical nature, concerns and future policy regarding PCBs—what are we heading for? Toxics 6 (1), 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics6010001.
- Hontela, A., Rasmussen, Joseph B., Audet, C., Chevalier, G., 1992. Impaired cortisol stress response in fish from environments polluted by PAHs, PCBs, and mercury. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00212086.
- Jacobson, J.L., Jacobson, S.W., Humphrey, H.E.B., 1990. Effects of in utero exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and related contaminants on cognitive functioning in young children. J. Pediatr. 116, 38–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3476(05)81642-7.
- Jepson, P.D., Law, R.J., 2016. Persistent pollutants, persistent threats. Science 352, 1388–1389. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf9075.
- Jepson, P.D., Bennett, P.M., Deaville, R., Allchin, C.R., Baker, J.R., Law, R.J., 2005. Relationships between polychlorinated biphenyls and health

status in harbor porpoises (Phocoena phocoena) stranded in the United Kingdom. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 24, 238–248.

- Jepson, P.D., Deaville, R., Barber, J.L., Aguilar, À., Borrell, A., Murphy, S., Barry, J., Brownlow, A., Barnett, J., Berrow, S., Cunningham, A.A., Davison, N.J., Doeschate, M. ten, Esteban, R., Ferreira, M., Foote, A.D., Genov, T., Giménez, J., Loveridge, J., Llavona, Á., Martin, V., Maxwell, D.L., Papachlimitzou, A., Penrose, R., Perkins, M.W., Smith, B., Stephanis, R. de, Tregenza, N., Verborgh, P., Fernandez, A., Law, R.J., 2016. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters. Sci. Rep. 6, 18573. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep18573.
- Jiang, Q.T., Lee, T.K.M., Chen, K., Wong, H.L., Zheng, J.S., Giesy, J.P., Lo, K.K.W., Yamashita, N., Lam, P.K.S., 2005. Human health risk assessment of organochlorines associated with fish consumption in a coastal city in China. Environ. Pollut. 136, 155–165. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2004.09.028.
- Josefsson, S., Leonardsson, K., Gunnarsson, J.S., Wiberg, K., 2010. Bioturbation-driven release of buried PCBs and PBDEs from different depths in contaminated sediments. Environ. Sci. Technol. 44, 7456–7464. https://doi.org/10.1021/es100615g.
- Kania-Korwel, I., Lehmler, H.J., 2016. Toxicokinetics of chiral polychlorinated biphenyls across different species—a review. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 23 (3), 2058–2080. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11356-015-4383-0.
- Kannan, K., Blankenship, A.L., Jones, P.D., Giesy, J.P., 2000. Toxicity reference values for the toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls to aquatic mammals. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal 6, 181–201. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 10807030091124491.
- Knutsen, H.K., Alexander, J., Barregård, L., Bignami, M., Brüschweiler, B., Ceccatelli, S., Cottrill, B., Dinovi, M., Edler, L., Grasl-Kraupp, B., Hogstrand, C., Nebbia, C.S., Oswald, I.P., Petersen, A., Rose, M., Roudot, A.-C., Schwerdtle, T., Vleminckx, C., Vollmer, G., Wallace, H., Fürst, P., Håkansson, H., Halldorsson, T., Lundebye, A.-K., Pohjanvirta, R., Rylander, L., Smith, A., Loveren, H. van, Waalkens-Berendsen, I., Zeilmaker, M., Binaglia, M., Ruiz, J.Á.G., Horváth, Z., Christoph, E., Ciccolallo, L., Bordajandi, L.R., Steinkellner, H., Hoogenboom, L. (Ron), 2018. Risk for animal and human health related to the presence of dioxins and dioxin-like PCBs in feed and food. EFSA J. 16. doi:https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5333.
- Kramer, S., Hikel, S.M., Adams, K., Hinds, D., Moon, K., 2012. Current status of the epidemiologic evidence linking polychlorinated biphenyls and non-Hodgkin lymphoma, and the role of immune dysregulation. Environ. Health Perspect. 120, 1067–1075. https://doi.org/ 10.1289/ehp.1104652.
- Law, R.J., Jepson, P.D., 2017. Europe's insufficient pollutant remediation. Science 356, 148. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aam6274.
- Law, R.J., Barry, J., Barber, J.L., Bersuder, P., Deaville, R., Reid, R.J., Brownlow, A., Penrose, R., Barnett, J., Loveridge, J., Smith, B., Jepson, P.D., 2012. Contaminants in cetaceans from UK waters: status as assessed within the Cetacean Strandings Investigation Programme from 1990 to 2008. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64, 1485–1494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2012.05.024.
- Letcher, R.J., Bustnes, J.O., Dietz, R., Jenssen, B.M., Jørgensen, E.H., Sonne, C., Verreault, J., Vijayan, M.M., Gabrielsen, G.W., 2010. Exposure and effects assessment of persistent organohalogen contaminants in arctic wildlife and fish. Sci. Total Environ. 408, 2995–3043. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.10.038.
- Llobet, J.M., Bocio, A., Domingo, J.L., Teixidó, A., Casas, C., Müller, L., 2003. Levels of polychlorinated biphenyls in foods from Catalonia, Spain: estimated dietary intake. J. Food Prot. 66, 479–484. https:// doi.org/10.4315/0362-028X-66.3.479.
- M. Frame, G., Cochran, J., Bøwadt, S., 1996. Complete PCB congener distributions for 17 Aroclor mixtures determined by 3 HRGC systems optimized for comprehensive, quantitative, congener-specific analysis. J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 19, 657–668. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jhrc.1240191202.
- Marsili, L., Jiménez, B., Borrell, A., 2018. Chapter 7 persistent organic pollutants in cetaceans living in a hotspot area: the Mediterranean

Sea. In: Fossi, M.C., Panti, C. (Eds.), Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology. Academic Press, pp. 185–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00007-3.

- Martí-Cid, R., Bocio, A., Llobet, J.M., Domingo, J.L., 2007. Intake of chemical contaminants through fish and seafood consumption by children of Catalonia, Spain: health risks. Food Chem. Toxicol. 45, 1968–1974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2007.04.014.
- Matthews, V., Päpke, O., Gaus, C., 2008. PCDD/Fs and PCBs in seafood species from Moreton Bay, Queensland, Australia. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 5th International Conference on Marine Pollution and Ecotoxicology. vol. 57, pp. 392–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. marpolbul.2008.01.034.
- Miniero, R., Abate, V., Brambilla, G., Davoli, E., De Felip, E., De Filippis, S.P., Dellatte, E., De Luca, S., Fanelli, R., Fattore, E., Ferri, F., Fochi, I., Rita Fulgenzi, A., Iacovella, N., Iamiceli, A.L., Lucchetti, D., Melotti, P., Moret, I., Piazza, R., Roncarati, A., Ubaldi, A., Zambon, S., di Domenico, A., 2014. Persistent toxic substances in Mediterranean aquatic species. Sci. Total Environ. 494, 18–27. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.131.
- Monosson, E., Ashley, J.T.F., McElroy, A.E., Woltering, D., Elskus, A.A., 2003. PCB congener distributions in muscle, liver and gonad of Fundulus heteroclitus from the lower Hudson River Estuary and Newark Bay. Chemosphere 52 (4), 777–787. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00228-5.
- Moon, H.B., Kim, H.S., Choi, M., Yu, J., Choi, H.G., 2009. Human health risk of polychlorinated biphenyls and organochlorine pesticides resulting from seafood consumption in South Korea, 2005–2007. Food Chem. Toxicol. 47, 1819–1825. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2009.04.028.
- Mozaffarian, D., Rimm, E.B., 2006. Fish intake, contaminants, and human health: evaluating the risks and the benefits. Jama 296, 1885–1899. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.296.15.1885.
- Muñoz-Arnanz, J., Roscales, J.L., Ros, M., Vicente, A., Jiménez, B., 2016. Towards the implementation of the Stockholm convention in Spain: five-year monitoring (2008–2013) of POPs in air based on passive sampling. Environ. Pollut. 217, 107–113. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.envpol.2016.01.052.
- Naso, B., Perrone, D., Ferrante, M.C., Bilancione, M., Lucisano, A., 2005. Persistent organic pollutants in edible marine species from the Gulf of Naples, Southern Italy. Sci. Total Environ. 343, 83–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.10.007.
- Nicolopoulou-Stamati, P., 2001. The impact of endocrine disrupters on the female reproductive system. Hum. Reprod. Update 7, 323–330. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/7.3.323.
- Ondarza, P.M., Gonzalez, M., Fillmann, G., Miglioranza, K.S.B., 2014. PBDEs, PCBs and organochlorine pesticides distribution in edible fish from Negro River basin, Argentinean Patagonia. Chemosphere 94, 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.09.064.
- Pan, H., Geng, J., Qin, Y., Tou, F., Zhou, J., Liu, M., Yang, Y., 2016. PCBs and OCPs in fish along coastal fisheries in China: distribution and health risk assessment. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 111, 483–487. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.06.064.
- Pavuk, M., Cerhan, J.R., Lynch, C.F., Schecter, A., Petrik, J., Chovancova, J., Kocan, A., 2004. Environmental exposure to PCBs and cancer incidence in eastern Slovakia. Chemosphere 54, 1509–1520. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2003.10.038.
- Perelló, G., Gómez-Catalán, J., Castell, V., Llobet, J.M., Domingo, J.L., 2012. Assessment of the temporal trend of the dietary exposure to PCDD/ Fs and PCBs in Catalonia, over Spain: health risks. Food Chem. Toxicol. 50, 399–408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2011.06.077.
- Perelló, G., Díaz-Ferrero, J., Llobet, J.M., Castell, V., Vicente, E., Nadal, M., Domingo, J.L., 2015. Human exposure to PCDD/Fs and PCBs through consumption of fish and seafood in Catalonia (Spain): temporal trend. Food Chem. Toxicol. 81, 28–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. fct.2015.04.010.
- Reich, S., Jimenez, B., Marsili, L., Hernández, L.M., Schurig, V., González, M.J., 1999. Congener specific determination and enantiomeric ratios of chiral polychlorinated biphenyls in striped dolphins (Stenella

coeruleoalba) from the Mediterranean Sea. Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (11), 1787–1793.

- Ross, P.S., Noël, M., Lambourn, D., Dangerfield, N., Calambokidis, J., Jeffries, S., 2013. Declining concentrations of persistent PCBs, PBDEs, PCDEs, and PCNs in harbor seals (Phoca vitulina) from the Salish Sea. Progress in Oceanography, Strait of Georgia Ecosystem Research Initiative (ERI) 115, 160–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pocean.2013.05.027.
- Safe, S., Bandiera, S., Sawyer, T., Robertson, L., Safe, L., Parkinson, A., Thomas, P.E., Ryan, D.E., Reik, L.M., Levin, W., Denomme, M.A., Fujita, T., 1985. PCBs: structure–function relationships and mechanism of action. Environ. Health Perspect. 60, 47–56. https://doi. org/10.1289/ehp.856047.
- Sidhu, K.S., 2003. Health benefits and potential risks related to consumption of fish or fish oil. Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 38, 336–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2003.07.002.
- Stockholm Convention [WWW Document], 2019. URL http://chm.pops. int/Countries/StatusofRatifications/PartiesandSignatoires/tabid/ 4500/Default.aspx (accessed 6.24.19).
- Storelli, M.M., Barone, G., Giuliana Perrone, V., Giacominelli-Stuffler, R., 2011. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dioxins and furans (PCDD/ Fs): occurrence in fishery products and dietary intake. Food Chem. 127, 1648–1652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2011.02.032.
- Stuart-Smith, S.J., Jepson, P.D., 2017. Persistent threats need persistent counteraction: responding to PCB pollution in marine mammals. Mar. Policy 84, 69–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.06.033.
- Tanabe, S., Kannan, N., Subramanian, A., Watanabe, S., Tatsukawa, R., 1987. Highly toxic coplanar PCBs: occurrence, source, persistency and toxic implications to wildlife and humans. Environ. Pollut. 47 (2), 147–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7491(87)90044-3.
- Teh, S.J., Adams, S.M., Hinton, D.E., 1997. Histopathologic biomarkers in feral freshwater fish populations exposed to different types of contaminant stress. Aquat. Toxicol. 37, 51–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0166-445X(96)00808-9.
- Ulutaş, O.K., Çok, I., Darendeliler, F., Aydin, B., Çoban, A., Henkelmann, B., Schramm, K.-W., 2015. Blood levels of polychlorinated biphenlys and organochlorinated pesticides in women from Istanbul, Turkey. Environ. Monit. Assess. 187, 132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-015-4358-0.
- Van den Berg, M., Birnbaum, L.S., Denison, M., De Vito, M., Farland, W., Feeley, M., Fiedler, H., Hakansson, H., Hanberg, A., Haws, L., Rose, M., Safe, S., Schrenk, D., Tohyama, C., Tritscher, A., Tuomisto, J., Tysklind, M., Walker, N., Peterson, R.E., 2006. The 2005 World Health Organization reevaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds. Toxicol. Sci. 93, 223–241. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/kfl055.
- Vijayasarathy, S., Weijs, L., Grant, S., Gallen, M., Gaus, C., 2019. PCDD/F and PCB levels in different tissues from dugongs (Dugong dugon) inhabiting the Queensland coastline. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 139, 23–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.12.020.
- Vuković, G., Herceg Romanić, S., Babić, Ž., Mustać, B., Štrbac, M., Deljanin, I., Antanasijević, D., 2018. Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in edible fish species from different fishing zones of Croatian Adriatic. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 137, 71–80. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.10.014.
- Walker, C.H., 2008. Organic Pollutants: An Ecotoxicological Perspective. Second edition. CRC Press https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420062595 0 ed.
- WHO, 1993. World Health Organization & International Programme on Chemical Safety. Polychlorinated Biphenyls and Terphenyls. 2nd ed. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- Wigle, D.T., Arbuckle, T.E., Turner, M.C., Bérubé, A., Yang, Q., Liu, S., Krewski, D., 2008. Epidemiologic evidence of relationships between reproductive and child health outcomes and environmental chemical contaminants. J Toxicol. Env. Heal. B, Critical review 11, 373–517. https://doi.org/10.1080/10937400801921320.

scientific reports



OPEN First assessment of POPs and cytochrome P450 expression in Cuvier's beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris) skin biopsies from the Mediterranean Sea

Matteo Baini¹, Cristina Panti^{1⊠}, Maria Cristina Fossi¹, Paola Tepsich², Begoña Jiménez³, Frazer Coomber^{2,4,5}, Alice Bartalini³, Juan Muñoz-Arnanz³, Aurelie Moulins² & Massimiliano Rosso²

The Cuvier's beaked whale (Ziphius cavirostris) is one of the least known cetacean species worldwide. The decreasing population trend and associated threats has led to the IUCN categorising the Mediterranean subpopulation as Vulnerable on the Red List of Threatened Species. This study aimed to investigate for the first time the ecotoxicological status of Cuvier's beaked whale in the NW Mediterranean Sea. The study sampled around the 20% of the individuals belonging to the Ligurian subpopulation, collecting skin biopsies from free-ranging specimens. The levels of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCBs), polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and induction of cytochrome's P450 (CYP1A1 and CYP2B isoforms) were evaluated. Results highlighted that the pattern of concentration for the target contaminants was PCBs > PBDEs and the accumulation values were linked to age and sex, with adult males showing significantly higher levels than juvenile. Concerns raised by the fact that 80% of the individuals had PCB levels above the toxicity threshold for negative physiological effects in marine mammals. Therefore, these findings shed light on this silent and serious threat never assessed in the Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whale population, indicating that anthropogenic pressures, including chemical pollution, may represent menaces for the conservation of this species in the Mediterranean Sea.

Cuvier's beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris) are deep diving marine mammals¹ with an almost sub-polar cosmopolitan global distribution². However, due to its diving behaviour, subtle surfacing and typical offshore habitat, this species, like many other beaked whale species, it remains relatively understudied³. A global assessment has highlighted the existence of a genetically distinct subpopulation of Cuvier's beaked whale in the Mediterranean Sea⁴. This subpopulation has been estimated at less than 10,000 mature individuals, with a speculated decreasing trend in abundance^{5,6}. To date, three important geographical areas within the Mediterranean Sea have been identified for this species: Northern Ligurian Sea, Alboran Sea and Hellenic trench^{5,7}.

Most research on Cuvier's beaked whales in the Mediterranean has been driven by the need to assess the risks posed from noise pollution. One of the main threats to this species is exposure to mid- and low frequency underwater sound pollution^{8,9}. This threat has been evidenced by multiple records of coincidental mass stranding events⁶, the known sensitivity of this species to military sonar¹⁰ and dive behavioural changes caused by passing ships¹¹. Research on Cuvier's beaked whales in the Mediterranean basin has been dedicated to reviewing stranding data¹², characterising diving behaviour¹, identifying habitat preferences^{7,13,14} and assessing density and abundance estimates⁵. All of which can be used to help identify the risk posed by anthropogenic noise pollution on spatial and behavioural scales.

¹Department of Physical, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of Siena, Via Mattioli, 4, 53100 Siena, Italy. ²CIMA Research Foundation, Via Magliotto 2, 17100 Savona, Italy. ³Department of Instrumental Analysis and Environmental Chemistry, Institute of Organic Chemistry (IQOG-CSIC), Juan de la Cierva 3, 28006 Madrid, Spain. ⁴School of Life Sciences, University of Sussex, John Maynard Smith (JMS) Building, Falmer, Brighton BN1 9QG, UK. ⁵The Mammal Society, 18 St, John's Church Road, London E9 6EJ, UK. [⊠]email: panti4@unisi.it

The decreasing population trend and associated threats have led to the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) categorising this Mediterranean subpopulation of Cuvier's beaked whale as Vulnerable on the Red List of Threatened Species¹⁵. It is, therefore, very urgent to investigate other potential stressors to define an effective risk assessment for the species, such as persistent organic pollutants.

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) are chemical compounds of global concern due to their persistence in the environment, their ability to be transported over long distances¹⁶ and their effects on natural populations^{17,18}. POPs are biologically active chemicals that have the ability to bioaccumulate and biomagnify within marine food webs¹⁹ and have the potential to negatively impact marine organisms²⁰.

Given the impact and persistence of POPs on and within the environment, the use and manufacture of many of them have already been banned. Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), man-made chlorinated organic chemicals, were banned globally in the 1970s²¹ and some polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), a class of brominated flame retardants, started being banned around 20 years ago²².

In the Mediterranean Sea, the environmental concentrations of PCBs does not seem to show any noticeable decline^{18,23} and it is also reasonable for PBDEs to be present in the marine environment in large concentrations²². These chemicals are considered as legacy contaminants of re-emerging concern since it has been demonstrated to affect natural populations^{17,18}.

Exposure to xenobiotic compounds, i.e. POPs, can cause immune system suppression²⁴, and endocrine disruption^{25,26} in marine mammals. Concentrations of PCBs in different Mediterranean odontocete species have been reported surpassing toxicity thresholds for marine mammals²⁷. Such concentrations can have population level consequences for marine mammals through reduced reproduction and/or survival^{28,29}.

The induction of cytochrome P450 (CYP450) isoforms has been considered a biomarker of chemical exposure in marine mammals³⁰. CYP1A1 and CYP2B have been detected in cetacean skin, and the induction of these isoforms has been related to the exposure to lipophilic contaminants (AhR inducers) such as organochlorine compounds, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), and PBDEs both ex vivo and in field studies^{31–35}.

Since there have been no previous reports on the levels and potential impacts of persistent contaminants in Cuvier's Beaked whale, this paper aims to investigate, for the first time, its ecotoxicological status in the Mediterranean Sea. Sampled animals inhabit the northern Ligurian Sea within the Pelagos Sanctuary, a Specially Protected Areas of Mediterranean Importance (SPAMI) located in the North-western part of the Mediterranean Sea. This is an important area for the species⁷ as well as an area subjected to high levels of anthropogenic impact^{36–38}. This population is resident and also one of the most studied in the Mediterranean with long-term research starting in the late 1990s. Using photographic mark-recapture methods, the population size, estimated to be roughly 100 individuals⁶, and demographic situation is known for a large majority of these animals.

We analysed PCB and PBDE concentrations in blubber portion of biopsy samples collected. Besides, in order to assess the exposure to those anthropogenic contaminants, we evaluate the CYP isoforms (CYP1A1 and CYP2B) expression/induction in skin biopsies by Western Blot (WB) analysis. Contaminant accumulation and CYPs biological responses were further analysed considering demographic variables (i.e. sex and age) to elucidate the levels and the role of persistent contaminant accumulation and their potential effects on the resident Cuvier's beaked whale population.

Results

Sample representativeness. Samples were collected and analysed from 22 different individuals (Fig. 1). These represent 20–28% of the total resident population of Cuvier's beaked whales in the study area (100 individuals with 95% CI=79–112;⁶). Samples were successfully collected from individuals of three different age classes^{39,40}: four juveniles (estimated age <5-year-old), nine subadults (estimated age 5–10-year-old) and nine adults (estimated age >10-year-old). Since only three females, one juvenile and two adults, were sampled, it was not possible to perform any statistical analysis between sexes. Therefore, the statistical analysis was focused on the differences between the three male age classes, of which the adult females were not included. The juvenile female (ZCS2_15) was included in the juvenile group, disregarding gender, due to the young age of the specimen (i.e. prepubertal individual). However, two samples, 1 subadult male and one adult male, did not containe enough blubber to analyse the concentrations of PCBs and PBDEs.

Contaminants. All the 18 PCB congeners and 23 out of the 27 (85%) PBDE congeners were detected in every Cuvier's beaked whale sample analysed. PCB concentrations were found to be higher than PBDEs and strong positive correlation was found between PCBs and PBDEs concentrations (rho = 0.97 p value < 0.001).

PCBs. The median Σ PCB in males was found to be highest in adults (Σ PCBs 27.13 mg/kg l.w.) then in subadults (Σ PCBs 16.41 mg/kg l.w.) and lowest in juveniles (Σ PCBs 12.41 mg/kg l.w.), with a significant difference between juveniles and adults (W = 21, p value = 0.033). However, no significant difference was found between the other groups (Fig. 2; Table 1). Although no statistical analysis was conducted between sexes in the adult group, the two adult females ($ZCS1_4 = 3.06$ mg/kg l.w. and $ZCS2_13 = 8.22$ mg/kg l.w., Supplementary Information 1, Table S1-1) displayed lower Σ PCBs levels, with a mean value (5.683 mg/kg l.w.) much lower than that of adult males (28.165 mg/kg l.w.: Table 1 and Supplementary Information 1, Table S1-2).

Abundance of PCB congeners in the blubber were PCBs 153 > 180 > 138 > 118 > 101, which together contributed to the majority (95%) of the Σ PCB content in Cuvier's beaked whale samples (Fig. 2). The highly persistent PCB-153 congener represented the main PCB compound, accounting for 38%, 38.6% and 39% of the Σ PCB concentration in juveniles, subadults and adults, respectively. The individual PCB congener profiles also displayed similar patterns to the Σ PCB profile between the age groups with adults generally having higher concentrations than sub-adults and juveniles (Fig. 2).

8.000°E				9.000°E	2	0.000°E					
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$											
Photo of the individual (at the date of the biopsy)	Biopsy ID & sampling date	Age class	Sex	First photo-id capture	Photo of the individual (at the date of the biopsy)	Biopsy ID & sampling date	Age class	Sex	First photo-id capture		
	ZCS1_1 22/06/14	Juvenile	М	22/06/2014		ZCS1_2 22/06/14	Juvenile	М	22/06/2014		
	ZCS1_3 16/07/14	Adult	м	24/08/2002	- And -	ZCS1_4 16/07/14	Adult	F	15/07/1999		
	ZCS1_5 25/07/14	Adult	М	21/08/2002		ZCS1_6 03/08/14	Adult	М	08/06/2004		
	ZCS1_7 08/08/14	Adult	м	08/08/2014		ZCS2_1 02/07/15	Subadult	м	01/09/2013		
	ZCS2_2 02/07/15	Adult	М	07/08/2013		ZCS2_3 02/07/15	Subadult	М	21/07/2013		
	ZCS2_4	Subadult	м	02/07/2015		ZCS2_5 07/07/15	Adult	м	10/09/2003		
	ZCS2_6 16/07/15	Subadult	М	26/10/2008		ZCS2_7 17/07/15	Juvenile	М	01/07/2015		
	ZCS2_8 21/07/15	Subadult	м	08/08/2014		ZCS2_9 21/07/15	Subadult	М	12/08/2012		
	ZCS2_10 21/07/15	Subadult	м	16/08/2013		ZCS2_11 22/07/15	Adult	М	23/08/2003		
	ZCS2_12 13/08/15	Subadult	М	14/06/2013		ZCS2 13 13/08/15	Adult	F	27/06/2015		
	ZCS2_14 27/08/15	Subadult	м	27/08/2015		ZCS2_15 28/08/15	Juvenile	F	28/08/2015		

Figure 1. Map showing the study area, biopsy locations, the extent of the Pelagos Sanctuary, photos of sampled individuals, and information about sampling date, age class and their first photographic capture (Photos by M. Rosso). Map was generated using QGIS Geographic Information System (Version 3.10.10 'A Coruña'; Open Source Geospatial Foundation. http://qgis.org).

- - - -

To further investigate the PCB results, each congener was assigned to a group. The first groups were based on the degree of chlorination (TriCB, TetraCB, PentaCB, HexaCB and HeptaCB). Then there were the non-*ortho*-dl-PCBs and mono-*ortho*-dl-PCBs. Four Structure Activity Groups (SAGs 1–4) were assigned based on their persistency and capacity for biotransformation as previously defined⁴¹ (Supplementary Information 1). One group was based on the PCB congeners listed by the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES: Table 1 and Supplementary information 1), here on referred to as Σ ICES7.

In all groups, except for TriCB and non-*ortho* PCBs the mean concentration values were highest in adults and lowest in juveniles (Supplementary Information 1), indicating that these PCB group concentrations increased with age. However, due to the high variation among individuals these differences were not statistically significant.

PBDEs. Unlike PCBs not all PBDEs were identified in all the sampled animals. Four PBDE congeners (3, 7, 15, 126) out of the 27 analysed were consistently not detected in any sample.

Regarding the concentrations of Σ PBDE found in the different age groups, the trend was similar to those observed for PCBs. The median value in adults (Σ PBDE = 0.503 mg/kg l.w.) was higher than in subadults (Σ PBDE = 0.351 mg/kg l.w.) and juveniles (Σ PBDE = 0.271 mg/kg l.w.). Σ PBDE were significantly higher in adults than in juveniles (Σ PBDE W = 22, *p* value = 0.01905), while no difference was found between the other groups (Fig. 3). As highlighted for PCBs, the two adult females showed PBDEs values lower (ZCS1_4 = 0.054 mg/kg l.w.; ZCS2_13 = 0.231 mg/kg l.w.) than those shown in adult males. The PBDEs congener profile shown in Fig. 3, was



Figure 2. PCB levels in the blubber of Cuvier's beaked whale in the three age classes: juvenile (light green), subadult (medium green) and adult (dark green). (a) Boxplots showing Σ PCB concentrations (mg/kg l.w.) in the blubber of juvenile (n=4), subadult (n=8) and adult males (n=6). (b) The mean values of each individual PCB congener profiles for all 18 PCB congeners, in the age classes. Error bars represent standard errors (SE).

	Juvenile			Subadult			Adult male			Adult female		
	Mean	Median	SD	Mean	Median	SD	Mean	Median	SD	Mean	Median	SD
ΣΡCBs	11.82	12.58	4.68	25.11	16.41	19.91	28.17	27.13	14.40	5.64	5.64	3.65
ΣICES7	8.82	9.43	3.44	18.34	12.29	14.24	20.73	19.37	10.77	4.08	4.08	2.38
ΣPBDEs	0.26	0.27	0.11	0.62	0.35	0.60	0.49	0.50	0.15	0.14	0.14	0.13
Total TEQ	102.48	110.89	44.06	242.59	129.15	305.37	157.44	167.51	28.04	162.39	162.39	178.56
BDE-47/PCB-153	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.03	0.03	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.03	0.03	0.02
BDE-47/BDE-99	2.36	2.59	0.52	2.60	2.63	0.14	2.62	2.58	0.16	2.22	2.22	1.00
BDE-99/BDE-100	1.37	1.31	0.17	1.30	1.28	0.15	1.57	1.55	0.20	1.49	1.49	0.19
BDE-153/BDE-154	0.38	0.37	0.05	0.36	0.35	0.04	0.45	0.45	0.06	0.40	0.40	0.11

Table 1. Mean, median, standard deviation of Σ PCB, Σ ICES7, and Σ PBDE, in the blubber of Cuvier's beaked whale of juvenile (n = 4), subadult male (n = 8), adult male (n = 6) concentrations are expressed in mg/kg lipid weight. Total TEQ is expressed in pg/g lipid weight. Mean, median and standard deviation, of BDE-47/PCB-153, BDE-47/BDE-99, BDE-99/BDE-100, BDE-153/BDE-154 ratio.

.....

dominated by lower-medium brominated congeners. The most abundant PBDE congeners were BDE 47, 99, 154, 100, 153 whose average contribution to the total PBDE content was 45%, 17%, 14%, 13%, and 5%, respectively.

The different PBDEs were then grouped in the respective commercial mixtures Deca-, Octa- and Penta-BDE⁴² to compare profiles between the age groups. The results show that penta-BDE is the most dominant component among all age classes, followed by Octa-BDE mixture and Deca-BDE mixture. It is interesting to note that the concentrations of the deca-BDE mixture decrease as the age of the whales increases. Despite the correspondence between PBDE congeners found in blubber of Cuvier's beaked whale and main components in the technical mixtures, the relative abundance of these compounds differed from that found in the commercial formulations⁴².

Metabolic biotransformation of PCBs and PBDEs. To investigate the metabolic biotransformation capacity of Cuvier's beaked whale for the investigated compounds, the ratio between the most dominant compounds (BDE-47 and PCB-153) was calculated⁴³. Results showed that BDE-47/PCB-153 ratios were below 1 in all age classes. The highest values were observed in subadults followed by juveniles and adults (Table 1). BDE-47/PCB-153 ratio did not differ statistically among age classes (subadult vs. adults: W = 31, *p* value = 0.4136; sub-adult vs juveniles: W = 20, *p* value = 0.5697; adult vs juveniles: W = 11, *p* value = 0.9143).

Regarding PBDE congeners, BDE-99/100, 153/154 and 47/99 ratios have been used to assess possible differences in metabolic capacities of these classes of compounds as well as bioaccumulation patterns^{44,45}, which may vary among age classes.

BDE-99/100 and BDE-153/154 ratios had similar trends with the highest value in adults (mean value: 1.57 and 0.45, respectively) followed by juveniles (mean value: 1.37; 0.38) and subadults (mean value: 1.30; 0.36). BDE-99/ BDE-100 ratio was significantly higher in adults than subadults (W = 5, *p* value = 0.006) and then juveniles



Figure 3. PBDE levels in the blubber of Cuvier's beaked whale in the three age classes: juvenile (light blue), subadult (medium blue) and adult (dark blue). (a) Boxplots showing Σ PBDE concentrations (mg/kg lipid weight) in blubber of Cuvier's beaked whale of juvenile (n=4), subadult male (n=8) and adult male (n=6). (b) The mean values of the individual PBDE congener for all 27 PBDE congeners, in the age classes. Error bars represent standard errors (SE).

(W = 21, p value = 0.033). Concerning BDE-153/ BDE-154 ratio, results were significantly higher in adults than subadults (W = 42, p value = 0.010), while no other differences were found among the other groups. BDE-47/99 ratios in the three age classes were higher in adults (mean value: 2.62) and subadults (mean value: 2.60) than in juveniles (mean value: 2.36).

Toxicity assessment. In order to assess the potential toxicological effect of the contaminants analysed, they were evaluated in relation to the threshold limits proposed in the literature. Two PCB toxicity thresholds were used in this study as proposed previously in other toxicological studies on cetaceans^{17,18,46}. The lowest value (9.0 mg/kg l.w. Σ PCB) was proposed as the toxicity threshold concentration for the onset of physiologic effects in marine mammals^{18,47}. The highest value (41 mg/kg l.w. Σ PCB) was proposed as a toxicity threshold for reproductive impairment in Baltic ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*⁴⁸). The Σ PCB values detected in most of our sampled individuals (80%) exceeded the lower limit, and three of them showed Σ PCB values above the highest threshold limit (two subadults and one adult: Fig. 4a).

Regarding Σ PBDE, we set the threshold at 1.5 mg/kg l.w., which has been found to be the value associated with endocrine disruption in grey seals⁴⁹. Σ PBDE concentrations detected in the different whales belonging to the three age class are all below the threshold limit except for one subadult specimen (Fig. 4b).

The potential toxicity of dl-PCBs is commonly assessed by the Toxic Equivalent Quantity (TEQ) approach, in which each's congener toxicity is relativized to that of the most toxic one, the 2,3,7,8-TCDD⁵¹. Calculated TEQs ranged from 44 to 982 pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w. It should be highlighted that in the blubber of two adults (ZCS1_3 and ZCS1_13) and two subadults (ZCS2_8 and ZCS2_9) analysed exceed the threshold of 210 pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w. the proposed threshold of immunosuppression in harbour seals⁵⁰ (Fig. 4c). However, it is important to stress that there is a wide inter-species sensitivity towards different contaminants and that there are no specific studies on this species, and few on other marine mammals.

Cytochrome P450. The detection of cytochrome CYP450 expression was carried out for the first time on this species. This analysis was successfully accomplished using the Western Blot technique which allowed the identification and quantification of cytochrome-like bands for the CYP1A1 (59 kDa) and CYP2B (56 kDa) in the dermal part of skin biopsies. The protein expression in different age classes was similar for cytochromes 1A1 and 2B with the highest values in subadults followed by adults and juveniles (Fig. 5). CYP1A1 protein expression differed significantly between juvenile and subadult, with subadults having a higher expression (W = 27; *p* value = 0.004), while no differences were noted for CYP2B. Adult females showed CYP1A1 and CYP2B expression more similar to juveniles than adult males.

A significant positive correlation was found also between CYP1A1 and CYP2B concentrations (rho = 0.59, p = 0.009). In order to evaluate the influence of PCBs and PBDEs on the expression of CYP1A1 and/or CYP2B, we ran a regression analysis on CYP1A1/CYP2B concentration against single PCB congeners, Σ PCB, different PCB groups (TriCB, TetraCB, PentaCB, HexaCB and Hepta CB, non-*ortho*-dl-PCBs, mono-*ortho*-dl-PCBs and four SAGs), single PBDE congeners, Σ PBDE and Deca-, Octa- and Penta-BDE mixtures. A check for collinearity was conducted to assess the correlation between the PCB groups. Variables showing correlation > 0.8 were not included in the regression analysis. Regression analysis was run using only Σ PCB, TriCB and non-*ortho* PCB,







Figure 5. Boxplots showing CYP1A1 and CYP2B expression (pmolCYP/mg protein) in juvenile (n=4), subadult male (n=8) and adult male (n=6). Error bars represent standard errors (SE).

but none of these components showed a statistically significant correlation with CYP1A1/CYP2B. No correlation was found between CYP1A1 and PBDEs. Similarly, no correlation was found when looking at CYP2B and PBDEs concentrations.

Discussion

This represents the first ecotoxicological study on free-ranging Cuvier's beaked whales both in the Mediterranean Sea and worldwide. Sample size (more than 20% of the estimated resident population in the Ligurian Sea) is unique for this kind of study and, above all, for this elusive species. Considering the amount of collected and analysed samples, and also the evenly distribution among age classes, the results may be extrapolated to the entire Cuvier's beaked whale population in the area.

An added value of this study is the analysis of free-ranging individuals from a well-known population, which have been continuously studied (through mark-recapture) in the last twenty-years (since the 1990s). The mark recapture data previously collected allowed an analysis of contaminants concentrations and CYPs expression according to age and life-history of most of the individual sampled and to further provide new insights on the population status.

The analysis of levels and congener profiles of the two classes of contaminants investigated in this study could also provide information about possible biological and environmental differences among age groups. The variation in congener profiles among species and age classes is likely to be driven by several factors such as differences in prey preferences during the different life stages, differences in the physiochemical, physiological and metabolic processes that occur between females and males and age classes from juveniles to adults^{25,52}.

Currently, few studies on contamination on beaked whales were published. Only three papers specifically report the PCBs and/or PBDEs levels in stranded Cuvier's beaked whales outside the Mediterranean Sea^{53–55}.

The pollutant load is also reported for other three species of beaked whales that feed at the same trophic level from Japanese waters (*Berardius bairdii*^{56,57}, *Mesoplodon stejnegeri*^{58,59} and *Mesoplodon carlhubbsi*⁶⁰) and from Canadian waters (*Hyperoodon ampullatus*)³⁴.

Contaminant concentrations found in our study are higher than those reported in previous research for beaked whales, confirming that the Mediterranean Sea represents a contamination hotspot for marine mammals^{27,52}.

Comparing the levels of Σ PCBs and Σ PBDEs with those present in the literature for the other cetacean species living in the same area, it can be highlighted that Cuvier's beaked whale showed higher levels than fin whale did^{52,61,62}. Among the odontocetes the values are lower to those reported for striped dolphin^{31,37,63}, common bottlenose dolphin⁵², Risso's dolphin⁶⁴, pilot whale^{62,64} and similar to those observed in the sperm whale^{62,65}. Differences observed were expected because of trophic level differences among the species, different prey preferences and both feeding habits and feeding ground areas.

In our study a strong positive correlation was found between PCBs and PBDEs concentrations suggesting a similar bioaccumulation of these substances in Cuvier's beaked whales and a possible common source of contamination through their diet, mainly composed by mesopelagic squid^{2,6}. The few published data on this species referred to individual specimens^{53,54}, which does not allow to investigate how sex and age variables affect the accumulation of Σ PCBs and Σ PBDEs in this species. The increase of contaminant concentrations in blubber through the different age classes observed in the male whales, confirms what was previously described in harbour porpoises⁶⁶, bottlenose dolphins²⁹ and killer whales^{67,68}. Therefore, while contaminant concentrations in males either remain stable or increase with age, in sexually mature females contaminant burdens generally decline. This may be due to the transfer of organic pollutants from females to offspring through gestation and lactation^{46,69-73}. This was also observed in Cuvier's beaked whale where the Σ PCBs and Σ PBDEs levels of the two adult females examined were lower than those of the adult males and similar to those of the young specimens. Thanks to the long-term studies conducted on this population we know that one of the females (ZCS1_4), has given birth to at least 4 calves since 1999 to the sampling date. This whale was, indeed, the one that had the lowest levels of Σ PCBs and Σ PBDEs in the dataset.

Among PCBs, the PCB-153 was the predominant congener in all age groups followed by PCB-180 and 138. This congener distribution and abundance also reflects the high deep-sea sediment and organisms' affinity towards higher chlorinated congeners relative to that of low chlorinated compounds, suggesting the ease for the former to be transported from surface waters to the deep-sea⁴⁴. However, the same trend was also observed in other beaked whales^{34,60} and marine mammals in general^{46,62,74-76}, since these compounds are non biotransformable in cetaceans^{41,77,78}. The abundance profile of non-*ortho*-dl-PCBs in the study samples ($77 \approx 126 > 169 > 81$) is similar to other beaked whales^{56,57} but is remarkably different from that reported in blubber from Mediterranean sperm whales ($126 > 169 > 77 > 81^{65}$). This is interesting given that diet is the main route of POP uptake for marine mammals and both species are deep divers sharing common prey (i.e. mainly mesopelagic squids)^{6,64}. However, it is known that many factors such as lipid content, protein-binding, blood transport, or chlorination level, among others, affect the distribution and partitioning of PCBs and other POPs across tissues in marine and terrestrial species⁷⁹. Thus, different toxicokinetics are likely to be considered behind the dissimilar abundance of non-*ortho* congeners in the blubber of these Mediterranean species instead of PCB concentration differences in their feeding habit and grounds.

The most abundant PBDEs were lower-medium brominated congeners BDE-47, BDE-99 and BDE-100, that represent the main components in the commercial penta-BDE formulations⁴². The results of this study were consistent with previous studies that reported a decrease in bioaccumulation with an increase in bromination^{62,65,80,81} as observed in other beaked whales⁵⁸ and in aquatic food webs in general⁸². Although metabolism plays an important role in the PBDE congener accumulation in aquatic organisms, lower brominated congeners have higher biomagnification potential and, thus, possible toxicological effects^{44,80}.

BDE-154 levels were also significant in all age classes. BDE-154 has been suggested to be a debromination product of BDE-183, the main congener in the technical octa-BDE mixtures^{83,84}.

An interesting result was the increase of higher brominated BDEs in younger Cuvier's beaked whales (juvenile > subadult > adult). This evidence needs to be further investigated but a possible explanation could rely on the prohibitions of Penta- and Octa-BDE commercial mixtures since 2004 (Directive 2003/11/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council). Juvenile individuals have therefore never come into direct contact with these commercial mixtures (unless through lactation), and have a higher percentage of BDE-209, which constitutes between 92 and 97% of the total BDE content in the deca-BDE formulations⁴². Possible metabolic differences in biotransformation of PCBs and PBDEs were investigated by calculating the ratios of the most dominant compounds, BDE-47/PCB-153. The lowest ratios were found in the adults, which indicates that the juveniles and subadults have a lesser developed ability for metabolic biotransformation of BDE-47, confirming what was also described in harbour porpoises from the North Sea⁴³. With regard only to PBDE metabolism, the results of BDE-99/100, 153/154 and 47/99 ratios suggest that subadults could have greater metabolic capacities of this class of compounds. Moreover, BDE congener ratios could also reflect some differences in the feeding strategies among age classes, as shown for other marine species⁴⁴. However, studies on the feeding ecology of this species in the study area are required to confirm this hypothesis.

The two CYP isoforms protein expression has been evaluated in Cuvier's beaked whale in the present study for the first time. The qualitative and quantitative CYP1A1 and 2B protein analysis showed a correlation between the two isoforms and a significant difference between age classes with the highest levels of expression in subadult males compared to juvenile and adults. A similar trend has been found, for instance, in pilot whales from North-eastern Atlantic⁸⁵ and false killer whales from Hawaii⁸⁶. It is worth noting that the levels of CYP1A1 and 2B protein induction in the two adult females are among the lowest of the dataset. This can be related both to the influence of estrogen concentrations on CYP expression due to cross-talk between the Aryl hydrocarbon Receptor (AhR) and estrogen receptor (ER) and the subsequent activation or impairment of estrogen responsive gene expression in the presence of lipophilic compounds⁸⁷ and both to the lowest levels of PCB and PBDEs accumulation in adult females due to reproductive and physiological status. However, the regulation of CYP expression patterns in Cuvier's beaked whales may be affected by and be dependent on complex biological and metabolic pathways. These are related to the diet and physiology of this species, which are poorly investigated and need further investigation. No correlation was found between the two classes of compounds detected in the blubber (including any category shown in Table 1) and CYP1A1 and CYP2B analysed in the skin of Cuvier's beaked whale. Also focusing on correlating specific compound which induce specifically the two isoforms, planar compounds (non- and mono-ortho PCBs) and CYPIA1 expression, and non-planar compounds (>2 ortho chlorine compounds) with CYP2B, any statistical correlation exists among all age classes. Our data show that the PCBs and PBDEs, which accumulated in the blubber (at least in the outer part of the blubber sampled by skin biopsy remote dart sampling), did not correlate with the induction of CYP isoforms expression. Comparing our data to the only other beaked whale species analysed, Hyperoodon ampullatus, was also found to have no correlation between CYP1A1 expression and detected contaminants³⁴. However, despite this is true also in some other cetacean species, including deep-divers^{33,86}, it should be considered that older animals accumulate higher POP levels due to biomagnification but CYPs expression change in the context of maturation and aging being less efficient than younger animals⁸⁸ and posing a further risk to the adult males. An additional analysis on the CYP isoforms was performed correlating SAGs with the protein expression. SAG 1, 2 and 5 are considered highly persistent because of their high level of chlorination and, therefore, are poorly metabolized, whereas SAG 3 and 4 are less persistent because they are less chlorinated and more easily metabolized by CYP1A1-mediated enzymes. Thus, this classification appears more appropriate to assess the potential ecotoxicological effects on cetaceans exposed to PCBs. The SAG classification approach became necessary since cetaceans have reduced capability of metabolising non dl-PCBs; therefore, these compounds can accumulate and become toxic to the organisms because of their low CYP2B enzyme activity, compared to other mammal species⁴¹. Moreover, a wide range of toxic effects were reported for non dl PCBs, which can act through a non-AHR-dependent response⁸⁹. In this study no significant correlations were found between specific SAG congeners (1-4) and CYP1A1 and CYP2B protein expression in all three age classes. This suggests that the protein induction could be due to exposure to other classes of contaminants rather than those measured. It could also be that the levels of exposure that cause effects and negative physiological responses (e.g. age-related CYPs expression) in this species can be different from other cetacean species. Considering also the toxicity assessment of the compounds investigated, any significant relationship between calculated TEQ and CYP1A1 and CYP2B expression were shown. This evidence, already observed in other studies⁸⁶, suggests that CYP1A1 and 2B expression can be related to broader and different AhR agonists not measured in the present study.

To gain a better understanding of the significance of the PCB and PBDE findings, toxicity profiles need to be quantified. This is a difficult task due to the vast range of mechanisms, toxicities, and synergistic and antagonistic interactions inter-species sensitivity. This is further confounded by the absence of specific studies on this species and the limited number of similar studies on other marine mammals. The use of Toxic Equivalency Factors (TEFs) to achieve TEQ constitutes an accurate approach for toxic risk assessments associated with dioxin-like compounds. This permits cetacean based evaluations on the different contribution of each pollutant to the TEQ⁵¹.

Overall, in our study only four whales (20% of dataset) exceed the threshold of 210 pg WHO-TEQ/g l.w. in blubber, proposed as the starting point for immunosuppression in harbour seals⁵⁰. TEQ values are the lowest amongst those tested for other toothed whales in the Mediterranean Sea^{62,65}, but this could be due to lack of PCDD/Fs contribution in our study.

However, over 80% of the whales considered in this study exceeded the lower toxicity threshold of 9 mg/kg l.w. for PCBs, the level at which marine mammals suffer physiological effects⁴⁷. Furthermore, three animals (15%) exceeded the higher PCB threshold of 41 mg/kg l.w.⁴⁸. The percentage of animals surpassing these thresholds is lower than what has been observed in striped¹⁸ and the bottlenose dolphins⁴⁶. As discussed by several scientific papers^{18,25}, the lower toxicity threshold may overestimate the true PCB risk to cetaceans, however, it is important to stress that there is a wide inter-species sensitivity towards different contaminants and that there are no specific studies on this species, and few on marine mammals⁴⁷.

The risk posed to Cuvier's beaked whales from PBDEs may be low as all whales, in all age classes, were below the toxicity threshold limit, unlike other cetacean species in the Mediterranean⁵² or elsewhere in the world⁸⁰.

However, it is important to understand that the responses to the toxic effects of contaminants is highly specific to individual's physiological status, nutrition state, body size and age. Therefore, caution is needed in applying such threshold levels on large cetaceans^{47,70} failure to do so may lead to an over or underestimation of the risk posed to a species or population.

All these data suggest that the health of a population, exposed to a mixture of known and unknown compounds, may depend not only on the levels of contaminants accumulated, but also on the effects which may occur when the levels of accumulation of environmental contaminants are below or near the established threshold levels.

For all these reasons, the integration of the data on the population structure and dynamics and the data on PCBs, PBDEs and CYPs responses on a poorly studied species and genetically isolated population, in an area of high ecological value and, also, taking into consideration the life history of each individual, makes the study unique for living cetaceans in the Mediterranean Sea.

All whales sampled were found to have detectable levels of PCBs, so at a minimum 20% of the population is affected and it could be assumed that all Cuvier's beaked whales in the Pelagos Sanctuary have some levels of POPs. Furthermore, given that 80% were well above toxicity thresholds, it could be said that a large proportion of population could undergo negative physiological effects (including endocrine disruption).

These findings shed light on an additional anthropogenic threat, the chemical pollution, poorly considered so far for Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales and its conservation, that should be considered—together with the anthropogenic noise—the main threat for this species in the Mediterranean sea¹². Characterizing the exposure and effects to a plethora of threats in wild cetaceans can pave the way towards the comprehension of the actions needed for the effective conservation of specific populations and, ultimately, species.

Methods

Permits, ethics statement and approval. Biopsies were obtained in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations imposed by the Ministry for Environment, Territory and Sea (MATTM) and under sampling permits n. 0018799/PNM released from the same Italian institute (Div. II) and the Italian National Institute for Environmental Protection and Research (ISPRA). The research permits also included the necessary ethical approval in terms of sample collection, analysis and use for scientific studies.

Biopsy collection. Biopsies of Cuvier's beaked whales were collected in the Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean Sea) in 2014 and 2015. A 60-foot sailing vessel was used as a research platform allowing the research crew to reach the core of the study area and stay at sea overnight during consecutive days. The vessel towed a 4.3 m long 20 hp RHIB that was used to approach the whales during biopsy collection operations. Skin biopsies were collected in a specific dorso-lateral area below the dorsal fin using a 68 kg draw weight recurve crossbow (Barnett Panzer V). We obtained about 1 g of tissue samples using stainless steel biopsy tips (30 mm × 8 mm) attached to 18" bolts. Tips were sterilized before use. The tissue samples obtained were stored in liquid nitrogen a few minutes after biopsy collection and stored at - 80 °C until laboratory analysis.

Age class classification. All the whales biopsied have been sized in situ and photographed in order to allow both age classification and individual identification (i.e. only individuals showing adequate natural marking have been identified). All the whales photographed were separated into three different age classes—juveniles, subadults, adults. Animals were categorized in the age classes by both the estimated size and coloration patterns^{39,40}. All the subadult and adult whales biopsied were well-marked allowing for individual identification. The photographs of the individuals identified were compared with each other and to photographs from 158 previously identified individuals collected during previous years (since 1998) in the same study area (CIMA Foundation database) gaining information on the life history of the sampled animals and making a crude estimation of the possible age.

Sex determination. The sex was first estimated in the field based on size, coloration pattern, natural marking severity and individual history if the animals were already present in the photo-id catalogue. Sex was then confirmed by molecular sex determination based on ZFY/ZFX gene⁹⁰. DNA was isolated by 20 mg of dermal tissue homogenised with a Tissue Lyser (Qiagen). The Wizard SV Genomic DNA Purification Kit (Promega) was used for DNA isolation according to the manufacturer's instructions. DNA was quantified by Nano-Drop ND-100 UV–Vis spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies LLC) and purity assessed by 280/260 nm and 260/230 nm ratios. Gender was determined using 50–100 ng of DNA in standard PCR reactions following the protocol described by⁹⁰.

Cytochrome analysis: Western Blot. Analysis of cytochrome P450 CYP1A1 and CYP2B, used in this study as marker of POPs exposure, were analysed in the dermal part of the skin biopsies of Cuvier's beaked whale using western-blotting (WB) techniques followed by a semi-quantitative analysis of the data⁹¹. A triplicate skin standard for odontocetes was used as internal standard during all the WB procedures to monitor the accuracy of the analytical method.

Sub-samples of biopsies (about 30 mg) were weighted and homogenized using a Tissue Lyser (Qiagen) in arylhydrocarbon-receptor (AhR) buffer (1:10)⁹². The homogenates were centrifuged and supernatants (S9 fractions) were collected and immediately frozen at -80 °C until analysis. Proteins were separated by 10% polyacrylamide gels (SDS-PAGE, Criterion XT Precast Gel, Bio-Rad) and blotted onto nitrocellulose sheets for 1 h at 375 mA. The membranes were saturated with a blocking solution for 1 h at room temperature and then incubated over-night with primary polyclonal anti-bodies Goat anti-rabbit CYP1A1 and anti-CYP2B (Oxford Biochemical Research; Oxford MI, USA), diluted 1:5000 and 1:1000 respectively, in TTBS 1% gelatin. Incubation with secondary anti-body anti-goat HRP-labelled (Immun-Star-HRP-Chemiluminescent-Ki, Bio-Rad), diluted 1:3000 in TTBS 1% gelatin, was performed for 90 min at room temperature and protein detection was carried out according to the manufacturer's instruction. Semi-quantitative analysis was performed using the Quantity One software (1-D Analysis Software, Bio-Rad). Molecular weights for CYP1A1 and CYP2B peptide have been calculated by the lane-based functions with multiple regression models using as a Precision Plus Protein Standard (Bio-Rad).

Contaminant analysis. Sample processing. PCBs and PBDEs were analysed in blubber samples using the method described in⁶⁵. Briefly, pollutants were extracted in a Soxhlet apparatus (24 h) with a n-hexane: dichloromethane (9:1) mixture. Samples were previously homogenised with anhydrous sodium sulphate (Na₂SO₄) and spiked with a suite of ¹³C-labeled standards of target contaminants. Resulting extracts were purified by means of the automated sample preparation system DEXTech + (LCTech GmbH, Dorfen, Germany) providing two fractions: F1 containing PBDEs and PCBs (save non-*ortho* PCBs), and F2 containing non-*ortho* PCBs. Fractions were evaporated using a TurboVap (Zymarck Inc., Hopkinton, MA, USA) system until~1 mL and dried under a gentle nitrogen stream. A few microliters of ¹³C-labeled injection standards of PCBs and PBDEs were used for reconstitution of each sample prior to instrumental analysis. The lipid content of samples was obtained gravimetrically from weight measures before and after extraction. Comprehensive details on the whole sample analysis can be found in the Supplementary Information 2 (SI).

Instrumental determination. Six indicator PCB (PCB-28, 52, 101, 138, 153, 180), twelve dl-PCBs (PCB-77, 81, 105, 114, 118, 123, 126, 156, 157, 167, 169, 189) and twenty-seven PBDE (BDE-3, 7, 15, 17, 28, 47, 49, 66, 71, 77, 85, 99, 100, 119, 126, 138, 153, 154, 156, 183, 184, 191, 196, 197, 206, 207 209) were investigated by means of gas chromatography coupled to high resolution mass spectrometry (GC-HRMS). Specifically, the quantification was carried out by the isotopic dilution technique on a Trace GC Ultra gas chromatograph (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Milan, Italy) coupled to a high-resolution mass spectrometer (DFS, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). A full description of the instrumental parameters can be found in the SI.

QA/QC. To avoid contamination all material was cleaned (3X) with the following solvents of decreasing polarity: acetone, dichloromethane and n-hexane. Particular care was taken to minimize exposure to UV light during the whole analytical procedure. A procedural blank was included within each batch of six samples. The isotopic dilution technique was used for quantification according to the following criteria: (a) ratio between the two monitored ions within ±15% of the theoretical value, and (b) limits of quantification (LOQs) corresponding to S/N of 10. Final concentrations were blank corrected and intrinsically corrected by recoveries. Satisfactory results were obtained from the analyses (n = 3) of the certified standard reference material SRM 1945 ("Organics in Whale Blubber", NIST). Additional data related to QA/QC is provided in the Supplementary Information 2. Toxic Equivalent Quantities (TEQ) for dl-PCBs were determined using the World Health Organization (WHO)-2005 Toxic Equivalency Factors (TEF) for mammals⁵¹.

Non-detected values were calculated according to the medium bound with the substitution of non-detected compounds with the half of the detection limit (LOD).

Statistical analyses. Statistical analyses were conducted using the software RStudio v.1.1.453 and graphic elaborations were realized using ggplot2 package⁹³. Shapiro-Wilks test revealed non-normal distribution for PCBs and PBDEs, while a normal distribution was confirmed for CYP1A e CYP2B. Independent Mann–Whitney U tests were used to compare levels of major contaminant and cytochrome activity among different age groups. If a significant difference was obtained (*p* value < 0.05), post-hoc Dunn's multiple comparison was performed for individual comparisons of age groups. A regression analysis was used to evaluate the influence of PCBs and PBDEs on the expression of CYP1A1 and/or CYP2B. Spearman's rank correlation was adopted to measure the correlation between variables. All statistical analyses were considered significant at p < 0.05.

Received: 2 June 2020; Accepted: 1 December 2020 Published online: 14 December 2020

References

- 1. Tyack, P. L., Johnson, M., Soto, N. A., Sturlese, A. & Madsen, P. T. Extreme diving of beaked whales. J. Exp. Biol. 209, 4238–4253 (2006).
- Baird, R. W. Cuvier's beaked whale. In *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals* 234–237 (Elsevier, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-804327-1.00100-X.
- 3. Hooker, S. K. *et al.* Future directions in research on beaked whales. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 5, 514 (2019).
- 4. Dalebout, M. L. *et al.* Worldwide structure of mtDNA diversity among Cuvier's beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris): implications for threatened populations. *Mol. Ecol.* **14**, 3353–3371 (2005).
- Cañadas, A. *et al.* The challenge of habitat modelling for threatened low density species using heterogeneous data: the case of Cuvier's beaked whales in the Mediterranean. *Ecol. Indic.* 85, 128–136 (2018).
- Podestà, M. et al. Cuvier's beaked whale, Ziphius cavirostris, distribution and occurrence in the mediterranean sea. In Advances in Marine Biology vol. 75 103–140 (Elsevier, 2016).

- 7. Tepsich, P., Rosso, M., Halpin, P. & Moulins, A. Habitat preferences of two deep-diving cetacean species in the northern Ligurian Sea. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.* **508**, 247–260 (2014).
- Fernández, A. et al. "Gas and fat embolic syndrome" involving a mass stranding of beaked whales (Family Ziphiidae) exposed to anthropogenic sonar signals. Vet. Pathol. 42, 446–457 (2005).
- 9. Frantzis, A. Does acoustic testing strand whales?. Nature 392, 29-29 (1998).
- 10. Cox, T. *et al.* Understanding the impacts of anthropogenic sound on beaked whales. *J. Cetacean Res. Manag.* 7(3), 189–209 (2006).
- Aguilar Soto, N. et al. Does intense ship noise disrupt foraging in deep-diving cuvier's beaked whales (Ziphius cavirostris)?. Mar. Mammal Sci. 22, 690–699 (2006).
 Delation of Cuvier's based on the Market and the Market and Cutences. But Market 2010.
- 12. Podestà, M. *et al.* A review of Cuvier's beaked whale strandings in the Mediterranean Sea. *J. Cetacean Res. Manag.* 7, 251–261 (2006).
- 13. Azzellino, A. *et al.* Noise impact on sperm whale (*P. macrocephalus*) and Cuvier's beaked whale (*Z. cavirostris*), estimated from the marine traffic: Final report. 140 (2016).
- 14. Azzellino, A. *et al.* Risk mapping for sensitive species to underwater anthropogenic sound emissions: model development and validation in two Mediterranean areas. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* **63**, 56–70 (2011).
- IUCN. Ziphius cavirostris (Mediterranean subpopulation): Cañadas, A. & Notarbartolo di Sciara, G.: The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species 2018: e.T16381144A50286386. (2018) https://doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.2018-2.RLTS.T16381144A50286 386.en.
- Wenning, R. J. & Martello, L. POPs in Marine and Freshwater Environments. In Environmental Forensics for Persistent Organic Pollutants 357–390 (Elsevier, 2014). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59424-2.00008-6.
- 17. Desforges, J.-P. et al. Response to L. witting: PCBs still a major risk for global killer whale populations. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 35, 1201-1206 (2019).
- Jepson, P. D. et al. PCB pollution continues to impact populations of orcas and other dolphins in European waters. Sci. Rep. 6, 18573 (2016).
- Romero-Romero, S., Herrero, L., Fernández, M., Gómara, B. & Acuña, J. L. Biomagnification of persistent organic pollutants in a deep-sea, temperate food web. Sci. Total Environ. 605–606, 589–597 (2017).
- 20. Green, A. & Larson, S. A review of organochlorine contaminants in nearshore marine mammal predators. *J. Environ. Anal. Toxicol.* **06** (2016).
- 21. Arias, A. H. *et al.* Franciscana dolphins as PCBs marine biomonitors in Argentina, south-west Atlantic Ocean. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. UK **96**, 979–992 (2016).
- 22. Wiseman, S. B. *et al.* Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and their hydroxylated/methoxylated analogs: environmental sources, metabolic relationships, and relative toxicities. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* **63**, 179–188 (2011).
- 23. Sauvé, S. & Desrosiers, M. A review of what is an emerging contaminant. Chem. Cent. J. 8, 15 (2014).
- 24. Desforges, J.-P.W. et al. Immunotoxic effects of environmental pollutants in marine mammals. Environ. Int. 86, 126–139 (2016).
- Murphy, S. et al. Organochlorine contaminants and reproductive implication in cetaceans. In Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology 3–38 (Elsevier, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00001-2.
- Schwacke, L. H. *et al.* Anaemia, hypothyroidism and immune suppression associated with polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*). *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 279, 48–57 (2012).
- Stuart-Smith, S. & Jepson, P. Persistent threats need persistent counteraction: responding to PCB pollution in marine mammals. Mar. Policy 84, 69–75 (2017).
- Hall, A. J. et al. Predicting the effects of polychlorinated biphenyls on cetacean populations through impacts on immunity and calf survival. Environ. Pollut. 233, 407–418 (2018).
- Hall, A. J. et al. Individual-based model framework to assess population consequences of polychlorinated biphenyl exposure in bottlenose dolphins. Environ. Health Perspect. 114, 60–64 (2006).
- Godard-Codding, C. A. J. & Fossi, M. C. Field sampling techniques and ecotoxicologic biomarkers in cetaceans. In Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology 237–259 (Elsevier, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00009-7.
- Fossi, M. C. et al. An "ex vivo" model to evaluate toxicological responses to mixtures of contaminants in cetaceans: integumentum biopsy slices: "Ex Vivo" models for monitoring toxicological responses in cetaceans. Environ. Toxicol. 29, 1107–1121 (2014).
- 32. Godard, C. A. J. Induction of cetacean cytochrome P4501A1 by—naphthoflavone exposure of skin biopsy slices. *Toxicol. Sci.* **80**, 268–275 (2004).
- Godard-Codding, C. A. J. et al. Pacific ocean-wide profile of CYP1A1 expression, stable carbon and nitrogen isotope ratios, and
 organic contaminant burden in sperm whale skin biopsies. Environ. Health Perspect. 119, 337–343 (2011).
- Hooker, S. K. *et al.* Changes in persistent contaminant concentration and CYP1A1 protein expression in biopsy samples from northern bottlenose whales, *Hyperoodon ampullatus*, following the onset of nearby oil and gas development. *Environ. Pollut.* 152, 205–216 (2008).
- Montie, E. W. et al. Cytochrome P4501A1 expression, polychlorinated biphenyls and hydroxylated metabolites, and adipocyte size
 of bottlenose dolphins from the Southeast United States. Aquat. Toxicol. 86, 397–412 (2008).
- 36. Coomber, F. G. *et al.* Description of the vessel traffic within the north Pelagos Sanctuary: inputs for marine spatial planning and management implications within an existing international marine protected area. *Mar. Policy* **69**, 102–113 (2016).
- Fossi, M. C. *et al.* The pelagos sanctuary for mediterranean marine mammals: marine protected area (MPA) or marine polluted area? The case study of the striped dolphin (*Stenella coeruleoalba*). *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* **70**, 64–72 (2013).
- Notarbartolo di Sciara, G. Marine mammals in the mediterranean sea. In *Advances in Marine Biology* vol. 75 1–36 (Elsevier, 2016).
 Coomber, F., Moulins, A., Tepsich, P. & Rosso, M. Sexing free-ranging adult Cuvier's beaked whales (*Ziphius cavirostris*) using
- natural marking thresholds and pigmentation patterns. J. Mammal. 97, 879–890 (2016).
 40. Rosso, M., Ballardini, M., Moulins, A. & Würtz, M. Natural markings of Cuvier's beaked whale Ziphius cavirostris in the Mediterranean Sea. Afr. J. Mar. Sci. 33, 45–57 (2011).
- Boon, J. P. et al. Concentration-dependent changes of pcb patterns in fish-eating mammals: structural evidence for induction of cytochrome P450. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 33, 298–311 (1997).
- La Guardia, M. J., Hale, R. C. & Harvey, E. Detailed polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) congener composition of the widely used Penta-, Octa-, and Deca-PBDE technical flame-retardant mixtures. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 40, 6247–6254 (2006).
- 43. Weijs, L., van Elk, C., Das, K., Blust, R. & Covaci, A. Persistent organic pollutants and methoxylated PBDEs in harbour porpoises from the North Sea from 1990 until 2008: young wildlife at risk?. *Sci. Total Environ.* **409**, 228–237 (2010).
- Koenig, S., Huertas, D. & Fernández, P. Legacy and emergent persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in NW Mediterranean deep-sea organisms. Sci. Total Environ. 443, 358–366 (2013).
- Voorspoels, S., Covaci, A. & Schepens, P. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers in marine species from the Belgian North Sea and the western scheldt estuary: levels, profiles, and distribution. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 37, 4348–4357 (2003).
- 46. Genov, T. *et al.* Linking organochlorine contaminants with demographic parameters in free-ranging common bottlenose dolphins from the northern Adriatic Sea. *Sci. Total Environ.* **657**, 200–212 (2019).
- Kannan, K., Blankenship, A. L., Jones, P. D. & Giesy, J. P. Toxicity reference values for the toxic effects of polychlorinated biphenyls to aquatic mammals. *Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. Int. J.* 6, 181–201 (2000).
- 48. Helle, E., Olsson, M. & Jensen, S. PCB levels correlated with pathological changes in seal uteri. Ambio 5, 261-262 (1976).

- Hall, A. J., Kalantzi, O. I. & Thomas, G. O. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) in grey seals during their first year of life—are they thyroid hormone endocrine disrupters?. *Environ. Pollut.* 126, 29–37 (2003).
- Ross, P. S. et al. Contaminant-related suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity and antibody responses in harbor seals fed herring from the Baltic Sea. Environ. Health Perspect. 103, 162–167 (1995).
- Van den Berg, M. et al. The 2005 world health organization reevaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds. *Toxicol. Sci.* 93, 223–241 (2006).
- Marsili, L., Jiménez, B. & Borrell, A. Persistent Organic Pollutants in Cetaceans Living in a Hotspot Area. In Marine Mammal Ecotoxicology 185-212 (Elsevier, 2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812144-3.00007-3.
- Bachman, M. J., Keller, J. M., West, K. L. & Jensen, B. A. Persistent organic pollutant concentrations in blubber of 16 species of cetaceans stranded in the Pacific Islands from 1997 through 2011. Sci. Total Environ. 488–489, 115–123 (2014).
- 54. Law, R. J., Allchin, C. R. & Mead, L. K. Brominated diphenyl ethers in the blubber of twelve species of marine mammals stranded in the UK. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* **50**, 356–359 (2005).
- 55. Knap, A. H. & Jickells, T. D. Trace metals and organochlorines in the goosebeaked whale. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 14(7), 271–274 (1983).
- Tanabe, S., Kannan, N., Ono, M. & Tatsukawa, R. Toxic threat to marine mammals: increasing toxic potential of non-ortho and mono-ortho coplanar PCBs from land to ocean. *Chemosphere* 18, 485–490 (1989).
- Kannan, N., Tanabe, S., Ono, M. & Tatsukawa, R. Critical evaluation of polychlorinated biphenyl toxicity in terrestrial and marine mammals: increasing impact of non-ortho and mono-ortho coplanar polychlorinated biphenyls from land to ocean. *Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 18, 850–857 (1989).
- 58. Kajiwara, N. et al. Geographical distribution of polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs) and organochlorines in small cetaceans from Asian waters. Chemosphere 64, 287–295 (2006).
- Miyazaki, N., Nakamura, I., Tanabe, S. & Tatsukawa, R. A stranding of mesoplodon stejegeri in the Maizuru Bay, Sea of Japan. Sci. Rep. Whales Res. Inst. 38, 91–105 (1987).
- 60. Anezaki, K., Matsuda, A. & Matsuishi, T. Concentration and congener pattern of polychlorinated biphenyls in blubber and liver of Hubbs' beaked whale (*Mesoplodon carlhubbsi*), using a sulfoxide and an Ag-ION solid phase extraction cartridge as a simplified cleanup technique for biological samples. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* **113**, 282–286 (2016).
- 61. Fossi, M. C. *et al.* Fin whales and microplastics: the Mediterranean Sea and the Sea of Cortez scenarios. *Environ. Pollut.* **209**, 68–78 (2016).
- Pinzone, M. et al. POPs in free-ranging pilot whales, sperm whales and fin whales from the Mediterranean Sea: influence of biological and ecological factors. Environ. Res. 142, 185–196 (2015).
- 63. Marsili, L. & Focardi, S. Organochlorine levels in subcutaneous blubber biopsies of fin whales (*Balaenoptera physalus*) and striped dolphins (*Stenella coeruleoalba*) from the Mediterranean Sea. *Environ. Pollut.* **91**, 1–9 (1996).
- Praca, E. et al. Toothed whales in the northwestern Mediterranean: Insight into their feeding ecology using chemical tracers. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 62, 1058–1065 (2011).
- Bartalini, A. et al. Evaluation of PCDD/Fs, dioxin-like PCBs and PBDEs in sperm whales from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 653, 1417–1425 (2019).
- Murphy, S. et al. Reproductive failure in UK harbour porpoises Phocoena phocoena: legacy of pollutant exposure?. PLoS ONE 10, e0131085 (2015).
- Hickie, B. E., Ross, P. S., Macdonald, R. W. & Ford, J. K. B. Killer whales (Orcinus orca) face protracted health risks associated with lifetime exposure to PCBs. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 6613–6619 (2007).
- Krahn, M. M. et al. Effects of age, sex and reproductive status on persistent organic pollutant concentrations in "Southern Resident" killer whales. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 1522–1529 (2009).
- 69. Borrell, A., Bloch, D. & Desportes, G. Age trends and reproductive transfer of organochlorine compounds in long-finned pilot whales from the Faroe Islands. *Environ. Pollut.* **88**, 283–292 (1995).
- Schwacke, L. H. et al. Probabilistic risk assessment of reproductive effects of polychlorinated biphenyls on bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from the Southeast United States coast. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 21, 2752–2764 (2002).
- 71. Vos, J. G., Bossart, G., Fournier, M. & O'Shea, T. Toxicology of Marine Mammals (CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2002).
- 72. Weijs, L. *et al.* Assessing levels of halogenated organic compounds in mass-stranded long-finned pilot whales (*Globicephala melas*) from Australia. *Sci. Total Environ.* **461–462**, 117–125 (2013).
- 73. Wells, R. S. *et al.* Integrating life-history and reproductive success data to examine potential relationships with organochlorine compounds for bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) in Sarasota Bay, Florida. *Sci. Total Environ.* **349**, 106–119 (2005).
- 74. Fair, P. A. *et al.* Contaminant blubber burdens in Atlantic bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) from two southeastern US estuarine areas: concentrations and patterns of PCBs, pesticides, PBDEs, PFCs, and PAHs. *Sci. Total Environ.* 408, 1577–1597 (2010).
- Romanić, S. H. et al. Organochlorine contaminants in tissues of common bottlenose dolphins Tursiops truncatus from the northeastern part of the Adriatic Sea. Environ. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 38, 469–479 (2014).
- Weijs, L., Leusch, F. & Covaci, A. Concentrations of legacy persistent organic pollutants and naturally produced MeO-PBDEs in dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) from Moreton Bay, Australia. *Chemosphere* 229, 500–508 (2019).
- 77. Williams, R. S. *et al.* Juvenile harbor porpoises in the UK are exposed to a more neurotoxic mixture of polychlorinated biphenyls than adults. *Sci. Total Environ.* **708**, 134835 (2020).
- Yordy, J. E. *et al.* Life history as a source of variation for persistent organic pollutant (POP) patterns in a community of common bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) resident to Sarasota Bay, FL. *Sci. Total Environ.* 408, 2163–2172 (2010).
- 79. Vijayasarathy, S., Weijs, L., Grant, S., Gallen, M. & Gaus, C. PCDD/F and PCB levels in different tissues from dugongs (*Dugong dugon*) inhabiting the Queensland coastline. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* **139**, 23–31 (2019).
- Alonso, M. B. et al. Anthropogenic (PBDE) and naturally-produced (MeO-PBDE) brominated compounds in cetaceans—a review. Sci. Total Environ. 481, 619–634 (2014).
- Zaccaroni, A., Andreini, R., Franzellitti, S., Barceló, D. & Eljarrat, E. Halogenated flame retardants in stranded sperm whales (*Physeter macrocephalus*) from the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Total Environ. 635, 892–900 (2018).
- Johnson-Restrepo, B., Kannan, K., Addink, R. & Adams, D. H. Polybrominated diphenyl ethers and polychlorinated biphenyls in a marine foodweb of Coastal Florida. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39, 8243–8250 (2005).
- 83. Roberts, S. C., Noyes, P. D., Gallagher, E. P. & Stapleton, H. M. Species-Specific differences and structure-activity relationships in the debromination of PBDE congeners in three fish species. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **45**, 1999–2005 (2011).
- Stapleton, H. M., Alaee, M., Letcher, R. J. & Baker, J. E. Debromination of the flame retardant decabromodiphenyl ether by juvenile carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) following dietary exposure. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 38, 112–119 (2004).
- Hoydal, K. S., Jenssen, B. M., Letcher, R. J., Dam, M. & Arukwe, A. Hepatic phase I and II biotransformation responses and contaminant exposure in long-finned pilot whales from the Northeastern Atlantic. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 134, 44–54 (2018).
- Foltz, K. M., Baird, R. W., Ylitalo, G. M. & Jensen, B. A. Cytochrome P4501A1 expression in blubber biopsies of endangered false killer whales (*Pseudorca crassidens*) and nine other odontocete species from Hawai'i. *Ecotoxicology* 23, 1607–1618 (2014).
- Ohtake, F., Fujii-Kuriyama, Y., Kawajiri, K. & Kato, S. Cross-talk of dioxin and estrogen receptor signals through the ubiquitin system. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 127, 102–107 (2011).
- 88. Xu, S.-F. et al. Age-associated changes of cytochrome P450 and related phase-2 gene/proteins in livers of rats. PeerJ 7, e7429 (2019).

- Pessah, I. N., Lein, P. J., Seegal, R. F. & Sagiv, S. K. Neurotoxicity of polychlorinated biphenyls and related organohalogens. Acta Neuropathol. (Berl.) 138, 363–387 (2019).
- Berube, M. & Palsbøll, P. Identification of sex in Cetaceans by multiplexing with three ZFX and ZFY specific primers. *Mol. Ecol.* 5, 283–287 (1996).
- Fossi, M. C., Casini, S., Bucalossi, D. & Marsili, L. First detection of CYP1A1 and CYP2B induction in Mediterranean cetacean skin biopsies and cultured fibroblasts by Western blot analysis. *Mar. Environ. Res.* 66, 3–6 (2008).
- Wilson, J. Y. et al. Correlates of cytochrome P450 1A1 expression in bottlenose Dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) integument biopsies. *Toxicol. Sci.* 97, 111–119 (2007).
- 93. Wickham, H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis (Springer, Berlin, 2016).

Acknowledgements

This work was partially supported by the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), Grant Number: 13.6257.3-002.00–81197130, within the Plastic Busters Project-SDSN Solution Initiative. The authors are grateful to Francesco Rebagliati and all CETASMUS interns.

Author contributions

M.B. participated to the sampling, performed the W.B. analysis, analysed the data, coordinated the writing of the manuscript; C.P. performed sex determination, contributed to the analysis of the data; M.C.F. conceived the study, participated to the sampling, coordinated the experiment; B.J. coordinated the contaminant analysis; P.T. performed the survey at sea, the population study and the statistical analysis; A.M. performed the survey at sea and performed the population study; F.C. performed the sampling and language revision of the ms; A.B. performed the laboratory analysis of chemicals and generated analytical data; J.M.A. generated analytical data and supervised the chemical analysis; M.R. conceived and coordinated the field study, designed the survey, performed most of the sampling and the population study. M.R., B.J. and M.C.F. obtained funding for the data collection and laboratory analysis. All authors contributed to the writing process, reviewed critically the drafts of the manuscript, and gave final approval for publication.

Competing interests

The authors declare no competing interests.

Additional information

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at (https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-020-78962-3).

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to C.P.

Reprints and permissions information is available at www.nature.com/reprints.

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2020

9.2. List of acronyms and abbreviations (alphabetical order)

A

AhR: Aryl hydrocarbon receptor

B

BAT: Best available techniques BBO: Bogue BEP: Best environmental practices BFRs: Brominated flame retardants BS: Blue shark

С

CBW: Cuvier's beaked whale CPs: Chlorinated paraffins

CYP1A1: Cytochrome P450, family 1, subfamily A, polypeptide 1

D

DDT: Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane

DL-PCBs: Dioxin-like polychlorinated biphenyls DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid

DP: Dechlorane plus

E

ECD: Electron capture detector EEN: Anchovy EI+: Positive electronic ionization EPA: Environmental Protection Agency

F

F: Female

FAO: Food and Agricultural Organization

FL: Fork length

G

GC-HRMS: Gas chromatography high resolution mass spectrometry GLC: Gas-liquid chromatography

GLG: Growth layer groups

GMP: Global monitoring plan

GSAs: Geographical Subareas of the Mediterranean Sea

Ι

IARC: International Agency for Research on Cancer

IFCS: Intergovernmental Forum on Chemical Safety

i-PCBs: Indicator polychlorinated biphenyls

IUCN: International Union for Conservation of Nature

L

LOD: Limit of detection LOQ: Limits of quantification LRT: Long-range transport l.w.: Lipid weight

М

M: Male MAP: Mediterranean Action Plan MCPAs: Marine and Coastal Protected Areas MSFD: Marine strategy framework directive

0

OCs: Organochlorine pesticides

OH-PCBs: Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls

OSPAR: Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic

Р

PBDEs: Polybrominated diphenyl ethers

PBT: Pentabromotoluene

PCBs: Polychlorinated biphenyls

PCDD/Fs: Polychlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins and –furans

PCDDs: Polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins

PCDFs: Polychlorinated dibenzofurans

PFAS: Per- and polyfluoroalkylated substances

PFOS: Perfluorooctanesulfonic acid

PIC: Prior informed consent

POPs: Persistent organic pollutants

Q

QA/QC: Quality assurance/quality control

R

REACH: Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction to Chemicals

RSD: Relative standard deviation

S

SD: Standard deviation SIM: Selected ion monitoring SPC: Sardine SRM: Standard Reference Material SW: Sperm whale

T

TCDD: 2378-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin TEF: Toxic equivalency factor TEQ: Toxic equivalency quotient

U

UNEP: United Nations Environment Programme US: United States

W

WHO: World Health Organization

9.3. List of figures

Figure 1. Chemical structure of PCBs (with $1 \le n \le 10$).

Figure 2. Chemical structure of PBDEs (with $1 \le n+m \le 10$).

Figure 3. Chemical structure of PCDDs (left) and PCDFs (with $1 \le x+y \le 8$).

Figure 4. Depiction of the sperm whale.

Figure 5. Depiction of the Cuvier's beaked whale.

Figure 6. Depiction of the European sardine.

Figure 7. Depiction of the European anchovy.

Figure 8. Depiction of the bogue.

Figure 9. Depiction of the blue shark.

Figure 10. Depiction of the Mediterranean Sea (34.5531° N, 18.0480° E). (https://earth.google.com/web/)

Figure 11. Depiction of North East Atlantic Ocean, subdivided into the different OSPAR areas. (https://www.ospar.org/convention/the-north-east-atlantic)

Figure 12. Sampling areas for the six marine species under study. (Map from https://earth.google.com/web/)

Figure 13. Schematics of the DEXTech+ system used in its alumina configuration.

Figure 14. Schematics of the chromatographic column set-up used in the purification process.

Figure 15. Average contribution of each DL-PCB (non-*ortho* PCB congeners zoomed in) to the total DL-PCB content in Mediterranean sperm whales stranded in 2008, 2009 and 2016. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Figure 16. Average contribution of each PBDE congener to the total PBDE content in Mediterranean sperm whales stranded in 2008, 2009 and 2016. Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 1% are represented on the top.

Figure 17. Average contribution of each PCDD/F congener to the total PCDD/F content in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales stranded in 2008, 2009 and 2016. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Figure 18. Average contribution of each PCB congener to the total PCB content in blubber of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015. Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 0.5% are represented on the top.

Figure 19. Average contribution of each PBDE congener to the total PBDE content in blubber of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015. Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 0.5% are represented on the top.

Figure 20. Average contribution of the main BDE congeners from the three technical mixtures (Penta-BDE, Octa-BDE, Deca-BDE) to the total PBDE content in blubber of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Figure 21. Average contribution of each PCB congener to the total PCB content in sardines, bogues and anchovies from the Mediterranean Sea (2017). Error bars represent the standard error (SE). Congeners with average contribution < 0.3% are zoomed in.

Figure 22. Average contribution of each PCB congener (A) and average contribution of non-*ortho* PCBs (B) to the total PCB content in muscle and liver of Atlantic Ocean blue sharks captured in 2019. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Figure 23. Average contribution of each PBDE congener to the total PBDE content in muscle and liver of Atlantic Ocean blue sharks captured in 2019. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

Figure 24. Average contribution of each PCDD/F congener to the total PCDD/F content in muscle and liver of Atlantic Ocean blue sharks captured in 2019. Error bars represent the standard error (SE).

9.4. List of tables

Table 1. Detailed information on the species sampled from 2008 to 2019 in the Mediterranean Sea andAtlantic Ocean.

Table 2. Detailed information about sperm whales (SW) stranded in 2008, 2009, 2016 in the MediterraneanSea and discussed in this study.

Table 3. Detailed information about Cuvier's baked whales (CBW) biopsied in 2014 and 2015 in the LigurianSea and discussed in this study.

Table 4. Detailed information about anchovies (EEN), sardines (SPC) and bogues (BBO) collected in 2017 in the Northern Tyrrhenian Sea and discussed in this study. GSAs: Geographical Subareas of the Mediterranean Sea (FAO, 2009).

Table 5. Detailed information about blue sharks (BS) accidentally captured in 2019 off the coast of Portugaland discussed in this study.

Table 6. Labeled and native chemical standards used in this study.

Table 7. Type of tissues, amount (g) of samples and amount of Na₂SO₄ (g) used for POP analysis.

Table 8. Used amounts (pg) of surrogate standards spiked prior extraction.

Table 9. Wet weight (w.w.) and lipid weight (l.w.) for the analyzed samples.

Table 10. Mean, standard deviation (SD), median and range of the lipid content (%) of the analyzed samples of liver and muscle of blue shark.

Table 11. Oven temperature programs and carrier flow values used in the analysis of the target contaminants.

Table 12. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in SW samples.

Table 13. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in CBW samples.

Table 14. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in fish samples.

Table 15. Recovery values of labelled surrogates and average LODs for target compounds in BS samples.

Table 16. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs, PBDEs, and PCDD/Fs in blubber of sperm whales stranded along the Italian coast in 2008, 2009 and 2016.

Table 17. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs and PBDEs in blubber of free-ranging Cuvier's beakedwhales biopsied in the Mediterranean Sea waters in 2014.

Table 18. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs in muscle of sardine, bogue and anchovy from the Mediterranean Sea (2017).

Table 19. Detection frequency (% >LOQ) for PCBs, PBDEs and PCDD/Fs in liver and muscle of blue sharks captured in 2019 in the Northeast Atlantic Ocean.

Table 20. Mean, median and range of total DL-PCBs (mono-*ortho* PCBs, non-*ortho* PCBs), PBDEs and PCDD/Fs in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales sampled in 2009, 2008 and 2016 (concentrations are expressed in ng/g l.w. save for PCDD/Fs, pg/g l.w.).

Table 21. Mean, median and range of PCB and PBDE concentrations (in ng/g l.w.) in blubber biopsies from Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in 2014-2015.

Table 22. Mean, median and range of PCB and PBDE concentrations (μ g/g l.w.) in blubber biopsies of Cuvier's beaked whales sampled in the Mediterranean Sea. Concentrations are divided by class ages (juvenile, subadult, adult). The adult class is further divided by sex.

Table 23. Mean, median and range of PCB concentrations (in ng/g w.w. or pg/g w.w. when indicated) in muscle from the three Mediterranean Sea fish species investigated (2017).

Table 24. Mean, median and range of total concentrations for PCBs, i-PCBs, DL-PCBs, PBDEs, PCDDs, PCDFs and total PCDD/Fs divided by sex in liver and muscle samples of blue sharks captured in the North East Atlantic Ocean. Values are expressed in ng/g w.w. and (ng/g l.w.) for PCBs and PBDEs while pg/g w.w. and (pg/g l.w.) for PCDDs, PCDFs and PCDD/Fs.

Table 25. Spearman's (r_s) and Pearson (r) correlations in liver (green) and muscle (grey) of blue shark with concentration values in w.w. (black) and l.w. (blue).

Table 26. Median concentrations (PCBs and PBDEs in ng/g and PCDD/Fs in pg/g) and Mann-Whitney U tests between POP burdens in liver and muscle of adult and subadult male blue sharks. Statistically significance at α =0.05 is shown by *.

Table 27. Median concentrations (PCBs and PBDEs in ng/g and PCDD/Fs in pg/g) and Mann-Whitney U tests between POP burdens in liver and muscle of male and female blue sharks. Statistically significance at α =0.05 is shown by *.

Table 28. Total TEQs and percentage contribution to total-TEQs in blubber of Mediterranean sperm whales analyzed in this study. Data are expressed in pg TEQs/g l.w, and are showed as mean, median and range.

Table 29. Mean, median and range of TEQ values (pg/g w.w.) of DL-PCBs in blubber biopsies of Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales, sampled in 2015.

Table 30. Average contribution to total TEQs calculated for Mediterranean Cuvier's beaked whales sampledin 2015.

Table 31. Mean, median and range of TEQs values (pg/g w.w.) of DL-PCBs in muscle from three Mediterranean Sea fish species analyzed in this study.

Table 32. Average contribution to total TEQs calculated for sardine, bogue and anchovy.

Table 33. TEQs for DL-PCBs, PCDDs, PCDDs and PCDD/s, and average contribution to total TEQs calculated for liver and muscle samples of blue sharks. Data are given in pg TEQs/g w.w. and (pg TEQs/g l.w.), and are showed as mean, median and range.

Table 34. PCBs and PBDEs (ng/g l.w.) in blubber samples of sperm whales sampled worldwide. Data are expressed as mean \pm SD (when possible). Geographic area of sampling, year of collection and sex are reported (when possible). Total DL-PCBs are in parenthesis (when possible).

Table 35. Mean or median (in bold) (ng/g l.w. or ng/g w.w.) of ΣPCB and ΣPBDE concentrations in blubber of Cuvier's beaked whales analyzed in previous studies. Range in parenthesis (when possible).

Table 36. Mean of ICES7 PCB concentrations (ng/g w.w.) in anchovies, sardines, and bogues from different Mediterranean Sea areas. Median is marked in bold. Range in parenthesis (when possible).

Table 37. Mean \pm standard deviation (when possible) and range in parenthesis (when possible) of Σ PCB, Σ PBDE, Σ PCDD, and Σ PCDF concentrations in *muscle* of blue sharks sampled worldwide. Data are expressed in ng/g (Σ PCBs, Σ PBDEs) and pg/g (Σ PCDDs and Σ PCDFs). Data expressed in lipid weight basis (* wet weight basis). (M=male; F=female).

Table 38. Mean \pm standard deviation (when possible), and range in parenthesis (when possible) of Σ PCB, Σ PBDE, Σ PCDD, and Σ PCDF concentrations in *liver* of blue sharks sampled worldwide. Data are expressed in ng/g (Σ PCBs, Σ PBDEs) and pg/g (Σ PCDDs and Σ PCDFs). Data expressed in wet weight basis (* lipid weight basis). (M=male; F=female).

Table 39. Mean TEQ concentrations (pg/g w.w.) of DL-PCBs in sardines and anchovies from the Mediterranean Sea.